Progress in Inflammation Research Series Editors: Michael J. Parnham · Eugen Faist

Valérie Quesniaux Bernhard Ryffel Franco di Padova *Editors*

IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity

Second Edition



Progress in Inflammation Research

Series Editors

Michael J. Parnham, University Hospital for Infectious Diseases, Zagreb, Croatia

Eugen Faist, Klinikum Grosshadern, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

Advisory Board

G.Z. Feuerstein (Wyeth Research, Collegeville, PA, USA)M. Pairet (Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma KG, Biberach a. d. Riss, Germany)W. van Eden (Universiteit Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands)

Valérie Quesniaux • Bernhard Ryffel • Franco Di Padova Editors

IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity



Editors Valérie Ouesniaux Bernhard Rvffel UMR7355 INEM Experimental and Molecular Immunology Novartis Pharma AG and Neurogenetics CNRS et Université d'Orleans Orleans - Cedex 2 France

Franco Di Padova Novartis Institute for Biomedical Research (NIBR) Basel Switzerland

ISBN 978-3-0348-0521-6 ISBN 978-3-0348-0522-3 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3 Springer Basel Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012953357

1st edition: (C) Th 17 Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmune Disease. Birkhäuser Verlag AG 2009 2nd edition: ^(C) Springer Basel 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations. recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer Basel is part of Springer Science + Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

The IL-17 cytokines represent a novel family of cytokines, which extends the Th1-Th2 paradigm and defines a new effector T cell, the Th17 cell. Th17 cells may co-express at least IL-17A and IL-17F and IL-22. IL-17A and IL-17F can be produced by CD4+ T cells (Th17 cells), CD8+ T cells (Tc17), $\gamma\delta$ T cells, iNKT, NK cells, lymphoid tissue inducers cells, innate lymphoid cells, mast cells, neutrophils and Paneth cells. IL-17F can be expressed also by epithelial cells. IL-22 can be produced by CD4+ T cells (Th22) as well as other cell types. The regulation of IL-17 family members and the effector cells and mechanisms are an area of intense current research, and include as an example the nuclear receptors RORgt and proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, TGF β , IL-21 and IL-23. Some experimental data suggest that IL-17A may have a dual function – proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory – suggesting that IL-17A may also terminate inflammation. Further, the reciprocal regulation of Th17 and regulatory T cells including the role retinoic acid is highlighted.

The discovery that patients with rheumatoid arthritis, allergic disorders and inflammatory bowel disease express IL-17A generated tremendous interest in the medical community and instigated a flurry of experimental research on the potential role of Th17 cells in inflammatory diseases.

Experimental studies confirmed that IL-17A is induced and is critical for the development of allergic lung inflammation, arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, experimental allergic encephalomyelitis and other inflammatory conditions and organ transplantation. Recent investigation revealed a dual role of IL-22 in inflammation, and IL-22 can be considered as an important protecting factor at the mucosal and cutaneous barriers. A newly defined innate lymphoid cell type emerged as an important source of IL-22 which activates STAT3-dependent protecting peptides at the barrier sites. IL-17A neutralization inhibited experimental arthritis opening a new therapeutic possibility to treat rheumatoid arthritis.

Neutralization of IL-17A, however, might alter host defense to microbial pathogens, such as mycobacteria and opportunistic extracellular pathogens including fungi, and tumor host responses. Therefore the introduction of neutralizing therapies

may require special cautions. However, even if safety data in clinical studies are limited, they have been favorable to date.

Tools for experimental investigations such as recombinant proteins, neutralizing antibodies and gene deficient mice have been developed and are discussed in more detail.

Clinical studies in psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis and psoriatic arthritis suggest that IL-17 antibody neutralization may be an interesting addition for the treatment of these diseases. However studies in Crohn's diseases have not kept the promise. Clinical studies in other autoimmune diseases and in asthma are ongoing and new insights in the pathogenesis of these diseases are expected.

The fully revised multi-author contribution with experts in the field will be very useful for scientists and medical doctors exploring novel mechanisms of inflammation and therapy. This comprehensive review on IL-17, IL-22 and Th17 cells is an updated summary by experts and a digest of the literature, which exploded in the last years. Finally, we wish to thank the authors who dedicated their precious time with expert contributions which make this an outstanding volume in Inflammation Research.

V. Quesniaux B. Ryffel F. Di Padova

Contents

Part I Discovery and Basic Aspects of IL-17

IL-17A Family, Receptors, Proinflammatory Effects, and Production	3					
Franco Di Padova, Bernhard Ryffel, and Valerie Quesniaux						
IL-22 and IL-17: An Overview Robert Sabat, Ellen Witte, Katrin Witte, and Kerstin Wolk						
IL-17 Receptor Family: Structure, Signal Transduction, and Function	37					
Contributions of IL-22 to TH17 Responses: Repairing and Protecting Peripheral Tissues	55					
Central Role of Th17 Cells in Adaptive Immune Responses Franco Di Padova, Bernhard Ryffel, and Valerie Quesniaux	71					
Regulatory T cells Versus Th17: Differentiation of Th17 Versus Treg, Are They Mutually Exclusive?	91					
Other Sources of IL-17: iNKT Cells	109					
Retinoic Acid in Mucosal Immune Regulation Daniel Mucida and Hilde Cheroutre	121					
Part II Experimental Models of Disease						
Critical Role of IL-17 in Experimental Arthritis	131					

Dual Role of Th17 Cytokines, IL-17A,F, and IL-22	
in Allergic AsthmaBruno Schnyder and Silvia Schnyder-Candrian	143
Inflammasome: IL-1/IL-17 Response in Lung Inflammation Isabelle Couillin, Dieudonnée Togbe, Mamdouh Sedhom, Marc Le Bert, Hana Čipčić Paljetak, Francois Erard, René Moser, and Bernhard Ryffel	157
The Role of IL-17 in Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis Urs Eriksson	165
Th17 Cells in Transplantation: Actors or Innocent Bystanders? Louis-Marie Charbonnier, Benoit Vokaer, Philippe Lemaître, and Alain Le Moine	177
Part III Role of IL-23-1 L-17 in Infection and Tumor Control	
Is IL-17 Required to Control Tuberculosis?	189
IL-17 and Mucosal Host Defense	207
Role of IL-17 and IL-17 Family Cytokines on Tumor	
Development	219
Part IV IL-17 in Clinical Autoimmune Disease	
IL-17 and Th17 Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Other Inflammatory Conditions Pierre Miossec	233
Targeting Th17 Cells for Therapy of Multiple SclerosisAaron J. Martin and Stephen D. Miller	243
Involvement of Interleukin-17 Cytokines in Human Asthma Anders Lindén	259
IL17 and/or IL22 as Potential Target(s) for Crohn's Disease Isabelle Wolowczuk, Benjamin Pariente, Matthieu Allez, and Mathias Chamaillard	273
Role of IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 in Psoriasis	287
Contribution of IL-22 to Experimental Skin Inflammation Jean-Claude Lecron, Isabelle Paris, François-Xavier Bernard, and Franck Mor	305 el

Part V Novel Tools and Therapeutic Avenues

Genetic Mouse Models to Investigate IL-17 Responses	321
Andrew L. Croxford and Thorsten Buch	
IL-17A as a Therapeutic Target for Autoimmune Diseases	333
Index	349

Part I Discovery and Basic Aspects of IL-17

IL-17A Family, Receptors, Proinflammatory Effects, and Production

Franco Di Padova, Bernhard Ryffel, and Valerie Quesniaux

Abstract IL-17A is a proinflammatory cytokine with critical effects on many cell types. It is part of a larger family of cytokines with important roles in protection against pathogens. The IL-17A receptors are IL-17RA and IL-17RC. They are expressed on most cell types. IL-17A, in synergy with other cytokines such as TNF- α , induces the production of cytokines, chemokines, and mediators of tissue destruction in several cell types. The identification of IL-17A and, later on, of Th17 cells has modified the established Th1 and Th2 paradigm, led to the definition of a new CD3+ CD4+ effector T cell subset, and introduced a new paradigm to explain the origin of several autoimmune events. However, this paradigm shift tended also to identify the effects of IL-17A with those of Th17 cells and vice versa. This view might be insufficient to explain the role of IL-17A in infections and autoimmune models. IL-17A is in fact produced by several other cell types involved in host defense, autoimmunity, and inflammation, and they might also be involved in IL-17A induced pathology.

Keywords IL-17A • IL17F • IL-17RA • IL17RC • Th17 cell

1 IL-17A and Other IL17 Family Members

In 1993, Rouvier et al. [1] described the cloning of a rodent cDNA sequence, termed CTLA8, from an activated T cell hybridoma using a subtractive hybridization approach and reported the sequence of the corresponding protein. This sequence

F. Di Padova (🖂)

B. Ryffel • V. Quesniaux

Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research, WSJ 386-1048, Basel CH-4002, Switzerland e-mail: franco.dipadova@novartis.com

UMR7355 INEM, Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, CNRS et Université d'Orleans, Orleans - Cedex 2, France e-mail: bryffel@cnrs-orleans.fr; guesniaux@cnrs-orleans.fr

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17*, *IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_1. © Springer Basel 2013

had homology to an open reading frame encoded within a T cell-tropic c-herpesvirus, Herpesvirus Saimiri, and they suggested that it might be a novel cytokine [1]. Later on, the protein described was found to be a rat protein [2]. The human homologue was reported in 1995 and was mainly produced by activated CD4+ T cells, induced the secretion of IL-6 and IL-8 in human foreskin fibroblasts, and enhanced the expression of ICAM-1 [2]. This molecule was named IL-17. The mouse homolog was reported a year later [3, 4] and, in one case, was cloned from mouse NKT cells [3].

Human IL-17A is a glycoprotein containing 155 amino acid residues and shares 63 % amino acid identity with murine IL-17A (147 amino acids). Both human and mouse IL-17A are secreted as disulfide-linked homodimers. Now, the IL-17 family includes seven members (IL-17 or IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E or IL-25, and IL-17F plus the viral homologue ORF13 or vIL-17). In the mouse system, IL-17F has 45 % amino acid homology to IL-17A, followed by IL-17C (24 %), IL-17B (21 %), IL-17D (16 %), and IL-17E (16 %) [5]. IL-17A and IL-17F are secreted by overlapping populations of T cells and form both homodimers and heterodimers [6, 7]. IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17E differ substantially from IL-17A and IL-17F in the N terminus, having longer extensions. Furthermore, IL-17B is secreted as a noncovalent dimer [8]. Common features of the IL-17 family are a highly conserved carboxyl terminus and five spatially conserved cysteine residues. Four of these cysteines form a cystine knot fold. Transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , bone morphogenic protein, and nerve growth factor superfamilies show structural similarities but have an additional disulfide bond [8].

The genes for IL-17A and IL-17F are located on human chromosome 6p12.2, while the genes of the other IL-17 family members are located on different chromosomes: IL-17B on Chr 5q32, IL-17C on Chr 16q24.3, IL-17D on Chr 13q12.111, and IL-25 on Chr 14q11.2. <u>Polymorphisms</u> in IL-17A (rs2275913) gene have been weakly associated with rheumatoid arthritis [9], while <u>polymorphism</u> in IL-17F (rs763780) gene has been associated with a protective role in asthma [10]. Polymorphism at the 197A (IL-17A) and 7488T (IL-17F) alleles may influence the susceptibility to and pathophysiological features of ulcerative colitis [11]. In the Chinese population, rs2275913 and rs763780 are associated with immune diseases and infectious diseases, including asthma, Vogt–Koyanagi–Harada syndrome, bacterial bronchiolitis, and neuromyelitis optica [12–14].

2 The Receptors

When the mouse and the human IL-17 receptors (IL-17RA) were cloned, IL-17RA was found to be ubiquitously expressed and unique. It consisted of a single transmembrane receptor with an unusually long cytoplasmic tail [15, 16]. Now, five different receptors have been described, IL-17RA, IL-17RB, IL-17RC, IL-17RD, and IL-17RE [17]. The IL-17R family contains conserved structural characteristics such as extracellular fibronectin III-like domains and cytoplasmic similar expression to fibroblast growth factor, IL-17R, and Toll-IL-1R family

(SEFIR) domains. IL-17A and IL-17F signal through a receptor complex composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC [18]. In humans IL-17RA binds with higher affinity to IL-17A than to IL-17F, whereas IL-17RC associates with both IL-17A and IL-17F [18, 19]. Cristal structure of the IL-17F-IL-17RA interaction reveals the presence of a loop of IL-17RA which interacts with the deep groove at the interface of IL-17F homodimer [18]. IL-17RD has also been associated with the IL-17R complex and may contribute to IL-17A signaling [20]. IL-17RB is the receptor chain for IL-25 and IL-17B [21, 22]. The receptor for IL-17C appears to be a heterodimeric complex formed by IL-17RA (low-affinity interaction) and IL-17RE (high-affinity interaction) [23–25].

In conclusion, IL-17RA is shared among the members of the IL-17 family, while the specificity of the interaction mainly resides in the second subunit of the heterodimeric receptor complex. IL-17RC is common to IL-17A and IL-17F homo- and heterodimers; IL-17RB is specific for IL-25 and IL-17B, IL-17RE for IL-17C, and IL-17RD may be part of the IL-17A receptor complex [23–25]. Since IL-17RA is ubiquitously expressed, also the tissue specificity of the responses resides in the second receptor chain which is differently expressed in various tissues.

3 IL-17A as a Proinflammatory Cytokine

Several reports suggest that IL-17A has a critical role in the protection of the organism against bacteria and fungi due to the ability of IL-17A to recruit neutrophils to the infected organs/tissues [26, 27]. IL-17A and IL-17F can induce the production of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , G-CSF, and GM-CSF), chemokines (CXCL1, CXCL5, IL-8, CCL2, and CCL7), antimicrobial peptides (defensins, lipocalin2, and S100 proteins), and matrix metalloproteinases (MMP1, MMP3, and MMP13) from different cell types. IL-17A also controls the expression of intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) in keratinocytes as well as iNOS and cyclooxygenase-2 in chondrocytes. IL-17F is a weaker inducer of proinflammatory cytokine but seems to be produced by a wider range of cell types, including innate immune cells and epithelial cells. Not unexpectedly, IL-17A and IL-17F act in concert with other cytokines such as $TNF-\alpha$, with which they strongly synergize in in vitro cellular assays and in vivo. It is expected that this characteristic is shared by the other IL-17 family members. Moreover, IL-17A contributes to germinal center formation and class switch recombination by its action on B cells [28, 29].

In summary, IL-17A, acting in synergy with other cytokines, contributes to modulate and control the inflammatory response. Some events, e.g., neutrophil recruitment, are indirectly mediated through the activity of IL-17A on cells which secrete chemotactic factors for neutrophils. Therefore, the mediators, secreted by activated cells, modulate the final outcome of the response to IL-17A.

4 IL-17A-Producing Cells

In 2000, Infante-Duarte et al. [30] recognized that IL-17A cannot be categorized as either a Th1 or a Th2 cytokine, but a major advance in IL-17 research came with the recognition of a novel T cell lineage producing IL-17A and/or IL-17F [31, 32]. This finding modified the established Th1-Th2 paradigm, led to the definition of the CD3+ CD4+ Th17 cell subset, and introduced a new paradigm to explain the origin of several autoimmune events.

In the mouse, IL-17A and/or IL-17F are however produced by several other cell types involved in host defense, autoimmunity, and inflammation, including subpopulations of CD8+ T cells (Tc17), $\gamma\delta$ T cells [33], invariant natural killer (iNKT) cells [34], lymphoid tissue inducers [35], neutrophils [36], and macrophages [37]. In addition, IL-17A is produced by intestinal Paneth cells in an IL-23 independent fashion being one of the causes of a systemic inflammatory response syndrome [38], and IL-17F mRNA is expressed in colonic epithelial cells [39]. In particular, Jensen et al. [33] found that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are uniquely suited for the initial IL-17A response, which often is elicited without a clear antigen exposure. They also found evidence for two distinct functional subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells (T $\gamma\delta$ -17s and T $\gamma\delta$ -IFN- γ s).

Yoshiga et al. [40] demonstrated that also iNKT cells synthesize and release IL-17A, accelerate IL-17 production by Th17 cells, and play a role in the development of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). Moreover, they found that iNKT cells can be induced to secrete IL-17A through two pathways, one involving the direct activation of the TCR by glycolipid antigen and the other the IL-23-IL-23R signaling pathway [40]. It appears therefore that IL-17A is produced by different subsets of T cells, which are involved in both innate and adaptive immunity, and it is well suited to participate to both early and late phases of the immune response.

In addition, in IL-10- or IL-10R-deficient mice, even macrophages stimulated with lipopolysaccharide appear to produce high levels of IL-17A and IL-22 [41]. Addition of exogenous IL-10 abolishes IL-17A production both in Th17 cells and in macrophages [41], again suggesting that IL-17A production is highly regulated.

In humans, IL-17A has been detected in several T cell subsets, such as naive, central memory, and effector memory CD4+ IL-17+ T cells [42], NKT-like cells [43], macrophages [44], astrocytes [45], oligodendroglia [45], mast cells [46], neutrophils [47], and also a human myeloma cell line [48].

The large number of cell types able to secrete IL-17A and IL-17F, the migratory potential of the cells secreting these cytokines, the ubiquitous distribution of the receptor, and the synergism with other proinflammatory cytokines allow IL-17A and IL-17F to exert effects in multiple pathological conditions [26, 49]. In addition, Th17 cells act in close contact with their target cell, and IL-17A might have a short range of action and act in synergy with other cytokines secreted by Th-17 cells [50]. The role of other family members might be more restricted due to a more limited expression and tissue distribution of their receptors.

A pathological role for IL-17A in several autoimmune models of disease, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and arthritis, has been documented [5], and increased production of IL-17A has been reported in various

human autoimmune and allergic diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis [51], multiple sclerosis [45], psoriasis [52], and asthma [53]. All these findings suggest a pathogenic role in several human diseases which has been confirmed by the clinical efficacy of IL-17A neutralization in different disease [54].

References

- 1. Rouvier E, Luciani M-F, Mattei MG, Denizot F, Golstein P (1993) CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. J Immunol 150:5445–5456
- Yao Z, Painter SL, Fanslow WC, Ulrich D, Macduff BM, Spriggs MK, Armitage RJ (1995) Cutting edge: human IL-17: a novel cytokine derived from T cells. J Immunol 155:5483–5486
- 3. Kennedy J, Rossi DL, Zurawski SM, Vega F Jr, Kastelein RA, Wagner JL, Hannum CH, Zlotnik A (1996) Mouse IL-17: a cytokine preferentially expressed by alpha beta TCR + CD4-CD8-T cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 16:611–617
- 4. Yao Z, Timour M, Painter S, Fanslow W, Spriggs M (1996) Complete nucleotide sequence of the mouse CTLA8 gene. Gene 168:223–225
- 5. Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE (2007) IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol 25:821–852
- Liang SC, Long AJ, Bennett F, Whitters MJ, Karim R, Collins M, Goldman SJ, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Williams CMM, Wright JF et al (2007) An IL-17F/A heterodimer protein is produced by mouse Th17 cells and induces airway neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol 179:7791–7799
- Wright JF, Guo Y, Quazi A, Luxenberg DP, Bennett F, Ross JF, Qiu Y, Whitters MJ, Tomkinson KN, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K et al (2007) Identification of an interleukin 17F/ 17A heterodimer in activated human CD4+ T cells. J Biol Chem 282:13447–13455
- Hymowitz SG, Filvaroff EH, Yin JP, Lee J, Cai L, Risser P, Maruoka M, Mao W, Foster J, Kelley RF et al (2001) IL-17s adopt a cystine knot fold: structure and activity of a novel cytokine, IL-17F, and implications for receptor binding. EMBO J 20:5332–5341
- 9. Nordang GB, Viken MK, Hollis-Moffatt JE, Merriman TR, Førre ØT, Helgetveit K, Kvien TK, Lie BA (2009) Association analysis of the interleukin 17A gene in Caucasian rheumatoid arthritis patients from Norway and New Zealand. Rheumatology (Oxford) 48:367–370
- Kawaguchi M, Takahashi D, Hizawa N, Suzuki S, Matsukura S, Kokubu F, Maeda Y, Fukui Y, Konno S, Huang SK et al (2006) IL-17F sequence variant (His161Arg) is associated with protection against asthma and antagonizes wild-type IL-17F activity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:795–801
- 11. Arisawa T, Tahara T, Shibata T, Nagasaka M, Nakamura M, Kamiya Y, Fujita H, Nakamura M, Yoshioka D, Arima Y et al (2008) The influence of polymorphisms of interleukin-17A and interleukin-17F genes on the susceptibility to ulcerative colitis. J Clin Immunol 28:44–49
- 12. Chen J, Deng Y, Zhao J, Luo Z, Peng W, Yang J, Ren L, Wang L, Fu Z, Yang X et al (2010) The polymorphism of IL-17G-152A was associated with childhood asthma and bacterial colonization of the hypopharynx in bronchiolitis. J Clin Immunol 30:539–545
- 13. Shu Q, Yang P, Hou S, Li F, Chen Y, Du L, Jiang Z (2010) Interleukin-17 gene polymorphism is associated with Vogt–Koyanagi–Harada syndrome but not with Behçet's disease in a Chinese Han population. Hum Immunol 71:988–991
- 14. Wang H, Zhong X, Wang K, Qiu W, Li J, Dai Y, Hu X (2012) Interleukin 17 gene polymorphism is associated with anti-aquaporin 4 antibody-positive neuromyelitis optica in the Southern Han Chinese—a case control study. J Neurol Sci 314:26–28

- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau A-M, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, Spriggs MK (1995) Herpesvirus saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821
- Yao Z, Spriggs MK, Derry JMJ, Strockbine L, Park LS, VandenBos T, Zappone JD, Painter SL, Armitage RJ (1997) Molecular characterization of the human interleukin-17 receptor. Cytokine 9:794–800
- 17. Shen F, Gaffen SL (2008) Structure–function relationships in the IL-17 receptor: implications for signal transduction and therapy. Cytokine 41:92–104
- 18. Ely LK, Fischer S, Garcia KC (2009) Structural basis of receptor sharing by interleukin 17 cytokines. Nat Immunol 10:1245–1251
- Kuestner RE, Taft DW, Haran A, Brandt CS, Brender T, Lum K, Harder B, Okada S, Ostrander CD, Kreindler JL et al (2007) Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F. J Immunol 179:5462–5473
- Rong Z, Wang A, Li Z, Ren Y, Cheng L, Li Y, Wang Y, Ren F, Zhang X, Hu J et al (2009) IL-17RD (Sef or IL-17RLM) interacts with IL-17 receptor and mediates IL-17 signaling. Cell Res 19:208–215
- 21. Shi Y, Ullrich SJ, Zhang J, Connolly K, Grzegorzewski KJ, Barber MC, Wang W, Wathen K, Hodge V, Fisher CL et al (2000) A novel cytokine receptor-ligand pair. Identification, molecular characterization, and in vivo immunomodulatory activity. J Biol Chem 275:19167–19176
- 22. Rickel EA, Siegel LA, Yoon BR, Rottman JB, Kugler DG, Swart DA, Anders PM, Tocker JE, Comeau MR, Budelsky AL (2008) Identification of functional roles for both IL-17RB and IL-17RA in mediating IL-25-induced activities. J Immunol 181:4299–4310
- Chang SH, Reynolds JM, Pappu BP, Chen G, Martinez GJ, Dong C (2011) Interleukin-17C promotes Th17 cell responses and autoimmune disease via interleukin-17 receptor E. Immunity 35:611–621
- 24. Ramirez-Carrozzi V, Sambandam A, Luis E, Lin Z, Jeet S, Lesch J, Hackney J, Kim J, Zhou M, Lai J et al (2011) IL-17C regulates the innate immune function of epithelial cells in an autocrine manner. Nat Immunol 12:1159–1166
- 25. Song X, Zhu S, Shi P, Liu Y, Shi Y, Levin SD, Qian Y (2011) IL-17RE is the functional receptor for IL-17C and mediates mucosal immunity to infection with intestinal pathogens. Nat Immunol 12:1151–1158
- 26. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J et al (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- 27. Ye P, Garvey PB, Zhang P, Nelson S, Bagby G, Summer WR, Schwarzenberger P, Shellito JE, Kolls JK (2001) Interleukin-17 and lung host defense against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25:335–340
- Mitsdoerffer M, Lee Y, Jaeger A, Kim HJ, Korn T, Kolls JK, Cantor H, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK (2010) Proinflammatory T helper type 17 cells are effective B-cell helpers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:14292–14297
- Wu HJ, Ivanov II, Darce J, Hattori K, Shima T, Umesaki Y, Littman DR, Benoist C, Mathis D (2010) Gut-residing segmented filamentous bacteria drive autoimmune arthritis via T helper 17 cells. Immunity 32:815–827
- Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T (2000) Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol 165:6107–6115
- 31. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132
- 32. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q et al (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141

- 33. Jensen KD, Su X, Shin S, Li L, Youssef S, Yamasaki S, Steinman L, Saito T, Locksley RM, Davis MM et al (2008) Thymic selection determines gammadelta T cell effector fate: antigennaive cells make interleukin-17 and antigen-experienced cells make interferon gamma. Immunity 29:90–100
- 34. Michel ML, Keller AC, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage PB, Wong CH, Schneider E, Dy M, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- Cua DJ, Tato CM (2010) Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 10:479–489
- 36. Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR, Jones CE, Trifilieff A (2003) IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol 170:2106–2112
- 37. Song C, Luo L, Lei Z, Li B, Liang Z, Liu G, Li D, Zhang G, Huang B, Feng ZH (2008) IL-17producing alveolar macrophages mediate allergic lung inflammation related to asthma. J Immunol 181:6117–6124
- 38. Takahashi N, Vanlaere I, de Rycke R, Cauwels A, Joosten LA, Lubberts E, van den Berg WB, Libert C (2008) IL-17 produced by Paneth cells drives TNF-induced shock. J Exp Med 205:1755–1761
- 39. Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Nagai T, Kadoki M, Nambu A, Komiyama Y, Fujikado N, Tanahashi Y, Akitsu A, Kotaki H et al (2009) Differential roles of interleukin-17A and -17F in host defense against mucoepithelial bacterial infection and allergic responses. Immunity 30:108–119
- 40. Yoshiga Y, Goto D, Segawa S, Ohnishi Y, Matsumoto I, Ito S, Tsutsumi A, Taniguchi M, Sumida T (2008) Invariant NKT cells produce IL-17 through IL-23-dependent and –independent pathways with potential modulation of Th17 response in collagen-induced arthritis. Int J Mol Med 22:369–374
- 41. Gu Y, Yang J, Ouyang X, Liu W, Li H, Yang J, Bromberg J, Chen SH, Mayer L, Unkeless JC, Xiong H (2008) Interleukin 10 suppresses Th17 cytokines secreted by macrophages and T cells. Eur J Immunol 38:1807–1813
- 42. Jandus C, Bioley G, Rivals JP, Dudler J, Speiser D, Romero P (2008) Increased numbers of circulating polyfunctional Th17 memory cells in patients with seronegative spondylarthritides. Arthritis Rheum 58:2307–2317
- 43. Cosmi L, De Palma R, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, Rodolico G, Querci V, Abbate G, Angeli R et al (2008) Human interleukin 17-producing cells originate from a CD161+ CD4+ T cell precursor. J Exp Med 205:1903–1916
- 44. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y (2003) Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 52:65–70
- 45. Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner M, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, Fugger L (2007) Interleukin-17 production in CNS-infiltrating T-cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol 172:146–155
- 46. Hueber AJ, Asquith DL, Miller AM, Reilly J, Kerr S, Leipe J, Melendez AJ, McInnes IB (2010) Mast cells express IL-17A in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. J Immunol 184:3336–3340
- 47. Lin AM, Rubin CJ, Khandpur R, Wang JY, Riblett M, Yalavarthi S, Villanueva EC, Shah P, Kaplan MJ, Bruce AT (2011) Mast cells and neutrophils release IL-17 through extracellular trap formation in psoriasis. J Immunol 187:490–500
- 48. Zhou L, Peng S, Duan J, Zhou J, Wang L, Wang J (1998) A human B cell line AF10 expressing HIL-17. Biochem Mol Biol Int 45:1113–1119
- Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S (2011) Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 34:149–162
- 50. Pöllinger B, Junt T, Metzler B, Walker UA, Tyndall A, Allard C, Bay S, Keller R, Raulf F, Di Padova F et al (2011) Th17 cells, not IL-17+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, drive arthritic bone destruction in mice and humans. J Immunol 186:2602–2612

- 51. Ziolkowska M, Koc A, Luszczykiewicz G, Ksiezopolska-Pietrzak K, Klimczak E, Chwalinska-Sadowska H, Maslinski W (2000) High levels of IL-17 in rheumatoid arthritis patients: IL-15 triggers in vitro IL-17 production via cyclosporin A-sensitive mechanism. J Immunol 164:2832–2838
- 52. Pène J, Chevalier S, Preisser L, Vénéreau E, Guilleux MH, Ghannam S, Molès JP, Danger Y, Ravon E, Lesaux S et al (2008) Chronically inflamed human tissues are infiltrated by highly differentiated Th17 lymphocytes. J Immunol 180:7423–7430
- 53. Molet S, Hamid Q, Davoine F, Nutku E, Taha R, Page N, Olivenstein R, Elias J, Chakir J (2001) IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108:430–438
- 54. Hueber W, Patel DD, Dryja T, Wright AM, Koroleva I, Bruin G, Antoni C, Draelos Z, Gold MH, Durez P et al (2010) Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis. Sci Transl Med 2:52ra72

IL-22 and IL-17: An Overview

Robert Sabat, Ellen Witte, Katrin Witte, and Kerstin Wolk

Abstract Many studies from recent years have shown that cytokines like IL-22, IL-17A, and IL-17F play a major role in both the defense against certain microbes and the development and maintenance of chronic inflammatory diseases. These mediators are often secreted by subpopulations of T-helper cells called Th17 cells and Th22 cells, respectively. This chapter provides an overview about the common and differing properties of IL-22, IL-17A, and IL-17F with respect to their genes, protein structure, cellular sources, receptors, target cells, and biological effects. Surprisingly, with the exception of a few similarities, most basic aspects of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F are different.

1 Introduction

Cytokines are proteins secreted by numerous cells that play an important role in intercellular communication. Not only do they serve in the reaction of the immune system to pathogens, but they also regulate hematopoiesis, wound healing, angiogenesis, and physiological and pathological tissue reorganization. Cytokines elicit biological effects by binding to the extracellular moiety of specific transmembrane receptor proteins in the outer membrane of cells. Mediated by the intracellular moiety of such receptors, this binding induces a coordinated series of intracellular events leading to functional changes in these cells. Due to their similarities in regard to genome location, gene structure, secreted protein structure, and receptors used, various cytokines were grouped

e-mail: robert.sabat@charite.de

R. Sabat (🖂) • E. Witte • K. Witte • K. Wolk

Interdisciplinary Group of Molecular Immunopathology and Psoriasis Research and Treatment Center, Dermatology/Medical Immunology, University Hospital Charité, Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, D-10117 Berlin, Germany

into families. It is important to note that members of the same family do not necessarily exhibit similar biological effects.

The application and repression of the cytokine action set the most successful strategy for therapy of infections and autoimmune diseases, respectively. Many studies from recent years have shown that mediators like IL-17A and IL-22 play important roles in chronic immune-mediated diseases. While IL-17A belongs to the IL-17 cytokine family, IL-22 is a member of the IL-10 cytokine family.

The IL-10 family comprises IL-10, IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, IL-26, IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29 [1]. IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29 (also designated as interferon- λ s) are the "youngest" members of IL-10 family and form a theoretical bridge to the type I interferon cytokine family. Interestingly, the members of the IL-10 family are encoded by genes that have similar exon-intron structures [1]. These genes are located in the human genome in three clusters: the first comprising the genes for IL-10, IL-19, IL-20, and IL-24 on chromosome 1q; the second comprising the IL-26and IL-22-encoding genes located on chromosome 12q; and the third comprising the genes for IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29 on chromosome 19q [1-3]. Apart from the high amino acid (aa) identity within the interferon- λ subgroup, the aa identity between the members of the IL-10 family is approximately 13-25 %. However, characteristic aa positions are conserved. Despite the relatively low sequence identity, all family members show a strikingly similar secondary structure; these α -helical proteins are built up of six to seven helices in an antiparallel conformation [4]. All IL-10 family members exert their biological effects via heterodimeric receptor complexes composed of an R1 subunit and an R2 subunit [1]. The subunits belong to the cytokine receptor family class 2 (CRF2), which additionally comprises the receptors of the type I and type II interferons and tissue factor, a receptor for the coagulant component VIIa [1, 2]. They are related by their extracellular moieties, which include the ligand-binding residues. These 200 aa extracellular domains are composed of two tandem fibronectin type III (FNIII) domains. Each of these domains has a structural framework of seven β-strands connected by loops. Additionally, the position of several conserved cysteines and a completely conserved tryptophan characterize the CRF2. In almost any case, the R1 subunit has the longer intracellular moiety able to bind signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) molecules. For IL-10 and IL-22, it is believed that ligand binding initially occurs to the R1 subunit (IL-10R1 and IL-22R1, respectively). This induces a conformational change in the respective cytokine that enables it to bind secondarily to the R2 subunit (IL-10R2 in both cases), leading to an aggregation of the two receptor subunits and initiation of signal transduction. Interestingly, in the case of IL-19, IL-20, and IL-24, the initial binding occurs to the R2 subunit. Importantly, the IL-10 family members share receptor subunits (the IL-10 family comprises nine cytokines; there are only four R1 subunits and two R2 subunits for these cytokines; Table 1). For instance, the IL-10R2 subunit is also part of the receptor complexes for IL-10, IL-22, IL-26, IL-28a, IL-28β, and IL-29. Moreover, not only single receptor subunits are shared among

Table 1 Combination of receptor subunits in receptor complexes enabling the effects of the IL-10 family members		IL-10R1	IL-20R1	IL-22R1	IL-28R1
	IL-10R2	IL-10	IL-26	IL-22	IL-28
					IL-29
	IL-20R2	?	IL-19	IL-20	?
			IL-20	IL-24	
			II24		

different IL-10 family members but even whole receptor complexes (Table 1). For instance, the complex composed of IL-20R1 and IL-20R2 is used by IL-19, IL-20, and IL-24. Despite the structural relation and the use of similar or partly identical receptors, there are great differences with respect to the biologic function between several of the IL-10 family members [3, 5–9].

The IL-17 family consists of six members: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (IL-25), and IL-17F [10, 11]. The genes encoding these mediators have an only moderately similar structure, which is completely different from that of the IL-10 family genes. The genes for IL-17A and IL-17F are located on chromosome 6q; the IL-17B-encoding gene is located on chromosome 5q; that of IL-17C is on chromosome 16q, the IL-17D-encoding gene lies on chromosome 13q, and the gene for IL-17E was mapped to chromosome 14q. The IL-17 family members are also structurally related. The characteristic motif is the C-terminal, so-called cysteine-knot. The highest sequence similarity exists between IL-17A and IL-17F (47.8 % identity between the mature proteins). The similarity between other members is about 20 % only. The IL-17 family members also act via receptor complexes that are composed of two type I transmembrane proteins. The receptor subunits differently assemble into receptor complexes for IL-17A and IL-17F (IL-17RA/IL-17RC), IL-17B and IL-17E (IL-17RA/IL-17RB), and IL-17C (IL-17RA/IL-17RE), while the functional receptor complex for IL-17D is not known so far [10]. Interestingly, IL-17A and IL-17F mediate in part similar biological effects [10, 12].

2 The IL-22- and IL-17-Encoding Genes

The IL-22- and IL-17A/IL-17F-encoding genes are located on different chromosomes and have different structures (Fig. 1).

The human *IL22* gene is located on the longer arm of chromosome 12, on 12q15, approximately 52 kbp and 99 kbp upstream from the *IL26* and *IFNG* locus, respectively, and has the same transcriptional orientation as these two adjoining genes (reverse strand) [13]. The *IL22* gene is 5,257 bp long and is comprised of five exons with the following lengths: exon 1, 239 bp; exon 2, 66 bp; exon 3, 144 bp; exon 4, 66 bp; and exon 5, 632 bp. The IL-22 mRNA straddles 1.147 bp (NM_020525, National Center of Biotechnology Information (NCBI), February 2012). The first 53 bp of exon 1 encode the 5'-untranslated region. The other portion of exon 1 (186 bp), the exons 2–4, and the first portion (75 bp) of exon 5 contain the



Fig. 1 The IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F coding genes have different structures. Shown are the exon–intron structures of the genes. Exons (1 cm corresponds to 250 bp) are presented as *boxes* comprising noncoding regions (in *white*) and coding regions (in *gray*). Introns (1 cm corresponds to 875 bp) are presented as *lines*. Genomic localization is also indicated

protein-coding part. The rest of exon 5 (554 bp) encodes the 3'-untranslated region, which includes six single and two overlapping copies of the ATTTA motif known to be involved in the regulation of mRNA degradation. Altogether, the open reading frame is comprised of 537 bp (without the stop codon), predicting a length of 179 aa for the encoded protein.

The human IL-17A- and IL-17F-encoding genes are located on the longer arm of chromosome 6, on 6q12, and have similar structures [11, 14]. The distance between these genes is 46 kbp. *IL17A* is located on the forward strand and has a length of 4,252 bp, and *IL17F* is located on the reverse strand and has a length of 7,815 bp. Both genes are comprised of three exons with the following lengths: exon 1, 72 (*IL17A*)/104 (*IL17F*) bp; exon 2, 203 (*IL17A*)/221 (*IL17F*) bp; and exon 3, 1,584 (*IL17A*)/483 (*IL17F*) bp. The IL-17A mRNA straddles 1,859 bp (NM_002190, NCBI, February 2012) and IL-17F mRNA 808 bp (NM_052872, NCBI, December 2011). The first 45 bp and 71 bp of *IL17A* and of *IL17F* exon 1, respectively, encode the 5'-untranslated region. The other portion of exon 1 and exon 2 and the first portion of exon 3 contain the protein-coding part. The rest of exon 3 encodes the 3'-untranslated region. Consequently, the open reading frame is comprised of 565 bp (*IL17A*) and 489 bp (*IL17F*) (without the stop codon), predicting a length of 155 aa (IL-17A) and 163 aa (IL-17F) for the encoded proteins.

3 The Structures of Secreted IL-22, IL-17A, and IL-17F

The secondary structures of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F are very different.

As described above, the human *IL22* gene encodes a protein of 179 aa in length, which, after splitting off the signal peptide (33 aa), is secreted as a polypeptide of 146 aa [15]. Amino acid sequence alignment (mature proteins) revealed that human IL-22 has an 80.8 % identity to murine IL-22 [13]. Like all other IL-10 family members, IL-22 has an α -helical structure. The six helices (referred to as helices

A to F) are arranged in an antiparallel conformation resulting in a monomeric, bundle-like protein. This structure was proved upon its resolution by X-ray diffraction [16, 17]. Monomeric conformation of IL-22, at least at physiologically relevant concentrations, was also confirmed by gel filtration chromatography and dynamic light-scattering studies [16, 18]. It should be noted that in the IL-10 structure, there is a 90° angle between the first four helices and the helices E and F that leads to an entwining of two monomers forming a V-shaped dimer in which each domain of the V-shape is formed by helices A to D from one partner and helices E and F from the other partner [19, 20]. The IL-22 primary structure contains four Cys, which form two intramolecular disulfide bridge bonds (Cys40-Cys132 linking the N-terminus to the DE loop and Cys89-Cys178 linking helix C to helix F) as deduced from the X-ray structure analysis of IL-22 [16].

The theoretical molecular weight of human IL-22 is 16.7 kDa. However, the recombinant protein expressed in eukaryotic cells migrated as several bands of more than 17 kDa [21, 22]. In fact, glycosylation was found on all three potential N-linked glycosylation sites in the IL-22 sequence: one located in helix A (Asn54-Arg55-Thr56), one in the AB loop (Asn68-Asn69-Thr70), and one in helix C (Asn97-Phe98-Thr99) [22]. Interestingly, the glycosylation is not associated with a noteworthy change of the tertiary structure of IL-22 [16, 17]. However, the glycosylation on Asn54 has been found to be important for IL-22's interaction with IL-10R2, whereas no influence of any glycosylation was observed for IL-22R1 binding [22].

IL17A and IL17F encode proteins of 155 aa and 163 aa, respectively, in length. After splitting off the signal peptides (23 aa for IL-17A and 30 aa for IL-17), the secreted polypeptides are 132 aa (IL-17A) and 133 aa (IL-17F) long. The crystal structure of IL-17A and IL-17F was resolved and shows that the proteins form similar disulfide-linked homodimers [23, 24]. The core of the IL-17F monomer is composed of two pairs of antiparallel strands; one pair includes strands 1 and 2, while the other includes strands 3 and 4. Two disulfide bridges (Cys72-Cys122 and Cys77-Cys124) connect strands 2 and 4. A third disulfide bridge (Cys17-Cys107) connects the loop between strands 3 and 4 of one monomer to the N-terminus of the other monomer [23]. The structure of the IL-17F homodimer includes a classical Cys-knot motif, which is also found in the transforming growth factor (TGF)- β and nerve growth factor superfamilies [25]. One difference in the cysteine-knot motif of IL-17F compared with the other known Cys-knot protein families is that it only utilizes four Cys instead of the classical six Cys to form the knot. In addition to IL-17A and IL-17F homodimers, an IL-17A-IL-17F heterodimer also exists. The theoretical molecular weight of secreted human IL-17A and IL-17F is 15.1 and 14.9 kDa, respectively.

4 The Cellular Sources of IL-22 and IL-17

During immune responses, IL-22 and IL-17A/F are often simultaneously present at high levels in inflamed tissues. Compatibly, these mediators can be secreted by numerous identical types of cells from the lymphoid lineage. In humans, these cell

types include activated CD4⁺ T cells [26–28], CD8⁺ T cells [26, 29, 30], and $\gamma\delta$ T cells [31] as well as various innate lymphoid cells such as NK cells [26, 32–34], NKT cells [35, 36], lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) [37, 38], and LTi-like cells [39, 40]. However, in humans IL-22 and IL-17A/F are rarely secreted by exactly the same cell population. For example, regarding the CD4⁺ T cells, IL-22 is produced by the Th22 [41, 42] and the Th1 subpopulation [26, 43]. In contrast, IL-17A/F are secreted by the Th17 subpopulation [27, 28], which does not produce IL-22 [43–45]. Likewise, the simultaneous expression of IL-22 and IL-17A/F by the same $\gamma\delta$ T cell [31] or NKT cell [35] is rather an exception. Interestingly, in humans the IL-17 production by CD8⁺ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells is often accompanied by IFN- γ secretion [29, 31].

It is important to note that no expression of IL-22 was found in monocytes, macrophages, immature or mature DCs that were generated in vitro from human blood monocytes, or mast cells that were isolated from the skin of healthy donors [26, 46]. Furthermore, non-hematopoietic tissue cells do not produce IL-22 either [46–49]. In contrast to IL-22, the cellular sources of IL-17A/F do not seem to be restricted to hematopoietic cells. In fact, IL-17A production has been described by Paneth cells, highly specialized epithelial cells of the small intestine [50].

The above-mentioned Th1 cells develop in the presence of IL-12 as IFN- γ -producing, IL-12R β 2 and CXCR3, and mostly CCR6 chemokine receptor-expressing cells. They are programmed by the transcription factors T-bet and STAT4 [51].

Th22 cells particularly develop from naive CD4⁺ T cells via interaction with pDCs in dependency of TNF- α and IL-6 [41]. Apart from IL-22, these cells do not produce any other known Th prototypical mediator such as IFN- γ , IL-4, or IL-17. Th22 cells carry a unique cell surface set of chemokine receptors (CCR6/CCR4/CCR10) and strongly express the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) as transcription factor [41, 42]. Via induction of endogenous AHR stimulators, Notch signaling then drives the production of IL-22 by these cells [52]. Interestingly, AHR ligation inhibits the production of IL-17 by human CD4⁺ cells [42, 53].

Like Th1 and Th22 cells, Th17 cells are characterized by their cytokine production: IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-26. Furthermore, they specifically express transcription factors such as ROR γ t and a cytokine/chemokine receptor pattern including IL-23R, CCR6, and CCR4, while lacking the expression of IL-12R β 2, CXCR3, and CCR10. It was first in 2005 that two independent groups demonstrated that the activation of murine naïve T cells with mature dendritic cells (DCs) in the presence of IL-6 and TGF- β upregulated the receptor for IL-23 (p19/p40) on the T cells and, together with IL-23, induced their development into Th17 cells [27, 28]. In the human system, the combination of IL-23, TGF- β , IL-1 β , and IL-6 appears to be necessary for development of Th17 cells. Many years later, Th17 differentiation-promoting activities were also assigned to PGE₂ and TLR2 stimulation [54–56]. The Th1 cell cytokines IL-12 and IFN- γ as well as the Th2 cell cytokine IL-4 actively suppress the development of Th17 cells [27, 28]. Interestingly, whereas in the human system Th22 and Th1 cells seem to be most important Th cell sources of IL-22 (as mentioned above), in the murine system Th17 cells were suggested to be the major IL-22 producers [43–45]. These observations suggest a profound species difference and imply caution in extrapolating mouse data onto humans.

Which type of cells actually contributes to IL-22 or IL-17A/IL-17F production in vivo depends on the kind (acute or chronic) and extent (local or systemic) of inflammation, the type of pathogen, and the site of pathogen entry. Corresponding to the preferential production of IL-22 and Th17A/F by Th1/Th22 and Th17 cells, respectively, elevated levels of these cytokines exist in chronic diseases, which are mediated by these T cells. Indeed, high IL-22 and IL-17A mRNA levels can be found in lesional skin from psoriasis patients, whereas IL-22 and IL-17A were completely absent in healthy skin of control donors [43, 47, 48, 57]. Importantly, besides its high cutaneous expression, IL-22 is also systemically present in these patients, and circulating IL-22 levels strongly correlate with the disease severity [48]. This is in contrast to other Th cell cytokines overexpressed in lesional psoriatic skin, making IL-22 a unique mediator. In addition to psoriasis, high cutaneous levels of IL-22 are present in the chronic T cell-mediated skin disease atopic dermatitis [47], whereas both IFN- γ and IL-17A are not or at low level present in lesions of these patients [43, 47, 58]. Interestingly, in another chronic skin disorder, acne inversa, the contrary situation exists: Cutaneous IFN- γ and IL-17A are strongly elevated, whereas IL-22 expression is only minimally upregulated [43]. Abundant presence of IL-22 and IL-17 has been demonstrated in active Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis lesions [59, 60]. As in psoriasis, systemic IL-22 levels in Crohn's disease patients correlate with disease activity, although other disease-associated Th cell cytokines are scarcely detectable [60, 61]. A massive IL-22 and IL-17 presence was also found in inflamed tissues of patients suffering from rheumatoid arthritis [62-64]. However, in contrast to IL-22, IL-17 does not appear to be present in the blood of rheumatoid arthritis patients [65, 66]. Finally, IL-22 expression was found during various infectious diseases (e.g. Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection, Campylobacter jejuni infection, abdominal sepsis, and HIV infection) [67–69].

It is important to note that in experimental mice models, innate lymphoid cells are often the source of IL-22. For example, the high IL-22 levels in mice, found in certain organs during acute systemic inflammation after LPS application or during intestinal infection with *Citrobacter rodentium*, seem to derive from IL-23- and ROR γ t-dependent LTi(-like) cells as demonstrated by the use of T cell-deficient (Rag2-/-), p19-/-, or ROR γ t-/- mice (Sabat and Wolk, unpublished data, [70, 71]). In contrast, NKT cells have been demonstrated as being principal IL-22 sources in experimental *influenza* A virus lung infection [72].

5 Receptors

Both IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F conduct their biological effects via receptor complexes that are each composed of two different transmembrane proteins. However, the subunits of the IL-22 receptor complex are completely different from those of the IL-17 receptor complex.

The IL-22 receptor complex is composed of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 (Table 1 and [15, 21, 73]). In accordance with the CRF2 characteristics, both transmembrane subunits have an extracellular moiety containing two tandem FNIII domains with several aa positions conserved within this receptor family [2]. The human IL-22R1encoding gene (IL22RA1) is located on chromosome 1p36.11 (reversed strand), near the IL28RA locus, whereas the IL-10R2-encoding gene (IL10RB) is located on 21q22.11 (forward strand), near the IFNAR1, IFNAR2, and IFNGR2 loci. IL22RA1 and *IL10RB* have similar structures being comprised of seven exons with exons 2–7 containing the sequences for the 574 (sequence under NP_067081) and 325 (sequence under NP 000619) aa mature proteins, respectively. The transmembrane moieties are predicted to be encoded by sequences derived from exon 6 of the corresponding genes. The longer intracellular moiety of IL-22R1 (predicted 325 aa versus 79 aa in the IL-10R2) contains four Tyr-X-X-Gln motifs indicating putative STAT recruitment sites [74]. The extracellular domains of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 contain three and four putative N-linked glycosylation sites (Asn-X-Thr/Ser), respectively.

With the identification of the components of IL-22 receptor complex, the question arose as which receptor subunit is the primary IL-22-binding subunit. The initial studies published by Xie et al. and Kotenko et al. described direct IL-22 binding to IL-10R2 [15] and to both IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 [74], respectively. In contrast, Logsdon et al. determined the kinetic binding data by surface plasmon resonance techniques showing that IL-22 has a high affinity toward IL-22R1 ($K_D <$ 20 nM) but no actual affinity for IL-10R2 [18, 22]. However, IL-10R2 showed a measurable affinity for the IL-22/IL-22R1 complex. Moreover, Fouser's group described that biotinylated IL-22 binds soluble IL-22R1-Fc but not IL-10R2-Fc in an ELISA-based format, although IL-10R2-Fc stabilized an established association of IL-22 with IL-22R1-Fc [75]. This work additionally provided the initial evidence for a conformational change of the IL-22 molecule during the interaction with its receptor subunits. Our own experiments aimed to identify the possible binding sites for the interaction between IL-22 and IL-10R2 using scans of overlapping peptides derived from the protein aa sequence. By this approach we showed missing interaction between native IL-22 and the peptide scan derived from the IL-10R2 aa sequence, although native IL-10R2 was able to bind defined peptides of the peptide scan derived from the IL-22 aa sequence (see below) [76]. This underpins the notion that the IL-22 binding site for IL-10R2 may include sequence residues of this cytokine that are normally not accessible on the surface, but become accessible after a conformational change induced by initial interaction with IL-22R1 (Fig. 2).

The crystal structure analysis of the IL-22/IL-22R1 complex revealed key residues for interaction at the IL-22/IL-22R1 interface [77]. The identified residues of the IL-22 molecule contacting IL-22R1 include Phe47, Gln49 (pre-helix A), Thr53, Ser64 (helix A), Asp67, Thr70, Asp71, Arg73 (the AB loop) and Lys162, Gly165, Glu166, Asp168, and Arg175 (helix F). On the IL-22R1 side, the binding interface comprises residues of the L2–L6 loops (Lys58, Tyr60, Gly61, Glu62, Leu88, Thr89, Glu90, Tyr93, Arg112, Ser114, Pro206, Thr207), whereby IL-22 AB



Fig. 2 The interaction between IL-22 and the IL-22 receptor complex. IL-22 affects their target cells via the IL-22 receptor complex consisting of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2. There is evidence that IL-22 binds first to the high-affinity chain IL-22R1. This induces a conformational change in the cytokine allowing its interaction with IL-10R2. These interactions lead to signal transduction via JAK/STAT pathways. In some cell types, activation of MAP kinase pathways was described as well

loop and helix F contact IL-22R1 loops L2–L4 (D1 domain) and the IL-22Nterminal helix A interacts with IL-22R1 loops L5–L6 (D2 domain). Essentially, site-directed mutagenesis confirmed the IL-22R1 residues Tyr60 and Lys58 as functionally critical and important aa for IL-22 binding, respectively [77].

The current knowledge regarding the IL-22 residues interacting with IL-10R2 binding is based on homology models and on experimental data. To map the IL-10R2 binding site of human IL-22, we recently analyzed the binding of soluble IL-10R2 to a scan of immobilized overlapping peptides derived from IL-22's aa sequence [76]. Our data revealed distinct binding of IL-10R2 to the N-terminal end of helix A and a region comprising the helix D and the DE loop of IL-22. As deduced from the IL-22 X-ray structural data [16], these two separate segments in the primary sequence form a discontinuous epitope in the IL-22 molecule, which is located next to a region which has been proposed as a binding site for IL-22R1. Our data basically are in good accordance with the data from Walter's group that showed that IL-22 mutations at Tyr51, Asn54, or Arg55 (N-terminal end of helix A), to a greater extent, and at Tyr114 and Glu117 (helix D), to a lesser extent, impaired its affinity of IL-22 to soluble IL-10R2 in the presence of soluble IL-22R1 [22]. As noted above, Asn54 represents the residue whose glycosylation is important for the interaction between IL-22 and IL-10R2 [22]. It is currently not clear whether this carbohydrate interacts with IL-10R2 or whether it functions as a lever with which IL-22R1 creates the binding site for IL-10R2 in IL-22. However, there are no published data clarifying whether there is any interaction between both receptor subunits within the ternary IL-22/IL-22R1/IL-10R2 complex.

The receptor complex for IL-17A and IL-17F is composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC [78-80]. IL-17RA and IL-17RC together with IL-17RB, IL-17RD, and IL-17RE are transmembrane proteins that constitute a receptor family. Together with TLR and IL-1 receptors, they are assigned to the so-called SEFIR (similar expression to fibroblast growth factor genes, IL-17 receptors, and Toll-IL-1R) protein family, which is defined by a conserved cytoplasmic SEFIR domain. The human IL-17RA-encoding gene (IL17RA) is located on chromosome 22q11.1 (forward strand), whereas the IL-17RC-encoding gene (IL17RC) is located on 3p25.3-p24.1 (forward strand), near the IL17RE locus. Multiple, alternatively spliced transcript variants of IL17RC-encoding isoforms have been detected [81]. IL17RA and *IL17RC* have limited similarity and contain the sequences for the 866 (sequence under NP 055154) and 791 (sequence under NP 703191) aa mature proteins, respectively. IL-17RA is composed of a 293 aa-long extracellular domain, 21 aalong transmembrane domain, and 525 aa-long intracellular moiety. IL-17RC shares 23 % aa identity with IL-17A. IL-17RC is the binding subunit in the IL-17 receptor complex. In fact, both IL-17A and IL-17F interacted with IL-17RC with comparable high affinity (K_D ca. 0.5 nM). In contrast, IL-17RA binds IL-17A effectively (K_D ca. 2 nM), but binds IL-17F with ca. a 1,000-fold lower affinity [78]. By means of computational modeling, Kramer et al. identified two FNIII domains in the extracellular part of IL-17RA connected by a nonstructured linker [82]. The resolution of the crystal structure of IL-17F bound to IL-17RA revealed a unique mechanism of complex formation. In this complex, the two fibronectintype domains of IL-17RA engage the cytokine in the groove of the homodimer [83].

6 Target Cells

The targets cells of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F are only partially identical. The big difference is that immune cells do not bear the IL-22 receptor complex but are sensitive toward IL-17A/IL-17F. In addition, the number of different tissue cells that IL-22 acts on is smaller than the number of tissue cells whose function is regulated by IL-17A/IL-17F.

Several research groups including our own have extensively studied the expression of the IL-22 receptor complex components. IL-10R2 is ubiquitously expressed [47], which can be explained by its function as part of several cytokine receptors [1]. Therefore, the expression of the IL-22R1 subunit determines whether a cell is an IL-22 target or not. Our numerous studies demonstrated lacking IL-22R1 expression in bone marrow, blood mononuclear cells, thymus, and spleen, as well as in resting and activated primary immune cells including monocytes, B cells, T cells, NK cells, macrophages, and DC populations [46, 47, 49, 76]. In accordance with these results, no signal transduction was induced by IL-22 in any of these cells [47]. Finally, no influence of IL-22 was found in vitro or in vivo upon the screening of a large range of immunological parameters in the presence or absence of cell-specific stimuli [47, 76].

In contrast to immune cells, our data showed that a few organs expressed IL-22R1 and therefore contain putative target cells of IL-22 [47]. These organs include the skin and kidney and those from the digestive (pancreas, small intestine, liver, colon) and the respiratory (lung, trachea) systems with the highest expression found in the skin and pancreas [47]. These quantitative results are in line with the semiquantitative data published earlier by Aggarwal et al. [84] and Parrish-Novak et al. [85]. Interestingly, most IL-22R1-expressing tissues form outer body barriers and contain epithelial cells. Regarding isolated cell populations, IL-22R1 is expressed on keratinocytes, bronchial and intestinal epithelial cells, intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts, hepatocytes, pancreas acinar cells, and a range of respective tissue cell-derived cell lines [13, 86]. Interestingly, the expression of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 in keratinocytes and fibroblasts can be further upregulated by IFN- γ and TNF- α suggesting an amplification of IL-22 effects in the presence of these cytokines upon inflammation [47, 87].

As mentioned above, IL-17A/F signals through the IL-17RA/IL-17RC receptor complex [10]. Whereas IL-17RA is broadly expressed in hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells [80], IL-17RC is thought to be mainly expressed by non-hematopoietic cells [81]. There seems to be one exception, namely, for macrophages, expressing both IL-17RA and IL-17RC [88]. Therefore, it appears that numerous cell types are sensitive toward IL-17 action.

7 Signal Transduction

IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F use different signal transduction pathways to activate target cells.

Like other IL-10 family members, IL-22 activates in its target cells a signaling cascade via the JAK/STAT pathway resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3. Upon detailed studies using primary human cells, this was first demonstrated by our own research groups for keratinocytes and subsequently by the Fujiyama, Kolls, and Mizoguchi research groups for intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts as well as bronchial and intestinal epithelial cells [47, 48, 59, 89, 90]. However, most studies investigating IL-22-induced signal transduction in cells with endogenous receptor expression refer to tumor cell lines. In the cell lines, activation of STAT1 and/or STAT5 additionally to STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation was often observed [9, 47]. Using the H4IIE rat hepatoma cell line, Lejeune et al. clearly demonstrated that intracellular events involve tyrosine phosphorylation of Jak1 and Tyk2, but not Jak2 [91]. Since Tyk2 has been known to be associated with IL-10R2, these studies suggest Jak1 as the kinase associated with the IL-22R1. Despite four potential STAT binding sites on the IL-22R1, this receptor was recently shown to be pre-associated with STAT3 independently of these sites and to forward the IL-22 binding signal by this alternative mechanism [92]. In addition to tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT molecules, serine phosphorylation of STAT3 and an activation of the three major MAP kinase pathways (p38 kinase, JNK, and ERK1/2) by IL-22 was reported [91]. An activation of MAP kinase pathways by IL-22 was also shown for primary human keratinocytes (ERK1/2 and JNK), intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts (ERK1/2, JNK, p38 kinase), and synovial fibroblasts from rheumatoid arthritis patients (ERK1/2, p38) [48, 59, 62].

Following interaction with its receptor complex, IL-17A/F preferentially activate the NFkB and MAP kinase (p38 kinase, JNK, and ERK1/2) pathways [93, 94]. The binding of IL-17 to its receptor complex leads to recruitment of the adaptor protein Act1 to IL-17RA. For this recruitment, the conserved cytoplasmic "SEFIR" domain of IL-17RA is required. Unlike IL-1R signaling, the SEFIR domain of the IL-17 receptor mediates signal transduction independently of classical TIR adaptors like MyD88 or TRIF [94]. In its coiled-coil region at the C-terminus, Act1 also contains a SEFIR domain. Afterward, TAK1 kinase (TGFβ-activated kinase 1) and the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF6 (TNFR-associated factor 6) are recruited to the IL-17 receptor complex followed by NF κ B and C/EBP β/δ activation [95–97]. Already in 2002, it was demonstrated that TRAF6 is necessary for IL-17 activation of NFkB and JNK [98]. Additionally, Act1 may directly lead to p38 activation. The phosphorylation of C/EBPß inhibited proinflammatory gene expression induced by IL-17 [96]. Moreover, IL-17 treatment of target cells increased the Act1-independent phosphorylation of JAK1/2-activated PI3K signaling [99].

8 Biological Effects of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F

The biological effects of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F differ in many aspects. IL-22 seems to be a novel type of immune mediator that increases the innate immunity of tissue cells, protects tissues from damage, and enhances their regeneration. IL-17A and IL-17F are typical proinflammatory mediators (Fig. 3).

As described above, cells of the digestive tract, skin, lung, and kidney appear to be the most important target cells of IL-22, whereas immune cells are not responsive to this cytokine [47].

The effects of IL-22 that are most precisely characterized to date concern those on the biology of epithelial cells, in particular of keratinocytes. Following our initial study that worked out human keratinocytes as important target cells and demonstrated the first effects of IL-22 on these cells, the induction of antimicrobial molecules [47], few independent studies were conducted that identified a broad range of IL-22 effects on these cells [48, 87, 100–102]. These studies demonstrated that IL-22 basically influences five different keratinocyte functions. It enhances the innate immunity of these cells, inhibits their terminal differentiation (indicative of a regenerative state induction), increases their cellular mobility, induces the production of a few chemokines, and shows mechanisms that prolongs its own effects. These effects are described now in more detail:

IL-22 enhances the innate immunity of keratinocytes by strong upregulation of the expression of numerous antimicrobial molecules like the β -defensin (BD) 2 and



Fig. 3 The role of IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F during mucosal infections (see text). MC mast cell, $M\Phi$ macrophage, DC dendritic cell, L Lymphocyte, N neutrophile granulocyte, T T cell, FB fibroblast

BD3, as well as \$100A7, \$100A8, and \$100A9 [43, 47, 48, 100]. Next, IL-22 inhibits the expression of profilaggrin, keratin (K) 1 and K10, calmodulin-like 5, keratinocyte differentiation-associated protein, kallikrein 7, desmocollin-1, and late cornified envelope protein 1B [48, 87]. These proteins are involved in the terminal differentiation of keratinocytes, which is a particular apoptotic process that results in the formation of the stratum corneum. The impressive consequences of this IL-22 influence were demonstrated using a three-dimensional epidermis model: acanthosis (thickening of the epidermis), parakeratosis (retention of nuclei in the stratum corneum), and hypogranularity (loss of keratohyalin granules) [87, 102]. Interestingly, the influence of IL-22 on the keratinocyte differentiation is not shared by the Th1 and Th17 cell lead cytokines, whereas the latter also have a clear impact on antimicrobial protein (IFN- γ , IL-17; see below) and MMP (IFN- γ) expression [87]. The third group of IL-22-sensitive genes encode the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) 1 and 3, which are increased by IL-22, and annexin A9, which is decreased by IL-22 [48, 100]. Their regulation might be responsible for the IL-22-induced increase of the keratinocyte cellular mobility. Furthermore, IL-22 slightly enhances the expression of neutrophilic granulocyte-attracting chemokines: CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5, and CXCL8 [87, 100]. Finally, once exerting its effects on keratinocytes, IL-22 promotes an amplification circle by driving positive feedback regulation mechanisms [87, 101]. In fact, IL-22 induces the mRNA and protein expression of STAT3, the major and essential IL-22-signaling element [87]. Moreover, IL-22 induces the production of another member of the IL-10-family with similar effects as its own and the capacity to strengthen and prolong the IL-22 effects: IL-20 [101]. Interestingly, inflammatory mediators like TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-17 enhance some IL-22 effects [43, 48, 87, 101].

In other epithelial cells, IL-22 induces effects similar to those in keratinocytes. In fact, the Kolls group found that human bronchial epithelial cells respond to IL-22 stimulation by upregulation of BD2, S100A7, and S100A12; the neutrophilic granulocyte-attracting chemokines CXCL1 and CXCL5; thyroid oxidase 2; and G-CSF [89]. Likewise, in mouse tracheal epithelial cells, IL-22 enhanced the expression of the antimicrobial protein lipocalin (LCN)-2, of CXCL5, polymeric immunoglobulin receptor, and the mucus-associated protein MUC1 [89]. In colonic epithelial cells isolated from mice, locally overexpressed IL-22 enhanced the expression of MUC1, MUC3, MUC10, and MUC13, which are important for mucus layer formation and mucosal damage protection, as found by the Mizoguchi group [90]. Furthermore, IL-22 upregulates the expression of Reg family members (RegIII β , RegIII γ , Reg1 α) in these cells [103].

The few non-epithelial tissue cells the IL-22' influence on was reported involve hepatocytes and pancreas acinar cells. In hepatocytes IL-22 strengthens the production of acute-phase proteins such as serum amyloid A (SAA), α 1-antichymotrypsin, haptoglobin, and LPS-binding protein (LBP) [61, 73, 76]. These hepatic proteins display systemic inflammation-limiting and protective roles. In fact, α 1-antichymotrypsin favors the degradation of proteases known to be produced in large amounts during inflammation, SAA enhances the opsonization and phagocytosis of gram-negative bacteria, haptoglobin protects against hemoglobin-induced oxidative tissue damage, and high LBP levels neutralize bacterial components and therefore limit their immunostimulatory capacity. Regarding the exocrine pancreas, Gurney's group showed that IL-22 induced the upregulation of mRNA expression of two tissue-protective proteins, pancreatitisassociated protein 1 (PAP1/RegIIIa), and osteopontin [84]. Only the last years provided more and more evidence that PAP1 plays an important role in the protection against tissue injury. Besides its anti-apoptotic effects and the promotion of cellular immune responses by influencing Th1 cell development, osteopontin plays an important role in mucosal tissue protection and wound healing.

The above-described IL-22 effects suggest that this mediator might have an important role for the avoidance/clearance of epithelial and mucoepithelial infections and the regeneration and protection against damage in some chronic inflammatory cutaneous, pulmonary, and intestinal diseases. The effect of IL-22 on keratinocyte functions is indeed mirrored by the keratinocytes from psoriasis patients [47, 48, 87, 101]. These data, together with the high IL-22 expression levels in the plaques and the blood of psoriasis patients, led us to consider IL-22 as a key mediator in the dramatic keratinocyte functional alterations in psoriasis [104, 105]. A role of IL-22 was also demonstrated in psoriasis-like skin alterations in mice, which were induced either by the transfer of T cells to pathogen-free scid/scid mice [106] or by overexpression of IL-22 [87]. Regarding chronic inflammatory pulmonary diseases, it seems that IL-22 is required for the onset of allergic asthma, while functioning as a negative regulator in established allergic inflammation [107].

Few studies suggest a protective role of IL-22 in inflammatory bowel disease. Using a mouse model for ulcerative colitis (TCR α KO mice), Mizoguchi's group demonstrated that mice locally supplemented with IL-22 showed attenuated severity of colitis. This attenuation was attributed to the IL-22-induced STAT3-dependent expression of mucus-associated molecules and restitution of mucus-producing goblet cells [90]. Additionally, a protective role for IL-22 was demonstrated in two further murine colitis models. In fact, a more severe phenotype and higher mortality was associated with IL-22 deficiency in DSS-induced, innate immunity-mediated colitis and in Th1-mediated colitis induced by the adoptive transfer of IL-22-deficient compared to wild-type CD4⁺CD45RB⁺⁺CD25⁻ T cells into Rag1^{-/-}/IL-22^{-/-} mice [108].

Furthermore, there might be some protective action of systemic IL-22, whose levels are elevated in CD compared to healthy individuals and correlate with the disease activity [61]. These levels might contribute to the prevention of systemic inflammation provoked by LPS present in the blood of CD patients through its induction of hepatic LBP. The role of IL-22 in chronic inflammatory diseases that do not primarily involve epithelial tissues is less characterized. In rheumatoid arthritis IL-22 is assumed to play a pathogenetic role. This assumption was mainly based on the observed minimally reduced susceptibility of IL-22^{-/-} mice to collagen-induced arthritis [109]. Furthermore, IL-22 does not seem to play a major role in the murine model of multiple sclerosis [110].

Since IL-22 prominently stimulates the production of antimicrobially acting proteins in various epithelia (see above), it is not surprising that IL-22 seems to play an important role in the innate immune defense, especially against extracellular bacteria. Two studies in mice confirmed the significance of this property of IL-22. Zheng et al. demonstrated that IL-22-deficient mice died as a result of intestinal infection with *Citrobacter rodentium* [103]. Furthermore, the Kolls group found that neutralization of IL-22 during pulmonal *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection led to animal death [89]. Furthermore, we very recently found a relative IL-22-deficiency of the affected skin of patients suffering from acne inversa [43]. This may contribute to the persistence and propagation of bacteria in the lesions and consequently inflammation and superfluous exudate of purulence that heavily overloads the patients. In contrast to epithelial infections, little to no role for IL-22 is assumed for the control of facultative intracellular bacteria [89, 111–113].

In line with the above-described protective and regenerative features of IL-22, this cytokine plays a protective role in experimental (ConA, CCl_4 , or FAS ligandinduced) liver injury [114, 115]. IL-22 also protected $p35^{-/-}$ mice during *Salmonella enteritidis* infection from hepatic necrosis [111]. A recent study by the Gao group nicely showed that IL-22 protected mice from cerulein-induced pancreatitis. This protection likely involved the inhibition of autophagosome formation by upregulating BcL-2 and BcL-XL protein in the acinar cells [111].

In contrast to IL-22, IL-17A and IL-17F have clear proinflammatory properties and act on a broad range of cell types.

IL-17A and IL-17F induce the production of many neutrophilic granulocyteattracting chemokines, such as CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5, and CXCL8, and of T cell- and myeloid cell-attracting chemokines CCL20, CCL2, and CCL7 in fibroblasts, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, and keratinocytes [28, 87, 116–118]. In dendritic cells IL-17A reduces the production of CCL17, a chemokine that is responsible for the recruitment of Th2 cells to the site of inflammation [119]. Furthermore, IL-17A and IL-17F enhance the expression of G-CSF, GM-CSF, and stem cell factor in tissue cells, macrophages, and T cells and thereby led to strengthened granulopoiesis [88, 120, 121]. In line with this, adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the murine IL-17A cDNA resulted in a transiently transgenic phenotype, with dramatic effects on the in vivo granulopoiesis. There was a significant increase (tenfold) in the absolute neutrophil count in the peripheral blood that was associated with a doubling in the spleen size [122]. By means of the enhancement of chemokine production and granulopoiesis. IL-17 might lead to a significant increase in the immigration of neutrophilic granulocytes to the site of inflammation. Furthermore, the treatment of tissue cells with IL-17A and IL-17F induces the expression of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and a variety of metalloproteinases (MMP1, MMP2, MMP3, MMP9, and MMP13) [93, 116, 123-126]. IL-17A also upregulates the IL-1 β and TNF- α production in human macrophages [88, 127]. Additionally, IL-17A/IL-17F increases the production of a range of antimicrobial proteins including BD2, S100A7, S100A8, S1200A9, lipocalin-2, and LL-37 in their target cells [43, 128–130]. In primary human tracheobronchial epithelia, IL-17A enhances the expression of the mucin genes MUC5B and MUC5AC [131]. Interestingly, further investigation of MUC5B expression demonstrated that the IL-17 effect is at least partly mediated through IL-6 by an autocrine/paracrine loop. Furthermore, the increase in the production of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2)/prostaglandin-2 (PGE₂) and inducible NO synthetase (iNOS) seems to also belong to the repertoire of IL-17 action on tissue cells [93, 116, 132]. Interestingly, IL-17 also influences CD4+ T cell and B cell interactions required for the formation of the germinal center. Indeed, mice lacking the IL-17RA have reduced B cell development and humoral responses [133].

All these observations suggest that IL-17 has an important role in the host protection against specific pathogens. Indeed, as demonstrated by means of IL-17RA-deficient animals, IL-17 was critical for the protection against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* [134], *Citrobacter rodentium* (in later stages) [88], *Toxoplasma gondii* [135], and systemic and oropharyngeal candidiasis [136, 137]. It should be noted that IL-17A/IL-17F do not play an essential role in every infection since IL-17RA-deficient mice do not show increased susceptibility to most infections with intracellular pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* or *Listeria monocytogenes*. The role of IL-17 in antiviral protection remains controversial so far.

IL-17A and IL-17F are also important mediators of certain autoimmune diseases. Already in 2002, Nakae et al. generated IL-17A-deficient mice and found that contact, delayed-type, and airway hypersensitivity responses as well as T cell-dependent Ab production were significantly reduced in this mutant [138]. Lubberts et al. showed that blocking of endogenous IL-17A/IL-17F by means of an IL-17RA-Fc fusion protein in the autoimmune collagen-induced arthritis model results in suppression of arthritis, whereas various studies show that overexpression

of IL-17 enhanced collagen-induced arthritis [139, 140]. This clear proinflammatory effect of IL-17 seems to be TNF- α and IL-1 β independent under arthritic conditions [141]. Furthermore, the treatment of rats suffering from adjuvant-induced arthritis with IL-17RA-Fc fusion protein also led to significantly reduced paw volume and radiographic scores [142]. Regarding the role of IL-17 in EAE, the development of this murine multiple sclerosis model was significantly suppressed in IL-17A-deficient mice. These animals exhibited delayed onset, reduced maximum severity scores, ameliorated histological changes, and early recovery [88, 143]. Interestingly, IL-17A, but not IL-17F, seems to play an important role in the development of experimental contact delayed-type hypersensitivity, airway hypersensitivity, arthritis, and EAE [88, 144]. The role of IL-17 in experimental colitis in mice is less clear. It was described that IL-17F deficiency resulted in reduced DSS colitis, whereas IL-17A deficiency or neutralization caused more severe colitis [144, 145]. Furthermore, Zhang et al. found that IL-17RA-deficient mice were significantly protected against TNBS-induced weight loss and colonic inflammation [146].

Interestingly, some effects of IL-22 and IL-17 are additive. This is the case for the induction of antibacterial proteins in epithelial cells [43, 130]. However, it becomes clear from all these data that we do not have a complete understanding of the biological functions of IL-17A/IL-17F and IL-22. What we currently do know, however, is that IL-22 and IL-17A/IL-17F are different in many of their basic aspects and in their biological importance.

References

- 1. Sabat R (2010) IL-10 family of cytokines. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:315-324
- Langer JA, Cutrone EC, Kotenko S (2004) The Class II cytokine receptor (CRF2) family: overview and patterns of receptor-ligand interactions. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15:33–48
- 3. Witte K, Witte E, Sabat R, Wolk K (2010) IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29: promising cytokines with type I interferon-like properties. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:237–251
- Zdanov A (2010) Structural analysis of cytokines comprising the IL-10 family. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:325–330
- Dash R, Bhutia SK, Azab B, Su ZZ, Quinn BA, Kegelmen TP, Das SK, Kim K, Lee SG, Park MA et al (2010) mda-7/IL-24: a unique member of the IL-10 gene family promoting cancertargeted toxicity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:381–391
- Donnelly RP, Sheikh F, Dickensheets H, Savan R, Young HA, Walter MR (2010) Interleukin-26: an IL-10-related cytokine produced by Th17 cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:393–401
- 7. Gallagher G (2010) Interleukin-19: multiple roles in immune regulation and disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:345–352
- Wegenka UM (2010) IL-20: biological functions mediated through two types of receptor complexes. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:353–363
- Witte E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Sabat R, Wolk K (2010) Interleukin-22: a cytokine produced by T, NK and NKT cell subsets, with importance in the innate immune defense and tissue protection. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:365–379
- Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S (2011) Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 34:149–162
- 11. Kolls JK, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467–476
- 12. Reynolds JM, Angkasekwinai P, Dong C (2010) IL-17 family member cytokines: regulation and function in innate immunity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:413–423
- 13. Wolk K, Sabat R (2006) Interleukin-22: a novel T- and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 17:367–380
- Moseley TA, Haudenschild DR, Rose L, Reddi AH (2003) Interleukin-17 family and IL-17 receptors. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 14:155–174
- 15. Xie MH, Aggarwal S, Ho WH, Foster J, Zhang Z, Stinson J, Wood WI, Goddard AD, Gurney AL (2000) Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2–4 and IL-22R. J Biol Chem 275:31335–31339
- Nagem RA, Colau D, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Ogata C, Polikarpov I (2002) Crystal structure of recombinant human interleukin-22. Structure (Camb) 10:1051–1062
- Xu T, Logsdon NJ, Walter MR (2005) Structure of insect-cell-derived IL-22. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 61:942–950
- Logsdon NJ, Jones BC, Josephson K, Cook J, Walter MR (2002) Comparison of interleukin-22 and interleukin-10 soluble receptor complexes. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22:1099–1112
- Walter MR, Nagabhushan TL (1995) Crystal structure of interleukin 10 reveals an interferon gamma-like fold. Biochemistry 34:12118–12125
- 20. Zdanov A, Schalk-Hihi C, Gustchina A, Tsang M, Weatherbee J, Wlodawer A (1995) Crystal structure of interleukin-10 reveals the functional dimer with an unexpected topological similarity to interferon gamma. Structure 3:591–601
- 21. Kotenko SV, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Esterova E, Dickensheets H, Donnelly RP, Pestka S (2001) Identification of the functional interleukin-22 (IL-22) receptor complex: the IL-10R2 chain (IL-10Rbeta) is a common chain of both the IL-10 and IL-22 (IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, IL-TIF) receptor complexes. J Biol Chem 276:2725–2732
- 22. Logsdon NJ, Jones BC, Allman JC, Izotova L, Schwartz B, Pestka S, Walter MR (2004) The IL-10R2 binding hot spot on IL-22 is located on the N-terminal helix and is dependent on N-linked glycosylation. J Mol Biol 342:503–514
- 23. Hymowitz SG, Filvaroff EH, Yin JP, Lee J, Cai L, Risser P, Maruoka M, Mao W, Foster J, Kelley RF et al (2001) IL-17s adopt a cystine knot fold: structure and activity of a novel cytokine, IL-17F, and implications for receptor binding. EMBO J 20:5332–5341
- 24. Gerhardt S, Abbott WM, Hargreaves D, Pauptit RA, Davies RA, Needham MR, Langham C, Barker W, Aziz A, Snow MJ et al (2009) Structure of IL-17A in complex with a potent, fully human neutralizing antibody. J Mol Biol 394:905–921
- McDonald NQ, Hendrickson WA (1993) A structural superfamily of growth factors containing a cystine knot motif. Cell 73:421–424
- 26. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2002) Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? J Immunol 168:5397–5402
- 27. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132
- 28. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q et al (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141
- Kondo T, Takata H, Matsuki F, Takiguchi M (2009) Cutting edge: phenotypic characterization and differentiation of human CD8+ T cells producing IL-17. J Immunol 182:1794–1798
- 30. Ortega C, Fernandez AS, Carrillo JM, Romero P, Molina IJ, Moreno JC, Santamaria M (2009) IL-17-producing CD8+ T lymphocytes from psoriasis skin plaques are cytotoxic effector cells that secrete Th17-related cytokines. J Leukoc Biol 86:435–443

- Ness-Schwickerath KJ, Jin C, Morita CT (2010) Cytokine requirements for the differentiation and expansion of IL-17A- and IL-22-producing human Vgamma2Vdelta2 T cells. J Immunol 184:7268–7280
- 32. Hughes T, Becknell B, Freud AG, McClory S, Briercheck E, Yu J, Mao C, Giovenzana C, Nuovo G, Wei L et al (2010) Interleukin-1beta selectively expands and sustains interleukin-22+ immature human natural killer cells in secondary lymphoid tissue. Immunity 32:803–814
- Pandya AD, Al-Jaderi Z, Hoglund RA, Holmoy T, Harbo HF, Norgauer J, Maghazachi AA (2011) Identification of human NK17/NK1 cells. PLoS One 6:e26780
- 34. Nograles KE, Zaba LC, Shemer A, Fuentes-Duculan J, Cardinale I, Kikuchi T, Ramon M, Bergman R, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E (2009) IL-22-producing "T22" T cells account for upregulated IL-22 in atopic dermatitis despite reduced IL-17-producing TH17 T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:1244–1252 e2
- 35. Moreira-Teixeira L, Resende M, Coffre M, Devergne O, Herbeuval JP, Hermine O, Schneider E, Rogge L, Ruemmele FM, Dy M et al (2011) Proinflammatory environment dictates the IL-17-producing capacity of human invariant NKT cells. J Immunol 186:5758–5765
- 36. Rachitskaya AV, Hansen AM, Horai R, Li Z, Villasmil R, Luger D, Nussenblatt RB, Caspi RR (2008) Cutting edge: NKT cells constitutively express IL-23 receptor and RORgammat and rapidly produce IL-17 upon receptor ligation in an IL-6-independent fashion. J Immunol 180:5167–5171
- 37. Cupedo T, Crellin NK, Papazian N, Rombouts EJ, Weijer K, Grogan JL, Fibbe WE, Cornelissen JJ, Spits H (2009) Human fetal lymphoid tissue-inducer cells are interleukin 17-producing precursors to RORC+ CD127+ natural killer-like cells. Nat Immunol 10:66–74
- Crellin NK, Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Cupedo T, Spits H (2010) Human NKp44+IL-22+ cells and LTi-like cells constitute a stable RORC+ lineage distinct from conventional natural killer cells. J Exp Med 207:281–290
- 39. Luci C, Reynders A, Ivanov II, Cognet C, Chiche L, Chasson L, Hardwigsen J, Anguiano E, Banchereau J, Chaussabel D et al (2009) Influence of the transcription factor RORgammat on the development of NKp46+ cell populations in gut and skin. Nat Immunol 10:75–82
- 40. Kim S, Han S, Withers DR, Gaspal F, Bae J, Baik S, Shin HC, Kim KS, Bekiaris V, Anderson G et al (2011) CD117 CD3 CD56 OX40Lhigh cells express IL-22 and display an LTi phenotype in human secondary lymphoid tissues. Eur J Immunol 41:1563–1572
- 41. Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2009) Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. Nat Immunol 10:857–863
- 42. Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H (2009) Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T (H)1 and T(H)2 cells. Nat Immunol 10:864–871
- 43. Wolk K, Warszawska K, Hoeflich C, Witte E, Schneider-Burrus S, Witte K, Kunz S, Buss A, Roewert HJ, Krause M et al (2011) Deficiency of IL-22 contributes to a chronic inflammatory disease: pathogenetic mechanisms in acne inversa. J Immunol 186:1228–1239
- 44. Volpe E, Servant N, Zollinger R, Bogiatzi SI, Hupe P, Barillot E, Soumelis V (2008) A critical function for transforming growth factor-beta, interleukin 23 and proinflammatory cytokines in driving and modulating human T(H)-17 responses. Nat Immunol 9:650–657
- 45. Liu Y, Yang B, Zhou M, Li L, Zhou H, Zhang J, Chen H, Wu C (2009) Memory IL-22producing CD4+ T cells specific for Candida albicans are present in humans. Eur J Immunol 39:1472–1479
- 46. Wolk K, Witte K, Witte E, Proesch S, Schulze-Tanzil G, Nasilowska K, Thilo J, Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD et al (2008) Maturing dendritic cells are an important source of IL-29 and IL-20 that may cooperatively increase the innate immunity of keratinocytes. J Leukoc Biol 83:1181–1193
- 47. Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2004) IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. Immunity 21:241–254

- Wolk K, Witte E, Wallace E, Docke WD, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2006) IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 36:1309–1323
- 49. Kunz S, Wolk K, Witte E, Witte K, Doecke WD, Volk HD, Sterry W, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2006) Interleukin (IL)-19, IL-20 and IL-24 are produced by and act on keratinocytes and are distinct from classical ILs. Exp Dermatol 15:991–1004
- 50. Takahashi N, Vanlaere I, de Rycke R, Cauwels A, Joosten LA, Lubberts E, van den Berg WB, Libert C (2008) IL-17 produced by Paneth cells drives TNF-induced shock. J Exp Med 205:1755–1761
- 51. Billiau A, Matthys P (2009) Interferon-gamma: a historical perspective. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 20:97–113
- 52. Alam MS, Maekawa Y, Kitamura A, Tanigaki K, Yoshimoto T, Kishihara K, Yasutomo K (2010) Notch signaling drives IL-22 secretion in CD4+ T cells by stimulating the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:5943–5948
- 53. Ramirez JM, Brembilla NC, Sorg O, Chicheportiche R, Matthes T, Dayer JM, Saurat JH, Roosnek E, Chizzolini C (2010) Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor reveals distinct requirements for IL-22 and IL-17 production by human T helper cells. Eur J Immunol 40:2450–2459
- 54. Boniface K, Bak-Jensen KS, Li Y, Blumenschein WM, McGeachy MJ, McClanahan TK, McKenzie BS, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, de Waal Malefyt R (2009) Prostaglandin E2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation and function through cyclic AMP and EP2/EP4 receptor signaling. J Exp Med 206:535–548
- 55. Reynolds JM, Pappu BP, Peng J, Martinez GJ, Zhang Y, Chung Y, Ma L, Yang XO, Nurieva RI, Tian Q et al (2010) Toll-like receptor 2 signaling in CD4(+) T lymphocytes promotes T helper 17 responses and regulates the pathogenesis of autoimmune disease. Immunity 32:692–702
- 56. Nyirenda MH, Sanvito L, Darlington PJ, O'Brien K, Zhang GX, Constantinescu CS, Bar-Or A, Gran B (2011) TLR2 stimulation drives human naive and effector regulatory T cells into a Th17-like phenotype with reduced suppressive function. J Immunol 187:2278–2290
- 57. Teunissen MB, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA, Bos JD (1998) Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111:645–649
- 58. Guttman-Yassky E, Lowes MA, Fuentes-Duculan J, Zaba LC, Cardinale I, Nograles KE, Khatcherian A, Novitskaya I, Carucci JA, Bergman R et al (2008) Low expression of the IL-23/Th17 pathway in atopic dermatitis compared to psoriasis. J Immunol 181:7420–7427
- 59. Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O, Fujino S, Deguchi Y, Araki Y, Tsujikawa T, Kitoh K, Kim-Mitsuyama S, Takayanagi A et al (2005) Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology 129:969–984
- 60. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y (2003) Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 52:65–70
- 61. Wolk K, Witte E, Hoffmann U, Doecke WD, Endesfelder S, Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD, Wittig BM, Sabat R (2007) IL-22 induces lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in hepatocytes: a potential systemic role of IL-22 in Crohn's disease. J Immunol 178:5973–5981
- 62. Ikeuchi H, Kuroiwa T, Hiramatsu N, Kaneko Y, Hiromura K, Ueki K, Nojima Y (2005) Expression of interleukin-22 in rheumatoid arthritis: potential role as a proinflammatory cytokine. Arthritis Rheum 52:1037–1046
- 63. Kotake S, Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Matsuzaki K, Itoh K, Ishiyama S, Saito S, Inoue K, Kamatani N, Gillespie MT et al (1999) IL-17 in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis is a potent stimulator of osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest 103:1345–1352
- 64. Chabaud M, Durand JM, Buchs N, Fossiez F, Page G, Frappart L, Miossec P (1999) Human interleukin-17: a T cell-derived proinflammatory cytokine produced by the rheumatoid synovium. Arthritis Rheum 42:963–970

- 65. Leipe J, Schramm MA, Grunke M, Baeuerle M, Dechant C, Nigg AP, Witt MN, Vielhauer V, Reindl CS, Schulze-Koops H et al (2011) Interleukin 22 serum levels are associated with radiographic progression in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 70:1453–1457
- 66. Zhang L, Li JM, Liu XG, Ma DX, Hu NW, Li YG, Li W, Hu Y, Yu S, Qu X et al (2011) Elevated Th22 cells correlated with Th17 cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Clin Immunol 31:606–614
- 67. Matthews K, Wilkinson KA, Kalsdorf B, Roberts T, Diacon A, Walzl G, Wolske J, Ntsekhe M, Syed F, Russell J et al (2011) Predominance of interleukin-22 over interleukin-17 at the site of disease in human tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 91:587–593
- 68. Edwards LA, Nistala K, Mills DC, Stephenson HN, Zilbauer M, Wren BW, Dorrell N, Lindley KJ, Wedderburn LR, Bajaj-Elliott M (2010) Delineation of the innate and adaptive T-cell immune outcome in the human host in response to Campylobacter jejuni infection. PLoS One 5:e15398
- 69. Bingold TM, Ziesche E, Scheller B, Sadik CD, Franck K, Just L, Sartorius S, Wahrmann M, Wissing H, Zwissler B et al (2010) Interleukin-22 detected in patients with abdominal sepsis. Shock 34:337–340
- Dumoutier L, de Heusch M, Orabona C, Satoh-Takayama N, Eberl G, Sirard JC, Di Santo JP, Renauld JC (2011) IL-22 is produced by gammaC-independent CD25+ CCR6+ innate murine spleen cells upon inflammatory stimuli and contributes to LPS-induced lethality. Eur J Immunol 41:1075–1085
- Sonnenberg GF, Monticelli LA, Elloso MM, Fouser LA, Artis D (2011) CD4(+) lymphoid tissue-inducer cells promote innate immunity in the gut. Immunity 34:122–134
- 72. Paget C, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Renneson J, Blanc F, Pichavant M, Dumoutier L, Ryffel B, Renauld JC, Gosset P et al (2012) Interleukin-22 is produced by invariant natural killer T lymphocytes during influenza A virus infection: potential role in protection against lung epithelial damage. J Biol Chem 287:8816–8829
- 73. Dumoutier L, Van Roost E, Colau D, Renauld JC (2000) Human interleukin-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor: molecular cloning and functional characterization as an hepatocyte-stimulating factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10144–10149
- 74. Kotenko SV, Krause CD, Izotova LS, Pollack BP, Wu W, Pestka S (1997) Identification and functional characterization of a second chain of the interleukin-10 receptor complex. EMBO J 16:5894–5903
- 75. Li J, Tomkinson KN, Tan XY, Wu P, Yan G, Spaulding V, Deng B, Annis-Freeman B, Heveron K, Zollner R et al (2004) Temporal associations between interleukin 22 and the extracellular domains of IL-22R and IL-10R2. Int Immunopharmacol 4:693–708
- 76. Wolk K, Witte E, Reineke U, Witte K, Friedrich M, Sterry W, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sabat R (2005) Is there an interaction between interleukin-10 and interleukin-22? Genes Immun 6:8–18
- 77. Bleicher L, de Moura PR, Watanabe L, Colau D, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Polikarpov I (2008) Crystal structure of the IL-22/IL-22R1 complex and its implications for the IL-22 signaling mechanism. FEBS Lett 582:2985–2992
- 78. Kuestner RE, Taft DW, Haran A, Brandt CS, Brender T, Lum K, Harder B, Okada S, Ostrander CD, Kreindler JL et al (2007) Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F. J Immunol 179:5462–5473
- 79. Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, Tocker J, Peschon J (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. J Immunol 177:36–39
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau AM, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, Spriggs MK (1995) Herpesvirus Saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821
- Haudenschild D, Moseley T, Rose L, Reddi AH (2002) Soluble and transmembrane isoforms of novel interleukin-17 receptor-like protein by RNA splicing and expression in prostate cancer. J Biol Chem 277:4309–4316

- 82. Kramer JM, Hanel W, Shen F, Isik N, Malone JP, Maitra A, Sigurdson W, Swart D, Tocker J, Jin T et al (2007) Cutting edge: identification of a pre-ligand assembly domain (PLAD) and ligand binding site in the IL-17 receptor. J Immunol 179:6379–6383
- Ely LK, Fischer S, Garcia KC (2009) Structural basis of receptor sharing by interleukin 17 cytokines. Nat Immunol 10:1245–1251
- 84. Aggarwal S, Xie MH, Maruoka M, Foster J, Gurney AL (2001) Acinar cells of the pancreas are a target of interleukin-22. J Interferon Cytokine Res 21:1047–1053
- 85. Parrish-Novak J, Xu W, Brender T, Yao L, Jones C, West J, Brandt C, Jelinek L, Madden K, McKernan PA et al (2002) Interleukins 19, 20, and 24 signal through two distinct receptor complexes. Differences in receptor-ligand interactions mediate unique biological functions. J Biol Chem 277:47517–47523
- Wolk K, Witte E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Sabat R (2010) Biology of interleukin-22. Semin Immunopathol 32:17–31
- 87. Wolk K, Haugen HS, Xu W, Witte E, Waggie K, Anderson M, Vom Baur E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Philipp S et al (2009) IL-22 and IL-20 are key mediators of the epidermal alterations in psoriasis while IL-17 and IFN-gamma are not. J Mol Med (Berl) 87:523–536
- 88. Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Nagai T, Kadoki M, Nambu A, Komiyama Y, Fujikado N, Tanahashi Y, Akitsu A, Kotaki H et al (2009) Differential roles of interleukin-17A and -17F in host defense against mucoepithelial bacterial infection and allergic responses. Immunity 30:108–119
- Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K et al (2008) IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. Nat Med 14:275–281
- Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Mizoguchi E, Shimomura Y, Andoh A, Bhan AK, Blumberg RS, Xavier RJ, Mizoguchi A (2008) IL-22 ameliorates intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest 118:534–544
- 91. Lejeune D, Dumoutier L, Constantinescu S, Kruijer W, Schuringa JJ, Renauld JC (2002) Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10. J Biol Chem 277:33676–33682
- 92. Dumoutier L, de Meester C, Tavernier J, Renauld JC (2009) New activation modus of STAT3: a tyrosine-less region of the interleukin-22 receptor recruits STAT3 by interacting with its coiled-coil domain. J Biol Chem 284:26377–26384
- Shalom-Barak T, Quach J, Lotz M (1998) Interleukin-17-induced gene expression in articular chondrocytes is associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NFkappaB. J Biol Chem 273:27467–27473
- 94. Maitra A, Shen F, Hanel W, Mossman K, Tocker J, Swart D, Gaffen SL (2007) Distinct functional motifs within the IL-17 receptor regulate signal transduction and target gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:7506–7511
- 95. Qian Y, Liu C, Hartupee J, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Jane-Wit D, Xiao J, Lu Y, Giltiay N, Liu J et al (2007) The adaptor Act1 is required for interleukin 17-dependent signaling associated with autoimmune and inflammatory disease. Nat Immunol 8:247–256
- 96. Shen F, Li N, Gade P, Kalvakolanu DV, Weibley T, Doble B, Woodgett JR, Wood TD, Gaffen SL (2009) IL-17 receptor signaling inhibits C/EBPbeta by sequential phosphorylation of the regulatory 2 domain. Sci Signal 2:ra8
- Shen F, Ruddy MJ, Plamondon P, Gaffen SL (2005) Cytokines link osteoblasts and inflammation: microarray analysis of interleukin-17- and TNF-alpha-induced genes in bone cells. J Leukoc Biol 77:388–399
- Schwandner R, Yamaguchi K, Cao Z (2000) Requirement of tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor (TRAF)6 in interleukin 17 signal transduction. J Exp Med 191:1233–1240
- 99. Huang F, Kao CY, Wachi S, Thai P, Ryu J, Wu R (2007) Requirement for both JAK-mediated PI3K signaling and ACT1/TRAF6/TAK1-dependent NF-kappaB activation by IL-17A in enhancing cytokine expression in human airway epithelial cells. J Immunol 179:6504–6513

- Boniface K, Bernard FX, Garcia M, Gurney AL, Lecron JC, Morel F (2005) IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. J Immunol 174:3695–3702
- 101. Wolk K, Witte E, Warszawska K, Schulze-Tanzil G, Witte K, Philipp S, Kunz S, Docke WD, Asadullah K, Volk HD et al (2009) The Th17 cytokine IL-22 induces IL-20 production in keratinocytes: a novel immunological cascade with potential relevance in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 39:3570–3581
- 102. Sa SM, Valdez PA, Wu J, Jung K, Zhong F, Hall L, Kasman I, Winer J, Modrusan Z, Danilenko DM et al (2007) The effects of IL-20 subfamily cytokines on reconstituted human epidermis suggest potential roles in cutaneous innate defense and pathogenic adaptive immunity in psoriasis. J Immunol 178:2229–2240
- 103. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, Abbas AR, Modrusan Z, Ghilardi N, de Sauvage FJ et al (2008) Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. Nat Med 14:282–289
- 104. Sabat R, Philipp S, Hoflich C, Kreutzer S, Wallace E, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Wolk K (2007) Immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Exp Dermatol 16:779–798
- 105. Sabat R, Wolk K (2011) Research in practice: IL-22 and IL-20: significance for epithelial homeostasis and psoriasis pathogenesis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 9:518–523
- 106. Ma HL, Liang S, Li J, Napierata L, Brown T, Benoit S, Senices M, Gill D, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M et al (2008) IL-22 is required for Th17 cell-mediated pathology in a mouse model of psoriasis-like skin inflammation. J Clin Invest 118:597–607
- 107. Besnard AG, Sabat R, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Willart M, Lambrecht B, Teixeira MM, Charron S, Fick L, Erard F et al (2011) Dual Role of IL-22 in allergic airway inflammation and its cross-talk with IL-17A. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1153–1163
- 108. Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Stevens S, Flavell RA (2008) Innate and adaptive interleukin-22 protects mice from inflammatory bowel disease. Immunity 29:947–957
- 109. Geboes L, Dumoutier L, Kelchtermans H, Schurgers E, Mitera T, Renauld JC, Matthys P (2009) Proinflammatory role of the Th17 cytokine interleukin-22 in collagen-induced arthritis in C57BL/6 mice. Arthritis Rheum 60:390–395
- 110. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, Giuliani F, Arbour N, Becher B, Prat A (2007) Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood–brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nat Med 13:1173–1175
- 111. Schulz SM, Kohler G, Schutze N, Knauer J, Straubinger RK, Chackerian AA, Witte E, Wolk K, Sabat R, Iwakura Y et al (2008) Protective immunity to systemic infection with attenuated Salmonella enterica serovar entertitidis in the absence of IL-12 is associated with IL-23-dependent IL-22, but not IL-17. J Immunol 181:7891–7901
- 112. Siegemund S, Schutze N, Schulz S, Wolk K, Nasilowska K, Straubinger RK, Sabat R, Alber G (2009) Differential IL-23 requirement for IL-22 and IL-17A production during innate immunity against Salmonella enterica serovar Entertidis. Int Immunol 21:555–565
- 113. Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Karow M, Flavell RA (2007) Interleukin-22 but not interleukin-17 provides protection to hepatocytes during acute liver inflammation. Immunity 27:647–659
- 114. Radaeva S, Sun R, Pan HN, Hong F, Gao B (2004) Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. Hepatology 39:1332–1342
- 115. Pan H, Hong F, Radaeva S, Gao B (2004) Hydrodynamic gene delivery of interleukin-22 protects the mouse liver from concanavalin A-, carbon tetrachloride-, and Fas ligand-induced injury via activation of STAT3. Cell Mol Immunol 1:43–49
- 116. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, Flores-Romo L, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C, Pin JJ, Garrone P, Garcia E, Saeland S et al (1996) T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med 183:2593–2603

- 117. Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lotvall J, Sjostrand M, Gruenert DC, Skoogh BE, Linden A (1999) Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. J Immunol 162:2347–2352
- 118. Van Kooten C, Boonstra JG, Paape ME, Fossiez F, Banchereau J, Lebecque S, Bruijn JA, De Fijter JW, Van Es LA, Daha MR (1998) Interleukin-17 activates human renal epithelial cells in vitro and is expressed during renal allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1526–1534
- 119. Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725
- 120. Jones CE, Chan K (2002) Interleukin-17 stimulates the expression of interleukin-8, growthrelated oncogene-alpha, and granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor by human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 26:748–753
- 121. Kawaguchi M, Kokubu F, Odaka M, Watanabe S, Suzuki S, Ieki K, Matsukura S, Kurokawa M, Adachi M, Huang SK (2004) Induction of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by a new cytokine, ML-1 (IL-17F), via Raf I-MEK-ERK pathway. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114:444–450
- 122. Schwarzenberger P, La Russa V, Miller A, Ye P, Huang W, Zieske A, Nelson S, Bagby GJ, Stoltz D, Mynatt RL et al (1998) IL-17 stimulates granulopoiesis in mice: use of an alternate, novel gene therapy-derived method for in vivo evaluation of cytokines. J Immunol 161:6383–6389
- 123. Sylvester J, Liacini A, Li WQ, Zafarullah M (2004) Interleukin-17 signal transduction pathways implicated in inducing matrix metalloproteinase-3, -13 and aggrecanase-1 genes in articular chondrocytes. Cell Signal 16:469–476
- 124. Jovanovic DV, Di Battista JA, Martel-Pelletier J, Reboul P, He Y, Jolicoeur FC, Pelletier JP (2001) Modulation of TIMP-1 synthesis by antiinflammatory cytokines and prostaglandin E2 in interleukin 17 stimulated human monocytes/macrophages. J Rheumatol 28:712–718
- 125. Chabaud M, Garnero P, Dayer JM, Guerne PA, Fossiez F, Miossec P (2000) Contribution of interleukin 17 to synovium matrix destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Cytokine 12:1092–1099
- 126. Koenders MI, Lubberts E, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Di Padova FE, Boots AM, Gram H, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2005) Blocking of interleukin-17 during reactivation of experimental arthritis prevents joint inflammation and bone erosion by decreasing RANKL and interleukin-1. Am J Pathol 167:141–149
- 127. Jovanovic DV, Di Battista JA, Martel-Pelletier J, Jolicoeur FC, He Y, Zhang M, Mineau F, Pelletier JP (1998) IL-17 stimulates the production and expression of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-beta and TNF-alpha, by human macrophages. J Immunol 160:3513–3521
- 128. Kao CY, Chen Y, Thai P, Wachi S, Huang F, Kim C, Harper RW, Wu R (2004) IL-17 markedly up-regulates beta-defensin-2 expression in human airway epithelium via JAK and NF-kappaB signaling pathways. J Immunol 173:3482–3491
- 129. Chan YR, Liu JS, Pociask DA, Zheng M, Mietzner TA, Berger T, Mak TW, Clifton MC, Strong RK, Ray P et al (2009) Lipocalin 2 is required for pulmonary host defense against Klebsiella infection. J Immunol 182:4947–4956
- 130. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- 131. Chen Y, Thai P, Zhao YH, Ho YS, DeSouza MM, Wu R (2003) Stimulation of airway mucin gene expression by interleukin (IL)-17 through IL-6 paracrine/autocrine loop. J Biol Chem 278:17036–17043
- 132. Miljkovic D, Cvetkovic I, Vuckovic O, Stosic-Grujicic S, Mostarica Stojkovic M, Trajkovic V (2003) The role of interleukin-17 in inducible nitric oxide synthase-mediated nitric oxide production in endothelial cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 60:518–525
- 133. Hsu HC, Yang P, Wang J, Wu Q, Myers R, Chen J, Yi J, Guentert T, Tousson A, Stanus AL et al (2008) Interleukin 17-producing T helper cells and interleukin 17 orchestrate

autoreactive germinal center development in autoimmune BXD2 mice. Nat Immunol 9:166-175

- 134. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J et al (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- 135. Kelly MN, Kolls JK, Happel K, Schwartzman JD, Schwarzenberger P, Combe C, Moretto M, Khan IA (2005) Interleukin-17/interleukin-17 receptor-mediated signaling is important for generation of an optimal polymorphonuclear response against Toxoplasma gondii infection. Infect Immun 73:617–621
- 136. Huang W, Na L, Fidel PL, Schwarzenberger P (2004) Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-Candida albicans host defense in mice. J Infect Dis 190:624–631
- 137. Conti HR, Shen F, Nayyar N, Stocum E, Sun JN, Lindemann MJ, Ho AW, Hai JH, Yu JJ, Jung JW et al (2009) Th17 cells and IL-17 receptor signaling are essential for mucosal host defense against oral candidiasis. J Exp Med 206:299–311
- 138. Nakae S, Komiyama Y, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwase M, Homma I, Sekikawa K, Asano M, Iwakura Y (2002) Antigen-specific T cell sensitization is impaired in IL-17-deficient mice, causing suppression of allergic cellular and humoral responses. Immunity 17:375–387
- 139. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, Oppers B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Kolls JK, Schwarzenberger P, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB (2001) IL-1-independent role of IL-17 in synovial inflammation and joint destruction during collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 167:1004–1013
- 140. Lubberts E, Koenders MI, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2004) Treatment with a neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. Arthritis Rheum 50:650–659
- 141. Koenders MI, Lubberts E, van de Loo FA, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Kolls JK, Di Padova FE, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2006) Interleukin-17 acts independently of TNF-alpha under arthritic conditions. J Immunol 176:6262–6269
- 142. Bush KA, Farmer KM, Walker JS, Kirkham BW (2002) Reduction of joint inflammation and bone erosion in rat adjuvant arthritis by treatment with interleukin-17 receptor IgG1 Fc fusion protein. Arthritis Rheum 46:802–805
- 143. Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2006) IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 177:566–573
- 144. Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang YH, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z et al (2008) Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J Exp Med 205:1063–1075
- 145. Izcue A, Hue S, Buonocore S, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Ahern PP, Iwakura Y, Maloy KJ, Powrie F (2008) Interleukin-23 restrains regulatory T cell activity to drive T cell-dependent colitis. Immunity 28:559–570
- 146. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK (2006) Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:382–388

IL-17 Receptor Family: Structure, Signal Transduction, and Function

Fang Shen

Abstract Since the discovery of a unique population of T helper cells which secrete interleukin 17 (IL-17), IL-17 is no longer viewed as "yet-another interleukin" but stands out as a unique cytokine in host defense and autoimmunity. To date, the IL-17 cytokine family has been expanded to six members: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E, and IL-17F. They elicit overlapping and yet divergent functions through different receptors. IL-17 receptor family currently consists of five members: IL-17RA, IL-17RB, IL-17RC, IL-17RD, and IL-17RE. They are type I transmembrane proteins that tend to form heteromeric receptor complexes on cell surface. This chapter will cover recent update on structure, signaling pathway, and function of IL-17 receptor family.

Keywords IL-17 receptor • Signal transduction

1 Introduction

The discovery of the Th17 population has expanded our view on T helper cell function beyond the classical Th1/Th2 diagram [1, 2]. It is now recognized that Th17 cells represent one of the major pathogenic T helper cell populations in autoimmune diseases like multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and inflammatory bowel diseases [3–5]. On the other hand, Th17 cells also play a nonredundant role during host defense again extracellular pathogens [6–8].

Although Th17 cells secrete several other cytokines including IL-21, IL-22, and IL-26, they are named by two major cytokines they produce, IL-17A and IL-17F. IL-17A was first cloned in 1993 [9]. IL-17F shares the greatest homology (55 %)

F. Shen (🖂)

Immunology, Janssen Research and Development, 145 King of Prussia Road, Radnor, PA 19087, USA e-mail: fshen2@its.jnj.com

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17*, *IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_3, © Springer Basel 2013

with IL-17A among other IL-17-like cytokines. The crystal structure of IL-17F/F [10] and IL-17A/A [11] homodimers revealed a "cysteine knot"-like structure similar to nerve growth factor (NGF). IL-17A/F heterodimer was later identified from activated human and mouse CD4+ T cells [12, 13]. Although initially found in the adaptive immune system, IL-17A and IL-17F can also be produced by other innate immune cells in vivo [14]. Both of IL-17A and IL-17F are able to mount a strong inflammatory response and have quickly become major therapeutic targets under consideration for autoimmune diseases [15].

IL-17E (also known as IL-25) is expressed in Th2-polarized CD4+ T cells [16], mast cells [17], and epithelial cells. Systemic delivery of IL-17E or overexpressed IL-17E results in enhanced Th2 response, increased serum IgE levels, and blood eosinophilia in vivo [16, 18, 19]. Recently, it was reported that IL-17E induced a special lineage-negative innate-like cell in vivo which plays an important role in Th2 response and pulmonary inflammation [20, 21]. Other IL-17 family members (IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17D) have been discovered based on homology to IL-17A [22]. However, we only have limited understanding of their functions.

Contrary to mountains of data on Th17 biology, the studies on the IL-17 receptors are somewhat lagging. Five IL-17 receptors have been cloned: IL-17RA, IL-17RB, IL-17RC, IL-17RE, and IL-17RD.

2 Cloning and Tissue Distribution

Murine IL-17RA was the first cloned from the cDNA library of a murine thymoma cell line by its ability to bind both mouse IL-17 and HSV13 gene products from *Herpesvirus saimiri* [23]. Human IL-17RA was later cloned from human peripheral blood leukocyte cDNA library using mouse IL-17RA cDNA as the probe [24]. Mature human IL-17RA contains an N-terminal 293-amino acid extracellular domain, 21-amino acid transmembrane domain, and C-terminal 512-amino acid cytoplasmic domain. IL-17RA is ubiquitously expressed on various tissues including spleen, kidney, lung, liver, brain, heart, skeletal muscle, and testes. IL-17RA expression spans both immune cells (T cells, B cells, monocytes, and NK cells) and nonimmune cells (fibroblast, epithelial cells, osteoblastic cells, and stromal cells).

IL-17RB was cloned based on homology to IL-17RA [25] and independently as an oncogene (Evi27) in BXH2 murine myeloid leukemia cells [26]. IL-17RB protein shares 26 % amino acid identity to IL-17RA [27]. Compared to other family members, IL-17RB has the shortest intracellular tail of less than 200 amino acids. IL-17RB gene transcripts show multiple splicing variants [26]. Some of the mRNAs encode soluble proteins lacking transmembrane and intracellular domains. Murine IL-17RB is highly expressed in various tissues including liver, testes, brain, and lung, while human IL-17RB is expressed highly in kidney, moderately in brain, liver, and testes. Of note, IL-17RB is also considered a biomarker for tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients [28]. IL-17RC was identified based on similarity to IL-17RA cytoplasmic domain [29]. IL-17RC protein is 22 % identical to IL-17RA. Analysis of the human EST database revealed extensive alternative splicing of IL-17RC gene. In human prostate cancer cells, there are over 90 different splicing isoforms expressed [30]. Most IL-17RC isoforms vary in the N-terminal ligand-binding domain. However, some soluble receptor isoforms lack transmembrane/intracellular domain and might act as "decoy receptors." IL-17RC is highly expressed in non-hematopoietic tissues such as kidney, liver, lung, heart, and muscle.

IL-17RD was first cloned from zebra fish and named Sef (similar expression to fgf genes) because of its co-expression with FGF during embryonic development [31, 32]. At least three different splicing variants were reported in human: full-length hSef, hSef-s which lacks the N-terminal 144 residues [33], and hSef-b in which the 42-amino acid lead sequence in full-length sef is replaced by an unrelated 10-amino acid sequence [34]. IL-17RD is highly expressed on epithelial cells but not on hematopoietic cells. It is also expressed in various tissues including ovary, breast, brain, spinal cord, heart, skeleton muscle, and kidney.

IL-17RE was discovered based on similarity to IL-17RC [35]. IL-17RE mRNAs also undergo alternative splicing control. At least six splicing variants in mouse and three splicing variants in human have been identified. IL-17RE is expressed in various tissues including kidney, stomach, testes, and lung.

In summary, IL-17 receptors share similar primary structure: glycosylated extracellular domain, single transmembrane domain, and cytoplasmic tail. Except for IL-17RA, other IL-17 receptors have different isoforms due to alternative splicing. IL-17RA, IL-17RB, and IL-17RE seem to express more broadly on both immune cells and nonimmune cells, while IL-17RC and IL-17RD expressions seem to be limited in the non-hematopoietic compartment.

IL-17RA and IL-17RD genes may be the most evolutionally ancient genes in the family. Both of them could be found in the genome of basal chordate amphioxus, while IL-17RB, IL-17RC, and IL-17RE might have originated from later gene duplication events [36]. In mouse, the genes of IL-17RA, IL-17RC, and IL-17RE are located in chromosome 6 while IL-17RB and IL-17RD are on chromosome 14. In human, IL-17RA is on chromosome 22 while all other members are clustered on chromosome 3 (see Table 1).

3 Receptor Complex and Ligand Binding

3.1 IL-17A/A, IL-17F/F, and IL-17A/F Binds to IL-17RA/IL-17RC Complex

IL-17RA and IL-17RC were originally thought to be the receptor for IL-17A/A homodimer [24] and IL-17F/F homodimer [37], respectively. Affinity data from surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis seem to support this hypothesis: Human

Receptor	Chr	Splicing variants	Protein	Alias	Tissue distribution	References
hIL-17RA mIL-17RA	22q11.1 6F1	None None	866 aa 864 aa	IL-17R	Spleen, kidney, lung liver, brain, heart, skeletal muscle, testes	[23, 24]
hIL-17RB mIL-17RB	3p21.1 14 B	2 Multiple	502 aa (FL) 499 aa	IL-17RH1	Kidney, brain, liver, testes	[25–27]
hIL-17RC mIL-17RC	3p25.3 6 E3	Multiple Multiple	720 aa (FL) 674 aa (FL)	hIL-17RL	Kidney, liver, lung, heart, and muscle	[29]
hIL-17RD mIL-17RD	3p14.3 14 A3	3 ?	739 aa (FL) 738 aa	SEF	Ovary, breast, brain, spinal cord, heart, skeleton muscle, and kidney	[31, 32, 45]
hIL-17RE mIL-17RE	3p35.3 6 E3	3 6	667 aa 637 aa (FL)		Kidney, stomach, testes, and lung	[35]

Table 1 IL-17 receptor family gene structure and expression pattern

From NCBI web site and other literatures. FL full length

IL-17A/A binds better to IL-17RA-Fc than IL-17RC-Fc; IL-17F/F binds better to IL-17RC-Fc than IL-17RA-Fc [13]. Interestingly, mouse IL-17F only binds to fulllength mouse IL-17RC, while human IL-17F can bind to both full-length human IL-17RC and an IL-17RC splicing variant lacking exon 7 [37]. Although both IL-17F and IL-17RA are glycosylated, the IL-17F binding seems to be not affected by endoglycosidase H treatment of IL-17RA [38]. The crystal structure of IL-17F complexed with the IL-17RA extracellular domain has been resolved [38]. As predicted by computational approach [39], IL-17RA extracellular domain folds into two fibronectin III-like domains, namely, FN1 and FN2. The IL-17RA/IL-17F-binding interface spans FN1, linker, and FN2 domain with a unique "side-on" orientation which is significantly different from other cytokine receptor complex.

Dean et al. unexpectedly found that human IL-17RA cDNA could not compensate for the loss of function in IL-17RA knockout (KO) mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs). The deficiency of ligand binding and downstream response in IL-17RA KO MEFs is only rescued by co-expression of human IL-17RA and IL-17RC [40]. As predicted, MEFs lacking IL-17RC fails to respond to either IL-17A/ A or IL-17F/F [41, 42]. Later Wright et al. demonstrated that IL-17A/F signaling was impaired if either IL-17RA or IL-17RC is blocked by neutralizing antireceptor antibody or knockdown of receptor expression using siRNA [13].

One of the models of IL-17RA and IL-17RC complex assembly is described as a "stepwise pairing": IL-17A/A could bind to either IL-17RA or IL-17RC first; but once the initial receptor-ligand complex forms, the affinity for the second identical receptor decreases dramatically, while the 1:1:1 complex of IL-17RA: ligand: IL-17RC is favored [43]. However, later study revealed that the IL-17RA associates with IL-17RC even before exogenous ligands were added [42]. Unlike Toll-like receptors (TLRs), this interaction happens between the extracellular domain of IL-17RA and IL-17RC. Nonetheless, upon IL-17A/A or IL-17F/F treatment, IL-17RC showed inducible association with a glycosylated, slow-migrating IL-17RA isoforms [42].

3.2 IL-17E Binds to IL-17RA/IL-17RB Complex

When IL-17E was cloned, IL-17RB is thought to be its receptor [27]. Inspired by the IL-17RA/IL-17RC complex story, Rickel et al. demonstrated that splenocytes deficient in either IL-17RA or IL-17RB could not induce Th2 cytokine production after IL-17E stimulation. IL-17RA KO or IL-17RB KO mice did not mount robust lung inflammation after intranasal IL-17E challenge. Neutralization antibodies against IL-17RA or IL-17RB could abrogate inflammatory effects of IL-17E in mouse and human cells in vitro [44]. Although IL-17RA does not bind to IL-17E directly by itself [27, 44], the stepwise binding of IL-17RA to IL-17RB/IL-17E complex has been demonstrated similar to IL-17RA/IL-17RC/IL-17A [43]. The conformational change in IL-17E after binding to IL-17RB might increase its affinity to IL-17RA.

3.3 IL-17RD Is an Orphan Receptor and Functions Without Known Ligands

The direct association of IL-17RD and FGFR has been known since its discovery. IL-17RD protein inhibits FGFR1/2 signaling in both zebra fish [31, 32] and human umbilical vein endothelial cells [45]. Surprisingly, the extracellular domain of IL-17RD is dispensable for this interaction. Mutated IL-17RD lacking extracellular domain is still capable of inhibiting FGF-induced ERK activation, while deletion of IL-17RD cytoplasmic tail will abrogate its function [33, 45]. One report suggests that IL-17RD associates with IL-17RA and positively impacts IL-17RA signaling [46]. However, the functional significance of this interaction is yet to be tested in IL-17RA- or IL-17RD-deficient mice in vivo. Given no reports on other known cytokines as ligand, IL-17RD remains to be the orphan receptor in the family.

3.4 Other IL-17 Receptors

IL-17C is secreted by epithelial cells in response to bacteria and proinflammatory cytokines. IL-17C functions in an autocrine manner binding to the IL-17RA-IL-17RE heterodimeric receptor complex, to promote innate host defense responses from tissue epithelial cells (Ramirez-Carrozzi et al. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(12):1159). IL-17B was reported to bind to IL-17RB with much lower affinity compared to IL-17E [25]. The receptor for IL-17D has not been identified yet. IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17D have showed overlapping biological effect compared to IL-17A. They can induce expression of many proinflammatory genes in various cells [47–49] (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 IL-17 receptor family and signal transduction

4 Signal Transduction

4.1 SEFIR Domain Is the Key Signaling Motif Homologous to TIR Domain

Despite of the size of their intracellular tails, IL-17 receptors did not display any known signaling motifs at first glance. Later bioinformatics analysis revealed a conserved signaling pattern shared among the family members [50]. This domain is called "SEFIR" domain because it is distantly homologous to TIR domain which was first identified in TLRs and IL-1Rs. TIR domain consists of three conserved boxes that span 135 ~ 160 amino acid and folded as central five-stranded parallel β -sheet surrounded by five helices [51].

The functional significance of SEFIR domain was first demonstrated by mutagenesis study in IL-17RA KO fibroblasts [52]. Only mutants bearing intact SEFIR domain are able to rescue IL-17A-induced target genes expression in KO cells. The boundary of SEFIR in IL-17RA seemed to extend beyond the C-terminal side of previously defined SEFIR [53]. Similar to TLR4, IL-17RA has a BB-loop-like structure (conserved box 3 in TIR domain) outside of the SEFIR domain. Point mutation of critical Val553His in BB loop of IL-17RA impairs downstream signaling which resembles the loss of function mutation of Pro712His in TLR4 [52]. Surprisingly, the BB-loop-like structure is unique to IL-17RA. Other IL-17 receptors only have conserved box 1 and box 2 of TIR but do not have a distinct BB loop. Recently, the SEFIR domain in IL-17RC was also profiled [42]. Similarly, the SEFIR domain alone in IL-17RC is not sufficient to drive downstream signaling. Instead a C-terminal extended region ending in amino acid 658 – 668 is required to recapitulate full-length IL-17RC function.

4.2 Act1 Is the Unique Proximal Adaptor Protein

TRAF6, an adaptor protein in IL-1R/TLR pathway, was connected to IL-17RA signaling soon after the discovery of IL-17A [54]. However, there are no canonical TRAF6-binding sites in IL-17RA cytoplasmic tail. The other intermediate adaptor proteins in TLR pathway, including MyD88, TRIF, and IRAK, are dispensable for IL-17RA signaling [55]. XiaoXia Li's group first demonstrated that IL-17RA signaling requires Act1 [56] which is previously linked to CD40 and BAFF-R signaling [57]. Act1 have three functional domains: The C-terminal SEFIR domain directly associates with IL-17RA SEFIR domain, the N-terminal putative TRAF6-binding site [58, 59], and the U-box type 3 ubiquitin ligase domain near center [60].

Besides TRAF6, Act1 also signals through other TRAF adaptor proteins. One of the early puzzling data showed that stabilization of CXCL1 mRNA by IL-17A is dependent on Act1 but independent of TRAF6 [61]. So there must be some other components downstream of Act1 but upstream of TRAF6. Later, it was showed that IL-17A treatment induces interaction of Act1/TRAF2/TRAF5/arginine- and serine-rich splicing factor SRSF1 (SF2 (ASF)). SF2 could bind to 3'-UTR of target mRNA and promote mRNA degradation, while TRAF2 and TRAF5 enhance mRNA stability [62]. Another report showed that TRAF3 negatively regulates IL-17RA signaling by interfering withTRAF6 binding to Act1. TRAF3 transgenic mice showed delayed disease progression in EAE model [63]. It is well known that IL-17RA/IL-17RC signaling synergistically amplifies proinflammatory responses from TNF receptor. The co-engagement of TRAF6 and TRAF5 pathways might partially explain why IL-17 target genes are highly enriched for neutrophil-recruiting chemokines, acute phase protein, and other inflammatory mediators [64].

Besides IL-17RA/IL-17RC, Act1 also directly interacts with IL-17RB SEFIR domain [65]. IL-17E signaling through IL-17RB is dependent on TRAF6 but not TRAF2 or TRAF5 [66]. Cells lacking TRAF6 are deficient to IL-17E-induced NF-kB activation, and overexpression of dominant-negative TRAF6 will impair IL-17E-induced target gene expression in MEFs. One of the other unique features of IL-17E signaling is that dependent on Stat6 in vivo [67].

4.3 NF-kB Pathway

One of the hallmark features of IL-1R and TLR signaling is NF-kB activation. The terminal components of canonical NF-kB pathway are indeed shared by IL-17RA/IL-17RC signaling: Signaling through IL-17RA/IL-17RC leads to TRAF6-dependent TGF β -activated kinase 1 (TAK1) activation, which in turn activates IKK complex; the latter phosphorylates inhibitor of NF-kB alpha (IkBa); IkBa

then is degraded in ubiquitination-dependent mechanism; the NF-kB p50/p65 complex enters the nuclears and initiates transcription. There is one report showing that dominant-negative NIK could inhibit IL-17-induced chemokine expression [68]. More data is needed to support the alternative NF-kB pathway downstream of IL-17RA.

One recent study showed that inducible inhibitor of NF- κ B (I κ B) kinase (IKKi, also known as IKK ϵ) could directly phosphorylate Act1 and regulate Act1 interaction with TRAF6/TRAF2/TRAF5. IKKi-deficient cells failed to upregulate some IL-17 target genes (CXCL1, CXCL2, TNFa, IL6, and CSF3) after stimulation. IKKi knockout mice also showed reduced lung inflammation after intranasal IL-17 challenge [69].

Nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B cell inhibitor, zeta (NFKBIZ, also known as MAIL), is upregulated after IL-17 stimulation as early as 2 h [70]. Unlike IkBa, NFKBIZ is a positive regulator of NF-kB in IL-1R/TLR signaling [71]. It is reported that NFKBIZ is required for IL-17A-induced human beta-defensin 2 in epithelial cells [72]. NFKBIZ overexpression could induce other IL-17A target genes expression (Lcn2, Csf3, and CEBPd) without exogenous stimulation [73]. It is possible that NFKBIZ is a cofactor to recruit other transcription factors (p65 or C/EBPb) binding to DNA in a promoter-specific fashion [73].

4.4 CCAAT/Enhancer-Binding Protein Pathway

CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) are basic-leucine zipper (bZIP) containing transcription factors. There are six family members (C/EBP α , C/ EBP β , C/EBP γ , C/EBP δ , C/EBP ϵ , and C/EBP ζ) which form homo- or heterodimers and play important role on tissue development, cancer, and inflammation [74]. IL-17A stimulation leads to new protein synthesis of C/EBP β and C/EBPδ [70]. C/EBP-binding sites are enriched in proximal promoter of many IL-17 target genes including IL-6 and Lcn2 (also known as 24p3) [64]. C/EBPβ- and C/EBPô-deficient cells failed to upregulate target genes in response to IL-17A stimulation [75]. C/EBPβ and C/EBPδ are functionally redundant since reconstitution of either protein rescues the loss of function in C/EBPB/8 double knockout cells [75]. IL-17A regulates C/EBPB function at both the transcriptional and posttranslational level. Upon IL-17 stimulation, C/EBPB undergoes rapid phosphorylation at Thr188 by ERK and later at Thr179 by glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3β) [76]. Surprisingly, increased expression reporter genes were observed in cell's overexpression of mutated C/EBPB which is resistant to phosphorylation of Thr188 and Thr179. This suggests that transcriptional activity C/EBPB is downregulated by phosphorylation of Thr188 and Thr179. Since C/EBP\delta has been implicated in persistent gene transcription downstream of TLR [77, 78], it is possible that NF-kB and C/EBPß drive early gene transcription while C/EBPS takes over at later time point.

4.5 MAPK Pathway

MAPK pathway is a three-level protein kinase module which is highly conserved from yeast to human. IL-17A can activate many components in MAPK pathway. Among them, ERK activation is most consistently reported in many different studies [79–83]. ERK1/2 activation could stabilize mRNA of IL-17 target genes like IL-6 and CXCL1 [84]. Some reports showed activation of c-jun NH [2]-terminal kinase (JNK) after IL-17A stimulation [85]. JNK is connected to activation of transcription factor AP1 (activator protein-1) [81]. However, mutation of AP1-binding site in IL-6 promoter did not impact IL-17-induced IL-6 transcription [86]. There are also several reports on IL-17-induced activation of p38 MAPK [81–83, 85]. IL-17E signaling through the IL-17RA/IL-17RB complex could also activate MAPK pathway in eosinophils [87].

Unlike IL-17RA/IL-17RC, IL-17RD has been reported to inhibit MAPK activation. The classical Ras-dependent MAPK activation is modulated by IL-17RD signaling [31, 33]. It is still not clear why the SEFIR domain activates MAPK in IL-17RA/IL-17RC but inhibits MAPK in IL-17RD.

4.6 Negative Signals Through IL-17RA/IL-17RC

Emerging data suggest that signaling through IL-17RA/IL-17RC might negatively regulate T cell differentiation. For example, increased frequency of Th17 cells or increased IL-17A/IL-17F/IL-22 production was observed in mice lacking IL-17 signaling components like IL-17RA [88], Act1 [89], or IL-17RC [41]. One of the hypotheses is that IL-17F binding to IL-17RA on T cells forms a negative feedback loop which inhibits IL-17A production from Th17 cells [90].

IFNg has been reported to inhibit Th2 cell differentiation. Could Th17 differentiation condition block Th1 differentiation? In the CD45RBhi transfer colitis model, both IL-17A KO and IL-17RA KO mice develop more aggressive wasting diseases due to uncontrolled Th1 response [91]. However, elevated Th1 priming is not seen in T cells lacking IL-17RC [41] which suggests other T cell extrinsic factors contribute to these inhibitory effects. IL-17A has been shown to inhibit DC functions in established allergic asthma model [92]. More studies are needed to dissect the molecule mechanism of the feedback loop in different cell populations.

5 Functions and Therapeutic Implications

The function of TH17 cells and Th17 cytokines will be discussed in other chapters of this book. The IL-17 receptor-related data in both mouse models and human diseases are summarized here.

5.1 Host Defense

In 2001, Ye et al. showed that IL-17RA knockout mice have increased mortality in intrapulmonary *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection [93]. After the first report linking IL-17RA to host defense, the impaired host defense in IL-17RA knockout mice has been demonstrated in many other infectious models including systemic *Toxoplasma gondii* infection [94], systemic [95] and oral [96] *Candida albicans* infection, *Helicobacter pylori* infection [97], systemic *Listeria monocytogenes* infection [98], cutaneous *Staphylococcus aureus* infection [99], vaginal *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infection [100], and *Herpes simplex virus* infection of the cornea [101, 102]. Similarly, IL-17RC-deficient mouse also has difficulty clearing infections of *Candida albicans* [42]. In most cases, the clearance of extracellular pathogens is dependent on neutrophil-recruiting chemokines [93, 94, 100] or bacteria-limiting acute phase protein [103] expression. Impaired humoral responses can also contribute to the phenotype [97]. In some rare occasions, IL-17R signaling is actually causing increased mobility due to excessive inflammatory response [104].

The contribution of IL-17RA to host defense is well translated into human. A nonsense mutation in the extracellular domain of IL-17RA gene leads to premature stop during translation and loss of IL-17RA protein expression. Patients carrying this homozygous mutant allele developed chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis disease and, to a lesser extent, *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. Patients carrying mutant IL-17F gene and producing mutant IL-17F with weak affinity to IL-17RA are also susceptible to *Candida albicans* infection [105].

5.2 Inflammatory Diseases

It is well established that Th17 cells are one of the major drivers for inflammation during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) development, a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. Conventional knockout mice deficient in either IL-17RC [41] or Act1 [56] showed delayed disease onset and reduced severity in MOG-EAE. Further analysis revealed that IL-17A or IL-17F targets astrocytes but not endothelial cells or macrophages in the central nervous system [89].

Th17 cells are also critical to the development of inflammatory bowel diseases. Similarly, mice lacking either IL-17RA or treated with IL-17R IgG1 fusion protein showed significantly attenuated colonic inflammation in TNBS-induced colitis [106]. Selectively knockout of Act1 in colonic epithelial cells also reduced symptoms in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis [56].

In arthritis model, Act1 is required for initiation of collagen-induced arthritis and anti-type II collagen antibody production [107]. Interestingly, Act1 is dispensable in myeloid cell driven collagen antibody-induced arthritis.

Although the significance of IL-17E in human lung inflammation has not been firmly established, IL-17E does play an important role in Th2 responses in several

mouse models. IL-17RA KO or IL-17RB KO mice fails to develop pulmonary inflammation after intranasal IL-17E challenge [44]. Act1 knockout mice are deficient in IL-17E-induced Th2 cytokine production, eosinophil recruitment, mucus hypersecretion, and airway hyperreactivity in vivo [65, 108, 109]. Unlike IL-17RA/IL-17RC which targets mostly non-hematopoietic cells, IL-17RA/IL-17RB signaling in T cells is clearly required for IL-17E-induced lung inflammation [109].

IL-17RA also plays an important role in other models of inflammatory diseases, including western-type diet-induced atherosclerosis in LDLr-deficient mice [110], hapten-induced contact hypersensitivity responses [111], polymicrobial sepsis [112], and TNF-induced shock [113].

6 Perspective

IL-17 receptors are unique family of cytokine receptors. In vitro and in vivo animal studies with genetically modified mice have provided valuable insights regarding IL-17 receptors configuration, downstream signaling, and disease association. Blockade of IL-17 receptor signaling is considered as a viable therapeutic strategy. Secukinumab and Ixekizumab (anti-IL-17 antibody) showed variable responses in psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and chronic noninfectious uveitis [114]. The clinical trials of Brodalumab (anti-IL-17RA antibody) on psoriasis are ongoing (see www. clinicaltrials.gov).

Acknowledgments Thanks David Shealy, Wenjun Ouyang, Joel Tocker, Sarah Gaffen, Murray McKinnon, and Merle Elloso for critical reviewing of the manuscript.

References

- 1. Hirahara K, Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang X-P, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ (2010) Signal transduction pathways and transcriptional regulation in Th17 cell differentiation. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:425–434
- 2. Dong C (2011) Genetic controls of Th17 cell differentiation and plasticity. Exp Mol Med 43:1–6
- Bettelli E, Korn T, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2008) Induction and effector functions of TH17 cells. Nature 453:1051–1057
- 4. Lubberts E (2010) Th17 cytokines and arthritis. Semin Immunopathol 32:43-53
- 5. Hu Y, Shen F, Crellin NK, Ouyang W (2011) The IL-17 pathway as a major therapeutic target in autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1217:60–76
- Gaffen SL, Hernández-Santos N, Peterson AC (2011) IL-17 signaling in host defense against Candida albicans. Immunol Res 50:181–187
- Khader SA, Gopal R (2010) IL-17 in protective immunity to intracellular pathogens. Virulence 1:423–427
- Khader SA, Gaffen SL, Kolls JK (2009) Th17 cells at the crossroads of innate and adaptive immunity against infectious diseases at the mucosa. Mucosal Immunol 2:403–411

- Rouvier E, Luciani MF, Mattéi MG, Denizot F, Golstein P (1993) CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. J Immunol 150:5445–5456
- Hymowitz SG, Filvaroff EH, Yin J, Lee J, Cai L, Risser P, Maruoka M, Mao W, Foster J, Kelley RF, Pan G, Gurney AL, de Vos AM, Starovasnik MA (2001) IL-17s adopt a cystine knot fold: structure and activity of a novel cytokine, IL-17F, and implications for receptor binding. EMBO J 20:5332–5341
- 11. Gerhardt S, Abbott WM, Hargreaves D, Pauptit RA, Davies RA, Needham MRC, Langham C, Barker W, Aziz A, Snow MJ, Dawson S, Welsh F, Wilkinson T, Vaugan T, Beste G, Bishop S, Popovic B, Rees G, Sleeman M, Tuske SJ, Coales SJ, Hamuro Y, Russell C (2009) Structure of IL-17A in complex with a potent, fully human neutralizing antibody. J Mol Biol 394:905–921
- Wright JF, Guo Y, Quazi A, Luxenberg DP, Bennett F, Ross JF, Qiu Y, Whitters MJ, Tomkinson KN, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Carreno BM, Collins M, Wolfman NM (2007) Identification of an interleukin 17F/17A heterodimer in activated human CD4+ T cells. J Biol Chem 282:13447–13455
- Wright JF, Bennett F, Li B, Brooks J, Luxenberg DP, Whitters MJ, Tomkinson KN, Fitz LJ, Wolfman NM, Collins M, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Chatterjee-Kishore M, Carreno BM (2008) The human IL-17F/IL-17A heterodimeric cytokine signals through the IL-17RA/IL-17RC receptor complex. J Immunol 181:2799–2805
- Cua DJ, Tato CM (2010) Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 10:479–489
- 15. Ouyang W, Kolls JK, Zheng Y (2008) The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. Immunity 28:454–467
- Fort MM, Cheung J, Yen D, Li J, Zurawski SM, Lo S, Menon S, Clifford T, Hunte B, Lesley R, Muchamuel T, Hurst SD, Zurawski G, Leach MW, Gorman DM, Rennick DM (2001) IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. Immunity 15:985–995
- Ikeda K, Nakajima H, Suzuki K, ichiro Kagami S, Hirose K, Suto A, Saito Y, Iwamoto I (2003) Mast cells produce interleukin-25 upon Fc epsilon RI-mediated activation. Blood 101:3594–3596
- Hurst SD, Muchamuel T, Gorman DM, Gilbert JM, Clifford T, Kwan S, Menon S, Seymour B, Jackson C, Kung TT, Brieland JK, Zurawski SM, Chapman RW, Zurawski G, Coffman RL (2002) New IL-17 family members promote Th1 or Th2 responses in the lung: in vivo function of the novel cytokine IL-25. J Immunol 169:443–453
- Pan G, French D, Mao W, Maruoka M, Risser P, Lee J, Foster J, Aggarwal S, Nicholes K, Guillet S, Schow P, Gurney AL (2001) Forced expression of murine IL-17E induces growth retardation, jaundice, a Th2-biased response, and multiorgan inflammation in mice. J Immunol 167:6559–6567
- 20. Saenz SA, Siracusa MC, Perrigoue JG, Spencer SP, Urban JF Jr, Tocker JE, Budelsky AL, Kleinschek MA, Kastelein RA, Kambayashi T, Bhandoola A, Artis D (2010) IL25 elicits a multipotent progenitor cell population that promotes TH2 cytokine responses. Nature 464:1362–1366
- 21. Neill DR, Wong SH, Bellosi A, Flynn RJ, Daly M, Langford TKA, Bucks C, Kane CM, Fallon PG, Pannell R, Jolin HE, McKenzie ANJ (2010) Nuocytes represent a new innate effector leukocyte that mediates type-2 immunity. Nature 464:1367–1370
- Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S (2011) Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 34:149–162
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau AM, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, Spriggs MK (1995) Herpesvirus Saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821

- Yao Z, Spriggs MK, Derry JM, Strockbine L, Park LS, VandenBos T, Zappone JD, Painter SL, Armitage RJ (1997) Molecular characterization of the human interleukin (IL)-17 receptor. Cytokine 9:794–800
- 25. Shi Y, Ullrich SJ, Zhang J, Connolly K, Grzegorzewski KJ, Barber MC, Wang W, Wathen K, Hodge V, Fisher CL, Olsen H, Ruben SM, Knyazev I, Cho YH, Kao V, Wilkinson KA, Carrell JA, Ebner R (2000) A novel cytokine receptor-ligand pair. J Biol Chem 275:19167–19176
- 26. Tian E, Sawyer JR, Largaespada DA, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Shaughnessy JD (2000) Evi27 encodes a novel membrane protein with homology to the IL17 receptor. Oncogene 19:2098–2109
- 27. Lee J, Ho WH, Maruoka M, Corpuz RT, Baldwin DT, Foster JS, Goddard AD, Yansura DG, Vandlen RL, Wood WI, Gurney AL (2001) IL-17E, a novel proinflammatory ligand for the IL-17 receptor homolog IL-17Rh1. J Biol Chem 276:1660–1664
- 28. Goetz MP, Suman VJ, Ingle JN, Nibbe AM, Visscher DW, Reynolds CA, Lingle WL, Erlander M, Ma X-J, Sgroi DC, Perez EA, Couch FJ (2006) A two-gene expression ratio of homeobox 13 and interleukin-17B receptor for prediction of recurrence and survival in women receiving adjuvant tamoxifen. Clin Cancer Res 12:2080–2087
- Haudenschild D, Moseley T, Rose L, Reddi AH (2002) Soluble and transmembrane isoforms of novel interleukin-17 receptor-like protein by RNA splicing and expression in prostate cancer. J Biol Chem 277:4309–4316
- Haudenschild DR, Curtiss SB, Moseley TA, Reddi AH (2006) Generation of interleukin-17 receptor-like protein (IL-17RL) in prostate by alternative splicing of RNA. Prostate 66:1268–1274
- 31. Furthauer M, Lin W, Ang S-L, Thisse B, Thisse C (2002) Sef is a feedback-induced antagonist of Ras/MAPK-mediated FGF signalling. Nat Cell Biol 4:170–174
- Tsang M, Friesel R, Kudoh T, Dawid IB (2002) Identification of Sef, a novel modulator of FGF signalling. Nat Cell Biol 4:165–169
- 33. Xiong S, Zhao Q, Rong Z, Huang G, Huang Y, Chen P, Zhang S, Liu L, Chang Z (2003) hSef inhibits PC-12 cell differentiation by interfering with ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase MAPK signaling. J Biol Chem 278:50273–50282
- 34. Preger E, Ziv I, Shabtay A, Sher I, Tsang M, Dawid IB, Altuvia Y, Ron D (2004) Alternative splicing generates an isoform of the human Sef gene with altered subcellular localization and specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:1229–1234
- 35. Li T-S, Li X-N, Chang Z-J, Fu X-Y, Liu L (2006) Identification and functional characterization of a novel interleukin 17 receptor: a possible mitogenic activation through ras/mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling pathway. Cell Signal 18:1287–1298
- 36. Wu B, Jin M, Zhang Y, Wei T, Bai Z (2011) Evolution of the IL17 receptor family in chordates: a new subfamily IL17REL. Immunogenetics 63(12):835–845
- 37. Kuestner RE, Taft DW, Haran A, Brandt CS, Brender T, Lum K, Harder B, Okada S, Ostrander CD, Kreindler JL, Aujla SJ, Reardon B, Moore M, Shea P, Schreckhise R, Bukowski TR, Presnell S, Guerra-Lewis P, Parrish-Novak J, Ellsworth JL, Jaspers S, Lewis KE, Appleby M, Kolls JK, Rixon M, West JW, Gao Z, Levin SD (2007) Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F. J Immunol 179:5462–5473
- 38. Nature full text PDF
- 39. Kramer JM, Hanel W, Shen F, Isik N, Malone JP, Maitra A, Sigurdson W, Swart D, Tocker J, Jin T, Gaffen SL (2007) Cutting edge: identification of a pre-ligand assembly domain (PLAD) and ligand binding site in the IL-17 receptor. J Immunol 179:6379–6383
- 40. Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, Tocker J, Peschon J (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. J Immunol 177:36–39

- 41. Hu Y, Ota N, Peng I, Refino CJ, Danilenko DM, Caplazi P, Ouyang W (2010) IL-17RC is required for IL-17A- and IL-17F-dependent signaling and the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 184:4307–4316
- 42. Ho AW, Shen F, Conti HR, Patel N, Childs EE, Peterson AC, Hernández-Santos N, Kolls JK, Kane LP, Ouyang W, Gaffen SL (2010) IL-17RC is required for immune signaling via an extended SEF/IL-17R signaling domain in the cytoplasmic tail. J Immunol 185:1063–1070
- Ely LK, Fischer S, Garcia KC (2009) Structural basis of receptor sharing by interleukin 17 cytokines. Nat Immunol 10:1245–1251
- 44. Rickel EA, Siegel LA, Yoon B-RP, Rottman JB, Kugler DG, Swart DA, Anders PM, Tocker JE, Comeau MR, Budelsky AL (2008) Identification of functional roles for both IL-17RB and IL-17RA in mediating IL-25-induced activities. J Immunol 181:4299–4310
- 45. Yang R-B, Ng CKD, Wasserman SM, Kömüves LG, Gerritsen ME, Topper JN (2003) A novel interleukin-17 receptor-like protein identified in human umbilical vein endothelial cells antagonizes basic fibroblast growth factor-induced signaling. J Biol Chem 278:33232–33238
- 46. Rong Z, Wang A, Li Z, Ren Y, Cheng L, Li Y, Wang Y, Ren F, Zhang X, Hu J, Chang Z (2009) IL-17RD (Sef or IL-17RLM) interacts with IL-17 receptor and mediates IL-17 signaling. Cell Res 19:208–215
- 47. Starnes T, Broxmeyer HE, Robertson MJ, Hromas R (2002) Cutting edge: IL-17D, a novel member of the IL-17 family, stimulates cytokine production and inhibits hemopoiesis. J Immunol 169:642–646
- 48. Li H, Chen J, Huang A, Stinson J, Heldens S, Foster J, Dowd P, Gurney AL, Wood WI (2000) Cloning and characterization of IL-17B and IL-17C, two new members of the IL-17 cytokine family. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:773–778
- Yamaguchi Y, Fujio K, Shoda H, Okamoto A, Tsuno NH, Takahashi K, Yamamoto K (2007) IL-17B and IL-17C are associated with TNF-alpha production and contribute to the exacerbation of inflammatory arthritis. J Immunol 179:7128–7136
- Novatchkova M, Leibbrandt A, Werzowa J, Neubüser A, Eisenhaber F (2003) The STIRdomain superfamily in signal transduction, development and immunity. Trends Biochem Sci 28:226–229
- 51. Xu Y, Tao X, Shen B, Horng T, Medzhitov R, Manley JL, Tong L (2000) Structural basis for signal transduction by the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains. Nature 408:111–115
- 52. Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, Birdwell D, Alejos E, Silva M, Galanos C, Freudenberg M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Layton B, Beutler B (1998) Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science 282:2085–2088
- 53. Onishi RM, Park SJ, Hanel W, Ho AW, Maitra A, Gaffen SL (2010) SEF/IL-17R (SEFIR) is not enough: an extended SEFIR domain is required for il-17RA-mediated signal transduction. J Biol Chem 285:32751–32759
- Schwandner R, Yamaguchi K, Cao Z (2000) Requirement of tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor (TRAF)6 in interleukin 17 signal transduction. J Exp Med 191:1233–1240
- 55. Maitra A, Shen F, Hanel W, Mossman K, Tocker J, Swart D, Gaffen SL (2007) Distinct functional motifs within the IL-17 receptor regulate signal transduction and target gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:7506–7511
- 56. Qian Y, Liu C, Hartupee J, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Jane-Wit D, Xiao J, Lu Y, Giltiay N, Liu J, Kordula T, Zhang Q-W, Vallance B, Swaidani S, Aronica M, Tuohy VK, Hamilton T, Li X (2007) The adaptor Act1 is required for interleukin 17-dependent signaling associated with autoimmune and inflammatory disease. Nat Immunol 8:247–256
- 57. Qian Y, Qin J, Cui G, Naramura M, Snow EC, Ware CF, Fairchild RL, Omori SA, Rickert RC, Scott M, Kotzin BL, Li X (2004) Act1, a negative regulator in CD40- and BAFF-mediated B cell survival. Immunity 21:575–587
- Sønder SU, Saret S, Tang W, Sturdevant DE, Porcella SF, Siebenlist U (2011) IL-17-induced NF-kappaB activation via CIKS/Act1: physiologic significance and signaling mechanisms. J Biol Chem 286:12881–12890

- Ryzhakov G, Blazek K, Udalova IA (2011) Evolution of vertebrate immunity: sequence and functional analysis of the SEFIR domain family member Act1. J Mol Evol 72(5–6):521–530
- 60. Liu C, Qian W, Qian Y, Giltiay NV, Lu Y, Swaidani S, Misra S, Deng L, Chen ZJ, Li X (2009) Act1, a U-box E3 ubiquitin ligase for IL-17 signaling. Sci Signal 2:ra63
- Hartupee J, Liu C, Novotny M, Li X, Hamilton T (2007) IL-17 enhances chemokine gene expression through mRNA stabilization. J Immunol 179:4135–4141
- 62. Sun D, Novotny M, Bulek K, Liu C, Li X, Hamilton T (2011) Treatment with IL-17 prolongs the half-life of chemokine CXCL1 mRNA via the adaptor TRAF5 and the splicing-regulatory factor SF2 (ASF). Nat Immunol 12:853–860
- 63. Zhu S, Pan W, Shi P, Gao H, Zhao F, Song X, Liu Y, Zhao L, Li X, Shi Y, Qian Y (2010) Modulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis through TRAF3-mediated suppression of interleukin 17 receptor signaling. J Exp Med 207:2647–2662
- 64. Shen F, Hu Z, Goswami J, Gaffen SL (2006) Identification of common transcriptional regulatory elements in interleukin-17 target genes. J Biol Chem 281:24138–24148
- 65. Swaidani S, Bulek K, Kang Z, Liu C, Lu Y, Yin W, Aronica M, Li X (2009) The critical role of epithelial-derived Act1 in IL-17- and IL-25-mediated pulmonary inflammation. J Immunol 182:1631–1640
- 66. Maezawa Y, Nakajima H, Suzuki K, Tamachi T, Ikeda K, Inoue J-I, Saito Y, Iwamoto I (2006) Involvement of TNF receptor-associated factor 6 in IL-25 receptor signaling. J Immunol 176:1013–1018
- 67. Tamachi T, Maezawa Y, Ikeda K, Kagami S-I, Hatano M, Seto Y, Suto A, Suzuki K, Watanabe N, Saito Y, Tokuhisa T, Iwamoto I, Nakajima H (2006) IL-25 enhances allergic airway inflammation by amplifying a TH2 cell-dependent pathway in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118:606–614
- 68. Awane M, Andres PG, Li DJ, Reinecker H-C (1999) NF-κB-inducing kinase is a common mediator of IL-17-, TNF-α-, and IL-1β-induced chemokine promoter activation in intestinal epithelial cells. J Immunol 162:5337–5344
- 69. Bulek K, Liu C, Swaidani S, Wang L, Page RC, Gulen MF, Herjan T, Abbadi A, Qian W, Sun D, Lauer M, Hascall V, Misra S, Chance M, Aronica M, Hamilton T, Li X (2011) The inducible kinase IKKi is required for IL-17-dependent signaling associated with neutrophilia and pulmonary inflammation. Nat Immunol 12:844–852
- Shen F, Ruddy MJ, Plamondon P, Gaffen SL (2005) Cytokines link osteoblasts and inflammation: microarray analysis of interleukin-17- and TNF-alpha-induced genes in bone cells. J Leukoc Biol 77:388–399
- 71. Yamamoto M, Yamazaki S, Uematsu S, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Kuwata H, Takeuchi O, Takeshige K, Saitoh T, Yamaoka S, Yamamoto N, Yamamoto S, Muta T, Takeda K, Akira S (2004) Regulation of Toll/IL-1-receptor-mediated gene expression by the inducible nuclear protein IkappaBzeta. Nature 430:218–222
- 72. Kao C-Y, Kim C, Huang F, Wu R (2008) Requirements for two proximal NF-kappaB binding sites and IkappaB-zeta in IL-17A-induced human beta-defensin 2 expression by conducting airway epithelium. J Biol Chem 283:15309–15318
- 73. Yamazaki S, Matsuo S, Muta T, Yamamoto M, Akira S, Takeshige K (2008) Gene-specific requirement of a nuclear protein, IkappaB-zeta, for promoter association of inflammatory transcription regulators. J Biol Chem 283:32404–32411
- 74. Tsukada J, Yoshida Y, Kominato Y, Auron PE (2011) The CCAAT/enhancer (C/EBP) family of basic-leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factors is a multifaceted highly-regulated system for gene regulation. Cytokine 54:6–19
- 75. Ruddy MJ, Wong GC, Liu XK, Yamamoto H, Kasayama S, Kirkwood KL, Gaffen SL (2004) Functional cooperation between interleukin-17 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha is mediated by CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein family members. J Biol Chem 279:2559–2567
- 76. Shen F, Li N, Gade P, Kalvakolanu DV, Weibley T, Doble B, Woodgett JR, Wood TD, Gaffen SL (2009) IL-17 receptor signaling inhibits C/EBPbeta by sequential phosphorylation of the regulatory 2 domain. Sci Signal 2:ra8

- 77. Litvak V, Ramsey SA, Rust AG, Zak DE, Kennedy KA, Lampano AE, Nykter M, Shmulevich I, Aderem A (2009) Function of C/EBP [delta] in a regulatory circuit that discriminates between transient and persistent TLR4-induced signals. Nat Immunol 10:437–443
- 78. Lu Y-C, Kim I, Lye E, Shen F, Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Gerondakis S, Akira S, Gaffen SL, Yeh W-C, Ohashi PS (2009) Differential role for c-Rel and C/EBPβ/δ in TLR-mediated induction of proinflammatory cytokines. J Immunol 182:7212–7221
- 79. Laan M, Lötvall J, Chung KF, Lindén A (2001) IL-17-induced cytokine release in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: role of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases. Br J Pharmacol 133:200–206
- 80. Wuyts WA, Vanaudenaerde BM, Dupont LJ, Van Raemdonck DE, Demedts MG, Verleden GM (2005) Interleukin-17–induced interleukin-8 release in human airway smooth muscle cells: role for mitogen-activated kinases and nuclear factor-kappaB. J Heart Lung Transplant 24:875–881
- Cortez DM, Feldman MD, Mummidi S, Valente AJ, Steffensen B, Vincenti M, Barnes JL, Chandrasekar B (2007) IL-17 stimulates MMP-1 expression in primary human cardiac fibroblasts via p38 MAPK- and ERK1/2-dependent C/EBP-beta, NF-kappaB, and AP-1 activation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H3356–H3365
- Cheung PFY, Wong CK, Lam CWK (2008) Molecular mechanisms of cytokine and chemokine release from eosinophils activated by IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-23: implication for Th17 lymphocytes-mediated allergic inflammation. J Immunol 180:5625–5635
- Lee JW, Wang P, Kattah MG, Youssef S, Steinman L, DeFea K, Straus DS (2008) Differential regulation of chemokines by IL-17 in colonic epithelial cells. J Immunol 181:6536–6545
- 84. Andoh A, Shimada M, Bamba S, Okuno T, Araki Y, Fujiyama Y, Bamba T (2002) Extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 participate in interleukin-17 plus tumor necrosis factoralpha-induced stabilization of interleukin-6 mRNA in human pancreatic myofibroblasts. Biochim Biophys Acta 1591:69–74
- Rahman MS, Yamasaki A, Yang J, Shan L, Halayko AJ, Gounni AS (2006) IL-17A induces eotaxin-1/CC chemokine ligand 11 expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of MAPK (Erk1/2, JNK, and p38) pathways. J Immunol 177:4064–4071
- 86. de Haij S, Bakker AC, van der Geest RN, Haegeman G, Vanden Berghe W, Aarbiou J, Daha MR, van Kooten C (2005) NF-kappaB mediated IL-6 production by renal epithelial cells is regulated by c-jun NH2-terminal kinase. J Am Soc Nephrol 16:1603–1611
- 87. Wong CK, Cheung PFY, Ip WK, Lam CWK (2005) Interleukin-25-induced chemokines and interleukin-6 release from eosinophils is mediated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and nuclear factor-kappaB. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 33:186–194
- Smith E, Stark MA, Zarbock A, Burcin TL, Bruce AC, Vaswani D, Foley P, Ley K (2008) IL-17A inhibits the expansion of IL-17A-producing T cells in mice through "short-loop" inhibition via IL-17 receptor. J Immunol 181:1357–1364
- Kang Z, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Liu C, Giltiay N, Qin H, Liu L, Qian W, Ransohoff RM, Bergmann C, Stohlman S, Tuohy VK, Li X (2010) Astrocyte-restricted ablation of interleukin-17-induced Act1-mediated signaling ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunity 32:414–425
- Nagata T, McKinley L, Peschon JJ, Alcorn JF, Aujla SJ, Kolls JK (2008) Requirement of IL-17RA in Con A induced hepatitis and negative regulation of IL-17 production in mouse T cells. J Immunol 181:7473–7479
- O'Connor W Jr, Kamanaka M, Booth CJ, Town T, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK, Flavell RA (2009) A protective function for interleukin 17A in T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. Nat Immunol 10:603–609
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725

- 93. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J, Shellito JE, Bagby GJ, Nelson S, Charrier K, Peschon JJ, Kolls JK (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- 94. Kelly MN, Kolls JK, Happel K, Schwartzman JD, Schwarzenberger P, Combe C, Moretto M, Khan IA (2005) Interleukin-17/interleukin-17 receptor-mediated signaling is important for generation of an optimal polymorphonuclear response against *Toxoplasma gondii* infection. Infect Immun 73:617–621
- Huang W, Na L, Fidel PL, Schwarzenberger P (2004) Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-*Candida albicans* host defense in mice. J Infect Dis 190:624–631
- 96. Conti HR, Shen F, Nayyar N, Stocum E, Sun JN, Lindemann MJ, Ho AW, Hai JH, Yu JJ, Jung JW, Filler SG, Masso-Welch P, Edgerton M, Gaffen SL (2009) Th17 cells and IL-17 receptor signaling are essential for mucosal host defense against oral candidiasis. J Exp Med 206:299–311
- Algood HMS, Allen SS, Washington MK, Peek RM, Miller GG, Cover TL (2009) Regulation of gastric B cell recruitment is dependent on IL-17 receptor a signaling in a model of chronic bacterial infection. J Immunol 183:5837–5846
- Meeks KD, Sieve AN, Kolls JK, Ghilardi N, Berg RE (2009) IL-23 Is required for protection against systemic infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. J Immunol 183:8026–8034
- 99. Cho JS, Pietras EM, Garcia NC, Ramos RI, Farzam DM, Monroe HR, Magorien JE, Blauvelt A, Kolls JK, Cheung AL, Cheng G, Modlin RL, Miller LS (2010) IL-17 is essential for host defense against cutaneous *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in mice. J Clin Invest 120:1762–1773
- 100. Feinen B, Jerse AE, Gaffen SL, Russell MW (2010) Critical role of Th17 responses in a murine model of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* genital infection. Mucosal Immunol 3:312–321
- 101. Suryawanshi A, Veiga-Parga T, Rajasagi NK, Reddy PBJ, Sehrawat S, Sharma S, Rouse BT (2011) Role of IL-17 and Th17 cells in herpes simplex virus-induced corneal immunopathology. J Immunol 187:1919–1930
- 102. Molesworth-Kenyon SJ, Yin R, Oakes JE, Lausch RN (2008) IL-17 receptor signaling influences virus-induced corneal inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 83:401–408
- 103. Chan YR, Liu JS, Pociask DA, Zheng M, Mietzner TA, Berger T, Mak TW, Clifton MC, Strong RK, Ray P, Kolls JK (2009) Lipocalin 2 is required for pulmonary host defense against Klebsiella infection. J Immunol 182:4947–4956
- 104. Guiton R, Vasseur V, Charron S, Arias MT, Van Langendonck N, Buzoni-Gatel D, Ryffel B, Dimier-Poisson I (2010) Interleukin 17 receptor signaling is deleterious during *Toxoplasma* gondii infection in susceptible BL6 mice. J Infect Dis 202:427–435
- 105. Puel A, Cypowyj S, Bustamante J, Wright JF, Liu L, Lim HK, Migaud M, Israel L, Chrabieh M, Audry M, Gumbleton M, Toulon A, Bodemer C, El-Baghdadi J, Whitters M, Paradis T, Brooks J, Collins M, Wolfman NM, Al-Muhsen S, Galicchio M, Abel L, Picard C, Casanova J-L (2011) Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. Science 332:65–68
- 106. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK (2006) Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:382–388
- 107. Pisitkun P, Claudio E, Ren N, Wang H, Siebenlist U (2010) The adaptor protein CIKS/ACT1 is necessary for collagen-induced arthritis, and it contributes to the production of collagenspecific antibody. Arthritis Rheum 62:3334–3344
- 108. Claudio E, Sønder SU, Saret S, Carvalho G, Ramalingam TR, Wynn TA, Chariot A, Garcia-Perganeda A, Leonardi A, Paun A, Chen A, Ren NY, Wang H, Siebenlist U (2009) The adaptor protein CIKS/Act1 is essential for IL-25-mediated allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol 182:1617–1630

- 109. Swaidani S, Bulek K, Kang Z, Gulen MF, Liu C, Yin W, Abbadi A, Aronica M, Li X (2011) T cell-derived Act1 is necessary for IL-25-mediated Th2 responses and allergic airway inflammation. J Immunol 187:3155–3164
- 110. van Es T, van Puijvelde GHM, Ramos OH, Segers FME, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB, Michon IM, de Vos P, van Berkel TJC, Kuiper J (2009) Attenuated atherosclerosis upon IL-17R signaling disruption in LDLr deficient mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 388:261–265
- 111. He D, Wu L, Kim HK, Li H, Elmets CA, Xu H (2009) IL-17 and IFN-gamma mediate the elicitation of contact hypersensitivity responses by different mechanisms and both are required for optimal responses. J Immunol 183:1463–1470
- 112. Freitas A, Alves-Filho JC, Victoni T, Secher T, Lemos HP, Sônego F, Cunha FQ, Ryffel B (2009) IL-17 receptor signaling is required to control polymicrobial sepsis. J Immunol 182:7846–7854
- 113. Takahashi N, Vanlaere I, de Rycke R, Cauwels A, Joosten LAB, Lubberts E, van den Berg WB, Libert C (2008) IL-17 produced by Paneth cells drives TNF-induced shock. J Exp Med 205:1755–1761
- 114. Hueber W, Patel DD, Dryja T, Wright AM, Koroleva I, Bruin G, Antoni C, Draelos Z, Gold MH, Durez P, Tak PP, Gomez-Reino JJ, Foster CS, Kim RY, Samson CM, Falk NS, Chu DS, Callanan D, Nguyen QD, Rose K, Haider A, Di Padova F (2010) Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis. Sci Transl Med 2:52ra72

Contributions of IL-22 to TH17 Responses: Repairing and Protecting Peripheral Tissues

Jean-Christophe Renauld and Laure Dumoutier

Abstract Despite its structural relationship with IL-10, IL-22 does not share any activity with this cytokine and appears, so far, completely devoid of activity on immune and hematopoietic cells. IL-22-responsive cells are mainly found in peripheral tissues and include keratinocytes, lung and intestinal epithelial cells, as well as hepatocytes. In vivo, IL-22 expression fits with the spectrum of inflammatory processes related to TH17 activation, including multiple sclerosis, inflammatory bowel disease, and psoriasis in human. However, its pathophysiological significance varies in each of these diseases. IL-22 does not seem to play any major role in multiple sclerosis, at least based on the classical mouse model for this disease. By contrast, this cytokine appears to play a protective role in mucosal inflammation and/or infections in both the lungs and colon. Finally, IL-22 turns out to be one of the main proinflammatory mediators responsible for inappropriate activation of keratinocytes in psoriasis lesions, raising some promising perspectives for future clinical applications.

Keywords IL-22 • Keratinocytes • Psoriasis • Crohn's disease • Inflammatory bowel disease • Epithelial cells • Hepatitis • Multiple sclerosis • Acute phase response

J.-C. Renauld (⊠)

L. Dumoutier

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, UCL 74.59 Avenue Hippocrate 74, Brussels B-1200, Belgium

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research Ltd , and Experimental Medicine Unit Universite catholique de Louvain Avenue Hippocrate 74, Brussels B-1200, Belgium e-mail: jean-christophe.renauld@bru.licr.org

Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research Ltd , and Experimental Medicine Unit Universite catholique de Louvain Avenue Hippocrate 74, Brussels B-1200, Belgium

Interleukin-22 (IL-22) was originally identified as a gene upregulated by IL-9 in murine T cell lymphomas and mast cell lines [1]. It was first named IL-TIF for IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, because the amino acid sequence of the protein encoded by this gene showed 22 % identity with IL-10. In addition, IL-10 and IL-22 share a common cytokine receptor chain as the IL-10RB chain is part of both receptor complexes when it associates with the IL-10R α or the IL-22R chain, respectively [2, 3]. Because of these similarities, it was tempting to speculate that IL-22 might recapitulate some of the anti-inflammatory activities of IL-10 or, at least, play some role in the fine-tuning of inflammatory processes. However, it rapidly turned out that IL-22 does not have any common biological activity with IL-10, mainly because the second chain of their respective receptor complexes has completely distinct patterns of expression with very little or no overlap [4, 5]. Whereas the IL-10Ra chain is mainly expressed by cells from the hematopoietic and immune systems, such as monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, and B and T lymphocytes, the IL-22R chain is mainly expressed by non-hematopoietic cells such as hepatocytes, keratinocytes, as well as lung and intestinal epithelial cells [4, 6, 7].

Investigations about the pathophysiological significance of IL-22 have been biased by the finding that this cytokine is produced by TH17 lymphocytes, which are considered to be responsible for major autoimmune diseases. However, recent data suggest that innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) represent a major source of this cytokine, playing a key role in antimicrobial defenses. In this chapter, we will try to review the data that support the idea that IL-22 could represent a valuable target for this type of pathological processes, starting from the regulation of IL-22 expression and its association with disease and including in vivo observations in preclinical models of autoimmune diseases.

1 IL-22 Production

Many in vitro models have highlighted the role of T helper cells as a major source of IL-22. Originally, murine IL-22 was cloned as a gene induced by IL-9 in T lymphocytes and mast cells, but IL-22 was also shown to be expressed in freshly isolated T lymphocytes activated by polyclonal stimuli such as anti-CD3 antibodies or ConA [1–3]. Although IL-9 is associated with TH2-type immune responses, TH2 lymphocytes produce little IL-22 and this cytokine was rather considered as a TH1 cytokine [4, 8], until it became apparent that IL-23 is a potent regulator of IL-22 and that TH17 cells differentiated in the presence of IL-23 were even better at producing IL-22 in vitro [9]. In the mouse system, TGFB and IL-6 are the main factors promoting TH17 differentiation of naïve mouse T cells, and the exact function of IL-23 in TH17 responses remains a subject of debate. Although IL-23-deficient mice were reported to lack Th17 cells and to be protected against autoimmune diseases such as experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) and collagen-induced arthritis, this cytokine is neither sufficient nor required to induce the in vitro differentiation of TH17 cells from naïve T cell precursors. The current

dogma is that TGFB and IL-6 represent the minimal requirement for the polarization of murine TH17 cells, whereas IL-23 may provide survival signals for differentiated TH17 cells [10].

When mouse TH17 cells were differentiated in the presence of a classical TH17promoting cocktail including TGF β , IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-23, they were shown to express 100 times more IL-22 than TH1 and 1,000 times more than TH2 cells [9]. Under these conditions, 80–90 % of IL-22⁺ cells also expressed IL-17A [9, 11, 12]. However, there are some significant differences in the optimal conditions for production of IL-22 or IL-17A. In one report where naïve CD4⁺ cells were activated by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies in the absence of antigenpresenting cells (APC), IL-6 alone was able to promote IL-22 production, whereas addition of TGF β actually inhibited this effect [11]. This suppressor effect of TGF β depends on the c-Maf transcription factor, which is induced by TGF β and directly binds to the IL-22 promoter to repress its activity, whereas IL-17 expression is increased by this transcription factor [13].

Another unique feature characterizing IL-22 production by TH17 cells is its high dependence on IL-23. IL-23 on its own induces IL-22 production even under APC-free conditions in vitro or in vivo after injection into the ear [11, 12]. In the human, the combination of TGF β and IL-6 does not seem to induce Th17 differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ cells, but IL-23 is a major inducer of IL-17A and IL-22 [14, 15]. Alternatively, IL-1 and IL-6 can also promote the differentiation of human T cells producing both IL-17A and IL-22 [16]. By contrast, TGF β rather inhibits the production of these cytokines by human TH17 cells [14].

In contrast with these reports that focused on in vitro TH17 differentiation from naive precursors, another experimental setting focusing on IL-17A and IL-22 production by BCG-specific CD4⁺ T cells led to the conclusion that these cytokines are mostly produced by distinct lymphocyte subsets [17]. Further studies highlighted the fact that IL-22 can be specifically expressed by human CD4 T cells that were designated TH22 cells [18–20]. These cells are localized to the skin and express CCR6 and skin-homing receptors such as CCR4 and CCR10. Differentiation of TH22 cells can be induced after TCR stimulation in the presence of IL-6 and TNF [18] or of IL-1 and IL-23 [21]. Epidermal Langerhans cells and dermal dendritic cells promote the differentiation and the activation of memory TH22 cells [19]. However, whether these TH22 cells must be defined as a separate lineage, like the TH1, TH2, and TH17 subsets, and the existence of this population in mice require further investigations.

Altogether, these data indicate that although IL-22 and IL-17 can be produced by the same TH17 cells, regulation of their production at the molecular level may be distinct. In this respect, STAT3 was shown to be an important regulator of IL-22 production in response to IL-9 in initial studies [1], and STAT3 is required both for IL-22 production and for TH17 differentiation [22]. Another transcription factor, the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), was found to play a critical role in IL-22 production by TH17 cells [23]. AhR mediates a wide range of cellular events in response to aromatic hydrocarbons such as tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). When the expression of this ligand-dependent transcription factor was analyzed in different

T helper cell subsets, it turned out to be specifically expressed in TH17 cells. Moreover, AhR-deficient T lymphocytes could still differentiate into TH17 cells, but completely lacked IL-22 production. Finally, molecules that activate this receptor promote differentiation of T lymphocytes toward the TH17 lineage in general and IL-22 production in particular. These observations that link a transcription factor responsive to environmental pollutants to the TH17 differentiation program open interesting perspectives regarding the influence of environmental factors on autoimmune processes [23]. However, a number of more physiological ligands have been described for this receptor, and its activity as a dioxin receptor might have overshadowed its genuine function. For instance, recent observations demonstrated that natural dietary compounds such as indole-3-carbinol found in broccoli and Brussels sprouts or flavonoids found in fruits and vegetables can activate AhR and promote IL-22 expression in vivo in the intestinal mucosae [24–26].

It must also be stressed that TH17 T lymphocytes are not the only source of IL-22. In fact, the main source of IL-22 differs from one pathological situation to another, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells represent a major source of both IL-17A and IL-22, particularly in skin inflammatory models [27-30]. However, IL-17 production often remains restricted to T cells, whereas several experimental models showed that IL-22 production is often not affected by T cell depletion because innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) produce large amounts of this cytokine, particularly in the intestinal mucosae. ILCs consist of a heterogeneous family of cells belonging to the innate immune system but can be classified based on their cytokine production like T helper subsets: Type 1 ILCs consist of NK cells which produce IFN γ ; type 2 ILCs include nuocytes and natural helper cells that produce IL-5 and IL-13; and type 22 ILCs include NKp46⁺ ILCs, LTi-like cells, and Sca1⁺Thy1^{high} ILCs, which produce IL-22 and, to a lesser extent, IL-17 [31]. LTi-like cells can be also be found in the spleen, representing up to 1 % of the spleen of Rag2 -/- mice, and produce large amounts of IL-22 in response to IL-2 or IL-23 produced during inflammatory processes triggered by various TLR ligands [32, 33].

2 Association Between IL-22 and Diseases

2.1 Role of IL-22 in Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease that affects approximately 2 % of the general population and which is characterized by hyperplasia of epidermis, infiltration of leukocytes, and dilatation of blood vessels. Psoriasis was previously considered as an autoimmune disease mediated by TH1 lymphocytes, but accumulating data point to IL-23 and TH17 cells as important mediators of this disease [34]. Several reports have shown that IL-22 production is also associated with this disease. Using quantitative RT-PCR, Wolk and colleagues have shown that high IL-22 levels were present in skin from patients suffering from psoriasis and correlated with the expression of β-defensins, which are well-described disease

markers, whereas IL-22 is not detectable in healthy skin [35]. High IL-22 levels in psoriatic skin were also associated with strongly upregulated cutaneous S100A7, S100A8, S100A9, and MMP1 expression. Moreover, psoriatic patients showed elevated IL-22 plasma levels, which correlated with disease severity [36, 37]. T lymphocytes infiltrating the skin were the main source of IL-22, in line with the production of this cytokine by TH17 cells in vitro [37], and treatment with cyclosporine A downregulated both IL-17 and IL-22 gene expression in the skin of psoriasis patients [38].

One of the main features of psoriasis lesions is an inappropriate activation of keratinocytes leading to increased proliferation of these cells, alteration of their maturation, and production of various mediators that cause further inflammation and promote angiogenesis [34]. Interestingly, keratinocytes constitutively express the IL-22 receptor, and IL-22 activates STAT3 in these cells [35, 37, 39]. The importance of STAT3 activation in this disease is highlighted by the fact that transgenic mice with keratinocytes expressing a constitutively active STAT3 develop a skin phenotype that closely resembles psoriasis [40]. In vitro, IL-22 upregulates the expression of a series of proinflammatory molecules including S100A7, S100A8, S100A9, and β-defensins by keratinocytes [35, 39], alone or in cooperation with IL-17 [9]. In addition, IL-22 promoted keratinocyte migration in an in vitro injury model, downregulated the expression of genes associated with keratinocyte differentiation, and induced hyperplasia of reconstituted human epidermis [39].

In vivo, the role of IL-22 in psoriasis is supported by data from three murine models related to the human disease. In a first model, injection of IL-23 in mouse ear induced the development of epidermal acanthosis with a mixed inflammatory infiltration, as well as STAT3 activation in epidermal keratinocytes. IL-23 induced the production of both IL-22 and IL-17 after injection into the ear, and IL-23-induced ear swelling was significantly decreased in IL-22 -/- mice in comparison with control mice [11]. Histologically, both epidermal acanthosis and dermal inflammation were reduced in IL-22 -/- mice. In a second model, the transfer to SCID mice of CD4⁺CD45RB^{hi}CD25⁻ cells, a population of T lymphocytes depleted of Treg, induced psoriasis-like lesions with elevated levels of antimicrobial peptides and inflammatory cytokines including IL-22 and IL-17A. Treatment of these mice either with anti-IL-23p40 or with anti-IL-22 blocking antibodies led to a significant reduction of the lesions and of S100A8, S100A9, and β-defensin gene expression [41].

Such mouse models of skin inflammation triggered by injections of IL-23 or naïve T cells could be criticized because they do not perfectly recapitulate the pathophysiological processes underlying human psoriasis disease. Recently, topical treatment with imiquimod, a ligand for TLR7 and TLR8, was presented as a novel mouse model for psoriasis-like skin inflammation, inducing acanthosis, parakeratosis, and a mixed inflammatory infiltrate [42]. The relevance of this model is supported by the fact that imiquimod is used in humans, for topical treatment of superficial basal cell carcinoma, and that this treatment can also induce psoriasis or exacerbate the disease in patients with a well-controlled psoriasis [43]. Interestingly, scaly skin lesions and neutrophil infiltration induced by imiquimod in wild-type mice were almost totally absent in IL-22-deficient mice or in mice treated with an anti-IL22 blocking antibody [30]. As neutrophils do not directly respond to IL-22, this observation likely reflects the specific role of IL-22 in the induction of chemotactic factors such as CXCL3 and CCL3 in this imiquimod model. In addition to these factors, blocking IL-22 decreased biomarkers reflecting the anti-microbial and hyperproliferative response of keratinocytes, including S100A8, S100A7, and keratin 14 [30].

2.2 IL-22 and Liver: From the Acute Phase Response to Liver Protection

Hepatocytes were the first biological targets identified for IL-22. Activation of STAT3 in these cells is well known to induce the acute phase response, and IL-22 was indeed found to upregulate the expression of typical acute phase genes such as serum amyloid A, α 1-antichymotrypsin, and haptoglobin [2]. The signal transduction pathways activated by IL-22 in hepatocytes are very similar to those activated by IL-6 [44]. It is therefore not surprising that these two cytokines play a similar protective role in mouse models of hepatitis or liver injury. IL-22 promotes liver regeneration in vitro [45]. In vivo, IL-22 injection or gene delivery significantly protects mice against liver injury, necrosis, and apoptosis induced by administration of ConA or carbon tetrachloride (CCl4), by enhancing STAT3 activation and expression of Bcl-xL, Bcl-2, and Mcl-1 antiapoptotic molecules [46, 47]. IL-22 also protects hepatocytes against necrosis in a Salmonella infection model [48]. Moreover, administration of anti-IL-22 antibodies worsens liver injury in the ConA-induced hepatitis model [47], and similar results have been obtained in IL-22 -/- mice [49]. However, the clinical relevance of these mouse models of hepatitis for human disease remains elusive at this stage.

The protective effect of IL-22 is also observed in a model of alcohol-induced hepatotoxicity and for the regeneration of liver tissue after partial hepatectomy [50, 51]. In fact, IL-22 treatment in alcoholic liver injury decreases the expression of fatty acid transport protein and increases several antioxidant, antiapoptotic, and antimicrobial genes [51, 52]. In contrast to its protective role against liver injury, IL-22 seems to promote tumors in the liver as well as in the adipose tissue [53, 54]. In vivo, diethylnitrosamine-induced mouse hepatocellular carcinoma is decreased in IL-22-deficient mice [55], whereas liver-specific IL-22 transgenic mice were more susceptible to this type of cancer [53].

2.3 IL-22 in the Intestinal Mucosa: A Regulator of Innate Immune Response and Inflammation

The acute phase response is not a unique characteristic of hepatocytes. In response to IL-22, intestinal epithelial cell lines such as Colo205 upregulate the expression of

typical acute phase genes such as serum amyloid A and α 1-antichymotrypsin, suggesting that this cytokine could modulate intestinal inflammation [56]. The biological significance of the acute phase response for the regulation of inflammatory processes remains elusive as the various acute phase response proteins can have either pro- or anti-inflammatory activities. Among those genes, LPS-binding protein (LBP) is definitely an anti-inflammatory mediator, which is both upregulated in the serum of patients with Crohn's disease and inducible by IL-22, raising the hypothesis that this cytokine might thereby protect patients with Crohn's disease against a massive inflammatory reaction to LPS present in their serum or by promoting phagocytosis of bacteria opsonized by LBP [57].

Interestingly, IL-22 gene expression is increased in inflamed colonic lesions of patients with Crohn's disease and, to a lesser extent, in patients with ulcerative colitis [58, 59], whereas high IL-22 serum concentrations have also been described in Crohn's disease patients [57]. In the mouse, experimental colitis can be induced by adding dextran sodium salts (DSS) to the drinking water, and development of colitis also correlates with increased IL-22 expression [57, 58]. IL-22 expression has been reported in other mouse colitis models including spontaneous colitis in TCRa KO mice, where IL-22 expression remained modest, and in the CD45RB^{hi} transfer model characterized by higher levels of this cytokine [60]. In the TCR α KO model, further IL-22 gene delivery significantly reverted goblet cell depletion typically associated with colitis. IL-22 stimulated the expression of mucin genes MUC1, -3, -10, and -13 by colon epithelial cells in a STAT3-dependent manner, and coadministration of the mucolytic agent N-acetylcysteine abolished the protective effect of IL-22 [60]. In the DSS mouse colitis model, anti-IL-22 antibodies significantly delayed the recovery from acute colitis as judged by body weight loss or disease scores [60], and the inflammation was similarly exacerbated in IL-22-deficient mice [61], illustrating the anti-inflammatory role of endogenous IL-22 in this model.

A similar anti-inflammatory and protective effect of IL-22 has been reported during intestinal infection by *Citrobacter rodentium* [62]. A few days after infection, IL-22 is induced in the colon of wild-type mice, together with IL-17 and IL-23. IL-23-deficient mice were known to show a high susceptibility to this bacterial infection and expressed decreased levels of IL-22, while IL-17 expression was not affected. When IL-22 -/- mice were infected, they showed an increased submucosal and transmural inflammation, with large numbers of bacteria penetrating deeply in the colonic crypts. By contrast both wild types and mice deficient for the IL-17 receptor IL-17RC survived infection without any significant histological difference. Wild-type mice receiving anti-IL-22 antibodies at the same time as bacterial inoculation continued to lose weight, and all became moribund 12 days after inoculation, whereas all control mice survived [62].

During *C. rodentium* infection, the expression of a few genes was found to be strictly dependent on IL-22, including RegIIIß and RegIII γ , which belong to a family of secreted C-type lectin proteins. Most importantly, administration of exogenous RegIII γ could protect IL-22 -/- mice from weight loss upon *C. rodentium* infection, and approximately 50 % of RegIII γ -treated IL-22 -/- mice survived infection, whereas all control-treated IL-22 -/- mice became moribund or died [62]. RegIII

proteins have been reported to kill some Gram-positive bacteria by interacting with peptidoglycan carbohydrate, but there is no evidence that these proteins could have any direct killing activity against Gram-negative bacteria such as *C. rodentium*. Alternatively, RegIII proteins might act as autocrine growth factors involved in epithelial repair processes, thereby preventing the extension of the inflammatory reaction. In addition, other antimicrobial proteins are likely to contribute to the protective effect of IL-22 during bacterial infections as shown in *Salmonella typhimurium* infection for lipocalin-2, which is upregulated by IL-22 and binds bacterial siderophores, rendering them inaccessible for intestinal pathogens [63]. Besides these specific antimicrobial mechanisms, the protective effect of IL-22 also relies on the STAT3-dependent regulation of the cellular stress response, apoptosis, and pathways associated with wound healing in epithelial cells [64].

Interestingly, IL-22 production induced by *C. rodentium* infection or by DSS treatment was not affected in Rag2 knockout mice, indicating that most of IL-22 produced in this model was not the result of the specific immune system, in contrast to IL-17A production, which was abolished in these mice [61, 62]. *C. rodentium* inoculation induces IL-22 production by NKp46⁺ ILCs from the intestinal mucosae [65, 66]. Activation of the AhR transcription factor by phytochemicals present in grain-based diets is required for the postnatal expansion of this ILC cell population and for IL-22 induction upon infection, and AhR-deficient mice are therefore highly susceptible to *C. rodentium* infection [24–26].

2.4 IL-22 and Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is another autoimmune disease in which TH17 lymphocytes are supposed to play a significant role. The IL-22 mRNA has been detected by RT-PCR in RA synovial tissues and mononuclear cells isolated from RA synovial fluid samples. Correlation was established between IL-22 serum levels and the incidence of erosion [67]. Expression of the IL-22R was also detected in synovial tissues, and IL-22 was shown to upregulate the expression of the MCP-1 chemokine by synovial fibroblasts from RA patients, suggesting that IL-22 plays a proinflammatory role in this disease [68]. In a mouse model of collagen-induced arthritis, IL-22-deficient mice were partially protected [69], and a similar protective effect of anti-IL-22 treatment was reported in spontaneous arthritis developed by IL-1Ra-/- mice [70]. The mechanisms underlying this pathogenic effect require further investigation but might reflect a regulation of osteoclastogenesis [69, 71].

2.5 IL-22 and Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the most common inflammatory disease of the central nervous system, and autoreactive T cells of the TH17 subset are responsible for

63

most of the pathological features in its animal model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). In human MS patients, numerous CD45RO⁺ T cells immunopositive for IL-17 or IL-22 were detected in highly infiltrated multiple sclerosis lesions, but not in normal-appearing white matter or non-inflamed brain specimens [72]. Moreover, both IL-17R and IL-22R receptors were highly expressed on brain vessels within heavily infiltrated multiple sclerosis lesions, but not in subject without MS. In vitro primary cultures of brain–blood-barrier (BBB) endothelial cells also expressed these two receptors, and both IL-17 and IL-22 induced an increase in the BBB permeability in vitro. In addition, IL-22 promoted transmigration of CD4⁺ lymphocytes, possibly through enhanced secretion of MCP-1 by endothelial cells [72]. Based on these observations, it was tempting to speculate that IL-22 plays a significant role in the development of the disease. However, although high IL-22 expression correlates nicely with the disease, IL-22 -/- mice develop EAE exactly as control mice, suggesting that this cytokine does not exert any nonredundant activity in this mouse autoimmune model [12].

2.6 IL-22 in Lung Inflammatory Processes

Bronchial epithelial cells express significant levels of IL-22R and respond to IL-22 with STAT3 activation [7], suggesting that IL-22 might play a regulatory role for pulmonary inflammation, reminiscent of its activity in the digestive tract. IL-22 and IL-17 cooperatively induce the expression of host defense genes in primary human bronchial epithelial cell cultures, including those encoding β-defensin2, S100A7, as well as inflammatory cytokines [73]. A model of pulmonary infection by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* has been used by Aujla and colleagues to assess the involvement of IL-22 in mucosal host defense in vivo. Whereas IL-17 -/- mice showed a moderately increased susceptibility to the infection, injection of anti-IL-22 antibodies dramatically affected the survival of *K. pneumoniae*-infected mice and favored the dissemination of the bacteria [73]. In addition, IL-22 is also required for *Aspergillus fumigatus* clearance upon lung infection [74].

Lung inflammation frequently results in fibrosis, as highlighted by silica- and bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis experimental models in which expression of both IL-17A and IL-22 is upregulated. Upon silica particle administration, IL-17 seems to play the major role during the early inflammatory stage as lung neutrophil infiltration was reduced in IL-17R-deficient mice but not in IL-22 -/- mice. How-ever, neither IL-17 nor IL-22 seems to play any significant role in subsequent development of fibrosis [75]. In the bleomycin model, IL-17 plays a similar proinflammatory role as IL-17-deficient mice showed much less pulmonary inflammation than wild-type mice. More surprisingly, neutralization of IL-22 had completely opposite results depending on the presence or absence of IL-17. In wild-type mice, blocking IL-22 protects mice from airway inflammation including neutrophil infiltration, disruption of lung architecture, and body weight loss. By contrast, the same treatment exacerbated the inflammatory response in

IL-17-deficient mice [76]. Finally, in a third model of lung inflammation and fibrosis triggered by repeated exposure to the *Bacillus subtilis*, IL-22 neutralization increased collagen deposition in the lung whereas injection of recombinant IL-22 inhibited lung fibrosis. In addition, defective signaling by the AhR transcription factor led to decreased IL-22 production and increased lung fibrosis, confirming that this transcription factor represents a potential target for drug development aiming at regulating IL-22 production in vivo [77].

Allergic asthma is mainly a TH2-driven pathology, and IL-22 is usually undetectable in a classical mouse asthma model such as BALB/c mice sensitized by ovalbumin and alum adjuvant. However, TH17 cells have been shown to be involved as well in other murine asthma-like models, and IL-22 appears to be upregulated in the serum of asthmatic patients [78] and in several mouse asthma models [78–80]. In these experimental settings, administration of IL-22 before or with antigen challenge had an inhibitory effect against inflammation [78–81]. This protective effect of IL-22 has been attributed to an inhibition of IL-13 activity on lung epithelial cells either for CCL17/TARC induction [79] or for IL-25 production [80]. Inhibiting IL-22 in vivo, through antibody treatment or by gene targeting, increased expression of these inflammatory mediators, infiltration by eosinophils, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness [78–80].

3 Concluding Remarks

Although our understanding of the biology of IL-22 has significantly progressed over the last 2 years regarding the definition of its main cellular source and physiological targets, it remains uneasy to answer the apparently simple question whether IL-22 is a pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokine. In psoriasis disease, experimental evidence point to a proinflammatory role whereas this cytokine has rather an anti-inflammatory effect in hepatitis and inflammatory bowel disease models. In fact, it looks like the common theme in all these different inflammatory processes where IL-22 is involved that this cytokine aims at promoting the integrity of biological barriers and favoring wound healing either in liver, in lung or intestinal mucosae, or in skin. This wound healing activity is not surprisingly coupled with an antimicrobial response, which either limits or promotes the cascade of inflammatory reactions depending on the balance with the intensity of the aggression. The ongoing challenge consists in developing new tools and learning more about how to finely tune this subtle balance in order to help IL-22 to keep focusing on its beneficial wound healing and protective activities. Depending on the context, both IL-22 agonists and antagonists could have clinical applications, as well as molecules regulating the transcription factors such as AhR, which tightly controls in vivo IL-22 production and is expected to become a promising target for drug development.
References

- Dumoutier L, Louahed J, Renauld JC (2000) Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9. J Immunol 164:1814–1819
- Dumoutier L, Van Roost E, Colau D, Renauld JC (2000) Human interleukin-10-related T cellderived inducible factor: molecular cloning and functional characterization as an hepatocytestimulating factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10144–10149
- Xie MH, Aggarwal S, Ho WH, Foster J, Zhang Z, Stinson J, Wood WI, Goddard AD, Gurney AL (2000) Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2-4 and IL-22R. J Biol Chem 275:31335–31339
- 4. Gurney AL (2004) IL-22, a Th1 cytokine that targets the pancreas and select other peripheral tissues. Int Immunopharmacol 4:669–677
- 5. Wolk K, Witte E, Reineke U, Witte K, Friedrich M, Sterry W, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sabat R (2005) Is there an interaction between interleukin-10 and interleukin-22? Genes Immun 6:8–18
- Renauld JC (2003) Class II cytokine receptors and their ligands: key antiviral and inflammatory modulators. Nat Rev Immunol 3:667–676
- 7. Whittington HA, Armstrong L, Uppington KM, Millar AB (2004) Interleukin-22: a potential immunomodulatory molecule in the lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 31:220–226
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2002) Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? J Immunol 168:5397–5402
- Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- Stockinger B, Veldhoen M (2007) Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. Curr Opin Immunol 19:281–286
- Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W (2007) Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 445:648–651
- Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, Heppner FL, Renauld JC, Becher B (2007) IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 179:8098–8104
- Rutz S, Noubade R, Eidenschenk C, Ota N, Zeng W, Zheng Y, Hackney J, Ding J, Singh H, Ouyang W (2011) Transcription factor c-Maf mediates the TGF-beta-dependent suppression of IL-22 production in T(H)17 cells. Nat Immunol 12:1238–1245
- 14. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, Basham B, Smith K, Chen T, Morel F, Lecron JC, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, McClanahan TK, Bowman EP, de Waal Malefyt R (2007) Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 8:950–957
- Chen Z, Tato CM, Muul L, Laurence A, O'Shea JJ (2007) Distinct regulation of interleukin-17 in human T helper lymphocytes. Arthritis Rheum 56:2936–2946
- 16. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2007) Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. Nat Immunol 8:942–949
- Scriba TJ, Kalsdorf B, Abrahams DA, Isaacs F, Hofmeister J, Black G, Hassan HY, Wilkinson RJ, Walzl G, Gelderbloem SJ, Mahomed H, Hussey GD, Hanekom WA (2008) Distinct, specific IL-17- and IL-22-producing CD4+ T cell subsets contribute to the human antimycobacterial immune response. J Immunol 180:1962–1970
- Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2009) Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. Nat Immunol 10:857–863

- Fujita H, Nograles KE, Kikuchi T, Gonzalez J, Carucci JA, Krueger JG (2009) Human Langerhans cells induce distinct IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells lacking IL-17 production. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:21795–21800
- 20. Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Pennino D, Carbone T, Nasorri F, Pallotta S, Cianfarani F, Odorisio T, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Behrendt H, Durham SR, Schmidt-Weber CB, Cavani A (2009) Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling. J Clin Invest 119:3573–3585
- Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H (2009) Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T (H)1 and T(H)2 cells. Nat Immunol 10:864–871
- 22. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Dong C (2007) Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 448:480–483
- 23. Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Stockinger B (2008) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is essential for production of the Th17 cytokine IL-22 and links Th17-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. Nature 453:106–109
- 24. Kiss EA, Vonarbourg C, Kopfmann S, Hobeika E, Finke D, Esser C, Diefenbach A (2011) Natural aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands control organogenesis of intestinal lymphoid follicles. Science 334:1561–1565
- 25. Lee JS, Cella M, McDonald KG, Garlanda C, Kennedy GD, Nukaya M, Mantovani A, Kopan R, Bradfield CA, Newberry RD, Colonna M (2011) AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of notch. Nat Immunol 13:144–151
- 26. Qiu J, Heller JJ, Guo X, Chen ZM, Fish K, Fu YX, Zhou L (2011) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates gut immunity through modulation of innate lymphoid cells. Immunity 36:92–104
- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2009) Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 31:331–341
- 28. Cai Y, Shen X, Ding C, Qi C, Li K, Li X, Jala VR, Zhang HG, Wang T, Zheng J, Yan J (2011) Pivotal role of dermal IL-17-producing gammadelta T cells in skin inflammation. Immunity 35:596–610
- Mabuchi T, Takekoshi T, Hwang ST (2011) Epidermal CCR6+ gammadelta T cells are major producers of IL-22 and IL-17 in a murine model of psoriasiform dermatitis. J Immunol 187:5026–5031
- Van Belle AB, de Heusch M, Lemaire MM, Hendrickx E, Warnier G, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Fouser LA, Renauld JC, Dumoutier L (2012) IL-22 is required for imiquimod-induced psoriasiform skin inflammation in mice. J Immunol 188:462–469
- Spits H, Di Santo JP (2011) The expanding family of innate lymphoid cells: regulators and effectors of immunity and tissue remodeling. Nat Immunol 12:21–27
- 32. Dumoutier L, de Heusch M, Orabona C, Satoh-Takayama N, Eberl G, Sirard JC, Di Santo JP, Renauld JC (2011) IL-22 is produced by gammaC-independent CD25+ CCR6+ innate murine spleen cells upon inflammatory stimuli and contributes to LPS-induced lethality. Eur J Immunol 41:1075–1085
- 33. Van Maele L, Carnoy C, Cayet D, Songhet P, Dumoutier L, Ferrero I, Janot L, Erard F, Bertout J, Leger H, Sebbane F, Benecke A, Renauld JC, Hardt WD, Ryffel B, Sirard JC (2010) TLR5 signaling stimulates the innate production of IL-17 and IL-22 by CD3(neg)CD127+ immune cells in spleen and mucosa. J Immunol 185:1177–1185
- 34. Sabat R, Philipp S, Hoflich C, Kreutzer S, Wallace E, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Wolk K (2007) Immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Exp Dermatol 16:779–798
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2004) IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. Immunity 21:241–254

- 36. Wolk K, Witte E, Wallace E, Docke WD, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2006) IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 36:1309–1323
- 37. Boniface K, Guignouard E, Pedretti N, Garcia M, Delwail A, Bernard FX, Nau F, Guillet G, Dagregorio G, Yssel H, Lecron JC, Morel F (2007) A role for T cell-derived interleukin 22 in psoriatic skin inflammation. Clin Exp Immunol 150:407–415
- 38. Haider AS, Lowes MA, Suarez-Farinas M, Zaba LC, Cardinale I, Khatcherian A, Novitskaya I, Wittkowski KM, Krueger JG (2008) Identification of cellular pathways of "Type 1," Th17 T cells, and TNF- and inducible nitric oxide synthase-producing dendritic cells in autoimmune inflammation through pharmacogenomic study of cyclosporine A in psoriasis. J Immunol 180:1913–1920
- Boniface K, Bernard FX, Garcia M, Gurney AL, Lecron JC, Morel F (2005) IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. J Immunol 174:3695–3702
- 40. Sano S, Chan KS, Carbajal S, Clifford J, Peavey M, Kiguchi K, Itami S, Nickoloff BJ, DiGiovanni J (2005) Stat3 links activated keratinocytes and immunocytes required for development of psoriasis in a novel transgenic mouse model. Nat Med 11:43–49
- 41. Ma HL, Liang S, Li J, Napierata L, Brown T, Benoit S, Senices M, Gill D, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Nickerson-Nutter C, Fouser LA, Young DA (2008) IL-22 is required for Th17 cell-mediated pathology in a mouse model of psoriasis-like skin inflammation. J Clin Invest 118:597–607
- 42. van der Fits L, Mourits S, Voerman JS, Kant M, Boon L, Laman JD, Cornelissen F, Mus AM, Florencia E, Prens EP, Lubberts E (2009) Imiquimod-induced psoriasis-like skin inflammation in mice is mediated via the IL-23/IL-17 axis. J Immunol 182:5836–5845
- 43. Patel U, Mark NM, Machler BC, Levine VJ (2011) Imiquimod 5 % cream induced psoriasis: a case report, summary of the literature and mechanism. Br J Dermatol 164:670–672
- 44. Lejeune D, Dumoutier L, Constantinescu S, Kruijer W, Schuringa JJ, Renauld JC (2002) Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10. J Biol Chem 277:33676–33682
- 45. Brand S, Dambacher J, Beigel F, Zitzmann K, Heeg MH, Weiss TS, Prufer T, Olszak T, Steib CJ, Storr M, Goke B, Diepolder H, Bilzer M, Thasler WE, Auernhammer CJ (2007) IL-22-mediated liver cell regeneration is abrogated by SOCS-1/3 overexpression in vitro. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 292:G1019–G1028
- 46. Pan H, Hong F, Radaeva S, Gao B (2004) Hydrodynamic gene delivery of interleukin-22 protects the mouse liver from concanavalin A-, carbon tetrachloride-, and Fas ligand-induced injury via activation of STAT3. Cell Mol Immunol 1:43–49
- 47. Radaeva S, Sun R, Pan HN, Hong F, Gao B (2004) Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. Hepatology 39:1332–1342
- 48. Schulz SM, Kohler G, Schutze N, Knauer J, Straubinger RK, Chackerian AA, Witte E, Wolk K, Sabat R, Iwakura Y, Holscher C, Muller U, Kastelein RA, Alber G (2008) Protective immunity to systemic infection with attenuated *Salmonella enterica* serovar enteritidis in the absence of IL-12 is associated with IL-23-dependent IL-22, but not IL-17. J Immunol 181:7891–7901
- Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Karow M, Flavell RA (2007) Interleukin-22 but not interleukin-17 provides protection to hepatocytes during acute liver inflammation. Immunity 27:647–659
- Ren X, Hu B, Colletti LM (2010) IL-22 is involved in liver regeneration after hepatectomy. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 298:G74–G80

- 51. Ki SH, Park O, Zheng M, Morales-Ibanez O, Kolls JK, Bataller R, Gao B (2010) Interleukin-22 treatment ameliorates alcoholic liver injury in a murine model of chronic-binge ethanol feeding: role of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. Hepatology 52:1291–1300
- 52. Xing WW, Zou MJ, Liu S, Xu T, Gao J, Wang JX, Xu DG (2011) Hepatoprotective effects of IL-22 on fulminant hepatic failure induced by D-galactosamine and lipopolysaccharide in mice. Cytokine 56:174–179
- 53. Park O, Wang H, Weng H, Feigenbaum L, Li H, Yin S, Ki SH, Yoo SH, Dooley S, Wang FS, Young HA, Gao B (2011) In vivo consequences of liver-specific interleukin-22 expression in mice: implications for human liver disease progression. Hepatology 54:252–261
- 54. Wang Z, Yang L, Jiang Y, Ling ZQ, Li Z, Cheng Y, Huang H, Wang L, Pan Y, Yan X, Chen Y (2011) High fat diet induces formation of spontaneous liposarcoma in mouse adipose tissue with overexpression of interleukin 22. PLoS One 6:e23737
- 55. Jiang R, Tan Z, Deng L, Chen Y, Xia Y, Gao Y, Wang X, Sun B (2011) Interleukin-22 promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma by activation of STAT3. Hepatology 54:900–909
- Nagalakshmi ML, Rascle A, Zurawski S, Menon S, de Waal Malefyt R (2004) Interleukin-22 activates STAT3 and induces IL-10 by colon epithelial cells. Int Immunopharmacol 4:679–691
- 57. Wolk K, Witte E, Hoffmann U, Doecke WD, Endesfelder S, Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD, Wittig BM, Sabat R (2007) IL-22 induces lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in hepatocytes: a potential systemic role of IL-22 in Crohn's disease. J Immunol 178:5973–5981
- 58. Brand S, Beigel F, Olszak T, Zitzmann K, Eichhorst ST, Otte JM, Diepolder H, Marquardt A, Jagla W, Popp A, Leclair S, Herrmann K, Seiderer J, Ochsenkuhn T, Goke B, Auernhammer CJ, Dambacher J (2006) IL-22 is increased in active Crohn's disease and promotes proinflammatory gene expression and intestinal epithelial cell migration. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 290:G827–G838
- 59. Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O, Fujino S, Deguchi Y, Araki Y, Tsujikawa T, Kitoh K, Kim-Mitsuyama S, Takayanagi A, Shimizu N, Fujiyama Y (2005) Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology 129:969–984
- Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Mizoguchi E, Shimomura Y, Andoh A, Bhan AK, Blumberg RS, Xavier RJ, Mizoguchi A (2008) IL-22 ameliorates intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest 118:534–544
- Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Stevens S, Flavell RA (2008) Innate and adaptive interleukin-22 protects mice from inflammatory bowel disease. Immunity 29:947–957
- 62. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, Abbas AR, Modrusan Z, Ghilardi N, de Sauvage FJ, Ouyang W (2008) Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. Nat Med 14(3):282–289
- 63. Raffatellu M, George MD, Akiyama Y, Hornsby MJ, Nuccio SP, Paixao TA, Butler BP, Chu H, Santos RL, Berger T, Mak TW, Tsolis RM, Bevins CL, Solnick JV, Dandekar S, Baumler AJ (2009) Lipocalin-2 resistance confers an advantage to *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium for growth and survival in the inflamed intestine. Cell Host Microbe 5:476–486
- 64. Pickert G, Neufert C, Leppkes M, Zheng Y, Wittkopf N, Warntjen M, Lehr HA, Hirth S, Weigmann B, Wirtz S, Ouyang W, Neurath MF, Becker C (2009) STAT3 links IL-22 signaling in intestinal epithelial cells to mucosal wound healing. J Exp Med 206:1465–1472
- 65. Cella M, Fuchs A, Vermi W, Facchetti F, Otero K, Lennerz JK, Doherty JM, Mills JC, Colonna M (2009) A human natural killer cell subset provides an innate source of IL-22 for mucosal immunity. Nature 457:722–725
- 66. Satoh-Takayama N, Vosshenrich CA, Lesjean-Pottier S, Sawa S, Lochner M, Rattis F, Mention JJ, Thiam K, Cerf-Bensussan N, Mandelboim O, Eberl G, Di Santo JP (2008) Microbial flora drives interleukin 22 production in intestinal NKp46+ cells that provide innate mucosal immune defense. Immunity 29:958–970

- 67. Leipe J, Schramm MA, Grunke M, Baeuerle M, Dechant C, Nigg AP, Witt MN, Vielhauer V, Reindl CS, Schulze-Koops H, Skapenko A (2011) Interleukin 22 serum levels are associated with radiographic progression in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 70:1453–1457
- 68. Ikeuchi H, Kuroiwa T, Hiramatsu N, Kaneko Y, Hiromura K, Ueki K, Nojima Y (2005) Expression of interleukin-22 in rheumatoid arthritis: potential role as a proinflammatory cytokine. Arthritis Rheum 52:1037–1046
- 69. Geboes L, Dumoutier L, Kelchtermans H, Schurgers E, Mitera T, Renauld JC, Matthys P (2009) Proinflammatory role of the Th17 cytokine interleukin-22 in collagen-induced arthritis in C57BL/6 mice. Arthritis Rheum 60:390–395
- 70. Marijnissen RJ, Koenders MI, Smeets RL, Stappers MH, Nickerson-Nutter C, Joosten LA, Boots AM, van den Berg WB (2011) Increased expression of interleukin-22 by synovial Th17 cells during late stages of murine experimental arthritis is controlled by interleukin-1 and enhances bone degradation. Arthritis Rheum 63:2939–2948
- 71. Kim KW, Kim HR, Park JY, Park JS, Oh HJ, Woo YJ, Park MK, Cho ML, Lee SH (2011) Interleukin-22 promotes osteoclastogenesis in rheumatoid arthritis through induction of RANKL in human synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 64:1015–1023
- 72. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, Giuliani F, Arbour N, Becher B, Prat A (2007) Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood–brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Nat Med 13:1173–1175
- 73. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K, Husain S, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Pilewski JM, Myerburg MM, Mason CA, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK (2008) IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. Nat Med 14(3):275–281
- 74. Gessner MA, Werner JL, Lilly LM, Nelson MP, Metz AE, Dunaway CW, Chan YR, Ouyang W, Brown GD, Weaver CT, Steele C (2012) Dectin-1-dependent interleukin-22 contributes to early innate lung defense against *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Infect Immun 80:410–417
- 75. Lo Re S, Dumoutier L, Couillin I, Van Vyve C, Yakoub Y, Uwambayinema F, Marien B, van den Brule S, Van Snick J, Uyttenhove C, Ryffel B, Renauld JC, Lison D, Huaux F (2010) IL-17A-producing gammadelta T and Th17 lymphocytes mediate lung inflammation but not fibrosis in experimental silicosis. J Immunol 184:6367–6377
- 76. Sonnenberg GF, Nair MG, Kim TJ, Zaph C, Fouser LA, Artis D (2010) Pathological versus protective functions of IL-22 in airway inflammation are regulated by IL-17A. J Exp Med 207:1293–1305
- 77. Simonian PL, Wehrmann F, Roark CL, Born WK, O'Brien RL, Fontenot AP (2010) Gammadelta T cells protect against lung fibrosis via IL-22. J Exp Med 207:2239–2253
- 78. Besnard AG, Sabat R, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Willart M, Lambrecht B, Teixeira MM, Charron S, Fick L, Erard F, Warszawska K, Wolk K, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Togbe D (2011) Dual role of IL-22 in allergic airway inflammation and its cross-talk with IL-17A. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1153–1163
- 79. Taube C, Tertilt C, Gyulveszi G, Dehzad N, Kreymborg K, Schneeweiss K, Michel E, Reuter S, Renauld JC, Arnold-Schild D, Schild H, Buhl R, Becher B (2011) IL-22 is produced by innate lymphoid cells and limits inflammation in allergic airway disease. PLoS One 6:e21799
- 80. Takahashi K, Hirose K, Kawashima S, Niwa Y, Wakashin H, Iwata A, Tokoyoda K, Renauld JC, Iwamoto I, Nakayama T, Nakajima H (2011) IL-22 attenuates IL-25 production by lung epithelial cells and inhibits antigen-induced eosinophilic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128:1067–1076, e1061 1066
- 81. Nakagome K, Imamura M, Kawahata K, Harada H, Okunishi K, Matsumoto T, Sasaki O, Tanaka R, Kano MR, Chang H, Hanawa H, Miyazaki J, Yamamoto K, Dohi M (2011) High expression of IL-22 suppresses antigen-induced immune responses and eosinophilic airway inflammation via an IL-10-associated mechanism. J Immunol 187:5077–5089

Central Role of Th17 Cells in Adaptive Immune Responses

Franco Di Padova, Bernhard Ryffel, and Valerie Quesniaux

Abstract Th17 cells have emerged as a crucial T helper effector subset in various pathological conditions including autoimmune diseases. The type and the amount of antigens as well as the degree of activation of various pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) determine the quality of the response of antigen-presenting cells (APCs), which influence the generation of induced T regulatory (iTreg) cells or of effector T cells. Properly activated dendritic cells (DCs) can secrete cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-23 which direct the generation of Th17 cells over iTreg cells. Moreover, DCs are fully equipped only for the generation of Th17 effector cells. For the generation of Th1 and Th2 effector cells, the involvement of other cell types is often required. NKT cells contribute IFN- γ for the generation of Th1 effector cells, while basophils and other cell types facilitate the generation of Th2 cells by providing IL-4. In addition, available data suggest that Th17 cells are often activated also in responses to intracellular pathogens and parasites, which are considered typical Th1 and Th2 responses. There is flexibility in the immune response and inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , can convert iTreg cells into Th17 cells, and IFN- γ and IL-23 or IL-4 might act on Th17 cells to convert them into populations of cells able to secrete both IL-17A and IFN- γ or IL-17A and IL-4.

Keywords CD4+ T cell • iTreg cells • Th17 cell • Th1 cell • Th2 cell • IL-17A

B. Ryffel • V. Quesniaux

F. Di Padova (🖂)

Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research, WSJ 386-1048, Basel CH-4002, Switzerland e-mail: franco.dipadova@novartis.com

UMR7355 INEM, Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, CNRS et Université d'Orleans, Orleans - Cedex 2, France e-mail: bryffel@cnrs-orleans.fr; guesniaux@cnrs-orleans.fr

1 Critical Roles of Antigens, PAMP, and Cytokines in Directing the Adaptive Immune Response

An adaptive immune response involves the activation of naïve CD4+ T cells which develop into different types of mature T helper cells. These cells orchestrate the overall immune response leading in most cases to elimination or control of the pathogens. Under certain circumstances, the immune response is directed toward self and causes autoimmunity.

In vivo, an adaptive immune response is strictly associated with a concomitant innate immune response, which often initiates with the recognition of invariant motifs, such as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) present in commensal or pathogenic microbes or danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released by damaged host tissues [1], by specialized germ line-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) [2]. Many PRRs, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and different families of lectins, are involved. These receptors are expressed on the surface or in the cytoplasm of various types of dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and neutrophils. During the immune response, monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophils normally provide phagocytosis and killing, while DCs, once stimulated through the PRR and other receptors such as CD40, mature into professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) with upregulated expression of MHC class II, CD40, CD80, CD83, and CD86 [3]. In this way, they become more efficient at delivering antigenic peptides and costimulatory signals. In addition, they start to produce different cytokines which have a role in directing the type of the adaptive immune response. Cytokines, secreted by APC, are, among others, TGF-B, IL-6, IL-1, IL-23, and IL-12 [4-7].

Activation of extrathymic naïve $\alpha\beta$ CD4+ T cells is a crucial step in the initiation of an adaptive immune response. In the mouse, naïve T cells are long lived and can remain in interphase for weeks or months [8]. They are in a resting state and show high expression of lymph node homing receptors CD62L and CCR7 and low expression of CD44, an activation marker. These cells are kept alive in the peripheral lymphoid tissues by contact of their T cell receptors (TCRs) with selfpeptide-MHC complexes on APCs and exposure to IL-7 [9, 10]. Signals to the different clonotypic TCRs of naïve CD4+ T cells are provided by APCs which present different exogenous but also endogenous antigen-specific oligopeptides in the context of the MHC class II molecules [11-13]. Critical events for the expression of the antigen by APCs are the routes of endocytosis through clathrin-coated pits, caveolae, or macropinocytosis, its cleavage by endosomal and lysosomal proteases, and competition among oligopeptides for the MHC class II molecules [13]. It is expected that during an immune response to a pathogen, the frequency of certain antigenic specificities might increase above a critical threshold allowing the naïve T cells to reach a novel critical level of activation at the TCRs. This event can be modulated not only by its magnitude, i.e., the actual number of a specific epitope presented by the APC but also by the different affinities of the oligopeptides for the MHC class II molecules and of the oligopeptide/MHC complexes for the clonotypic TCRs [14].

The signals through the TCRs are further amplified by signals originated through costimulatory molecules. CD28, which interacts with CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) on APCs, is the best characterized costimulatory molecule expressed by T cells. This second signal contributes to enhance the level of activation of the naïve CD4+ T cells leading to its survival or to proliferation and differentiation with upregulation of surface markers such as CD25, CD44, and CD69. In the absence of this second signal, the T cells are clonally deleted through programmed cell death or apoptosis or become anergic [15]. However, costimulatory receptor pairs, such as CTLA-4/CD80-CD86, can also deliver inhibitory signals and contribute to T cell unresponsiveness [15].

Moreover, the proliferation and differentiation of activated CD4+ T cells are mainly dependent on the presence of cytokines in the extracellular milieu, which through the activation of their respective receptors and transcription factors induce the expression of central "master regulators" which control lineage commitment and differentiation. Naïve CD4+ T cells can differentiate into induced T regulatory (iTreg) cells, characterized by the expression of Foxp3 [16], Th17 cells expressing RORγt, Th1 cells which are T-Bet+, and Th2 cells expressing GATA3 [17–20].

The genetic background, the site of the reaction, the type and the entity of the signals originated through the activation of different PRR, and the type of APCs involved contribute to determine the type and the entity of specific signature cytokines released by APCs. These cytokines work together with cytokines released by other immune cells to promote the maturation and differentiation of naïve CD4+ T cells [21, 22]. Several cytokines and transcription factors are involved in this process, and some of them show self-reinforcing activities, promoting and stabilizing the maturation of that lineage but also inhibiting the development of other lineages. The outcome of an immune response appears to depend on a few critical decision steps which are clearly influenced by the amount and the type of the antigens and the concomitant presence of different amounts of PAMP and DAMP.

2 APCs as Crucial Determinant for the Generation of iTreg Cells and Th17 Cells

A crucial step for the naïve $\alpha\beta$ CD4+ T cell, once engaged with an APC activated through specific antigens, is to become an iTreg cell or an effector cell (Fig. 1). Available data suggest that this decision is controlled by APCs, which have the choice to direct the immune response toward suppression by generating iTreg cells or response by favoring Th17 cells. For this task, DCs are properly equipped as they not only present the antigen in the presence of costimulatory stimuli but also can secrete the critical cytokines TGF- β , IL-6, IL-1 β , and IL-23 [4–7]. The generation of Th1 and Th2 effector cells could be less favored in the direct contact between DC and naïve CD4+ T cell, as it requires the involvement of additional cell types which provide IFN- γ or IL-4 (Fig. 2) [23–25].



Fig. 1 The amount and the type of the stimulus determine the degree of activation of DCs, the type and amount of cytokines secreted and finally the type of T cell response. TGF- β is critical for the generation of iTreg cells from naïve T cells, but in combination with IL-6, IL-1 β , and IL-23 contributes to the generation of effector Th17 cells. Under certain conditions, inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β or IL-23, can convert iTreg cells into effector Th17 cells

Some experiments seem to confirm an early overlap between iTregs and Th17 cells. Naïve T cells, stimulated with TGF- β , upregulate both Foxp3 and ROR γ t and progressively lose RORyt expression as they differentiated into iTreg cells [26]. Similarly, early Th17 differentiation induced by TGF- β and IL-6 is accompanied by coexpression of RORyt and FoxP3. FoxP3 disappears as the Th17 development progresses. However, in this context, it is unclear whether FoxP3 might actually be an activation marker [26, 27]. It is even possible to envisage that in vivo, both iTreg cells and Th17 cells could be generated during the same immune response depending on the local maturation of APCs linked to availability of antigens and PAMP. Only later on, one of the two would prevail. However, other scenarios are feasible. The final result might depend on the amount and type of antigens, the entity and range of PRR activation, and finally on the production of activating or suppressing cytokines. In this context, also the site, in which the innate immune response is initiated, has an important role [28]. For example, CD103+ DCs from the small intestine and mesenteric lymph nodes produce both TGF- β and retinoic acid (RA) and seem to favor the generation of iTreg cells over effector T cells [29, 30]. Moreover, depletion of inflammatory macrophages reduces the numbers of Th17 cells and increases the numbers of iTreg cells, suggesting that reduction of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-23 may regulate the generation of these T cell subtypes [31].



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of an adaptive immune response. DCs alone can control the generation of iTreg cells or Th17 cells, but need the help of cytokines secreted by other cells to generate effector Th1 or Th2 cells. IL-12 secreted by DC, is relevant for activation of NKT cells to release IFN- γ . The combination of IFN- γ and IL-12 directs naïve T cells to differentiate into Th1 cells and redirects Th17 cells toward the Th1 phenotype (Th17/Th1 cells). IL-4 released by basophils or other cells directs naïve T cells toward Th2 cells and Th17 cells toward Th17/Th2 cells

3 Induced Regulatory T(iTreg) Cells

There are two major types of CD4+ FoxP3+ regulatory T cells: those generated in the thymus, i.e., the natural T regulatory (nTreg) cells, and those generated in the periphery from naïve T cells (iTreg cells) [32, 33]. nTreg and iTreg cells are phenotypically and functionally similar as they show high expression of CD25 (high-affinity IL-2 receptor), GITR, and CTLA-4 and low expression of CD127, synthesize anti-inflammatory principles such as IL-10, TGF- β , IL-35 (mouse only), adenosine, IDO, and granzyme/perforin, and function in a contact-dependent manner [34]. However, these two populations differ in TCR signal strength and the costimulatory and cytokine requirements for generation and expansion [35] and perhaps in the expression of Ikaros family member transcription factor, Helios [36]. nTreg cells appear to be a more stable cell subset, whereas iTreg cells have been described as less stable [37].

The generation of iTreg cells requires an active process [38]. When subimmunogenic conditions (i.e., low antigen dose, immature DC, plasmacitoid DC, B cells, high production of IL-10, and TGF- β) are encountered, naïve T cells

tend to acquire FoxP3 expression and become iTreg cells [39, 40]. In particular, TGF- β , at high concentrations, favors the generation of iTreg cells, blocks the expression of IL-23R on Th17 cells, and suppresses Th1 and Th2 differentiation [27, 41]. The generation of iTreg cells is facilitated by the capacity of the same cells to produce TGF- β [42] and by the presence of IL-2 [43], RA [44], and vitamin D, which favors the generation of iTreg cells both indirectly by downregulating costimulatory molecules on DCs and directly upregulating CTLA-4 [45], a functional marker of iTreg cells. Also, activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), a transcription factor of the bHLH/PAS family, which regulates the biochemical and toxic effects of environmental chemicals, has been shown to promote epigenetic regulation and facilitate the differentiation of iTreg cells [46] even if some data suggest a more complex regulation [47]. The relationship between Th17 cells, iTreg cells, and IL-2 has also received special attention. iTreg cells are able to scavenge IL-2 from Th1 responder cells and to dampen Th1-mediated pathology [48]. However, this might actually favor the differentiation of naïve T cells toward the Th17 program, by removing an inhibitory cytokine. In conclusion, iTreg cells might actually promote Th17 development and effector function by scavenging a negative regulator such as IL-2 [49-51]. On the other hand, cytokines like IL-6, IL-21 secreted by Th17 cells, IFN- γ (Th1), and IL-4 (Th2) tend to block iTreg cells development suggesting that generation of iTreg cells might be controlled by other T cell subsets [52].

4 Th17 Cells

TGF- β , at low concentrations and in the presence of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 or IL-1β, promotes the expression of the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) and the acquisition of Th17 cell effector functions [53, 54]. As DCs can secrete both IL-1B and IL-6, they can influence directly the development of Th17 cells [4]. In vitro, full acquisition of pathogenic functions by effector Th17 cells is mediated by IL-23, another cytokine secreted by APC [55], and later on by IL-7 [56]. Th17 cell differentiation is also promoted by IL-21, a cytokine produced by Th17 cells [57–59]. On the other hand, many more cytokines such as IL-4, IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-10, IL-12, IL-25, and IL-27 act as negative regulators of the differentiation of Th17 cells, suggesting that the generation of Th17 cells is tightly controlled [18, 19, 44, 60–63]. IL-27 appears to have a relevant role in the control of IL-17A production by Th17 cells and represents an important checkpoint under the control of DCs and innate immunity. In particular, IL-27, not only has direct immunosuppressive effects on various T cell subsets, but also is able to induce the release of IL-10 by CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. IFN- γ and IL-4 are other important mediators involved in the control of IL-17A production and Th17 cell differentiation [19]. It appears therefore that Th17 cell generation is strictly controlled by other T cell subsets.

The mouse Th17 cell subset is a heterogeneous population that produces IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-17A/F heterodimer, IL-21, IL-22, TNF- α , and under specific

circumstances, GM-CSF, IL-6 [61, 64], and IL-10 (55). Production of IL-17A and IL-17F [60, 65] appears specific for the Th17 cell lineage. However, at the single cell level, IL-17A and IL-17F are not always coexpressed, and IL-17A and IL-17F single-positive cells are detected at relatively high frequencies [66, 67].

The mechanisms that regulate IL-17A and IL-17F may also be different; IL-17F seems to be expressed earlier than IL-17A [68], deficiency of RORa selectively reduces IL-17A production [69], and IL-17A expression is more sensitive to TCR signaling [70]. Moreover, in mice, CD4+ IL-17A single-positive T cells seem to be prevalent in the lamina propria and intestinal intraepithelium [67]. Expression of IL-22 by Th17 cells appears to be more dependent on IL-23 than IL-17A and IL-17F [71]. It has also been reported that, even if the large majority of IL-22+ cells express IL-17A, only a minority of IL-17A+ cells express IL-22 [72], again indicating that, at the single cell level, many of these cytokines can be differentially expressed. It is not clear whether this differential expression results from the existence of different cell types, of various stages of maturation or of environmental factors. It appears that the combined activity of different cytokines might potentiate the effects of Th17 cells and of IL-17A. In particular, IL-17A and IL-22 act in a synergistic or additive way to increase the expression of antimicrobial peptides [72]. Another interesting aspect is the identification of specific cellular markers, as only the expression of the IL-23R seems to differentiate Th17 cells from the other T cell lineages. Nakae et al. [65] reported on the expression profile of cell surface molecules on IL-23-derived Th17 cells. They observed that these cells have more similarities to Th1 cells than to Th2 cells. It is reasonable to propose that the function of Th17 cells may be influenced by the levels of surface expression of molecules in the CD28 or the TNF superfamily [65]. Both iTreg cells and Th17 cells express CCR6 that facilitate homing to tissues and not follicles, suggesting that both cell types migrate to the same inflammatory sites [73]. Among other properties, Th17 cells appear uniquely equipped to promote osteoclastogenesis as a result of RANKL expression [74] and to induce generation of ectopic lymphoid follicle-like structures. Th17 cell produce IL-17A and express podoplanin on their surface [75]. Podoplanin deficient mice have a defect in the formation of secondary lymphoid structures [75]. RANKL+ Th17 cells have also been shown in the lesions of arthritic patients [76].

Human Th17 cells are also characterized by the variable production of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-22, IL-21, IL26, and TNF- α and by the expression of a unique pattern of surface receptors, including CCR4, CCR6, and CD161 [77, 78]. Their differentiation pathway is slightly different from that of the mouse, as stimulation of naïve CD4+ T cell precursors with TGF- β and IL-6 is not so efficient [78]. However, also in humans, IL-1 β , IL-21, and IL-23 are critical for Th17 cell differentiation, growth, survival, and effector functions [78].

Several transcription factors or pathways have been involved in the signaling from the cytokine receptors. It is interesting to observe that IL-17A producing CD4+ T cells express the IL-10 receptor α and that IL-10 leads to a decrease in Th17 and Th17/Th1 CD4+ T cells [79]. It is intriguing that IL-6, IL-21, and IL-23 which favor the generation of Th17 cells but also IL-10 and IL-27, which inhibit

their generation, signal mainly through STAT3 [79, 80]. The number of specific cytokine receptors, which is variable with time, might actually control the entity of the response. As for other T cell lineages, the generation of iTreg cells and Th17 cells is associated with epigenetic modification such as histone remodeling and DNA demethylation [81–83].

5 Plasticity of iTreg cells

Presently, it is not fully clear whether mature iTreg cells retain substantial developmental plasticity and are able to convert into Th17 cells (Fig. 1) or whether the appearance of Th17 cells in a Treg cell-dominated environment is due to the expansion of novel T cell clonotypes. However, it has been reported that, in the presence of IL-1 β , TGF- β , and IL-23, human Th17 cells can originate from a population of Treg cell precursors [84]. In addition, a hybrid subpopulation coexpressing Foxp3 and RORyt with regulatory functions and production of IL-17A has been described [85, 86]. Fully differentiated Treg cells can be converted into Th17 cells in mice [27, 87, 88] and humans [89], and stimulation of memory Treg cells in the presence of IL-1 β allows them to become Th17 cells [89, 90]. Osorio et al. [91] showed that mouse CD25+ FoxP3+ Treg cells can be converted into a hybrid T cell population characterized by the expression of FoxP3 and ROR γ t and the production of IL-17A. Conversion was observed upon coculture with DCs selectively activated via dectin-1, a C-type lectin receptor involved in fungal recognition, and was linked to IL-23 production by DCs. These data suggest that there are several potential cross talks in the differentiation pathways of Treg cells and Th17 cells and that an antigen-specific immune response can be generated, when the proper stimuli are applied, supporting the view of plasticity of the immune response. However, while it has been documented that, under inflammatory conditions, a Treg cell-dominated environment can convert into a Th17 celldominated immune response, the opposite has not been shown. The conversion of Treg cells into Th17 cells may be an irreversible process, like the conversion of Th17 precursors into Th1 cells. Similarly, it has been shown that Th1 cells do not develop into Treg cells [92]. It is also interesting that, in animal models, Treg cells tend to appear during the recovery phase [93], again suggesting that when the antigen load and the inflammatory environment are reduced, the generation of new iTreg cells is favored.

6 Th17 Cells and Autoimmunity

In summary, cytokines secreted by APCs and various metabolites crucially contribute to the control of Treg cells and Th17 cell development, differentiation, and function. Th17 cells have a major role in mediating the immune responses against some extracellular bacterial and fungal pathogens [54, 94–96] but have also been implicated in the response to some intracellular bacteria [97], intracellular [98, 99] and extracellular parasites [100, 101], and viruses [102, 103], in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune disorders, including multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis [61, 104, 105] and in allergic reactions [106]. During an enhanced or not properly suppressed response to a self-antigen or to a foreign antigen mimicking self or in concomitance with tissue damage or infection or in the presence of a defect in costimulatory inhibitory signals, a T cell response to an autoantigen could be initiated. In conclusion, a minor derangement in the finely tuned regulation of the immune response to self-antigens might tip the balance toward an immune response. The prevalent role of Th17 cells in many animal models of autoimmunity can be related to the fact that these cells can be directly generated through the encounter of naïve $\alpha\beta$ CD4+ T cells with properly activated APCs.

7 Th1 or Th2 Immune Responses Require the Involvement of Additional Cells and Can Coexist with Th17 Cell Activation

Th1 responses to intracellular bacteria or Th2 responses to parasites can be associated with a concomitant and/or transient Th17 cell response [97, 107–109]. The generation of a Th1 or Th2 cell response in vivo often depends not only on the activation of APCs but also on the involvement of additional cell types. A different function for APCs in the generation of Th17 or Th1 cells is supported by the fact that a Th17 response is favored by activated APC and that disruption of the APC–T cell interactions with anti-MHC antibodies can block IL-17A but not IFN- γ production [110]. Infections with intracellular bacteria or protozoa such as leishmania promote immune responses dominated by Th1 cells, but a Th17 component has been documented in several cases [97–99].

For the generation of Th1 cells, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells appear to have a relevant role [23, 111]. The recognition of PAMP, associated with bacteria and viruses, induces the production of IL-12 by APCs [112]. The IL-12R is constitutively detected on iNKT cells which are characterized by the expression of a single invariant TCR α chain, associated with a highly restricted set of V β chains [23]. iNKT cells appear to be constantly activated by endogenous glycolipids presented by CD1d, a monomorphic MHC-like class Ib molecule [23]. IL-12 acts on iNKT cells to enhance their production of IFN- γ [113] and, later on, in association with IFN- γ , causes the activation and clonal expansion of naïve $\alpha\beta$ CD4+ T cells into Th1 cells. Sequential activation of STAT1 by IFNy and STAT4 by IL-12 drives optimal expression of T-bet, the central transcription factor for Th1 programming. Stability of this developmental program is maintained through the production of IFN γ by mature Th1 effector cells. IFN- γ acts as an autocrine cytokine feedback loop for Th1 cell generation and as an inhibitor of iTreg cells and Th17 cell generation [52]. However, some Th1 responses can be generated through other pathways. For example, the Th1 response to certain viruses is independent from

IL-12 [114–116]. There is also evidence for temporal differences in the appearance of Th17 and Th1 cells, as the Th17 response often peaks earlier, followed by the appearance of Th1 cells [93, 117–119].

Parasites or allergens induce Th2-biased responses that can be associated with a Th17 response [100, 101, 120]. Murine Trypanosoma congolense [121] and Trichinella spiralis infections [107] but also intranasal immunization of mice with house dust mite induce both Th2 and Th17 responses [122–124]. The generation of Th2 cells appears to require contributions of innate sources of IL-4, IL-13, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) [24, 25]. Nuocytes, basophils, FccRIexpressing inflammatory dendritic cells [125], and follicular T helper cells [126, 127] but also other cell subsets have a critical role in Th2 induction, and several cvtokines, including IL-4, IL-13, IL-25 (IL-17E), IL-33, and TSLP, are involved [127]. Under certain conditions, basophils can rapidly release IL-4, IL-9, IL-25, and TSLP upon activation and direct Th2 cell polarization [128]. The protease allergen papain, injected subcutaneously, induces the migration of basophils into lymph nodes where they promote Th2 differentiation by acting as APCs and by secreting IL-4 and TSLP [129–132]. However, also cooperation, via ROS-mediated signaling, between migratory dermal DCs and basophils positive for IL-4 has been described [133], suggesting that multiple pathways of activation might be in place or that different stimuli might have different capabilities to activate DCs through PRR. Activation of STAT6 by IL-4 upregulates GATA3 which is central to Th2 programming. However, some Th2 responses in vivo can be independent of IL-4, including those to some parasites [134, 135]. Stability of the Th2 developmental program is reinforced in part through production by mature effector T cells of IL-4, which acts as a potent inhibitor of early Th17 development.

8 Th17 Cell Plasticity and Mixed Th17/Th1 and Th17/Th2 Cell Subpopulations

It has also been shown that Th cells can coexpress IL-17A with a variety of other cytokines, including IFN γ , IL-4, or IL-10. IL-17A-secreting effector cells, generated in vitro by TGF- β , IL-6, and IL-23, fail to reexpress IL-17A in the absence of the original inducing signals, even after repeated instructive restimulations [136]. They convert to IFN- γ expression when stimulated with IL-12 or to IL-4 expression when stimulated with IL-4, suggesting substantial developmental plasticity [68, 136–139]. Once differentiated, Th17 cells coexpress the IL-12R β 1 with the IL-23R and with low levels of IL-12R β 2. The expression of both receptors enables them to respond to either IL-23 or IL-12 [68]. In contrast, Th1 cells do not upregulate the IL-23R and are unresponsive to IL-23 [68]. As already mentioned for iTreg cells, which can convert into Th17 cells, Th17 cells can acquire the characteristics of Th1 cells, challenging the model of a stable Th lineage commitment. This conversion is associated with abrogation of IL-17A production,

gain of IFN- γ production, and concomitant changes in histone methylation at the II17a and Ifng locus [27, 68, 138]. Thus, Th17 cells can give rise to progenies that retain high levels of IL-17A expression, silence IL-17A, and express high levels of IFN γ or acquire a mixed phenotype expressing both IL-17A and IFN γ . A switch of mouse Th17 cells into Th1 cells has also been documented during the development of type 1 diabetes and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) [140, 141]. Interestingly, the final destination of Th17 cells is strongly influenced by the cytokine milieu [142] as they can acquire IFN- γ expression in the context of EAE but not in the context of a *Candida albicans* infection.

Human Th17 cells have also the capacity to acquire expression of IFN- γ , but often IL-17A production is maintained and the resulting cells have an intermediate Th17/Th1 phenotype [143, 144]. This suggests that differentiated human Th17 cells are relatively resistant to conversion toward the Th1 lineage [145]. The reciprocal conversion of Th1 cells or Th2 cells to Th17 is less likely to occur [146] as the Rorc promoter in these cells is repressed [18, 68].

More recently, an additional subset of Th2 memory/effector cells that coexpress the transcription factors GATA3 and ROR γ t and coproduce Th17 and Th2 cytokines has been described [147]. In a mouse model of allergic lung diseases, IL-17A-producing CD4+ Th2 cells were induced in the inflamed lung and persisted as the dominant IL-17A-producing T cell population during the chronic stage of asthma. In man, IL-17+ Th2 cells are significantly increased in blood of patients with atopic asthma. In addition, CCR6+ CD161+ CD4+ T cell clones able to produce both IL-17A and IL-4 have been described [148]. These clones produce also IL-5, IL-8, IL-9, IL-13, IL-21, and IL-22 and displayed the ability to induce the in vitro secretion of IgE. A very few IL-17A+ Th2 cells were found among circulating CD4+ T cells from normal subjects, but their proportions were significantly increased in the circulation of patients with chronic asthma [148].

These findings highlight the plasticity of Th2 memory cells and suggest that IL-17A-producing Th2 cells may represent the key pathogenic Th2 cells promoting the exacerbation of allergic asthma [147].

9 Conclusion

In conclusion, an adaptive immune response is triggered by the activation of different clonotypic naïve CD4+ T cells which have reached their specific threshold of activation at the level of TCRs, costimulatory signals, and accessory signals. Diversity and flexibility of the immune response is provided by the intensity of the activation of different T cell clones, and, in this context, the accessory signals and cytokines contributed by APCs and by other cell types have a prominent role in defining the sequential polarization and imprinting of naïve T cells into iTreg, Th17, Th1, and Th2 cells.

References

- Janeway CA Jr (1989) Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 54:1–13
- van de Veerdonk FL, Kullberg BJ, van der Meer JWM, Gow NAR, Netea MG (2008) Host-microbe interactions: innate pattern recognition of fungal pathogens. Curr Opin Microbiol 11:305–312
- 3. Gommerman JL, Summers deLuca L (2011) LTbetaR and CD40: working together in dendritic cells to optimize immune responses. Immunol Rev 244:85–98
- 4. Diehl S, Rincón M (2002) The two faces of IL-6 on Th1/Th2 differentiation. Mol Immunol 39:531–536
- Dumitriu IE, Dunbar DR, Howie SE, Sethi T, Gregory CD (2009) Human dendritic cells produce TGF-beta1 under the influence of lung carcinoma cells and prime the differentiation of CD4 + CD25 + Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 182:2795–2807
- 6. Gutcher I, Becher B (2007) APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation. J Clin Invest 117:1119–1127
- 7. Torri A, Beretta O, Ranghetti A, Granucci F, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Foti M (2010) Gene expression profiles identify inflammatory signatures in dendritic cells. PLoS One 5:e9404
- Sprent J, Cho JH, Boyman O, Surh CD (2008) T cell homeostasis. Immunol Cell Biol 86:312–319
- 9. Surh CD, Sprent J (2008) Homeostasis of naïve and memory T cells. Immunity 29:848-862
- Takada K, Jameson SC (2009) Naïve T cell homeostasis: from awareness of space to a sense of place. Nat Rev Immunol 9:823–832
- Chicz RM, Urban RG, Gorga JC, Vignali DA, Lane WS, Strominger JL (1993) Specificity and promiscuity among naturally processed peptides bound to HLA-DR alleles. J Exp Med 178:27–47
- Lechler R, Aichinger G, Lightstone L (1996) The endogenous pathway of MHC class II antigen presentation. Immunol Rev 151:51–79
- 13. van Haren SD, Herczenik E, ten Brinke A, Mertens K, Voorberg J, Meijer AB (2011) HLA-DR-presented peptide repertoires derived from human monocyte-derived dendritic cells pulsed with blood coagulation factor VIII. Mol Cell Proteomics 10:M110.002246
- Neefjes J, Jongsma ML, Paul P, Bakke O (2011) Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. Nat Rev Immunol 11:823–836
- 15. Sharpe AH (2009) Mechanisms of costimulation. Immunol Rev 229:5-11
- Torgerson TR, Ochs HD (2007) Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, Xlinked: forkhead box protein 3 mutations and lack of regulatory T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:744–750
- 17. Mosmann TR, Coffman RL (1989) Th1 and Th2: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. Annu Rev Immunol 7:145–173
- Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin-17 producing CD4 effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132
- Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q et al (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin-17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141
- Hall BM, Verma ND, Tran GT, Hodgkinson SJ (2011) Distinct regulatory CD4 + T cell subsets; differences between naïve and antigen specific T regulatory cells. Curr Opin Immunol 23:641–647
- Palm NW, Medzhitov R (2009) Pattern recognition receptors and control of adaptive immunity. Immunol Rev 227:221–233
- 22. Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R (2010) Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Science 327:291–295

- 23. Taniguchi M, Tashiro T, Dashtsoodol N, Hongo N, Watarai H (2010) The specialized iNKT cell system recognizes glycolipid antigens and bridges the innate and acquired immune systems with potential applications for cancer therapy. Int Immunol 22:1–6
- 24. Kaiko GE, Foster PS (2011) New insights into the generation of Th2 immunity and potential therapeutic targets for the treatment of asthma. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 11:39–45
- Oliphant CJ, Barlow JL, McKenzie AN (2011) Insights into the initiation of type 2 immune responses. Immunology 134:378–385
- 26. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, Shen Y, Du J, Rubtsov YP, Rudensky AY et al (2008) TGFbeta-induced Foxp3 inhibits Th17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. Nature 453:236–240
- 27. Yang XO, Nurieva R, Martinez GJ, Kang HS, Chung Y, Pappu BP, Shah B, Chang SH, Schluns KS, Watowich SS et al (2008) Molecular antagonism and plasticity of regulatory and inflammatory T cell programs. Immunity 29:44–56
- Piggott DA, Eisenbarth SC, Xu L, Constant SL, Huleatt JW, Herrick CA, Bottomly K (2005) MyD88-dependent induction of allergic Th2 responses to intranasal antigen. J Clin Invest 115:459–467
- 29. Coombes JL, Siddiqui KR, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Hall J, Sun CM, Belkaid Y, Powrie F (2007) A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J Exp Med 204:1757–1764
- 30. Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, Belkaid Y (2007) Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 204:1775–1785
- 31. Li J, Hsu HC, Yang P, Wu Q, Li H, Edgington LE, Bogyo M, Kimberly RP, Mountz JD (2011) Treatment of arthritis by macrophage depletion and immunomodulation: testing an apoptosis-mediated therapy in a humanized death receptor mouse model. Arthritis Rheum 64:1098–1109
- Bluestone JA, Abbas AK (2003) Natural versus adaptive regulatory T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 3:253–257
- 33. Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ (2009) Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? Immunity 30:626–635
- 34. Chen X, Oppenheim JJ (2011) Resolving the identity myth: key markers of functional CD4+ FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. Int Immunopharmacol 11:1489–1496
- Horwitz DA, Zheng SG, Gray JD (2008) Natural and TGF-beta induced Foxp3(+)CD4(+) CD25(+) regulatory T cells are not mirror images of each other. Trends Immunol 29:429–435
- 36. Gottschalk RA, Corse E, Allison JP (2012) Expression of helios in peripherally induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 188:976–980
- Rubtsov YP, Niec RE, Josefowicz S, Li L, Darce J, Mathis D, Benoist C, Rudensky AY (2010) Stability of the regulatory T cell lineage in vivo. Science 329:1667–1671
- 38. Borges TJ, Porto BN, Teixeira CA, Rodrigues M, Machado FD, Ornaghi AP, de Souza AP, Maito F, Pavanelli WR, Silva JS et al (2010) Prolonged survival of allografts induced by mycobacterial Hsp70 is dependent on CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells. PLoS One 5:e14264
- 39. Kretschmer K, Apostolou I, Hawiger D, Khazaie K, Nussenzweig MC, von Boehmer H (2005) Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen. Nat Immunol 6:1219–1227
- 40. Zhang X, Li M, Lian D, Zheng X, Zhang ZX, Ichim TE, Xia X, Huang X, Vladau C, Suzuki M et al (2008) Generation of therapeutic dendritic cells and regulatory T cells for preventing allogeneic cardiac graft rejection. Clin Immunol 127:313–321
- Li MO, Wan YY, Sanjabi S, Robertson AK, Flavell RA (2005) Transforming growth factorbeta regulation of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 24:99–146
- 42. Zhu J, Paul WE (2008) CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood 112:1557–1569
- 43. Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, Blank RB, Meylan F, Siegel R, Hennighausen L et al (2007) Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. Immunity 26:371–381

- 44. Nolting J, Daniel C, Reuter S, Stuelten C, Li P, Sucov H, Kim BG, Letterio JJ, Kretschmer K, Kim HJ et al (2009) Retinoic acid can enhance conversion of naive into regulatory T cells independently of secreted cytokines. J Exp Med 206:2131–2139
- Chambers ES, Hawrylowicz CM (2011) The impact of vitamin D on regulatory T cells. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 11:29–36
- 46. Singh NP, Singh UP, Singh B, Price RL, Nagarkatti M, Nagarkatti PS (2011) Activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) leads to reciprocal epigenetic regulation of FoxP3 and IL-17 expression and amelioration of experimental colitis. PLoS One 6:e23522
- 47. Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, Korn T, Farez MF, Bettelli E, Caccamo M, Oukka M, Weiner HL (2008) Control of T(reg) and Th17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Nature 453:65–71
- 48. Barthlott T, Moncrieffe H, Veldhoen M, Atkins CJ, Christensen J, O'Garra A, Stockinger B (2005) CD25+ CD4+ T cells compete with naive CD4+ T cells for IL-2 and exploit it for the induction of IL-10 production. Int Immunol 17:279–288
- 49. Stockinger B (2007) Good for Goose, but not for Gander: IL-2 interferes with Th17 differentiation. Immunity 26:278–279
- 50. Pandiyan P, Conti HR, Zheng L, Peterson AC, Mathern DR, Hernández-Santos N, Edgerton M, Gaffen SL, Lenardo MJ (2011) CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells promote Th17 cells in vitro and enhance host resistance in mouse *Candida albicans* Th17 cell infection model. Immunity 34:422–434
- 51. Chen Y, Haines CJ, Gutcher I, Hochweller K, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan T, Hämmerling G, Li MO, Cua DJ, McGeachy MJ (2011) Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells promote T helper 17 cell development in vivo through regulation of interleukin-2. Immunity 34:409–421
- Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR (2009) Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. Immunity 30:646–655
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- 54. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441:235–238
- 55. McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Cua DJ (2007) TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain Th-17 cell-mediated pathology. Nat Immunol 8:1390–1397
- 56. Liu X, Leung S, Wang C, Tan Z, Wang J, Guo TB, Fang L, Zhao Y, Wan B, Qin X et al (2010) Crucial role of interleukin-7 in T helper type 17 survival and expansion in autoimmune disease. Nat Med 16:191–197
- 57. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jäger A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2007) IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory Th17 cells. Nature 448:484–487
- Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM et al (2007) Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 448:480–483
- 59. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR (2007) IL-6 programs Th-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol 8:967–974
- 60. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278:1910–1914
- Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 201:233–240

- 62. Kleinschek MA, Owyang AM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Gorman DM, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan T, Brombacher F, Hurst SD et al (2007) IL-25 regulates Th17 function in autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 204:161–170
- 63. Stumhofer JS, Laurence A, Wilson EH, Huang E, Tato CM, Johnson LM, Villarino AV, Huang Q, Yoshimura A, Sehy D et al (2006) Interleukin 27 negatively regulates the development of interleukin 17-producing T helper cells during chronic inflammation of the central nervous system. Nat Immunol 7:937–945
- 64. Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T (2000) Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol 165:6107–6115
- 65. Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Suto H, Galli SJ (2007) Phenotypic differences between Th1 and Th17 cells and negative regulation of Th1 cell differentiation by IL-17. J Leukoc Biol 81:1258–1268
- 66. Liang SC, Long AJ, Bennett F, Whitters MJ, Karim R, Collins M, Goldman SJ, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Williams CMM, Wright JF et al (2007) An IL-17F/A heterodimer protein is produced by mouse Th17 cells and induces airway neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol 179:7791–7799
- 67. Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang YH, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z et al (2008) Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J Exp Med 205:1063–1075
- Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO, Weaver CT (2009) Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity 30:92–107
- 69. Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, Ma L, Shah B, Panopoulos AD, Schluns KS et al (2008) T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. Immunity 28:29–39
- 70. Gomez-Rodriguez J, Sahu N, Handon R, Davidson TS, Anderson SM, Kirby MR, August A, Schwartzberg PL (2009) Differential expression of interleukin-17A and -17F is coupled to T cell receptor signaling via inducible T cell kinase. Immunity 31:587–597
- Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W (2007) Interleukin-22, a Th17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 445:648–651
- 72. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- 73. Yamazaki T, Yang XO, Chung Y, Fukunaga A, Nurieva R, Pappu B, Martin-Orozco N, Kang HS, Ma L, Panopoulos AD et al (2008) CCR6 regulates the migration of inflammatory and regulatory T cells. J Immunol 181:8391–8401
- 74. Sato K, Suematsu A, Okamoto K, Yamaguchi A, Morishita Y, Kadono Y, Tanaka S, Kodama T, Akira S, Iwakura Y et al (2006) Th17 functions as an osteoclastogenic helper T cell subset that links T cell activation and bone destruction. J Exp Med 203:2673–2682
- 75. Peters A, Pitcher LA, Sullivan JM, Mitsdoerffer M, Acton SE, Franz B, Wucherpfennig K, Turley S, Carroll MC, Sobel RA et al (2011) Th17 cells induce ectopic lymphoid follicles in central nervous system tissue inflammation. Immunity 35:986–996
- 76. Page G, Miossec P (2005) RANK and RANKL expression as markers of dendritic cell–T cell interactions in paired samples of rheumatoid synovium and lymph nodes. Arthritis Rheum 52:2307–2312
- 77. Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Peired A, Frosali F, Crome SQ, Querci V, Fambrini M, Liotta F, Levings MK et al (2010) CD161 is a marker of all human IL-17-producing T-cell subsets and is induced by RORC. Eur J Immunol 40:2174–2181
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2009) IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annu Rev Immunol 27:485–517
- 79. Huber S, Gagliani N, Esplugues E, O'Connor W Jr, Huber FJ, Chaudhry A, Kamanaka M, Kobayashi Y, Booth CJ, Rudensky AY et al (2011) Th17 cells express interleukin-10 receptor and are controlled by Foxp3⁻ and Foxp3⁺ regulatory CD4⁺ T cells in an interleukin-10-dependent manner. Immunity 34:554–565

- 80. Cho ML, Kang JW, Moon YM, Nam HJ, Jhun JY, Heo SB, Jin HT, Min SY, Ju JH, Park KS et al (2006) STAT3 and NF-kappaB signal pathway is required for IL-23-mediated IL-17 production in spontaneous arthritis animal model IL-1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice. J Immunol 176:5652–5661
- Wei G, Wei L, Zhu J, Zang C, Hu-Li J, Yao Z, Cui K, Kanno Y, Roh TY, Watford WT et al (2009) Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. Immunity 30:155–167
- Akimzhanov AM, Yang XO, Dong C (2007) Chromatin remodeling of interleukin-17 (IL-17)-IL-17F cytokine gene locus during inflammatory helper T cell differentiation. J Biol Chem 282:5969–5972
- Janson PC, Linton LB, Bergman EA, Marits P, Eberhardson M, Piehl F, Malmström V, Winqvist O (2011) Profiling of CD4+ T cells with epigenetic immune lineage analysis. J Immunol 186:92–102
- Valmori D, Merlo A, Souleimanian NE, Hesdorffer CS, Ayyoub M (2005) A peripheral circulating compartment of natural naive CD4 Tregs. J Clin Invest 115:1953–1962
- 85. Ayyoub M, Deknuydt F, Raimbaud I, Dousset C, Leveque L, Bioley G, Valmori D (2009) Human memory Foxp3+ Tregs secrete IL-17 ex vivo and constitutively express the Th17 lineage-specific transcription factor RORgammat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:8635–8640
- 86. Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Wang YH, Arima K, Bover L, Hanabuchi S, Khalili J, Marinova E et al (2009) Identification of IL-17-producing Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4793–4798
- 87. Xu L, Kitani A, Fuss I, Strober W (2007) Cutting edge: regulatory T cells induce CD4+ CD25-Foxp3- T cells or are self-induced to become Th17 cells in the absence of exogenous TGF-beta. J Immunol 178:6725–6729
- Zheng SG, Wang J, Horwitz DA (2008) Cutting edge: Foxp3+ CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by IL-2 and TGF-beta are resistant to Th17 conversion by IL-6. J Immunol 180:7112–7116
- 89. Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, van Rijssen E, Boots AM, Joosten I (2008) Human CD25high Foxp3+ regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17-producing cells. Blood 112:2340–2352
- Deknuydt F, Bioley G, Valmori D, Ayyoub M (2009) IL-1beta and IL-2 convert human Treg into Th17 cells. Clin Immunol 131:298–307
- 91. Osorio F, LeibundGut-Landmann S, Lochner M, Lahl K, Sparwasser T, Eberl G, Reis e Sousa C (2008) DC activated via dectin-1 convert Treg into IL-17 producers. Eur J Immunol 38:3274–3281
- 92. Caretto D, Katzman SD, Villarino AV, Gallo E, Abbas AK (2010) Cutting edge: the Th1 response inhibits the generation of peripheral regulatory T cells. J Immunol 184:30–34
- Lohr J, Knoechel B, Caretto D, Abbas AK (2009) Balance of Th1 and Th17 effector and peripheral regulatory T cells. Microbes Infect 11:589–593
- 94. Holland SM, DeLeo FR, Elloumi HZ, Hsu AP, Uzel G, Brodsky N, Freeman AF, Demidowich A, Davis J, Turner ML et al (2007) STAT3 mutations in the hyper-IgE syndrome. N Engl J Med 357:1608–1619
- 95. Minegishi Y, Saito M, Tsuchiya S, Tsuge I, Takada H, Hara T, Kawamura N, Ariga T, Pasic S, Stojkovic O et al (2007) Dominant-negative mutations in the DNA-binding domain of STAT3 cause hyper-IgE syndrome. Nature 448:1058–1062
- 96. de Beaucoudrey L, Puel A, Filipe-Santos O, Cobat A, Ghandil P, Chrabieh M, Feinberg J, von Bernuth H, Samarina A, Jannière L et al (2008) Mutations in STAT3 and IL12RB1 impair the development of human IL-17–producing T cells. J Exp Med 205:1543–1550
- Khader SA, Gopal R (2010) IL-17 in protective immunity to intracellular pathogens. Virulence 1:423–427
- 98. Pitta MG, Romano A, Cabantous S, Henri S, Hammad A, Kouriba B, Argiro L, el Kheir M, Bucheton B, Mary C et al (2009) IL-17 and IL-22 are associated with protection against human kala azar caused by *Leishmania donovani*. J Clin Invest 119:2379–2387

- 99. Boaventura VS, Santos CS, Cardoso CR, de Andrade J, Dos Santos WL, Clarêncio J, Silva JS, Borges VM, Barral-Netto M, Brodskyn CI et al (2010) Human mucosal leishmaniasis: neutrophils infiltrate areas of tissue damage that express high levels of Th17-related cytokines. Eur J Immunol 40:2830–2836
- 100. Smith PM, Jacque B, Conner JR, Poltorak A, Stadecker MJ (2011) IRAK-2 regulates IL-1mediated pathogenic Th17 cell development in helminthic infection. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002272
- 101. Sotillo J, Trelis M, Cortes A, Fried B, Marcilla A, Esteban JG, Toledo R (2011) Th17 responses in *Echinostoma caproni* infections in hosts of high and low compatibility. Exp Parasitol 129:307–311
- 102. Suryawanshi A, Veiga-Parga T, Rajasagi NK, Reddy PB, Sehrawat S, Sharma S, Rouse BT (2011) Role of IL-17 and Th17 cells in herpes simplex virus-induced corneal immunopathology. J Immunol 187:1919–1930
- 103. Niu Y, Liu H, Yin D, Yi R, Chen T, Xue H, Zhang S, Lin S, Zhao Y (2011) The balance between intrahepatic IL-17(+) T cells and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells plays an important role in HBV-related end-stage liver disease. BMC Immunol 12:47
- 104. Lock C, Hermans G, Pedotti R, Brendolan A, Schadt E, Garren H, Langer-Gould A, Strober S, Cannella B, Allard J et al (2002) Gene microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Med 8:500–508
- 105. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, Basham B, Smith K, Chen T, Morel F et al (2007) Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 8:950–957
- 106. Oboki K, Ohno T, Saito H, Nakae S (2008) Th17 and allergy. Allergol Int 57:121-134
- 107. Kang SA, Cho MK, Park MK, Kim DH, Hong YC, Lee YS, Cha HJ, Ock MS, Yu HS (2012) Alteration of helper T-cell related cytokine production in splenocytes during *Trichinella spiralis* infection. Vet Parasitol 186:319–327
- 108. Fu Y, Wang W, Tong J, Pan Q, Long Y, Qian W, Hou X (2009) Th17: a new participant in gut dysfunction in mice infected with *Trichinella spiralis*. Mediators Inflamm 2009:517052
- 109. Rutitzky LI, Stadecker MJ (2011) Exacerbated egg-induced immunopathology in murine Schistosoma mansoni infection is primarily mediated by IL-17 and restrained by IFN-gamma. Eur J Immunol 41:2677–2687
- 110. Katzman SD, Gallo E, Hoyer KK, Abbas AK (2011) Differential requirements for Th1 and Th17 responses to a systemic self-antigen. J Immunol 186:4668–4673
- 111. Dudeck A, Suender CA, Kostka SL, von Stebut E, Maurer M (2011) Mast cells promote Th1 and Th17 responses by modulating dendritic cell maturation and function. Eur J Immunol 41:1883–1893
- 112. Trinchieri G (2003) Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 3:133–146
- 113. Brigl M, Bry L, Kent SC, Gumperz JE, Brenner MB (2003) Mechanism of CD1d-restricted natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. Nat Immunol 4:1230–1237
- 114. de Wit MC, Horzinek MC, Haagmans BL, Schijns VE (2004) Host dependent type 1 cytokine responses driven by inactivated viruses may fail to default in the absence of IL-12 or IFNalpha/beta. J Gen Virol 85:795–803
- 115. Oxenius A, Karrer U, Zinkernagel RM, Hengartner H (1999) IL-12 is not required for induction of type 1 cytokine responses in viral infections. J Immunol 162:965–973
- 116. Schijns VE, Haagmans BL, Wierda CM, Kruithof B, Heijnen IA, Alber G, Horzinek MC (1998) Mice lacking IL-12 develop polarized Th1 cells during viral infection. J Immunol 160:3958–3964
- 117. Dardalhon V, Korn T, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC (2008) Role of Th1 and Th17 cells in organ-specific autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 31:252–256
- 118. Katzman SD, O'Gorman WE, Villarino AV, Gallo E, Friedman RS, Krummel MF, Nolan GP, Abbas AK (2010) Duration of antigen receptor signaling determines T-cell tolerance or activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:18085–18090

- 119. Lohr J, Knoechel B, Wang JJ, Villarino AV, Abbas AK (2006) Role of IL-17 and regulatory T lymphocytes in a systemic autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 203:2785–2791
- 120. Milner JD (2011) IL-17 producing cells in host defense and atopy. Curr Opin Immunol 23:784–788
- 121. Mou Z, Jia P, Kuriakose S, Khadem F, Uzonna JE (2010) Interleukin-17-mediated control of parasitemia in experimental *Trypanosoma congolense* infection in mice. Infect Immun 78:5271–5279
- 122. Krishnamoorthy N, Oriss TB, Paglia M, Fei M, Yarlagadda M, Vanhaesebroeck B, Ray A, Ray P (2008) Activation of c-Kit in dendritic cells regulates T helper cell differentiation and allergic asthma. Nat Med 14:565–573
- 123. Phipps S, Lam CE, Kaiko GE, Foo SY, Collison A, Mattes J, Barry J, Davidson S, Oreo K, Smith L et al (2009) Toll/IL-1 signaling is critical for house dust mite-specific helper T cell type 2 and type 17 [corrected] responses. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179:883–893
- 124. Ng N, Lam D, Paulus P, Batzer G, Horner AA (2006) House dust extracts have both Th2 adjuvant and tolerogenic activities. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:1074–1081
- 125. Min B, Brown MA, Legros G (2012) Understanding the roles of basophils: breaking dawn. Immunology 135:192–197
- 126. Liang HE, Reinhardt RL, Bando JK, Sullivan BM, Ho IC, Locksley RM (2011) Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. Nat Immunol 13:58–66
- 127. Allen JE, Maizels RM (2011) Diversity and dialogue in immunity to helminths. Nat Rev Immunol 11:375–388
- 128. Sokol CL, Medzhitov R (2010) Role of basophils in the initiation of Th2 responses. Curr Opin Immunol 22:73–77
- 129. Sokol CL, Barton GM, Farr AG, Medzhitov R (2008) A mechanism for the initiation of allergen-induced T helper type 2 responses. Nat Immunol 9:310–318
- 130. Perrigoue JG, Saenz SA, Siracusa MC, Allenspach EJ, Taylor BC, Giacomin PR, Nair MG, Du Y, Zaph C, van Rooijen N et al (2009) MHC class II-dependent basophil-CD4+ T cell interactions promote Th2 cytokine-dependent immunity. Nat Immunol 10:697–705
- 131. Sokol CL, Chu NQ, Yu S, Nish SA, Laufer TM, Medzhitov R (2009) Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response. Nat Immunol 10:713–720
- 132. Yoshimoto T, Yasuda K, Tanaka H, Nakahira M, Imai Y, Fujimori Y, Nakanishi K (2009) Basophils contribute to Th2-IgE responses in vivo via IL-4 production and presentation of peptide-MHC class II complexes to CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol 10:706–712
- 133. Tang H, Cao W, Kasturi SP, Ravindran R, Nakaya HI, Kundu K, Murthy N, Kepler TB, Malissen B, Pulendran B (2010) The T helper type 2 response to cysteine proteases requires dendritic cell-basophil cooperation via ROS-mediated signaling. Nat Immunol 11:608–617
- 134. Finkelman FD, Morris SC, Orekhova T, Mori M, Donaldson D, Reiner SL, Reilly NL, Schopf L, Urban JF Jr (2000) Stat6 regulation of in vivo IL-4 responses. J Immunol 164:2303–2310
- 135. Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Noben-Trauth N, Caspar P, Paul WE, Sher A (2000) Single cell analysis reveals that IL-4 receptor/Stat6 signaling is not required for the in vivo or in vitro development of CD4+ lymphocytes with a Th2 cytokine profile. J Immunol 164:3047–3055
- 136. Lexberg MH, Taubner A, Albrecht I, Lepenies I, Richter A, Kamradt T, Radbruch A, Chang HD (2010) IFN-gamma and IL-12 synergize to convert in vivo generated Th17 into Th1/Th17 cells. Eur J Immunol 40:3017–3027
- 137. Lexberg MH, Taubner A, Förster A, Albrecht I, Richter A, Kamradt T, Radbruch A, Chang HD (2008) Th memory for interleukin-17 expression is stable in vivo. Eur J Immunol 38:2654–2664
- 138. Mukasa R, Balasubramani A, Lee YK, Whitley SK, Weaver BT, Shibata Y, Crawford GE, Hatton RD, Weaver CT (2010) Epigenetic instability of cytokine and transcription factor gene loci underlies plasticity of the T helper 17 cell lineage. Immunity 32:616–627

- 139. Bending D, Newland S, Krejcí A, Phillips JM, Bray S, Cooke A (2011) Epigenetic changes at Il12rb2 and Tbx21 in relation to plasticity behavior of Th17 cells. J Immunol 186:3373–3382
- 140. Bending D, De la Peña H, Veldhoen M, Phillips JM, Uyttenhove C, Stockinger B, Cooke A (2009) Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. J Clin Invest 119:565–572
- 141. Domingues HS, Mues M, Lassmann H, Wekerle H, Krishnamoorthy G (2010) Functional and pathogenic differences of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. PLoS One 5:e15531
- 142. Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, Ahlfors H, Wilhelm C, Tolaini M, Menzel U et al (2011) Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol 12:255–263
- 143. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, Parente E, Filì L, Ferri S, Frosali F et al (2007) Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 204:1849–1861
- 144. Nistala K, Adams S, Cambrook H, Ursu S, Olivito B, de Jager W, Evans JG, Cimaz R, Bajaj-Elliott M, Wedderburn LR (2010) Th17 plasticity in human autoimmune arthritis is driven by the inflammatory environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:14751–14756
- 145. Cohen CJ, Crome SQ, Macdonald KG, Dai EL, Mager DL, Levings MK (2011) Human Th1 and Th17 cells exhibit epigenetic stability at signature cytokine and transcription factor loci. J Immunol 187:5615–5626
- 146. Kurschus FC, Croxford AL, Heinen AP, Wörtge S, Ielo D, Waisman A (2010) Genetic proof for the transient nature of the Th17 phenotype. Eur J Immunol 40:3336–3346
- 147. Wang YH, Voo KS, Liu B, Chen CY, Uygungil B, Spoede W, Bernstein JA, Huston DP, Liu YJ (2010) A novel subset of CD4(+) Th2 memory/effector cells that produce inflammatory IL-17 cytokine and promote the exacerbation of chronic allergic asthma. J Exp Med 207:2479–2491
- 148. Cosmi L, Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Cardilicchia E, Frosali F, Querci V, Angeli R, Matucci A, Fambrini M et al (2010) Identification of a novel subset of human circulating memory CD4(+) T cells that produce both IL-17A and IL-4. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125:222–230

Regulatory T cells Versus Th17: Differentiation of Th17 Versus Treg, Are They Mutually Exclusive?

Song Guo Zheng

Abstract Naive CD4⁺ cells differentiate into T helper (Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17) and regulatory T (Treg) cells to execute their immunologic function. Whereas TGF- β suppresses Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation, this cytokine promotes Th9, Th17, and Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells depending upon the existence of other cytokines. IL-6 promotes Th17 but suppresses regulatory T cell differentiation. Moreover, natural but not TGF- β -induced regulatory T cells convert into Th17 cells in the inflammatory milieu. This chapter discusses the updates of these cell differentiation and conversion, as well as underlying mechanisms.

Keywords T helper cells • Th1 • Th2 • Th9 • Th17 • Tfh • Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells • Cytokine • Differentiation • Autoimmunity

Naive CD4⁺ cells have to differentiate into T helper (Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17) and regulatory T (Treg) cells to execute their functional activities. Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells play an important role in the protective immune response against intracellular pathogens and extracellular parasites; nonetheless, excessive immune responses exerted by these T helper cells also cause autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Foxp3⁺ Treg cells are essential for the immune tolerance and play a crucial role in the limitation of the excessive immune and inflammatory response executed by these T helper cells. Although Treg and Th17 cells have a completely different function in the immune responses, the differentiation of both cell subsets does need TGF- β . In this chapter, I will discuss the differentiation and relation of Tregs and Th17 cells,

e-mail: szheng@usc.edu

S.G. Zheng (🖂)

Division of Rheumatology and Immunology, Department of Medicine, University of Southern California, Keck School of Medicine, 2011 Zonal Avenue, HMR 710A, Los Angeles, CA 90033, USA

in particular Treg cell conversion to Th17 cells. I have also discussed the underlying mechanisms and functional significance of these differentiations and conversions.

1 Functional Characteristics and Categories of Regulatory T Cells

It is now well accepted that CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory or suppressor cells are critically involved in immune tolerance and homeostasis. In the early 1970s, Gershon and colleagues initially reported that thymocytes from his experimental animal model contained such cell population they called "suppressor T cells" and assumed they belong to CD8⁺ cell subset [1]. This suggestion was not appreciated until Sakaguchi et al. found that a population of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells rather than CD8⁺ T cells in the thymus did indeed possess immunosuppressive activity that is now referred to as "regulatory T cells or natural regulatory T cells, nTregs" [2].

 $CD4^+CD25^+$ cell population also exists in humans, although only the $CD4^+CD25^{bright}$ cell population appears to display an immune suppressive activity. A better approach for the identification of human Treg cells is to target the $CD4^+CD25^+CD127^{-/low}$ population [3]. More recently, $CD4^+CD25^+$ $CD127^ CD45RO^+Foxp3^+$ cells are identified as real human suppressor cells [4].

CD25 is also an activation marker for lymphocytes. Thus, the utility of CD25 expression as a Treg marker is limited since it does not completely discriminate between activated T effector cells and Tregs. Fortunately, the nuclear transcription factor Foxp3 has been identified as a much more specific marker for Treg cells. Foxp3 is critically involved in the development and function of Treg cells [5]. In mice, the lack of functional Foxp3 expression results in a fatal lymphoproliferative disorder known as scurfy, and mutations of the human FOXP3 gene result in a human syndrome known as IPEX (immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked), which is characterized by autoimmune disease expression in multiple endocrine organs [6].

Despite the fact that Foxp3-GFP "knock-in" studies clearly demonstrate that there is a very broad spectrum of CD25 expression on Treg cells and that the intranuclear location of Foxp3 makes it difficult to use this protein for immunoaffinity-based purification methods although recent study has identified a new technique to improve the isolation of the live Treg cells [7], CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells are still widely used in the field of the biology of Treg cells without using genetically modified tissues, particular in human studies. Although Foxp3 is considered as a specific marker for Tregs in mouse, this may not be the case for human Tregs. Recent data demonstrate that FOXP3 (FOXP3 for human cells and Foxp3 for mouse cells) may be upregulated in rapidly proliferating human T cells and might be viewed as an activation marker for human T cells [8]. More studies are needed to determine how FOXP3 might also be expressed on rapidly proliferating human T

93

effector cells, and more specific molecular markers to identify human Tregs are also desirable.

Many studies have revealed that the numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells and CD4⁺FOXP3⁺ cells in patients with various autoimmune diseases are diminished and that this Treg deficit is associated with disease severity and activity [9]. The peripheral Treg deficit in patients with autoimmune diseases is not resultant from their redistribution to different organs [10]. Diminishment of Tregs in the autoimmune diseases is not a universal finding. Other groups have actually observed the converse that the numbers of human CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells can be increased under these circumstances [11]. Since CD25 and FOXP3 can also be classified as activated makers, this aspect may reflect the disparity between these findings. Miyara et al. have further classified human FOXP3⁺ cells into three cell subsets: CD45RA⁺FOXP3^{low}, CD45RA⁻FOXP3^{hi}, and CD45RA⁻FOXP3^{low}. Functional assav demonstrated that the CD45RA⁻FOXP3^{low} subset contains non-suppressor cells, that the CD45RA⁺FOXP3^{low} subset contains resting Tregs, and that active Tregs are found in the CD45RA⁻FOXP3^{hi} subset. Using these criteria, they found that Treg cell numbers were indeed diminished in patients with active autoimmune disease [4].

In addition to Treg frequency, others have also reported that the functional activity of Tregs has been altered in some autoimmune diseases. For example, the suppressive activity of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells isolated from patients with active rheumatoid arthritis was significantly reduced [12]. It is possible that some intrinsic defect in CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells in these patients accounts for their reduced functional activity. Similarly, the frequency of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells in patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) is unaltered; however, the functional activity of these cells to suppress T cell immune responses including antigen-specific or nonspecific stimulation is also diminished [13–15]. These results suggest that the manipulation of nTregs to restore their numbers and function may be therapeutic.

Although most people claim that CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells in peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) belong to natural Treg cells, we and others would suggest that CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells in PBMCs consist of a mixture of both thymic-derived nTregs and those induced in the periphery (induced Tregs, iTregs) [16–18]. Until today, there are no specific markers that can distinguish nTregs from iTregs. Although Shevach's group recently reported that Helios, an Ikaros family transcription factor, may be helpful for distinguishing these cell populations [19], others reported that Helios is also highly expressed on Th2 and T follicular helper cells and may be associated with the differentiation of these cells [20]. We recently observed activated Foxp3⁻ T cells also express Helios (unpublished data); therefore, it is necessary to develop more reliable molecular marker(s) to distinguish various subsets of Treg cells.

It has been well known that the adoptive transfer of nTregs can prevent the appearance and development of autoimmune diseases in many animal models. Nonetheless, there are also considerable numbers of studies demonstrating that the therapeutic effect of nTregs on established autoimmune diseases is fairly unsatisfactory. For example, the efficacy of adoptive transfer of nTregs to

established collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) is poor for controlling the disease progression [21]. Injection of nTregs to established lupus had mild protective effects, and it was unable to suppress lupus glomerulonephritis and sialoadenitis [22, 23]. Moreover, adoptive transfer of nTregs failed to control Th17-mediated autoimmune gastritis [24].

There are several possibilities that could explain the inability of nTregs to treat CIA and other autoimmune diseases. First, proinflammatory cytokines may hamper their suppressive activity. Pasare et al. have reported that Treg suppressive activity can be abolished by IL-6 [25]. Valencia et al. also revealed that elevated TNF- α may interfere with the suppressive capacity of nTregs in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [12]. There is no question that these proinflammatory cytokines are elevated in patients with RA and other autoimmune diseases [26]. Secondly, Th17 cells may be resistant to the suppressive effects exerted by nTregs. This could explain how nTregs are able to prevent development of disease before Th17 cells become established, while demonstrating ineffective suppression after disease expression is evident where Th17 cells have been developed. Third, nTregs are inherently unstable and can be converted to Th1, Th2, Th17, and Tfh effector cells when they encounter an inflammatory milieu [21, 27–31].

There are still other reasons that could hamper the utilization of nTregs as therapeutics. First, the intranuclear location of Foxp3 makes it difficult to purify human nTregs for functional study. Second, nTregs constitute only 1–2 % of human CD4⁺ T cells, and this is also difficult to gain the sufficient numbers for therapeutic requirement. Although several groups have claimed that expansion of human nTregs in vitro can overcome this problem [32], other laboratories have reported that repeated expansion alters Treg phenotype and function [33]. Third, the expansion of nTregs from patients with RA and MS for therapeutic purposes may be problematic due to potential other intrinsic defects in RA and MS nTregs. nTreg instability, Teff cell resistance, and the influence of an inflammatory milieu may individually or collectively account for the inability of nTregs to control established autoimmune diseases.

Of great interest, the plasticity or instability of nTregs under inflammatory conditions could be overcome with cytokines or other compounds. Our group recently reported that while nTregs become Th17 cells in the presence of IL-6, these cells also lost their suppressive role in the progression of the lupus-like syndromes and CIA. We also determined that pretreatment of nTregs with IL-2 combined with TGF- β , or *all-trans* retinoic acid (atRA), a vitamin A metabolite, can render these nTregs resistant to Teff cell conversion and allow them to begin to suppress lupus and CIA progression [7, 31]. Recently, we found that atRA also maintains the stability of nTregs in human (unpublished data). This indicates that the manipulation of nTregs still holds a potential promise in the treatment of autoimmune diseases.

Like nTregs, iTregs generated ex vivo with IL-2 and TGF- β also share similar phenotypes related to Treg cells and suppress immune responses and immune cellmediated diseases. Importantly, adoptive transfer of iTregs not only prevents autoimmune diseases in many animal models but also attenuates the disease syndromes when iTregs were infused when or after diseases are established [34–41]. It is very likely that iTregs are stable and sustain their immune suppressive activity in the inflammatory condition [31]. Because sufficient numbers of iTregs can be easily gained and antigen-specific iTregs can be easily developed in the certain environment, it implicates that the manipulation of iTregs has a great potential to treat autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

2 iTregs and Their Differentiation and Development

CD4⁺ Treg subsets can be further classified into three main populations, thymusderived, naturally occurring CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells (nTregs) described as above; endogenous-induced Tregs in vivo; and those that can be induced ex vivo from CD25⁻ precursors in peripheral lymphoid organs (iTregs) [42]. Although IL-10induced Tr1 cells represent another cell population of iTregs, they do not express Foxp3 and produce considerable levels of IL-10 [43]. As IL-10 may promote autoimmune response through stimulating B cell activation and its level is highly increased in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [44], Tr1 may not be suitable for the treatment of SLE and other autoimmune diseases. TGF- β induced Tregs will be defined as iTregs in this chapter.

While Yamagiwa et al. reported that TGF- β promotes endogenous CD4⁺CD25⁺ nTreg cell expansion [45], our group first reported that TGF- β does have an ability to induce CD4⁺CD25⁻ cells to become CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells in vitro [42]. When Foxp3 was identified as Treg marker, several groups immediately found that TGF- β can induce Foxp3 expression in iTregs [34, 40, 46]. Additionally, other studies have also clearly demonstrated that the development of Foxp3⁺ Tregs in vivo is also through TGF- β -dependent mechanism [47].

Phenotypically, both nTregs and iTregs express similar molecules such as CD25, CD122, CTLA-4, GITR, CCR4, CD62L, PD1, and Foxp3 and express CD45RB^{low} in mice and CD45RO in humans. CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells in the periphery have been considered as a mixed population comprised of nTregs and iTregs. Although Helios might possibly help to distinguish nTregs from iTregs [19], more specific molecular markers are needed to distinguish both Treg cell populations.

Although both nTreg and iTreg subsets share similar phenotypes and display comparable suppressive activity, several factors distinctly affect their development, stability, and function (Table 1). First, nTregs develop in the thymus through recognition of self-antigens. A high- and medium-affinity cognate interaction between self-peptide-MHC complex and T cell receptor is required for this process. They also require CD28 costimulation because they do not develop in CD28deficient mice [48]. Although IL-2 and TGF- β play an important role in the maintenance of the pool size of nTregs, both cytokines are redundant for their since development both IL-2 and TGF-β knockout mice contain CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells in the thymus [49]. Although one group recently reported that TGF- β is essential for the nTreg cell development [50], most

		nTreg	iTreg
Origin		Thymus	Periphery
TCR stimulation	Antigen	Self	Self and environmental
	Affinity	High to medium	Suboptimal
Co-stimulations	Essential	CD28	CTLA-4
	Ox40/Ox40L	Function deficient	Generation deficient
Cytokines	Generations	(–) or TGF-β?	TGF-β
	requirement	(-) or IL-2?	IL-2
	Maintenance requirement	IL-2	IL-2
	Function requirement	TNF- α (+)	TNF- α (-)
Stabilities	IL-6 or others	Convert to Th17, Th1, Th2 and Tfh	No conversion
Phenotype		Helios (+)	Helios (-)
Human		No cytokine production	Cytokine production

 Table 1
 Differences between nTreg and iTreg cells

researchers believe that TGF- β is redundant in nTreg development although this cytokine is important for maintaining pool size of the nTreg cells [51].

By contrast, the generation of iTregs is dependent upon the presence of both TGF- β and TGF- β receptor signals since the absence of TGF- β or TGF- β receptors or blocking the TGF-B receptor signal prevents the induction of Foxp3 expression and the subsequent functional suppressive capacity [27, 52]. Similarly, IL-2 plays an essential role in the differentiation of $Foxp3^+$ iTregs. TGF- β fails to induce Foxp3⁺ iTregs from naïve CD4⁺CD25⁻ precursor cells in IL-2-deficient mice [53]. The conversion of CD4⁺CD25⁻ cells in the periphery to CD25⁺ iTregs requires a suboptimal TCR stimulation, and thus environmental antigens may sufficiently trigger iTreg development. The absence of CD28 costimulatory molecules does not affect the differentiation of iTregs (Lan and Zheng unpublished data), but inhibitory CTLA-4 costimulation and CTLA-4/B7.1 signaling are crucially required for the generation of iTregs [54]. This conclusion is further documented by an observation that the blocking of CTLA-4/B7.1 signal abolished the capacity of TGF- β to induce iTregs in wild-type mice [55]. OX40/OX40L, an alternate CD28/B7-independent costimulatory pathway, also negatively regulates the development and function of both nTregs and iTregs. While stimulation of mature nTregs by OX40 results in the loss of suppression of T cell proliferation and cytokine production, the generation of iTregs is completely abolished by OX40 although OX40 does not affect the generation of nTregs [56].

Recently, Housley et al. reported that while the TNF-R2 expression is essential for nTreg-mediated suppression of colitis, its expression is not required for iTregmediated suppression (Housley et al. 2011). Differing IL-2 and costimulatory molecule requirements for Treg development and TNFRII expression requirements for the suppressive function of both nTregs and iTregs suggests that nTregs and iTregs are possibly heterogeneous populations and that integration of both Treg subsets is required for the maintenance of normal immune homeostasis. It is also likely that both nTreg and iTreg subsets can act either in concert or separately on different targets. In addition, as anti-TNF- α therapy has been widely used in treating patient with rheumatoid arthritis, further studies are required to understand whether this therapy differentially regulates nTregs and/or iTregs development in individual diseases.

3 Function and Differentiation of Th17 Cells

Recent studies have provided a line of new evidence demonstrating the existence of a third subset of effector CD4⁺ cells in addition to the classic Th1 and Th2 cells, the differentiation and growth of which is directed by a combination of TGF-B1 and IL-6 or IL-21 [57–60]. These T cells have been designated Th17 cells based on their production of IL-17A and F. Despite the evidence for the role of Th1 cells in autoimmune disease, recent incontrovertible findings have revealed that pathologies previously attributed to Th1 cells may in fact be mainly mediated by Th17 cells in some autoimmune diseases. The best evidence for this comes from studies using anti-IFN- γ -treated mice, IFN- γ - or IFNR-deficient mice, and mice deficient in IL-12p35, IL-12 receptor β2 (IL-12Rβ2), or STAT1, which are critical molecules in IL- $12/\text{IFN}-\gamma$ -Th1-mediated responses and are capable of developing even severe collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) despite interference of the proper functioning of the prototypic Th1 cytokine IFN- γ [61–66]. Moreover, these findings concur with reports demonstrating that CIA is suppressed in IL-17-deficient mice and that administration of neutralizing anti-IL-17 antibodies at preclinical and advanced stages significantly reduces disease severity [67]. Similarly, IL-17R-deficient mice or IL-17R IgG1 fusion protein significantly attenuates colonic inflammation in acute trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis although this protection occurred in the presence of equivalent induction of local IL-23 and higher levels of IL-12p70 and interferon-gamma in IL-17R knockout mice compared with wild-type mice [68].

Interleukin-17 (IL-17A) is one of the prototypic IL-17 family members that are predominately produced by CD4⁺ memory cells [69]. IL-17 receptor is ubiquitously expressed and ligand binding causes the secretion of a range of other factors known to drive inflammatory responses such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis (MS), and colitis [61, 63, 68]. IL-17 stimulates epithelial, endothelial, and fibroblastic cells to secrete proinflammatory factors such as IL-6, IL-8, GM-CSF, CXCL1, CCL20, as well as prostaglandin E2 [70]. Secreted CXCL1 and CCL20 result in the recruitment of neutrophils and/or macrophages to the area of inflammation and enable cell movement and tissue damage. Thus, research directed at controlling autoimmune inflammatory diseases will require a better characterization of the developmental and functional properties of Th17 in these diseases.

Naive CD4⁺ T cells can be induced to differentiate toward Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17, and Treg phenotypes according to the local cytokine milieu. While IL-12 favors the differentiation toward Th1 cells through transcription factor T-bet [71], IL-4 toward Th2 via GATA-3 [72], and IL-2 and TGF- β toward iTregs via Foxp3 [34, 40, 42], the combination of TGF- β and IL-6 induces Th17 cells through transcription factor orphan nuclear receptor ROR γ t [73]. IL-21 could substitute for IL-6 to promote Th17 differentiation in this condition [60]. IL-23 was initially considered as a key cytokine to induce Th17 cell production [74]; however, recent studies revealed it is dispensable for the differentiation of Th17 cells but critical for Th17 expansion and survival [75]. IL-1 β also promotes the allergic asthma by enhancing Th17 cell differentiation [76]. TGF- β signal is crucial for Th17 cell differentiation although one group recently reported that Th17 cells can be differentiated in the lack of TGF- β signal (John O'shea).

It has been demonstrated that the skewing of naïve T cells toward Th17 and iTreg is mutually exclusive. While we and others have recently revealed IL-2-critically drives TGF- β -treated CD4⁺ cells to differentiate into Foxp3⁺ iTreg cells [53, 77], IL-6 or IL-21, however, exclusively drives TGF- β -treated T cells to become Th17 cells [57–60]. It seems IL-6 has a dominant effect on promoting Th17 cells compared to IL-2 promoting Treg cell differentiate into Th17 rather than Tregs in the presence of IL-6, IL-2, and TGF- β no matter whether low or high doses of IL-2 are included in the cultures although others have reported that IL-2 constrains Th17 cell differentiation [78].

4 Foxp3⁺ Tregs Conversion to Th17 and Other T Effector Cells

While Foxp3⁺ nTregs suppress Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation and function, it is less defined whether these cells similarly suppress Th17 differentiation and function. Yang et al. have reported that Foxp3 inhibited Th17 differentiation by antagonizing the function of the transcription factors ROR γ t and ROR. However, IL-6 overcame this suppressive effect of Foxp3 on Th17 differentiation [79]. It has been known that adoptive transfer of nTregs to Th17-mediated diseases was less therapeutic [21, 24], suggesting that nTregs may be less effective on suppressing Th17 cell differentiation, function, and Th17-mediated diseases.

In fact, nTregs can convert into Th17 cells and other T effector cells in the certain environments. As TGF- β either promotes Foxp3⁺ iTreg, Th9, or Th17 cells depending upon other cytokines involved (Fig. 1), and as nTreg cells express a membrane-bound form of TGF- β and this TGF- β has functional activities, it is reasonable to assume that IL-6 can convert nTregs to become Th17 and other T helper cells [30]. To demonstrate this, Xu et al. used the purified nTregs from Foxp3 GFP knock-in mice to exclude the possibility that CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁻ non-Tregs made this conversion. We used both wild-type and Foxp3 GFP knock-in mice to confirm this observation [31]. Endogenous TGF- β produced by nTregs is critically



Fig. 1 Multieffects of TGF-β on regulatory and effector T cells and interrelation between Treg and T effector cells. TGF-β inhibits the differentiation, proliferation, and function of various immune cells including Th1, Th2, and Tfh cells. TGF-β also promotes iTreg, Th9, and Th17 cell differentiation depending upon the cytokine environment. Additionally, TGF-β inhibits maturation and function of other immune cells such as CD8⁺ CTL, NK cell, DC, and macrophages. Both nTregs and iTregs suppress Th1 and Th2; only iTregs suppress Th17 cells. nTregs convert into Th1, Th2, Th17, and Tfh cells and lost suppressive activity; iTregs are resistant to T effector cell conversion except Th1 but maintain suppressive activity

required for this conversion since blocking TGF- β receptor I signal or using nTregs from TGF- β receptor II-dominant mice resulted in the failure of Th17 conversion [27, 31]. Moreover, activation of nTregs with IL-6 resulted in decreased Foxp3 expression and suppressive activity both in vitro and in vivo. Furthermore, adoptive transfer experiments revealed that nTregs treated with IL-6 ex vivo lost their ability to protect mice from a lupus-like disease [31]. Moreover, it has recently been demonstrated that nTregs can be converted into Th17 cells in an in vivo model (Kong and Zheng manuscript submitted). Others have also reported that Th17 cells derived from Tregs share common features with Th17 cells generated from naive precursors, including expression of the chemokine receptor CCR6 [80]. This conversion is not the result of outgrowth of a contaminating Th17 precommitted population because it is indicated by the demonstration of double-positive cells for the Treg transcription factor Foxp3 and IL-17 [31, 81]. Human nTregs also can convert into Th17 cells when stimulated with IL-1 and IL-6 although the role of TGF- β in this conversion is less clear. IL-17 production from Treg cells also occurs in vivo [82]. Thus, in an IL-1- and/or IL-6-rich inflammatory milieu, nTregs may be unstable and lose the functional activity.

In addition to Th17 cell conversion, nTregs can be converted into other subsets of T effector cells. Wan and Flavell found that Foxp3⁺ nTregs can convert to Th2 cells when endogenous Foxp3 gene expression is attenuated in these cells [29]. Interestingly, T cells expressing decreased Foxp3 still preferentially became Th2 effectors even in a Th1-polarizing environment. It is therefore likely that these cells instructed Th2 differentiation of conventional T cells, which contributed to the immune diseases observed in these mice [29]. Moon et al. also reported that acetylsalicylic acid also changes Th17-type into Th2-type inflammation cells in mice model with asthma [83]. When these cells were strongly stimulated with antigen or anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies, nTregs also lost Foxp3 and became Th1 cells [27]. IL-2 also promotes Treg cells to become Th1-like cells although Foxp3⁺INF- γ^+ cells are still suppressive [84]. In human, nTregs can also be converted into Th1 cells and most lost suppressive activity (Lu and Zheng Blood, 2012 manuscript submitted). Moreover, these cells can become T follicular helper (Tfh) cells [28]. Tsuji et al. have demonstrated that in adoptive transfer of nTregs to immunedeficient mice, Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ cells can differentiate into Tfh cells in mouse Peyer's patches. The conversion of Foxp3⁺ T cells into Tfh cells requires the loss of Foxp3 expression and subsequent interaction with B cells [28].

Previous studies have clearly demonstrated that naive rather than memory CD4⁺ cells preferentially differentiate into Foxp3⁺ Tregs cells in the presence of exogenous TGF- β [53]. It is not surprising that Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells are unable to differentiate into Foxp3⁺ Treg cells even if they have been primed with exogenous TGF- β (Zheng SG lab unpublished data). However, Th17 cells can be converted into Th1 and Th2 cells, suggesting that Th17 cells are not stable phenotypes [85, 86]. The functional significance of Th17 to Th1 and Th2 cell conversion is unclear so far. In addition, the epigenetic modifications were remarkably stable during these cells' conversion [87].

In sharp contrast, TGF-β-induced iTregs were found to be completely resistant to the Th17 conversion by IL-6. This difference cannot be explained by insufficient production of TGF-B by iTregs since both nTregs and iTregs expressed similar levels of membrane-bound TGF- β (20–25 %) and secreted similar levels of active TGF- β (about 40 ng/ml). Furthermore, the resistance of iTregs to Th17 conversion also cannot be explained by alterations in TCR stimulation since anti-CD3/CD28activated nTregs can still differentiate into Th17 cells upon IL-6 stimulation. To account for this difference between nTregs and iTregs, we found that the combination of IL-2 and TGF-B downregulated IL-6 receptor expression and function in activated T cells. We have observed that both cytokines markedly decreased IL-6 receptor alpha-chain (CD126) and beta-chain (CD132) expression on CD4⁺ cells and these cells expressed significantly lower level of phosphorylated STAT3 when stimulated by IL-6 [31]. Unexpectedly, Yang et al. had a conversed report showing iTregs can convert into Th17 cells in the presence of proinflammatory cytokines [79]. To solve this contradiction, O'Connor et al. reinvestigated the fates of both nTregs and iTregs in the proinflammatory condition. They did find that iTregs are completely resistant to Th17 conversion although nTregs do in the presence of IL-6, IL-23, and TGF- β [88]. Interestingly, they also demonstrated that iTregs rather than nTregs became Th1-like cells. Although these Th1-like cells began to express T-bet and produce INF- γ , they are less pathogenic compared to conventional Th1 cells; conversely, they still suppressed naive T cell clonal expansion and protected against the development of EAE [88].

We further observed the differences of stability of both Treg cell subsets in vivo. About 50 % of nTregs converted to Th17 cells in draining LNs 10 days after cells transfer to established collagen-induced arthritis. Conversely, iTregs were completely resistant to Th1, Th2, and Th17 cell conversion. When these cells were sorted for in vitro analysis, nTregs mostly lost suppressive activity, whereas the functional activity of iTregs was mostly intact (Kong and Zheng unpublished data). These results indicate iTregs are stable and functional in the inflammatory condition and may have a greater advantage to treat autoimmune and inflammatory diseases compared with nTregs.

Nonetheless, others have also reported that TGF- β -induced iTregs were unstable in vitro [89] and in vivo following antigen stimulation [90] and lack protective activity to prevent lethal graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) [89, 91]. It has been claimed that the Foxp3 promoter on TGF-\beta-induced iTregs but not nTregs is methylated and accounts for their instability [89]. However, we have recently observed that the methylation status in Foxp3 gene loci does not affect Foxp3 stability. Moreover, addition of atRA to TGF-B promoted iTreg stability and maintenance in vitro and in vivo, and this effect is unrelated to CpG methylation in Foxp3 promoter but related to acetylation of Foxp3 histone [92]. Others have also observed protective human TGF-β-induced Tregs that exhibit methylated Foxp3 [32]. To explain these controversial results, we consider the technical reasons are possibly responsible for the generation of unstable, ineffective TGF-\beta-induced iTregs in these groups. They have used high concentrations of plate-bound anti-CD3 with TGF- β , whereas our group has used suboptimal concentrations of anti-CD3- and anti-CD28-coated beads with IL-2 and TGF- β . It has been known that strong, sustained TCR stimulation activates the mTOR/Akt signaling pathway which facilitates Teff cell differentiation and inhibits Foxp3 expression and Treg differentiation [93]. Treg generation is best established with suboptimal TCR stimulation that facilitates Foxp3 expression [16].

These studies also raise the possibility that nTregs and iTregs may have distinct roles in the adaptive immune response. In response to microbial infections, nTregs could possibly serve as a first line of host defense by differentiation to IL-17-producing cells, which contribute to neutrophil mobilization and have other proinflammatory effects. After eradication of invading pathogens, the late appearance of TGF- β -induced iTregs would not only terminate the antigen-specific response but also prevent the emergence of nonspecifically stimulated or cross-reactive self-reactive T cells. Accordingly, failure of this mechanism could result in an immune-mediated disease.

Acknowledgments This work was in part supported by grants from the NIH R01 AR 059103, NIH R43 AR 084359, Arthritis Foundation; Wright Foundation; the Arthritis National Research Foundation; the Clinical Research Feasibility Fund; the James H. Zumberge Faculty Research and Innovation Fund; the Outstanding Youth Scientist Investigator Award from National Nature

Science Foundation of China (30728007); Science and Technology Committee Project of Shanghai Pudong New Area (PKJ2009-Y41), and the American College of Rheumatology Research and Education's Within Our Reach: Finding a Cure for Rheumatoid Arthritis campaign.

References

- 1. Gershon RK, Kondo K (1970) Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. Immunology 18:723–737
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M (1995) Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 155:1151–1164
- Seddiki N, Santner-Nanan B, Martinson J, Zaunders J, Sasson S, Landay A, Solomon M, Selby W, Alexander SI, Nanan R et al (2006) Expression of interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-7 receptors discriminates between human regulatory and activated T cells. J Exp Med 203:1693–1700
- 4. Miyara M, Yoshioka Y, Kitoh A, Shima T, Wing K, Niwa A, Parizot C, Taflin C, Heike T, Valeyre D et al (2009) Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. Immunity 30:899–911
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY (2003) Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 4:330–336
- 6. Wildin RS, Ramsdell F, Peake J, Faravelli F, Casanova JL, Buist N, Levy-Lahad E, Mazzella M, Goulet O, Perroni L et al (2001) X-linked neonatal diabetes mellitus, enteropathy and endocrinopathy syndrome is the human equivalent of mouse scurfy. Nat Genet 27:18–20
- Zhou X, Kong N, Wang J, Fan H, Zou H, Horwitz D, Brand D, Liu Z, Zheng SG (2010) Cutting edge: all-trans retinoic acid sustains the stability and function of natural regulatory T cells in an inflammatory milieu. J Immunol 185:2675–2679
- Allan SE, Crome SQ, Crellin NK, Passerini L, Steiner TS, Bacchetta R, Roncarolo MG, Levings MK (2007) Activation-induced FOXP3 in human T effector cells does not suppress proliferation or cytokine production. Int Immunol 19:345–354
- Tritt M, Sgouroudis E, d'Hennezel E, Albanese A, Piccirillo CA (2008) Functional waning of naturally occurring CD4+ regulatory T-cells contributes to the onset of autoimmune diabetes. Diabetes 57:113–123
- Miyara M, Amoura Z, Parizot C, Badoual C, Dorgham K, Trad S, Nochy D, Debre P, Piette JC, Gorochov G (2005) Global natural regulatory T cell depletion in active systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol 175:8392–8400
- 11. Yan B, Ye S, Chen G, Kuang M, Shen N, Chen S (2008) Dysfunctional CD4+, CD25+ regulatory T cells in untreated active systemic lupus erythematosus secondary to interferonalpha-producing antigen-presenting cells. Arthritis Rheum 58:801–812
- Valencia X, Stephens G, Goldbach-Mansky R, Wilson M, Shevach EM, Lipsky PE (2006) TNF downmodulates the function of human CD4 + CD25hi T-regulatory cells. Blood 108:253–261
- 13. Haas J, Hug A, Viehover A, Fritzsching B, Falk CS, Filser A, Vetter T, Milkova L, Korporal M, Fritz B et al (2005) Reduced suppressive effect of CD4 + CD25 high regulatory T cells on the T cell immune response against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in patients with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Immunol 35:3343–3352
- 14. Kumar M, Putzki N, Limmroth V, Remus R, Lindemann M, Knop D, Mueller N, Hardt C, Kreuzfelder E, Grosse-Wilde H (2006) CD4 + CD25 + FoxP3+ T lymphocytes fail to suppress myelin basic protein-induced proliferation in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimmunol 180:178–184
- Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA (2004) Loss of functional suppression by CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med 199:971–979
- Horwitz DA, Zheng SG, Gray JD (2008) Natural and TGF-beta-induced Foxp3(+)CD4(+) CD25(+) regulatory T cells are not mirror images of each other. Trends Immunol 29:429–435
- Lan Q, Fan H, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Liu Z, Zheng SG (2011) Induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells: a potential new weapon to treat autoimmune and inflammatory diseases? J Mol Cell Biol 4(1):22–28
- Zhou X, Kong N, Zou H, Brand D, Li X, Liu Z, Zheng SG (2011) Therapeutic potential of TGF-beta-induced CD4(+) Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in autoimmune diseases. Autoimmunity 44:43–50
- Thornton AM, Korty PE, Tran DQ, Wohlfert EA, Murray PE, Belkaid Y, Shevach EM (2010) Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymicderived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. J Immunol 184:3433–3441
- 20. Serre K, Benezech C, Desanti G, Bobat S, Toellner KM, Bird R, Chan S, Kastner P, Cunningham AF, Maclennan IC, Mohr E (2011) Helios is associated with CD4 T cells differentiating to T helper 2 and follicular helper T cells in vivo independently of Foxp3 expression. PLoS One 6:e20731
- Ding ZC, Blazar BR, Mellor AL, Munn DH, Zhou G (2010) Chemotherapy rescues tumordriven aberrant CD4+ T-cell differentiation and restores an activated polyfunctional helper phenotype. Blood 115:2397–2406
- 22. Bagavant H, Tung KS (2005) Failure of CD25+ T cells from lupus-prone mice to suppress lupus glomerulonephritis and sialoadenitis. J Immunol 175:944–950
- 23. Scalapino KJ, Tang Q, Bluestone JA, Bonyhadi ML, Daikh DI (2006) Suppression of disease in New Zealand Black/New Zealand white lupus-prone mice by adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded regulatory T cells. J Immunol 177:1451–1459
- Huter EN, Stummvoll GH, DiPaolo RJ, Glass DD, Shevach EM (2008) Cutting edge: antigenspecific TGF beta-induced regulatory T cells suppress Th17-mediated autoimmune disease. J Immunol 181:8209–8213
- Pasare C, Medzhitov R (2003) Toll pathway-dependent blockade of CD4 + CD25+ T cellmediated suppression by dendritic cells. Science 299:1033–1036
- Wakkach A, Fournier N, Brun V, Breittmayer JP, Cottrez F, Groux H (2003) Characterization of dendritic cells that induce tolerance and T regulatory 1 cell differentiation in vivo. Immunity 18:605–617
- 27. Lu L, Wang J, Zhang F, Chai Y, Brand D, Wang X, Horwitz DA, Shi W, Zheng SG (2010) Role of SMAD and non-SMAD signals in the development of Th17 and regulatory T cells. J Immunol 184:4295–4306
- 28. Tsuji M, Komatsu N, Kawamoto S, Suzuki K, Kanagawa O, Honjo T, Hori S, Fagarasan S (2009) Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. Science 323:1488–1492
- 29. Wan YY, Flavell RA (2007) Regulatory T-cell functions are subverted and converted owing to attenuated Foxp3 expression. Nature 445:766–770
- 30. Xu L, Kitani A, Fuss I, Strober W (2007) Cutting edge: regulatory T cells induce CD4 + CD25-Foxp3- T cells or are self-induced to become Th17 cells in the absence of exogenous TGF-beta. J Immunol 178:6725–6729
- 31. Zheng SG, Wang J, Horwitz DA (2008) Cutting edge: Foxp3 + CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by IL-2 and TGF-beta are resistant to Th17 conversion by IL-6. J Immunol 180:7112–7116
- 32. Hippen KL, Merkel SC, Schirm DK, Nelson C, Tennis NC, Riley JL, June CH, Miller JS, Wagner JE, Blazar BR (2011) Generation and large-scale expansion of human inducible regulatory T cells that suppress graft-versus-host disease. Am J Transplant 11:1148–1157
- 33. Hoffmann P, Boeld TJ, Eder R, Huehn J, Floess S, Wieczorek G, Olek S, Dietmaier W, Andreesen R, Edinger M (2009) Loss of FOXP3 expression in natural human CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells upon repetitive in vitro stimulation. Eur J Immunol 39:1088–1097

- 34. Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, McGrady G, Wahl SM (2003) Conversion of peripheral CD4 + CD25- naive T cells to CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med 198:1875–1886
- 35. DiPaolo RJ, Brinster C, Davidson TS, Andersson J, Glass D, Shevach EM (2007) Autoantigenspecific TGFbeta-induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells prevent autoimmunity by inhibiting dendritic cells from activating autoreactive T cells. J Immunol 179:4685–4693
- 36. Fantini MC, Becker C, Tubbe I, Nikolaev A, Lehr HA, Galle P, Neurath MF (2006) Transforming growth factor beta induced FoxP3+ regulatory T cells suppress Th1 mediated experimental colitis. Gut 55:671–680
- 37. Nguyen TL, Sullivan NL, Ebel M, Teague RM, Dipaolo RJ (2011) Antigen-specific TGF-{beta}-induced regulatory T cells secrete chemokines, regulate T cell trafficking, and suppress ongoing autoimmunity. J Immunol 187:1745–1753
- Selvaraj RK, Geiger TL (2008) Mitigation of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by TGFbeta induced Foxp3+ regulatory T lymphocytes through the induction of anergy and infectious tolerance. J Immunol 180:2830–2838
- 39. Weber SE, Harbertson J, Godebu E, Mros GA, Padrick RC, Carson BD, Ziegler SF, Bradley LM (2006) Adaptive islet-specific regulatory CD4 T cells control autoimmune diabetes and mediate the disappearance of pathogenic Th1 cells in vivo. J Immunol 176:4730–4739
- 40. Zheng SG, Wang JH, Gray JD, Soucier H, Horwitz DA (2004) Natural and induced CD4+ CD25+ cells educate CD4 + CD25- cells to develop suppressive activity: the role of IL-2, TGF-beta, and IL-10. J Immunol 172:5213–5221
- 41. Zheng SG, Wang JH, Koss MN, Quismorio F Jr, Gray JD, Horwitz DA (2004) CD4+ and CD8 + regulatory T cells generated ex vivo with IL-2 and TGF-beta suppress a stimulatory graftversus-host disease with a lupus-like syndrome. J Immunol 172:1531–1539
- Zheng SG, Gray JD, Ohtsuka K, Yamagiwa S, Horwitz DA (2002) Generation ex vivo of TGFbeta-producing regulatory T cells from CD4 + CD25- precursors. J Immunol 169:4183–4189
- Pot C, Apetoh L, Kuchroo VK (2011) Type 1 regulatory T cells (Tr1) in autoimmunity. Semin Immunol 23(3):202–208
- 44. Yu SL, Wong CK, Wong PT, Chen DP, Szeto CC, Li EK, Tam LS (2011) Down-regulated NOD2 by immunosuppressants in peripheral blood cells in patients with SLE reduces the muramyl dipeptide-induced IL-10 production. PLoS One 6:e23855
- 45. Yamagiwa S, Gray JD, Hashimoto S, Horwitz DA (2001) A role for TGF-beta in the generation and expansion of CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells from human peripheral blood. J Immunol 166:7282–7289
- 46. Fantini MC, Becker C, Monteleone G, Pallone F, Galle PR, Neurath MF (2004) Cutting edge: TGF-beta induces a regulatory phenotype in CD4 + CD25- T cells through Foxp3 induction and down-regulation of Smad7. J Immunol 172:5149–5153
- 47. Liang S, Alard P, Zhao Y, Parnell S, Clark SL, Kosiewicz MM (2005) Conversion of CD4+ CD25- cells into CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in vivo requires B7 costimulation, but not the thymus. J Exp Med 201:127–137
- 48. Salomon B, Lenschow DJ, Rhee L, Ashourian N, Singh B, Sharpe A, Bluestone JA (2000) B7/ CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4 + CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. Immunity 12:431–440
- 49. Piccirillo CA, Letterio JJ, Thornton AM, McHugh RS, Mamura M, Mizuhara H, Shevach EM (2002) CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells can mediate suppressor function in the absence of transforming growth factor beta1 production and responsiveness. J Exp Med 196:237–246
- 50. Liu Y, Zhang P, Li J, Kulkarni AB, Perruche S, Chen W (2008) A critical function for TGFbeta signaling in the development of natural CD4 + CD25 + Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 9:632–640
- 51. Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY (2005) TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med 201:1061–1067

- 52. Lu L, Ma J, Wang X, Wang J, Zhang F, Yu J, He G, Xu B, Brand DD, Horwitz DA et al (2010) Synergistic effect of TGF-beta superfamily members on the induction of Foxp3+ Treg. Eur J Immunol 40:142–152
- 53. Zheng SG, Wang J, Wang P, Gray JD, Horwitz DA (2007) IL-2 is essential for TGF-beta to convert naive CD4 + CD25- cells to CD25 + Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and for expansion of these cells. J Immunol 178:2018–2027
- 54. Zheng SG, Wang JH, Stohl W, Kim KS, Gray JD, Horwitz DA (2006) TGF-beta requires CTLA-4 early after T cell activation to induce FoxP3 and generate adaptive CD4 + CD25+ regulatory cells. J Immunol 176:3321–3329
- 55. Read S, Greenwald R, Izcue A, Robinson N, Mandelbrot D, Francisco L, Sharpe AH, Powrie F (2006) Blockade of CTLA-4 on CD4 + CD25+ regulatory T cells abrogates their function in vivo. J Immunol 177:4376–4383
- 56. So T, Croft M (2007) Cutting edge: OX40 inhibits TGF-beta- and antigen-driven conversion of naive CD4 T cells into CD25 + Foxp3+ T cells. J Immunol 179:1427–1430
- 57. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441:235–238
- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Wahl SM, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 441:231–234
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- 60. Yang L, Anderson DE, Baecher-Allan C, Hastings WD, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK, Hafler DA (2008) IL-21 and TGF-beta are required for differentiation of human T(H)17 cells. Nature 454:350–352
- Bettelli E, Sullivan B, Szabo SJ, Sobel RA, Glimcher LH, Kuchroo VK (2004) Loss of T-bet, but not STAT1, prevents the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 200:79–87
- 62. Ferber IA, Brocke S, Taylor-Edwards C, Ridgway W, Dinisco C, Steinman L, Dalton D, Fathman CG (1996) Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). J Immunol 156:5–7
- 63. Heremans H, Dillen C, Groenen M, Martens E, Billiau A (1996) Chronic relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (CREAE) in mice: enhancement by monoclonal antibodies against interferon-gamma. Eur J Immunol 26:2393–2398
- 64. Kageyama Y, Koide Y, Yoshida A, Uchijima M, Arai T, Miyamoto S, Ozeki T, Hiyoshi M, Kushida K, Inoue T (1998) Reduced susceptibility to collagen-induced arthritis in mice deficient in IFN-gamma receptor. J Immunol 161:1542–1548
- 65. Manoury-Schwartz B, Chiocchia G, Bessis N, Abehsira-Amar O, Batteux F, Muller S, Huang S, Boissier MC, Fournier C (1997) High susceptibility to collagen-induced arthritis in mice lacking IFN-gamma receptors. J Immunol 158:5501–5506
- Vermeire K, Heremans H, Vandeputte M, Huang S, Billiau A, Matthys P (1997) Accelerated collagen-induced arthritis in IFN-gamma receptor-deficient mice. J Immunol 158:5507–5513
- 67. Lubberts E, Koenders MI, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2004) Treatment with a neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. Arthritis Rheum 50:650–659
- Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK (2006) Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:382–388
- 69. Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Arima K, Bover L, Hanabuchi S, Khalili J, Marinova E, Zheng B et al (2009) Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4793–4798

- 70. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, Flores-Romo L, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C, Pin JJ, Garrone P, Garcia E, Saeland S et al (1996) T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med 183:2593–2603
- Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH (2000) A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell 100:655–669
- Zheng W, Flavell RA (1997) The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. Cell 89:587–596
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 126:1121–1133
- 74. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 201:233–240
- 75. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278:1910–1914
- 76. Besnard AG, Togbe D, Couillin I, Tan Z, Zheng SG, Erard F, Le Bert M, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B (2011) Inflammasome-IL-1-Th17 response in allergic lung inflammation. J Mol Cell Biol 4 (1):3–10
- 77. Davidson TS, DiPaolo RJ, Andersson J, Shevach EM (2007) Cutting edge: IL-2 is essential for TGF-beta-mediated induction of Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. J Immunol 178:4022–4026
- Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, Blank RB, Meylan F, Siegel R, Hennighausen L et al (2007) Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. Immunity 26:371–381
- 79. Yang XO, Nurieva R, Martinez GJ, Kang HS, Chung Y, Pappu BP, Shah B, Chang SH, Schluns KS, Watowich SS et al (2008) Molecular antagonism and plasticity of regulatory and inflammatory T cell programs. Immunity 29:44–56
- Singh SP, Zhang HH, Foley JF, Hedrick MN, Farber JM (2008) Human T cells that are able to produce IL-17 express the chemokine receptor CCR6. J Immunol 180:214–221
- Afzali B, Mitchell P, Lechler RI, John S, Lombardi G (2010) Translational mini-review series on Th17 cells: induction of interleukin-17 production by regulatory T cells. Clin Exp Immunol 159:120–130
- 82. Ayyoub M, Deknuydt F, Raimbaud I, Dousset C, Leveque L, Bioley G, Valmori D (2009) Human memory FOXP3+ Tregs secrete IL-17 ex vivo and constitutively express the T(H)17 lineage-specific transcription factor RORgamma t. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:8635–8640
- 83. Moon HG, Tae YM, Kim YS, Gyu Jeon S, Oh SY, Song Gho Y, Zhu Z, Kim YK (2010) Conversion of Th17-type into Th2-type inflammation by acetyl salicylic acid via the adenosine and uric acid pathway in the lung. Allergy 65:1093–1103
- 84. Feng T, Cao AT, Weaver CT, Elson CO, Cong Y (2011) Interleukin-12 converts Foxp3+ regulatory T cells to interferon-gamma-producing Foxp3+ T cells that inhibit colitis. Gastroenterology 140:2031–2043
- Mathur AN, Chang HC, Zisoulis DG, Kapur R, Belladonna ML, Kansas GS, Kaplan MH (2006) T-bet is a critical determinant in the instability of the IL-17-secreting T-helper phenotype. Blood 108:1595–1601
- 86. Panzer M, Sitte S, Wirth S, Drexler I, Sparwasser T, Voehringer D (2011) Rapid in vivo conversion of effector T cells into Th2 cells during helminth infection. J Immunol 188 (2):615–623
- 87. Cohen CJ, Crome SQ, Macdonald KG, Dai EL, Mager DL, Levings MK (2011) Human Th1 and th17 cells exhibit epigenetic stability at signature cytokine and transcription factor loci. J Immunol 187:5615–5626
- 88. O'Connor RA, Leech MD, Suffner J, Hammerling GJ, Anderton SM (2010) Myelin-reactive, TGF-beta-induced regulatory T cells can be programmed to develop Th1-like effector function

but remain less proinflammatory than myelin-reactive Th1 effectors and can suppress pathogenic T cell clonal expansion in vivo. J Immunol 185:7235–7243

- 89. Floess S, Freyer J, Siewert C, Baron U, Olek S, Polansky J, Schlawe K, Chang HD, Bopp T, Schmitt E et al (2007) Epigenetic control of the Foxp3 locus in regulatory T cells. PLoS Biol 5: e38
- Chen Q, Kim YC, Laurence A, Punkosdy GA, Shevach EM (2011) IL-2 controls the stability of Foxp3 expression in TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells in vivo. J Immunol 186:6329–6337
- 91. Koenecke C, Czeloth N, Bubke A, Schmitz S, Kissenpfennig A, Malissen B, Huehn J, Ganser A, Forster R, Prinz I (2009) Alloantigen-specific de novo-induced Foxp3+ Treg revert in vivo and do not protect from experimental GVHD. Eur J Immunol 39:3091–3096
- 92. Lu L, Ma J, Li Z, Lan Q, Chen M, Liu Y, Xia Z, Wang J, Han Y, Shi W et al (2011) All-trans retinoic acid promotes TGF-beta-induced Tregs via histone modification but not DNA demethylation on Foxp3 gene locus. PLoS One 6:e24590
- 93. Sauer S, Bruno L, Hertweck A, Finlay D, Leleu M, Spivakov M, Knight ZA, Cobb BS, Cantrell D, O'Connor E et al (2008) T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:7797–7802

Other Sources of IL-17: iNKT Cells

Marie-Laure Michel and Maria C. Leite-de-Moraes

Abstract Interleukin-17 (IL-17) plays a major role in various models of immunemediated tissue injury, including organ-specific autoimmunity, allergic disorders, and microbial infections. Th17 cells are currently the most thoroughly characterized source of IL-17 credited for causing and sustaining the tissue damage mediated by this cytokine. Similar to their Th1 and Th2 counterpart, Th17 cells depend on specific factors for their differentiation from naïve T cell precursors, before acquiring their typical cytokine profile. However, this is not the case for all IL-17-producing cells, particularly for a subset of iNKT cells, termed iNKT17, which are ready to produce this cytokine immediately upon stimulation, in keeping with their capacity to intervene during early stages of the inflammatory response.

Keywords iNKT cells • IL-17 • NK1.1 • CD1d • Inflammation • Autoimmunity • Asthma

Abbreviations

iNKT	Invariant natural killer T
IL	Interleukin
Th	T helper

M.-L. Michel

Peter Gorer Department of Immunobiology, King's College, London, UK

M.C. Leite-de-Moraes (🖂)

e-mail: maria.leite-de-moraes@parisdescartes.fr

CNRS (Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique) UMR (Unité Mixte de Recherche) 8147, Faculté de Médecine René Descartes, Paris V, Hôpital Necker, 161 rue de Sèvres, Paris, Cedex 15 75743, France

CNRS (Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique) UMR (Unité Mixte de Recherche) 8147, Faculté de Médecine René Descartes, Paris V, Hôpital Necker, 161 rue de Sèvres, Paris, Cedex 15 75743, France

α-GalCer	α -galactosylceramide
TCR	T cell receptor
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells
LPSs	Lipopolysaccharides

1 Introduction

Naïve CD4+ T lymphocytes proliferate and differentiate into two distinct effector subsets, T helper type 1 (Th1) and Th2 cells, characterized by their distinct cytokine profile. Th1 cells produce large amounts of interferon γ (IFN- γ), whereas Th2 cells are a source of interleukin 4 (IL-4), IL-5, and IL-13 [1]. Some years ago, a new effector population called Th17 has been identified by its capacity to produce IL-17A (or IL-17), IL-17 F, and IL-22 [2]. IL-17 is the founder member of this newly identified cytokine family composed of six proteins: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17 C, IL-17D, IL-17E (IL-25), and IL-17 F [3]. IL-17 is characterized by its potent proinflammatory action resulting from several pleiotropic activities, namely, the ability to induce pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) and chemokines (KC, MCP-1, and MCP-2), as well as proliferation, maturation, and chemotaxis of neutrophils that will ultimately mediate tissue infiltration and destruction. Th17 cells recognize peptide antigens (Ag) like their Th1 and Th2 counterparts. In contrast, a particular set of T cells can be stimulated specifically by lipids. The understanding of this latter mode of activation has been greatly improved by the discovery of CD1d-dependent Ag presentation pathways which enable T cells to recognize endogenous and foreign lipids, mainly glycolipids, and to participate in the onset and regulation of the immune response. Invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells are the most widely studied T cell population responding to this type of Ag presentation [4-6], raising the question whether they can produce IL-17 upon exposure to glycolipids. We have recently demonstrated that this is effectively the case for a particular subset of iNKT cells [7] that we will focus on in this chapter.

2 Natural Killer T Cells: Generalities

The term "natural killer T (NKT) cells" has initially been used to designate T lymphocytes expressing NK markers, such as NK1.1 (NKR-P1A or CD161). Later on, this population turned out to be quite heterogeneous, and it is now well established that it comprises several subsets with distinct functional capacities [4–6]. The most abundant and better characterized population expresses a highly restricted T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire composed of a single invariant V α 14J α 18 chain in mice and a V α 24J α 18 chain in humans, preferentially paired with limited TCR V β chains. These unconventional T cells have been termed "invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells." Their semi-invariant TCR reflects a positive selection by

glycolipid antigens presented by the non-polymorphic MHC class I-like molecule, CD1d. Among the CD1 family, which is composed of five members, namely, CD1a, b, c, d, and e, CD1d is the only one which is conserved in mice and humans [8]. Compared with classical MHC molecules, CD1d has a narrower and more hydrophobic groove that facilitates presentation of lipid and glycolipid molecules to T cells, mainly iNKT cells. This unconventional T cell population is most frequent in murine liver (10–40 % among the lymphocytes), but is also present in thymus, bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes, lungs, kidney, and blood [4–6, 9].

iNKT cells recognize a limited number of synthetic or naturally occurring α - and β -linked glycolipids bound to CD1d expressed on Ag-presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells (DCs) [4–6, 10, 11]. These CD1d-restricted Ags are believed to be generated during steady state conditions (for instance, in the thymus) but also in peripheral sites during injury, infection, and/or inflammation. The first glycolipid identified as a specific stimulant of iNKT cells was the α -galactosylceramide (α -GalCer), originally isolated from a marine sponge [12]. Until now, this molecule remains the most common tool for evaluating the functional capacities of iNKT cells. It has also been useful for the construction of the first CD1d tetramers, which provide the most sensitive and specific means to identify and purify iNKT cells [13].

The autoreactivity ascribed to iNKT cells prompted several investigators to search self-glycolipids. Isoglobotrihexosylceramide, lysosomal for а glycosphingolipid, has been claimed to be one of these natural endogenous ligands of CD1d-restricted T cells [14] followed by other endogenous glycolipids such as charged β -linked glucosylceramide(s) [15]. Most recently, it was reported that β -Dglucopyranosylceramide (β-GlcCer) was a potent iNKT cell self-antigen in mouse and human [**10**]. Exogenous lipids like galacturonic acid-containing glycosphingolipid from nonpathogenic Sphingomonas bacteria, but also from Borrelia burgdorferi spirochetes or Streptococcus pneumoniae, Gram-negative or Gram-positive bacteria responsible for Lyme disease or community-acquired pneumonia, respectively, are also potent iNKT cell activators [16-18]. These studies established that iNKT cells not only respond to antigens derived from pathogenic microbes but can recognize other classes of glycolipids, such as the galactosyl diacylglycerols from *B. burgdorferi* [17, 18]. Moreover, there is growing evidence that other microorganisms, including mycobacteria, Schistosoma sp., Leishmania sp., and Plasmodium sp., may also produce CD1d-restricted ligands capable of activating iNKT cells.

The interest in iNKT cells arose first from their unique capacity to produce simultaneously large amounts of both Th1 (IFN- γ) and Th2 (IL-4) cytokines conferring the ability to influence the outcome and/or the development of several inflammatory diseases. It turned out that iNKT cells are effectively implicated in tumor immunity, infections, autoimmune diseases, as well as allergic asthma. In most of these pathologies, iNKT cells play a protective role, even though in some cases, they can become deleterious. It is likely that this contrasting effect results from the cytokine profile generated by iNKT cells in each situation since IFN- γ production is required for their protective role in antitumor responses, while IL-4 is necessary for their detrimental effect in experimental allergic asthma [19–21].

These observations raise two fundamental questions, namely, (1) which factors induce the particular cytokine profile of iNKT cells that will lastly determine their influence on diverse pathologies, and (2) does the iNKT population inherently comprise distinct subsets with distinct cytokine profiles? There are some data in favor of either assumption since cytokines present in the microenvironment as well as specific ligands can shift the cytokine profile toward predominant IL-4 or IFN- γ production [22–24]. Moreover, it has been demonstrated in humans that CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ iNKT cells preferentially produce IL-4 and IFN- γ , respectively, supporting the existence of intrinsically distinct iNKT cell populations [5, 6, 25].

In this line of evidence, we have recently identified a particular subset of iNKT cells that generated high amounts of IL-17 together with low IL-4 and IFN- γ levels in response to both synthetic and physiological iNKT cell ligands [7]. Because of these functional characteristics, which differ from those shared by the majority of iNKT cells, we called this subset iNKT17 cells.

3 RORyt^{pos} iNKT IL-17-Producing Cells

The majority of iNKT cells express the NK1.1 marker and promptly produce high levels of both IL-4 and IFN- γ [7]. By contrast, we found that the capacity to produce high levels of IL-17 along with small amounts of IL-4 and IFN- γ , in response to both synthetic (α -GalCer or PBS-57) and natural ligands (lipopolysac-charides or glycolipids derived from *Sphingomonas sp.* and *Borrelia burgdorferi*), was associated exclusively with the iNKT cells that lack NK1.1 [7].

It has been reported that iNKT activation downregulates NK1.1 expression, raising the question whether iNKT NK1.1^{pos} and iNKT NK1.1^{neg} actually represent two functional subsets or two stages of activation. To address this issue, we tried to modify the cytokine profile of the NK1.1^{pos} and NK1.1^{neg} iNKT cells in culture conditions known for driving Th17 differentiation of naïve T cells. We could neither transform NK1.1^{pos} iNKT cells into IL-17-producing cells by culturing them in the presence of both TGF- β and IL-6 that are required for driving the differentiation of naïve mouse CD4 T cells into Th17 cells, nor did the addition of IL-23 that enhances IL-17 production by conventional T cells increase their IL-17 production, suggesting that NK1.1^{neg} and NK1.1^{pos} cells are indeed functionally distinct. In further support of this assumption, NK1.1^{neg} iNKT cells respond immediately to glycolipid stimulation by producing IL-17 without prior polarization, in contrast to conventional naïve T cells.

We used the lack of NK1.1 expression as a distinctive feature of peripheral IL-17-producing iNKT cells for their analysis and purification. The NK cell receptor protein 1 (NKR-P1) (NK1.1 or CD161) belongs to a family of type II transmembrane C-type lectin-like receptors. It is not clear how it affects the functional properties of iNKT cells, but according to recent reports, this marker is acquired during iNKT cell differentiation in the thymus and expressed by mature iNKT cells that produce IFN- γ [26]. Indeed, unlike conventional autoreactive T cells,

autoreactive iNKT cells are not deleted in the thymus but positively selected by CD1d molecules expressed by CD4⁺CD8⁺ cortical thymocytes. Moreover, cytokine analysis in NKT cell populations at intermediate differentiation stages between the NK1.1^{neg} and NK1.1^{pos} phenotype is in favor of Th2 to Th1 conversion since as they progress through the CD44^{low}NK1.1⁻, CD44^{high}NK1.1⁻, and CD44^{high}NK1.1⁺ stages, their IL-4:IFN- γ production ration decreases [26]. In the thymus, NK1.1⁻ iNKT cell precursors produce high levels of IL-4 and no IFN- γ . The expression of NK1.1 receptor and the capacity to produce IFN- γ are late events observed either in the thymus or after emigration into peripheral tissues [26]. Thus, it was important to determine whether iNKT17 cells exist in the thymus, whether the iNKT NK1.1⁻ precursors that produce IL-4 can also produce IL-17, or whether distinct cells produce these cytokines and, in this case, perform the phenotypic identification and functional characterization of developmental iNKT17 intermediates. We recently answered this question by reporting that a particular thymic iNKT cell subset produces IL-17 [27]. In fact, to address this issue, we assessed the functional capacities of iNKT cells sorted from the thymus at different phenotypically defined stages of differentiation. We show that IL-17 is massively produced by the CD44^{high}NK1.1^{neg}CD4^{neg} subset, which indicates that this faculty is encoded in the developmental program of thymic iNKT cell differentiation. Using an EGFP reporter mouse, we found that the ability to produce large amounts of IL-17 is conferred by the expression of ROR-yt (retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor yt) in thymic CD44^{high}NK1.1^{neg}CD4^{neg} iNKT cells. Hence, we demonstrated that the IL-17-producing iNKT cell subset (iNKT17 cells) derives from a new thymic pathway of differentiation (see Fig. 1) dependent on the transcription factor ROR γ t that, in contrast to the mainstream iNKT cell subset, is maintained in mature peripheral iNKT17 cells. Considering that NK1.1 expression may be modulated following iNKT cell activation, we proposed to use ROR γ t expression associated to CD1d-tetramer to better identify IL-17-producing iNKT cell subset.

4 IL-17-Producing iNKT Cells and Infections

IL-17-producing iNKT cells represent up to 10 % of iNKT cells in spleen and liver, while they account for at least 30 % of iNKT cells in lungs [7]. Their high frequency in the lung is consistent with a role in the natural immunity to inhaled antigens. Indeed, airway neutrophilia induced by α -GalCer or lipopolysaccharides (LPSs) instillation is significantly reduced in iNKT cell-deficient J α 18^{-/-} mice, which produced significantly less IL-17 in their bronchoalveolar lavage fluid than wild-type controls [7]. Furthermore, airway neutrophilia is abolished by a single treatment with neutralizing mAb against IL-17 before α -GalCer administration suggesting that this new population of IL-17-producing iNKT cells can contribute to neutrophil recruitment through preferential IL-17 secretion.

Both iNKT cells and IL-17 were implicated in several infection disorders suggesting that iNKT cells could represent at least one of the sources of this cytokine.



Two thymic pathways of iNKT cell differentiation

Fig. 1 Two thymic pathways of "invariant natural killer T" (iNKT) cell differentiation: (1) iNKT ROR γ t^{neg} cells: IL-4 and IFN- γ producers; (2) iNKT ROR γ t^{pos} cells: IL-17 producers

For instance, it was already demonstrated that IL-17 is critical for host defense against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and that protective immunity against this pathogen obtained by CpG ODN administration resulted in enhanced bacterial clearance in the lung and blood [28, 29]. In this model, a correlation exists between the higher numbers of pulmonary neutrophils, $\gamma\delta$ -T cells but also NKT cells, and the protection observed. However, it remains to be determined whether iNKT17 cells could be implicated in the protection afforded by CpG treatment. Knowing that iNKT cells can be indirectly stimulated by CpG to produce IFN- γ [15], it will be important to determine whether this or other TLR ligands can induce IL-17 production by iNKT cells. This is expected because we have already demonstrated that LPS, a TLR 4 ligand, can activate and induce IL-17 production by iNKT cells [7, 30].

5 IL-17-Producing iNKT Cells and Autoimmune Diseases

For several years, the Th1/Th2 paradigm has been used to explain the mechanisms implicated in T cell-mediated tissue damage. In fact, a coup of evidences supported the involvement of Th1 cells in the induction of autoimmune inflammation and tissue injury. However, some predictions of the Th1/Th2 hypothesis were erroneous, and the results were just the opposite [31], as, for instance, the supposed

harmful effect of IFN- γ on experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE). In fact, IFN- γ administration protected mice from this disorder, while EAE was worse following anti-IFN- γ treatment or in IFN- γ -deficient mice. Some incorrect conclusions were published probably because IL-23 was only identified in 2000 [32]. IL-23, which comprises the p40 subunit of the IL-12 but a different p19 subunit, does not induce Th1 but favors Th17 differentiation. Several recent reports demonstrated that Th17 cells are implicated in the severity of both EAE and CIA (collagen-induced arthritis). Since IFN- γ impairs Th17 differentiation, it is now accepted that the protective effect of IFN- γ treatment in EAE depends on its action on Th17 cells.

The implication of iNKT cells was also reported in these autoimmune pathologies. In fact, α -GalCer treatment ameliorates EAE induced by myelin basic protein in C57BL/6 mice, CIA, and also spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in NOD (nonobese diabetic) mice probably by shifting the immune response toward an anti-inflammatory Th2 type [4–6, 33]. In autoimmune diabetic NOD mice, it was reported a numerical and functional deficit in IL-4-producing iNKT cells [34] in parallel to an enhanced frequency of IL-17-producing iNKT cells [35]. The adoptive transfer of IL-17-producing iNKT cells enhanced the autoimmune severity in these mice [35], suggesting a balance between the protective and deleterious role of respectively IL-4- and IL-17-producing iNKT cell subsets in experimental autoimmune diabetes.

6 IL-17-Producing iNKT Cells and Asthma

Asthma is a heterogeneous and complex pathology associated or not with atopy. Consequently, diverse mechanisms have been proposed to explain the pathogenesis of various asthma phenotypes, and iNKT cells and IL-17 are potentially implicated in the severity of some phenotypes. iNKT cells were associated with asthma severity in experimental models, and these cells are present in the bronchoalveolar lavage of asthmatic patients [36]. It was also recently reported that IL-17 contributes to experimental allergic asthma [37]. In this pathology, the role of both IL-17 and iNKT cells is intriguing probably because allergic asthma is a Th2 inflammatory disease that also requires Th1-like inflammation in its onset in order to obtain the major asthma symptoms. IL-17-producing iNKT cells can induce airway neutrophilia, and it was reported that the presence of iNKT cells and the production of IL-17 were required for airway hyperreactivity (AHR) induced by repeated exposure of mice to ozone [38]. Thus, a better understanding of the role of IL-17-producing iNKT cells and the mechanisms by which these cells can influence the characteristic asthma symptoms is required in order to potentially lead to new approaches to inhibit asthma progression.

7 IL-17-Producing Human iNKT Cells

In mice, iNKT17 cells comprise a distinct lineage that retains ROR-yt expression during their development and does not express the NK1.1 marker and, contrary to conventional T cells, emigrate from the thymus fully capable to secrete IL-17 without polarization [7, 27]. We found that human IL-17-producing iNKT cells behave differently. Indeed, they originate from a lineage-committed precursor bearing the CD161 marker as human CD161+ iNKT cells. These CD161+ iNKT cells are intrinsically endowed with the capacity to secrete IL-17. However, in contrast to mouse iNKT cells, the capacity of human iNKT cells to secrete IL-17 requires the presence of TGF- β , IL-1 β , and IL-23 during the stimulation. Thus, it is possible that IL-17-producing iNKT cells could contribute to some inflammatory disorders, including inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs). Enhanced numbers of IL-17-producing T cells have been evidenced in the gut together with increased expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-23 in the intestinal mucosa of Crohn's disease (CD) patients. Among these T cells, we found that a fraction of iNKT cells from CD patients were capable of producing high levels of IL-17 without the exogenous addition of TGF- β , IL-1 β , and IL-23 [25]. These studies were performed in peripheral blood and are not necessarily representative of the in situ inflammation. Consequently, further studies using T lymphocytes from the inflammatory sites are required to determine the possible influence of IL-17producing iNKT cells in CD and other inflammatory disorders.

8 IL-17 Production by γδ T Cells

Although the study of IL-17 production by T cell has been focused on CD4⁺ $\alpha\beta$ Th17 cells, several reports have shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are also a major innate source of IL-17 [39], whose rapid response is implicated in host protection and the development of immunopathologies. Like iNKT cells, these are unconventional T lymphocytes with innate and adaptive properties, playing a crucial role in tissue immunosurveillance. They predominantly express recurrent families of TCR with reactivity to a small set of conserved self-structures. The specificity of most $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets remains nevertheless unclear, although they have a tendency to recognize stressed, activated, or transformed cells and are implicated in various infectious conditions. These cells acquire their functional properties, including IL-17 production, early in their thymic development, which allows rapid induction of their effector functions following the detection of tissue stress [40].

Recent studies demonstrated that TCR $\gamma \delta^+$ T cells were an important source of IL-17 in the lung of both *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *M. bovis* bacilli Calmette-Guérin-infected mice [41, 42], thus participating in the host defense against this mycobacterial infection. Moreover, in another model of host inflammation, after intraperitoneal infection with *Escherichia coli*, which also induces

neutrophil influx, IL-17 was rapidly generated by $\gamma\delta$ T cells, especially those bearing the V δ 1 chain [43]. It is noteworthy that the IL-17 production by resident peritoneal $\gamma\delta$ T cells occurred in response to IL-23 alone, suggesting that TCRmediated recognition of bacterial antigens followed by expansion is not required for this activity. This is an important point because it suggests that IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells can be triggered by TLR-mediated pathogen recognition that will induce IL-23 production by tissue-resident APCs (antigen-presenting cells) such as peritoneal macrophages. In this respect, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and iNKT17 cells are very similar because they both produce IL-17 after stimulation with LPS, a TLR-4 ligand, in the presence of APC [7].

In addition to their involvement in inflammatory responses in several models of infection, $\gamma\delta$ T cells can also contribute to the development of some autoimmune diseases such as CIA [44]. These T cells reside in the synovium of mice, and their proportion in the joints rises dramatically when mice develop CIA. However, the role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in this pathology is not clear since even though their depletion before immunization significantly delayed the onset of arthritis and diminished its severity, no major differences were observed in $\gamma\delta$ T cell-deficient mice. In contrast, depletion of $\gamma\delta$ T cells after immunization resulted in rapid and severe exacerbation of CIA. This differential effect on disease development could be explained by the intervention of two distinct $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets at different time points. In support of this conclusion, it has been reported that most of $V\gamma4 + V\delta4$ + but not $V\gamma1$ + T cells from draining lymph nodes produce IL-17, thereby increasing the severity of the disease [45].

9 Concluding Remarks

Recent studies have highlighted the phenotypic and functional diversity of IL-17producing cells. Even though most of these investigations dealt with Th17 cells, new sources of IL-17 such as iNKT and $\gamma\delta$ T cells should no longer be ignored. These innate cells can take part in the first line of host defense against pathogens, but in some cases they may facilitate the development of autoimmune diseases since they can also be stimulated by endogenous, still unidentified, antigens. Thus, the identification of these antigens that could be associated with tissue damage, cell stress, injury, and death will provide essential clues to the understanding of the immunoregulatory functions of these cells. By now, it is well established that iNKT cells respond to glycolipids rather than peptides, a mode of recognition, which provides new insights into the mechanisms through which the innate immune system controls certain pathologies. Another important point is that neither iNKT nor $\gamma\delta$ T cells depend on prior polarization to become IL-17 producers and that in some cases they can even be directly stimulated by cytokines like IL-23 to secrete IL-17.

The complex regulatory mechanisms involved in the control of infections, allergies, and autoimmunity are the object of an ever-increasing number of

investigations. The way in which IL-17 and its producer cells, namely, iNKT and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, are involved in these pathologies is the object of intensive research that will certainly provide new approaches to manipulate the immune system to prevent the development of these diseases or to attenuate their severity.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to E. Schneider and Adrien Hayday for helpful discussions and critical comments on this chapter.

References

- 1. Murphy KM, Reiner SL (2002) The lineage decisions of helper T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2:933–944
- 2. Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE (2007) IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol 25:821–852
- 3. Kolls JK, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467-476
- Lisbonne M, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2003) Invariant Valpha14 NKT lymphocytes: a doubleedged immuno-regulatory T cell population. Eur Cytokine Netw 14:4–14
- 5. Bendelac A, Savage PB, Teyton L (2007) The biology of NKT cells. Annu Rev Immunol 25:297–336
- Kronenberg M (2005) Toward an understanding of NKT cell biology: progress and paradoxes. Annu Rev Immunol 23:877–900
- Michel M-L, Castro Keller A, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage PB, Wong CH, Schneider E, Dy M, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1neg iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- 8. Barral DC, Brenner MB (2007) CD1 antigen presentation: how it works. Nat Rev Immunol 7:929–941
- Mesnard L, Keller AC, Michel ML, Vandermeersch S, Rafat C, Letavernier E, Tillet Y, Rondeau E, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2009) Invariant natural killer T cells and TGF-beta attenuate anti-GBM glomerulonephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 20:1282–1292
- Brennan P, Tatituri R, Brigl M, Kim E, Tuli A, Sanderson J, Gadola S, Hsu F, Besra G, Brenner M (2011) Invariant natural killer T cells recognize lipid self antigen induced by microbial danger signals. Nat Immunol 12:1202–1211
- Pellicci D, Clarke A, Patel O, Mallevaey T, Beddoe T, Le Nours J, Uldrich A, McCluskey J, Besra G, Porcelli S, Gapin L, Godfrey D, Rossjohn J (2011) Recognition of β-linked self glycolipids mediated by natural killer T cell antigen receptors. Nat Immunol 12:827–833
- Kawano T, Cui J, Koezuka Y, Toura I, Kaneko Y, Motoki K, Ueno H, Nakagawa R, Sato H, Kondo E, Koseki H, Taniguchi M (1997) CD1d-restricted and TCR-mediated activation of valpha14 NKT cells by glycosylceramides. Science 278:1626–1629
- Matsuda JL, Naidenko OV, Gapin L, Nakayama T, Taniguchi M, Wang CR, Koezuka Y, Kronenberg M (2000) Tracking the response of natural killer T cells to a glycolipid antigen using CD1d tetramers. J Exp Med 192:741–754
- 14. Zhou D, Mattner J, Cantu C 3rd, Schrantz N, Yin N, Gao Y, Sagiv Y, Hudspeth K, Wu YP, Yamashita T, Teneberg S, Wang D, Proia RL, Levery SB, Savage PB, Teyton L, Bendelac A (2004) Lysosomal glycosphingolipid recognition by NKT cells. Science 306:1786–1789
- 15. Paget C, Mallevaey T, Speak AO, Torres D, Fontaine J, Sheehan KC, Capron M, Ryffel B, Faveeuw C, Leite de Moraes M et al (2007) Activation of invariant NKT cells by toll-like receptor 9-stimulated dendritic cells requires type I interferon and charged glycosphingolipids. Immunity 27:597–609

- Kinjo Y, Wu D, Kim G, Xing GW, Poles MA, Ho DD, Tsuji M, Kawahara K, Wong CH, Kronenberg M (2005) Recognition of bacterial glycosphingolipids by natural killer T cells. Nature 434:520–525
- 17. Kinjo Y, Tupin E, Wu D, Fujio M, Garcia-Navarro R, Benhnia MR, Zajonc DM, Ben-Menachem G, Ainge GD, Painter GF et al (2006) Natural killer T cells recognize diacylglycerol antigens from pathogenic bacteria. Nat Immunol 7:978–986
- 18. Kinjo Y, Illarionov P, Vela JL, Pei B, Girardi E, Li X, Li Y, Imamura M, Kaneko Y, Okawara A, Miyazaki Y, Gómez-Velasco A, Rogers P, Dahesh S, Uchiyama S, Khurana A, Kawahara K, Yesilkaya H, Andrew PW, Wong CH, Kawakami K, Nizet V, Besra GS, Tsuji M, Zajonc DM, Kronenberg M (2011) Invariant natural killer T cells recognize glycolipids from pathogenic gram-positive bacteria. Nat Immunol 12:966–974
- Smyth MJ, Crowe NY, Pellicci DG, Kyparissoudis K, Kelly JM, Takeda K, Yagita H, Godfrey DI (2002) Sequential production of interferon-gamma by NK1.1(+) T cells and natural killer cells is essential for the antimetastatic effect of alpha-galactosylceramide. Blood 99:1259–1266
- 20. Akbari O, Stock P, Meyer E, Kronenberg M, Sidobre S, Nakayama T, Taniguchi M, Grusby MJ, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT (2003) Essential role of NKT cells producing IL-4 and IL-13 in the development of allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity. Nat Med 9:582–588
- 21. Lisbonne M, Diem S, de Castro Keller A, Lefort J, Araujo LM, Hachem P, Fourneau JM, Sidobre S, Kronenberg M, Taniguchi M et al (2003) Cutting edge: invariant V alpha 14 NKT cells are required for allergen-induced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in an experimental asthma model. J Immunol 171:1637–1641
- 22. Leite-De-Moraes MC, Moreau G, Arnould A, Machavoine F, Garcia C, Papiernik M, Dy M (1998) IL-4-producing NK T cells are biased towards IFN-gamma production by IL-12. Influence of the microenvironment on the functional capacities of NK T cells. Eur J Immunol 28:1507–1515
- 23. Leite-De-Moraes MC, Hameg A, Arnould A, Machavoine F, Koezuka Y, Schneider E, Herbelin A, Dy M (1999) A distinct IL-18-induced pathway to fully activate NK T lymphocytes independently from TCR engagement. J Immunol 163:5871–5876
- 24. Leite-De-Moraes MC, Hameg A, Pacilio M, Koezuka Y, Taniguchi M, Van Kaer L, Schneider E, Dy M, Herbelin A (2001) IL-18 enhances IL-4 production by ligand-activated NKT lymphocytes: a pro-Th2 effect of IL-18 exerted through NKT cells. J Immunol 166:945–951
- 25. Moreira-Teixeira L, Resende M, Coffre M, Devergne O, Herbeuval JP, Hermine O, Schneider E, Rogge L, Ruemmele FM, Dy M, Cordeiro-da-Silva A, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2011) Proinflammatory environment dictates the IL-17-producing capacity of human invariant NKT cells. J Immunol 186:5758–5765
- Benlagha K, Kyin T, Beavis A, Teyton L, Bendelac A (2002) A thymic precursor to the NK T cell lineage. Science 296:553–555
- Michel ML, Mendes-da-Cruz D, Keller AC, Lochner M, Schneider E, Dy M, Eberl G, Leitede-Moraes MC (2008) Critical role of ROR-gammat in a new thymic pathway leading to IL-17-producing invariant NKT cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:19845–19850
- Happel KI, Dubin PJ, Zheng M, Ghilardi N, Lockhart C, Quinton LJ, Odden AR, Shellito JE, Bagby GJ, Nelson S et al (2005) Divergent roles of IL-23 and IL-12 in host defense against *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. J Exp Med 202:761–769
- Deng JC, Moore TA, Newstead MW, Zeng X, Krieg AM, Standiford TJ (2004) CpG oligodeoxynucleotides stimulate protective innate immunity against pulmonary Klebsiella infection. J Immunol 173:5148–5155
- 30. Askenase PW, Itakura A, Leite-de-Moraes MC, Lisbonne M, Roongapinun S, Goldstein DR, Szczepanik M (2005) TLR-dependent IL-4 production by invariant Valpha14 + Jalpha18+ NKT cells to initiate contact sensitivity in vivo. J Immunol 175:6390–6401
- 31. Steinman L (2007) A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H) 2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. Nat Med 13:139–145

- 32. Oppmann B, Lesley R, Blom B, Timans JC, Xu Y, Hunte B, Vega F, Yu N, Wang J, Singh K et al (2000) Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. Immunity 13:715–725
- 33. Sharif S, Arreaza GA, Zucker P, Mi QS, Sondhi J, Naidenko OV, Kronenberg M, Koezuka Y, Delovitch TL, Gombert JM et al (2001) Activation of natural killer T cells by alpha-galactosylceramide treatment prevents the onset and recurrence of autoimmune Type 1 diabetes. Nat Med 7:1057–1062
- 34. Jain R, Tartar DM, Gregg RK, Divekar RD, Bell JJ, Lee HH, Yu P, Ellis JS, Hoeman CM, Franklin CL et al (2008) Innocuous IFNgamma induced by adjuvant-free antigen restores normoglycemia in NOD mice through inhibition of IL-17 production. J Exp Med 205:207–218
- 35. Simoni Y, Gautron AS, Beaudoin L, Bui LC, Michel ML, Coumoul X, Eberl G, Leite-de-Moraes M, Lehuen A (2011) NOD mice contain an elevated frequency of iNKT17 cells that exacerbate diabetes. Eur J Immunol 41:3574–3585
- 36. Pham-Thi N, de Blic J, Le Bourgeois M, Dy M, Scheinmann P, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2006) Enhanced frequency of immunoregulatory invariant natural killer T cells in the airways of children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:217–218
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725
- 38. Pichavant M, Goya S, Meyer EH, Johnston RA, Kim HY, Matangkasombut P, Zhu M, Iwakura Y, Savage PB, DeKruyff RH, Shore SA, Umetsu DT (2008) Ozone exposure in a mouse model induces airway hyperreactivity that requires the presence of natural killer T cells and IL-17. J Exp Med 205:385–393
- 39. Hamada S, Umemura M, Shiono T, Tanaka K, Yahagi A, Begum M, Oshiro K, Okamoto Y, Watanabe H, Kawakami K, Roark C, Born W, O'Brien R, Ikuta K, Ishikawa H, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Ohta T, Matsuzaki G (2008) IL-17A produced by gammadelta T cells plays a critical role in innate immunity against listeria monocytogenes infection in the liver. J Immunol 181:3456–3463
- 40. Hayday A (2009) Gammadelta T cells and the lymphoid stress-surveillance response. Immunity 31:184–196
- Lockhart E, Green AM, Flynn JL (2006) IL-17 production is dominated by gammadelta T cells rather than CD4 T cells during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Immunol 177:4662–4669
- 42. Umemura M, Yahagi A, Hamada S, Begum MD, Watanabe H, Kawakami K, Suda T, Sudo K, Nakae S, Iwakura Y et al (2007) IL-17-mediated regulation of innate and acquired immune response against pulmonary *Mycobacterium bovis* bacille Calmette-Guerin infection. J Immunol 178:3786–3796
- 43. Shibata K, Yamada H, Hara H, Kishihara K, Yoshikai Y (2007) Resident Vd1+ gd T cells control early infiltration of neutrophils after *Escherichia coli* infection via IL-17 Production. J Immunol 178:4466–4472
- 44. Peterman GM, Spencer C, Sperling AI, JA B (1993) Role of gamma delta T cells in murine collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 151:6546–6558
- 45. Roark CL, French JD, Taylor MA, Bendele AM, Born WK, O'Brien RL (2007) Exacerbation of collagen-induced arthritis by oligoclonal, IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells. J Immunol 179:5576–5583

Retinoic Acid in Mucosal Immune Regulation

Daniel Mucida and Hilde Cheroutre

Abstract The vitamin A metabolite, retinoic acid (RA), and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) are both abundantly produced in the gut and are known to play significant roles in a variety of developmental processes, including the differentiation of lymphocyte lineages. TGF- β mediates the direct inhibition of T_H1 and T_H2 cytokine polarization concomitant with the generation of regulatory T cells (Tregs), and paradoxically, along with inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, it also induces the differentiation of pro-inflammatory IL-17 producing CD4 helper T cells (T_H17). RA, in contrast, is able under certain conditions to stimulate T_H2 differentiation, and it is a profound inhibitor of IFN- γ synthesis. Additionally, RA has been shown to efficiently promote gut tropism. We described RA as a key modulator of TGF- β -driven immune deviation capable of suppressing T_H17 differentiation while promoting Foxp3⁺ Treg generation. More recently, RA signaling was also shown to be essential for efficient intestinal immune responses. Here we will discuss how RA can affect mucosal immune regulation.

Keywords TGF- β • Retinoic acid • Foxp3 • T_H17 • IL-6 • Mucosal immune regulation • Oral tolerance • Nuclear receptors

An effective immune regulation is a condition *sine qua non* for the gut physiology. The constantly stimulated gut mucosa generates distinct regulatory mechanisms that control the activation and migration of lymphocytes and also induce different types of regulatory DCs and T cells. In the last 25 years, it has become clear that antigen-presenting cells perform crucial functions in the generation of both optimal immune responses and immune regulation. Through the expression of tight junctions, epithelial-associated DCs are able to establish rigid contacts with the neighboring epithelial cells, while extending their dendrites to sample luminal

D. Mucida • H. Cheroutre (⊠)

La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, 9420 Athena Circle, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA e-mail: hilde@liai.org

Retinol (VitA)
$$\stackrel{ADH}{\longleftarrow}$$
 Retinal $\stackrel{RALDH}{\longrightarrow}$ Retinoic Acid

Scheme 1 *Production of retinoic acid.* Vitamin A is absorbed from the diet in the form of retinol, which is converted to retinal (RAL) through reversible catalytic process mediated by alcohol dehydrogenases (ADH). The irreversible conversion of retinal to RA is catalyzed by retinal dehydrogenases (RALDH)

antigens, including whole bacteria [1]. Intestinal lymphocytes, DCs, and epithelial cells constantly interact, and their cross talk is reinforced by cell surface receptorligand interactions, including expression of integrin $\alpha_E\beta7/E$ -cadherin and CD8 $\alpha\alpha/TL$ contact [2–4]. Both DCs and epithelial cells express Toll-like receptors (TLRs) that induce cellular activation and lead to the migration of DCs to regional lymph nodes, where they can present processed antigens to the naïve T cells.

Regarding their regulatory capacity, it was shown that antigen presentation by mucosal DCs in the MLN plays crucial roles in the development of oral tolerance, which can be defined as diminished systemic immune responses for an antigen previously contacted via the oral route [5]. Also, mucosal plasmacytoid $CD8\alpha\alpha^+$ DCs are inefficient at inducing CD4 T helper proliferation, but instead they can promote the differentiation of IL-10-producing CD4 cells [6]. In addition to their regulatory role, it was also demonstrated that mucosal DCs from mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) and Peyer's patches (PPs) are unique in their capacity of degrading vitamin A to generate retinoic acid (RA) [6] (Scheme 1). Vitamin A (or provitamin A carotenoids, such as beta-carotene) is absorbed from the diet in the form of retinol, which can be converted to retinal (RAL) through reversible catalytic process mediated by alcohol dehydrogenases (ADH). The subfamily of enzymes ADH is ubiquitously expressed in the body, but different classes of ADH present particular distribution. For instance, in the liver, the major storage site for vitamin A, both basic (class I) and acidic (class III) ADH, are expressed, while DCs from intestinal tissues express preferentially class II ADH [7]. The irreversible conversion of retinal to RA is catalyzed by retinal dehydrogenases (RALDH) [8].

Retinoic acid (RA) and TGF- β are both abundantly produced in the gut and are known to play significant roles in a variety of developmental processes, including the differentiation of lymphocyte lineages. TGF- β mediates the direct inhibition of T_H1 and T_H2 cytokine polarization concomitant with the generation of Tregs [9]. Although the so-called thymus-derived naturally occurring Treg cells (nTreg) are important for the control of a variety of autoimmune processes, it has been shown, using monoclonal nonself antigen-specific TCR transgenic mice (such as OVAspecific TCR transgenic mice) which lack nTreg, that peripheral *neoconverted* Foxp3⁺ Treg cells are efficient and sufficient for oral tolerance induction [10]. Additionally, blocking of TGF- β during feeding of the antigen (OVA) inhibited both the establishment of oral tolerance and the peripheral conversion of OVAinduced Treg cells [10]. RA, in contrast, is able under certain conditions to stimulate T_H2 differentiation, whereas it strongly inhibits IFN- γ synthesis [11]. More recent reports, however, have shown that RA can efficiently suppress both T_H1 and T_H2 differentiation in vitro [12, 13]. The RA produced by MLN, LP, and PPs DCs mediates upregulation of gutspecific molecules on the T cells they prime, such as integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and chemokine CCR9, which interact with MAdCAM-1 and CCL25, respectively, expressed on intestinal epithelium [7, 14–16]. Consistently, mice reared on vitamin A-deficient diet (VAD) have a severe decrease in the number of lamina propria (LP) immune cells in the intestine [7]. Additionally, RA is involved in both B cell IgA-class switching and migration to the LP of the intestine [17]. Interestingly, it was recently reported that HIV-1 envelop protein GP120 can bind to $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expressed by mucosal T cells or T cells previously exposed to RA [18]. It is not known however whether targeting $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression affects HIV-1 replication in vivo.

The functions of TGF- β and RA are also known to merge in a variety of biological processes, including embryogenesis, organ development, and carcinogenesis [19]. For example, TG-interacting factor (TGIF) is a transcriptional repressor common to the TGF- β and retinoic acid signaling pathways [20]. Moreover, mice with a deficiency in RALDH-2 die before birth with several developmental defects and reduced TGF- β 1 [21–23]. On the other hand, RA can also inhibit TGF- β -mediated effects, such as lung fibrosis [24].

Our recent finding and those of others showing that RA also plays a central role in directing the immunological functions of TGF- β expand the consequences of their interrelationship to the adaptive immune system as well [12, 25–30]. The abundant production of TGF- β and RA in the mucosa and the ability of RA to promote TGF- β -dependent Treg differentiation may thus be directly related to the increased frequency of Foxp3-expressing Treg cells in the LP in normal mice, oral tolerance induction, and therefore mucosal immune regulation [25, 27]. We presented evidence that the signaling through RA receptors may play an important role in the control of inflammation in the gut [25]. Using an infectious mouse model, we showed that exogenous RA inhibits the induction of T_H17 cells in vivo, whereas injection of RAR antagonists resulted in a decrease of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in the LP [25]. Whether the production of RA by mucosal DCs is crucial for the development of oral tolerance and for the conversion of naïve T cells into Foxp3⁺ Treg in the gut, as well as for the mucosal in situ control of T_H17 cells, is not yet known.

Two groups described that CD103⁺ DCs are the main population involved in the RA production. Coombes et al. showed that RA production by CD103⁺, but not CD103⁻ MLN DCs, efficiently converted naïve CD4⁺ T cells into FoxP3⁺ T cells in a TGF- β -dependent fashion [28]. Sun et al. described that while LP CD103⁺ DCs could induce Foxp3⁺ T cells in the absence of exogenous TGF- β , both CD103⁺ and CD103⁻ LP DC populations were highly efficient at inducing Treg cells in the presence of exogenous TGF- β , when compared to spleen DCs [27]. More recently, Denning et al. extended and added complexity to these findings. They reported that LP macrophages are potent regulatory APCs able to convert naïve T cells into Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in an IL-10-, RA-, and TGF- β -dependent manner. On the other hand, LP CD11b⁺CD11c⁺ cells are highly pro-inflammatory, inducing high levels of IL-17-producing T cells but few Tregs. It was also reported that CD11b⁻ CD11c⁺ cells express high levels of CD103. Although this population induces much lower levels of T_H17 cells as compared to the CD11b⁺ DCs, they could not

find any increased ability to induce Tregs [31]. Therefore, the diversity of mucosal APCs is more extended and more complex than previously appreciated.

Our study shows that RA signaling through RAR receptors in the T cell blocks the inhibitory effects of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, on the TGF- β mediated Foxp3 induction. Although a report suggests that RA works indirectly, by antagonizing inhibitory effects of inflammatory cytokines [32], a series of studies demonstrated a direct role of RA signaling in promoting Foxp3 induction [33, 34]. Similarly to the RA and TGF- β interactions, several studies have shown that RA may synergize or antagonize with IL-6 signaling or production [17, 24, 35]. Moreover, RA has been shown to improve clinical symptoms and reduce the levels of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, TNF- α , and IFN- γ in a model of arthritis [36], an autoimmune disease shown to correlate with increased production of IL-17 [37]. Finally, we showed that RA directly inhibits retinoic acid orphan receptor gamma T (ROR γ t) which is involved in T_H17 differentiation [38]. It is not known, however, whether RA antagonistic effects on IL-6 signaling extend to the recently described IL-21 pathway of T_H17 differentiation [39–41].

Despite these early evidences, the assumption that RA has only broad, antiinflammatory effects on immune responses has been recently challenged. Uematsu and coworkers have suggested that production of RA by CD11c^{hi}CD11b^{hi} LP DCs, when stimulated by the TLR5-ligand flagellin, promoted, rather than suppressed, a modest differentiation of antigen-specific Th17 and Th1 cells, suggesting that innate stimuli may induce contrasting effects of RA on either DCs or T cells [42]. This idea was elegantly explored by DePaolo and coworkers, demonstrating that RA, in the presence of IL-15, has synergistic effects on differentiation and function of inflammatory DCs, leading to enhanced pathological responses and *coeliac* disease-like inflammation [43]. Additionally, using a model of Toxoplasma gondii infection, Hall et al. have recently suggested that RAR α signaling is actually required for development of efficient Th1/Th17 intestinal immune responses, inferring a general role of the RA pathway in adaptive immune responses [44]. Although the dose of RA has been suggested to play a crucial role in determining its effects, the literature is still elusive regarding this issue. Physiological doses such as 1–2.5 nM of RA [25, 35] or even spontaneous RA release from (mesenteric lymph node) MLN DCs [25] have been shown to suppress Th17 cell development in vitro. Nevertheless, the contrasting results obtained using exogenous RA and mice deficient in RA receptors require further investigation [35, 44]. These results demonstrate how one metabolite may have strikingly different effects depending on microenvironment milieu and cell target of this metabolite. They also point out how deleterious are the consequences when the robust mechanisms of tolerance induction in the mucosal surfaces are broken.

The transcription factors STAT5 and STAT3 have been shown to be important for the transcription of Foxp3 and IL-17, respectively [29, 38, 45]. The enhanced expression of Foxp3 in the presence of RA suggests a potential relationship between STAT5 and RARs in a similar fashion as the cooperation between STAT3 and RORγt. It is therefore perhaps not a coincidence that RORγt displays strong homology with the RARs and also appears to function in the context of transcriptional activators and repressors [46]. STAT5 and RARs have even been shown to physically interact in vivo to promote RAR-mediated transcription [47]. In addition, the STAT5 consensus binding site directly overlaps with a RARresponse element which may lead to coordinated transcription activity rather than competition for the same site [47]. The cooperation between STAT5 and RARs results in STAT5-enhanced responsiveness of the RARs to RA-induced transcription of target genes [47]. It was further demonstrated that RAR and STAT5 can bind the same repressor of transcription, SMRT, which can be released by RA [48]. The RA-mediated effects made in our study may thus reflect the intense communication between the STAT and RAR families of transcription factors, which has not been explored for the differentiation of T lymphocytes. Using high amounts of blocking anti-IL-2 antibody and IL-2-deficient mice, we found that IL-2 signaling could play an important role in the reciprocal regulation of TH17 and Treg differentiation mediated by RA, although the direct effects of RA and IL-2 appear distinct [25]. However, using similar in vitro approaches, another study suggested that both STAT3 and STAT5 are not required for this RA-mediated regulation [12]. Another finding reported that, similarly to IL-6, the T_H2 cytokine IL-4 can also inhibit TGF- β -mediated Foxp3 induction, via activation of STAT6 which binds to and represses the Foxp3 promoter. Interestingly, RA could reverse this IL-4-mediated effect on Foxp3 expression by activating RAR α /RXR α heterodimers, which bind to the same region of the Foxp3 promoter and induce chromatin remodeling therefore reversing the silencing capacity of STAT6 on Foxp3 induction [13]. It is also possible that RA may synergize with Smads that act downstream of TGF-B receptor signaling and/or with the transcription factor Runx3, which is involved in the induction of CD103 expression and which physically interacts with Smads to cooperate in TGF-βmediated signaling [49].

The immune regulatory mechanism we have delineated has particular relevance for the mucosal immune system. The intestinal mucosa forms the largest surface that is exposed to microbes, innocuous and pathogenic, and diet proteins and also houses the largest proportion of lymphocytes that in physiological conditions have an immune quiescent state [50]. Therefore, an improper balance between inflammatory and suppressive immunity can jeopardize mucosal homeostasis. The abundant production of RA by the intestinal epithelium and dendritic cells, and the dominance of RA over IL-6 in controlling the effects of TGF- β , may account for the predominance of Foxp3⁺ T cells in the intestine, allowing tolerance to prevail in the face of the extensive microbial load. Under inflammatory conditions, however, both RA and TGF- β may help busting protective immune responses.

References

 Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R et al (2001) Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. Nat Immunol 2:361–367

- Leishman AJ, Naidenko OV, Attinger A, Koning F, Lena CJ, Xiong Y et al (2001) T cell responses modulated through interaction between CD8alphaalpha and the nonclassical MHC class I molecule, TL. Science 294:1936–1939
- 3. Hershberg R, Eghtesady P, Sydora B, Brorson K, Cheroutre H, Modlin R et al (1990) Expression of the thymus leukemia antigen in mouse intestinal epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:9727–9731
- 4. Cheroutre H (2005) IELs: enforcing law and order in the court of the intestinal epithelium. Immunol Rev 206:114–131
- Worbs T, Bode U, Yan S, Hoffmann MW, Hintzen G, Bernhardt G et al (2006) Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. J Exp Med 203:519–527
- Bilsborough J, George TC, Norment A, Viney JL (2003) Mucosal CD8alpha + DC, with a plasmacytoid phenotype, induce differentiation and support function of T cells with regulatory properties. Immunology 108:481–492
- Iwata M, Hirakiyama A, Eshima Y, Kagechika H, Kato C, Song SY (2004) Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. Immunity 21:527–538
- Clagett-Dame M, DeLuca HF (2002) The role of vitamin A in mammalian reproduction and embryonic development. Annu Rev Nutr 22:347–381
- 9. Li MO, Wan YY, Sanjabi S, Robertson AK, Flavell RA (2006) Transforming growth factorbeta regulation of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 24:99–146
- Mucida D, Kutchukhidze N, Erazo A, Russo M, Lafaille JJ, Curotto de Lafaille MA (2005) Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Tregs. J Clin Invest 115:1923–1933
- Cantorna MT, Nashold FE, Hayes CE (1994) In vitamin A deficiency multiple mechanisms establish a regulatory T helper cell imbalance with excess Th1 and insufficient Th2 function. J Immunol 152:1515–1522
- Elias KM, Laurence A, Davidson TS, Stephens G, Kanno Y, Shevach EM et al (2007) Retinoic acid inhibits Th17 polarization and enhances FoxP3 expression through a Stat-3/Stat-5 independent signaling pathway. Blood 111:1013
- 13. Takaki H, Ichiyama K, Koga K, Chinen T, Takaesu G, Sugiyama Y et al (2008) STAT6 inhibits TGF-beta 1-mediated Foxp3 induction through direct binding to the Foxp3 promoter, which is reverted by retinoic acid receptor. J Biol Chem 283:14955
- Mora JR, Bono MR, Manjunath N, Weninger W, Cavanagh LL, Rosemblatt M et al (2003) Selective imprinting of gut-homing T cells by Peyer's patch dendritic cells. Nature 424:88–93
- 15. Papadakis KA, Landers C, Prehn J, Kouroumalis EA, Moreno ST, Gutierrez-Ramos JC et al (2003) CC chemokine receptor 9 expression defines a subset of peripheral blood lymphocytes with mucosal T cell phenotype and Th1 or T-regulatory 1 cytokine profile. J Immunol 171:159–165
- 16. Svensson M, Marsal J, Ericsson A, Carramolino L, Broden T, Marquez G et al (2002) CCL25 mediates the localization of recently activated CD8alphabeta(+) lymphocytes to the smallintestinal mucosa. J Clin Invest 110:1113–1121
- Mora JR, Iwata M, Eksteen B, Song SY, Junt T, Senman B et al (2006) Generation of guthoming IgA-secreting B cells by intestinal dendritic cells. Science 314:1157–1160
- 18. Arthos J, Cicala C, Martinelli E, Macleod K, Van Ryk D, Wei D, Xiao Z, Veenstra TD, Conrad TP, Lempicki RA, McLaughlin S, Pascuccio M, Gopaul R, McNally J, Cruz CC, Censoplano N, Chung E, Reitano KN, Kottilil S, Goode DJ, Fauci AS. (2008) HIV-1 envelope protein binds to and signals through integrin alpha4beta7, the gutmucosal homing receptor for peripheral T cells. Nat Immunol 9(3):301–309. Epub 2008 Feb 10. PubMed PMID: 18264102
- 19. Roberts AB, Sporn MB (1992) Mechanistic interrelationships between two superfamilies: the steroid/retinoid receptors and transforming growth factor-beta. Cancer Surv 14:205–220
- Bartholin L, Powers SE, Melhuish TA, Lasse S, Weinstein M, Wotton D (2006) TGIF inhibits retinoid signaling. Mol Cell Biol 26:990–1001

- Vermot J, Gallego Llamas J, Fraulob V, Niederreither K, Chambon P, Dolle P (2005) Retinoic acid controls the bilateral symmetry of somite formation in the mouse embryo. Science 308:563–566
- 22. Niederreither K, Subbarayan V, Dolle P, Chambon P (1999) Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. Nat Genet 21:444–448
- 23. Bohnsack BL, Lai L, Dolle P, Hirschi KK (2004) Signaling hierarchy downstream of retinoic acid that independently regulates vascular remodeling and endothelial cell proliferation. Genes Dev 18:1345–1358
- 24. Tabata C, Kubo H, Tabata R, Wada M, Sakuma K, Ichikawa M et al (2006) All-trans retinoic acid modulates radiation-induced proliferation of lung fibroblasts via IL-6/IL-6R system. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 290:L597–L606
- Mucida D, Park Y, Kim G, Turovskaya O, Scott I, Kronenberg M et al (2007) Reciprocal TH17 and regulatory T cell differentiation mediated by retinoic acid. Science 317:256–260
- 26. Benson MJ, Pino-Lagos K, Rosemblatt M, Noelle RJ (2007) All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of costimulation. J Exp Med 204:1765–1774
- Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR et al (2007) Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 Treg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 204:1775–1785
- Coombes JL, Siddiqui KR, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Hall J, Sun CM, Belkaid Y et al (2007) A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J Exp Med 204:1757–1764
- 29. Yang XO, Panopoulos AD, Nurieva R, Chang SH, Wang D, Watowich SS et al (2007) STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. J Biol Chem 282:9358–9363
- 30. Denning TL, Granger SW, Mucida D, Graddy R, Leclercq G, Zhang W et al (2007) Mouse TCRalphabeta + CD8alphaalpha intraepithelial lymphocytes express genes that downregulate their antigen reactivity and suppress immune responses. J Immunol 178:4230–4239
- Denning TL, Wang YC, Patel SR, Williams IR, Pulendran B (2007) Lamina propria macrophages and dendritic cells differentially induce regulatory and interleukin 17-producing T cell responses. Nat Immunol 8:1086–1094
- 32. Hill JA, Hall JA, Sun CM, Cai Q, Ghyselinck N, Chambon P et al (2008) Retinoic acid enhances Foxp3 induction indirectly by relieving inhibition from CD4⁺CD44^{hi} cells. Immunity 29:758–770
- Mucida D, Pino-Lagos K, Kim G, Nowak E, Benson MJ, Kronenberg M et al (2009) Retinoic acid can directly promote TGF-beta-mediated Foxp3(+) Treg cell conversion of naive T cells. Immunity 30:471–472, author reply 2–3
- 34. Xu L, Kitani A, Stuelten C, McGrady G, Fuss I, Strober W (2010) Positive and negative transcriptional regulation of the Foxp3 gene is mediated by access and binding of the Smad3 protein to enhancer I. Immunity 33:313–325
- 35. Nolting J, Daniel C, Reuter S, Stuelten C, Li P, Sucov H et al (2009) Retinoic acid can enhance conversion of naive into regulatory T cells independently of secreted cytokines. J Exp Med 206:2131–2139
- Nozaki Y, Yamagata T, Sugiyama M, Ikoma S, Kinoshita K, Funauchi M (2006) Antiinflammatory effect of all-trans-retinoic acid in inflammatory arthritis. Clin Immunol 119:272–279
- 37. Hirota K, Hashimoto M, Yoshitomi H, Tanaka S, Nomura T, Yamaguchi T et al (2007) T cell self-reactivity forms a cytokine milieu for spontaneous development of IL-17+ Th cells that cause autoimmune arthritis. J Exp Med 204:41–47
- 38. Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ et al (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17(+) T helper cells. Cell 126:1121–1133

- 39. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB et al (2007) IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce pro-inflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature 448:480
- 40. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L et al (2007) Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 448:480
- 41. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR. (2007) IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol 8(9):967–974
- 42. Uematsu S, Fujimoto K, Jang MH, Yang BG, Jung YJ, Nishiyama M et al (2008) Regulation of humoral and cellular gut immunity by lamina propria dendritic cells expressing Toll-like receptor 5. Nat Immunol 9:769–776
- 43. Depaolo RW, Abadie V, Tang F, Fehlner-Peach H, Hall JA, Wang W et al (2011) Co-adjuvant effects of retinoic acid and IL-15 induce inflammatory immunity to dietary antigens. Nature 471:220
- 44. Hall JA, Cannons JL, Grainger JR, Dos Santos LM, Hand TW, Naik S et al (2011) Essential role for retinoic acid in the promotion of CD4(+) T cell effector responses via retinoic acid receptor alpha. Immunity 34:435–447
- 45. Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z et al (2007) Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. Immunity 26:371–381
- Winoto A, Littman DR (2002) Nuclear hormone receptors in T lymphocytes. Cell 109(Suppl): S57–S66
- 47. Si J, Collins SJ (2002) IL-3-induced enhancement of retinoic acid receptor activity is mediated through Stat5, which physically associates with retinoic acid receptors in an IL-3-dependent manner. Blood 100:4401–4409
- Nakajima H, Brindle PK, Handa M, Ihle JN (2001) Functional interaction of STAT5 and nuclear receptor co-repressor SMRT: implications in negative regulation of STAT5-dependent transcription. Embo J 20:6836–6844
- 49. Yarmus M, Woolf E, Bernstein Y, Fainaru O, Negreanu V, Levanon D et al (2006) Groucho/ transducin-like enhancer-of-split (TLE)-dependent and -independent transcriptional regulation by Runx3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:7384–7389
- 50. Cheroutre H (2004) Starting at the beginning: new perspectives on the biology of mucosal T cells. Annu Rev Immunol 22:217–246

Part II Experimental Models of Disease

Critical Role of IL-17 in Experimental Arthritis

Marije I. Koenders and Wim B. van den Berg

Abstract Since the discovery of IL-17 expression in synovial fluid and biopsies in RA patients, the role of this proinflammatory T cell cytokine in arthritis has been extensively studied using animal models of arthritis. In this chapter, an overview is given of the most important publications elucidating the role of IL-17 in the onset and the progression of experimental arthritis. IL-17 is essential for normal T and B cell development but is also locally involved in the arthritic process, enhancing the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. IL-17 also contributes to joint destruction directly by upregulation of MMPs and stimulating osteoclastogenesis through RANKL induction. The recently discovered Th17 cell is regarded as the main source of IL-17, and the influence of IL-12/IL-23 and other mediators in experimental arthritis will be discussed.

Keywords IL-17 • Animal models • Experimental arthritis

1 Introduction

Experimental models of arthritis and the use of gene-knockout mice, neutralizing antibodies, and overexpression of genes by viral vectors have helped us to position IL-17 in the process of joint inflammation and destruction. The recent discovery of the Th17 cell and new cytokines modulating these IL-17-producing T cells caused quite some turbulence in the scientific world and has resulted in a tremendous comeback of IL-17 in research. This IL-17 hype, more than 10 years after the discovery of the cytokine, has resulted in a wave of new IL-17 papers. To save you from drowning, this chapter provides an overview of the most important

M.I. Koenders • W.B. van den Berg (🖂)

Rheumatology Research and Advanced Therapeutics, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Center, PO Box 9101, 6500 HB Nijmegen, The Netherlands e-mail: w.vandenberg@reuma.umcn.nl

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17*, *IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_9, © Springer Basel 2013

publications elucidating the role of IL-17 in the onset and the progression of experimental arthritis. Finally, we summarize some recent findings on factors that drive or inhibit the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells, like IL-12/IL-23, IL-6, IL-21, and IL-27, and will discuss the potential therapeutic value of these mediators.

2 IL-17 in Development of Experimental Arthritis

IL-17 is a T cell-derived cytokine, a player of the adaptive immunity. Therefore, it was not surprising that a nonimmune macrophage-driven arthritis model was not affected in IL-17 receptor-deficient mice. To induce an acute arthritis, IL-17R-/mice were intra-articularly injected with fragments of Streptococcal cell wall (SCW) into the knee, and subsequently the IL-17R-deficient mice developed inflammation and cartilage proteoglycan depletion comparable to wild-type controls [1]. In contrast to acute, nonimmune inflammation, IL-17 does play a role in the development of chronic, immune arthritis. IL-17-deficient mice showed a suppressed onset and severity of the collagen-induced arthritis model [2]. This suppressed development of CIA was caused by impaired collagen-specific T cell responses and collagen-specific IgG2a production during IL-17 deficiency. An important role for IL-17 was also demonstrated in the spontaneous arthritis development in IL-1Ra-/- mice. IL-17 production was markedly enhanced in T cells from IL-1Ra-/- mice, and development of arthritis in IL-1Ra-/- mice was completely suppressed by a deficiency of IL-17 [3]. Also in this model, IL-17 played a crucial role in antigen-specific T cell priming, as shown ex vivo by using IL-17-/- T cells from DO11.10 mice that carry an ovalbumin (OVA)-specific T cell receptor.

Neutralization of IL-17 prior to the development of experimental arthritis is another approach to proof the role of IL-17 in the onset of disease. Blocking endogenous IL-17 at expected onset of CIA suppressed the arthritis incidence and reduced inflammation scores and bone erosion [4]. Blocking the role of IL-17 at this stage of arthritis development did no longer affect T cell immunity, since no differences in T cell responses to murine collagen peptides were found. Also during rat antigen-induced arthritis, treatment with interleukin-17 receptor IgG1 Fc fusion protein suppressed arthritis development and severity, while synovial CD3+ T cell numbers in these rats were not significantly changed by the anti-IL-17 treatment [5]. These two blocking studies demonstrate that IL-17, although initially important for antigen-specific T and B cell responses, is also directly involved in the process of joint inflammation and destruction. The effect of anti-IL-17 treatment did not seem to affect T cell responses, but the IL-17/- mice data suggest that prolonged absence of IL-17 signaling might have great effects on (antigen-specific) adaptive immunity.

Fig. 1 Pathological effects of IL-17 during experimental arthritis

Interleukin-17 (IL-17) Cytokines: Chemokines: Enzymes: - MMP-3 - 11 -1 - KC/IL-8 - MIP-1a - MMP-9 - TNEa - MMP-13 - IL-6 / - RANKL Chemotavis of Ť neutrophils and macrophages Generation of osteoclasts ¥ Bone Cartilage destruction Inflammation destruction

3 IL-17: Inducer and Accelerator of Inflammation and Destruction

3.1 Overexpression of IL-17 Induces Joint Pathology

IL-17 is a proinflammatory cytokine that induces the production of other cytokines like IL-1, TNF, and IL-6 (Fig. 1). Overexpression of IL-17 in a naive knee joint using recombinant protein or adenoviral vectors causes inflammation and cartilage proteoglycan depletion [6, 7]. The IL-17-induced joint inflammation is first characterized by influx of neutrophils, mainly caused by the expression of KC, the murine homologue of the chemokine IL-8. The effect of IL-17 in a naïve joint is completely dependent on TNF, since TNF-deficient mice were completely protected against IL-17-induced pathology [7]. In contrast, IL-1/- mice showed inflammation and PG depletion comparable to wild-type controls.

Besides its effect on inflammation via the induction of cytokines and chemokines, IL-17 also promotes cartilage destruction (Fig. 1). IL-17 alone is not a very potent inducer of cartilage destruction, but in synergy with TNF, IL-17 induces cartilage damage in vitro [8]. Because of these strong synergistic effects of IL-17 with TNF but also with IL-1, it has been suggested that blocking of IL-17 in combination with anti-TNF treatment might be more effective than blocking one of these cytokines alone [9]. The therapeutic effect of such a combination blocking was recently shown in collagen-induced arthritis, where neutralizing IL-17 in addition to TNF further improved protection against joint damage and was even effective during late-stage disease [10]. Also when IL-17 is overexpressed during an established arthritis, IL-17 contributes to aggravation of chondrocyte death and cartilage surface erosions [4, 7]. IL-17 enhances the expression of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-3, MMP-9, and MMP-13, and although IL-1 plays an important catabolic role in experimental arthritis, IL-1/- studies have shown that IL-17 can mediate cartilage destruction independent of IL-1 [4, 11].

IL-17 also has the potential to cause bone erosion via the induction of RANKL (Fig. 1). Local IL-17 gene transfer, especially during CIA, causes marked bone erosion, accompanied by an increase of RANKL and RANK expression in the synovium [12]. The enhanced osteoclast activity caused by IL-17 could be inhibited by OPG treatment, thereby restoring the RANKL/OPG balance.

3.2 Blocking Endogenous IL-17 During Experimental Arthritis

Overexpression studies showed the potential of IL-17 to cause joint inflammation and destruction during arthritis, but only blocking of endogenous IL-17 could elucidate the contribution of this cytokine to the arthritic process. Neutralizing IL-17 after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduced joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion [13]. This anti-IL-17 treatment resulted in reduced serum IL-6 levels and less synovial IL-1 and RANKL expression. Even late after onset, blocking was still significantly effective. Joint inflammation and cartilage destruction were also markedly suppressed in IL-17R-/- mice during the chronic SCW arthritis. In this arthritis model, mice receive repetitive intra-articular injections with fragments of Streptococcal cell wall (SCW). The arthritis starts as an acute arthritis and after multiple injections with antigen gradually progresses into a chronic, destructive arthritis with contribution of antigen-specific T and B cells. While the arthritis became more severe after each weekly injection, reduced pathology and suppressed IL-1 and MMP expression were found in IL-17R-/- mice [1]. In comparison to CIA and chronic SCW arthritis, the role of IL-17 in progression of arthritis was even more prominent in the IL-1Ra-/- mice and in mice during AIA flares. IL-1Ra-/- mice, which spontaneously develop arthritis at the age of 6-8 weeks, already have increased numbers of IL-17-positive T cells before the onset of arthritis, and systemic IL-17 levels correlate to age and arthritis severity. Blocking of IL-17 in this arthritis model prevented further progression of joint inflammation and destruction [14]. During antigen-induced arthritis, anti-IL-17 treatment administered shortly before the flare completely prevented cell influx and suppressed the local expression of IL-1, TNF, and RANKL [15]. In this strongly T cell-driven AIA-flare model, the anti-IL-17 treatment seemed far more powerful than during collagen-induced arthritis or in arthritic IL-1Ra-/- mice. These findings suggest that, depending on the degree of T cell involvement of the arthritis model, IL-17 plays an important role in the progression of experimental arthritis and contributes to joint inflammation as well as destruction of cartilage and bone.

4 Manipulating the Role of IL-17-Producing Th17 Cells in Experimental Arthritis

4.1 IL-12 and IL-23: Similar Structure, Opposite Effects

The Th1-driving cytokine IL-12 is a heterodimer that consists of two subunits, the IL-12p35 and the IL-12p40 subunit. IL-23 shares the p40 subunit with IL-12 and in addition has its own unique IL-23p19 subunit. Despite the structural homology between IL-12 and IL-23, these cytokines have clear opposite effect on T cells (Fig. 2). IL-23 was found to stimulate memory T cells to produce IL-17, while



Fig. 2 Cytokines influencing T cell differentiation and maturation

IL-12 decreased IL-17 levels [16]. Without the knowledge of Th17 that time, Murphy et al. studied arthritis in mice lacking only IL-12 (p35-/-) or IL-23 (p19-/-). In this study, it was demonstrated that IL-23 deficiency was protective, whereas loss of IL-12 exacerbated collagen-induced arthritis [17]. While IL-17producing CD4+ T cells were absent in IL-23p19-/- mice, IL-12p35-/- mice developed more IL-17+ T cells. Also in the spontaneous arthritis in IL-1Ra-/- mice, increased IL-23 expression increases the production of IL-17. IL-23 enhances IL-17 secretion directly, by increasing the IL-17 production via STAT3 phosphorylation and activation of the NF κ B pathway in CD4+ T cells, but also indirectly, by inducing the expression of the costimulatory molecule OX40 on CD4⁺ T cells [18]. The position of IL-23 upstream of IL-17 suggests that targeting IL-23 could be an interesting approach in the treatment of RA.

4.2 IFN_Y Restrains IL-17 Production

Not only studies on the Th1-promoting cytokine IL-12 but also on its downstream mediator interferon- γ (IFN γ) have shown that Th1 cells negatively influence

IL-17-producing T cells. In the past, when arthritis was considered a Th1-mediated disease, a lack of IFN γ paradoxically enhanced collagen-induced arthritis [19]. The discovery of Th17 cells led to the rejection of this Th1 concept, and with IFNy-/mice and anti-IFN γ antibodies, it was demonstrated that this Th1 cytokine suppresses IL-17 production during experimental arthritis [20] but also inhibits the expansion of Th cells [21]. Interestingly, DBA-1 mice which are prone to collagen-induced arthritis have more Th17 and less Th1 cells compared to the resistant B6 mouse strain, indicating that the Th1/Th17 balance could be a crucial factor in the susceptibility for arthritis. However, the suppressive effect of IFN γ on IL-17 production does not mean that IFN γ and Th1 are not contributing to arthritis. On the contrary, in proteoglycan-induced arthritis (PGIA), severe arthritis is dependent on the production of IFN γ and is independent of IL-17 [22]. In addition, also IL-17 + IFN γ + T cells are found in the arthritic joint during experimental arthritis (Mariinissen and Koenders, manuscript in preparation). Both Th1 and Th17 as well as double-positive Th1/17 cells therefore might contribute to the arthritic process, and the cytokine environment seems to have a great influence on the balance of Th cell subset that will be found at the site of joint pathology.

4.3 IL-4: Directly or Indirectly Suppressing IL-17 Secretion

Not only the Th1-related cytokines IL-12 and IFN γ but also the Th2 cytokine IL-4 influences IL-17 expression during arthritis. During collagen-induced arthritis, severe bone erosions could be prevented by IL-4 gene therapy [23]. Local IL-4 overexpression suppressed IL-17 and RANKL expression in the synovium and inhibited the formation of osteoclast-like cells but could also prevent collagen type I breakdown in human bone explants directly. Targeting IL-17 via genetically modified murine dendritic cells that secrete IL-4 led to similar findings [24]. IL-4-transduced DCs expressed higher levels of IL-12p35 mRNA, but lower levels of IL-23p19 and the common subunit p40. These IL-4-DCs also secreted increased quantities of IFN γ . Since blocking of IL-12, IL-23, or IFN γ in co-cultures of IL-4-DCs plus T cells caused only modest changes in IL-17 production, IL-4 itself might also play an important role in directly suppressing IL-17 production.

4.4 IL-6, a Pleiotropic Cytokine Influencing Th17 Development

IL-6 is a pleiotropic proinflammatory cytokine involved in many processes like acute phase response, fever, and osteoclast formation. Recently it was demonstrated by multiple groups that IL-6 is also involved in murine Th17 differentiation in vitro. IL-6 and TGF β together induced the differentiation of Th17 cells from naive T cells (Fig. 2), thereby inhibiting the generation of TGF β -induced Treg cells. Although the exact role of IL-6/TGF β is still subject of debate, also in experimental arthritis

models, a role for IL-6 in IL-17 production was demonstrated. The SKG mice spontaneously develop autoimmune arthritis due to a ZAP70 mutation that results in high numbers of self-reactive T cells. In this Th17-driven model, IL-17 deficiency completely abrogated this model, whereas IFN γ deficiency exacerbated arthritis [25]. IL-6-deficient SKG mice completely lacked IL-17+ T cells and did not develop arthritis, which indicates that IL-6 is crucial for in vivo development of Th17 cells. Also in antigen-induced arthritis, IL-6 deficiency resulted in less IL-17 production, fewer osteoclasts, and reduced arthritis severity [26]. In clinical trials, the anti-IL-6 receptor monoclonal antibody has demonstrated to improve the signs and symptoms of RA. Although improvement was found in lots of clinical and biological parameters, it is not yet known whether this clinical efficacy of blocking IL-6 signaling can also partially be attributed to inhibiting Th17 development.

4.5 Enhanced T Cell Activation by IL-15

Similar as with IL-6, also for IL-15, the first clinical trials with a neutralizing antibody have shown promising results in the treatment of RA. IL-15 regulates T and NK cell activation and proliferation and also directly stimulates IL-17 production by T cells. Blocking of IL-15 during collagen-induced arthritis suppresses incidence and severity of arthritis [27, 28]. IL-15 deficiency slightly decreased incidence and severity of arthritis, while IL-15 transgenic mice showed increased arthritis [29]. Both IFN γ and IL-17 levels were reduced by inhibition of IL-15 signaling, whereas the levels of antigen-specific IFN γ and IL-17 production were significantly higher in IL-15 transgenic mice compared to WT mice. These data suggest that IL-15 not only contributes to the progression of experimental arthritis by affecting Th17 but more generally by enhancing T cell activation and/or proliferation, including IFN γ -producing Th1.

4.6 New Kids on the Block: IL-21, IL-22, and IL-27

One of the effects of IL-15 is the induction of IL-21. IL-21 is a T cell-derived cytokine that modulates T cell, B cell, and natural killer cell responses. Blocking of IL-21 during collagen-induced arthritis and rat adjuvant arthritis reduced the clinical and histological signs of arthritis [30]. Interestingly, treatment with this murine IL-21 receptor Fc fusion protein resulted in enhanced expression of IFN γ in the paws and lymph node cultures, whereas antigen-specific IL-17 production was suppressed. In this chapter, the role of IL-21 in Th balances was not yet suggested, but recently IL-21 was described as an autocrine Th17 factor that promotes or sustains Th17 lineage commitment (Fig. 2). IL-21 was shown to induce Th17 differentiation of both human and murine naïve CD4+ T cells in the presence of

TGF β [31–33]. Blocking of IL-21 therefore leads to abrogated Th17 differentiation, suggesting an interesting therapeutic approach for RA targeting upstream of IL-17.

IL-22 is a novel cytokine of the IL-10 family that is preferentially produced by Th17 cells, and IL-23 or IL-6 can directly induce the production of IL-22 from naive T cells. Anti-IL-22 treatment in arthritic IL-1Ra-deficient mice resulted in reduced joint inflammation and destruction [34], and in psoriasis-like skin inflammation, it was demonstrated that blocking of IL-22 suppressed development of disease and reduced Th17 cytokine expression [35]. However, the proinflammatory role of IL-22 in other autoimmune diseases is still subject of debate, since IL-22 deficiency during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis showed that IL-22 was not involved in the pathogenesis of EAE [36].

IL-27, the latest member of the IL-12 family, is produced by antigen-presenting cells in response to IFN γ . This IL-12 family member seems to have a conflicting role in immunity, having both proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory properties. IL-27 contributes to Th1 cell development by increasing the IL-12-responsiveness of naïve T cells, upregulation of the Th1 transcription factor T-bet, and downregulation of the Th2 transcription factor GATA-3 (Fig. 2). On the other hand, IL-27 has anti-inflammatory properties, since it suppresses the development of IL-17-producing T cells (Fig. 2) and induces the production of IL-10 by effector T cells in vitro. The role of IL-27 has also been investigated in various arthritis models. In rat adjuvant arthritis, anti-IL-27 antibodies provided protection against severe arthritis accompanied by suppressed IFN γ production [37]. In the IFN γ dependent proteoglycan-induced arthritis, IL-27R deficiency resulted in delayed development of arthritis and suppressed severity [38]. The knee joints of these IL-27R-/- mice not only have reduced expression of IFNγ, but also IL-17 expression was suppressed. These in vivo data only partially confirm the previous in vitro findings: blocking of IL-27 indeed suppressed the Th1 response, but did not lead to the expected enhancement of Th17 development.

Although not all Th17-related cytokines have been studied extensively in arthritis models, other autoimmune models like the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) have shown great predictive value in the past with respect to involvement of IL-17, IL-12, and IL-23 in experimental arthritis. The balance of all these T cell-modulating cytokines seems to be critical in determining the differentiation of naive T helper cells into the various T cell subsets. Disturbance of this balance could be the trigger to development of arthritis but can also be the driving force for the progression of arthritis. An elegant study in IL-1Ra-/-xTLR-4-deficient mice showed that despite similar disease incidence, TLR-4 deficiency resulted in suppressed arthritis severity in the chronic phase of arthritis [39]. TLR4 ligands, probably endogenous factors generated by inflammation and tissue damage, promoted the progressive joint pathology by driving increased numbers and activation of Th17 cells through induction of IL-1 and IL-23 (Fig. 3). Therefore, not only T cell-modulating cytokines but also TLRs could be interesting targets to inhibit the contribution of the IL-17-producing Th17 cells in arthritis.



References

- Koenders MI, Kolls JK, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Joosten LA, Schurr JR, Schwarzenberger P, van den Berg WB, Lubberts E (2005) Interleukin-17 receptor deficiency results in impaired synovial expression of interleukin-1 and matrix metalloproteinases 3, 9, and 13 and prevents cartilage destruction during chronic reactivated streptococcal cell wallinduced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 52:3239–3247
- Nakae S, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2003) Suppression of immune induction of collageninduced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. J Immunol 171:6173–6177
- Nakae S, Saijo S, Horai R, Sudo K, Mori S, Iwakura Y (2003) IL-17 production from activated T cells is required for the spontaneous development of destructive arthritis in mice deficient in IL-1 receptor antagonist. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:5986–5990
- 4. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, Oppers B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Kolls JK, Schwarzenberger P, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB (2001) IL-1-independent role of IL-17 in synovial inflammation and joint destruction during collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 167:1004–1013
- Bush KA, Farmer KM, Walker JS, Kirkham BW (2002) Reduction of joint inflammation and bone erosion in rat adjuvant arthritis by treatment with interleukin-17 receptor IgG1 Fc fusion protein. Arthritis Rheum 46:802–805
- 6. Dudler J, Renggli-Zulliger N, Busso N, Lotz M, So A (2000) Effect of interleukin 17 on proteoglycan degradation in murine knee joints. Ann Rheum Dis 59:529–532
- Koenders MI, Lubberts E, van de Loo FA, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Kolls JK, Di Padova FE, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2006) Interleukin-17 acts independently of TNF-alpha under arthritic conditions. J Immunol 176:6262–6269
- Van Bezooijen RL, van der Wee-Pals L, Papapoulos SE, Löwik CW (2002) Interleukin 17 synergises with tumour necrosis factor alpha to induce cartilage destruction in vitro. Ann Rheum Dis 61:870–876
- Chabaud M, Miossec P (2001) The combination of tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade with interleukin-1 and interleukin-17 blockade is more effective for controlling synovial inflammation and bone resorption in an ex vivo model. Arthritis Rheum 44:1293–1303
- 10. Koenders MI, Marijnissen RJ, Devesa I, Lubberts E, Joosten LA, Roth J, van Lent PL, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB (2011) Tumor necrosis factor-interleukin-17 interplay induces S100A8, interleukin-1β, and matrix metalloproteinases, and drives irreversible cartilage destruction in murine arthritis: rationale for combination treatment during arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 63:2329–2339
- Koenders MI, Lubberts E, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Kolls JK, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2005) Induction of cartilage damage by overexpression of

T cell interleukin-17A in experimental arthritis in mice deficient in interleukin-1. Arthritis Rheum 52:975–983

- Lubberts E, van den Bersselaar L, Oppers-Walgreen B, Schwarzenberger P, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Kolls JK, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2003) IL-17 promotes bone erosion in murine collagen-induced arthritis through loss of the receptor activator of NF-kappa B ligand/ osteoprotegerin balance. J Immunol 170:2655–2662
- 13. Lubberts E, Koenders MI, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJ, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2004) Treatment with a neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. Arthritis Rheum 50:650–659
- 14. Koenders MI, Devesa I, Marijnissen RJ, Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Boots AM, Walgreen B, di Padova FE, Nicklin MJ, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2008) Interleukin-1 drives pathogenic Th17 cells during spontaneous arthritis in interleukin-1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice. Arthritis Rheum 58:3461–3470
- 15. Koenders MI, Lubberts E, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Di Padova FE, Boots AM, Gram H, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2005) Blocking of interleukin-17 during reactivation of experimental arthritis prevents joint inflammation and bone erosion by decreasing RANKL and interleukin-1. Am J Pathol 167:141–149
- Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278:1910–1914
- Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ (2003) Divergent pro- and anti-inflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 198:1951–1957
- 18. Cho ML, Kang JW, Moon YM, Nam HJ, Jhun JY, Heo SB, Jin HT, Min SY, Ju JH, Park KS et al (2006) STAT3 and NF-kappaB signal pathway is required for IL-23-mediated IL-17 production in spontaneous arthritis animal model IL-1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice. J Immunol 176:5652–5661
- 19. Guedez YB, Whittington KB, Clayton JL, Joosten LA, van de Loo FA, van den Berg WB, Rosloniec EF (2001) Genetic ablation of interferon-gamma up-regulates interleukin-1beta expression and enables the elicitation of collagen-induced arthritis in a non-susceptible mouse strain. Arthritis Rheum 44:2413–2424
- Chu CQ, Swart D, Alcorn D, Tocker J, Elkon KB (2007) Interferon-gamma regulates susceptibility to collagen-induced arthritis through suppression of interleukin-17. Arthritis Rheum 56:1145–1151
- Irmler IM, Gajda M, Bräuer R (2007) Exacerbation of antigen-induced arthritis in IFNgamma-deficient mice as a result of unrestricted IL-17 response. J Immunol 179:6228–6236
- Glant TT, Finnegan A, Mikecz K (2003) Proteoglycan-induced arthritis: immune regulation, cellular mechanisms, and genetics. Crit Rev Immunol 23:199–250
- 23. Lubberts E, Joosten LA, Chabaud M, van Den Bersselaar L, Oppers B, Coenen-De Roo CJ, Richards CD, Miossec P, van Den Berg WB (2000) IL-4 gene therapy for collagen arthritis suppresses synovial IL-17 and osteoprotegerin ligand and prevents bone erosion. J Clin Invest 105:1697–1710
- 24. Sarkar S, Tesmer LA, Hindnavis V, Endres JL, Fox DA (2007) Interleukin-17 as a molecular target in immune-mediated arthritis: immunoregulatory properties of genetically modified murine dendritic cells that secrete interleukin-4. Arthritis Rheum 56:89–100
- 25. Hirota K, Hashimoto M, Yoshitomi H, Tanaka S, Nomura T, Yamaguchi T, Iwakura Y, Sakaguchi N, Sakaguchi S (2007) T cell self-reactivity forms a cytokine milieu for spontaneous development of IL-17+ Th cells that cause autoimmune arthritis. J Exp Med 204:41–47
- 26. Wong PK, Quinn JM, Sims NA, van Nieuwenhuijze A, Campbell IK, Wicks IP (2006) Interleukin-6 modulates production of T lymphocyte-derived cytokines in antigen-induced arthritis and drives inflammation-induced osteoclastogenesis. Arthritis Rheum 54:158–168
- Ruchatz H, Leung BP, Wei XQ, McInnes IB, Liew FY (1998) Soluble IL-15 receptor alphachain administration prevents murine collagen-induced arthritis: a role for IL-15 in development of antigen-induced immunopathology. J Immunol 160:5654–5660
- Ferrari-Lacraz S, Zanelli E, Neuberg M, Donskoy E, Kim YS, Zheng XX, Hancock WW, Maslinski W, Li XC, Strom TB, Moll T (2004) Targeting IL-15 receptor-bearing cells with an antagonist mutant IL-15/Fc protein prevents disease development and progression in murine collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 173:5818–5826
- Yoshihara K, Yamada H, Hori A, Yajima T, Kubo C, Yoshikai Y (2007) IL-15 exacerbates collagen-induced arthritis with an enhanced CD4+ T cell response to produce IL-17. Eur J Immunol 37:2744–2752
- 30. Young DA, Hegen M, Ma HL, Whitters MJ, Albert LM, Lowe L, Senices M, Wu PW, Sibley B, Leathurby Y, Brown TP, Nickerson-Nutter C, Keith JC Jr, Collins M (2007) Blockade of the interleukin-21/interleukin-21 receptor pathway ameliorates disease in animal models of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 56:1152–1163
- 31. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Dong C (2007) Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 448:480–483
- 32. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jäger A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2007) IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature 448:484–487
- Yang L, Anderson DE, Baecher-Allan C, Hastings WD, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK, Hafler DA (2008) IL-21 and TGF-beta are required for differentiation of human T(H)17 cells. Nature 454:350–352
- 34. Marijnissen RJ, Koenders MI, Smeets RL, Stappers MH, Nickerson-Nutter C, Joosten LA, Boots AM, van den Berg WB (2011) Increased expression of interleukin-22 by synovial Th17 cells during late stages of murine experimental arthritis is controlled by interleukin-1 and enhances bone degradation. Arthritis Rheum 63:2939–2948
- 35. Ma HL, Liang S, Li J, Napierata L, Brown T, Benoit S, Senices M, Gill D, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Nickerson-Nutter C, Fouser LA, Young DA (2008) IL-22 is required for Th17 cell-mediated pathology in a mouse model of psoriasis-like skin inflammation. J Clin Invest 118:597–607
- 36. Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, Heppner FL, Renauld JC, Becher B (2007) IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 179:8098–8104
- 37. Goldberg R, Wildbaum G, Zohar Y, Maor G, Karin N (2004) Suppression of ongoing adjuvant-induced arthritis by neutralizing the function of the p28 subunit of IL-27. J Immunol 173:1171–1178
- Cao Y, Doodes PD, Glant TT, Finnegan A (2008) IL-27 induces a Th1 immune response and susceptibility to experimental arthritis. J Immunol 180:922–930
- 39. Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Joosten LA, Koenders MI, Devesa I, Roelofs MF, Radstake TR, Heuvelmans-Jacobs M, Akira S, Nicklin MJ, Ribeiro-Dias F, van den Berg WB (2008) Stimulation of TLR2 and TLR4 differentially skews the balance of T cells in a mouse model of arthritis. J Clin Invest 118:205–216

Dual Role of Th17 Cytokines, IL-17A,F, and IL-22 in Allergic Asthma

Bruno Schnyder and Silvia Schnyder-Candrian

Abstract The proinflammatory role of T helper (Th) 17 cells and therefore of its cytokines, IL-17 (IL-17A), IL-17F, and IL-22, in autoimmune disorders has been favored, although there is evidence that not only IL-17A but also IL-17F and IL-22 have a dual role as negative regulators. Here we review the concept of the dual function of IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in the light of recent strategies to use neutralization of these cytokines as potential alternative to neutralizing TNF and IL-1 treatments in chronic inflammatory disorders. Expectedly, in allergic lung inflammation, neutralization of IL-17A inhibited neutrophil recruitment. However, this IL-17A antibody treatment concomitantly increased eosinophil recruitment by neutralizing IL-17A's dual role as negative regulator. IL-17A negatively regulated dendritic cell function and activation of T helper cell (Th)2 cytokine production. Furthermore, IL-17A inhibited Th2-characteristic chemokine and adhesion molecule expression. On a mechanistic level, IL-17A acted on $I\kappa B-\beta$ by preventing degradation and in turn leading to reduced NF-κB activation or IL-17A inhibited transcription factor IRF-1. Therefore, anti-IL-17A therapy, although presenting a promising lead in chronic inflammatory disorders, bears a potential risk of exacerbating allergic asthma.

1 IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 Production by Antigen-Specific T Helper Th17 Cells Inhibits Th2 Response

Interleukin-17A (IL-17A, aka IL-17) is the founding member of a multimember cytokine family consisting of IL-17A to IL-17F [1]. It forms homodimers containing five highly conserved cysteine residues forming a cysteine knot.

B. Schnyder • S. Schnyder-Candrian (🖂)

HES-SO, University of Applied Science, Sion, Switzerland e-mail: sil.schnyder@bluewin.ch

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_10, © Springer Basel 2013

IL-17A and IL-17F homodimers and IL-17F/IL-17A heterodimer transduce their signals through the receptor composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC [2, 3].

IL-17A and IL-17F are produced by the memory T cells termed Th17, a T helper cell lineage distinct from Th1 and Th2 cells, which is negatively regulated by interferon- γ and IL-4 [4, 5]. Unchecked activation of Th17 cells by IL-23 is linked to chronic inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) and type II collagen-induced arthritis, two heretofore prototypical "Th1" disease models [6, 7].

The IL-23-Th17 cell axis has been implicated to contribute to the allergic Th2 response [8]; for review, see [9]. IL-23 as well as the co-expressed Th17 cells cytokines IL-17A and IL-22 [10] is found in the lung of allergic patients [11–13] and in lung homogenates of ovalbumin (OVA)-sensitized and challenged mice [8, 14]. In vitro production of IL-17A and IL-22 was triggered with IL-23 and even further enhanced in the presence of OVA, in cultures of mediastinal lymph node (MLN) cells isolated from antigen OVA-sensitized and challenged mice [8, 14]. Therefore, the role of IL-17A and IL-22 was addressed in the allergic response.

IL-17A was indeed required during antigen sensitization to develop a Th2 response in allergic asthma, as shown in IL-17R-deficient mice [8]. Neutralization of IL-17A, however in this model, augmented the allergic response, while recombinant IL-17A administration reduced pulmonary eosinophil recruitment and bronchial hyperreactivity. Recombinant IL-17A reduced eosinophil-chemokine eotaxin (CCL11) and thymus- and activation-regulated chemokine (TARC/CCL17) in lungs in vivo, and antigen uptake by dendritic cells and IL-5 and IL-13 production in regional lymph nodes were also reduced by recombinant IL-17A [8]. These findings demonstrated a novel negative regulatory role of IL-17A. A beneficial role of IL-17A has been confirmed in the model of chronic fungal-induced asthma. In this model, the protective role of TLR6 was dependent on IL-23 and the production of IL-17A. TLR6 deficient mice showed reduced IL-23 and IL-17A expression and an exacerbated Th2 response, which was normalized by addition of recombinant IL-23 which recovered the IL-17A production [15]. Furthermore, Murdoch and Lloyd provide evidence in the model of acute allergen-induced response that the $\gamma \delta T$ cell-dependent normalization of lung function and resolution of inflammation was dependent on the production of IL-17 [16]. Therefore, endogenous IL-17A has a dual role. While it is essential during antigen sensitization to establish allergic Th2 response, in sensitized mice IL-17A attenuates the Th2 response.

A new role as negative regulator of antigen-driven Th2 response was ascribed for IL-17F. IL-17F dampened antigen activation of DCs resulting in a reduced Th2 response and reduced inflammation [14]. These findings may provide a possible explanation why Yang and colleagues found an increased allergic response in IL-17F-deficient mice [17].

IL-22, similar to IL-17A [7, 18–20], has been found in diseased tissues from patients with different chronic inflammatory diseases, involving infiltrating activated T cells, such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, inflammatory bowel disease, and COPD [21–25]. IL-22 is expressed by IL-9-activated mast cell and by Th17 cells initiated by TGF- β in the context of IL-6 and other proinflammatory

cytokines [10]. IL-22 is increased in lung homogenates of OVA-sensitized and challenged mice [14]. Neutralization of endogenous IL-22 in OVA-sensitized mice increased the eosinophilic response [14], whereas administration of recombinant IL-22 attenuated the acute allergic response [26, 27].

These data provide evidence that IL-17A,F and IL-22 besides their inflammatory role have a negative regulatory function in allergic lung inflammation.

2 Increasing Evidence Supports This Novel Role of IL-17A and IL-22 as Down Modulators of a Committed Immune Response

It has in the past abundantly been described that full acquisition of pathogenic function in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) by effector Th17 cells is mediated by IL-23. However, as shown most recently, stimulation of the myelin-reactive T cells with TGF β plus IL-6, instead of IL-23, completely abrogated their pathogenic function despite upregulation of IL-17A production [28]. These regulatory Th17 cells failed to upregulate the proinflammatory chemokines crucial for central nervous system inflammation. In contrast, the regulatory Th17 cells produced IL-10, which had potent anti-inflammatory activities. This study by Cua's group [28] did not show whether IL-17A directly conveyed negative regulation of inflammation, which was rather due to co-expressed IL-10 in EAE. Several experimental approaches listed below have indeed demonstrated direct inhibitory functions of recombinant and endogenously produced IL-17A in vitro and in vivo. Furthermore, an IL-17A-induced expression of the anti-inflammatory IL-10 has been demonstrated in macrophages, yet IL-17A has moderate effects on monocytes and macrophages [29].

First, expression of recombinant murine IL-17A in *Vaccinia* virus increased viral virulence significantly in mice [30], suggesting that IL-17A negatively regulated the antiviral host defense. Second, administration of recombinant IL-17A ameliorated and negatively regulated the late phase of experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), a model of peripheral nerve demyelination [31]. Third, in vitro studies provided possible mechanisms of how IL-17A acts as a suppressor. IL-17A inhibited the chemokines RANTES (CCL5), Fractalkine (CX3CL1), and CTACK (CCL27) [32–34] and the mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule VCAM-1 in TNF-activated mesenchymal cells [35]. Fractalkine, CTACK, RANTES, and VCAM-1 are involved in inflammatory responses of both Th1 and Th2 types. RANTES and VCAM-1 are essential in the recruitment of mononuclear cells, and VCAM-1 is involved in the formation of germinal centers (present in autoimmunity). Therefore, existence of the novel negative regulatory role of IL-17A needs to be revisited in multiple inflammatory and immune disorders.

Revisiting the role of IL-17A in multiple immune responses would help address the question as to whether IL-17A acts like a regulatory T cell (Treg) cytokine such as TGF β or IL-10, which reduces allergic pulmonary challenges as well as vast T

cell responses [36–38]. Indeed, in initial experiments IL-17A was described as a Treg cytokine in cell cultures, inhibiting vast T cell responses [36, 39]. Furthermore, Treg cells and TGF β promote under proinflammatory conditions the development of Th17 cells and production of IL-17A [40]. Therefore, IL-17A as a downmodulator of the dendritic cells and Th2 response provides evidence for a novel feedback mechanism by which Treg cells may control a Th2 response in the effector phase of allergic asthma.

Protective role of IL-22 has also been ascribed in other models than allergic lung inflammation. IL-22 provided protection to hepatocytes during acute liver inflammation [41] and protected against ConA- or tetrachloride-induced liver injury [42]. Second, delivery of IL-22-Ig fusion gene ameliorated experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM) in rats [43]. Third, local IL-22 gene delivery led to rapid amelioration of intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis, and conversely, inhibition of IL-22 activity by local overexpression of its antagonist, IL-22 binding protein, prevented recovery and goblet cell restitution in acute colitis (DSS) [44]. Therefore, even though IL-22 is an upregulator of proinflammatory gene expression and has proinflammatory function, there is growing evidence that IL-22 has, similar to IL-17A, a protective role in inflammatory diseases such as colitis, EAE, and allergic lung inflammation.

3 Excess Endogenous IL-17A and IL-22 Production in the Absence of IL-4 Signals In Vitro and In Vivo

IL-17A production is induced by TGF β in a proinflammatory milieu, including presence of IL-6, IL-1, or TNF, and its production is sustained by IL-23. In contrast, IL-17A production is inhibited by IL-4, IFN γ , IL-25 (IL-17E), or IL-27. In lungs, IL-17A has been shown to originate from antigen-specific Th17 cells as well as from an iNKT subpopulation, which is NK1.1 negative [45]. In an allergic lung response, IL-17A production was induced by IL-23 and controlled by IL-4 receptor signaling [8]. In mice lacking IL-4 responsiveness, IL-17A was overproduced correlating with reduced effector functions of allergic asthma. The inhibition of the Th2 response was indeed ascribed to endogenous IL-17A, as assessed using IL-17A neutralizing antibody treatment in vivo.

In the absence of IL-4 responsiveness, not only IL-17A but also IL-22 production was significantly increased upon allergen challenge, and similar to IL-17A, inhibition of endogenous IL-22 by neutralizing antibodies increased the allergic response, indicating that both IL-17A and IL-22 contribute to the inhibition of the Th2 response.

This increase in IL-17A and IL-22 in the absence of IL-4 responsiveness was not due to differences in IL-23 concentrations since pulmonary OVA-induced IL-23 concentrations are equal in IL-4R α KO and WT mice [8]. Therefore, the IL-4 signals affect directly IL-22 and IL-17 production and do not act on IL-23

production [8]. However, the molecular mechanism of IL-22 expression, being either IL-23 dependent or independent, in allergic lung inflammation needs to be investigated in future experiments.

Neutrophil involvement has been ascribed to both infectious disease and allergic inflammation [46–48]. In allergy, neutrophil recruitment is in part due to endogenous IL-17 [8, 49], but not due to IL-22, since neutralization of IL-22 did not diminish neutrophil but increase recruitment in the allergic response. This is in line with a previous report, which demonstrated that IL-22 alone and in synergy with IL-10 decreased IL-8 production by human alveolar epithelial cell lines [50].

Therefore, a novel mechanism of how IL-4 promotes a Th2 response was proposed, by suppression of the novel suppressor molecules IL-17A and IL-22. This added a novel function of IL-4 to the list of its proallergic effects, including differentiation of Th2 lymphocytes, inhibition of T lymphocyte apoptosis, induction of IgE production, promotion of eosinophil transmigration into the lungs, mucus hypersecretion, and bronchoconstriction [8, 51–53].

4 Molecular Mechanism of Negative Regulatory IL-17A and IL-22 Effects

On a mechanistic level, IL-17A elicits dual effects and reportedly promotes expression of proinflammatory (hemopoietic, CXC-chemokines, acute phase) factors [54, 55], whereas it inhibits the production of mononuclear cell recruiting molecules like TNF-induced VCAM-1 and CC-chemokine RANTES [35]. This dual effect of IL-17A in human cell cultures predicted a reduced mechanism of mononuclear cell recruitment in vivo. CC-type chemokines RANTES (CCL5), TARC (CCL17) and eotaxin (CCL11) were induced by antigen OVA in vivo. TARC primarily attracts CCR4-positive Th2 cells. IL-17A reduced TARC production, which correlated with reduced lymphocyte counts and Th2-derived IL-5 concentrations in lung tissues. The expression of the major eosinophil attractant, eotaxin, was also reduced by IL-17A and accompanied by reduced eosinophil infiltration in the airways. Indeed, reductions or absence of these CC chemokines reportedly ablates allergic asthma [56–58]. Therefore, diminished cell attraction seems to be the pivotal mechanism of how IL-17A attenuates the allergic inflammation.

Further IL-17A effects like acute phase IL-6 and prostaglandin (PG)E2 elevations may also have corroborated to reduce locally the allergic inflammation in the lungs. IL-6 elevations inhibited aeroallergen-induced Th2 inflammation [59, 60]. PGE2 elevations reduced pulmonary allergy specifically via the E3 receptor [61]. Therefore, while IL-17A may upregulate negative regulators IL-6 and PGE2, it has a direct inhibitory effect on the local production of Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 in the lung and regional lymph nodes [8]. Mechanistically, IL-17A inhibits dendritic cell activation and antigen uptake, which leads to reduced activation of T cells and reduced IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5 production, resulting in reduced allergic response.

However, the inhibition of the Th2 response by IL-17A represented a reduction rather than a complete blockade. Intact anti-allergen IgE concentrations in the circulation may explain why IL-17A did not completely block but rather reduced pulmonary allergy and asthma. Elevated IgE concentrations reportedly correlate with and contribute to allergic reactions [62], although it is not sufficient for the development of allergy. Therefore, IL-17A acts as negative regulator of established Th2 response locally in lungs.

In the experimental models of allergic lung inflammation, IL-22 dampened the hallmarks of an allergic Th2 response in vivo, by inhibition of DCs and their expression of co-stimulatory molecules upon antigen treatment [14]. IL-22 attenuates further the allergic response by inhibiting the induction of TARC (CCL17), IL-13 and IL-25 as shown in vivo [26, 27]. In vitro, IL-22 prevented TNF- α /IL-13-induced TARC and IL-13 production in murine Clara cells [26] and IL-25 production in the lung epithelial cell line MLE-15 induced by IL-1 β or LPS [27]. Therefore, these data corroborate that IL-22 not only has a negative regulatory function in experimental models of autoimmunity, and inflamed liver and colon but also in established Th2 response in the lung.

5 High Efficiency of Inhibitory Function of IL-17A In Vivo and In Vitro

Intranasal administration of recombinant IL-17A reduced eosinophil recruitment and a Th2 response, while neutrophil recruitment was not induced when applied locally at low doses of 2.5 µg/kg IL-17A to allergen-treated mice [8]. These findings were supported by the following cell culture data [35]. IL-17A inhibited TNF-induced chemokine RANTES expression in human synovial fibroblasts and mouse lung fibroblasts. This inhibitory activity of IL-17A was sixfold more potent than its stimulatory activity on TNF- α -induced IL-6 or IL-8 secretion (IC50 = 0.2 ng/ml vs. ED50 = 1.2 ng/ml), measured in the same cells. Furthermore, neutralization of the human IL-17A receptor (IL-17R) by antibodies competitively reversed the IL-17A-induced IL-6 upregulation. However, anti-IL-17R antibody only partially neutralized the inhibitions of RANTES production by IL-17A. Yet, IL-17R was essential for the RANTES inhibition, as assessed in IL-17R-deficient cells. Therefore, inhibitory and stimulatory functions of IL-17A involve receptor IL-17R but show distinct dose responses and in turn different sensitivities to an IL-17R antagonizing antibody. These findings suggest a higher efficiency of the inhibitory over the stimulatory IL-17A functions and may explain why a net negative regulatory effect of IL-17A manifests in chronic inflammation in vivo where IL-17A production is low.

6 Molecular Signaling of Inhibitory Effects of IL-17A and IL-22

IL-17A interferes at TNF-activated NF- κ B signaling in human synoviocytes [35]. This inhibition is immediate, within 20 min, and proposes a direct effect of IL-17A rather than via expression of secondary mediators. The reduced degradation of specifically I κ B- β , but not I κ B- α , provides a late inflammatory phase control mechanism by IL-17A for the following reason. It has been shown that inhibitor I κ B- α is of importance for the transient inactivation of NF- κ B, whereas I κ B- β as part of a multimeric complex is involved in the persistent inactivation of NF- κ B [63, 64]. The fact that I κ B- β but not I κ B- α is affected by IL-17A further supports the possibility that IL-17A is implicated in the regulation of the chronic phase of inflammation and immunity.

However, interferences of IL-17A on TNF-induced NF- κ B activity virtually depend on the cell type and promoter targeted by TNF. For example, unlike the synoviocytes described above [35], TNF-induced NF- κ B binding was only moderately and not statistically significantly reduced by IL-17A in colonic myofibroblasts [32]. In those cells, it was proposed that IL-17A interfered at the TNF-induced RANTES production mainly through inhibition of IRF-1. This in turn prevented the cooperation of IRF-1 with the NF- κ B activity.

Furthermore, in macrophages it has been shown that IL-17A inhibited TNF expression transiently, the effect of IL-17A being biphasic with an early decrease of TNF release (at less than 30 min) and a marked stimulation later on (by 6 h) [29]. After 60 min and later, IL-17A also inhibited cAMP production and the transcription factor activities of CREB, AP-1, as well as NF-κB in the macrophages [29].

IL-22, on the molecular and cellular level, acts by activating STAT3. In vitro stimulation of epithelial cell with IL-22 resulted in the phosphorylation of STAT3, and diminished TNF/IL-13 induced TARC and IL-13 production [26]. Beneficial effect of IL-22 through STAT3 activation has previously been published. So IL-22 enhanced hepatocyte survival, by enhancing expression of transcription factor STAT3, Bcl-2, and Bcl-xL in inflamed liver and colon [41, 42]. STAT3 activation in intestinal epithelial cells and IL-22 was linked to mucosal wound healing [65]. IL-22 activated STAT3 and induced IL-10 by colon epithelial cells [66]. Prevention of DC activation and antigen (OVA) sensitization induced by transfer of ex vivo OVA-loaded DC has previously been ascribed to the prototype immune regulator IL-10 [25] and newly for IL-22 [14]. Whether the negative regulatory effects of IL-22 in allergic lung inflammation are due to IL-22 or indirectly induced needs further investigation.

7 IL-17 and IL-22 Have Similar Effects in Allergic Lung Inflammation but Are Still Distinct

The Th17-derived IL-22 and IL-17A negatively regulated allergy and DC functions. Its expressions were further induced by allergic stimulation together with IL-23 and were controlled by IL-4R α signals. While neutralizing IL-22 or

IL-17 antibodies augmented the allergic response, IL-22, IL-17A, and IL-17F reduced the response by inhibiting DC functions. Therefore, the data demonstrate that IL-22 and IL-17 are novel endogenous negative regulators of allergy, and IL-22, IL-17, or Th17 cells may represent an interesting therapeutic target in lung allergy.

IL-17A and IL-22 are both co-expressed in Th17 cells [10], yet they are induced through independent pathways. Recent studies showed that IL-22 but not IL-17A and IL-17F production strongly depends on aryl hydrocarbon receptor signals [67].

Furthermore, IL-22 production is induced in absence of IL-6, while IL-17A production depends on the presence of IL-6 [22]. Additional IL-22 production is ascribed to IL-9 activated mast cells [68]. We found that IL-17A, but not IL-22 production, was markedly dependent on the intracellular signaling of the IL-1 receptor and its adaptor MyD88 pathway in lymph node cell cultures originating from OVA-treated mice [14]. A review by Eyerich and colleagues provides an overview on overlaps and differences between IL-17 and IL-22 [69]. Together this suggests collaborative and nonredundant pathways leading to Th17 cytokines and allergy.

8 Anti-IL-17 and Anti-IL-22 Therapies: A Risk or Advantage?

The pathological role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in autoimmune disorders has convincingly been documented and hence favored so far, although there is emerging evidence that IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 also have a beneficial role as negative modulator in antigen-specific immune processes and allergic asthma [8, 14, 26–28, 31].

Increased IL-17A concentrations in allergic asthma, chronic bronchitis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), cystic fibrosis, and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (for review, see [11]), but also rheumatoid arthritis (RA), were linked to the pathology of the diseases [20]. IL-17A neutralization inhibits experimental murine arthritis [20] and is a potential alternative therapy to TNF neutralization in rheumatoid arthritis. The novel negative regulatory function of IL-17A indicates, however, that such a therapy bears the potential risk of exacerbating allergic asthma. Therefore, an anti-IL-17A treatment in chronic inflammatory disorders seems very promising, inhibiting neutrophil recruitment in inflamed lungs and joints, while the exacerbating Th2 response in experimental allergic response by anti-IL-17A treatment.

Because of the proinflammatory function of IL-17A and IL-22, neutralizing therapies targeting either IL-17 or IL-22 are considered in allergic asthma [70, 71]. However, inhibiting IL-17A or IL-22 may bear the potential risk of opportunistic infections. IL-22 together with TNF- α was found to be important to keep the epidermal integrity during infection with *Candida albicans* [72]. Mutations in STAT3 in animal models and humans confer a defect in IL-17 function, resulting

in increased susceptibility to respiratory infections with bacteria and fungi [70, 73, 74]. Neutralization of IL-22 resulted in exacerbation of bacterial infections, suggesting a protective role in mucosal/epithelial host defense [75]. And IL-22 was protective during the development of lung fibrosis induced by chronic exposure to *Bacillus subtilis* [76].

Still, because of the novel function of IL-22 and IL-17 as endogenous negative regulators of allergy, IL-22, IL-17, or Th17 cells may represent an interesting therapeutic target in lung allergy.

References

- Fossiez F, Banchereau J, Murray R, Van Kooten C, Garrone P, Lebecque S (1998) Interleukin-17. Int Rev Immunol 16(5–6):541–551
- Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, Tocker J, Peschon J (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. J Immunol 177:36–39
- Wright JF, Bennett F, Li B, Brooks J, Luxenberg DP, Whitters MJ, Tomkinson KN, Fitz LJ, Wolfman NM, Collins M, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Chatterjee-Kishore M, Carreno BM (2008) The human IL-17F/IL-17A heterodimeric cytokine signals through the IL-17RA/IL-17RC receptor complex. J Immunol 181(4):2799–2805
- 4. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132
- Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q, Dong C (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141
- Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ (2003) Divergent pro- and anti inflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 198(12):1951–1957
- Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T, Zurawski S, Wiekowski M, Lira SA, Gorman D, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421:744–748
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725
- 9. Nakajima H, Hirose K (2010) Role of IL-23 and Th17 cells in airway inflammation in asthma. Immune Netw 10(1):1–4
- Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- 11. Linden A, Adachi M (2002) Neutrophilic airway inflammation and IL-17. Allergy 57:769-775
- Wong CK, Lun SW, Ko FW, Wong PT, Hu SQ, Chan IH, Hui DS, Lam CW (2009) Activation of peripheral Th17 lymphocytes in patients with asthma. Immunol Invest 38(7):652–664
- Zhao Y, Yang J, Gao YD, Guo W (2010) Th17 immunity in patients with allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 151(4):297–307
- 14. Schnyder B, Lima C, Schnyder-Candrian S (2010) Interleukin-22 is a negative regulator of the allergic response. Cytokine 50(2):220–227

- 15. Moreira AP, Cavassani KA, Ismailoglu UB, Hullinger R, Dunleavy MP, Knight DA, Kunkel SL, Uematsu S, Akira S, Hogaboam CM (2011) The protective role of TLR6 in a mouse model of asthma is mediated by IL-23 and IL-17A. J Clin Invest 121(11):4420–4432
- Murdoch JR, Lloyd CM (2010) Resolution of allergic airway inflammation and airway hyperreactivity is mediated by IL-17-producing {gamma}{delta}T cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(4):464–476
- 17. Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang YH, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z, Dong C (2008) Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J Exp Med 205:1063–1075
- Hofstetter HH, Ibrahim SM, Koczan D, Kruse N, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Gold R (2005) Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Immunol 27:27
- Lubberts E, Schwarzenberger P, Huang W, Schurr JR, Peschon JJ, van den Berg WB, Kolls JK (2005) Requirement of IL-17 receptor signaling in radiation-resistant cells in the joint for full progression of destructive synovitis. J Immunol 175:3360–3368
- 20. Koenders MI, Lubberts E, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Helsen MM, Di Padova FE, Boots AM, Gram H, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB (2005) Blocking of interleukin-17 during reactivation of experimental arthritis prevents joint inflammation and bone erosion by decreasing RANKL and interleukin-1. Am J Pathol 167:141–149
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2004) IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. Immunity 21:241–254
- 22. Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J et al (2007) Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 445:648–651
- Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O, Fujino S, Deguchi Y, Araki Y et al (2005) Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology 129:969–984
- 24. Ikeuchi H, Kuroiwa T, Hiramatsu N, Kaneko Y, Hiromura K, Ueki K, Nojima Y (2005) Expression of interleukin-22 in rheumatoid arthritis: potential role as a proinflammatory cytokine. Arthritis Rheum 52:1037–1046
- 25. Koya T, Matsuda H, Takeda K, Matsubara S, Miyahara N, Balhorn A, Dakhama A, Gelfand EW (2007) IL-10-treated dendritic cells IL-10-treated dendritic cells decrease airway hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation in mice. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119:1241–1250
- 26. Taube C, Tertilt C, Gyülveszi G, Dehzad N, Kreymborg K, Schneeweiss K, Michel E, Reuter S, Renauld JC, Arnold-Schild D, Schild H, Buhl R, Becher B (2011) IL-22 is produced by innate lymphoid cells and limits inflammation in allergic airway disease. PLoS One 6(7): e21799
- 27. Takahashi K, Hirose K, Kawashima S, Niwa Y, Wakashin H, Iwata A, Tokoyoda K, Renauld JC, Iwamoto I, Nakayama T, Nakajima H (2011) IL-22 attenuates IL-25 production by lung epithelial cells and inhibits antigen-induced eosinophilic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128(5):1067–1076.e1-6
- McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Cua DJ (2007) TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T (H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. Nat Immunol 8:1390–1397
- 29. Jovanovic DV, Di Battista JA, Martel-Pelletier J, Jolicoeur FC, He Y, Zhang M, Mineau F, Pelletier JP (1998) IL-17 stimulates the production and expression of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-beta and TNF-alpha, by human macrophages. J Immunol 160(7):3513–3521
- 30. Patera AC, Pesnicak L, Bertin J, Cohen JI (2002) Interleukin 17 modulates the immune response to vaccinia virus infection. Virology 299(1):56–63
- 31. Pelidou SH, Zou LP, Deretzi G, Oniding C, Mix E, Zhu J (2000) Enhancement of acute phase and inhibition of chronic phase of experimental autoimmune neuritis in Lewis rats by

intranasal administration of recombinant mouse interleukin 17: potential immunoregulatory role. Exp Neurol 163(1):165–172

- 32. Andoh A, Fujino S, Bamba S, Araki Y, Okuno T, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y (2002) IL-17 selectively down-regulates TNF-alpha-induced RANTES gene expression in human colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. J Immunol 169:1683–1687
- 33. Silverman MD, Zamora DO, Pan Y, Texeira PV, Baek SH, Planck SR, Rosenbaum JT (2003) Constitutive and inflammatory mediator-regulated fractalkine expression in human ocular tissues and cultured cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 44:1608–1615
- 34. Kanda N, Koike S, Watanabe S (2005) IL-17 suppresses TNFalpha-induced CCL27 production through induction of COX-2 in human keratinocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 116:1144–1150
- 35. Schnyder B, Schnyder-Candrian S, Pansky A, Schmitz ML, Heim M, Ryff el B, Moser R (2005) IL-17 reduces TNF-induced Rantes and VCAM-1 expression. Cytokine 31:191–202
- 36. Tsaknaridis L, Spencer L, Culbertson N, Hicks K, LaTocha D, Chou YK, Whitham RH, Bakke A, Jones RE, Offner H, Bourdette DN, Vandenbark AA (2003) Functional assay for human CD4 + CD25+ Treg cells reveals an age-dependent loss of suppressive activity. J Neurosci Res 74:296–308
- 37. Zuany-Amorim C, Sawicka E, Manlius C, Le Moine A, Brunet LR, Kemeny DM, Bowen G, Rook G, Walker C (2002) Suppression of airway eosinophilia by killed *Mycobacterium* vaccae-induced allergen-specific regulatory T-cells. Nat Med 8(6):625–629
- Gavett SH, Chen X, Finkelman F, Wills-Karp M (1994) Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary eosinophilia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 10(6):587–593
- Buenafe AC, Tsaknaridis L, Spencer L, Hicks KS, McMahan RH, Watson L, Culbertson NE, Latocha D, Wegmann K, Finn T et al (2004) Specificity of regulatory CD4 + CD25+ T cells for self-T cell receptor determinants. J Neurosci Res 76:129–140
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- 41. Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Karow M, Flavell RA (2007) Interleukin-22 but not interleukin-17 provides protection to hepatocytes during acute liver inflammation. Immunity 27:647–659
- 42. Pan H, Hong F, Radaeva S, Gao B (2004) Hydrodynamic gene delivery of interleukin-22 protects the mouse liver from concanavalin A-, carbon tetrachloride-, and Fas ligand-induced injury via activation of STAT3. Cell Mol Immunol 1:43–49
- 43. Chang H, Hanawa H, Liu H, Yoshida T, Hayashi M, Watanabe R et al (2006) Hydrodynamicbased delivery of an interleukin-22-Ig fusion gene ameliorates experimental autoimmune myocarditis in rats. J Immunol 177:3635–3643
- 44. Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Mizoguchi E, Shimomura Y, Andoh A, Bhan AK et al (2008) IL-22 ameliorates intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest 118:534–544
- Michel ML, Keller AC, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage PB et al (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- 46. Schnyder-Candrian S, Quesniaux VF, Di Padova F, Maillet I, Noulin N, Couillin I et al (2005) Dual effects of p38 MAPK on TNF-dependent bronchoconstriction and TNF-independent neutrophil recruitment in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Immunol 175:262–269
- 47. Palmqvist C, Wardlaw AJ, Bradding P (2007) Chemokines and their receptors as potential targets for the treatment of asthma. Br J Pharmacol 151:725–736
- Nathan C (2006) Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol 6:173–182

- 49. Hellings PW, Kasran A, Liu Z, Vandekerckhove P, Wuyts A, Overbergh L et al (2003) Interleukin-17 orchestrates the granulocyte influx into airways after allergen inhalation in a mouse model of allergic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28:42–50
- Whittington HA, Armstrong L, Uppington KM, Millar AB (2004) Interleukin-22: a potential immunomodulatory molecule in the lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 31:220–226
- 51. Grünig G, Warnock M, Wakil AE, Venkayya R, Brombacher F, Rennick DM, Sheppard D, Mohrs M, Donaldson DD, Locksley RM, Corry DB (1998) Requirement for IL-13 independently of IL-4 in experimental asthma. Science 282(5397):2261–2263
- 52. Steinke JW (2004) Anti-interleukin-4 therapy. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 24 (4):599–614
- 53. Wills-Karp M (1999) Immunologic basis of antigen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. Annu Rev Immunol 17:255–281
- 54. Faour WH, Mancini A, He QW, Di Battista JA (2003) T-cell-derived interleukin-17 regulates the level and stability of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) mRNA through restricted activation of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade: role of distal sequences in the 3'-untranslated region of COX-2 mRNA. J Biol Chem 278(29):26897–26907
- 55. Yamazaki S, Muta T, Matsuo S, Takeshige K (2005) Stimulus-specific induction of a novel nuclear factor-kappaB regulator, IkappaB-zeta, via Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor is mediated by mRNA stabilization. J Biol Chem 280(2):1678–1687
- 56. Gonzalo JA, Lloyd CM, Kremer L, Finger E, Martinez-A C, Siegelman MH, Cybulsky M, Gutierrez-Ramos JC (1996) Eosinophil recruitment to the lung in a murine model of allergic inflammation. The role of T cells, chemokines and adhesion receptors. J Clin Invest 98 (10):2332–2345
- 57. Chvatchko Y, Proudfoot AE, Buser R, Juillard P, Alouani S, Kosco-Vilbois M, Coyle AJ, Nibbs RJ, Graham G, Offord RE, Wells TN (2003) Inhibition of airway inflammation by aminoterminally modified RANTES/CC chemokine ligand 5 analogues is not mediated through CCR3. J Immunol 171:5498–5506
- 58. Kawasaki S, Takizawa H, Yoneyama H, Nakayama T, Fujisawa R, Izumizaki M, Imai T, Yoshie O, Homma I, Yamamoto K, Matsushima K (2001) Intervention of thymus and activation-regulated chemokine attenuates the development of allergic airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in mice. J Immunol 166:2055–2062
- 59. Wang J, Homer RJ, Chen Q, Elias JA (2000) Endogenous and exogenous IL-6 inhibit aeroallergen-induced Th2 inflammation. J Immunol 165(7):4051–4061
- 60. Qiu Z, Fujimura M, Kurashima K, Nakao S, Mukaida N (2004) Enhanced airway inflammation and decreased subepithelial fibrosis in interleukin 6-deficient mice following chronic exposure to aerosolized antigen. Clin Exp Allergy 34(8):1321–1328
- 61. Kunikata T, Yamane H, Segi E, Matsuoka T, Sugimoto Y, Tanaka S, Tanaka H, Nagai H, Ichikawa A, Narumiya S (2005) Suppression of allergic inflammation by the prostaglandin E receptor subtype EP3. Nat Immunol 6(5):524–531
- 62. Tumas DB, Chan B, Werther W, Wrin T, Vennari J, Desjardin N, Shields RL, Jardieu P (2001) Anti-IgE efficacy in murine asthma models is dependent on the method of allergen sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107(6):1025–1033
- Thompson JE, Phillips RJ, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Ghosh S (1995) I kappaB-beta regulates the persistent response in a biphasic activation of NF-kappa B. Cell 80(4):573–582
- 64. Malek S, Chen Y, Huxford T, Ghosh G (2001) IkappaBbeta, but not IkappaBalpha, functions as a classical cytoplasmic inhibitor of NF-kappaB dimers by masking both NF-kappaB nuclear localization sequences in resting cells. J Biol Chem 276(48):45225–45235
- 65. Pickert G, Neufert C, Leppkes M, Zheng Y, Wittkopf N, Warntjen M, Lehr HA, Hirth S, Weigmann B, Wirtz S, Ouyang W, Neurath MF, Becker C (2009) STAT3 links IL-22signaling in intestinal epithelial cells to mucosal wound healing. J Exp Med 206(7):1465–1472
- 66. Nagalakshmi ML, Rascle A, Zurawski S, Menon S, de Waal Malefyt R (2004) Interleukin-22 activates STAT3 and induces IL-10 by colon epithelial cells. Int Immunopharmacol 4 (5):679–691

- 67. Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC et al (2008) The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links T(H)17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. Nature 23:23
- Dumoutier L, Louahed J, Renauld JC (2000) Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9. J Immunol 164:1814–1819
- 69. Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Cavani A, Schmidt-Weber C (2010) IL-17 and IL-22: siblings, not twins. Trends Immunol 31(9):354–361
- 70. Park SJ, Lee YC (2010) Interleukin-17 regulation: an attractive therapeutic approach for asthma. Respir Res 11:78
- Akkoc T, Akdis M, Akdis CA (2011) Update in the mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 3(1):11–20
- 72. Eyerich S, Wagener J, Wenzel V, Scarponi C, Pennino D, Albanesi C, Schaller M, Behrendt H, Ring J, Schmidt-Weber CB, Cavani A, Mempel M, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Eyerich K (2011) IL-22 and TNF-α represent a key cytokine combination for epidermal integrity during infection with *Candida albicans*. Eur J Immunol 41(7):1894–1901
- 73. Kabir S (2011) The role of interleukin-17 in the *Helicobacter pylori* induced infection and immunity. Helicobacter 16(1):1–8
- 74. Ma CS, Chew GY, Simpson N, Priyadarshi A, Wong M, Grimbacher B, Fulcher DA, Tangye SG, Cook MC (2008) Deficiency of Th17 cells in hyper IgE syndrome due to mutations in STAT3. J Exp Med 205(7):1551–1557
- 75. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K, Husain S, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Pilewski JM, Myerburg MM, Mason CA, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK (2008) IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. Nat Med 14:275–281
- 76. Simonian PL, Wehrmann F, Roark CL, Born WK, O'Brien RL, Fontenot AP (2010) γδ T cells protect against lung fibrosis via IL-22. J Exp Med 207(10):2239–2253

Inflammasome: IL-1/IL-17 Response in Lung Inflammation

Isabelle Couillin, Dieudonnée Togbe, Mamdouh Sedhom, Marc Le Bert, Hana Čipčić Paljetak, Francois Erard, René Moser, and Bernhard Ryffel

Abstract Airway exposure to endotoxin and other microbial TLR agonists induces a rapid production of mediators including IL-1 and IL-17, neutrophil recruitment, and bronchoconstriction which are abrogated in mice deficient for distinct TLRs or the common adaptor molecule myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88). Furthermore, administration of IL-1 β mobilizes neutrophils and induces IL-17 production in the lung. Therefore, IL-17 participates in IL-1 β -induced lung inflammation. Importantly, lung injury by particles, chemicals, and allergens activates the NLPR3 inflammasome complex leading to the cleavage of pro-IL-1 β into active IL-1 β - and IL-17-dependent inflammation and repair. In conclusion, TLR agonists and lung injury induces the activation of the NLPR inflammasome with maturation of IL-1 β leading to IL-17-dependent lung inflammation.

I. Couillin (⊠) • B. Ryffel CNRS UMR7355, INEM, Orleans 45071, France

1101717, University Capetown, RSA

UMR7355 INEM, Experimental and Molecular Immunology and Neurogenetics, CNRS et Université d'Orleans, Orleans - Cedex 2, France e-mail: couillin@cnrs-orleans.fr; bryffel@cnrs-orleans.fr

D. Togbe Artimmune SAS, Orleans, France

M. Sedhom • M.L. Bert • H.Č. Paljetak • F. Erard CNRS UMR7355, INEM, Orleans 45071, France

R. Moser Biomedical Research Foundation, SBF, Matzingen, Switzerland

Grant support by "Ministère de l'Education Nationale, de la Recherche et de la Technologie," Fondation de la Recherche, and CNRS. The work was also supported by grants from Le Studium (Orleans), Biomedical Research Foundation, and Fondation de la Recherche Médicale.

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_11, © Springer Basel 2013

Abbreviations

LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TIR	Toll-interleukin 1 receptor
TIRAP	TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adaptor-inducing interferon-β
Penh	Enhanced respiratory pause

1 TLR-Dependent Neutrophil Recruitment

The innate immune system senses microbial products by Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which are broadly distributed in the lung and the body [1, 2]. The TLR engagement by microbial products causes cell activation which may result in an inflammatory response. Microbial agonists may be of bacterial, viral, fungal, and parasitic origin and activate discrete TLR.

Pulmonary exposure to bacterial and fungal products including endotoxin or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) plays an important role in the development and progression of chronic respiratory diseases including asthma [3-5]. In the experimental situation, intranasal endotoxin from Gram-negative bacteria provokes acute pulmonary inflammation with neutrophil recruitment into the alveolar space and lung, epithelial damage, alveolar-capillary leak, and bronchoconstriction in normal C57BL/6 mice [6, 7] which is TLR4 expression dependent. Endotoxin-induced bronchoconstriction and neutrophil recruitment in the lung are abrogated in mice deficient for the LPS receptor complex, TLR4/CD14/MD2. Further, TNF, IL-12p40, and KC production and protein leakage are also dramatically reduced in the absence of the LPS receptor [8]. Other bacterial products such as MALP-2 or BLP activate the TLR2 receptor leading to acute lung inflammation, while bacterial flagellin is a proinflammatory TLR5 agonist [9, 10]. The inflammatory response is abrogated in mice deficient for TLR2 or TLR5 respectively. Similarly, viral ssRNA have TLR3 agonistic properties. Poly I:C is a synthetic TLR3 agonist which causes acute neutrophil recruitment into the BAL and lung inflammation, which is absent in TLR3-deficient mice. This is not an exhaustive list of agents activating TLRs and other pattern recognition receptors leading to inflammation.

The lung is continuously exposed to environmental agents, and the inflammatory response is believed to be different from those present in less exposed, accessible sites [11, 12]. We showed recently that the TLR adaptor MyD88 is critical for the airway inflammatory response to endotoxins [13]. MyD88 is at the crossroad of multiple TLR-dependent and TLR-independent signaling pathways, including IL-1R, IL-18R, and IL-33R, or the focal adhesion kinase, FAK [14]. In certain infection models, the extreme sensitivity of MyD88 deficient mice may however be ascribed, at least in part, to deficient IL-1R/IL-18R signaling, as shown recently for cutaneous *S. aureus* infection [15] and for mycobacterial infection on IL-1R [16].

2 Inflammasome Activation and IL-1β Maturation

In addition to innate immune recognition receptor of the TLR family, NOD-like receptors (NLRs) represent another essential cytosolic receptor family, which senses endogenous danger signals upon cell injury. Danger signals or "alarmins" include uric acid, ATP, heat shock proteins (HSPs), HMGB1, IL-1a, IL-33, and many other endogenous molecules generated by damaged or dying cells [44]. These endogenous mediators activate the innate immune system by engaging the sensing receptor NLPRs as recently reviewed [17]. The NLPR proteins form a large, signalinduced multiprotein complex, the inflammasome, resulting in the activation of proinflammatory caspases [18]. Uric acid was identified in dying cells [19] and was implicated in IL-1R-dependent inflammation [20, 21]. Uric acid crystals induce activation of the NLPR3 inflammasome complex leading to IL-1ß and neutrophil recruitment in the peritoneal cavity [22]. Macrophages from mice deficient in various components of the inflammasome such as caspase-1, ASC, and NALP3 are defective in uric acid crystal-induced IL-1 β activation. Furthermore, chemical lung injury with bleomycin causes uric acid release and NLPR3-dependent maturation of IL-1β, leading to lung inflammation and fibrosis [23]. Bleomycin-induced inflammation and fibrosis depend on ASC, which is a critical adaptor protein of the NLPR3 inflammasome complex [24]. Mediators or endogenous danger signals activating the inflammasome complex are a topic of broad interest. Lowering intracellular K+ level may be a mechanism of NLPR3 activation [25, 26].

We revisited the role of the NLPR3 inflammasome complex and IL-1 β in the allergic response [27] and found NLPR3 is required for the response. Further, IL-1 receptor signaling and of both IL-1 β and IL-1 α is essential in the inflammatory response to ovalbumin challenge in immunized mice in the absence of adjuvant alum [41].

Therefore, the activation of the inflammasome complex cleaving pro-IL-1 β leading to mature IL-1 β plays a major role in a broad range of insults resulting in IL-1-dependent inflammation and has been reviewed recently by us [40].

3 Critical Role of IL-1 in Lung Inflammation

Recent investigations confirmed a critical role of IL-1 β in models of lung inflammation.

First, in acute cigarette smoke-induced inflammation in mice, we found that neutrophil recruitment in the alveolar space depended on TLR4 and IL-1R signaling as the response was ablated in gene-deficient mice [43]. Cigarette smoke induced IL-1 and heat shock protein 70, which is a known agonist of TLR4 explaining the absence of inflammation in TLR4-deficient mice, and the response was IL-1R signaling dependent [43].

Second, in an acute lung injury model induced by a single intranasal administration of bleomycin, we found that neutrophil and later lymphocyte recruitment followed by lung fibrosis depended on IL-1 β [24]. Indeed, IL-1R-deficient mice or neutralization of IL-1 β abrogated bleomycin-induced inflammation and fibrosis [23, 24].

Third, the inflammatory response to uric acid crystals as observed in clinical gout has been demonstrated to be IL-1 β dependent [22, 28] and now is confirmed in lung [24] and can be blocked by neutralizing antibodies.

Further, the inflammatory response to intranasal mycobacteria administration was drastically increased in the absence of IL-1R signaling. We found that a protective host response required functional IL-1 β , as IL-1R1-deficient mice succumbed to uncontrolled infection [16]. Lastly, rmIL-1 β administered by the intranasal route induces lung inflammation [24].

Therefore, the different models suggest a direct and critical role of IL-1 in the inflammatory response, and NLPR3 inflammasome activation leads the maturation and release of IL-1 β .

4 IL-17 Contributes to the Inflammatory Response in the Lung

The initial investigations suggested that the T cell-derived cytokine IL-17 participates in the acute pulmonary inflammatory response ([29, 30, 44]). Recombinant human (rh) IL-17 was shown to induce the production of IL-8 by human bronchial epithelial and endothelial cells, and the intratracheal instillation of IL-17 in rats elicited neutrophil recruitment and MIP-2 production in the BAL, which were both inhibited by neutralizing IL-17 antibodies [31]. In order to link the proinflammatory effects of endotoxin with the proinflammatory effects of IL-17, endotoxin was instilled intratracheally in mice. Endotoxin elicited the production of IL-17 within 24 h together with IL-6 and MIP-2 release in the airways. Neutralization of IL-17 abrogated neutrophil recruitment [32]. Further, neutralization of IL-6 and MIP-2 inhibited the neutrophil accumulation. Ferretti and colleagues reported a first peak at 24 h followed by a second peak of neutrophil recruitment in the airway upon LPS exposure, the latter coincided with IL-17 production in the BAL fluid and lung [33]. Investigations in SCID mice and transcriptional analyses of purified cells from BAL suggested that in addition to T cells, neutrophils but not macrophages expressed IL-17 [33]. The finding that non-T cells produce IL-17 is interesting and needs additional confirmation.

Our team investigated the role of IL-17A in the chemical lung injury model with bleomycin. We found that IL-1 β -dependent pulmonary IL-17 expression and lung inflammation and fibrosis were attenuated in the absence of IL-17RA signaling or by neutralizing IL-17A antibodies [34].

Recent evidence further suggests that a subpopulation invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells that lack the NK1.1 marker (NK1.1) secrete high amounts of interleukin IL-17 and low levels of interferon- γ and IL-4 [35]. NK1.1(neg) iNKT cells produce IL-17 upon synthetic (alpha-galactosylceramide [alpha-GalCer] or PBS-57) as well as natural (lipopolysaccharides or glycolipids derived from *Sphingomonas wittichii* and *Borrelia burgdorferi*) stimulation. NK1.1(neg) iNKT cells are found more frequent in the lung, which is consistent with a role in natural immunity to inhaled antigens. Airway neutrophilia induced by alpha-GalCer or lipopolysaccharide instillation was significantly reduced in iNKT-cell-deficient Jalpha18 mice and was abolished by neutralizing IL-17 monoclonal antibody. Therefore, NK1.1(neg) iNKT lymphocytes represent a new population of IL-17-producing cells that can contribute to neutrophil recruitment through preferential IL-17 secretion.

Infection with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* was used as another way to test the role of IL-17 in neutrophil recruitment and host resistance [36]. IL-17 receptor-deficient mice succumbed rapidly to intranasal *P. pneumonia* challenge with uncontrolled infection, delayed and diminished neutrophil recruitment in the alveolar space, and reduced MIP-2 and G-CSF production in the lung [36]. Therefore, for an acute inflammatory response and to clear the bacilli, IL-17RA signaling is critical.

IL-17 has been found in sera and BAL fluids from asthmatic patients suggesting a role in allergic reactions [37]. Experimentally, IL-17 has been shown to be necessary for antigen-induced allergic inflammation of the airways and T cell activation, since the response was ablated in IL-17-deficient mice [38]. We showed IL-17 receptor signaling-dependent IL-23 production and elevated levels of IL-17 in the lung of allergic mice [39]. However, the administration of neutralizing IL-17 antibody augmented the allergic response, which suggested for the first time that IL-17 has a secondary role in established asthma which may consist in downregulating the hypersensitive response [39]. See also accompanying contribution by Linden. Further, we found a role of the related Th17 family member IL-22, which has different roles in the development and resolution of allergic lung inflammation [42].

However, the link between IL-1 β and IL-17 and the need of IL-17 as a critical inflammatory effector cytokine in lung inflammation needs to be explored further. We have recently reviewed the IL-1–IL-1 axis in the initiation and resolution of inflammation [40].

In conclusion, present knowledge about injury-induced inflammasome activation and maturation of IL-1 β and IL-17 is emerging. The knowledge on the role of IL-1 α and IL-33, two alarmins released upon cell death, is an exciting area needing further investigations. There is now substantial evidence that lung injury leads to inflammasome complex formation with caspase-1 activation resulting in mature IL-1 β , which may elicit IL-17 production and inflammation.

Obviously, the biochemical identification of these pathways has therapeutic implications and may lead to novel therapeutic targets and drugs.

References

- 1. Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124:783-801
- Beutler B, Jiang Z, Georgel P, Crozat K, Croker B, Rutschmann S, Du X, Hoebe K (2006) Genetic analysis of host resistance: toll-like receptor signaling and immunity at large. Annu Rev Immunol 24:353–389

- Kennedy SM, Christiani DC, Eisen EA, Wegman DH, Greaves IA, Olenchock SA, Ye TT, Lu PL (1987) Cotton dust and endotoxin exposure-response relationships in cotton textile workers. Am Rev Respir Dis 135:194–200
- 4. Michel O, Kips J, Duchateau J, Vertongen F, Robert L, Collet H, Pauwels R, Sergysels R (1996) Severity of asthma is related to endotoxin in house dust. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:1641–1646
- Schwartz DA, Thorne PS, Yagla SJ, Burmeister LF, Olenchock SA, Watt JL, Quinn TJ (1995) The role of endotoxin in grain dust-induced lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:603–608
- Lefort J, Motreff L, Vargaftig BB (2001) Airway administration of *Escherichia coli* endotoxin to mice induces glucocorticosteroid-resistant bronchoconstriction and vasopermeation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:345–351
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Quesniaux VF, Di Padova F, Maillet I, Noulin N, Couillin I, Moser R, Erard F, Vargaftig BB, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2005) Dual effects of p38 MAPK on TNFdependent bronchoconstriction and TNF-independent neutrophil recruitment in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Immunol 175:262–269
- Togbe D, Schnyder-Candrian S, Schnyder B, Couillin I, Maillet I, Bihl F, Malo D, Ryffel B, Quesniaux VF (2006) TLR4 gene dosage contributes to endotoxin-induced acute respiratory inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 80:451–457
- Feuillet V, Medjane S, Mondor I, Demaria O, Pagni PP, Galan JE, Flavell RA, Alexopoulou L (2006) Involvement of Toll-like receptor 5 in the recognition of flagellated bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:12487–12492
- Uematsu S, Jang MH, Chevrier N, Guo Z, Kumagai Y, Yamamoto M, Kato H, Sougawa N, Matsui H, Kuwata H et al (2006) Detection of pathogenic intestinal bacteria by Toll-like receptor 5 on intestinal CD11c+ lamina propria cells. Nat Immunol 7:868–874
- 11. Guillot L, Medjane S, Le-Barillec K, Balloy V, Danel C, Chignard M, Si-Tahar M (2004) Response of human pulmonary epithelial cells to lipopolysaccharide involves Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-dependent signaling pathways: evidence for an intracellular compartmentalization of TLR4. J Biol Chem 279:2712–2718. Epub 2003 Nov 2714
- Piggott DA, Eisenbarth SC, Xu L, Constant SL, Huleatt JW, Herrick CA, Bottomly K (2005) MyD88-dependent induction of allergic Th2 responses to intranasal antigen. J Clin Invest 115:459–467
- Noulin N, Quesniaux VF, Schnyder-Candrian S, Schnyder B, Maillet I, Robert T, Vargaftig BB, Ryffel B, Couillin I (2005) Both hemopoietic and resident cells are required for MyD88dependent pulmonary inflammatory response to inhaled endotoxin. J Immunol 175:6861–6869
- Zeisel MB, Druet VA, Sibilia J, Klein JP, Quesniaux V, Wachsmann D (2005) Cross talk between MyD88 and focal adhesion kinase pathways. J Immunol 174:7393–7397
- 15. Gamero A, Oppenheim JJ (2006) IL-1 can act as number one. Immunity 24:16-17
- Fremond CM, Togbe D, Doz E, Vasseur V, Maillet I, Ryffel B, Quesniaux VF (2007) IL-1 receptor-mediated signal is an essential component of MyD88-dependent innate response to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Immunol 179:1178–1189
- 17. Couillin I, Petrilli V, Martinon F (2011) The inflammasomes. Progress Inflammation Research, Springer, Basel
- Tschopp J, Martinon F, Burns K (2003) NALPs: a novel protein family involved in inflammation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:95–104
- 19. Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL (2003) Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. Nature 425:516–521
- 20. Chen CJ, Kono H, Golenbock D, Reed G, Akira S, Rock KL (2007) Identification of a key pathway required for the sterile inflammatory response triggered by dying cells. Nat Med 13:851–856
- 21. Rock KL, Kono H (2008) The inflammatory response to cell death. Annu Rev Pathol 3:99–126
- 22. Martinon F, Petrilli V, Mayor A, Tardivel A, Tschopp J (2006) Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. Nature 440:237–241

- 23. Gasse P, Riteau N, Charron S, Girre S, Fick L, Petrilli V, Tschopp J, Lagente V, Quesniaux VFJ, Ryffel B, Couillin I (2009) Uric acid is a danger signal activating NALP3 inflammasome in lung injury inflammation and fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179:903–913
- 24. Gasse P, Mary C, Guenon I, Noulin N, Charron S, Schnyder B, Akira S, Quesniaux VF, Lagente V et al (2007) IL-1R1/MyD88 signaling and the inflammasome are essential in pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis in mice. J Clin Invest 117:3786–3799
- Petrilli V, Dostert C, Muruve DA, Tschopp J (2007) The inflammasome: a danger sensing complex triggering innate immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 19:615–622
- 26. Petrilli V, Papin S, Dostert C, Mayor A, Martinon F, Tschopp J (2007) Activation of the NALP3 inflammasome is triggered by low intracellular potassium concentration. Cell Death Differ 14:1583–1589
- 27. Schmitz N, Kurrer M, Kopf M (2003) The IL-1 receptor 1 is critical for Th2 cell type airway immune responses in a mild but not in a more severe asthma model. Eur J Immunol 33:991–1000
- Chen CJ, Shi Y, Hearn A, Fitzgerald K, Golenbock D, Reed G, Akira S, Rock KL (2006) MyD88-dependent IL-1 receptor signaling is essential for gouty inflammation stimulated by monosodium urate crystals. J Clin Invest 116:2262–2271
- Linden A, Hoshino H, Laan M (2000) Airway neutrophils and interleukin-17. Eur Respir J 15:973–977
- Linden A, Laan M, Anderson GP (2005) Neutrophils, interleukin-17A and lung disease. Eur Respir J 25:159–172
- 31. Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lotvall J, Sjostrand M, Gruenert DC, Skoogh BE, Linden A (1999) Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. J Immunol 162:2347–2352
- 32. Miyamoto M, Prause O, Sjostrand M, Laan M, Lotvall J, Linden A (2003) Endogenous IL-17 as a mediator of neutrophil recruitment caused by endotoxin exposure in mouse airways. J Immunol 170:4665–4672
- 33. Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR, Jones CE, Trifilieff A (2003) IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol 170:2106–2112
- 34. Gasse P, Riteau N, Vacher R, Michel ML, di Padova F, Fick L, Charron S, Lagente V, Eberl G, Le Bert M, Quesniaux VF, Huaux F, Leite-de-Moraes M, Ryffel B, Couillin I (2011) IL-1 and IL-23 mediate early IL-17A production in pulmonary inflammation leading to late fibrosis. PLoS One 6(8):e23185
- Michel ML, Keller AC, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage PB, Wong CH, Schneider E, Dy M, Leite-de-Moraes MC (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- 36. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J et al (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- 37. Molet S, Hamid Q, Davoine F, Nutku E, Taha R, Page N, Olivenstein R, Elias J, Chakir J (2001) IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108:430–438
- Nakae S, Komiyama Y, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwase M, Homma I, Sekikawa K, Asano M, Iwakura Y (2002) Antigen-specific T cell sensitization is impaired in IL-17-deficient mice, causing suppression of allergic cellular and humoral responses. Immunity 17:375–387
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725
- Besnard AG, Togbe D, Couillin I, Tan Z, Zheng SG, Erard F, Le Bert M, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B (2012) Inflammasome-IL-1-Th17 response in allergic lung inflammation. J Mol Cell Biol 4 (1):3–10

- Besnard AG, Guillou N, Tschopp J, Erard F, Couillin I, Iwakura Y, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Togbe D (2011) NLRP3 inflammasome is required in murine asthma in the absence of aluminum adjuvant. Allergy 66:1047–1057
- 42. Besnard AG, Sabat R, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Willart M, Lambrecht B, Teixeira MM, Charron S, Fick L, Erard F, Warszawska K, Wolk K, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Togbe D (2011) Dual role of IL-22 in allergic airway inflammation and its cross-talk with IL-17A. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1153–1163, Feb 4
- 43. Doz E, Noulin N, Boichot E, Guénon I, Fick L, Le Bert M, Lagente V, Ryffel B, Schnyder B, Quesniaux VF, Couillin I (2008) Cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary inflammation is TLR4/ MyD88 and IL-1R1/MyD88 signaling dependent. J Immunol 180(2):1169–1178
- 44. Kolls JK, Lindén A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21(4):467–476

The Role of IL-17 in Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis

Urs Eriksson

Abstract Experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM) represents a CD4+ T cell-mediated mouse model of inflammatory heart diseases. Genetically susceptible mice injected with cardiac self-antigen-loaded dendritic cells or immunized with cardiac self-antigen together with strong adjuvants develop overt cardiac inflammation. Later on, affected mice develop heart failure and a cardiac phenotype, which closely resembles the morphological picture of dilated cardiomyopathy in humans. IL-17-producing T cells contribute to EAM development, but the absence of IL-17A signaling on CD4+ T cells can be compensated by other heart-reactive T helper cell subsets. IL-17A, however, has proven to be critical for progression of acute myocarditis to an end-stage heart failure phenotype. Accordingly, cytokines promoting Th17 CD4+ expansion and/or IL-17 release, such as IL-23, IL-6, TGF- β , and IL-1, are key players in EAM and most likely in inflammatory dilated cardiomyopathy. Understanding the specific role of distinct cytokines during induction and progression of EAM will expand our knowledge on the pathogenesis of dilated cardiomyopathy and will help us to develop novel treatment strategies in the future.

Keywords Autoimmunity • Mouse model • Myocarditis • T helper cells • Interleukin-1 • Interleukin-6 • Interleukin-17 • Interleukin-23 • Interferon gamma • Dendritic cells • Monocytes/macrophages • Toll-like receptors • Nitric oxide • Innate immunity • Inflammatory cardiomyopathy

U. Eriksson (🖂)

Division of Cardioimmunology, Cardiovascular Research Department, Institute of Physiology, University Zurich-Irchel, Winterthurerstrasse 157, Zurich CH-8057, Switzerland

Division of Cardiology & Department of Medicine, GZO – Zurich Regional Health Center, Wetzikon, Switzerland e-mail: ueriksson@bluemail.ch

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17*, *IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_12, © Springer Basel 2013

1 Autoimmunity in Inflammatory Heart Disease

Inflammatory dilated cardiomyopathy represents a common cause of heart failure in young patients and often evolves from myocarditis [1–3]. Worldwide, infections with the parasitic protozoan *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Chagas disease), which is endemic in Southern America, are the leading cause of myocarditis. In developed countries, however, viral infections are common triggers of cardiac inflammation [1–5]. Besides enteroviruses or adenoviruses, Parvo-, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency, HHV-6, HHV-7, Cytomegalo-, Epstein-Barr viruses have been detected in the hearts of patients with inflammatory dilated cardiomyopathy [2, 3]. Virus infections not only contribute to cardiac tissue destruction [6] but also trigger heart-specific autoimmunity, which plays a relevant pathogenetic role in many patients develop heart-specific autoantibody responses [5, 6]. In addition, immuno-suppressive therapy can improve heart function in subgroups of patients, particularly in individuals without evidence for persistence of viral genomes in heart biopsies [8, 9].

In several susceptible mouse strains, infections with the human pathogen Coxsackie type B3 (CVB3) virus result in chronic myocarditis progressing to heart failure, even after clearance of the virus [10, 11]. In mice, chronic myocarditis following CVB3 infection is T cell mediated because adoptive transfer of T cells, but not serum from diseased mice, transfers disease in SCID recipients genetically lacking B and T cells [12]. Furthermore, peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with dilated cardiomyopathy could also transfer disease to SCID mice [13]. Inflammatory infiltrates in affected mouse hearts are characterized by the interstitial and patchy accumulation of mononuclear cells and mirror the histologic pattern observed in human myocarditis. The marked reduction of inflammation in infected mice after depletion of CD4+ T cells and the partial reduction of disease severity after depletion of CD8+ T cells suggest that T cells play an important role in the progression of myocarditis in CVB3-infected mice [12, 14, 15]. Taken together, these findings indicate that heart-specific autoimmunity plays an important role in post-viral myocarditis and argue for a critical role of T helper cells in disease development.

2 The Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis (EAM) Model

Immunization models offer the advantage to study the disease pathogenesis in vivo in the absence of infection. Indeed, immunization with α -myosin or specific α myosin peptides together with strong immunostimulants, such as complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), induces heart-specific inflammation (experimental autoimmune myocarditis = EAM) in susceptible mouse strains, such as BALB/c (H-2d) and A/J (H-2a) mice [16, 17]. The most pathogenic epitope for BALB/c mice has been identified on the alpha myosin heavy chain protein [17]. Activation of antigenpresenting cells (APCs), taking up and processing self-antigen, is a prerequisite for T cell priming. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) represent a family of transmembrane receptors that are essential for innate immune responses to pathogens. The different TLRs exhibit different specificities for microbial patterns such as LPS, or doublestranded RNA, as well as for some endogenous products such as stimulatory signals released by dying cells. In fact, α -myosin-loaded dendritic cells activated through TLR ligands such as LPS or double-stranded RNA can induce autoimmune myocarditis in BALB/c mice [18]. Disease induction by vaccination with self-antigenloaded dendritic cells offers an attractive approach to study the APC-effector-cell interactions and priming mechanisms of autoimmune T cells in vivo. In BALB/c mice, myocarditis severity peaks 21 days after the first myosin-peptide/CFA immunization or 12–15 days after the first injection of activated, peptide-loaded dendritic cells. The decisive role of CD4+ T cells for EAM induction can be shown in adoptive transfer experiments: injection of in vitro restimulated CD4+ T cells isolated from spleens and draining lymph nodes of mice with EAM results in myocarditis, albeit at a low severity grade, in severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice or LPS pretreated wild-type animals [12]. The efficacy of adoptive transfer can be greatly improved if heart-specific CD4+ T cells are specifically enriched over several cycles of in vitro restimulation/expansion.

3 Role of IL-17 and IL-17-Producing CD4+ T Cells in EAM

EAM represents a CD4+ T cell-mediated disease. Three major CD4+ T cell subsets have been defined according to their cytokine production pattern: IFN-γ-producing Th1 cells, IL-4-releasing Th2 cells, and IL-17-producing Th17 cells. Signaling through the receptor of the key Th2 cytokine IL-4 is dispensable for EAM development [19, 20]. The fact that the majority of heart-infiltrating cells express a monocyte/macrophage phenotype would suggest a Th1 predominant phenotype. A substantial proportion of these monocyte-like cells, however, express a pattern of surface markers, which labels them as immature myeloid-derived precursors with the capacity to differentiate within the inflamed microenvironment either in mature monocytes/macrophages or GM-CSF dependently into granulocytes, the latter being a hallmark of Th17-mediated inflammation [21, 22]. Interestingly, loss of either the Th1 effector cytokine IFN- γ or its receptor results in markedly increased disease severity, implying that the key Th1 cytokine IFN- γ is a negative regulator of EAM [19, 23, 24]. In addition, mice lacking T-bet, a T-box transcription factor essential for Th1 lineage differentiation, show enhanced myocarditis severity [23]. These apparently contradictory findings can be explained by analysis of genetargeted mice with mutations in the Th1-driving cytokine IL-12 and its receptor. IL-12p70, which binds to the IL-12 receptor represents a heterodimer consisting of an IL-12p40 and an IL-12p35 subunit. The IL-12p70 receptor, on the other hand, consists of an IL-12R β 1 and an IL-12R β 2 subunit and induces the recruitment of JAK2 and STAT4 activation. Experiments with knockout mice revealed that both the IL-12 β 1- and the IL-12p40 subunit were essential for myocarditis induction [23, 24]. In contrast, IL-12p35-deficient mice developed more severe autoimmune myocarditis compared to wild-type littermate controls [23]. These apparent paradoxical findings were explained by the discovery that IL-12p40 represents a shared subunit between IL-12p70 and IL-23, another cytokine of the IL-12 family. IL-23 is composed of IL-12p40 and a distinct p19 subunit. Moreover, the IL-23 receptor shares the β1 chain with the IL-12p70 receptor. IL-23, however, promotes expansion and survival of Th17 cells [25-28]. Th17 cells are involved in chronic and autoimmune inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [28], graft-versus-host disease [29], or allergic asthma [30]. In the context of experimental autoimmune myocarditis, selective in vitro expansion of MvHC- α specific IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells in the presence of recombinant IL-23 and anti-IL-12p70 antibodies yields heart-specific Th17 T cell lines, which are highly pathogenic after transfer in wild-type mice [31]. In addition, treatment of myosin-peptide immunized mice by active vaccination [32] or with an IL-17-depleting antibody [31] ameliorates EAM severity. In line with these findings, Cruz-Adalia et al. linked enhanced myocarditis susceptibility and heart failure progression in CD69-deficient mice to an exacerbated Th17 response [33]. In contrast, IL-17A signaling seems dispensable for EAM induction because IL-17A-deficient mice developed similar myocarditis severity scores as wild-type controls 3 weeks after immunization [34]. Of note, EAM was also induced in double knockout mice lacking both IL-17A and Th1 cytokine IFN- γ [34]. These latter findings suggest that neither IL-17 nor IFN- γ compensates for each other in EAM induction at least not in the knockout model.

The utility and relevance of the EAM model mirroring human disease relies on the fact that mice with EAM develop dilated cardiomyopathy. Interestingly, the absence of IL-17A did not prevent acute myocarditis, but almost completely protected from progression to cardiomyopathy by inhibiting pathological remodeling and cardiac fibrosis [34]. Similar protective effects are observed in anti-TGF- β -treated, myosin/CFA-immunized mice [22] or in animals lacking the IL-1 receptor-linked, downstream adaptor molecule MyD88 [21]. Both TGF and IL-1 are closely linked to IL-17. In fact, increasing evidence suggests a critical role for IL-17 in chronic progressive inflammatory responses and fibrogenesis that goes beyond its role as key cytokine of a distinct helper cell subset. Despite the not yet clarified role for IL-17 in EAM induction, IL-17 therefore appears as promising target for the prevention of heart failure progression.

4 Activation of Self-Antigen-Loaded Dendritic Is Critical for EAM Induction

The efficient priming of heart-specific, autoreactive T cells requires cooperation between the innate and adaptive activation signals beyond an individual and genetically defined threshold level. Dendritic cells are sentinels of the immune system scavenging foreign pathogens as well as cell debris and necrotic tissues. Nonspecific activation of dendritic cells through Toll-like receptors is supposed to be critical for autoreactive T cell priming. Once activated, CD40 ligand expressing autoreactive T cells further increase the priming efficacy of the dendritic cells by a positive feedback loop that promotes production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and survival of activated dendritic cells via CD40-CD40L interaction [35].

Several lines of evidence point toward a critical role of dendritic cells in inflammatory heart diseases. Clinically total peripheral blood dendritic cells are elevated in patients with end-stage heart failure [36]. In mice, a specific subset of interstitial cells expressing the dendritic cell marker CD11c had been identified in perivascular heart tissue. Interestingly, these cells constitutively express cardiac self-antigens on MHC class II molecules even in the healthy heart [37]. The number of these cells and upregulation of their MHC class II expression parallels the development of cardiac inflammation [38].

The precise role of these heart resident dendritic cells is not clear. As mentioned above, dendritic cell activation is largely mediated by Toll-like receptors. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) represent a family of evolutionarily conserved transmembrane receptors [39]. Importantly, different TLRs exhibit different specificities for microbial patterns such as LPS, or double-stranded RNA, as well as for some endogenous products such as heat shock proteins and other stimulatory signals released by dving cells, such as cardiac myosin, for example [40]. Because antigen-presenting dendritic cells process not only foreign antigens but also damaged self-tissue, we expect that activation of self-antigen-loaded dendritic cells beyond a certain threshold would overcome counterregulatory mechanisms of peripheral tolerance and result in the expansion of autoreactive, self-aggressive T cells. This has been termed the "adjuvant effect" of infection in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity [41]. Accordingly, injection of mice with MyHC- α -loaded dendritic cells activated through TLR ligands such as LPS or CpG triggers autoimmune myocarditis and heart failure in susceptible BALB/c mice [35]. Furthermore, mice lacking the common adaptor molecule MyD88 for different Toll-like receptors are protected from autoimmune myocarditis [42]. Importantly, the idea that innate activation of self-antigen-loaded dendritic cells is sufficient to induce pathogenic autoreactive T cells does not exclude antigenic mimicry in putting the organism at risk for autoimmune heart disease; it is conceivable that an immune system that was exposed to symptomatic or subclinical infections with any microorganisms containing self-antigen-like structures is more susceptible to boost an autoreactive T cell response after a second hit that releases self-antigen on the background of a nonspecific inflammatory response [1]. This concept nicely fits a well-known clinical observation: It might explain why some patients develop heart-specific autoimmunity after noninfectious tissue damage, that is, after cardiac surgery or myocardial infarction [43, 44]. We believe that tissue damage of any cause results in uptake of self-antigens by dendritic cells. If these self-antigen-loaded dendritic cells become activated, this might be sufficient for the initiation of an autoimmune response depending on the genetic susceptibility of the affected individual [45, 46].

Activation of antigen-presenting dendritic cells through Toll-like receptors results in upregulation of MHC class II as well as co-stimulatory molecules.

Activated dendritic cells produce high amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which exert auto- and paracrine effects on both antigen-presenting cells as well as T cells. Major pro-inflammatory cytokines released by TLR activated dendritic cells include IL-12p40, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , which are all critical for EAM induction and progression [18, 20, 42, 47]. Gene-targeted mice lacking the TNFRp55receptor, for example, are protected from disease, and it had been hypothesized that TNF- α mediates the activation of heart resident dendritic cells as well as adhesion molecules on the vascular endothelium [35]. As aforementioned, IL-12p40 represents a subunit of IL-23, which has been recognized as a critical mediator for the expansion and survival for the pathogenic heart-specific Th17 T cell subset [25-27]. IL-1 and IL-6, together with TGF- β , are required for the priming of autoreactive Th17 T cells [28, 48]. From this point of view, it is not surprising that mice lacking IL-6 as well as IL-1 receptor type I-deficient mice are protected from experimental autoimmune myocarditis [18, 47]. Indeed, CD4+ T cells from both MyHC-α/CFA-immunized IL-6-deficient and IL-1R type I-deficient mice proliferate poorly after in vitro restimulation with cardiac antigen and produce only irrelevant levels of IL-17 compared to T cells isolated from immunized wild-type mice (Valaperti and Eriksson, unpublished results). Nevertheless, disease resistance of IL-1 receptor type I-deficient mice cannot be explained by its effects in the priming of autoreactive Th17 cells alone. In fact, IL-1 is also required to promote the auto/ paracrine activation of self-antigen-loaded dendritic cells [18]. Furthermore, these data imply that in the presence of antigen-loaded and activated wild-type dendritic cells, Th17 cells can develop in the absence of IL-1 receptor type I signaling in the T cell compartment. Further studies are needed to identify cytokines and mediators compensating for the absence of IL-1 signaling in Th17 priming.

5 Opposing Roles for IFN-γ and Th17 Cells in Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis

Immunization of BALB/c mice with MyHC- α -peptide/CFA results in a mixed T cell response. In fact, in vitro restimulation of CD4+ T cells from peripheral, draining lymph nodes of diseased mice mainly results in the production of IFN- γ and IL-17, indicating expansion of both Th1 and Th17 subsets. In fact, EAM can be induced with Th1 and Th17 heart-specific T cell lines (Blyszczuk and Eriksson, unpublished data). Furthermore, double knockout mice lacking both IL-17A and Th1 cytokine IFN- γ are susceptible to EAM. Thus, the T helper cell phenotype rather determinates the specific disease phenotype, and – even more important – the development of end-stage heart failure, than myocarditis susceptibility by itself. Nevertheless, in diseased hearts of wild-type mice, Th17 cells predominate, and IFN- γ released from other heart-infiltrating cells, such as nonspecific CD8+ T cells, for example, negatively regulates autoimmune myocarditis [23]. Accordingly, mice lacking IFN- γ or IFN- γ receptor develop more severe, progressive disease [19, 20].



Fig. 1 IL-17 promotes the recruitment of myelo-derived precursor cells to the inflamed heart. Precursors differentiate into granulocytes or macrophages. In macrophages, interferon-gamma and/or Toll-like receptor activation triggers inflammatory cytokine release and upregulation of nitric oxide synthase 2. Nitric oxide, on the other hand, induces growth arrest of autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells and confines heart-specific inflammation

These data are in line with observations from the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model, where IFN- γ confines the expansion of autoreactive T cells. IFN- γ might impair the generation and expansion of autoreactive T cells on many levels. In vitro, IFN- γ directly suppresses the generation of Th17 cells [25–29]. In experimental autoimmune myocarditis, IFN- γ impairs the apoptosis of CD25 + CD4+ regulatory T cells [49] and promotes nitric oxide-mediated T cell growth arrest [19, 31]. Mac-1 (CD11b) expressing monocytes represent the major fraction of heart-infiltrating cells in experimental autoimmune myocarditis [31]. In vivo experiments with IL-17-depleting antibodies demonstrated that IL-17 directly mediates the recruitment of CD11b expressing myeloid-derived monocytes to the heart. So far, monocytes have been considered an active, disease-promoting substrate of inflammation. Accordingly, factors influencing monocyte/macrophage differentiation can regulate EAM severity [50]. Interestingly, specific monocyte subsets even exert protective effects. Heart infiltrating, CD11b + cells, for example, might also represent a key element in the IFN- γ -dependent negative feedback mechanism confining autoreactive T cell expansion and cardiac inflammation. Mechanistically, IFN- γ induces NOS2 (nitric oxide synthase 2) upregulation in monocytes. NOS2 upregulation promotes local release of nitric oxide, which has been recognized as a short-living mediator of reversible T cell growth arrest at physiological levels. This negative feedback mechanism makes sense as it allows the immune system promote the recruitment of monocytes to a potentially infected site. IFN- γ , on the other hand, is required for the optimal activation of monocytes and macrophages dealing with an infective agent. At the same time, IFN- γ limits the expansion of activated T cells and protects from exaggerated or even autoaggressive T cell responses (Fig. 1).

6 Conclusions

Experimental autoimmune myocarditis is a helpful in vivo model to study the pathogenesis of human inflammatory heart diseases. It illustrates the cooperation between innate and adaptive immunity as the critical event triggering heart-specific autoimmunity and experiments with gene-targeted mice lacking specific cytokines and cytokine receptors greatly advanced our knowledge of the decisive pathogenetic pathways. It is not clear, however, to what extent these observations can be transferred to the human system. Additional studies are needed to identify self-pathogenic T cell subsets in patients with active myocarditis. Meanwhile, insights from the autoimmune myocarditis model nevertheless offer an attractive tool to develop innovative and novel treatment strategies.

Acknowledgment Urs Eriksson acknowledges support from Medtronik, Boston Scientific, Novartis, the Swiss Heart Foundation, and from the Swiss National Foundation.

References

- Eriksson U, Penninger JM (2005) Autoimmune heart failure: new understandings of pathogenesis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37:27–32
- 2. Cooper LT Jr (2009) Myocarditis. N Engl J Med 360:1526-1538
- Bobbert P, Scheibenbogen C, Jenke A, Kania G, Wilk S, Krohn S, Stehr J, Kuehl U, Rauch U, Eriksson U, Schultheiss HP, Poller W, Skurk C (2011) Adiponectin expression in patients with inflammatory cardiomyopathy indicates favourable outcome and inflammation control. Eur Heart J 32(9):1134–1147
- Pauschinger M, Doerner A, Kuehl U, Schwimmbeck PL, Poller W, Kandolf R, Schultheiss HP (1999) Enteroviral RNA replication in the myocardium of patients with left ventricular dysfunction and clinically suspected myocarditis. Circulation 99:889–895
- 5. Koelsch SPS, Hufnagel G, Maisch B (2004) The European study of epidemiology and treatment of cardiac inflammatory diseases (ESETCID)—epidemiological results after 6 years. In: Annual meeting of the AHA, New Orleans
- Badorff C, Lee GH, Lamphear BJ, Martone ME, Campbell KP, Rhoads RE, Knowlton KU (1999) Enteroviral protease 2A cleaves dystrophin: evidence of cytoskeletal disruption in an acquired cardiomyopathy. Nat Med 5(3):320–326
- Caforio ALP, Calabrese F, Angelini A, Tona F, Vinci A, Bottaro S, Ramondo A, Carturan E, Iliceto S, Thiene G, Daliento L (2007) A prospective study of biopsy-proven myocarditis: prognostic relevance of clinical and aetiopathogenetic features at diagnosis. Eur Heart J 28:1326–1333

- Frustaci A, Russo MA, Chimenti C (2009) Randomized study on the efficacy of immunosuppressive therapy in patients with virus-negative inflammatory cardiomyopathy: the TIMIC study. Eur Heart J 30(16):1995–2002
- 9. Frustaci A, Pieroni M, Chimenti C (2006) Immunosuppressive treatment of chronic non-viral myocarditis. Ernst Schering Res Found Workshop 55:343–351
- Lodge PA, Herzum M, Olszewski J, Huber SA (1987) Coxsackievirus B3 myocarditis. Acute and chronic forms of the disease caused by different immunopathogenic mechanisms. Am J Pathol 128:455–463
- 11. Fairweather D, Kaya Z, Shellam GR, Lawson CM, Rose NR (2001) From infection to autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 16:175–186
- Smith SC, Allen PM (1991) Myosin-induced acute myocarditis is a T cell-mediated disease. J Immunol 147:2141–2147
- Schwimmbeck PL, Badorff C, Schultheiss HP, Strauer BE (1994) Transfer of human myocarditis into severe combined immunodeficiency mice. Circ Res 75:156–164
- 14. Neu N, Pummerer C, Rieker T, Berger P (1993) T cells in cardiac myosin-induced myocarditis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 68:107–110
- Huber SA, Sartini D, Exley M (2002) Vγ4+ T cells promote autoimmune CD8+ cytolytic Tlymphocyte activation in coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis in mice: role for CD4+ Th1 cells. J Virol 76:10785–10790
- Neu N, Rose NR, Beisel KW, Herskowitz A, Gurri-Glass G, Craig SW (1987) Cardiac myosin induces myocarditis in genetically predisposed mice. J Immunol 139:3630–3636
- Pummerer CL, Luze K, Grassl G, Bachmaier K, Offner F, Burrell SK, Lenz DM, Zamborelli TJ, Penninger JM, Neu N (1996) Identification of cardiac myosin peptides capable of inducing autoimmune myocarditis in BALB/c mice. J Clin Invest 97:2057–2062
- Eriksson U, Kurrer MO, Sonderegger I, Iezzi G, Tafuri A, Hunziker L, Suzuki S, Bachmaier K, Bingisser RM, Penninger JM, Kopf M (2003) Activation of dendritic cells through the interleukin 1 receptor 1 is critical for the induction of autoimmune myocarditis. J Exp Med 197:323–331
- Eriksson U, Kurrer MO, Bingisser R, Eugster HP, Saremaslani P, Follath F, Marsch S, Widmer U (2001) Lethal autoimmune myocarditis in interferon-gamma receptor deficient mice: enhanced disease severity by impaired inducible nitric oxide synthase induction. Circulation 103:18–21
- Eriksson U, Kurrer MO, Sebald W, Brombacher F, Kopf M (2001) Dual role of the IL-12/IFNgamma axis in the development of autoimmune myocarditis: induction by IL-12 and protection by IFN-gamma. J Immunol 167:5464–5469
- Blyszczuk P, Kania G, Dieterle T, Marty RR, Valaperti A, Bertonneche C, Pedrazzini T, Berger CT, Dirnhofer S, Matter CM, Penninger JM, Lüscher TF, Eriksson U (2009) MyD88/ IL-1 signaling controls cardiac fibrosis and heart failure progression in inflammatory dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 105:912–920
- 22. Kania G, Blyszczuk P, Stein MS, Valaperti A, Germano D, Dirnhofer S, Hunziker L, Matter CM, Eriksson U (2009) Heart-infiltrating prominin-1⁺/CD133⁺ progenitor cells represent the cellular source of TGF-β-mediated cardiac fibrosis in experimental autoimmune myocarditis. Circ Res 105:462–470
- Rangachari M, Mauermann N, Marty RR, Dirnhofer S, Kurrer MO, Komnenovic V, Penninger JM, Eriksson U (2006) T-bet negatively regulates autoimmune myocarditis by suppressing local production of interleukin 17. J Exp Med 203:2009–2019
- 24. Afanasyeva M, Wang Y, Kaya Z, Stafford EA, Dohmen KM, Sadighi Akha AA, Rose NR (2001) Interleukin-12 receptor/STAT4 signaling is required for the development of autoimmune myocarditis in mice by an interferon-gamma-independent pathway. Circulation 104:3145–3151
- 25. Harrington LH, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132

- Dong C (2006) Diversification of T-helper-cell lineages: finding the family root of IL-17producing cells. Nat Rev Immunol 6:329–333
- 27. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chan SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q, Dong C (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141
- Mathur AN, Chang HC, Zisoulis DG, Stritesky GL, Yu Q, O'Malley JT, Kapur R, Levy DE, Kansas GS, Kaplan MH (2007) Stat3 and Stat4 direct development of IL-17-secreting Th cells. J Immunol 178:4901–4907
- Lohr J, Knoechel B, Wang JJ, Villarino AV, Abbas AK (2006) Role of IL-17 and regulatory lymphocytes in a systemic autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 203:2785–2791
- Schnyder-Candrian S, Togbe D, Couillin I, Mercier I, Brombacher F, Quesniaux V, Fossiez F, Ryffel B, Schnyder B (2006) Interleukin-17 is a negative regulator of established allergic asthma. J Exp Med 203:2715–2725
- Valaperti A, Marty RR, Kania G, Germano D, Mauermann N, Dirnhofer S, Leimenstoll B, Blyszczuk P, Dong C, Mueller C, Hunziker L, Eriksson U (2008) CD11b + monocyte abrogate Th17 CD4+ T cell-mediated experimental autoimmune myocarditis. J Immunol 180:2686–2695
- Sonderegger I, Rohn TA, Kurrer MO, Iezzi G, Zou Y, Kastelein RA, Bachmann MF, Kopf M (2006) Neutralization of IL-17 by active vaccination inhibits IL-23-dependent autoimmune myocarditis. Eur J Immunol 36:2849–2856
- Cruz-Adalia A, Jiménez-Borreguero LJ, Ramírez-Huesca M, Chico-Calero I, Barreiro O, López-Conesa E, Fresno M, Sánchez-Madrid F, Martín P (2010) CD69 limits the severity of cardiomyopathy after autoimmune myocarditis. Circulation 122:1396–1404
- 34. Baldeviano CG, Barin JG, Talor MV, Srinivasan S, Bedja D, Zheng D, Gabrielson K, Iwakura Y, Rose NR, Cihakova D (2010) Interleukin-17A is dispensable for myocarditis but essential for the progression to dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 106:1646–1655
- 35. Eriksson U, Ricci R, Hunziker L, Kurrer MO, Oudit GY, Watts TH, Sonderegger I, Bachmaier K, Kopf M, Penninger JM (2003) Dendritic cell-induced autoimmune heart failure requires cooperation between adaptive and innate immunity. Nat Med 9:1484–1490
- 36. Athanassopoulos P, Vaessen LMB, Maat APWM, Balk AHMM, Weimar W, Bogers AJJC (2004) Peripheral blood dendritic cells in human end-stage heart failure and the early post-transplant period: evidence for systemic Th1 immune responses. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 25:619–626
- Donermeyer DL, Beisel KW, Allen PM (1995) Myocarditis-inducing epitope of myosin binds constitutively and stably to I-Ak on antigen-presenting cells in the heart. J Exp Med 182:1291–1300
- 38. Smith SC, Allen PM (1992) Expression of myosin-class II major histocompatibility complexes in the normal myocardium occurs before induction of autoimmune myocarditis. Proc Natl Acas Sci USA 89:9131–9135
- Akira S, Hemmi H (2003) Recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by TLR family. Immunol Lett 85:85–95
- 40. Zhang P, Cox CJ, Alvarez KM, Cunningham MW (2009) Cutting edge: cardiac myosin activates innate immune responses through TLRs. J Immunol 183(1):27–31
- 41. Rose NR (2001) Infection, mimics, and autoimmune disease. J Clin Invest 107:943-944
- Marty RR, Dirnhofer S, Mauermann N, Schweikert S, Akira S, Hunziker L, Penninger JM, Eriksson U (2006) MyD88 signaling controls autoimmune myocarditis induction. Circulation 113:258–265
- 43. Maisel A, Cesario D, Baird S, Rehman J, Haghighi P, Carter S (1998) Experimental autoimmune myocarditis produced by adoptive transfer of splenocytes after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 82:458–463
- 44. Moraru M, Roth A, Keren G, George J (2006) Cellular autoimmunity to cardiac myosin in patients with a recent myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 107:61–66
- 45. Tsan MF, Gao B (2004) Endogenous ligands of Toll-like receptors. J Leukoc Biol 76:514-519

- 46. Schett G, Metzler B, Kleindienst R, Amberger A, Recheis H, Xu Q, Wick G (1999) Myocardial injury leads to a release of heat shock protein (hsp) 60 and a suppression of the anti-hsp65 immune response. Cardiovasc Res 42:685–695
- 47. Eriksson U, Kurrer MO, Schmitz N, Marsch SC, Fontana A, Eugster HP, Kopf M (2003) Interleukin-6-deficient mice resist development of autoimmune myocarditis associated with impaired upregulation of complement C3. Circulation 107:320–325
- Sutton C, Brereton C, Keogh B, Mills KHG, Lavelle EC (2006) A crucial role for interleukin (IL)-1 in the induction of IL-17-producing T cells that mediate autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med 203:1685–1691
- 49. Afanasyeva M, Georgakopoulos D, Belardi DF, Bedja D, Fairweather D, Wang Y, Kaya Z, Gabrielson KL, Rodriguez ER, Caturegli P, Kass DA, Rose NR (2005) Impaired up-regulation of CD25 on CD4+ T cells in IFN-γ knockout mice is associated with progression of myocarditis to heart failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:180–185
- 50. Cihakova D, Barin JG, Afanasyeva M, Kimura M, Fairweather D, Berg M, Talor MV, Baldeviano GC, Frisancho S, Gabrielson K, Bedja D, Rose NR (2008) Interleukin-13 protects against experimental autoimmune myocarditis by regulating macrophage differentiation. Am J Pathol 172:1195–1208

Th17 Cells in Transplantation: Actors or Innocent Bystanders?

Louis-Marie Charbonnier, Benoit Vokaer, Philippe Lemaître, and Alain Le Moine

Abstract The recent interest for Th17 cells immediately raised questions about their possible involvement in allogeneic processes. Indeed, IL-17-producing innate immune cells and Th17 cells have now been related to allograft rejection and ischemia-reperfusion injury in clinical settings and in experimental models. Some of them clearly established a link between the presence of these cells and the development of long-term graft dysfunction. A pivotal role of a Th17-mediated pathway in transplant damage has been demonstrated independently of MHC disparities with T cells recognizing either autoantigen or minor transplantation antigen. The ambiguous relationship between regulatory T cells (Treg) and Th17 cells also complicates Treg-based therapy. Herein, we briefly discuss recent studies reporting Th17 and IL-17 involvements in allograft rejection processes.

1 Introduction

Th17 cells are now recognized as important players of immune responses, especially in responses against microorganisms or in autoimmunity as developed in the other chapters. A priori, there is no reason for excluding Th17 from the allogeneic response and to not consider them as potential effectors of allograft damage. Indeed, the presence of IL-17 has been described in allogeneic tissues or graft product during rejection. IL-17 has been observed in renal biopsies and urine during acute rejection in kidney-transplanted patients [1, 2]. This feature was correlated

A. Le Moine (🖂)

Institute for Medical Immunology, 8 rue Adrienne Bolland, Gosselies 6041, Belgium

Nephrology department, Erasme Hospital, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: alemoine@ulb.ac.be

L-MC, BV, and PL are first coauthors.

L.-M. Charbonnier • B. Vokaer • P. Lemaître Institute for Medical Immunology, 8 rue Adrienne Bolland, Gosselies 6041, Belgium

with a late renal allograft dysfunction [3]. In parallel, elevated levels of IL-23 (a Th17 booster) and IL-17 were measured in serum of patients presenting an acute rejection of hepatic or pulmonary transplant [4]. An abnormal production of IL-23 and IL-17 associated with the presence of neutrophils has been described in the bronchoalveolar lavage from patient suffering of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS), which is considered the hallmark of chronic lung allograft rejection [5].

2 IL-17 and Ischemia-Reperfusion: The "Snow Ball Effect"

Previous studies established a direct role played by the IL-17 in the ischemiareperfusion injury (IRI) at the early stage of transplantation. In a murine model of renal IRI, IL-17, or IL-23 neutralization improved renal function and prevented the inflammatory infiltrate [6]. In this context, polymorphonuclear neutrophils were the relevant source of IL-17. Neutrophil-derived IL-17 promotes the production of several chemokines by epithelial and endothelial cells (CXCL1, CXCL2) that in turn recruit other leucocytes. In a model of ischemic brain injury, the pathogenic role of IL-17 has also been established. In this system, an early burst of IL-17 released by the $\gamma\delta^+$ T cell subset orchestrates the inflammatory process and damages [7].

Whereas IL-17 acts directly in ischemia-reperfusion injury, recent studies demonstrated that IRI by itself promotes the Th17 differentiation, constituting therefore a positive feedback loop. Indeed, two independent works reported how IL-6, a typical pro-inflammatory cytokine abundantly released during IRI, promotes the Th17 differentiation of naive T cells [8, 9]. In these observations, IL-6 strongly induces the expression of the transcription factor HIF-1 (hypoxia-inducible factor-1), which in turn enhances the Th17 differentiation by activating ROR γ t, a transcription factor considered as the master regulator of Th17. The expression of HIF-1 was dependent of mTOR pathway and disappeared after rapamycin exposure [8]. This concept was supported by the experiments of Nakagiri et al. [10]. In this model of tracheal transplantation, the early IL-6 neutralization abolished the chronic obliterative airway disease by preventing late IL-17 production. At the same time, it seems that IL-17 by itself can end this vicious circle. Indeed, in a model of member ischemia, the IL-17-producing CD4⁺ T cells exhibit angiogenic properties that support neovascularization [11].

Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) are classically described as a link between innate and adaptive immunity. Becoming mature under inflammatory conditions, they present allogeneic peptides in self-major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) to alloreactive T lymphocytes (the indirect pathway of alloantigen presentation), or as donor-derived cells they can directly present intact allo-MHC molecules to alloreactive lymphocytes (direct pathway). In a heart transplantation model, the early IL-17 production promotes the maturation of dendritic cells by increasing the expression of MHC and costimulatory molecules and by this way optimizes the sensitization of alloreactive lymphocytes [12]. Those IL-17-mediated effects are summarized in Figs. 1 and 2.



Fig. 1 T-helper subset differentiation and their implication in allograft rejection. When alloantigens are presented either as processed peptides (indirect pathway) or as donor intact MHC (*direct pathway*) on antigen-presenting cells (APCs), naive CD4+ T cells (Th0) are activated and differentiated into Th1, Th2, Th17, or follicular helper T cells (Tfh). T helper differentiation is triggered by polarizing cytokines leading to the expression of specific transcription factors: T-bet via IL-12 for Th1, GATA3 via IL-4 for Th2, RORγt via IL-6 plus TGF-β for Th17 and Bcl-6 via IL-21 for Tfh cells. Th1 cells express CXCR3 and CCR5, secrete IFN-γ which is critical for MHC II upregulation on cell surface and promote macrophage recruitment and release of TNF- α , nitric oxide (NO), and oxygen species. Th2 cells express CCR4 and CCR8 and produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 leading to IL-5/eosinophil-mediated rejection by the release of eosinophil cationic protein (ECP), major basic protein (MBP), and peroxidase (Eo.Perox.) activity. Th17 cells express CCR6 and secrete IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 and promote neutrophil granulopoiesis, recruitment, and activation (the latter is characterized by myeloperoxydase (MPO) activity and release of H2O2 and oxygen species). Tfh cells are recruited to the B cell zone of lymphoid organs through the CXCR5 chemokine receptor and secrete IL-21 leading to B cell differentiation in plasma cells that secrete alloantibodies

3 The Multiple Roles of the IL-17 in the Anti-donor Immune Response

The involvement of human Th17 cells in the rejection process has been widely described in pulmonary transplantation [13] (summarized in Figs. 1, 2, and 3). During IRI following lung transplantation, cryptogenic fragments of type V collagen (col(V)) derived from the pulmonary basal membrane are released and processed by antigen-presenting cells. These new epitopes sensitize anti-col(V) CD4⁺ lymphocytes, which differentiate toward an IL-17-producing phenotype. Several clinical and experimental studies in rats illustrate the implication of these lymphocytes in the bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS) [14], chronic form of the pulmonary graft rejection. However, in this syndrome, it seems more appropriate to speak about autoimmunity than true alloreactivity (reactivity against col(V)


Fig. 2 Conditions favoring Th17-mediated rejection and responder cells. The bacterial product CpG, a TLR9 ligand, promotes IL-6-mediated Th17 pathway of rejection under immunosuppression with rapamycine and CD40 costimulation blockade. In clinical lung transplantation, release of type V collagen from the transplant promotes autoreactive Th17 cells that favor the bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome. In the context of minor antigen disparity, regulatory T cells (Treg) are critical for Th17-mediated neutrophil pathway of rejection. Memory Th17 cells increase with age and contribute to allograft rejection. Th17 cells play a critical role in inflammation and neovascularization after ischemia. Calcineurin inhibitor (CNI)-induced Th17/Treg imbalance and susceptibility to allograft dysfunction may rely on the dampening of Th1 reactivity and IL-2 inhibition (this remains to be clearly established in animal models). Th17 cells mediate cardiac allograft rejection are described on the right

rather than against MHC molecules). In a murine model of MHC-mismatched skin transplantation, the absence of IL-17 does not modify the survival of the graft [15]. Nevertheless, the neutralization of this cytokine in the context of minor antigendisparate skin graft delays significantly the graft rejection. These observations suggest that, without any immunosuppressors, IL-17 in an untreated recipient does not seem to play a dominant role in MHC-mismatched graft rejection.

However, it is not excluded that a "Th17" pathway of rejection could emerge when the immune system is regulated by some treatment. For example, in a model of allograft tolerance induced by the costimulatory blockade (blockade of the CD40-CD154 pathway), an IL-6/IL-17-dependent pathway of rejection appears after APCs stimulation with a Toll-like receptor 9 agonist [16]. In a similar model of heart tolerance, Burell E. et al. showed that *T-bet* deficiency (a key factor of the Th1 differentiation) in the recipient causes an acute form of rejection depending on IL-17-producing CD8⁺ lymphocytes [17]. In addition, it seems that graft rejection could spontaneously tip toward a Th17 phenotype in aging recipients [18]. Indeed, both in human and mouse, an increased pool of anti-donor IL-17-



Fig. 3 Conditions favoring Th17 imbalance in transplantation. Tregs favor a Th17 bias of alloreactive T cells in the context of minor antigens disparity. By induction of IL-6 secretion, TLR9 ligand promotes Th17 pathway of rejection in the context of costimulation blockade. Type V collagen from the transplant promotes autoreactive Th17 cells leading to allograft rejection. Absence of Th1 differentiation due to T-bet deficiency leads to a Th17-dependant pathway of rejection. During ischemia, hypoxia induces HIF-1 α that modulates the balance between Tregs and Th17

producing CD4⁺ lymphocytes was observed in aged recipients. These cells exhibit a memory phenotype and could be responsible of an exacerbated form of rejection. Very recently, it has been shown that some immunosuppressive drugs could contribute to the emergence of a Th17 immune response among transplanted patients [19, 20]. Interestingly, this phenomenon could be linked to a long-term graft dysfunction.

By studying 11 human renal grafts detransplanted for terminal failure, the work of Deteix et al. established a correlation between the presence of Th17 lymphocytes and the short duration of life of the graft [21]. In this study, human Th17 cells were described to produce IL-21, which promotes lymphoid neogenesis in the renal interstitium. Another role played by the IL-17 in the chronic allograft rejection could be its pro-fibrotic effect. This was illustrated in a murine model of heart transplantation after CD4⁺ cell depletion in which a progressive fibrosis is prevented by IL-17 neutralization [22]. Finally, renal tubular epithelial cells can also produce IL-17 during acute rejection. This phenomenon was illustrated by immunostaining of renal biopsies in transplanted patients presenting an acute antibody-mediated form of rejection. This production could be dependent on the activation of complement [23]. However, the direct involvement of IL-17 in these lesions remains unclear.

4 Crisscross Inhibition of Th17 and Th1 Alloimmune Response

The in vitro differentiation of a naive CD4⁺ T lymphocyte into a Th17 phenotype is strongly inhibited by either pro-Th1 or pro-Th2 cytokine environment (Figs. 2 and 3). Many experimental arguments let us to expand this fundamental concept to transplantation. Indeed, by using T-bet-deficient recipients in a model of single class II MHC-mismatched cardiac allograft, the inhibition of the Th17 differentiation by Th1-related gene could be demonstrated in transplantation [24]. In this study, whereas cardiac grafts survived 40 days in wild-type recipients, an IL-17-dependent graft destruction occurred among T-bet^{-/-} recipient at day 11 post-transplantation. Conversely, the inhibition of the Th1 pathway by IL-17 has also been described during graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) [25]. In this case, IL-17-deficient allogeneic T cells transferred into irradiated recipients led to an exacerbated Th1 response and a worsened disease. We also observed an increased Th17 alloreactivity in IL-4 KO recipients suggesting the inhibition of the Th17 alloreactivity in L-4, a typical Th2 cytokine (unpublished data).

5 Relation Between Tregs and IL-17 in Transplantation

Although tolerance induction is still anecdotic in clinical transplantation, it has been already achieved in many experimental studies by using the tolerogenic properties of regulatory T cells (Fig. 3). Tregs constitutively express the α -chain of the high-affinity IL-2 receptor (CD25) and the transcription factor foxp3. Although their capacities to control both Th1 and Th2 alloimmune responses are well described, their interactions with Th17 cells remain under debate. Indeed, we have recently shown that a Th17 alloimmune response could escape to Tregmediated suppression in vitro [26]. Furthermore, some evidences demonstrated that Tregs could promote a Th17 immune response. Indeed, CD4⁺ T cells were induced to produce IL-17 when stimulated by allogeneic mature dendritic cells in presence of Tregs in a dose-dependent manner. In contrast, the Tregs in this setting led to a decreased production of the cytokines Th1 and Th2 [26]. Other teams obtained similar results after polyclonal stimulation by anti-CD3 [27]. We recently confirmed this concept in vivo by using a model of minor antigendisparate graft rejection [15]. In this particular model, Treg-depletion prevented Th17 alloreactivity. In addition, the adoptive cotransfer of Tregs with naïve monospecific anti-donor T cells in a lymphopenic hosts biased the immune response toward Th17.

The mechanisms by which Tregs favor a Th17 immune response were recently clarified. Two independent teams described that $foxp3^+$ regulatory T cells promoted Th17 cell development in vivo and in vitro through regulation of interleukin-2 [28, 29]. Indeed, by limiting the availability of IL-2, Tregs consume a great inhibitor of the Th17 differentiation. Interestingly, the Treg-dependent TGF- β

production (a pro-Th17 factor) was not required for Th17 cell promotion. This point was demonstrated by the fact that specific deletion of the tgf- β gene in Tregs did not affect their ability to favor Th17 differentiation. Another nonmutually exclusive possibility relies in the Treg-mediated suppression of Th1 cells, which have been described as inhibiting Th17 differentiation [30, 31]. However, Treg-mediated inhibition of Th1 alone may not be sufficient to explain the pro-Th17 effect of Tregs. Indeed, the Treg-dependent Th17 differentiation still occurred even when Th1 cytokines are completely blocked [15, 29]. Altogether, these results suggest that the use of Tregs for tolerance induction should be carefully considered because of their ability to promote the emergence of a Th17-mediated rejection.

6 Conclusion

Several clinical studies have reported the presence of Th17 cells and related cytokines in association with particular forms of transplant rejection. Moreover, some of them clearly established a link between the presences of these cells and the development of long-term graft dysfunction. Interestingly, a pivotal role of the Th17 pathway in transplant damage was demonstrated independently of MHC molecule disparities. This is true for alloreactive Th17 cells in the context of minor antigen disparities and autoreactive anti-collagen (V) Th17 cells after lung transplantation. This suggests that the participation of Th17 pathway in transplantation operates in an autoimmune-like manner. As redundant immune pathways lead to allograft rejection, it seems unlikely that IL-17 neutralization alone could have an impact on MHC-mismatched allograft survival. However, it is not excluded that a "Th17" pathway of rejection could emerge when the immune system or the alloreactive repertoire is modified by some therapeutics.

Acknowledgments Ph. LM is supported by a grant from the Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS/FRSM) and B.V. by a grant from the Société Francophone de Transplantation (SFT). ALM is a researcher associate from the FNRS. A part of this work was supported by a ROTRF grant (Roche Organ Transplantation Research Foundation)

References

- Loong CC, Hsieh HG, Lui WY, Chen A, Lin CY (2002) Evidence for the early involvement of interleukin 17 in human and experimental renal allograft rejection. J Pathol 197:322–332
- 2. Van Kooten C, Boonstra JG, Paape ME, Fossiez F, Banchereau J, Lebecque S, Bruijn JA, De Fijter JW, Van Es LA, Daha MR (1998) Interleukin-17 activates human renal epithelial cells in vitro and is expressed during renal allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1526–1534
- 3. Yapici U, Kers J, Bemelman FJ, Roelofs JJ, Groothoff JW, van der Loos CM, van Donselaarvan der Pant KA, Idu MM, Claessen N, Ten Berge IJ et al (2011) Interleukin-17 positive cells accumulate in renal allografts during acute rejection and are independent predictors of worse graft outcome. Transpl Int 24:1008–1017

- 4. Benghiat FS, Charbonnier LM, Vokaer B, De Wilde V, Le Moine A (2009) Interleukin 17producing T helper cells in alloimmunity. Transplant Rev (Orlando) 23:11–18
- 5. Vanaudenaerde BM, De Vleeschauwer SI, Vos R, Meyts I, Bullens DM, Reynders V, Wuyts WA, Van Raemdonck DE, Dupont LJ, Verleden GM (2008) The role of the IL23/IL17 axis in bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 8:1911–1920
- 6. Li L, Huang L, Vergis AL, Ye H, Bajwa A, Narayan V, Strieter RM, Rosin DL, Okusa MD (2010) IL-17 produced by neutrophils regulates IFN-gamma-mediated neutrophil migration in mouse kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest 120:331–342
- Shichita T, Sugiyama Y, Ooboshi H, Sugimori H, Nakagawa R, Takada I, Iwaki T, Okada Y, Iida M, Cua DJ et al (2009) Pivotal role of cerebral interleukin-17-producing gammadeltaT cells in the delayed phase of ischemic brain injury. Nat Med 15:946–950
- Shi LZ, Wang R, Huang G, Vogel P, Neale G, Green DR, Chi H (2011) HIF1alpha-dependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Treg cells. J Exp Med 208:1367–1376
- 9. Dang EV, Barbi J, Yang HY, Jinasena D, Yu H, Zheng Y, Bordman Z, Fu J, Kim Y, Yen HR et al (2011) Control of T(H)17/T(reg) balance by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Cell 146:772–784
- Nakagiri T, Inoue M, Morii E, Minami M, Sawabata N, Utsumi T, Kadota Y, Ideguchi K, Tokunaga T, Okumura M (2010) Local IL-17 production and a decrease in peripheral blood regulatory T cells in an animal model of bronchiolitis obliterans. Transplantation 89:1312–1319
- 11. Hata T, Takahashi M, Hida S, Kawaguchi M, Kashima Y, Usui F, Morimoto H, Nishiyama A, Izawa A, Koyama J et al (2011) Critical role of Th17 cells in inflammation and neovascularization after ischaemia. Cardiovasc Res 90:364–372
- Antonysamy MA, Fanslow WC, Fu F, Li W, Qian S, Troutt AB, Thomson AW (1999) Evidence for a role of IL-17 in organ allograft rejection: IL-17 promotes the functional differentiation of dendritic cell progenitors. J Immunol 162:577–584
- Burlingham WJ, Love RB, Jankowska-Gan E, Haynes LD, Xu Q, Bobadilla JL, Meyer KC, Hayney MS, Braun RK, Greenspan DS et al (2007) IL-17-dependent cellular immunity to collagen type V predisposes to obliterative bronchiolitis in human lung transplants. J Clin Invest 117:3498–3506
- 14. Braun RK, Molitor-Dart M, Wigfield C, Xiang Z, Fain SB, Jankowska-Gan E, Seroogy CM, Burlingham WJ, Wilkes DS, Brand DD et al (2009) Transfer of tolerance to collagen type V suppresses T-helper-cell-17 lymphocyte-mediated acute lung transplant rejection. Transplantation 88:1341–1348
- Vokaer B, Van Rompaey N, Lemaitre PH, Lhomme F, Kubjak C, Benghiat FS, Iwakura Y, Petein M, Field KA, Goldman M et al (2010) Critical role of regulatory T cells in Th17mediated minor antigen-disparate rejection. J Immunol 185:3417–3425
- Chen L, Ahmed E, Wang T, Wang Y, Ochando J, Chong AS, Alegre ML (2009) TLR signals promote IL-6/IL-17-dependent transplant rejection. J Immunol 182:6217–6225
- Burrell BE, Csencsits K, Lu G, Grabauskiene S, Bishop DK (2008) CD8+ Th17 mediate costimulation blockade-resistant allograft rejection in T-bet-deficient mice. J Immunol 181:3906–3914
- Tesar BM, Du W, Shirali AC, Walker WE, Shen H, Goldstein DR (2009) Aging augments IL-17T-cell alloimmune responses. Am J Transplant 9:54–63
- Abadja F, Atemkeng S, Alamartine E, Berthoux F, Mariat C (2011) Impact of mycophenolic acid and tacrolimus on Th17-related immune response. Transplantation 92:396–403
- 20. Li Y, Shi Y, Huang Z, Bai Y, Niu Q, Cai B, Wang L, Feng W (2011) CNI induced Th17/Treg imbalance and susceptibility to renal dysfunction in renal transplantation. Int Immunopharmacol 11(12):2033–2038
- Deteix C, Attuil-Audenis V, Duthey A, Patey N, McGregor B, Dubois V, Caligiuri G, Graff-Dubois S, Morelon E, Thaunat O (2010) Intragraft Th17 infiltrate promotes lymphoid neogenesis and hastens clinical chronic rejection. J Immunol 184:5344–5351

- 22. Diaz JA, Booth AJ, Lu G, Wood SC, Pinsky DJ, Bishop DK (2009) Critical role for IL-6 in hypertrophy and fibrosis in chronic cardiac allograft rejection. Am J Transplant 9:1773–1783
- 23. Loverre A, Tataranni T, Castellano G, Divella C, Battaglia M, Ditonno P, Corcelli M, Mangino M, Gesualdo L, Schena FP et al (2011) IL-17 expression by tubular epithelial cells in renal transplant recipients with acute antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 11:1248–1259
- 24. Yuan X, Paez-Cortez J, Schmitt-Knosalla I, D'Addio F, Mfarrej B, Donnarumma M, Habicht A, Clarkson MR, Iacomini J, Glimcher LH et al (2008) A novel role of CD4 Th17 cells in mediating cardiac allograft rejection and vasculopathy. J Exp Med 205:3133–3144
- 25. Yi T, Zhao D, Lin CL, Zhang C, Chen Y, Todorov I, LeBon T, Kandeel F, Forman S, Zeng D (2008) Absence of donor Th17 leads to augmented Th1 differentiation and exacerbated acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 112:2101–2110
- 26. Benghiat FS, Craciun L, De Wilde V, Dernies T, Kubjak C, Lhomme F, Goldman M, Le Moine A (2008) IL-17 production elicited by allo-major histocompatibility complex class II recognition depends on CD25posCD4pos T cells. Transplantation 85:943–949
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- Pandiyan P, Conti HR, Zheng L, Peterson AC, Mathern DR, Hernandez-Santos N, Edgerton M, Gaffen SL, Lenardo MJ (2011) CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells promote Th17 cells in vitro and enhance host resistance in mouse *Candida albicans* Th17 cell infection model. Immunity 34:422–434
- 29. Chen Y, Haines CJ, Gutcher I, Hochweller K, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan T, Hammerling G, Li MO, Cua DJ, McGeachy MJ (2011) Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells promote T helper 17 cell development in vivo through regulation of interleukin-2. Immunity 34:409–421
- McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Cua DJ (2007) TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T (H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. Nat Immunol 8:1390–1397
- Batten M, Li J, Yi S, Kljavin NM, Danilenko DM, Lucas S, Lee J, de Sauvage FJ, Ghilardi N (2006) Interleukin 27 limits autoimmune encephalomyelitis by suppressing the development of interleukin 17-producing T cells. Nat Immunol 7:929–936

Part III Role of IL-23-1 L-17 in Infection and Tumor Control

Is IL-17 Required to Control Tuberculosis?

Andrea M. Cooper

Abstract Herein we review the state of knowledge regarding the role of IL-17 in tuberculosis (TB). IL-17 is induced following exposure to mycobacteria in mice and humans, yet its role in protection and the immunopathologic consequences of infection is not defined. It appears that the IL-17 response to mycobacterial infection is dependent on IL-23 and that the induction of this cytokine is dependent upon pathogen-associated molecules on the surface of the mycobacterium. While there is evidence for a protective role, there is also evidence for a pathologic role; it is therefore critical to decipher the impact of IL-17 so that preventive and therapeutic measures can be appropriately tailored.

Keywords Tuberculosis • Inflammation • T cell activation • Th17 • Th1 • T cells • Human • Mouse • Immunity • IL-17 • IL-23 • IFN- γ • IL-12

1 Introduction

There are two main reasons for studying IL-17 and tuberculosis. The first is to determine whether IL-17 is important in disease. The second is that the dynamic interaction between host and this unique pathogen may allow us to identify as yet unknown functions for this cytokine. Therefore, when considering the role of IL-17 in tuberculosis, the ability of this cytokine to mediate and regulate antibacterial activity as well as its ability to impact the inflammatory response should be determined. In addition, the bacterial and host factors that mediate induction and regulation of this cytokine should be addressed.

Tuberculosis is a disease resulting from the interaction of a persistent yet inflammatory intracellular bacterium and a responsive but regulated immune

A.M. Cooper (⊠)

Trudeau Institute, Inc, Saranac Lake, NY 12983, USA e-mail: acooper@trudeauinstitute.org

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17*, *IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_14, © Springer Basel 2013

response [1–3]. While cellular immunity is essential to control bacterial growth, the concurrent development of inflammation leads to tissue damage that then promotes dissemination. The acquired cellular response consists of antigen-specific effector T cells and B cells, and while the requirement for T cells in control of infection is clear, the role of B cells and immunoglobulin is less so [3]. From both animal studies and patient data, it appears that CD4 T cells are the primary mediators of protection and that the IL-12/IFN- γ axis is critical to controlling disease [1–3]. CD8 T cells have the ability to protect the host from disease and have unique antibacterial activity, but the absence of these cells can be overcome by the presence of CD4 T cells [1–3]. There is active regulation of the acquired immune response, and it is likely that this serves to limit not only antibacterial activity but also tissue damage during chronic disease [4, 5]. Taking into account the known functions of IL-17, this cytokine could impact the innate, acquired, and inflammatory response during TB.

2 Evidence for a Role of IL-17 in TB

Support for a role of IL-17 in disease is provided by the fact that mRNA and cellular analyses demonstrate that IL-17 is induced following infection of mice with Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) [6]. More importantly, antigen-specific IL-17producing cells can be detected in both exposed individuals and TB patients thus providing substantial impetus for investigation of this cytokine [7]. In mice, IL-17 production occurs rapidly upon a high-dose intratracheal challenge with Mycobacterium bovis BCG (BCG), and this response is dependent upon the $\gamma\delta$ T cell population [8]. This population is also a major producer of IL-17 in response to Mtb infection in the lung [9]. In the absence of the early $\gamma\delta$ T cell-derived IL-17 response to BCG, there is a reduced early neutrophil and reduced later mononuclear response in the lung [8] (see Fig. 1a). In Mtb infection of IL-23-deficient mice, there is very little IL-17 mRNA induction in the lung, and in this model the inflammatory response is altered [6]. It is tempting to speculate that the disrupted granulomatous response previously reported for Mtb-infected $\gamma\delta$ T cell-deficient mice [10] may relate to the loss of an early IL-17 response. The presence of IL-17-producing γδ T cells is particularly interesting in light of the demonstration that unrestrained IL-17producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells can lead to tissue damage and death in a fungal model of infection [11]. Indeed, regulation of these IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells is superoxide dependent [11], and in the absence of superoxide, there is an increase in neutrophil accumulation in the TB granuloma in mice [12] suggesting that the ability of IL-17producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells to recruit neutrophils may also be regulated by superoxide. There are other innate sources of IL-17 in the lung such as invariant NK T cells [13], but the role of this response in TB has not been addressed.



Fig. 1 *Functions of IL-17 during Mtb infection.* (a) Upon mycobacterial infection in the lung, phagocytes respond to the bacteria, generate IL-23, and promote $\gamma\delta$ T cells to make IL-17 and thereby mediate recruitment of neutrophils. Absence of this response limits early neutrophil recruitment and alters later mononuclear accumulation. (b) Vaccine-induced memory T cells, expressing the tissue-homing chemokine receptor CCR4, recognize infected lung phagocytes and respond by producing or inducing CXCR9, CXCR10, and CXCR11 in the lung. These chemokines then recruit memory Th1 cells that mediate accelerated control of bacterial growth. (c) The dynamic development of the granuloma is altered in the absence of IL-23 and IL-17; IFN and IL-17 appear to counterregulate the development of a mononuclear or granulocytic inflammation in response to Mtb

3 Evidence for an Antigen-Specific IL-17 Response in TB

Recent thinking posits that IL-17 is an ancient cytokine that acts to bridge the gap between innate and acquired immunity [14, 15]. In TB it appears that IL-17 is present both during the innate and acquired response. This has been shown in mice [6, 9, 16] and more recently in humans [7]. Whether the acquired IL-17 response depends upon the innate IL-17 response is not yet clear. The antigen-specific IL-17producing T cell response is induced with the same kinetics in the mouse as the IFN- γ -producing antigen-specific response but at about a five- to tenfold lower number of cells [6, 16]. Interestingly, despite the reports of IFN- γ and IL-17 responses counterregulating each other and the fact that the IL-17 response is regulated by IFN- γ following BCG infection [17], the antigen-specific IL-17 response is maintained in the lung during Mtb infection despite the presence of a



Fig. 2 *Polarization of Th17 cells during mycobacterial infection.* TGFβ drives induction of the transcription factor RORγt, if no inflammation is present, cells will tend toward a regulatory phenotype. If mycobacteria are present, however, IL-6 will induce IL-21 which in turn promotes more RORγt and expression of the IL-23R and thereby responsiveness to IL-23. Naïve cells polarized with these cytokines can then produce both IL-17 and IL-22. Induction of the Th1 transcription factor T-bet in naïve T cells conversely promotes expression of the IL-12Rβ2 molecule which allows the cells to respond to IL-12p70 and produce IFN-γ. The IL-12Rβ1 component of both IL-12R and IL-23R requires different levels of stimulus to be expressed. If IL-27 is present, then STAT1 is activated and this reduces the impact of IL-6 on the polarizing T cells and reduces Th17 development. Both IL-12 and IL-23 appear to be required for long-term persistence of Th1 and Th17 cells respectively during Mtb infection. BCG and Mtb interact with the antigen-presenting cell to define the conditions that pertain during activation of the naïve T cells. In some cases memory T cells and γδT can become IL-17 producers without TCR ligation in the presence of IL-1β and IL-23

strong IFN- γ response [6]. The accepted model for induction of IL-17-producing T cells (Th17) has a requirement for TGF β to initiate the polarization process in both mice and humans [15, 18] and that inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, act to direct the cells to a Th17 rather than regulatory, FoxP3-expressing phenotype (Treg) [19]. IL-23 is thought then to promote the release of IL-17 by polarized cells [20] (see Fig. 2). IFN- γ limits the amount of IL-23 made by dendritic cells infected with mycobacteria [17], and this may be one way IFN- γ -producing T cells (Th1) regulate the Th17 response. In mycobacterial models, however, IL-1 β in conjunction with IL-23 can drive IL-17 from $\gamma\delta$ T cells (and CD4⁺ cells) without the need for TCR engagement [21, 22]. Interestingly, IFN inhibits IL-1 β production by mouse cells but enhances it for human cells [22], and thus, the impact of IFN on IL-17 regulation in mice and humans may differ.

It is likely that the nature of phagocyte activation and the local cytokine environment will determine the polarization of T cells both during priming and expression of effector function. These conditions will be defined to some degree by the impact of mycobacterial molecules on phagocyte pattern recognition receptors.

4 When and Where Is IL-17 Expressed During Human Disease?

Following the original demonstration of antigen-specific IL-17-producing CD4⁺ T cells in PPD-positive individuals [7], many further studies have examined IL-17 production in both active and latent human tuberculosis. In the original publication, IL-17-, IFN-, and IL-22-producing cells were detected in the peripheral blood of patients with active TB; however, only IFN- and IL-22-producing cells were present in the bronchoalveolar lavage; it was suggested that IFN- γ limits the IL-17 response in the lungs [7]. In several recent studies, patients with active TB have been shown to have a stronger IFN response to mycobacterial antigens than do those with latent disease; however, the IL-17 response is less clearly associated with disease state [23, 24]. There is however a tendency for the IL-17 response to antigen to be higher in latent than active TB patients [23, 25] possibly due to the higher IFN response in the active cases inhibiting IL-17. While one study was able to correlate decreased IL-17 levels in serum during treatment with increased risk of death [26], a second study could not correlate IL-17 in plasma during treatment to disease state or response to treatment [27]. In the mouse model, a drop in IL-17 was found to occur during effective treatment [28].

The potential for patients to generate an IL-17 response following exposure or during disease seems to be associated with geographical location and/or the nature of the disease. In one study of a Swiss population, IL-17 was not detected strongly in response to purified protein derivative (PPD) of Mtb; cells that did respond were CD45RA⁻, CD25⁻, CCR6⁺, and CXCR3⁺ and produced mainly IFN- γ [29]. In contrast, in a South African population, the BCG-reactive cells were CD45RA⁻ cells and those making IL-17 or IL-22 were predominantly CCR7⁺ and CD27^{+/-}, whereas those making IFN- γ were predominantly CCR7⁻ and CD27⁻ [7]. In Chinese studies of cells from pleural effusions, IL-17 was produced by CCR7⁺, CD27⁺, CD4 T cells but only after restimulation [30, 31]. Again in contrast, a South African study of both pleural and pericardial effusions found very low to negligible IL-17 in these effusions although high levels of IL-22 and IFN were detected; a low level of CD4⁺ cells capable of making IL-17 was also detected, but these did not appear to be specific for mycobacterial antigen [32].

5 Can IL-17 Mediate Protection?

IL-17 acts to regulate granulocyte homeostasis [33], chemokine expression and cell recruitment [34, 35] and to orchestrate germinal center formation [36]. IL-17 is required for protection against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* [34], *Citrobacter rodentium* [37], *Candida albicans* [38], and *Mycoplasma pulmonis* [39]. IL-17 has also been extensively implicated as a mediator of autoimmune-mediated disease (reviewed in [20]). These myriad functions make it difficult to immediately identify where within the complex interaction between host and bacteria IL-17 is likely to act.

In revising this chapter for 2012, I had thought to be able to more definitively answer the question raised in the title; however, the primary role of IL-17 in protection against Mtb remains unclear. Following low-dose aerosol delivery of Mtb to IL-23-deficient mice, there is no difference in the level of bacterial burden within the lung for the first 90 days of infection, this despite the fact that there is very little IL-17 mRNA or Th17 response detected [6]. Similarly in a BCG model, absence of IL-23 or IL-17 does not alter the bacterial burden [40]. Interestingly, in both these studies, IL-23 could mediate protection in the absence of IL-12, but this was associated with the ability of IL-23 to promote IFN- γ responses [6, 40]. Despite this absence of protective activity, it was possible to improve bacterial control during pulmonary Mtb infection if IL-23 was delivered prior to infection [41] suggesting that the natural IL-23/IL-17 response may be improved upon. In later studies we have shown that, although early control is not affected by the absence of IL-23, later control of bacterial growth following a low-dose challenge is lost. Importantly, this loss of protection does not appear to be related to the loss of IL-17, as bacterial growth is identical between wild-type and IL-17RA-deficient mice in this model over a prolonged period [42, 43]. In stark contrast to the data from lowdose aerosol delivery of Mtb, others have shown increased susceptibility to Mtb infection in mice lacking IL-17A when a moderately higher dose is delivered intratracheally [44]. The difference in bacterial growth between the wild-type and IL-17A-deficient mice following intratracheal infection occurs within the first 4 weeks and is associated with a defective inflammatory response. This differential requirement for IL-17 between the aerosol and intratracheal model is intriguing. It may be that the intratracheal model is more inflammatory and that therefore the cells recruited to the lung are different and more dependent upon IL-17 for effective function. In contrast, the aerosol model is known to induce very little inflammation early, and there may therefore be less of a need for early IL-17. The relevance of either model to natural human disease is a matter for discussion, but it is clear that defining why the two models differ so dramatically will be informative in the dissection of the function of IL-17 in lung disease.

One aspect of the role of IL-17 in protection may be related to its impact on dissemination of bacteria from the site of infection. Recent work showed an increase in IL-17 in the IL-10-deficient mouse, and while depletion of IL-17 had no effect on bacterial growth in the lung, it appeared that dissemination of bacteria to the spleen was increased in the absence of IL-17 [45]. Further, in a study of the dissemination of BCG from the skin to the draining lymph node, it was shown that absence of migratory IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells restricted the accumulation of BCG in the lymph node [46]. It is possible therefore that IL-17 plays a role in defining the cells which mediate dissemination of bacteria. As the induction of the acquired response depends upon dissemination of bacteria from the lung to the draining lymph node [3], the kinetics of the acquired response may be delayed in the absence of IL-17. While this may not be critical in the low-dose aerosol model, it may be more so in the higher dose intratracheal model.

In a couple of recent reductionist studies, the ability of T cells making IL-17 to mediate protection in mice infected with Mtb was assessed. One group transferred

IFN-deficient, antigen-specific, IL-17-polarized T cells into immune-deficient mice and found that these cells could protect more efficiently than unpolarized, IFNdeficient, antigen-specific cells [47]. In a second study, the ability of cells to protect was dependent upon the cells retaining plasticity and thereby maintaining a mixed rather than fully polarized IL-17 phenotype [48]. These data suggest that while IFN is not essential for protection in these transfer models, IL-17 alone is not sufficient to mediate protection. Further studies are clearly warranted.

Whether IL-23 and IL-17 play a protective role in human disease has not yet been clarified. It is apparent however that patients with defective *IL12Rb1* gene function are susceptible to mycobacterial disease, that their T cells are defective in their response to both IL-12 and IL-23 [49, 50], and that IL-23 drives efficient IL-17 responses in human T cells [51]. In view of the mouse data, it is likely that the role of IL-17 in protection against TB will be subtle and therefore very difficult to define in humans; however, this should not deter investigation. In this regard, the association between polymorphisms in the *IL23R* gene and damaging inflammation [52, 53] provides impetus and potentially useful subjects for analysis. As discussed above, there have been several studies on the expression of IL-17 in healthyexposed, infected, and diseased subjects, and while there is some evidence that circulating IL-17 is seen in the healthier exposed individuals, there is no strong current evidence linking IL-17 to either protection or disease development.

6 How Does IL-17 Impact Vaccine-Induced Protection?

Despite the absence of a defined role in controlling bacterial burden, the absence of IL-23, and thereby IL-17, does result in reduced protection in a model of immunological memory in mice (see Fig. 1b). In this model, the accelerated memory Th1 response induced by a subunit vaccine is lost in the absence of IL-23, and this is associated with the absence of an IL-17-producing CD4⁺ memory population in the lungs of vaccinated IL-23-deficient mice [16]. The expression of IL-17 mRNA in vaccinated lungs correlates with the expression of the chemokines CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11, and in the absence of this response, the accelerated accumulation of CXCR3-expressing IFN-y-producing memory cells fails to occur, and thus, vaccine-induced protection is lost [16]. The vaccine-induced IL-17-producing cells were also shown to be positive for the tissue-homing chemokine receptor CCR4 and capable of populating normal lung tissue. This suggested that memory cells induced by vaccination could populate noninflamed tissue and provide a surveillance function [16]. Further, in the absence of CCR4 using a BCG model, it was found that both IFN and IL-17-producing cells failed to be maintained and that recall granulomatous responses were defective [54].

When IL-23 is added to a DNA vaccine regimen, it is capable of increasing both IFN- γ and IL-17 responses and protection to a degree equivalent to IL-12 [55, 56]. In view of the downregulatory activity of IL-27 with regard to IL-17 cellular responses [57, 58], it is not surprising that this cytokine fails to improve

vaccine-induced protection [55]. In contrast to these studies, BCG vaccination did not require IL-23 to be protective against a subsequent BCG challenge [40]; however, as this was a systemic challenge, the need for a surveillance cell would be less evident. It is also the case however that the cross regulation of Th17 and Th1 cells is more apparent following BCG infection; thus, a substantial Th17 response cannot be detected following subcutaneous or systemic delivery of BCG unless the IL-12/IFN- γ axis is absent [17, 56]. A recent study of the mechanism of IL-17 induction during BCG vaccination has shown that BCG induces prostaglandin E2 and that this drives IL-10 which in turn limits the IFN response to BCG [59]. At the same time, however, BCG also induces IL-23 which promotes IL-17 production which in turn limits the IL-10 thereby promoting an overall IFN response; in the absence of IL-10, there is no need for IL-17 to promote the IFN response [59]. Thus, expression of IL-17 during BCG vaccination may promote the IFN response. Studies with genetically manipulated BCG have shown increased protection, and this is associated with an increased IL-17 response to the genetically manipulated BCG compared to the wild-type BCG [60].

Human and animal vaccine studies have increasingly measured IL-17 responses after vaccination. In the bovine model, a viral boost of BCG vaccination showed increased efficacy, and this was associated with an increased antigen-specific IL-17 response prior to challenge [61]. Boosting BCG-vaccinated people with virus-delivered antigen results in multifunctional antigen-specific cells with a preference for IL-17 in adolescents compared to children [62]. A higher dose of the virally delivered antigen promotes more IL-17-producing cells; however, previous exposure may limit the IL-17 response [63]. Detailed analysis of the cells responding to the virally delivered antigen suggests that the IL-17 response may be limited by regulatory T cells that act to limit levels of the inflammatory extracellular ATP [64].

Extensive studies using the whole-blood assay have measured the level of IL-17 to mycobacterial antigens in vaccinated individuals. Vaccination does result in an increased IL-17 production in infants [65], and while age at vaccination could impact size of the IL-17 response, this response evened out as infants aged [66]. The efficacy of BCG differs geographically, and so the whole-blood assay was used to compare responses in UK and Malawian infants receiving BCG. It was found that while the Malawian children had a greater general inflammatory response including IL-17, the UK infants had stronger type 1 responses; it was suggested that these different biosignatures may explain why BCG is more effective in the UK [67]. However, in an extensive study on the potential for a biosignature to predict protective efficacy of BCG vaccination, no difference in the cytokine profile (IL-2, IFN, TNF, or IL-17) or cell types was associated with the development of tuberculosis in vaccinated individuals [68]. It would seem therefore that the role of IL-17 in vaccine studies in humans is still undefined.

7 How Could IL-17 Impact Inflammation?

Dissecting the role of such a pluripotent entity as IL-17 in a chronic disease like TB is difficult. A major confounding factor is that the granulomatous structure, even within the tractable mouse model, is a constantly developing entity [69]. The ability of IL-17 to impact granulocyte homeostasis and accumulation could be a major factor in granuloma formation. IL-17 is likely a mediator of stress-induced granulopoiesis acting via G-CSF [70]; however, in the absence of IL-23 and IL-17, there is a modest decrease in the inflammatory response early in infection [6] (see Fig. 1c). This is in contrast to the impact of IL-17 and IL-23 on the inflammatory response to fungal infection via the mucosal route wherein IL-23 and IL-17 downregulate the protective Th1 response and increase the pyogranulomatous nature of the inflammation [71]. Further, IL-23 and IL-17 improve survival and reduce the killing activity of neutrophils in this fungal model [71]. The potential for neutrophils to impact granuloma formation during Mtb infection [72] and the causal connection between early and enhanced neutrophil recruitment with susceptibility to TB [73] prompted us to examine the role of IL-17 and IL-23 in the Koch phenomenon. We found that repeated delivery of mycobacterial antigen drove an IL-23-dependent IL-17-response in the lungs of Mtb-infected mice that did not impact bacterial control but did increase the pyogranulomatous nature of the lesions [74] (Fig. 1c). In two other recent studies, the impact of IFN in regulating the inflammatory action of IL-17 has been highlighted. In the first study, the absence of the IFN γR on nonhematopoietic cells was found to limit the anti-inflammatory activity of these cells, and this resulted in enhanced IL-17 responses which compromised immunity [75]. In the second study, the absence of IFN in memory cells did not impact their ability to control bacteria but did limit their ability to limit neutrophil recruitment and thereby tissue damage [76] (Fig. 1c). These data demonstrate that IL-17 is associated with the potential for a more damaging inflammatory response to Mtb infection. In this regard, an intriguing paper from Argentina shows that patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis and high bacterial burdens had higher levels of IL-17 [77]. This is in contrast to the lack of apparent IL-17 in pleural and pericardial tubercular effusions (see discussion above).

An important aspect of the Mtb granuloma that is often dismissed is the accumulation of B cells in secondary lymphoid structures in both mice and humans [78–80]. Indeed, an altered granulomatous response [81] and reduced protection can be seen following Mtb infection of B cell-deficient mice [82]. The ability of IL-17 to mediate germinal centers [36] may impact the B cell response, as recent studies have identified IL-17 mRNA associated with the B cell follicles in human tuberculosis lesions in the lung [83]. In our recent studies, we have found that the absence of IL-17RA does not greatly inhibit the development of B cell follicles but that IL-23 and CXCL13 seem to be critical for these structures and for T cell recruitment to the granulomatous site [42, 84].

8 Induction and Regulation of the IL-17 Response

IL-23 is a key mediator of IL-17 secretion in memory T cells [85] and $\gamma\delta$ T cells [9], and in its absence there is very little IL-17 produced in response to Mtb infection [6]. Mycobacteria can induce IL-23 in dendritic cells [9, 17], and this induction can be regulated by IFN- γ , at least for BCG [17]. Recent studies have implicated dectin-1 in the induction of IL-23 and as a promoter of IL-17-producing CD4 T cells during fungal infection [86]. During mycobacterial infection, dectin-1 has been implicated as a mediator of macrophage [87] and dendritic cell [88] activation with a specific role for dectin-1 in induction of IL-12p40, a subunit of IL-23. Recently, dectin-1 ligation by β-glucan or Mtb on monocyte-derived dendritic cells was reported to result in IFN and IL-17 production in a mixed lymphocyte reaction, whereas ligation of DC-SIGN or the mannose receptor resulted in an IFN response [89, 90]. The role of dectin-1 in stimulating the phagocytic response to fungal bodies is dependent on developmentally regulated display of β -glucan moieties [91, 92]. It is possible therefore that the expression of β -glucan moieties on different mycobacterial species will regulate the amount of IL-23 and therefore the amount of IL-17 they induce. One could hypothesize therefore that while the Th1 response can regulate the Th17 in BCG infection, it is possible that a greater induction of IL-23 by Mtb allows the Th17 response in TB to overcome Th1 regulation [6, 17]. The importance of the early cytokine milieu in defining polarization is highlighted by the fact that the requirement for induction of the *ill2rb1* gene (a component of both the IL-12 and IL-23 receptor) in naïve T cells is lower for the induction of IL-17producing cells than it is for IFN- γ -producing cells [93].

Although it is technically difficult to assess the very earliest events during lowdose aerosol infection directly in vivo, the response of CD4 T cells and dendritic cells to vaccination with trehalose dimycolate (TDM, or cord factor) has been studied. TDM is the primary inflammatory mediator of mycobacteria, and alterations in its structure affect the granulomatous response in the lung [94]. In vaccine studies it has been shown that delivery of an IA^b-restricted peptide in the presence of TDM and the detoxified monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) results in early expression of IL-6, TGF β , and IL-23 in dendritic cells and IL-17 but not IFN- γ in the CD4 T cells [16]. This early IL-17 corresponds with early expression of the IL-23 receptor but not the IL-12 receptor in the CD4 cells [16]. These data suggest that Th17 cells, while not requiring IL-23 to become polarized [18], are able to respond to IL-23 very early during activation. Indeed in the absence of IL-23, there is a small but reproducible reduction in very early proliferation of CD4 T cells [16]. The initiation of Th17 cells during Mtb infection is less well defined, although the absence of IL-23 does ablate the IL-17 response. It is likely that the balance between IL-6 and TGF β [19] as well as that between IL-1 β and IFN during activation of naïve T cells will define the relative induction of a Th17 or Treg population. The importance of this balance is highlighted by the observed ability of Treg cells to limit bacterial control [4, 95, 96]. The receptor for TDM was recently identified as the macrophage-inducible C-type lectin (Mincle) [97, 98], and this molecule acts through the FcR γ and Syk-CARD9 signaling pathway to promote inflammation as well as both IFN and IL-17 responses to mycobacteria [98]. In human studies, antigen-experienced cells make IL-17 in response to Mtb-activated antigen-presenting cells in an IL-23-dependent manner; it appears also that the production of IL-23 can be induced by NK cells recognizing the infected antigen-presenting cells [99].

9 Conclusions

This chapter does not answer the question raised in the title, as the animal model evidence suggests both positive and negative impacts in the TB disease process and the human data is still equivocal. We know however that this cytokine is induced in and expressed by innate and acquired cells in mice and humans and that the expression of this response is dependent upon IL-23. Induction of the IL-17 response is likely to be dependent upon the counterregulation of IL-1 β , IL-12, and IL-23 at the dendritic cell level, and this may be related to the level of cytokineinducing moieties (such as β -glucans) on the mycobacterial surface. There is conflicting evidence on the role of IL-17 in control of bacterial growth during mycobacterial infection, and this conflict may be resolved with careful analysis of the role of dose and concurrent inflammation during initial infection. There are several areas that should be investigated in order to clarify the role of IL-17 in TB. These are the impact of IL-17 on inflammation and tissue damage, the induction and regulation of the IL-17 response, the role of surface molecules of various mycobacterial species in determining the IL-17 response, the impact of IL-23R polymorphisms on TB in humans, the ability of IL-17-producing memory cells to improve vaccine-induced protection, and the impact of IL-17 and IL-23 on neutrophil and B cell function during TB.

References

- 1. Flynn J, Chan J (2001) Immunology of tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 19:93-129
- 2. North R, Jung Y (2004) Immunity to tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 22:599-623
- 3. Cooper AM (2009) Cell mediated immune responses in tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 27:393–422
- Scott-Browne J, Shafiani S, Tucker-Heard G, Ishida-Tsubota K, Fontenot J, Rudensky A, Bevan M, Urdahl K (2007) Expansion and function of Foxp3-expressing T regulatory cells during tuberculosis. J Exp Med 204:2159–2169
- 5. Koch M, Tucker-Heard G, Perdue N, Killebrew J, Urdahl K, Campbell D (2009) The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation. Nat Immunol 10:595–602
- Khader S, Pearl J, Sakamoto K, Gilmartin L, Bell G, Jelley-Gibbs D, Ghilardi N, deSauvage F, Cooper A (2005) IL-23 compensates for the absence of IL-12p70 and is essential for the IL-17

response during tuberculosis but is dispensable for protection and antigen-specific IFN-gamma responses if IL-12p70 is available. J Immunol 175:788–795

- Scriba T, Kalsdorf B, Abrahams D-A, Isaacs F, Hofmeister J, Black G, Hassan H, Wilkinson R, Walzl G, Gelderbloem S et al (2008) Distinct, specific IL-17 and IL-22-producing CD4+ T cell subsets contribute to the human anti-mycobacterial immune response. J Immunol 180:1962–1970
- Umemura M, Yahagi A, Hamada S, Begum M, Watanabe H, Kawakami K, Suda T, Sudo K, Nakae S, Iwakura Y et al (2007) IL-17-mediated regulation of innate and acquired immune response against pulmonary *Mycobacterium bovis* bacille Calmette-Guerin Infection. J Immunol 178:3786–3796
- Lockhart E, Green A, Flynn J (2006) IL-17 production is dominated by gammadelta T cells rather than CD4 T cells during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Immunol 177:4662–4669
- D'Souza CD, Cooper AM, Frank AA, Mazzaccaro RJ, Bloom BR, Orme IM (1997) An antiinflammatory role for γδ T lymphocytes in acquired immunity to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Immunol 158:1217–1221
- 11. Romani L, Fallarino F, De Luca A, Montagnoli C, D'Angelo C, Zelante T, Vacca C, Bistoni F, Fioretti M, Grohmann U et al (2008) Defective tryptophan catabolism underlies inflammation in mouse chronic granulomatous disease. Nature 451:211–215
- Cooper AM, Segal BH, Frank AA, Holland SM, Orme IM (2000) Transient loss of resistance to pulmonary tuberculosis in p47^{phox-/-} mice. Infect Immun 68:1231–1234
- Michel M, Keller A, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage P, Wong C, Schneider E, Dy M, Leite-de-Moraes M (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- Weaver C, Hatton R, Mangan P, Harrington L (2007) IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol 25:821–852
- 15. Stockinger B, Veldhoen M, Martin B (2007) Th17 T cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. Semin Immunol 19:353–361
- 16. Khader S, Bell G, Pearl J, Fountain J, Rangel-Moreno J, Cilley G, Shen F, Eaton S, Gaffen S, Swain S et al (2007) IL-23 and IL-17 in establishment of protective pulmonary CD4+ T cell responses upon vaccination and during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* challenge. Nat Immunol 8:369–377
- 17. Cruz A, Khader S, Torrado E, Fraga A, Pearl J, Pedrosa J, Cooper A, Castro A (2006) Cutting edge: IFN-γ regulates the induction and expansion of IL-17-producing CD4 T cells during mycobacterial infection. J Immunol 177:1416–1420
- Stockinger B, Veldhoen M (2007) Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. Curr Opin Immunol 19:281–286
- Ivanov I, Zhou L, Littman D (2007) Transcriptional regulation of Th17 cell differentiation. Semin Immunol 19:409–417
- 20. McGeachy M, Cua D (2007) The link between IL-23 and Th17 cell-mediated immune pathologies. Semin Immunol 19:372–376
- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2009) Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 31:331–341
- 22. Masters SL, Mielke LA, Cornish AL, Sutton CE, O'Donnell J, Cengia LH, Roberts AW, Wicks IP, Mills KHG, Croker BA (2010) Regulation of interleukin-1[beta] by interferon-[gamma] is species specific, limited by suppressor of cytokine signalling 1 and influences interleukin-17 production. EMBO Rep 11:640–646
- Sutherland JS, Adetifa IM, Hill PC, Adegbola RA, Ota MOC (2009) Pattern and diversity of cytokine production differentiates between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection and disease. Eur J Immunol 39:723–729

- 24. Sutherland JS, de Jong BC, Jeffries DJ, Adetifa IM, Ota MOC (2010) Production of TNF-α, IL-12(p40) and IL-17 can discriminate between active TB disease and latent infection in a West African cohort. PLoS One 5:e12365
- 25. Stern J, Keskin D, Romero V, Zuniga J, Encinales L, Li C, Awad C, Yunis E (2009) Molecular signatures distinguishing active from latent tuberculosis in peripheral blood mononuclear cells, after in vitro antigenic stimulation with purified protein derivative of tuberculin (PPD) or Candida: a preliminary report. Immunol Res 45:1–12
- 26. Chen Y-C, Chin C-H, Liu S-F, Wu C-C, Tsen C-C, Wang Y-H, Chao T-Y, Lie C-H, Chen C-J, Wang C-C et al (2011) Prognostic values of serum IP-10 and IL-17 in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Dis Markers 31:101–110
- 27. Djoba Siawaya JF, Beyers N, Van Helden P, Walzl G (2009) Differential cytokine secretion and early treatment response in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Clin Exp Immunol 156:69–77
- 28. de Steenwinkel J, de Knegt G, ten Kate M, Verbrugh H, Ottenhoff T, Bakker-Woudenberg I (2011) Dynamics of interferon-gamma release assay and cytokine profiles in blood and respiratory tract specimens from mice with tuberculosis and the effect of therapy. Eur J Clin Microbial Infect Dis 31:1195–1201
- Acosta-Rodriguez E, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Napolitani G (2007) Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. Nat Immunol 8:639–646
- 30. Qiao D, Yang BY, Li L, Ma JJ, Zhang XL, Lao SH, Wu CY (2011) ESAT-6- and CFP-10specific Th1, Th22 and Th17 cells in tuberculous pleurisy may contribute to the local immune response against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Scand J Immunol 73:330–337
- Wang T, Lv M, Qian Q, Nie Y, Yu L, Hou Y (2011) Increased frequencies of T helper type 17 cells in tuberculous pleural effusion. Tuberculosis 91:231–237
- 32. Matthews K, Wilkinson KA, Kalsdorf B, Roberts T, Diacon A, Walzl G, Wolske J, Ntsekhe M, Syed F, Russell J et al (2011) Predominance of interleukin-22 over interleukin-17 at the site of disease in human tuberculosis. Tuberculosis 91:587–593
- Stark M, Huo Y, Burcin T, Morris M, Olson T, Ley K (2005) Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17. Immunity 22:285–294
- 34. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J et al (2001) Requirement of interleukin-17 receptor signalling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- 35. Kolls J, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467–476
- 36. Hsu H, Yang P, Wang J, Wu Q, Myers R, Chen J, Yi J, Guentert T, Tousson A, Stanus A et al (2007) Interleukin 17-producing T helper cells and interleukin 17 orchestrate autoreactive germinal center development in autoimmune BXD2 mice. Nat Immunol 9:166–175
- 37. Mangan P, Harrington L, O'Quinn D, Helms W, Bullard D, Elson C, Hatton R, Wahl S, Schoeb T, Weaver C (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 441:231–234
- Huang W, Na L, Fidel P, Schwarzenberger P (2004) Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-*Candida albicans* host defense in mice. J Infect Dis 190:624–631
- Wu Q, Martin R, Rino J, Breed R, Torres R, Chu H (2007) IL-23-dependent IL-17 production is essential in neutrophil recruitment and activity in mouse lung defense against respiratory *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* infection. Microbes Infect 9:78–86
- 40. Chackerian A, Chen S, Brodie S, Mattson J, McClanahan T, Kastelein R, Bowman E (2006) Neutralization or absence of the interleukin-23 pathway does not compromise immunity to mycobacterial infection. Infect Immun 74:6092–6099
- 41. Happel K, Lockhart E, Mason C, Porretta E, Keoshkerian E, Odden A, Nelson S, Ramsay A (2005) Pulmonary interleukin-23 gene delivery increases local T-cell immunity and controls growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in the lungs. Infect Immun 73:5782–5788

- 42. Khader SA, Guglani L, Rangel-Moreno J, Gopal R, Fallert Junecko BA, Fountain JJ, Martino C, Pearl JE, Tighe M, Lin YY et al (2011) IL-23 is required for long-term control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and B cell follicle formation in the infected lung. J Immunol 187:5402–5407
- 43. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K et al (2008) IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. Nat Med 14:275–281
- 44. Okamoto YY, Umemura M, Yahagi A, O'Brien R, Ikuta K, Kishihara K, Hara H, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Matsuzaki G (2010) Essential role of IL-17A in the formation of a mycobacterial infection-induced granuloma in the lung. J Immunol 184:4414–4422
- 45. Redford P, Boonstra A, Read S, Pitt J, Graham C, Stavropoulos E, Bancroft G, O'Garra A (2010) Enhanced protection to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in IL-10-deficient mice is accompanied by early and enhanced Th1 responses in the lung. Eur J Immunol 40:2200–2210
- 46. Sumaria N, Roediger B, Ng LG, Qin J, Pinto R, Cavanagh LL, Shklovskaya E, de St Groth BF, Triccas JA, Weninger W (2011) Cutaneous immunosurveillance by self-renewing dermal γδ T cells. J Exp Med 208:505–518
- 47. Wozniak TM, Saunders BM, Ryan AA, Britton WJ (2010) Mycobacterium bovis BCG-specific Th17 cells confer partial protection against Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in the absence of gamma interferon. Infect Immun 78:4187–4194
- 48. Curtis MM, Rowell E, Shafiani S, Negash A, Urdahl KB, Wilson CB, Way SS (2010) Fidelity of pathogen-specific CD4+ T cells to the Th1 lineage is controlled by exogenous cytokines, interferon-γ expression, and pathogen lifestyle. Cell Host Microbe 8:163–173
- 49. Filipe-Santos O, Bustamante J, Chapgier A, Vogt G, de Beaucoudrey L, Feinberg J, Jouanguy E, Boisson-Dupuis S, Fieschi C, Picard C et al (2006) Inborn errors of IL-12/23- and IFN-gamma-mediated immunity: molecular, cellular, and clinical features. Semin Immunol 18:347–361
- Hoeve M, de Boer T, Langenberg D, Sanal O, Verreck F, Ottenhoff T (2003) IL-12 receptor deficiency revisited: IL-23-mediated signaling is also impaired in human genetic IL-12 receptor beta1 deficiency. Eur J Immunol 33:3393–3397
- 51. Hoeve M, Savage N, de Boer T, Langenberg D, de Waal Malefyt R, Ottenhoff T, Verreck F (2006) Divergent effects of IL-12 and IL-23 on the production of IL-17 by human T cells. Eur J Immunol 36:661–670
- 52. Cargill M, Schrodi S, Chang M, Garcia V, Brandon R, Callis K, Matsunami N, Ardlie K, Civello D, Catanese J et al (2007) A large-scale genetic association study confirms IL12B and leads to the identification of IL23R as psoriasis-risk genes. Am J Hum Genet 80:273–290
- 53. Duerr R, Taylor K, Brant S, Rioux J, Silverberg M, Daly M, Steinhart A, Abraham C, Regueiro M, Griffiths A et al (2006) A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. Science 314:1461–1463
- 54. Stolberg VR, Chiu B-C, Schmidt BM, Kunkel SL, Sandor M, Chensue SW (2011) CC chemokine receptor 4 contributes to innate NK and chronic stage T helper cell recall responses during *Mycobacterium bovis* infection. Am J Pathol 178:233–244
- 55. Wozniak T, Ryan A, Triccas J, Britton W (2006) Plasmid interleukin-23 (IL-23), but not plasmid IL-27, enhances the protective efficacy of a DNA vaccine against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Infect Immun 74:557–565
- 56. Wozniak T, Ryan A, Britton W (2006) Interleukin-23 restores immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in IL-12p40-deficient mice and is not required for the development of IL-17-secreting T cell responses. J Immunol 177:8684–8692
- 57. Stumhofer J, Laurence A, Wilson E, Huang E, Tato C, Johnson L, Villarino A, Huang Q, Yoshimura A, Sehy D et al (2006) Interleukin 27 negatively regulates the development of interleukin 17-producing T helper cells during chronic inflammation of the central nervous system. Nat Immunol 7:937–945

- Batten M, Li J, Yi S, Kljavin N, Danilenko D, Lucas S, Lee J, de Sauvage F, Ghilardi N (2006) Interleukin 27 limits autoimmune encephalomyelitis by suppressing the development of interleukin 17-producing T cells. Nat Immunol 7:929–936
- Gopal R, Lin Y, Obermajer N, Slight S, Nuthalapati N, Ahmed M, Kalinski P, Khader SA (2012) IL-23-dependent IL-17 drives Th1-cell responses following *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccination. Eur J Immunol 42:364–373
- 60. Desel C, Dorhoi A, Bandermann S, Grode L, Eisele B, Kaufmann SHE (2011) Recombinant BCG ΔureC hly+ induces superior protection over parental BCG by stimulating a balanced combination of type 1 and type 17 cytokine responses. J Infect Dis 204:1573–1584
- Vordermeier HM, Villarreal-Ramos B, Cockle PJ, McAulay M, Rhodes SG, Thacker T, Gilbert SC, McShane H, Hill AVS, Xing Z et al (2009) Viral booster vaccines improve *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG-induced protection against bovine tuberculosis. Infect Immun 77:3364–3373
- 62. Scriba TJ, Tameris M, Mansoor N, Smit E, van der Merwe L, Isaacs F, Keyser A, Moyo S, Brittain N, Lawrie A et al (2010) Modified vaccinia Ankara-expressing Ag85A, a novel tuberculosis vaccine, is safe in adolescents and children, and induces polyfunctional CD4+ T cells. Eur J Immunol 40:279–290
- 63. de Cassan SC, Pathan AA, Sander CR, Minassian A, Rowland R, Hill AVS, McShane H, Fletcher HA (2010) Investigating the induction of vaccine-induced Th17 and regulatory T cells in healthy, *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG-immunized adults vaccinated with a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A. Clin Vaccine Immunol 17:1066–1073
- 64. Griffiths KL, Pathan AA, Minassian AM, Sander CR, Beveridge NER, Hill AVS, Fletcher HA, McShane H (2011) Th1/Th17 cell induction and corresponding reduction in ATP consumption following vaccination with the novel *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* vaccine MVA85A. PLoS One 6:e23463
- 65. Lalor MK, Smith SG, Floyd S, Gorak-Stolinska P, Weir RE, Blitz R, Branson K, Fine PE, Dockrell HM (2010) Complex cytokine profiles induced by BCG vaccination in UK infants. Vaccine 28:1635–1641
- 66. Burl S, Adetifa UJ, Cox M, Touray E, Ota MO, Marchant A, Whittle H, McShane H, Rowland-Jones SL, Flanagan KL (2010) Delaying bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination from birth to 4 1/2 months of age reduces postvaccination Th1 and IL-17 responses but leads to comparable mycobacterial responses at 9 months of age. J Immunol 185:2620–2628
- 67. Lalor MK, Floyd S, Gorak-Stolinska P, Ben-Smith A, Weir RE, Smith SG, Newport MJ, Blitz R, Mvula H, Branson K et al (2011) BCG vaccination induces different cytokine profiles following infant BCG vaccination in the UK and Malawi. J Infect Dis 204:1075–1085
- 68. Kagina BMN, Abel B, Scriba TJ, Hughes EJ, Keyser A, Soares A, Gamieldien H, Sidibana M, Hatherill M, Gelderbloem S et al (2010) Specific T cell frequency and cytokine expression profile do not correlate with protection against tuberculosis after bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination of newborns. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182:1073–1079
- 69. Rhoades ER, Frank AA, Orme IM (1997) Progression of chronic pulmonary tuberculosis in mice aerogenically infected with virulent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Tuber Lung Dis 78:57–66
- 70. Aujla S, Dubin P, Kolls J (2007) Th17 cells and mucosal host defense. Semin Immunol 19:377–382
- 71. Zelante T, De Luca A, Bonifazi P, Montagnoli C, Bozza S, Moretti S, Belladonna M, Vacca C, Conte C, Mosci P et al (2007) IL-23 and the Th17 pathway promote inflammation and impair antifungal immune resistance. Eur J Immunol 37:2695–2706
- 72. Seiler P, Aichele P, Bandermann S, Hauser A, Lu B, Gerard N, Gerard C, Ehlers S, Mollenkopf H, Kaufmann S (2003) Early granuloma formation after aerosol *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection is regulated by neutrophils via CXCR3-signaling chemokines. Eur J Immunol 33:2676–2686

- 73. Keller C, Hoffmann R, Lang R, Brandau S, Hermann C, Ehlers S (2006) Genetically determined susceptibility to tuberculosis in mice causally involves accelerated and enhanced recruitment of granulocytes. Infect Immun 74:4295–4309
- 74. Cruz A, Fraga A, Fountain J, Rangel-Moreno J, Torrado E, Saraiva M, Pereira D, Randall T, Pedrosa J, Cooper A et al (2010) Pathological role of interleukin 17 in mice subjected to repeated BCG vaccination after infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Exp Med 207:1609–1616
- 75. Desvignes L, Ernst JD (2009) Interferon-γ-responsive nonhematopoietic cells regulate the immune response to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Immunity 31:974–985
- 76. Nandi B, Behar SM (2011) Regulation of neutrophils by interferon-γ limits lung inflammation during tuberculosis infection. J Exp Med 208:2251–2262
- 77. Basile JI, Geffner LJ, Romero MM, Balboa L, Sabio y García C, Ritacco V, García A, Cuffré M, Abbate E, López B et al (2011) Outbreaks of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* MDR strains induce high IL-17 T-cell response in patients with MDR tuberculosis that is closely associated with high antigen load. J Infect Dis 204:1054–1064
- 78. Ulrichs T, Kosmiadi G, Trusov V, Jörg S, Pradl L, Titukhina M, Mishenko V, Gushina N, Kaufmann S (2004) Human tuberculous granulomas induce peripheral lymphoid follicle-like structures to orchestrate local host defence in the lung. J Pathol 204:217–228
- 79. Tsai M, Chakravarty S, Zhu G, Xu J, Tanaka K, Koch C, Tufariello J, Flynn J, Chan J (2006) Characterization of the tuberculous granuloma in murine and human lungs: cellular composition and relative tissue oxygen tension. Cell Microbiol 8:218–232
- Kahnert A, Höpken U, Stein M, Bandermann S, Lipp M, Kaufmann S (2007) Mycobacterium tuberculosis triggers formation of lymphoid structure in murine lungs. J Infect Dis 195:46–54
- Bosio C, Gardner D, Elkins K (2000) Infection of B cell-deficient mice with CDC 1551, a clinical isolate of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: delay in dissemination and development of lung pathology. J Immunol 164:6417–6425
- Maglione P, Xu J, Chan J (2007) B cells moderate inflammatory progression and enhance bacterial containment upon pulmonary challenge with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Immunol 178:7222–7234
- 83. Zhang M, Wang Z, Graner MW, Yang L, Liao M, Yang Q, Gou J, Zhu Y, Wu C, Liu H et al (2011) B cell infiltration is associated with the increased IL-17 and IL-22 expression in the lungs of patients with tuberculosis. Cell Immunol 270:217–223
- 84. Khader S, Rangel-Moreno J, Fountain J, Martino C, Reiley W, Pearl J, Winslow G, Woodland D, Randall T, Cooper A (2009) In a murine tuberculosis model, the absence of homeostatic chemokines delays granuloma formation and protective immunity. J Immunol 183:8004–8014
- 85. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie M, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2002) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4+ T cell activation state characterised by the production of IL-17. J Biol Chem 278:1910–1914
- 86. Leibundgut-Landmann S, Groß O, Robinson M, Osorio F, Slack E, Tsoni S, Schweighoffer E, Tybulewicz V, Brown G, Ruland J et al (2007) Syk- and CARD9-dependent coupling of innate immunity to the induction of T helper cells that produce interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 8:630–638
- Yadav M, Schorey J (2006) The beta-glucan receptor dectin-1 functions together with TLR2 to mediate macrophage activation by mycobacteria. Blood 108:3168–3175
- Rothfuchs A, Bafica A, Feng C, Egen J, Williams D, Brown G, Sher A (2007) Dectin-1 interaction with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* leads to enhanced IL-12p40 production by splenic dendritic cells. J Immunol 179:3463–3471
- Zenaro E, Donini M, Dusi S (2009) Induction of Th1/Th17 immune response by Mycobacterium tuberculosis: role of dectin-1, mannose receptor, and DC-SIGN. J Leukoc Biol 86:1393–1401
- 90. van de Veerdonk F, Teirlinck A, Kleinnijenhui J, Jan Kullberg B, van Creval R, van der Meer J, Joosten L, Netea M (2010) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* induces IL-17A responses through

TLR4 and dectin-1 and is critically dependent on endogenous IL-1. J Leukoc Biol 88 (2):227-232

- 91. Hohl T, Van Epps H, Rivera A, Morgan L, Chen P, Feldmesser M, Pamer E (2005) Aspergillus fumigatus triggers inflammatory responses by stage-specific beta-glucan display. PLoS Pathog 1:e30
- 92. Steele C, Rapaka R, Metz A, Pop S, Williams D, Gordon S, Kolls J, Brown G (2005) The betaglucan receptor dectin-1 recognizes specific morphologies of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. PLoS Pathog 1:e42
- 93. Kano S, Sato K, Morishita Y, Vollstedt S, Kim S, Bishop K, Honda K, Kubo M, Taniguchi T (2008) The contribution of transcription factor IRF1 to the interferon-gamma-interleukin 12 signaling axis and T(H)1 versus T(H)-17 differentiation of CD4(+) T cells. Nat Immunol 9:34–41
- 94. Rao V, Fujiwara N, Porcelli S, Glickman M (2005) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* controls host innate immune activation through cyclopropane modification of a glycolipid effector molecule. J Exp Med 201:535–543
- 95. Kursar M, Koch M, Mittrücker H, Nouailles G, Bonhagen K, Kamradt T, Kaufmann S (2007) Cutting edge: regulatory T cells prevent efficient clearance of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Immunol 178:2661–2665
- 96. Shafiani S, Tucker-Heard G, Kariyone A, Takatsu K, Urdahl KB (2010) Pathogen-specific regulatory T cells delay the arrival of effector T cells in the lung during early tuberculosis. J Exp Med 207:1409–1420
- 97. Ishikawa E, Ishikawa T, Morita Y, Toyonaga K, Yamada H, Takeuchi O, Kinoshita T, Akira S, Yoshikai Y, Yamasaki S (2009) Direct recognition of the mycobacterial glycolipid, trehalose dimycolate, by C-type lectin Mincle. J Exp Med 206:2879–2888
- 98. Schoenen H, Bodendorfer B, Hitchens K, Manzanero S, Werninghaus K, Nimmerjahn F, Agger E, Stenger S, Andersen P, Ruland J et al (2010) Cutting edge: Mincle is essential for recognition and adjuvanticity of the mycobacterial cord factor and its synthetic analog trehalose-dibehenate. J Immunol 184:2756–2760
- 99. Paidipally P, Periasamy S, Barnes PF, Dhiman R, Indramohan M, Griffith DE, Cosman D, Vankayalapati R (2009) NKG2D-dependent IL-17 production by human T cells in response to an intracellular pathogen. J Immunol 183:1940–1945

IL-17 and Mucosal Host Defense

Shabaana A. Khader and Jay K. Kolls

Abstract IL-17, a cytokine initially cloned from memory CD+ T cells, is produced by Th17 cells, a new lineage of T cells that are controlled by the transcription factor ROR γ t, as well as $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK and NKT cells. IL-17A and IL-17F use both IL-17RA and IL-17RC for signaling. IL-17RA is widely expressed in myeloid cells, fibroblasts, and epithelium. IL-17RA signaling is critical for mucosal immunity in the lung against extracellular bacterial infection through the regulation of granulopoietic growth factors and CXC chemokines required for neutrophil recruitment, as well as antimicrobial protein expression in epithelium. Although IL-17RA has a limited role in controlling the primary response to intracellular pathogens such as *Listeria monocytogenes* or *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, other intracellular bacteria such as *Francisella tularensis* require IL-17 to mediate Th1 immunity. Furthermore, in the setting of vaccine-induced immunity, IL-17 regulates the recruitment of Th1 cells and is required for optimal vaccine responses for both extracellular and intracellular pathogens.

1 Introduction

The critical role of CD4+ T cells in host defense against variety of pathogens became clearly evident by the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) epidemic. It has been demonstrated that the risk of AIDS-defining illnesses such as those caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Pneumocystis*, and *Toxoplasma gondii* shows clear

J.K. Kolls (🖂)

S.A. Khader

Division of Infections Diseases, Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh and the University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Richard King Mellon foundation Institute for Pediatric Research Center, Ranges Research Center, Pittsburgh, PA 15224, USA e-mail: Jay.Kolls@chp.edu

inverse relationships between CD4+ T-cell count in peripheral blood and the risk of infection [1, 2]. With the discovery of the T-cell subsets Th1 defined by interferongamma production and Th2 cells defined by IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 production and the use of selective gene deletions within these effector molecules, it became possible to ascribe specific infections with defects along these T-cell lineages. Impaired production of the Th1 effector cytokine interferon-gamma results in susceptibility to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection and an increase in susceptibility to *Toxoplasma* infection [3–7]. Alternatively, defective Th2 response predisposes to infection with helminths [8, 9]. In addition to these specific susceptibilities in CD4-deficient hosts, data in humans also suggested that Th1 and Th2 immune responses could be associated with specific tissue pathologies in the setting of infection. For example, a strong Th1 response was associated with the tuberculoid form of leprosy, an infection caused by *Mycobacterium leprae*, whereas a Th2 response was associated with the less controlled variant, lepromatous leprosy [10].

Although the Th1 and Th2 paradigm explained much of the risk of opportunistic infections (OIs) associated with HIV infection, not all AIDS-associated infections fell into intracellular or helminthic pathogens. Specifically, it remained unclear the mechanism by which CD4 deficiency predisposed patients to extracellular pathogens such as bacterial pneumonia. This particularly became evident as prophylaxis against the opportunistic pathogen Pneumocystis became widespread in the late 1980s to the early 1990s, and bacterial pneumonia increased as a major pulmonary complication of AIDS [1, 11]. Just like infections ascribed to Th1 or Th2 immunity, epidemiological data also suggested that lung infections with extracellular bacteria were also inversely associated with CD4+ T cells in peripheral blood [1, 11]. However, whether this susceptibility was due to a defect in Th1 or Th2 immunity was unclear. It was hypothesized that the susceptibility of HIV-infected patients with low CD4+ T-cell counts could be due to lack of T-cell helper function and the generation of neutralizing or opsonic activity against pathogens such as Streptococcus pneumoniae, Klebsiella pneumoniae, or Pseudomonas aeruginosa. However, this immune defect would not necessarily explain susceptibility to primary infection.

IL-17 was cloned in 1993, and its expression was largely restricted to CD4+ memory T cells [12]. IL-17 receptor was cloned in 1995 [13] and is a type I transmembrane protein. The initial biological activity of IL-17 was that it supported the differentiation of granulocyte progenitors from CD4+ T cells by stimulating G-CSF and IL-3 from bone marrow stromal cells [14]. Thus, we hypothesized that IL-17 and IL-17R signaling may regulate granulopoiesis in vivo and this differentiation and recruitment of neutrophils by IL-17-producing T cells that may in part explain the susceptibility of CD4+ T-cell-deficient host to extracellular pathogens.

2 IL-17, Granulopoiesis, and Host Defense

Overexpression of IL-17 in mice showed that IL-17 markedly expands both neutrophil progenitors in bone marrow and spleen as well as mature neutrophils in peripheral blood [15]. The expansion of neutrophil progenitors by IL-17 is mediated

by the induction of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and the transmembrane form of stem cell factor (SCF) [15, 16]. Antibodies to G-CSF and studies in scf mutant mice markedly attenuate the response to IL-17. IL-17R KO mice have nearnormal circulating numbers of neutrophils in peripheral blood but are much more susceptible to sublethal gamma irradiation and show reduced neutrophil recovery [17]. These data suggest that stress-induced granulopoiesis requires IL-17RA signaling. Moreover, IL-17R KO mice challenged with the Gram-negative pathogen K. pneumoniae also show reduced neutrophil progenitor mobilization compared to WT mice [18]. Wild-type mice show a nearly 100 % increase in CFU-GM and over a 200 % increase in high-proliferative potential colonies containing 50 or more cells. However, this response is nearly absent in IL-17RA KO mice despite higher levels of IL-17A ligand in the lungs of these mice [18], demonstrating that IL-17RA signaling is critical for this response. This defect is likely due to defective production of G-CSF, IL-6, and scf [16, 18]. It has been well known that mice and humans with leukocyte adhesion defects such as CD18 deficiency show elevated levels of G-CSF and circulating neutrophils. Ley and colleagues have shown that this expansion of neutrophils is regulated by IL-17 and G-CSF [19, 20]. This G-CSF response is ultimately regulated by gut-derived IL-23 [21] which regulates IL-17 production by T cells. Stark et al. have proposed a model by which the normal uptake of apoptotic neutrophils in the lamina propria of the gut antagonizes IL-23p19 expression and thereby negatively regulating IL-17 production by gut T cells, thereby allowing precise physiological regulation of circulating neutrophil numbers [21]. In this model, approximately 60 % of the IL-17-producing T cells are γδ T cells; 25 %, NKT-like cells; and only approximately 15 % are CD4+ T cells [20].

In addition to regulation of granulopoiesis, IL-17RA shows reduced PMN emigration in to the lung after bacterial challenge with K. pneumoniae which is associated with reduced levels of CXCL2 [18]. Indeed, IL-17 has been shown to regulate the production of a number of chemokine ligands of CXCR1/CXCR2 in fibroblasts and epithelial cells, along with emigration of neutrophils into mucosal sites [22–24]. IL-17A stimulation of human bronchial epithelial and venous endothelial cells and human synoviocytes results in the production and release of CXCL8 (IL-8) [24–26]. IL-17A also induces CXCL6 in human bronchial epithelial cells [24] and CXCL5 in murine in osteoblasts in vitro [27]. IL-17A and IL-17F induce both G-CSF and CXCL1 in human bronchial epithelial response, and the response to both ligands is antagonized by an anti-IL-17R monoclonal antibody suggesting that both IL-17A and IL-17F require IL-17R for a functional signaling receptor complex [24]. Induction of CXCL8 by IL-17A in human synoviocytes in vitro requires NF-kB and the PI-3 kinase/Akt pathway [28]. In addition, p38 mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) are required for the production of CXC chemokines to IL-17A in HBE cells [29, 30]. These CXC chemokine responses to both IL-17A and IL-17F have shown marked synergy with TNF-alpha [24]. Recently, it has been demonstrated that in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, the induction of CXCL1 by IL-17A and IL-17F requires the downstream adaptor Act1 and the induction of CXCL1 is only partly dependent on NF- κ B [31]. Other potential transcription factors responsible for IL-17-induced CXCL1 gene expression include CEBP δ which has been shown to mediate some of the synergy of gene expression observed with IL-17A and TNF-alpha dual stimulation [32].

In addition to defective recruitment of neutrophils in response to Gram-negative bacterial infection [18], the local administration of IL-17A into the lung or synovial space of experimental animals results in a significant accumulation of neutrophils into these specific tissue compartments in vivo [24, 33]. This neutrophil emigration in the context of the lung is blocked by a neutralizing and specific anti-IL-17 antibody or pretreatment with glucocorticoids [25]. This effect is also observed with IL-17C, IL-17E, and IL-17F; however, IL-17E also results in significant emigration of eosinophils [34] consistent with its Th2 cytokine profile. In addition to eliciting the ligands for CXCR1 and CXCR2 and neutrophil emigration, local administration of IL-17A into the lungs of experimental animals results in an increase in neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity in rats in vivo [35].

It has been shown that IL-17A and IL-17F are produced by a specific subset of CD4+ T cells, Th17 cells, [36–39] in addition to $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NKT cells. This subset of T cells also produces IL-22 [40] and, in humans, both IL-22 and IL-26 [41]. Although, IL-17RA KO mice are not more susceptible to Listeria monocytogenes or Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection [42], IL-17 is required for immunity against other intracellular bacteria such as *Francisella tularensis* [43] and Chlamvdia muridarum [44]. Moreover, although Th1 immunity as assessed by IFN γ recall responses to L. monocytogenes is not impaired in IL-17RA KO mice, IL-17 is required to drive Th1 immunity in Francisella and Chlamydial infections [43, 44]. Thus, it appears the lack of IL-17R signaling results in selective defects to most extracellular bacteria [18, 42] and some intracellular bacteria. In support of this, mice deficient in IL-23, a key survival factor for Th17 cells [45-47], also show reduced survival and reduced IL-17 levels in response to K. pneumoniae. Reconstitution of local IL-17 levels in the lung in IL-23 KO mice restores bacterial killing as well as the local levels of G-CSF, CXCXL1, and CXCL5 [47]. Interestingly, although IL-23 plays a limited role in primary early M. tuberculosis infection [48], it is required for long-term protection against *M. tuberculosis* [49]. Further evidence supporting a role of IL-17 in host defense against extracellular pathogens is data from Chung et al. that demonstrates that intra-abdominal abscess formation due to the anaerobic bacterium Bacteroides fragilis requires IL-17A [50]. IL-23 has also been shown to be critical for mucosal host defense in the gut in response to infection with *Citrobacter rodentium* which is natural-occurring pathogen in mice [51]. Interestingly, in this model, IL-17A was produced in both IL-23p19 deficient and wild type, suggesting that the susceptibility of IL-23p19 KO mice is independent of IL-17A [51]. In addition to extracellular bacteria, Huang et al. have shown that IL-17RA signaling is also required for optimal host defense against systemic *Candida albicans* infection [52] and antibodies against IL-23p19 antagonize pulmonary IL-17 production, neutrophil emigration, and host defense against Mycoplasma pulmonis [53]. Conti et al. have shown that IL-17RA signaling is critical for oropharyngeal C. albicans infection [54]. Moreover, Puel et al. have described a patient with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis due to a missense mutation in the



Fig. 1 Model of IL-17-producing cells in primary and vaccine-induced immunity. In primary immunity, IL-17 and II-22 can be synthesized by several T-cell subsets. A likely critical target of IL-17 and II22 is mucosal epithelium where IL-17 augments G-CSF and CXC chemokine production, resulting in recruitment of neutrophils. IL-22 along with Il-17 also augments antimicrobial peptides important for control of extracellular pathogens. In vaccine-induced immunity, there is an expansion of memory T cells which can also upregulate CXCR3 ligands through an IL-17-dependent mechanism, resulting in augmented recruitment of Th1 effectors leading to control of both extracellular and intracellular pathogens

extracellular domain of the IL-17R which prevents signaling in a patient with a chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis [55].

In addition to regulating CXCR1/2 ligands and G-CSF, IL-17 regulates antimicrobial peptide production of beta defensins [56] and calgranulins in human bronchial epithelial cells and keratinocytes. Recently, it has been shown that IL-22, a product of Th17 cells, synergizes with IL-17 in inducing these antimicrobial proteins in human keratinocytes which lends further support of the T-cell lineage in mucosal immunity (Fig. 1) [40]. Due to the fact that there is redundancy in the beta defension and calgranulins gene family, it will require further experimentation to determine the individual contributions of these proteins in Th-17-mediated mucosal immunity.

3 Cellular Sources of IL-17 to Infection In Vivo

Although the factors that regulate the differentiation of naive $\alpha\beta$ T cells into IL-17producing T cells are becoming much more clear with contributions of TGF-B, IL-6, and IL-23 [38, 39, 51], the regulation of IL-17 by T cells in vivo is much more complex. In response to stimulation by lipopeptides from *Borrelia burgdorferi*, IL-17A localizes to a subset of T lymphocytes expressing tumor necrosis factor TNFalpha and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) [57]. Moreover, CD8+ T cells have been shown to produce IL-17 in response to K. pneumoniae in vitro [58], and depletion of CD8+ cells partially abrogates lung IL-17 responses in vivo to the same infection [58]. Further evidence for a

VACCINE INDUCED IMMUNITY

predominant role of T cells is the fact that SCID mice show over a 90 % reduction in IL-17A concentration within the lung after endotoxin exposure [26, 58]. Recently, Michel et al. have demonstrated that a critical source of IL-17 in the airway is a novel NK1.1 negative, α -gal-ser-positive invariant NKT-cell population, and this population is critical for airway neutrophilia in response to endotoxin [59]. Lockhart et al. have shown that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the predominant source of IL-17 in *M. tuberculosis* infection in mice [60]. In response to the extracellular pathogen *E. coli*, Shibata et al. have shown that the V γ 1 subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells is critical for IL-17 is tightly regulated by both IL-23 and IL-1 β [62, 63], and these cells can also be a source of IL-21 which can shape the subsequent Th17 response [63]. These data suggest that innate as well as adaptive immune cells are potent producers of IL-17 [64], projecting IL-17 to be a link between innate and adaptive immunity.

4 Role of IL-17 in Vaccine-Induced Mucosal Immunity

Although there are convincing data showing a protective role for IL-17 in immunity to primary infections, the role of IL-17 in memory immune responses to infections is less well studied and understood. The fact that IL-23 acts on memory or activated T cells that express IL-23R and produce IL-17 [65] suggests that these cells may have a role to play in vaccine-induced immunity. Several recent studies using peptide or DNA vaccines encoding mycobacterial antigens show that vaccineinduced CD4 T-cell responses result in induction of both IFNy and IL-17 production [66-68]. Following challenge with M. tuberculosis, protection is clearly associated with the recruitment of IFNy-producing cells to the lung, resulting in activation of macrophages and mycobacterial killing [69]. In the vaccine-induced protection model (Fig. 1), IL-17 memory cells have been reported to play a critical role in accelerating this recruitment of protective IFN_Y CD4 T cells to the lung by upregulating CXCR3-ligating chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL-11) [66]. The generation of the IL-17 vaccine-induced response is dependent on IL-23, since the vaccine-induced protection is lost in IL-23KO mice [66]. Further data from peripheral blood of mycobacteria-exposed healthy adults show that about 20 % of cytokine-producing CD4 T cells express IL-17 or the related cytokine IL-22 and display central memory phenotype [70]. In patients with tuberculosis, the frequency of IL-17- and IL-22-producing CD4 T cells were reduced, suggesting that the cytokine-producing cells may have migrated to the lung, i.e., to the site of active infection [70]. The only available vaccine against tuberculosis M. bovis BCG is not very effective at protecting against pulmonary tuberculosis [71] and has prompted the search for more effective vaccines against tuberculosis. This information about the generation and function of protective cytokine-producing CD4 T-cell memory responses will play a critical role in design of new vaccines for tuberculosis.

Vaccine-induced protection against *Bordetella pertussis* has also been shown to be mediated by IL-17 [72]. IL-17-producing cells are induced by vaccination with whole cell pertussis vaccines (Pw), and IL-17 neutralization reduces protection following a pulmonary challenge with *B. pertussis*. However in this model, IL-17 was suggested to have a protective role via direct activation of macrophages and B. pertussis killing [72]. IL-17A was shown to be critical in a CD4 T-celldependent, antibody-independent model of vaccine-induced protection following S. pneumoniae challenge [73]. Although the specific mechanism was not defined, treatment with antiserum to IL-17A resulted in reduced immunity to pneumococcal colonization compared to the control serum-treated mice. These data suggest that there is an important role for IL-17 in vaccine-induced responses against bacterial infections. In a follow-up study, Chen et al. showed that vaccine-induced Th17 cells could recognize outer membrane proteins in the Gram-negative bacteria K. pneumoniae. These cells could mediate serotype-independent immunity, and thus, Th17 cells may be attractive targets to achieve boarder immunity than antibody approaches [74].

IL-17 has also recently been associated with protection against murine rotavirus in a vaccine-induced model. Mucosal immunization of mice with rotavirus V6 protein reduces rotavirus fecal shedding and was associated with the presence of memory cells producing IFN γ and IL-17 in the intestine [75–77]. In this model, it is thought that CD4 T-cell-derived IFN γ is the major protective mechanism [78]. However, the IL-17 CD4 T memory response may have a more indirect role to play in protection. These data clearly suggest a protective role for IL-17 in vaccineinduced immune responses in bacterial and viral infections.

5 Conclusions

Evidence clearly supports the notion that Th17 cells are a distinct lineage that may have evolved to mediate mucosal host defense against extracellular pathogens. Moreover, there is emerging evidence that these cells are critical in mediating vaccine-induced protection to a variety of pathogens (Fig. 1). Part of this effect is likely mediated by regulation of chemokines. In the setting of IL-17 neutralization, there may be a slightly increased risk of infection as well as compromised responses to some vaccines. However, the risk-benefit of IL-17 neutralization has to be considered against exiting immunosuppression which may carry similar if not greater risk due to the relative lack of specificity of many of these drugs such as steroids and calcineurin inhibitors.

Acknowledgments Funding for this project was provided, in part, by the Pennsylvania Department of Health, the Tobacco Formula Funding, and the National Institutes of Health.

References

- 1. Beck JM, Rosen MJ, Peavy HH (2001) Pulmonary complications of HIV infection. Report of the fourth NHLBI workshop. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:2120–2126
- Gallant JE, Moore RD, Chaisson RE (1994) Prophylaxis for opportunistic infections in patients with HIV infection. Ann Intern Med 120:932–944
- Cooper AM, Roberts AD, Rhoades ER, Callahan JE, Getzy DM, Orme IM (1995) The role of interleukin-12 in acquired immunity to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Immunology 84:423–432
- Flynn JL, Chan J, Triebold KJ, Dalton DK, Stewart TA, Bloom BR (1993) An essential role for interferon gamma in resistance to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Exp Med 178:2249–2254
- 5. Cooper AM, Dalton DK, Stewart TA, Griffin JP, Russell DG et al (1993) Disseminated tuberculosis in interferon gamma gene-disrupted mice. J Exp Med 178:2243–2247
- Suzuki Y, Conley FK, Remington JS (1989) Importance of endogenous IFN-gamma for prevention of toxoplasmic encephalitis in mice. J Immunol 143:2045–2050
- Gazzinelli RT, Hieny S, Wynn TA, Wolf S, Sher A (1993) Interleukin 12 is required for the T-lymphocyte-independent induction of interferon gamma by an intracellular parasite and induces resistance in T-cell-deficient hosts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:6115–6119
- Finkelman FD, Shea-Donohue T, Goldhill J, Sullivan CA, Morris SC, Madden KB et al (1997) Cytokine regulation of host defense against parasitic gastrointestinal nematodes: lessons from studies with rodent models. Annu Rev Immunol 15:505–533
- Maizels RM, Yazdanbakhsh M (2003) Immune regulation by helminth parasites: cellular and molecular mechanisms. Nat Rev Immunol 3:733–744
- Sieling PA, Modlin RL (1994) Cytokine patterns at the site of mycobacterial infection. Immunobiology 191:378–387
- 11. Wolff AJ, O'Donnell AE (2001) Pulmonary manifestations of HIV infection in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. Chest 120:1888–1893
- Rouvier E, Luciani MF, Mattei MG, Denizot F, Golstein P (1993) CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. J Immunol 150:5445–5456
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau A-M, Painter SL, Comeau MR et al (1995) Herpesvirus saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821
- 14. Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, Flores-Romo L, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C et al (1996) T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med 183:2593–2603
- 15. Schwarzenberger P, La Russa V, Miller A, Ye P, Huang W, Zieske A et al (1998) IL-17 stimulates granulopoiesis in mice: use of an alternate, novel gene therapy-derived method for in vivo evaluation of cytokines. J Immunol 161:6383–6389
- Schwarzenberger P, Huang W, Ye P, Oliver P, Manuel M, Zhang Z et al (2000) Requirement of endogenous stem cell factor and granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor for IL-17-mediated granulopoiesis. J Immunol 164:4783–4789
- Tan W, Huang W, Zhong Q, Schwarzenberger P (2006) IL-17 receptor knockout mice have enhanced myelotoxicity and impaired hemopoietic recovery following gamma irradiation. J Immunol 176:6186–6193
- Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P et al (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194:519–527
- Forlow SB, Schurr JR, Kolls JK, Bagby GJ, Schwarzenberger PO, Ley K (2001) Increased granulopoiesis through interleukin-17 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in leukocyte adhesion molecule-deficient mice. Blood 98:3309–3314

- Ley K, Smith E, Stark MA (2006) IL-17A-producing neutrophil-regulatory Tn lymphocytes. Immunol Res 34:229–242
- Stark MA, Huo Y, Burcin TL, Morris MA, Olson TS, Ley K (2005) Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17. Immunity 22:285–294
- 22. Witowski J, Pawlaczyk K, Breborowicz A, Scheuren A, Kuzlan-Pawlaczyk M, Wisniewska J et al (2000) IL-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of GRO alpha chemokine from mesothelial cells. J Immunol 165:5814–5821
- 23. McAllister F, Henry A, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Ulrich L, Steele C et al (2005) Role of IL-17A, IL-17 F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-{alpha} and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol 175:404–412
- 24. Kolls JK, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467–476
- 25. Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Sjöstrand M, Gruenert DC et al (1999) Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. J Immunol 162:2347–2352
- 26. Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR, Jones CE, Trifilieff A (2003) IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol 170:2106–2112
- Ruddy MJ, Shen F, Smith JB, Sharma A, Gaffen SL (2004) Interleukin-17 regulates expression of the CXC chemokine LIX/CXCL5 in osteoblasts: implications for inflammation and neutrophil recruitment. J Leukoc Biol 76:135–144
- 28. Hwang SY, Kim JY, Kim KW, Park MK, Moon Y, Kim WU et al (2004) IL-17 induces production of IL-6 and IL-8 in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts via NF-kappaB- and PI3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathways. Arthritis Res Ther 6:R120–R128
- Laan M, Lötvall J, Chung KF, Lindén A (2001) IL-17-induced cytokine release in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro: role of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases. Br J Pharmacol 133:200–206
- Prause O, Laan M, Lötvall J, Lindén A (2003) Pharmacological modulation of interleukin-17induced GCP-2-, GRO-alpha- and interleukin-8 release in human bronchial epithelial cells. Eur J Pharmacol 462:193–198
- 31. Qian Y, Liu C, Hartupee J, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Jane-Wit D et al (2007) The adaptor Act1 is required for interleukin 17-dependent signaling associated with autoimmune and inflammatory disease. Nat Immunol 8:247–256
- 32. Shen F, Ruddy MJ, Plamondon P, Gaffen SL (2005) Cytokines link osteoblasts and inflammation: microarray analysis of interleukin-17- and TNF-{alpha}-induced genes in bone cells. J Leukoc Biol 77:388–399
- 33. Miyamoto M, Prause O, Sjöstrand M, Laan M, Lötvall J, Lindén A (2003) Endogenous IL-17 as a mediator of neutrophil recruitment caused by endotoxin exposure in mouse airways. J Immunol 170:4665–4672
- 34. Hurst SD, Muchamuel T, Gorman DM, Gilbert JM, Clifford T, Kwan S et al (2002) New IL-17 family members promote Th1 or Th2 responses in the lung: in vivo function of the novel cytokine IL-25. J Immunol 169:443–453
- 35. Hoshino H, Laan M, Sjöstrand M, Lötvall J, Skoogh BE, Lindén A (2000) Increased elastase and myeloperoxidase activity associated with neutrophil recruitment by IL-17 in airways in vivo. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105:143–149
- 36. Casaulta C, Schoni MH, Weichel M, Crameri R, Jutel M, Daigle I et al (2003) IL-10 controls Aspergillus fumigatus- and Pseudomonas aeruginosa-specific T-cell response in cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Res 53:313–319
- 37. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM et al (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132

- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M et al (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441:235–238
- 40. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M et al (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- 41. Trompouki E, Hatzivassiliou E, Tsichritzis T, Farmer H, Ashworth A, Mosialos G (2003) CYLD is a deubiquitinating enzyme that negatively regulates NF-kappaB activation by TNFR family members. Nature 424:793–796
- 42. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA et al (2008) IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. Nat Med 14:275–281
- 43. Lin Y, Ritchea S, Logar A, Slight S, Messmer M, Rangel-Moreno J et al (2009) Interleukin-17 is required for T helper 1 cell immunity and host resistance to the intracellular pathogen *Francisella tularensis*. Immunity 31:799–810
- 44. Bai H, Cheng J, Gao X, Joyee AG, Fan Y, Wang S et al (2009) IL-17/Th17 promotes type 1 T cell immunity against pulmonary intracellular bacterial infection through modulating dendritic cell function. J Immunol 183:5886–5895
- 45. Weaver CT, Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Gavrieli M, Murphy KM (2006) Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. Immunity 24:677–688
- 46. Hunter CA (2005) New IL-12-family members: IL-23 and IL-27, cytokines with divergent functions. Nat Rev Immunol 5:521–531
- 47. Happel KI, Dubin PJ, Zheng M, Ghilardi N, Lockhart C, Quinton LJ et al (2005) Divergent roles of IL-23 and IL-12 in host defense against *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. J Exp Med 202:761–769
- 48. Khader SA, Pearl JE, Sakamoto K, Gilmartin L, Bell GK, Jelley-Gibbs DM et al (2005) IL-23 compensates for the absence of IL-12p70 and is essential for the IL-17 response during tuberculosis but is dispensable for protection and antigen-specific IFN-gamma responses if IL-12p70 is available. J Immunol 175:788–795
- 49. Khader SA, Guglani L, Rangel-Moreno J, Gopal R, Junecko BA, Fountain JJ et al (2011) IL-23 is required for long-term control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and B cell follicle formation in the infected lung. J Immunol 187:5402–5407
- 50. Chung DR, Kasper DL, Panzo RJ, Chitnis T, Grusby MJ, Sayegh MH et al (2003) CD4+ T cells mediate abscess formation in intra-abdominal sepsis by an IL-17-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 170:1958–1963
- 51. Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO et al (2006) Transforming growth factor-β induces development of the TH17 lineage. Nature 441:231–234
- 52. Huang W, Na L, Fidel PL, Schwarzenberger P (2004) Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-*Candida albicans* host defense in mice. J Infect Dis 190:624–631
- 53. Wu Q, Martin RJ, Rino JG, Breed R, Torres RM, Chu HW (2007) IL-23-dependent IL-17 production is essential in neutrophil recruitment and activity in mouse lung defense against respiratory *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* infection. Microbes Infect 9:78–86
- 54. Conti HR, Shen F, Nayyar N, Stocum E, Sun JN, Lindemann MJ et al (2009) Th17 cells and IL-17 receptor signaling are essential for mucosal host defense against oral candidiasis. J Exp Med 206:299–311
- 55. Puel A, Cypowyj S, Bustamante J, Wright JF, Liu L, Lim HK et al (2011) Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. Science 332:65–68
- 56. Kao CY, Chen Y, Thai P, Wachi S, Huang F, Kim C et al (2004) IL-17 markedly up-regulates beta-defensin-2 expression in human airway epithelium via JAK and NF-kappaB signaling pathways. J Immunol 173:3482–3491

- Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T (2000) Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol 165:6107–6115
- Happel KI, Zheng M, Young E, Quinton LJ, Lockhart E, Ramsay AJ et al (2003) Cutting edge: roles of Toll-like receptor 4 and IL-23 in IL-17 expression in response to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. J Immunol 170:4432–4436
- Michel ML, Keller AC, Paget C, Fujio M, Trottein F, Savage PB et al (2007) Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1neg iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J Exp Med 204:995–1001
- Lockhart E, Green AM, Flynn JL (2006) IL-17 production is dominated by gammadelta T cells rather than CD4 T cells during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. J Immunol 177:4662–4669
- 61. Shibata K, Yamada H, Hara H, Kishihara K, Yoshikai Y (2007) Resident Vdelta1+ gammadelta T cells control early infiltration of neutrophils after *Escherichia coli* infection via IL-17 production. J Immunol 178:4466–4472
- 62. Martin B, Hirota K, Cua DJ, Stockinger B, Veldhoen M (2009) Interleukin-17-producing gammadelta T cells selectively expand in response to pathogen products and environmental signals. Immunity 31:321–330
- 63. Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2009) Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 31:331–341
- 64. Reynolds JM, Angkasekwinai P, Dong C (2010) IL-17 family member cytokines: regulation and function in innate immunity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:413–423
- 65. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, De Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278:1910–1914
- 66. Khader SA, Bell GK, Pearl JE, Fountain JJ, Rangel-Moreno J, Cilley GE et al (2007) IL-23 and IL-17 in the establishment of protective pulmonary CD4+ T cell responses after vaccination and during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* challenge. Nat Immunol 8:369–377
- 67. Romano M, D'Souza S, Adnet PY, Laali R, Jurion F, Palfliet K et al (2006) Priming but not boosting with plasmid DNA encoding mycolyl-transferase Ag85A from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* increases the survival time of *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccinated mice against low dose intravenous challenge with *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv. Vaccine 24:3353–3364
- Agger EM, Cassidy JP, Brady J, Korsholm KS, Vingsbo-Lundberg C, Andersen P (2008) Adjuvant modulation of the cytokine balance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* subunit vaccines; immunity, pathology and protection. Immunology 124(2):175–85
- 69. Flynn JL, Chan J (2001) Immunology of tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 19:93-129
- 70. Scriba TJ, Kalsdorf B, Abrahams DA, Isaacs F, Hofmeister J, Black G et al (2008) Distinct, specific IL-17- and IL-22-producing CD4+ T cell subsets contribute to the human antimycobacterial immune response. J Immunol 180:1962–1970
- Colditz GA, Brewer TF, Berkey CS, Wilson ME, Burdick E, Fineberg HV et al (1994) Efficacy of BCG vaccine in the prevention of tuberculosis: meta-analysis of the published literature. JAMA 271:698–702
- 72. Higgins SC, Jarnicki AG, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2006) TLR4 mediates vaccine-induced protective cellular immunity to *Bordetella pertussis*: role of IL-17-producing T cells. J Immunol 177:7980–7989
- 73. Malley R, Srivastava A, Lipsitch M, Thompson CM, Watkins C, Tzianabos A et al (2006) Antibody-independent, interleukin-17A-mediated, cross-serotype immunity to pneumococci in mice immunized intranasally with the cell wall polysaccharide. Infect Immun 74:2187–2195
- 74. Chen K, McAleer JP, Lin Y, Paterson DL, Zheng M, Alcorn JF et al (2011) Th17 cells mediate clade-specific, serotype-independent mucosal immunity. Immunity 35:997–1009

- 75. McNeal MM, Basu M, Bean JA, Clements JD, Choi AH, Ward RL (2007) Identification of an immunodominant CD4+ T cell epitope in the VP6 protein of rotavirus following intranasal immunization of BALB/c mice. Virology 363:410–418
- 76. McNeal MM, Basu M, Bean JA, Clements JD, Lycke NY, Ramne A et al (2007) Intrarectal immunization of mice with VP6 and either LT(R192G) or CTA1-DD as adjuvant protects against fecal rotavirus shedding after EDIM challenge. Vaccine 25:6224–6231
- 77. Smiley KL, McNeal MM, Basu M, Choi AH, Clements JD, Ward RL (2007) Association of gamma interferon and interleukin-17 production in intestinal CD4+ T cells with protection against rotavirus shedding in mice intranasally immunized with VP6 and the adjuvant LT (R192G). J Virol 81:3740–3748
- McNeal MM, Stone SC, Basu M, Clements JD, Choi AH, Ward RL (2007) IFN-gamma is the only anti-rotavirus cytokine found after in vitro stimulation of memory CD4(+) T cells from mice immunized with a chimeric VP6 protein. Viral Immunol 20:571–584
Role of IL-17 and IL-17 Family Cytokines on Tumor Development

Frédérique Végran, Hélène Berger, and Lionel Apetoh

Abstract Anticancer immune responses restrain tumor progression, but persistent immune activation can induce chronic inflammation that contributes to tumor development. The IL-17 family of cytokines comprises six family members (IL-17A to IL-17F) that all contribute to tissue inflammation. Interleukin-17A (IL-17A), the original member of this family, is also the signature cytokine of the recently identified proinflammatory T helper 17 (Th17) cell subset that has been shown to contribute to autoimmunity. Despite their well-characterized proinflammatory functions in vivo, the role of IL-17 cytokine family members on tumor progression remains highly controversial. In this chapter, we review the latest findings on the functions of IL-17 family members in cancer and discuss the potential of these molecules as therapeutic targets.

Keywords Inflammation • Cancer • Interleukin-17 • Immunomodulation • Anticancer immunity • Dendritic cells • T cells • Innate immunity • Adaptive immunity • Chemotherapy

1 Introduction: Inflammation, Cancer, and IL-17 Cytokine Family Members

Early oncogenesis results from genetic mutations leading to altered protein signaling pathways within cells that trigger their transformation. Cancer cells provide their own growth signals, are insensitive to growth-inhibitory signals, evade cell

F. Végran • H. Berger

INSERM, U866, 7bd Jeanne d'Arc, Dijon 21000, France

L. Apetoh (⊠) INSERM, U866, 7bd Jeanne d'Arc, Dijon 21000, France

Centre Georges François Leclerc, Dijon, France e-mail: lionel.apetoh@yahoo.fr

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_16, © Springer Basel 2013

death, have unlimited replicative potential, promote angiogenesis, and metastasize to other tissues, ultimately resulting in tumor development [1]. While cell-intrinsic properties determine tumor cell aggressiveness [2, 3], the tumor microenvironment has also been shown to critically contribute to tumor progression [4–6]. Cancers are indeed composed of multiple cell types, including innate and adaptive immune cells that have a profound impact on tumor progression [7]. However, immune activation during tumor progression can lead to contrasting outcomes. Chronic activation of immune effector cells by tumor cells triggers the release of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and other bioactive mediators, thereby creating an inflammatory milieu that favors tumor progression [8, 9]. In contrast, the immunosurveillance concept initially brought up by Burnet in 1957 and later substantiated by mouse and human findings states the immune system is capable of limiting tumor development [10, 11]. Immune effectors involved in the elimination of tumor cells include gamma delta T cells [12], natural killer (NK) cells [13], dendritic cells (DCs) [14], and natural killer T (NKT) cells [15], as well as members of adaptive immune responses (B and T cells) [16]. The contribution of innate and adaptive immune responses to the success of anticancer therapies has also been studied in mice and humans suffering from cancer [17, 18]. Investigations revealed that the efficacy of radiotherapeutic and chemotherapeutic regimens does not only rely on their direct cytotoxic effects on tumor cells but also on their ability to trigger the release of danger signals from tumor cells that in turn induce antitumor immune responses [17, 19]. These observations suggest paradoxical roles of the immune system during tumor progression and provide impetus to study the series of events set off by inflammatory responses in cancer.

Interleukin-17A (IL-17A), also commonly called IL-17, is produced by a recently discovered CD4+ T cell subset named Th17 cells. In addition to IL-17A, Th17 cells are characterized by their secretion of IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 and their expression of the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) [20]. Th17 development is induced by IL-6 and TGF- β , and the IL-12 family member IL-23 maintains Th17 cell activity [21]. Increased understanding of Th17 cell functions has unraveled important roles for IL-17A in the development of autoimmune diseases as well as in protective mechanisms against bacterial or fungal infections, functions that were previously ascribed to Th1 or Th2 cells [22]. Th17 cells have emerged as key participants in a wide range of autoimmune disorders, including inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis, multiple sclerosis, and ankylosing spondylitis [23]. Accordingly, elevated amounts of IL-17A and IL-17F are detected in several autoimmune diseases including (MS) [24], rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [25], and psoriasis [26], and the involvement of Th17 cells in tissue inflammation was confirmed in mouse models where IL-17-neutralizing antibodies alleviate diseases [27, 28].

IL-17A is the original member of a group of 6 cytokines IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (also called IL-25), and IL-17F that share homology in amino acid sequences with highly conserved cysteine residues essential for their 3-dimensional structure. The IL-17R family comprises five members (IL-17RA, IL-17RB, IL-17RC, IL-17RD, and IL-17RE) that share sequence homology to the earliest identified member, IL-17RA. Signaling specificity is determined by homo-/

heterodimerization of IL-17 receptors such as homodimers and heterodimers of IL-17A and IL-17F that bind to IL-17RA and IL-17RC heterodimers, while IL-17E signals through the IL-17RA and IL-17RB heterodimers. Reported functions for IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17F are the induction of proinflammatory cytokines from fibroblasts and peritoneal exudate cells and the promotion of neutrophil migration. By contrast, IL-17E seems to support Th2 responses, suggesting that IL-17 family members could have distinct functions in pathological situations. In a cancer setting, the functional roles of IL-17 family members are beginning to be understood but remain highly controversial. In this chapter, we review the recent studies that addressed the impact of IL-17 family cytokines on tumor development.

2 A Controversial Role of IL-17A/F in Tumor Progression

2.1 IL-17A/F and Tumor Angiogenesis

The effects of IL-17A on cancer progression have been explored in seminal studies from Tartour et al. [29]. Using cervical cancer cells, the authors showed that neither direct addition of recombinant IL-17A nor IL-17A gene transduction altered the growth of cervical tumors in vitro. However, IL-17-expressing cervical tumors grew faster upon transplantation into nude mice, suggesting that IL-17A has indirect tumor-promoting effects in vivo. The authors further noted that increased expression of IL-17A in vivo was associated with macrophage recruitment at the tumor site. Since macrophages are a cellular source of IL-6, which can act as an in vivo paracrine growth factor, this study indicated that the IL-17A tumorpromoting effects could be partly accounted for by IL-6 [29]. The tumor-promoting effects of IL-17A were later reported in additional tumor models such as MCA205 fibrosarcoma and MC38 colon carcinoma [30]. In addition, IL-17A was identified as a CD4 T cell-derived angiogenic factor that favors neovascularization in vivo [30]. While IL-17A had no direct effect on the in vitro proliferation of vascular endothelial cells, it promoted angiogenesis through stimulation of vascular endothelial cell migration and cord formation. Moreover, IL-17A was shown to increase vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), keratinocyte chemoattractant (KC), macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (MIP-2), prostaglandins, and nitric oxide (NO) production by fibroblasts, suggesting that IL-17 functions as a CD4 T cellderived angiogenic mediator involved in inflammatory angiogenesis. CD4 IL-17expressing T cells infiltrating into tumor tissues may stimulate tumor cells and stromal fibroblasts to secrete proinflammatory and proangiogenic factors such as VEGF, which inhibits dendritic cell development [31], resulting in enhanced tumor growth. Since neovascularization is required for solid tumor growth, these findings illustrate the contribution of IL-17A in promoting tumor growth through enhanced angiogenesis.

The molecular mechanisms accounting for the cancer-promoting activity of IL-17A have been investigated. In the B16 melanoma and MB49 bladder carcinoma tumor models, IL-17A was shown to support tumor outgrowth not only through direct effects on tumor cells but also by affecting tumor-associated stromal cells, which bear IL-17 receptors [32]. In line with previous work of Tartour et al. [29], IL-17 was shown to induce IL-6 production. Subsequent IL-6 release in the tumor microenvironment triggers the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (Stat) 3, which in turn drives the expression of prosurvival and proangiogenic genes. IL-17A was also shown to enhance de novo carcinogenesis in the DMBA/TPA-induced skin carcinogenesis model [33]. IL-17A can therefore support tumor progression by activating the IL-6/Stat3 signaling pathway.

The tumor-promoting functions of IL-17A have also been reported in spontaneous mouse models of cancer. IL-17A was indeed shown to participate in the development of colonic cancer in multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min) mice, a model of familial adenomatous polyposis. Ablation of IL-17A hampered tumor growth in mice bearing a heterozygote mutation in the adenomatous polyposis coli (Apc) gene (Apc(Min/+) mice) [34]. Decreased tumor progression was accompanied by reduced inflammatory cytokine secretion and T cell infiltration. In addition, the absence of IL-17A in Apc(Min/+) CD4 T cells abrogated their capacity to induce colitis in immunodeficient mice upon adoptive transfer. Therefore, in the Min cancer model, CD4 T cell-derived IL-17A promotes spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis.

As discussed above, Th17 cells, beyond their robust secretion of IL-17A, produce IL-17F. The respective roles of IL-17A and IL-17F in inducing cancer progression have been explored. In an elegant study, Leppkes et al. explored in a mouse model of chronic intestinal inflammation the role of Th17 cells as well as their master transcription factor retinoic acid-related orphan receptor (ROR) γ . In an adoptive transfer model of colitis where wild-type CD4 + CD25- T cells induce colitis in rag1–/– mice, the authors showed the critical involvement of ROR γ in the pathogenicity of Th17 cells and the redundant biological effects of IL-17A and IL-17F in vivo [35]. Indeed, while the transfer of IL-17A- or IL-17F-deficient CD4 cells induced colitis, mice that received Rorc-deficient T cells or IL-17F-deficient T cells with a neutralizing anti-IL-17A antibody had diminished colitis [35]. The protumor functions of IL-17F have also been illustrated in intestinal tumorigenesis where ablation of IL-17F impeded intestinal tumorigenesis in the small intestine of Apc(Min/+) mice [36]. Altogether, these studies suggest that to alleviate gut inflammation, the targeting of both IL-17A and IL-17F might be required to achieve a marked therapeutic effect.

The roles of IL-17A and IL-17F in tumor progression in humans remain debated. By studying immune-related genes in 125 frozen colorectal tumor specimens, Tosolini et al. found that patients featuring high expression of the Th17 cluster (containing the Rorc and IL-17a genes) in tumor-infiltrating cells had a poor prognosis, possibly suggesting that IL-17A contributes to cancer progression in human colon cancer [37]. The previous findings are in line with the observations made in hepatocellular carcinoma patients, where increased intratumoral

IL-17-producing cells also correlate with poor survival [38]. However, in ovarian cancer, levels of tumor-infiltrating Th17 cells and the levels of ascites IL-17 are reduced in more advanced diseases and positively predict patient outcome [39]. It is likely that IL-17A and IL-17F may play different roles depending on the tumor type and stage, and further work is thus warranted to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the roles of IL-17A and IL-17F in cancer promotion in humans.

2.2 IL-17A Promotes Anticancer CD8 T Cell Responses

Despite the aforementioned findings suggesting that IL-17A fosters cancer development, observations that adoptive therapy with polarized Th17 cells limits B16F10 melanoma growth suggest that depending on the immunological context, Th17 cells can exert antitumor functions [40, 41]. Martin-Orozco et al. indeed reported an active role of IL-17 in tumor immunosurveillance. They found that interleukin-17A (IL-17A)-deficient mice were more susceptible to developing lung tumors and that adoptive T cell therapy with tumor-specific Th17 cells prevented tumor development. Interestingly, Th17 cells exhibited stronger therapeutic efficacy than Th1 cells. Th17 cells favored dendritic cell recruitment into the tumor tissues and in draining lymph nodes, allowing antitumor CD8+ T cell priming in the draining lymph nodes. The therapeutic effect of Th17 cells fully relied on their ability to activate tumor-specific CD8+ T cells, suggesting that Th17 cells induce protective inflammation that promotes the activation of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells.

The anticancer properties of Th17 cells were further shown using MHC class IIrestricted, T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic mice that recognize a novel epitope in tyrosine-related protein 1 (TRP-1), an antigen expressed by normal melanocytes and B16 murine melanoma. In this mouse tumor model that mimics human disease, Th17-polarized cells were highly effective at eliminating large B16F10 melanoma tumors [41]. Surprisingly, however, the therapeutic effect of the adoptively transferred Th17 cells was not only dependent on IL-17A but also on IFN- γ . These observations are attributable to the ability of Th17 cells to self-renew and persist as IL-17A-secreting cells in vivo and to give rise to a Th1-like effector cell progeny [42]. These studies illustrate the discrepant findings regarding the role of IL-17A in immune surveillance and they both suggest that Th17 cells, at least in adoptive transfer settings, can stave off tumor progression. Taking into consideration all these findings will be essential to contemplate the putative use of Th17 cells as a cell therapy strategy for patients suffering from cancer.

2.3 IL-17A Potentiates Anticancer Immune Responses Triggered by Chemotherapy

Cancer treatment mainly relies on surgery, radiotherapy, cytotoxic chemotherapy, and hormonotherapy. Most of these therapies are believed to directly attack and

eradicate tumor cells. This contention was however challenged by observations suggesting that optimal therapeutic effects require the immunoadjuvant effect of tumor cell death induced by cytotoxic anticancer agents [43]. We have subsequently reported that chemotherapy and radiotherapy antitumor effects rely on the immune system of the host. The interaction of the danger signal high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) released from dying tumor cells with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on dendritic cells (DCs) was required for the cross presentation of tumor antigens and the promotion of tumor-specific cytotoxic T cell responses and breast cancer patients harboring the loss-of-function Asp299Gly polymorphism of TLR4 relapsed earlier after receiving anthracycline-based chemotherapy [17]. Overall, these findings underscore the need to characterize anticancer immune responses that ensue following cancer treatment [17, 18].

Upon investigating the immune effector cells and molecules that mediate anticancer immune responses in response to chemotherapeutic treatment, the group led by Zitvogel identified a key role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, particularly the V γ 4- and V γ 6expressing subsets that produce IL-17A, in the antitumor immune response induced by the cytotoxic agents anthracyclines and oxaliplatin [44]. Chemotherapy induced an early infiltration of interleukin (IL)-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ (V $\gamma4(+)$ and V $\gamma6(+)$) T lymphocytes ($\gamma\delta$ T17 cells) that preceded the accumulation of CD8 T cells within the tumor bed. The IL-17A-IL-17RA signaling pathway was required for the priming of IFN- γ -secreting, antigen-specific T cells by tumor cells exposed to chemotherapy and mice in which the IL-17 signaling pathway was disrupted failed to respond to chemotherapeutic treatment. Importantly, in the authors' settings, IL-17A-producing cells that accumulated in tumors were mostly positive for $\gamma\delta$ T markers. A contribution of Th17 cells as a source of IL-17A was ruled out by demonstrating that IL-6 and TGF- β , two key regulatory cytokines essential for the differentiation of Th17 cells [45, 46], were dispensable for the efficacy of chemotherapy or vaccination with dying tumor cells. Since the authors further reported that IL-17A did not directly induce IFN- γ production or enhance proliferation of CD8+ T cells, their results suggest that $\gamma\delta$ T cells producing IL-17A contribute to the recruitment of antitumor effector CD8 T cells into tumor beds.

The role of IL-17A in staving off tumor growth following chemotherapeutic treatment was further exemplified in mammary adenocarcinoma and fibrosarcoma tumor models where the IL-1 β /IL-1R signaling is essential to the therapeutic outcome of doxorubicin treatment. Using IL-17A–/– mice and an anti-IL-17R α mAb, Mattarollo et al. demonstrated the key role of IL-17A in doxorubicin treatment of transplantable mammary tumors and fibrosarcomas generated de novo by MCA [47]. Interestingly, in contrast to the studies of Wang et al. [32], lack of IL-17A did not affect tumor growth in untreated mice, suggesting that IL-17A exerts contrasting effects depending on the tumor model used. Upon testing the role of lymphocytes in doxorubicin therapy of established AT3 mammary tumors and MCA205 fibrosarcomas, Mattarollo et al. found that doxorubicin efficacy in both AT3 and MCA205 tumors was compromised in mice lacking $\gamma\delta$ T cells. $\gamma\delta$ T cells that lacked IL-1R lost the capacity to amplify the action of chemotherapy, confirming the causal relationship with IL-1 β and IL-17 production from $\gamma\delta$ T

cells, resulting in IFN- γ production from tumor-specific CD8 T cells. Since IL-17 production from $\gamma\delta$ T cells is dependent on IL-1R signaling and increases CD8 T cell IFN- γ responses [48], these findings are in line with previous reports documenting an essential role of IL-1 β and CD8 T cells for the efficacy of chemotherapy [49]. Whether IL-17 is a major downstream response cytokine to IL-1 β secretion remains to be demonstrated, but these two studies provide important additional data in mammary tumor transplant and de novo fibrosarcoma models to support a role for IL-17A in doxorubicin mechanism of action.

3 IL-17E Inhibits Tumor Progression

Like IL-17A, IL-17E has potent inflammatory effects in vitro and in vivo. Overexpression of IL-17E in mice skews the immune response toward a Th2 pattern and favors eosinophil expansion through IL-5 production. Benatar et al. have investigated the role of IL-17E in tumor progression. For this, the antitumor efficacy of IL-17E was examined in a variety of human tumor xenograft models, including melanoma, breast, lung, colon, and pancreatic cancers. The authors found that recombinant mouse or human IL-17E administration promoted anticancer responses [50]. Using human tumor xenograft models in mice, they further showed that the combination of IL-17E with chemotherapy or immunotherapy agents has a superior ability to prevent tumor outgrowth as compared to either agent alone. IL-17E induced a marked increase in eosinophils in the blood of tumor-bearing mice and the in vivo anticancer effects of IL-17E correlated with the splenic eosinophil numbers. In addition, B cells were found to be necessary for IL-17E-mediated antitumor activity [50]. It is noteworthy that the same authors demonstrated that the anticancer effects of Virulizin, an anticancer agent that prevents tumor growth in human tumor xenograft models, relies, at least in part, through its ability to induce IL-17E by B cells [51]. Overall, these findings suggest that the immunomodulatory effects of IL-17E contribute to impede tumor development.

While the previously mentioned findings referred to the immunomodulatory activity of IL-17E, the direct effect of IL-17E on cancer cells remained elusive. In an elegant work, Furuta et al. have investigated the effect of IL-17E on mammary cancer cells [52]. They found that nonmalignant mammary epithelial cells (MECs) secreted IL-17E, which triggers apoptotic cell death of breast cancer cells. Importantly, IL-17E did not affect nonmalignant MECs. In mice, IL-25 treatment was effective at inhibiting tumor growth without any significant side effect to the normal tissues. These findings were further substantiated with the differential expression of the IL-25R, which was expressed in high amounts in tumors from patients with poor prognoses but was low in nonmalignant breast tissue. The IL-25/IL-25R pathway triggered caspase-mediated apoptosis in breast cancer cells [52]. These results provide impetus to the design of novel, effective, and safe breast cancer therapeutics. Indeed, unlike IL-25 would only induce apoptosis specifically

in cancer cells that express IL-25R. Since IL-25R is expressed by 19 % of invasive ductal carcinomas in the study from Furuta et al. (13/56), these results may have clinical relevance given the breast cancer prevalence. Thus, the selection of patients with IL-25R overexpressing tumors will be essential to evaluate the putative benefit of IL-17E in the clinical management of breast cancer.

4 An Elusive Contribution of IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17D in Tumor Progression

While IL-17B has been implicated in inflammatory response and autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, its role in cancer has not been extensively studied. Furuta et al. propose that IL-17B, which binds IL-25R with a lower affinity than that of IL-25, could endow breast cancer cells with a growth advantage [52]. The authors reported that IL-17B was expressed in most breast cancer cell lines that expressed high amounts of IL-25R, whereas IL-17B was absent from nonmalignant MCF10A cells. Consistently, IL-17B was overexpressed in 12 out of 40 breast cancer specimens examined but undetectable in normal tissues. ShRNA-mediated reduction of IL-17B amounts in breast cancer cells impaired their growth and invasive potentials, while recombinant IL-17B protein did the opposite. Altogether, this study indicates that IL-17B may favor the tumorigenicity of breast cancer cells in an autocrine manner. However, Sanders et al. found that recombinant human IL-17B inhibits endothelial cell-matrix adhesion and cellular migration, suggesting that IL-17B might harbor antiangiogenic properties [53].

The functions of IL-17C and IL-17D have not been explored in a cancer setting. However, it is noteworthy that IL-17C was recently shown to bind to IL-17RE, thereby inducing the expression of a nuclear IkappaB family member, I κ B ζ , in Th17 cells to potentiate the Th17 cell response [54]. Given the importance of Th17 cells in tumor immunosurveillance as previously discussed in this chapter, we can speculate that IL-17C has the potential ability to shape anticancer immune responses through modulating Th17 cell activities.

5 Concluding Remarks

IL-17 family members exert contrasting effects on tumor development. While IL-17E seems to be endowed with anticancer properties through the modulation of cancer cell growth and immune activation, IL-17A and IL-17F favor or repress tumor growth according to the tumor type and immune environment. The other members of the IL-17 cytokine family IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17D have not yet been fully characterized, and their role in cancer remains unclear. The reported effects of the IL-17 family members are summarized in Table 1.

Cytokine	Protumor functions	Antitumor functions
IL-17A	Supports angiogenesis [30, 32]	Favors CD8 T cell priming [40]
	Promotes the release of IL-6 [29, 32]	Potentiates the anticancer immune response following chemotherapy [44, 47]
	Drives intratumor Stat3 activation [32, 33]	
	Promotes gut inflammation and carcinogenesis [34, 35]	
IL-17B	Might support cancer cell growth in an autocrine manner [52]	Might harbor antiangiogenic properties [53]
IL-17C	Unknown	Unknown
IL-17D	Unknown	Unknown
IL-17E	None reported	Synergizes with chemotherapy to prevent tumor outgrowth [50]
		Activates anticancer B cells [50, 51]
		Triggers apoptotic cell death of malignant breast cancer cells [52]
IL-17F	Promotes gut inflammation and carcinogenesis [35, 36]	None reported

Table 1 Proposed pro- and antitumor functions of IL-17 family members during tumor development

Clinical studies have shown that anti-IL-17A therapies are effective to treat inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis. Thus, the therapeutic use of anti-IL-17A neutralizing antibodies can be contemplated in cancers where IL-17A promotes cancer growth. This therapeutic strategy would have however to be implemented with caution since IL-17A is crucial for the defense against fungal infections. Indeed, treatments with anti-IL-17A might increase the risk of opportunistic infections. It is noteworthy that the studies examining the role of IL-17 in cancer are mainly restricted to studying the role of IL-17A. The neutralization of other IL-17 cytokine members in vivo will be determinant to assess their functions in anticancer responses in humans. An understanding of the functions of these cytokines will assist the design of more effective treatments for not only cancer but also autoimmune diseases.

Acknowledgments The authors are supported by the INSERM-Région-Bourgogne (H.B.), the Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer (F.V.), and the Agence Nationale de la Recherche [ANR-10-PDOC-014-01] (L.A.). Frédérique Végran and Hélène Berger contributed equally to this work.

References

- 1. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57-70
- Van't Veer LJ, Dai H, van de Vijver MJ, He YD, Hart AA, Mao M, Peterse HL, van der Kooy K, Marton MJ, Witteveen AT et al (2002) Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. Nature 415:530–536

- Shedden K, Taylor JM, Enkemann SA, Tsao MS, Yeatman TJ, Gerald WL, Eschrich S, Jurisica I, Giordano TJ, Misek DE et al (2008) Gene expression-based survival prediction in lung adenocarcinoma: a multi-site, blinded validation study. Nat Med 14:822–827
- 4. Kim S, Takahashi H, Lin WW, Descargues P, Grivennikov S, Kim Y, Luo JL, Karin M (2009) Carcinoma-produced factors activate myeloid cells through TLR2 to stimulate metastasis. Nature 457:102–106
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, Richardson AL, Polyak K, Tubo R, Weinberg RA (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature 449:557–563
- Colmone A, Amorim M, Pontier AL, Wang S, Jablonski E, Sipkins DA (2008) Leukemic cells create bone marrow niches that disrupt the behavior of normal hematopoietic progenitor cells. Science 322:1861–1865
- 7. Liotta LA, Kohn EC (2001) The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface. Nature 411:375–379
- Coussens LM, Raymond WW, Bergers G, Laig-Webster M, Behrendtsen O, Werb Z, Caughey GH, Hanahan D (1999) Inflammatory mast cells up-regulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis. Genes Dev 13:1382–1397
- 9. de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM (2006) Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer 6:24–37
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD (2002) Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol 3:991–998
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD (2007) Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature 450:903–907
- 12. Gao Y, Yang W, Pan M, Scully E, Girardi M, Augenlicht LH, Craft J, Yin Z (2003) Gamma delta T cells provide an early source of interferon gamma in tumor immunity. J Exp Med 198:433–442
- Borg C, Terme M, Taieb J, Menard C, Flament C, Robert C, Maruyama K, Wakasugi H, Angevin E, Thielemans K et al (2004) Novel mode of action of c-kit tyrosine kinase inhibitors leading to NK cell-dependent antitumor effects. J Clin Invest 114:379–388
- 14. Taieb J, Chaput N, Menard C, Apetoh L, Ullrich E, Bonmort M, Pequignot M, Casares N, Terme M, Flament C et al (2006) A novel dendritic cell subset involved in tumor immunosurveillance. Nat Med 12:214–219
- 15. Crowe NY, Smyth MJ, Godfrey DI (2002) A critical role for natural killer T cells in immunosurveillance of methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas. J Exp Med 196:119–127
- 16. Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, Schreiber RD (2001) IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. Nature 410:1107–1111
- 17. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P et al (2007) Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med 13:1050–1059
- Apetoh L, Mignot G, Panaretakis T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L (2008) Immunogenicity of anthracyclines: moving towards more personalized medicine. Trends Mol Med 14:141–151
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Criollo A, Ortiz C, Lidereau R, Mariette C, Chaput N, Mira JP, Delaloge S et al (2007) The interaction between HMGB1 and TLR4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Immunol Rev 220:47–59
- Yamaguchi T, Sakaguchi S (2006) Regulatory T cells in immune surveillance and treatment of cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 16:115–123
- Chen Z, O'Shea JJ (2008) Th17 cells: a new fate for differentiating helper T cells. Immunol Res 41:87–102
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (1986) Two types of murine helper T cell clone I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136:2348–2357

- van den Berg WB, Miossec P (2009) IL-17 as a future therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 5:549–553
- 24. Matusevicius D, Kivisakk P, He B, Kostulas N, Ozenci V, Fredrikson S, Link H (1999) Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 5:101–104
- 25. Aarvak T, Chabaud M, Miossec P, Natvig JB (1999) IL-17 is produced by some proinflammatory Th1/Th0 cells but not by Th2 cells. J Immunol 162:1246–1251
- 26. Teunissen MB, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA, Bos JD (1998) Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111:645–649
- Hofstetter HH, Ibrahim SM, Koczan D, Kruse N, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Gold R (2005) Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Immunol 237:123–130
- Nakae S, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2003) Suppression of immune induction of collageninduced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. J Immunol 171:6173–6177
- 29. Tartour E, Fossiez F, Joyeux I, Galinha A, Gey A, Claret E, Sastre-Garau X, Couturier J, Mosseri V, Vives V et al (1999) Interleukin 17, a T-cell-derived cytokine, promotes tumorigenicity of human cervical tumors in nude mice. Cancer Res 59:3698–3704
- Numasaki M, Fukushi J, Ono M, Narula SK, Zavodny PJ, Kudo T, Robbins PD, Tahara H, Lotze MT (2003) Interleukin-17 promotes angiogenesis and tumor growth. Blood 101:2620–2627
- 31. Gabrilovich D, Ishida T, Oyama T, Ran S, Kravtsov V, Nadaf S, Carbone DP (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor inhibits the development of dendritic cells and dramatically affects the differentiation of multiple hematopoietic lineages in vivo. Blood 92:4150–4166
- Wang L, Yi T, Kortylewski M, Pardoll DM, Zeng D, Yu H (2009) IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J Exp Med 206:1457–1464
- Wang L, Yi T, Zhang W, Pardoll DM, Yu H (2010) IL-17 enhances tumor development in carcinogen-induced skin cancer. Cancer Res 70:10112–10120
- 34. Chae WJ, Gibson TF, Zelterman D, Hao L, Henegariu O, Bothwell AL (2010) Ablation of IL-17A abrogates progression of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5540–5544
- 35. Leppkes M, Becker C, Ivanov II, Hirth S, Wirtz S, Neufert C, Pouly S, Murphy AJ, Valenzuela DM, Yancopoulos GD et al (2009) RORgamma-expressing Th17 cells induce murine chronic intestinal inflammation via redundant effects of IL-17A and IL-17F. Gastroenterology 136:257–267
- 36. Chae WJ, Bothwell AL (2011) IL-17F deficiency inhibits small intestinal tumorigenesis in ApcMin/+ mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 414:31–36
- 37. Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Fredriksen T, Mauger S, Bindea G, Berger A, Bruneval P, Fridman WH, Pages F et al (2011) Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, th2, treg, th17) in patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 71:1263–1271
- Zhang JP, Yan J, Xu J, Pang XH, Chen MS, Li L, Wu C, Li SP, Zheng L (2009) Increased intratumoral IL-17-producing cells correlate with poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. J Hepatol 50:980–989
- 39. Kryczek I, Banerjee M, Cheng P, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, Huang E, Finlayson E, Simeone D, Welling TH et al (2009) Phenotype, distribution, generation, and functional and clinical relevance of Th17 cells in the human tumor environments. Blood 114:1141–1149
- 40. Martin-Orozco N, Muranski P, Chung Y, Yang XO, Yamazaki T, Lu S, Hwu P, Restifo NP, Overwijk WW, Dong C (2009) T helper 17 cells promote cytotoxic T cell activation in tumor immunity. Immunity 31:787–798
- Muranski P, Boni A, Antony PA, Cassard L, Irvine KR, Kaiser A, Paulos CM, Palmer DC, Touloukian CE, Ptak K et al (2008) Tumor-specific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma. Blood 112:362–373

- 42. Muranski P, Borman ZA, Kerkar SP, Klebanoff CA, Ji Y, Sanchez-Perez L, Sukumar M, Reger RN, Yu Z, Kern SJ et al (2011) Th17 cells are long lived and retain a stem cell-like molecular signature. Immunity 35:972–985
- 43. Casares N, Pequignot M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, Schmitt E, Hamai A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Obeid M et al (2005) Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicininduced tumor cell death. J Exp Med 202:1691–1701
- 44. Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, Boucontet L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Casares N et al (2011) Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med 208:491–503
- 45. Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 126:1121–1133
- 46. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24:179–189
- 47. Mattarollo SR, Loi S, Duret H, Ma Y, Zitvogel L, Smyth MJ (2011) Pivotal role of innate and adaptive immunity in anthracycline chemotherapy of established tumors. Cancer Res 71:4809–4820
- 48. Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH (2009) Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. Immunity 31:331–341
- 49. Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, Vermaelen K, Panaretakis T, Mignot G, Ullrich E et al (2009) Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med 15:1170–1178
- 50. Benatar T, Cao MY, Lee Y, Lightfoot J, Feng N, Gu X, Lee V, Jin H, Wang M, Wright JA et al (2010) IL-17E, a proinflammatory cytokine, has antitumor efficacy against several tumor types in vivo. Cancer Immunol Immunother 59:805–817
- 51. Benatar T, Cao MY, Lee Y, Li H, Feng N, Gu X, Lee V, Jin H, Wang M, Der S et al (2008) Virulizin induces production of IL-17E to enhance antitumor activity by recruitment of eosinophils into tumors. Cancer Immunol Immunother 57:1757–1769
- 52. Furuta S, Jeng YM, Zhou L, Huang L, Kuhn I, Bissell MJ, Lee WH (2011) IL-25 causes apoptosis of IL-25R-expressing breast cancer cells without toxicity to nonmalignant cells. Sci Transl Med 3:78ra31
- Sanders AJ, Guo X, Mason MD, Jiang WG (2010) IL-17B can impact on endothelial cellular traits linked to tumour angiogenesis. J Oncol 2010:817375
- 54. Chang SH, Reynolds JM, Pappu BP, Chen G, Martinez GJ, Dong C (2011) Interleukin-17C promotes Th17 cell responses and autoimmune disease via interleukin-17 receptor E. Immunity 35:611–621

Part IV IL-17 in Clinical Autoimmune Disease

IL-17 and Th17 Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Other Inflammatory Conditions

Pierre Miossec

Abstract IL-17 was identified in 1995/1996 as a T cell-derived cytokine with effects on inflammation and neutrophil activation. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) has emerged as the most studied situation to justify the selection of IL-17 as a therapeutic target. By interacting with other proinflammatory cytokines, IL-17 was found to induce bone and cartilage destruction. In 2006, the precise cell source of IL-17 was identified in the mouse. These cells were named Th17 and their key role was demonstrated in various situations associated with inflammation and matrix destruction. These new findings confirmed and extended the results previously obtained following the identification of IL-17 as a T cell-derived cytokine. At the same time, additional information was obtained on the other members of the IL-17 family and on the structure of the IL-17 receptor complex. Such knowledge has further extended the choice of possible modalities to control IL-17. Clinical results are started to be obtained in RA and other inflammatory conditions.

Keywords IL-17 • Th17 • Cytokines • Inflammation • Destruction

The focus on IL-17 increased sharply, when in 2006 the precise cell source of IL-17 was identified in the mouse. These cells were named Th17 cells and were associated with a key role in various situations associated with inflammation and matrix destruction. These new findings confirmed and extended the results previously obtained following the identification of IL-17 as a T cell-derived cytokine 10 years earlier.

Demonstration of the role of IL-17 in many inflammatory conditions further supported the concept of IL-17 targeting for treatment. We will review these new findings in light of the previous knowledge [1, 2]. We will focus on rheumatoid

P. Miossec (🖂)

Department of Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, Immunogenomics and Inflammation Research Unit, Hôpital Edouard Herriot, University of Lyon, Lyon, France e-mail: miossec@univ-lyon1.fr

arthritis (RA) which has emerged as the most studied situation to justify the selection of IL-17 as a therapeutic target. We will not discuss the situation in mouse models of arthritis, which is discussed in another chapter.

1 First Links Between IL-17 and RA

IL-17 was described in 1995/96 as a proinflammatory cytokine produced by T cells. The link with RA was established from the very first reports [3]. The key experiment was the demonstration that addition of IL-17 to synoviocytes from RA patients was able to increase the production of two key cytokines associated with inflammation: IL-6 and IL-8. IL-6 acts on liver during the systemic phase of inflammation to release acute phase proteins such as C reactive protein. IL-8 is a chemokine inducing the migration of polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs). To further support the role of IL-17 in PMN biology, these early reports showed that IL-17 induces the release from synoviocytes and fibroblasts of hematopoietic growth factors associated with PMN differentiation and function [3], an early indication of its role in host defense.

The first results on the production of IL-17 in arthritis were obtained when an ELISA was made available. Levels of IL-17 were found higher in RA synovial fluids when compared to osteoarthritis (OA) fluids [4]. It was critical to demonstrate that the measured IL-17 in synovial fluid was functional and produced by the synovium itself. The first step was to demonstrate the production of functional IL-17 by RA synovium [5]. Quantification of IL-17 was performed using a specific biological assay looking at the production of IL-6 by synoviocytes stimulated with RA synovium supernatants first preincubated with a blocking anti-IL-17 antibody. Functional IL-17 was spontaneously produced by many RA samples at high levels, a few OA at very low levels and none of normal synovium explant cultures. At the same time, IL-17 mRNA expression was demonstrated in RA but not in OA synovium samples.

2 New IL-17 Family Members and Structure of the IL-17 Receptor

The published results mainly refer in fact to IL-17A, the founding member of the IL-17 family, which includes IL-17A to F. IL-17F has a 50 % sequence homology with IL-17A [6]. When used alone on synoviocytes, IL-17F has similar effects as IL-17A but to a lower extend [7]. Sometimes even IL-17F has minimal or even no effect when used alone. However, when combined with TNF α , a synergistic effect is often observed, almost as potent as with IL-17A and TNF combination.

The structure of the IL-17 receptor (IL-17R) has been clarified recently. The first described IL-17R had a rather low affinity, suggesting the presence of additional chains [8]. At least two members are now taken into account [9]. The first receptor is the original IL-R renamed IL-17RA and belongs to a new family of cytokine receptors. The second receptor is IL-17RC. The physical association of the two receptors has been shown to compose two chains of a single receptor complex. On RA synoviocytes, it appears that the two receptors can bind either IL-17A or IL-17F, possibly with different affinities. These findings result from small interference RNA studies, with inhibition of the cell surface expression of one or the two receptors. As expected inhibition of the expression of IL-17RA inhibits the response to IL-17A used alone in synoviocytes [7]. However, inhibition of IL-17RC gives the same result. It looks like inhibition of the two receptors is needed to reduce the response to the combination of IL-17 with TNF in synoviocytes. Similar results were obtained with inhibitory antibodies against the two receptors. In RA blood, mRNA levels of IL-17RA and RC are increased [7].

Contrasting with the limitation of IL-17 production to T cells and a few other cell types, its receptor complex is widely expressed by many tissue cell types. Following receptor interaction, IL-17 shares transcriptional pathways with IL-1 and TNF α . In particular, the MAP kinase p38 and NFkB are the key transcriptional factors for IL-17 function [10, 11]. These pathways have been identified in synoviocytes, chondrocytes, and osteoblasts.

3 Action of IL-17 on RA Joint Targets

Following the discovery of IL-17, a number of human diseases have been associated with IL-17 overexpression and production. Although the list of diseases will certainly increase, RA emerged as the most studied situation making IL-17 a therapeutic target. In addition, expression of IL-17 by synovium biopsies is associated with increase disease severity [12]. Although we focus here on RA, some of these results apply to the long list of conditions of inflammatory conditions such as ankylosing spondylitis (AS), psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis, and poly- and dermatomyositis.

We will consider the different cell types present in the RA joint and we will summarize the key properties of IL-17 on these targets.

On synoviocytes, IL-1 β , TNF α , and IL-17 induce cytokine and chemokine production, IL-1 being much more potent than IL-17 or TNF α [13, 14]. Using low concentrations of IL-17 and IL-1 β in combination, a synergistic effect is often observed. As an example, such synergy was observed between IL-1, TNF α , and IL-17 for CCL20, production, a chemokine involved in the migration of immature dendritic cells and of memory T cells, specifically the IL-17-producing T cells [15, 16]. These findings indicate that low levels of cytokines produced by monocytes (IL-1 and TNF α) and T cells (IL-17) can act together on synoviocytes leading to the formation of an immune-mediated infiltrate.

The sequential analysis indicates that synergy is observed only when synoviocytes are first exposed to IL-17 and then to TNF. Synergy is not observed when cells are exposed first to TNF then to IL-17. This is in line with the role of these Th17 cells in the amplification of the initial response associated with TNF and IL-1 secretion. This synergistic effect is related to an increased mRNA stabilization with IL-17 and a specific overexpression of the p75 type II TNF receptor [17, 18].

Although synergistic interactions between IL-17 and TNF are common, inhibitory effects are sometimes observed. Regarding the production of chemokines, there is a synergistic interaction for the production of CXC chemokines, the structure of which includes the ELR (Glu-Leu-Arg) motif. A specific upregulation of ELR + CXC chemokines such as IL-8 is observed in IL-17A-treated synoviocytes [7]. In contrast, CC chemokines such as Rantes and MCP-1 are increased with TNF alone but addition of IL-17 leads to an inhibition [7].

On human chondrocytes, IL-17 induces prostaglandin E2 and nitric oxide production by cartilage explants in an IL-1 independent way [19, 20]. IL-17 increases collagenase production leading to matrix destruction and defective synthesis. On osteoblasts, IL-17 induces IL-6 and enzyme production leading to the inhibition of bone formation. During interactions between osteoblasts and osteoclast precursors, the presence of IL-17 induces osteoclastogenesis [4]. IL-17 and other cytokines stimulating osteoclastogenesis, such as IL-1 β and TNF α , increase the expression of RANKL with a decrease of osteoprotegerin expression in osteoblasts/stromal cells [21]. IL-17-producing T cells express the membrane form and secrete the soluble form of RANKL [22]. These functions make IL-17 a new cytokine involved in bone resorption [23]. In the context of RA, T cells in juxta-articular bone are the source of IL-17, which acts then locally leading to destruction [24]. In these conditions, addition of IL-1 or TNF increases the effect of IL-17. Blocking of bone-derived endogenous IL-17 with specific inhibitors results in a protective inhibition of bone destruction in RA juxta-articular bone. In conclusion, the demonstration of the contribution of IL-17 derived from synovium and bone marrow T cells suggests the control of IL-17 for the treatment of RA by blocking its effect on bone destruction.

These studies showed an increased production of functional IL-17 by RA synovium but also by bone explants, indicating the role of T cells in juxta-articular bone destruction [5, 25]. As expected, this effect was associated with RANK ligand expression by these T cells, interacting with RANK expressing cells, certainly osteoclasts but also mature dendritic cells [25, 26].

4 Th17 Cells, the Cellular Source of IL-17

The most critical and recent step has been the identification of the cell source of IL-17 in 2006 [27, 28]. IFN γ is characteristic of Th1 cells and IL-4 of Th2 cells. The source of IL-17 was found to be different and these cells were named ThIL-17 or Th17 for short. The next step was the discovery of IL-23, another monocyte product, shown to be a key cytokine for the Th17 pathway [29]. As shown previously for the Th1 and Th2 balance, Th1 and Th17 pathways are regulated in opposite directions: IFN γ inhibits IL-17 and IL-17 inhibits IFN γ .

This effect results from changes in cytokine receptor expression. The IL-12 specific IL-12R β 2 chain is a marker of Th1 cells, and the IL-23 specific IL-23R specific chain, a marker of Th17 cells. The IL-12R β 1 chain is common to both the IL-12 and IL-23 receptors. The inhibitory effect of IL-17 on the Th1 pathway results from the IL-17-induced inhibition of IL-12R β 2 expression making cells not responsive to the IL-12 effects on IFN γ production [30].

In synovium, IL-17-producing cells represent a minor subset of lymphocytes found in lymphocytic infiltrates around vessels [31]. These T cells are there in contact with synoviocytes, monocytes, and dendritic cells. In bone, the same interactions also occur, whereas chondrocytes protected by the extracellular matrix of cartilage are rather the target of soluble factors. In the presence of anti-IL-17-blocking antibody, MMP-1 production and collagenase activity by RA synovium is reduced and associated with a reduction of type I collagen fragment release in supernatants, demonstrating the direct contribution of IL-17 to destruction [32]. From these results, IL-17 and its producing T cells appear to contribute to the RA inflammatory destructive process. Other cell types such as mast cells are now seen as a major source of IL-17 [33].

Cell interactions as in the RA synovium can be reproduced in vitro by incubating fixed T cell lines and clones derived from RA synovium with cultured synoviocytes [34]. In these conditions following contact between fixed T cells with RA synoviocytes, IL-17-producing cells are the most potent inducers of IL-6 production by synoviocytes [35]. Moreover, they inhibit synoviocyte collagen synthesis. Opposite results are obtained with Th2 clones. These results indicate that IL-17-producing Th1 cells contribute to the defective repair activity in joint inflammation.

In these RA clones, IL-17 is often produced in association with IFN γ but never with IL-4 [34]. These double positive cells are also isolated from normal blood [36]. However, in situ immunostaining of the RA synovium shows two isolated populations of T cells producing either IFN γ or IL-17. Double positive cells are rarely seen. It thus remains to be demonstrated whether these secreting patterns are still undergoing maturation or represent the end stage of cell differentiation. Of interest in this context, these cytokine secreting T cells have a particular morphology with a plasma cell appearance, a pattern that can be induced in vitro and is associated with the loss of TCR and CD3 but not of CD4 [31]. As for B cells, the plasma cell morphology of the IFN γ and IL-17-producing cells strongly suggests that this is a fixed pattern related to a final stage of differentiation.

5 The Th17/Regulatory T Cell Balance

A key issue is the interaction between Th17 and regulatory T cells [37]. Regulatory T cells are in charge of the control of the immune response. At baseline in the absence of any particular stress, regulatory T cells are active and limit the intensity

of the baseline response. In the context of stress such as seen during infection or inflammation, this control is turned off, in order to let the defense mechanisms be activated.

Chronic inflammation activates the Th17 pathway. At the same time, the regulatory T cell pathway is inhibited by the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-1 [38]. In chronic inflammatory disease such as RA, this situation is chronically maintained, with induction of disease associated mechanisms and inhibition of protective mechanisms. Although regulatory T cells can be seen at the site of inflammation, their function is defective thus contributing to chronicity [13]. Accordingly, induction of functional regulatory T cells has been observed in patients responding to TNF inhibition. Such mechanism may well be critical to explain the mode of action of TNF inhibition.

6 IL-17 Targeting for Treatment

The demonstration of the role of Th17 cytokines in inflammation has justified the control of this pathway with direct and indirect methods. The most direct way is the use of IL-17 specific inhibitors. Several molecular inhibitors of IL-17 are already available such as monoclonal antibodies against IL-17A and IL-17RA. Preclinical studies have demonstrated their efficacy in mouse and human models. As a rule, the combination of IL-17 and TNF α inhibitors is more efficacious in these models [39].

The inhibition of IL-17 was obtained for the first time in the clinic with Secukinumab (AIN-457), an anti-IL-17A mAb developed by Novartis in a phase I trial in patients with psoriasis. A single injection of an anti-IL-17 antibody was able to reduce skin lesions. The first published results in a peer-reviewed journal were those of a phase II trial with LY2439821, a humanized anti-IL-17 antibody developed by Lilly in patients with RA. These results in RA are in line with the results obtained with AIN457 [40]. The second published paper reported on the effects of AIN457 in three conditions RA, psoriasis, and uveitis [41]. Interesting preliminary results have been obtained but not yet published in AS.

The first administration of AMG 827 developed by Amgen to target IL-17RA was performed in patients with psoriasis. The phase II trial has been completed but the results which look promising have not been published. Other conditions are being tested. Presence of IL-17 positive cells and in vitro effect of IL-17 on myoblast could suggest IL-17 targeting in myositis but this has not been tested yet [42].

More recent issues include the need to target other IL-17 family members, such as IL-17F, or IL-17RC or the two IL-17 receptor chains. Other options include the use of small molecules to target transcription factors implicated in the Th17 pathway such as $Ror\gamma t/Rorc$, $Ror\alpha$, and Stat3.

An indirect way to control the Th17 pathway is the inhibition of IL-23. Treatment with a monoclonal antibody against the p40 subunit, which is common to IL-12 and IL-23, has already shown clear efficacy in psoriasis and other diseases but apparently not in RA [43]. Specific inhibitors of IL-23 have not been tested in these conditions and it is unclear how their risk benefit ratio will compare with that of p40 inhibitors. This should clarify the specificity of each of these cytokines.

Some cytokines have anti-IL-17 properties could be used as therapeutic tools. IL-4 inhibits the production and functions of IL-17 on RA targets [13, 15]. IL-25 also named IL-17E, a member of the IL-17 family, downregulates Th17 function in autoimmune inflammation [44]. As opposed to IL-17A or F, it inhibits the production of IL-1 and IL-23, thus having an anti-inflammatory effect. In addition, by inhibiting IL-23, it reduces the induction of Th17 cells.

New modalities of treatment have to be developed that will include the effects of Th17 cells in the induction of other pro-inflammatory cytokines and also their effects on the function of T-reg cells [37]. Since IL-17 can induce tissue cells to produce TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1, these cytokines may not only promote inflammation but also inhibit T-reg functions at the tissue sites. Currently, disease recurs when treatment with inhibitors of TNF α is stopped. Combination with IL-17 inhibitors could be a way to better control not only the inflammation itself but also the regulatory T cell functions. This effect is already induced in part by TNF α inhibitors [45]. In active RA, T-reg cells preferentially accumulate in the affected joints but are not able to regulate tissue inflammation. TNF α inhibitors may control disease not only by inhibiting effector TNF α function and reducing inflammation but also by correcting at least in part, the defect in regulatory T cell functions [45]. Similar concepts may apply to IL-6 or IL-1 inhibitors.

This suggests that interfering with the Th17 pathway might produce novel targets for immune mediated diseases. At the same time, the safety issues related to the critical role of IL-23 and IL-17 in host defense have to be considered. This includes infections, first with extracellular bacteria but also fungal and opportunistic infections through the interactions between the Th1 and Th17 pathways.

The position of IL-17 inhibition in the treatment of inflammation remains to be defined. Coming back to the synergistic interactions, an enhanced inhibitory activity is observed with the combination of TNF and IL-17 inhibitors using ex-vivo samples of RA synovium and bone [39]. Accordingly, primary or secondary lack of response to TNF inhibitors may represent a possible indication. Anti-TNF nonresponders may have an IL-17-driven disease, or secondary loss of response to TNF inhibition may result from the induction or use of other pathways, possibly involving IL-17, and taking over the initial predominant TNF contribution. It is possible that the combined inhibition of TNF and IL-17 may have the advantage of targeting two different cell types, monocytes and T cells. This would also control the enhancing effects of IL-17 on TNF production by monocytes.

7 Conclusion

The story of IL-17 has started 10 years ago and this is the time it took to become a cytokine in fashion [28]. The identification of the Th17 subset indicates that some T cells are involved in and amplify the link between chronic inflammation and

extracellular matrix destruction. Similar concepts apply to other complex diseases, with inflammation-induced destruction. Tools are now in place to verify if these concepts are indeed correct.

References

- Miossec P, Korn T, Kuchroo VK (2009) Interleukin-17 and type 17 helper T cells. N Engl J Med 361:888–898
- 2. Miossec P (2003) Interleukin-17 in rheumatoid arthritis: if T cells were to contribute to inflammation and destruction through synergy. Arthritis Rheum 48:594–601
- Fossiez F, Djossou O, Chomarat P, Flores-Romo L, Ait-Yahia S, Maat C, Pin JJ, Garrone P, Garcia E, Saeland S et al (1996) T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. J Exp Med 183:2593–2603
- 4. Kotake S, Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Matsuzaki K, Itoh K, Ishiyama S, Saito S, Inoue K, Kamatani N, Gillespie MT et al (1999) IL-17 in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis is a potent stimulator of osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest 103:1345–1352
- Chabaud M, Durand JM, Buchs N, Fossiez F, Page G, Frappart L, Miossec P (1999) Human interleukin-17: a T cell-derived proinflammatory cytokine produced by the rheumatoid synovium. Arthritis Rheum 42:963–970
- 6. Aggarwal S, Gurney AL (2002) IL-17: prototype member of an emerging cytokine family. J Leukoc Biol 71:1–8
- Zrioual S, Toh ML, Tournadre A, Zhou Y, Cazalis MA, Pachot A, Miossec V, Miossec P (2008) IL-17RA and IL-17RC receptors are essential for IL-17A-induced ELR + CXC chemokine expression in synoviocytes and are overexpressed in rheumatoid blood. J Immunol 180:655–663
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau AM, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, Spriggs MK (1995) Herpesvirus Saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821
- Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Bos TV, Gurgel J, Derry J, Tocker J, Peschon J (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. J Immunol 177:36–39
- Kim HR, Cho ML, Kim KW, Juhn JY, Hwang SY, Yoon CH, Park SH, Lee SH, Kim HY (2007) Up-regulation of IL-23p19 expression in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts by IL-17 through PI3-kinase-, NF-{kappa}B- and p38 MAPK-dependent signalling pathways. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46:57–64
- 11. Hot A, Zrioual S, Toh ML, Lenief V, Miossec P (2011) IL-17A- versus IL-17F-induced intracellular signal transduction pathways and modulation by IL-17RA and IL-17RC RNA interference in rheumatoid synoviocytes. Ann Rheum Dis 70:341–348
- 12. Kirkham BW, Lassere MN, Edmonds JP, Juhasz KM, Bird PA, Lee CS, Shnier R, Portek IJ (2006) Synovial membrane cytokine expression is predictive of joint damage progression in rheumatoid arthritis: a two-year prospective study (the DAMAGE study cohort). Arthritis Rheum 54:1122–1131
- 13. Chabaud M, Fossiez F, Taupin JL, Miossec P (1998) Enhancing effect of IL-17 on IL-1induced IL-6 and leukemia inhibitory factor production by rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes and its regulation by Th2 cytokines. J Immunol 161:409–414
- 14. Hot A, Miossee P (2011) Effects of interleukin (IL)-17A and IL-17F in human rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. Ann Rheum Dis 70:727–732
- 15. Chabaud M, Page G, Miossec P (2001) Enhancing effect of IL-1, IL-17, and TNF-alpha on macrophage inflammatory protein-3alpha production in rheumatoid arthritis: regulation by soluble receptors and Th2 cytokines. J Immunol 167:6015–6020

- 16. Hirota K, Yoshitomi H, Hashimoto M, Maeda S, Teradaira S, Sugimoto N, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ito H, Nakamura T et al (2007) Preferential recruitment of CCR6-expressing Th17 cells to inflamed joints via CCL20 in rheumatoid arthritis and its animal model. J Exp Med 204:2803–2812
- Hartupee J, Liu C, Novotny M, Li X, Hamilton T (2007) IL-17 enhances chemokine gene expression through mRNA stabilization. J Immunol 179:4135–4141
- Zrioual S, Ecochard R, Tournadre A, Lenief V, Cazalis MA, Miossec P (2009) Genome-wide comparison between IL-17A- and IL-17F-induced effects in human rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. J Immunol 182:3112–3120
- Attur MG, Patel RN, Abramson SB, Amin AR (1997) Interleukin-17 up-regulation of nitric oxide production in human osteoarthritis cartilage. Arthritis Rheum 40:1050–1053
- 20. Cai L, Yin JP, Starovasnik MA, Hogue DA, Hillan KJ, Mort JS, Filvaroff EH (2001) Pathways by which interleukin 17 induces articular cartilage breakdown in vitro and in vivo. Cytokine 16:10–21
- 21. Nakashima T, Kobayashi Y, Yamasaki S, Kawakami A, Eguchi K, Sasaki H, Sakai H (2000) Protein expression and functional difference of membrane-bound and soluble receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand: modulation of the expression by osteotropic factors and cytokines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 275:768–775
- 22. Romas E, Gillespie MT, Martin TJ (2002) Involvement of receptor activator of NFkappaB ligand and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in bone destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Bone 30:340–346
- Van bezooijen RL, Farih-Sips HC, Papapoulos SE, Lowik CW (1999) Interleukin-17: a new bone acting cytokine in vitro. J Bone Miner Res 14:1513–1521
- 24. Chabaud M, Lubberts E, Joosten L, van Den Berg W, Miossec P (2001) IL-17 derived from juxta-articular bone and synovium contributes to joint degradation in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res 3:168–177
- 25. Sato K, Suematsu A, Okamoto K, Yamaguchi A, Morishita Y, Kadono Y, Tanaka S, Kodama T, Akira S, Iwakura Y et al (2006) Th17 functions as an osteoclastogenic helper T cell subset that links T cell activation and bone destruction. J Exp Med 203:2673–2682
- 26. Page G, Miossec P (2005) RANK and RANKL expression as markers of dendritic cell-T cell interactions in paired samples of rheumatoid synovium and lymph nodes. Arthritis Rheum 52:2307–2312
- Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Weaver CT (2006) Expanding the effector CD4 T-cell repertoire: the Th17 lineage. Curr Opin Immunol 18:349–356
- Miossee P (2007) Interleukin-17 in fashion, at last: ten years after its description, its cellular source has been identified. Arthritis Rheum 56:2111–2115
- 29. Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T et al (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421:744–748
- Toh ML, Kawashima M, Zrioual S, Hot A, Miossec P (2009) IL-17 inhibits human Th1 differentiation through IL-12Rbeta2 downregulation. Cytokine 48(3):226–230
- 31. Page G, Sattler A, Kersten S, Thiel A, Radbruch A, Miossec P (2004) Plasma cell-like morphology of Th1-cytokine-producing cells associated with the loss of CD3 expression. Am J Pathol 164:409–417
- 32. Chabaud M, Garnero P, Dayer JM, Guerne PA, Fossiez F, Miossec P (2000) Contribution of interleukin 17 to synovium matrix destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Cytokine 12:1092–1099
- Hueber AJ, Asquith DL, Miller AM, Reilly J, Kerr S, Leipe J, Melendez AJ, McInnes IB (2010) Mast cells express IL-17A in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. J Immunol 184:3336–3340
- 34. Aarvak T, Chabaud M, Miossec P, Natvig JB (1999) IL-17 is produced by some proinflammatory Th1/Th0 cells but not by Th2 cells. J Immunol 162:1246–1251
- 35. Chabaud M, Aarvak T, Garnero P, Natvig JB, Miossec P (2001) Potential contribution of IL-17-producing Th(1)cells to defective repair activity in joint inflammation: partial correction with Th(2)-promoting conditions. Cytokine 13:113–118

- 36. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, Parente E, Fili L, Ferri S, Frosali F et al (2007) Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 204:1849–1861
- 37. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441:235–238
- 38. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2007) Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. Nat Immunol 8:942–949
- 39. Chabaud M, Miossec P (2001) The combination of tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade with interleukin-1 and interleukin-17 blockade is more effective for controlling synovial inflammation and bone resorption in an ex vivo model. Arthritis Rheum 44:1293–1303
- 40. Genovese MC, Van den Bosch F, Roberson SA, Bojin S, Biagini IM, Ryan P, Sloan-Lancaster J (2010) LY2439821, a humanized anti-interleukin-17 monoclonal antibody, in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a phase I randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, proof-of-concept study. Arthritis Rheum 62:929–939
- 41. Hueber W, Patel DD, Dryja T, Wright AM, Koroleva I, Bruin G, Antoni C, Draelos Z, Gold MH, Durez P et al (2010) Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis. Sci Transl Med 2:52ra72
- 42. Chevrel G, Page G, Granet C, Streichenberger N, Varennes A, Miossec P (2003) Interleukin-17 increases the effects of IL-1beta on muscle cells: arguments for the role of T cells in the pathogenesis of myositis. J Neuroimmunol 137:125–133
- 43. Krueger GG, Langley RG, Leonardi C, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y, Dooley LT, Lebwohl M (2007) A human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody for the treatment of psoriasis. N Engl J Med 356:580–592
- 44. Kleinschek MA, Owyang AM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Gorman DM, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan T, Brombacher F, Hurst SD et al (2007) IL-25 regulates Th17 function in autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 204:161–170
- 45. Nadkarni S, Mauri C, Ehrenstein MR (2007) Anti-TNF-alpha therapy induces a distinct regulatory T cell population in patients with rheumatoid arthritis via TGF-beta. J Exp Med 204:33–39

Targeting Th17 Cells for Therapy of Multiple Sclerosis

Aaron J. Martin and Stephen D. Miller

Abstract Multiple sclerosis is a demyelinating disease of the central nervous system mediated by autoreactive T lymphocytes. The Th17 lineage of effectors has been implicated in the inflammatory response against CNS autoantigens. Findings in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE, the animal model for multiple sclerosis) suggest that targeting the Th17 response may have a beneficial outcome for patients suffering from MS. Several existing and emerging therapeutic strategies will be discussed based on the manner in which they target Th17-mediated autoimmunity: lymphocyte depletion, prevention of Th17 development, and prevention of Th17 function. T cell-ablating agents are not Th17 specific and are associated with toxicity and opportunistic infections. The prevention of Th17 differentiation can be achieved experimentally by neutralizing cytokines specifically required for Th17 development and by the administration of cytokines or other drugs that interfere with differentiation; however, these strategies may also lead to enhanced rates of certain infectious diseases. Prevention of functional Th17 responses can be accomplished by inhibiting leukocyte trafficking or by neutralizing Th17 cytokines (IL-17 and/or GM-CSF). While several promising therapeutic candidates have been identified employing the EAE model, both the risks of immunomodulation and the efficacy of such candidates in human patients need to be completely characterized and carefully considered.

Keywords Multiple sclerosis • Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis • Th17 • Autoimmunity

A.J. Martin • S.D. Miller (⊠)

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, 303 E. Chicago Ave., 6-713 Tarry Building, Chicago, IL 60611, USA e-mail: s-d-miller@northwestern.edu

1 Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory disorder of the central nervous system (CNS) in which the immune system targets CNS myelin peptides and mediates the destruction of CNS tissue, resulting in demyelination, neuronal damage, and subsequent disability. It has been known for some time that CD4⁺ T lymphocytes or T-helper (Th) cells play a causative role in the disease, although precise details of the immune response raised against CNS antigens are still being clarified. Upon encountering antigen, Th lymphocytes differentiate from their naïve phenotype into Th1, Th2, Th17, or Treg lineages, depending on the conditions under which they first become activated. It is popularly believed that the Th17 lineage, with further contribution from Th1 cells, is responsible for much of the autoimmune damage to the CNS in MS [3, 28].

Lineages of Th cells are defined by their profile of secreted cytokines, as well as the cytokines, signaling molecules, and transcription factors required for their differentiation. Th lineages typically have exclusive differentiation pathways that proceed at the cost of other lineages. Th1 cells mediate inflammation and are most noted for secreting interferon- γ , while the Th2 lineage directs humoral responses via the secretion of IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-10, and IL-13 [16]. The Th1/Th2 paradigm previously dominated the landscape of immunology. However, these two subtypes of activated Th cells are now joined by several subsets of immunosuppressive Tregs and the potently proinflammatory Th17 lineage [35, 39]. As was described in more detail in preceding chapters, Th17 cells are defined by the secretion of IL-17 and represent a lineage of Th cells distinct from the Th1 and Th2 populations. Th17 cells have been reported to secrete two isoforms of IL-17 (IL-17 A and IL-17 F), as well as IL-9, IL-21, IL-22, and GM-CSF [40]. Th17 cells derive from naïve CD4⁺ precursors in a process dependent on the cytokines TGF- β and IL-6. Two additional cytokines contribute to the development and function of Th17 cells: IL-21, produced by Th17 cells themselves, induces IL-17 secretion in a positive feedback loop, while IL-23, of antigen presenting cell origin, serves to stabilize nascent Th17 populations into committed effectors.

The differentiation of Th17 cells is inhibited by cytokines associated with the differentiation of other T effector lineages: IFN γ and IL-4 as well as IL-2, IL-25, type-I interferons, and the IL-10 family member IL-27 [35]. The transcription factor ROR γ t is widely accepted to be the master regulator of Th17 differentiation, directing lineage-pertinent functions analogous to T-bet, GATA-3, and Foxp3 in Th1, Th2, and regulatory T lineage differentiation, respectively [35]. STAT-3 transduces signals associated with IL-6 and IL-23 receptors and thus has an obligatory role in Th17 development by linking cytokine receptor signaling to the expression of ROR γ t and IL-17. For autoreactive Th17 cells to cause disease, they must differentiate from naïve CD4⁺ cells and migrate to the pertinent tissue (the CNS for the purposes of this chapter) and secrete cytokines in situ, which elicits inflammation by recruiting neutrophils and otherwise mediating tissue destruction [3].

A pathologic role for CD4⁺ T cells has been clearly demonstrated in several human autoimmune diseases and their respective animal models, and recently, the Th17 lineage has garnered much support in basic and clinical research as the major immunopathologic population in CNS autoimmunity [3, 13, 35, 39]. EAE is the animal model for multiple sclerosis and has contributed profoundly to the understanding of Th17 cells in CNS autoimmunity, although EAE/MS was long considered to be mediated by a Th1 response [3, 16, 28, 35]. In support of this hypothesis, elevated levels of IFN γ and IL-12 (required for the development of Th1) in the serum or cerebrospinal fluid or the infiltration of IFN γ -producing Th1 cells into the CNS correlated positively with disease severity. Moreover, disease can be induced experimentally by the transfer of Th1 cells (reviewed in [16, 35]), while genetic targeting of T-bet, the Th1 master regulator, renders mice resistant to EAE induction [14]. The initial evidence suggesting that a distinct lineage initiated EAE was the illuminating experiments by Cua et al. and Langrish et al., demonstrating that the Th1-associated cytokine IL-12 and the Th17 associated IL-23 share a common subunit—p40. Therefore, the neutralization of IL-12p40 (either by gene targeting or antibody neutralization), which caused EAE resistance, was not due to a defect in Th1 differentiation, but was instead attributed to an interference with the development of a previously undescribed Th17 subset [9, 25]. The presence of copious IL-17 in the cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients and large numbers of IL-17⁺ T cells in the CNS of EAE-primed mice confirmed that a third population of CD4⁺ effectors was associated with CNS immune pathology. In light of these findings, the model of disease induction in EAE was revised to feature Th17 cells as the primary initiators of CNS inflammation, and a similar paradigm shift has taken place in MS where links between IL-12 and disease have been reevaluated due to this subunit commonality [16, 28, 35, 38]. While Th17s unquestionably contribute to CNS immune pathology, the Th1 lineage also contributes importantly to CNS autoimmunity. Multiple studies have demonstrated that in vitro-polarized Th1 and Th17 populations are sufficient to induce EAE when transferred into recipient mice, although the disease manifests with different symptoms with distinct regions of the CNS affected. Th17-dominated transfers cause a cerebellar infiltrate of primarily neutrophils resulting in atypical EAE (ataxia, spasms), while Th1-dominated transfers mediate a monocytic infiltrate into the spinal cord resulting in classical EAE symptoms (flaccid, ascending hind limb paralysis) [24, 36].

As mentioned above, Th17 cells are defined by their ability to synthesize IL-17A and F and have been shown to be highly encephalitogenic; however, it does not appear that their role in EAE is dependent on IL-17 production [18]. Targeting IL-17 genetically or with a neutralizing antibody reduces EAE symptoms, but does not completely protect mice from disease. This could reflect that by inhibiting IL-17, which functions in EAE to compromise the blood–brain barrier and recruit neutrophils to the inflammatory site, these general inflammatory processes are blunted, but other Th17 or even Th1 cytokines are more critical to CNS pathology. Th17 cells have also been shown to produce IL-21, IL-22, and IL-9, all of which appear to contribute to EAE and the generation or function of Th17s, although none of these are absolutely required nor are effective intervention targets (discussed in

detail in [7]). Genetic targeting or blockade of IL-9, IL-21, IL-22, or associated receptors does not ablate Th17 differentiation nor protect animals from EAE. GM-CSF had previously been associated with Th17 function, but this molecule was recently demonstrated to be secreted by Th17 cells and to play a critical role in EAE progression. The loss of GM-CSF synthesis in T cells was shown to totally protect mice from EAE. Interestingly, both transferred Th1 cells and Th17 cells required GM-CSF for encephalitogenic activity. GM-CSF-deficient mice were able to mount a Th17 response to neuroantigen immunizations, and displayed T cell-containing CNS infiltrates, indicating that GM-CSF potentiates tissue destruction but not invasion by Th17s in EAE [7].

Many of the emerging approaches to target Th17 have been developed using the EAE model of MS. While multiple differences in disease expression exist between EAE and MS, it is widely believed that EAE represents a useful tool for developing MS treatment strategies [28, 34]. MS has been a challenging disease to study due to its complexity and multiple forms. It is attractive, therefore, that EAE exhibits relapsing-remitting and chronic-progressive disease courses, depending on the mouse strain and encephalitogenic antigen employed [34]. As discussed above, studies of EAE have definitively demonstrated a causative role of Th17 lymphocytes in disease, and the current literature espouses three main strategies to prevent this inflammatory population of lymphocytes from exerting immunopathologic effects in the CNS. The first to be discussed is *global immune suppres*sion achieved by cytotoxic pharmacological agents (mitoxantrone, cyclophosphamide, cladribine, and cyclosporine) or by monoclonal antibodies that target lymphocytes for lytic destruction (α CD20 and α CD52). The second method to be discussed is the blockade of Th17 differentiation or immune deviation through the use of cytokines, anti-cytokine antibodies, and other drugs. The final section of this chapter will discuss *limiting Th17 autoimmune response* by targeting effector cytokines and lymphocyte trafficking. These strategies are represented graphically in Fig. 1. It should be noted that perturbation of the Th17 compartment may result in an increased risk of infections. IL-17 is known to be important for the recruitment of neutrophils, and IL- $17^{-/-}$ animals suffer from Klebsiella pneumoniae and Citrobacter rodentium infections due to a failed phagocytic response [reviewed in [3]]. Likewise, humans with mutations to the IL-23/IL-17 axis are at higher risk of contracting respiratory tract infections. Regardless, as will be discussed below, this risk is generally manageable and should not offset the potential benefit of Th17 targeting in CNS autoimmunity.

2 Targeting Th17 Responses

2.1 Global Immune Suppression

Although global immune suppression by lymphocyte depletion does not specifically target the Th17 response, it deserves mention because this approach's success



Fig. 1 Current and emerging strategies for preventing CNS autoimmunity. Naïve, autoreactive T cell clones responding to self-antigens in the presence of IL-6, IL-23, IL-1, and TGF-β develop into inflammatory Th17 cells, cross the blood–brain barrier into the CNS, and exert their effector function. The major approaches to curtailing the Th17 response in MS/EAE are (1) T cell depletion (alemtuzumab, mitoxantrone, cladribine, cyclophosphamide, and perhaps cyclosporine A), (2) interference with Th17 development (anti-IL-23, exogenous IL-25, IL-27, or IFN-β), and (3) prevention of Th17 function (sequestration with fingolimod, natalizumab, or antibody neutralization of IL-17 and/or GM-CSF). Some current and proposed therapeutic agents target multiple processes simultaneously

often coincides with a decrease in IL-17 production. The primary advantage to global immune suppression is that it is generally very effective. Additionally, many immunosuppressive agents are currently in use or in advanced (i.e., phase III or IV) clinical trials. Lymphocyte depletion results in a loss of immune surveillance and is therefore associated with an increased risk of infection or leukemia. Thus, specific targeting of TH17s, or preferably only the autoreactive T cell clones, without destroying the host's entire immune competence would be favored. The agents discussed below represent strategy #1 in Fig. 1.

2.1.1 Monoclonal Antibody Depletion

There are two monoclonal antibodies currently used to deplete lymphocytes in clinical trials. Rituximab is specific for the B lineage marker CD20 and is therefore beyond the scope of this chapter. Anti-CD52 (alemtuzumab or Campath-1 H) targets both the T cell and B cell compartments (reviewed in [8, 28]). In addition

to being expressed on better than 95 % of T and B cells, CD52 is also expressed on monocyte/macrophage lineage cells. Originally developed to treat chronic lymphocytic leukemia, CD4 cells do not recover for 61 months and CD8 numbers remain low for 30 months following alemtuzumab treatment. This treatment is effective in the short term, as patients with various forms of MS demonstrate an approximate 90 % reduction in lesions and suffer from much less frequent relapses (2.2–0.14 relapses/year). Long-term data (average 7.5 year follow-up) are less remarkable, as few patients remain stable. Roughly, 90 % worsen over the long term. Additionally, a significant proportion of patients receiving Campath-1 H suffer from bacterial sepsis and cytomegalovirus reactivation. An unexpected side effect to Campath-1 H administration is the development of autoimmune hyperthyroidism (Graves' disease) in 27 % of severe-progressive MS patients. As a result of these complications, phase III clinical trials have been suspended [8, 20].

2.1.2 Inhibitors of Proliferation: Cytotoxic Agents

Cytotoxic pharmacological agents offer an alternative to monoclonal antibody depletion for treating CNS autoimmunity, and many have either already received FDA approval or are in advanced trials. Currently, two DNA synthesis inhibitors mitoxantrone (phase IV/approved) and cyclophosphamide (FDA approved, but not licensed for MS treatment) are used for aggressive forms of MS [15, 20]. In addition to lymphocytotoxicity, these two drugs may also function as *immune deviators*; that is, they skew the overall immune response toward a Th1 or Th2 type response at the cost of a Th17 type response. Mitoxantrone treatment is associated with a decrease in IFN γ , IL-6, and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9), which suggests that Th1 and Th17 responses are inhibited (IL-6 is required for Th17 differentiation, while MMP activity is known to be upregulated by IL-17) [3, 15]. Furthermore, increases in either IL-10⁺ T cells or IL-10 itself in conjunction with IL-4 have been reported in patients treated with mitoxantrone or cyclophosphamide, indicating antiinflammatory properties. Cladribine is a third cytotoxic agent used to treat MS, and it functions by inhibiting adenosine deaminase and causing a toxic buildup of metabolites. It exerts powerful anti-inflammatory effects and phase III trials are ongoing [20]. As is to be expected following a large-scale loss of lymphocytes, these three drugs carry risks of opportunistic infections and leukemia. Antimicrobial prophylaxis is commonly required for patients receiving cladribine or cyclophosphamide. There is also an increased incidence of leukemia (usually acute promyelocytic or myelocytic leukemia-APL or AML) and cardiotoxicity associated with mitoxantrone use [15]. These adverse effects make these drugs suitable only for treatment of aggressive forms of MS if non-ablative forms of immunomodulation are ineffective.

2.2 Prevention of Th17 Differentiation

Despite the efficacy and availability of immunoablative agents, there are serious risks associated with such approaches. A more attractive strategy would be to eliminate Th17 cells while sparing the patient's immune competence. One method by which Th17 cells may be specifically targeted in CNS autoimmunity is to prevent their differentiation from naïve precursors. The developmental requirements of the Th17 lineage have been the focus of intense investigation over the last several years, and this interest has provided optimism that targeting lineage-specific cytokines, transcription factors, or signaling pathways is of potential value in a clinical setting. Targeting IL-23 as well as Th17 lineage antagonism by IL-25, IL-27, and IFN- β will be discussed. These molecular targets comprise strategies 2a and 2b in Fig. 1.

2.2.1 IL-23 Neutralization

IL-23 was first thought to be required for Th17 development, as the addition of IL-23 to T cell cultures increased IL-17 production, and IL-23-deficient animals are completely protected from EAE [33]. Closer examination revealed that IL-23 does not stimulate naïve T cells, but potentiates the synthesis of IL-17, IL-22, and GM-CSF in previously activated $T_{\rm H}$ cells [7, 29]. However, because IL-23 does not exhibit pleiotropic activity to the same degree as TGF- β or IL-6, it was thought to be an attractive therapeutic target for preventing Th17-mediated CNS damage. Following the rationale that IL-23p19-deficient mice are completely resistant to EAE [9, 25], Chen et al. showed that administration of a monoclonal anti-IL-23p19 antibody significantly improves the clinical outcome of EAE [6]. Specifically, IL-23 neutralization delayed onset time and reduced clinical scores, incidence, and mononuclear (lymphocytic as well as monocytic) infiltration of the CNS, all of which were associated with a decrease in Th17 numbers and IL-17 serum levels. Excitingly, antibody neutralization of IL-23 prevented acute disease if administered prior to onset but also acted therapeutically when administered at the peak of disease in relapsing-remitting EAE [6]. Despite a promising preclinical profile and successful trials in Crohn's disease (phase IIa) and psoriasis (PHOENIXphase III), antibody neutralization of IL-23 (using ustekinumab) afforded no benefit to newly diagnosed relapsing-remitting MS patients [11]. This could be attributed to several factors. Th17 cells were observed in EAE-primed IL-23-deficient mice, but they failed to infiltrate the CNS, highlighting IL-23's role not in the initiation of Th17 responses, but rather the initiation of neuroinflammation [17]. Possibly, ustekinumab administration to patients after the onset of MS is insufficient to stop the response of already-established effector/memory populations or to prevent the de novo generation of Th17 cells in the inflamed CNS. The blood-brain barrier is already compromised during active MS/EAE, and there may be less of a dependence on IL-23 for tissue entry at this phase of disease [11]. Alternatively, other developmentally important cytokines could compensate for the loss of IL-23 and allow Th17s to mediate CNS tissue damage in its absence.

2.2.2 Lineage Antagonism by Exogenous Cytokine Administration

Neutralization of cytokines required for Th17 development has yielded encouraging results in preliminary studies, and in complementary fashion, the administration of cytokines refractive to Th17 development has been shown to be effective against animal and human CNS autoimmunity. Following the observation that IL-27R^{-/-} mice are extremely sensitive to EAE caused by a Th17 hyperresponse, Fitzgerald and colleagues showed that T cells activated in the presence of IL-27 generally fail to transfer disease [12]. While they were able to demonstrate a profound reduction in disease incidence, CNS pathology, leukocyte infiltration into the CNS, and IL-17 secretion in the IL-27 treated group, the mechanism remained unclear although it was postulated that IL-27 functions to attenuate the effector phase of disease. While these findings suggest a therapeutic role for IL-27 in ongoing disease, it is also plausible that IL-27 prevented disease by blocking Th17 development in activation cultures prior to adoptive transfer. A more complete understanding of when IL-27 inhibits Th17-related pathology would be required for effective treatment.

A second cytokine recently shown to antagonize Th17 development is IL-25 (also known as IL-17E). IL-25-deficient mice were shown to be highly susceptible to EAE, which is attributed to an increase in IL-23 in the periphery and greater numbers of Th17 cells in the CNS [23]. The abnormally strong Th17 response coupled with an observed decrease in Th2 cytokines in IL- $25^{-/-}$ mice suggests that IL-25 could perhaps be used to deviate the immune response away from pathologic autoimmune inflammation. Indeed, exogenous IL-25 protected wild-type SJL mice from disease by diminishing the Th17 response and increasing the amount of secreted IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13. Despite the increase in Th2 cytokines, seemingly at the expense of IL-17, the immune deviation was found to be dependent not on IL-4, but on IL-13. The authors suggest that this previously undescribed action of IL-13 may involve dendritic cell regulation. Further research on this subject would be of immense interest, due to the profound influence CNS dendritic cells exert on MS/EAE [2, 28]. Perhaps the most attractive quality of IL-25 administration is that it acted both to prevent the onset of EAE and to function therapeutically to diminish ongoing disease [23].

IFN- β is a first-line therapy for relapsing–remitting MS patients and is known to exert potent anti-inflammatory effects [22]. Despite its long-standing use and efficacy in slowing the relapse rate and lesion burden in a subset of patients, it is not 100 % effective, its mechanism is incompletely understood, and best results are usually obtained when IFN- β is used in conjunction with another form of therapy [20]. Nonetheless, it exhibits a diversity of anti-inflammatory effects and appears to disrupt Th17 function in MS via several mechanisms [27]. The first is by altering the DNA binding capacity of Th17 lineage-specific transcription factors. The binding capacity of NF- κ B is diminished in the presence of IFN- β , and this is accompanied by a decrease in IL-17 transcription. This finding is consistent with the clinical observation that matrix metalloproteinases are decreased in patients receiving IFN- β , as the MMP activity is a known mechanism of IL-17-mediated tissue destruction [28]. Conversely, the ability of the Th2 factor STAT-6 to bind DNA is enhanced in the presence of IFN- β , and consequent increases in IL-4 message level have been reported [27]. More recent reports indicate that IFN- β inhibits the differentiation and function of Th17 cells more extensively than originally thought. In vitro exposure of dendritic cells taken from human MS patients to IFN- β reduces their production of IL-23 and increases their production of IL-27, which would theoretically decrease the stability of autoreactive Th17 lineages (reviewed in [33]). A similar study has determined that IFN- β can exert anti-Th17 effects directly on human T cells, as IFN- β exposure was shown to result in decreased STAT-3 activation and diminished IL-17 and IL-21 productions [5]. The same associations were observed in mice and correlated with a decrease in CNS infiltration. While these results indicate that IFN- β may be effective in preventing the establishment of Th17s, and/or early events associated with CNS autoimmunity (i.e., tissue entry), there remains the problem of halting an established Th17 response. To that point, Th17s in MS patients have been shown to express higher levels of the IFN- β receptor than Th1 cells [10]. Furthermore, upon in vitro restimulation, of whole PBMCs, Th17 cells exhibited a higher apoptosis rate than Th1s in the presence of IFN-β. While these findings suggest that fully mature Th17 lineages from patients with active MS may be sensitive to IFN-β-induced apoptosis, evidence to the contrary exists. Axtell and colleagues found that the severity of EAE induced by adoptive transfer of Th1 cells could be decreased by IFN- β treatment, but that EAE induced by Th17 transfer was exacerbated by IFN- β treatment [1]. Furthermore, this group reported that high serum levels of IL-17 were associated with a resistance to IFN-B treatment in MS patients. Together, current data suggest that IFN- β may have limited efficacy in treating established, Th17-dominated forms of MS and may be more effective when Th1 cells are predominant or during the development of a Th17 response.

Despite recent advances in induction of immune deviation via exogenous cytokine administration, clinical trials should be approached with caution due to the worsening of MS following IFN- γ treatment. IFN- γ is known to inhibit Th17 differentiation in vitro, and it was therefore expected to curtail CNS autoimmunity by shifting the immune response away from Th17 in favor of Th1 [16]. The disappointing performance of IFN- γ in animal studies could be ascribed to the incomplete understanding of the Th1 contributions to MS/EAE or to the plasticity of early Th1 and Th17 precursors. Furthermore, several of the studies described herein have noted the presence of CD4⁺ T cells in the CNS that produce both IFN- γ and IL-17 and that these double positive T cells were associated with potent CNS inflammation [6]. The notion that the Th1 and Th17 lineages are closely related was recently strengthened by showing that co-regulation of Th1 and Th17 immunity is accomplished, at least in part, by the canonical Th1 transcription factor t-bet [14]. Due to the close relationship between Th1 and Th17 cells in disease as well as their respective roles in EAE, it seems prudent to avoid Th1 skewing when targeting the Th17 lineage in MS/EAE.

2.3 Prevention of Th17 Response: Function

In addition to induction of lymphopenia and the disruption of Th17 differentiation, the targeting of the Th17 response by either neutralizing the effector cytokine itself or by lymphocyte sequestration has proved to be of clinical benefit. This section will discuss the antibody neutralization of IL-17 as well as the sequestration of leukocytes by S1P₁ antagonists and the monoclonal antibody natalizumab (α VLA4). These approaches are designated 3a and 3b in Fig. 1.

A 2005 study by Hofstetter and colleagues illustrated the feasibility of IL-17 neutralization as a method to reduce CNS immune pathology in animals [19]. Although reductions in clinical score were observed in anti-IL-17-treated animals, symptoms were still observed. An exciting series of papers appearing in the late 2006 detailed the immunization of mice with self-IL-17 using either a protein carrier (ovalbumin) or an IL-17-conjugated viruslike particle [31, 37]. Both studies reported long-lasting IL-17 antibodies, with titers maintained for longer periods of time following OVA-IL-17 immunization, whereas higher titers were reached with VLP-IL-17 immunization. Both of these vaccines were shown to be highly effective at preventing EAE. In fact, prophylactic OVA-IL-17 immunization resulted in zero incidence as evidenced by a lack of neurological deficit or weight loss. While both of these studies demonstrated efficacy of IL-17 immunization in prevention of EAE onset, neither study addressed the potential of using IL-17 immunization against ongoing CNS inflammation, despite employing a chronic-progressive model of EAE. Th17 cells are clearly able to initiate CNS autoimmunity and cause tissue destruction; however, based on the work of Becher et al., CNS tissue damage does not appear to be predicated on production of IL-17 [7, 18]. IL-17 nonetheless has been shown to contribute to the breakdown in blood-brain barrier permeability and to recruit neutrophils to the CNS [33]. These observations combined with the apparent efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in EAE form the rational basis for a clinical trial, which is currently enrolling relapsing-remitting MS patients to test the efficacy of AIN457, a fully humanized anti-IL-17A antibody. AIN457 demonstrated a favorable safety profile in phase I trials in psoriasis and RA; there was no significant difference in the frequency of adverse events, such as opportunistic infections [21]. AIN457 as well as both immunization methods employed in the animal studies described above involves highly specific IL-17A antibodies which do not react against any of the other IL-17 isoforms. As discussed in Rohn et al., this may have important implications pertaining to the increased susceptibility of IL- 17^{-1} mice to certain bacterial infections [31]. It was noted that IL-17A and IL-17 F partially overlap in function, especially with regard to neutrophil recruitment. Thus, specifically targeting IL-17A may not impair IL-17 F-mediated neutrophil recruitment and may not increase susceptibility to bacterial infections. AIN457 was found to significantly improve psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis scores in early clinical trials; however, MS trials will be conducted with caution based on the failure of ustekinumab (anti-IL-23) and on recent data suggesting a reduced role of IL-17 in CNS immune pathology.

Aside from cytokine secretion, autoreactive T cells must also migrate into the CNS for pathology to occur, and several therapeutic agents target this process. The prevention of T cell infiltration of the CNS is accomplished by treatment with the monoclonal antibody natalizumab, which targets the $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin (VLA4) [8, 20, 28]. Natalizumab does not deplete lymphocytes like the mAb treatments described above, but prevents the extravasation of circulating lymphocytes across endothelium separating the vessels and the CNS. Natalizumab was shown to be effective in 6- and 12-month clinical trials for limiting CNS lesions and reducing the relapse rate and gained FDA approval for use in MS treatment. However, the use of natalizumab was soon associated with the development of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) due to an infection with or reactivation of JC virus, and its use for MS therapy is currently restricted.

2.4 Agents Targeting Multiple Processes

In addition to the three distinct approaches already discussed, there are three drugs or classes of drugs that affect multiple pathways of CNS inflammation. While their characteristic mechanisms of action are known (i.e., two of them—fingolimod and the statins—have previously been shown to interfere with leukocyte migration), antagonistic effects on Th17 differentiation and function are also now being described.

Fingolimod, for which phase III (FREEDOMS and TRANSFORMS) MS trials have been completed, targets the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor expressed on T lymphocytes [4, 30]. It is known to sequester lymphocytes in secondary lymphoid organs, thereby preventing their entry into the CNS and the resulting tissue damage. Fingolimod treatment resulted in a decrease in CNS lesions and in the relapse rate of MS patients. Adverse effects occurred with similar frequency and severity to a standard treatment (IFN- β). Recent data collected from the trial indicate that fingolimod treatment reduces the number of circulating Th17 cells in MS patients by 95 % [30]. Accompanying animal studies support this finding, as reduced Th17 cells were observed in lesions of rats and mice with EAE. The number of lesions was also reduced. While these results are very promising, given the contributions of Th1 cells to EAE and MS and given the encouraging efficacy in disease burden in MS patients, it seems unlikely that the effects of fingolimod on CNS autoimmunity are restricted to only the Th17 lineage. A second mechanism by which fingolimod suppresses autoimmunity has been proposed. Liao and colleagues showed that the addition of S1P (an S1P₁ ligand) to T cell cultures supportive of Th17 differentiation (containing a TCR stimulus, TGFB, and IL-6) resulted in a high degree of conversion to the Th17 lineage, accompanied by IL-17 secretion [26]. While the numbers of IL-17⁺ T cells were comparable in cultures with or without the addition of IL-23, the cultures containing this cytokine elicited greater IL-17 secretion. Conversely, the addition of fingolimod to Th17 cultures decreased the amount of secreted IL-17 by up to 80 %. This brief report, as well as the characterization of an S1P₁ transgenic animal, has suggested that the S1P–S1P₁ axis makes a contribution to Th17 immunity, but that IL-23 may still be necessary for full Th17 function. A direct demonstration of reduced autoreactivity unrelated to trafficking is lacking and would provide evidence that antagonism of Th17 differentiation or function is a major contributing mechanism of fingolimod protection in MS/EAE.

Finally, glatiramer acetate (GA) is an FDA-approved treatment for MS that has several immunomodulatory effects [32]. GA is a mixture of synthetic amino acid polymers consisting of glutamic acid, lysine, alanine, and tyrosine. GA suppresses immune reactions against self-CNS peptides by acting as an inhibitor of T cell activation/proliferation, competing for TCR/MHC binding with myelin antigens, and by shifting proinflammatory conditions to an anti-inflammatory Th2 state. The latter of GA's three mechanisms is evidenced by an increase in IL-10 and IL-4 and a coincident decrease in IL-12. Furthermore, Th2 lineage cells appear in the CNS secondary to GA treatment, and this is associated with a decrease in disease severity. Literature addressing the role of GA in regulating Th17 responses is scant, although it is expected that the skewing of the immune response toward Th2 and away from Th1 axis would affect the Th17 compartment as well.

3 Summary

This chapter has discussed the immunomodulatory agents which target the Th17 compartment according to their primary mechanism of action: T cell depletion, blockade of Th17 development, and blockade of Th17 function. Those agents that target multiple pathways of Th17 autoimmunity confound the model depicted in Fig. 1 slightly, and a more thorough summary appears in Table 1. T cell ablation therapy is generally effective, especially against aggressive forms of MS, and although the increased risk of opportunistic infections can be managed by antimicrobial prophylaxis, the elevated incidence of leukemias, alternative forms of autoimmunity, and toxicity make this approach unfavorable. Despite the availability and long-standing use of such ablative agents, they seem inferior to alternative treatments, which specifically antagonize Th17 cells and preserve immune competence. Interfering with Th17 development can be accomplished either by blocking the process by targeting cytokines required for the lineage's differentiation or by immune deviation using exogenous cytokines antagonistic to Th17 cells but supportive of other lineages. Despite promising results in animal studies and in vitro studies using human cells, attempts to prevent or divert the differentiation of Th17 cells have yielded disappointing results in the clinic, as IL-23 neutralization failed to reduce MS disease burden and the success of IFN- β therapy is inversely correlated with IL-17 expression at the time of treatment. These findings illustrate the importance of the timing of treatment and may suggest that agents targeting the differentiation of Th17 cells following the initiation of disease may have limited clinical success, although due the complexity of Th1-Th17 interplay in MS, at least IFN- β remains valuable. The final strategy discussed above, the prevention of Th17

Agent	Target/mechanism	Clinical trial phase	Anti-Th17 activity
Mitoxantrone	DNA replication	IV/approved	1
Cladribine	Adenosine deaminase	III	1
Cyclophosphamide	DNA replication	II	1
Cyclosporine A	Calcineurin	None	1, 2
Alemtuzumab	CD52	Suspended	1
Anti-IL-23	IL-17 synthesis/secretion	Phase III	2
IL-25 (IL-17E)	Th17 \rightarrow Th2 shift	None	2
IL-27	Th17 \rightarrow Th2 shift	None	2
IFNβ	Th17 \rightarrow Th2 shift	IV/approved	2
Anti-IL-17	IL-17	II	3
IL-17 vaccination	IL-17	None	3
Natalizumab	VLA4	Approved/restricted usage	3
Fingolimod	S1P-S1P ₁	III	2, 3
Statins	HMG-CoA	II	2, 3
Glatiramer acetate	TCR-MHC binding	Approved	2, 3

 Table 1
 Agents and mechanisms of Th17 antagonism

Anti-Th17 activities: (1) T cell depletion, (2) impedes Th17 differentiation from naïve precursors, and (3) prevents proper Th17 migration/function (Adapted from [36])

function, is accomplished by interfering with leukocyte trafficking or by neutralizing IL-17. Despite recent observations that IL-17 is dispensable for Th17-mediated CNS autoimmunity, the upcoming clinical trial of anti-IL-17A will be of great interest. Specific targeting of IL-17A and not other IL-17 isoforms may simultaneously limit or prevent autoimmune disease but also mitigate the susceptibility to infection observed in organisms deficient in the IL-23/IL-17 pathway. Infections secondary to anti-IL-17A administration in humans do not appear to be a major cause for concern [21]. If AIN457 fails to afford any clinical benefit to MS patients, it would be of interest to follow up the study of Codarri, et al. [7], in which GM-CSF, rather than IL-17, was shown to be the primary Th17 product responsible for tissue damage. A safety trial for anti-GM-CSF in RA patients is currently ongoing (www.clinicaltrials.gov identifier: NCT00995449).

Aside from the direct risks associated with immunomodulation, it is important to consider the different forms of MS as well as the various contributors to CNS autoimmunity. Certain regimens, such as alemtuzumab treatment, are effective against relapsing-remitting MS (reducing the relapse rate by 94 %), but have limited benefit for severe-progressive MS patients (whose condition deteriorates over the long term) [8]. Likewise, the use of strong immunosuppressive agents is advisable only against aggressive forms of MS [15]. Furthermore, while the Th17 lineage appears to be a logical therapeutic target, there are non-T cell mediators of CNS inflammation as well as neurodegenerative processes unrelated to autoimmunity to be considered [28]. Approaches that target several of these processes simultaneously as GA does (i.e., GA inhibits proliferation, encourages anti-inflammatory Th2 activity, and perhaps facilitates remyelination) would be prime candidates for further study.
References

- Axtell RC, de Jong BA, Boniface K, van der Voort LF, Bhat R, De Sarno P, Naves R, Han M, Zhong F, Castellanos JG et al (2010) T helper type 1 and 17 cells determine efficacy of interferon-beta in multiple sclerosis and experimental encephalomyelitis. Nat Med 16:406–412
- Bailey SL, Schreiner B, McMahon EJ, Miller SD (2007) CNS myeloid DCs presenting endogenous myelin peptides 'preferentially' polarize CD4(+) T(H)-17 cells in relapsing EAE. Nat Immunol 8:172–180
- 3. Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2007) T(H)-17 cells in the circle of immunity and autoimmunity. Nat Immunol 8:345–350
- Brown BA, Kantesaria PP, McDevitt LM (2007) Fingolimod: a novel immunosuppressant for multiple sclerosis. Ann Pharmacother 41:1660–1668
- 5. Chen M, Chen G, Nie H, Zhang X, Niu X, Zang YC, Skinner SM, Zhang JZ, Killian JM, Hong J (2009) Regulatory effects of IFN-beta on production of osteopontin and IL-17 by CD4+ T cells in MS. Eur J Immunol 39:2525–2536
- Chen Y, Langrish CL, McKenzie B, Joyce-Shaikh B, Stumhofer JS, McClanahan T, Blumenschein W, Churakovsa T, Low J, Presta L et al (2006) Anti-IL-23 therapy inhibits multiple inflammatory pathways and ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest 116:1317–1326
- Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, Suter T, Becher B (2011) RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol 12:560–567
- 8. Cree B (2006) Emerging monoclonal antibody therapies for multiple sclerosis. Neurologist 12:171–178
- Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T et al (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421:744–748
- Durelli L, Conti L, Clerico M, Boselli D, Contessa G, Ripellino P, Ferrero B, Eid P, Novelli F (2009) T-helper 17 cells expand in multiple sclerosis and are inhibited by interferon-beta. Ann Neurol 65:499–509
- 11. Elliott M, Benson J, Blank M, Brodmerkel C, Baker D, Sharples KR, Szapary P (2009) Ustekinumab: lessons learned from targeting interleukin-12/23p40 in immune-mediated diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1182:97–110
- 12. Fitzgerald DC, Ciric B, Touil T, Harle H, Grammatikopolou J, Das Sarma J, Gran B, Zhang GX, Rostami A (2007) Suppressive effect of IL-27 on encephalitogenic Th17 cells and the effector phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 179:3268–3275
- Furuzawa-Carballeda J, Vargas-Rojas MI, Cabral AR (2007) Autoimmune inflammation from the Th17 perspective. Autoimmun Rev 6:169–175
- 14. Gocke AR, Cravens PD, Ben LH, Hussain RZ, Northrop SC, Racke MK, Lovett-Racke AE (2007) T-bet regulates the fate of Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes in autoimmunity. J Immunol 178:1341–1348
- 15. Gonsette RE (2007) Compared benefit of approved and experimental immunosuppressive therapeutic approaches in multiple sclerosis. Expert Opin Pharmacother 8:1103–1116
- Gutcher I, Becher B (2007) APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation. J Clin Invest 117:1119–1127
- Gyulveszi G, Haak S, Becher B (2009) IL-23-driven encephalo-tropism and Th17 polarization during CNS-inflammation in vivo. Eur J Immunol 39:1864–1869
- Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, Waisman A (2009) IL-17A and IL-17 F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. J Clin Invest 119:61–69

- Hofstetter HH, Ibrahim SM, Koczan D, Kruse N, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Gold R (2005) Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Immunol 237:123–130
- Holmoy T, Vartdal F (2007) The immunological basis for treatment of multiple sclerosis. Scand J Immunol 66:374–382
- 21. Hueber W, Patel DD, Dryja T, Wright AM, Koroleva I, Bruin G, Antoni C, Draelos Z, Gold MH, Durez P et al (2010) Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis. Sci Transl Med 2:52ra72
- 22. Killestein J, Polman CH (2011) Determinants of interferon beta efficacy in patients with multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurol 7:221–228
- 23. Kleinschek MA, Owyang AM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Gorman DM, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan T, Brombacher F, Hurst SD et al (2007) IL-25 regulates Th17 function in autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 204:161–170
- 24. Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM (2008) IL-12- and IL-23-modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. J Exp Med 205:1535–1541
- 25. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 201:233–240
- 26. Liao JJ, Huang MC, Goetzl EJ (2007) Cutting edge: alternative signaling of Th17 cell development by sphingosine 1-phosphate. J Immunol 178:5425–5428
- Martin-Saavedra FM, Flores N, Dorado B, Eguiluz C, Bravo B, Garcia-Merino A, Ballester S (2007) Beta-interferon unbalances the peripheral T cell proinflammatory response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Mol Immunol 44:3597–3607
- McFarland HF, Martin R (2007) Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. Nat Immunol 8:913–919
- 29. McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan TK, O'Shea JJ, Cua DJ (2009) The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. Nat Immunol 10:314–324
- Mehling M, Lindberg R, Raulf F, Kuhle J, Hess C, Kappos L, Brinkmann V (2010) Th17 central memory T cells are reduced by FTY720 in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology 75:403–410
- Rohn TA, Jennings GT, Hernandez M, Grest P, Beck M, Zou Y, Kopf M, Bachmann MF (2006) Vaccination against IL-17 suppresses autoimmune arthritis and encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol 36:2857–2867
- 32. Ruggieri M, Avolio C, Livrea P, Trojano M (2007) Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: a review. CNS Drug Rev 13:178–191
- 33. Segal BM (2010) Th17 cells in autoimmune demyelinating disease. Semin Immunopathol 32:71–77
- 34. Steinman L, Zamvil SS (2005) Virtues and pitfalls of EAE for the development of therapies for multiple sclerosis. Trends Immunol 26:565–571
- 35. Stockinger B, Veldhoen M (2007) Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. Curr Opin Immunol 19:281–286
- 36. Stromnes IM, Cerretti LM, Liggitt D, Harris RA, Goverman JM (2008) Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. Nat Med 14:337–342
- Uyttenhove C, Van Snick J (2006) Development of an anti-IL-17A auto-vaccine that prevents experimental auto-immune encephalomyelitis. Eur J Immunol 36:2868–2874
- Vaknin-Dembinsky A, Balashov K, Weiner HL (2006) IL-23 is increased in dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis and down-regulation of IL-23 by antisense oligos increases dendritic cell IL-10 production. J Immunol 176:7768–7774
- Weaver CT, Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Gavrieli M, Murphy KM (2006) Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. Immunity 24:677–688
- 40. Zhu J, Paul WE (2010) Peripheral CD4+ T-cell differentiation regulated by networks of cytokines and transcription factors. Immunol Rev 238:247–262

Involvement of Interleukin-17 Cytokines in Human Asthma

Anders Lindén

Abstract Several clinical phenotypes of asthma constitute a clinical health problem globally and current therapy is still insufficient to meet clinical need. This chapter scrutinises the accumulated evidence that interleukin (IL)-17A and other members of the IL-17 cytokine family are involved and play a pathogenic role in human asthma. Whereas there is now substantial evidence from patients with asthma arguing for an involvement of IL-17A locally as well as systemically, there is still a lack of conclusive evidence that IL-17A plays a causative role. However, the evidence for the involvement of IL-17A-producing T helper (Th) cells in human lungs and blood is growing. Moreover, evidence for an involvement of additional members of the IL-17 cytokine family, such as IL-17F and IL-25, is emerging. Thus, there is a rationale and a need for new and interventional studies on well-characterised human patients with asthma, targeting IL-17 cytokines specifically. This type of studies may more firmly establish the causative role and potential as therapeutic target for IL-17 cytokines as well as Th17 cells in various phenotypes of human asthma.

Keywords Allergy • B cell • Cytokine • Interleukin-17A • IL-17E • IL-17F • IL-25 • Macrophage • Neutrophil • T cell

1 Introduction

The idea that the archetype T helper (Th) 17 cell cytokine interleukin (IL)-17A (originally known as IL-17) is involved in obstructive airway disease including asthma was forwarded already in the very beginning of the new millennium [1].

A. Lindén (🖂)

Unit for Lung and Airway Research, Physiology Division, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, PO Box 210, Stockholm SE-171 77, Sweden e-mail: anders.linden@ki.se

More than 10 years later, we still do not know for sure whether this cytokine does play a causative role in asthma. The original suggestion was based on plain observations from three experimental studies documenting the neutrophilmobilising effects of recombinant IL-17A protein in an animal airway model in vivo and in human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro [2–4]. Briefly, these early experimental studies indicated that IL-17A induces the transcription and release of neutrophil-mobilising cytokines from bronchial epithelial cells. Thereby IL-17A indirectly accumulates neutrophils and eventually also activates these innate effector cells locally in the airways. *Molet* and co-workers subsequently published supportive clinical evidence for an involvement of IL-17A in human asthma, obtained from the airways of patients with mild disease [5]; evidence that more recently has been substantiated by additional studies on human patients [6, 7]. This chapter is focused on critically scrutinising the evidence from human subjects that IL-17A, as well as more recently discovered members of the IL-17 cytokine family, are involved in and may play a causative role in the pathogenesis of asthma.

2 Interleukin-17A in the Airways of Patients with Asthma

2.1 Data on Bronchoalveolar Lavage Samples

In their early study, *Molet* and co-workers reported that the average concentration of soluble IL-17A protein in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) samples is more than 50 % higher in patients with mild asthma than in healthy control subjects [5]. A substantial fraction of these patients displayed a positive skin prick test, indicating allergen sensibilisation, and some were ex-smokers. However, none had a history of long-term and heavy smoking and no patient was treated with glucocorticoids. Likewise, it was claimed that no patient had a respiratory infection during the 6 weeks preceding the study inclusion, so it seems unlikely that the finding could be attributed to mere microbial activation of pulmonary host defence. Molet and co-workers also demonstrated that the immunoreactive signal for IL-17A protein is approximately three times more frequent among BAL cells from patients with mild asthma than among BAL cells from control subjects. Even though it was not statistically proven, Molet and co-workers also reported a trend towards an increase in the relative number of sputum and BAL neutrophils, respectively, paralleling the increase in IL-17A protein in the patients with asthma. Molet and co-workers also confirmed that the relative number of eosinophils is moderately increased in patients with asthma.

Fully compatible with the fundamental work by *Molet* and co-workers, *Glader* and co-workers recently demonstrated an approximately 100 % average increase in extracellular IL-17A protein in BAL samples after bronchial exposure to endotoxin in healthy human volunteers [8]. Notably, this modest but reproducible increase in IL-17A was accompanied by a corresponding increase in IL-23 and IL-21 protein,

two additional "Th17-driving" cytokines. Thus, the study by *Glader* et al. provides a rationale for a more in-depth characterisation of the IL-17A-producing cells in the airways of patients with asthma and other types of chronic inflammatory airway disease.

2.2 Data on Sputum Samples

In line with their original findings in BAL fluid and cells, *Molet* and co-workers also showed that the immunoreactive signal for IL-17A protein is close to three-fold more frequent among sputum cells from patients with mild asthma, compared with healthy control subjects [5]. This data also confirmed that the relative number of eosinophils is substantially increased in sputum samples from patients with asthma. In contrast, there was a trend only towards a corresponding increase for neutrophils.

Barczyk and co-workers published a study indicating an association between an increased concentration of IL-17A protein in induced sputum and bronchial hyperreactivity to metacholine in a mixed group of patients [9]. This patient group consisted of patients with asthma or chronic bronchitis [9]. In their study, *Barczyk* and co-workers showed that the increase in sputum IL-17 among the patients with bronchial hyperreactivity is less than 50 %, compared with control subject without bronchial hyperreactivity. It is of interest that *Barzyck* and co-workers also forwarded evidence that the sputum concentration of IL-17A protein does correlate with the sensitivity index (PC20) for metacholine challenge. Notably, the patients with asthma had mild to moderate disease and some patients were treated with inhaled glucocorticoids. The particular study was relatively small and it was probably because of this and the inconsistent treatment with glucocorticoids, that the trend towards a difference in sputum IL-17A between asthma patients and control subjects did not reach statistical significance. This may also be true for the difference in IL-17A between patients with chronic bronchitis and control subjects.

Compatible with the study by *Barczyk* and co-workers, *Sun* and co-workers detected a close to four-fold concentration of IL-17A protein in induced sputum from patients with severe asthma, compared with healthy control subjects [10]. This increase in IL-17A was accompanied by a close to 100 % increase in the relative number of neutrophils, compared with control subjects. *Sun* and co-workers also included patients with mild to moderate asthma in their study. Interestingly, when analysing IL-17A protein in all stages of disease, *Sun* and co-workers showed that the concentration of sputum IL-17A corresponds to the severity of disease. The same was true for the concentrations of MPO and IL-8 protein, respectively. None of the patients with asthma was treated with a glucocorticoid, none was recently infected and no patient was a smoker. However, when a mixed group consisting of all three degrees of disease severity was treated with an inhaled glucocorticoid during 1 week, this treatment modestly reduced the IL-17A protein concentration, suggesting a certain degree of sensitivity to glucocorticoids in human airways. The utilised glucocorticoid did not markedly affect relative number of neutrophils in

sputum, however, pointing towards a possible dissociation between these two outcomes in human patients.

Bullens and co-workers published important evidence on IL-17A in patients with asthma in 2006. These investigators demonstrated that there is an increase in the mRNA for IL-17A in sputum cells from patients with asthma and that he increase in mRNA is of a similar magnitude in mild and moderate to severe asthma, respectively [11]. They found no pronounced difference in this respect for patients with allergic and non-allergic asthma, either. In spite of investigating a limited study material, *Bullens* and co-workers were also able to demonstrate a positive and statistically significant correlation between the relative number of neutrophils in sputum and the mRNA for IL-17A, thereby providing evidence for IL-17A being associated with neutrophil accumulation in patients with asthma, even though a causative relationship still remains to be proven in asthma.

Assessing airway remodelling outcomes versus cytokine content in induced sputum, *Kaminska* and co-workers published a study in 2009 that compared these parameters for patients with chronic and reversible phenotypes of severe asthma, respectively [12]. Unexpectedly, there was an approximately three-fold higher average concentration of IL-17A protein in sputum among patients with reversible severe rather than with chronic severe asthma [12]. Thus, the results of this particular study did not substantiate the notion that there is a much more pronounced accumulation of airway neutrophils in chronic than in reversible asthma, even though there was a trend towards somewhat higher concentration of sputum neutrophils in the patients with chronic severe asthma.

In a recent study, *Doe* and co-workers compared the concentration of IL-17A protein in the sputum of patients with asthma with that observed in patients with COPD [6]. Unexpectedly, these investigators detected a somewhat higher average concentration of IL-17A in patients with COPD than in those with asthma, even though the highest individual concentrations were actually detected in patients with asthma [6].

2.3 Data on Exhaled Breath Condensate

In 2006, *Matsunaga* and co-workers published an innovative study on exhaled breath condensate in patients and healthy control subjects who were non-smokers and without any glucocorticoid treatment [13]. In essence, the results of this study indicates that the relative concentration of "exhaled" IL-17A protein is increased by approximately 50 % in patients with mild asthma, compared with control subjects. Interestingly, the increase in IL-17A among these patients with asthma seemed to be associated with a similar increase in the chemokine IL-8 and in TNF- α and TGF- β , respectively; cytokines that can be linked to neutrophilic inflammation and Th17 development [14–16]. Notably, this particular study demonstrated a trend towards a correlation between the concentration of "exhaled" IL-17A protein and the degree of airway reactivity and airway obstruction in the patients with asthma.

2.4 Data on Bronchial Tissue

Important clinical evidence for an increase of IL-17A protein in patients with asthma was published in a study by *Chakir* and co-workers in 2003 [17]. The study showed that patients with moderate to severe asthma have an immunoreactivity signal for IL-17A protein in the subepithelial bronchial layer that involves almost a six-fold higher number of positive cells, compared with healthy control subjects. There were no smokers among the patients or control subjects and none of the patients was treated with glucocorticoids [17]. A relative increase in IL-17A signal was obtained when analysing the intraepithelial bronchial layer as well. Likewise, among the patients with severe asthma, there was a substantial increase in TGF- β and type I collagen as well, pointing out plausible associations with Th17 mobilisation and remodelling, respectively. The major part of the immunoreactivity signal for IL-17A protein proved to be sensitive to 2 weeks' of treatment with a systemic glucocorticoid in this study, again pointing out that there may be a certain degree of sensitivity to glucocorticoids in this setting.

In a short report published in 2009, *Al-ramli* and co-workers forwarded data showing an increase in subepithelial cells immunoreactive for IL-17A protein in patients with asthma [7]. In severe asthma, the magnitude of this increase in IL-17A protein was approximately three-fold that in control subjects and paralleled disease severity. The pattern was similar for the corresponding messenger RNA as well, even though the relative increase was then more pronounced. Unfortunately, the referred publication included insufficient information on medication including glucocorticoids.

When analysing the number of submucosal cells immunoreactive for IL-17A protein, *Doe* and co-workers recently forwarded evidence that the most pronounced increase may actually be present in patients with mild to moderate asthma [6]. In this case, the relative increase was approximately five-fold, compared with control subjects. There was no statistically significant difference for the two asthma groups, however, possibly due to lack of power in the material. It is unclear whether there were differences in medication between groups, since no specific information on treatment with glucocorticoids was provided. Moreover, in this study, an inconsistent number of tobacco smokers were included in each respective subject group; thereby making smoking an uncontrolled, confounding factor.

3 Interleukin-17A in the Blood of Patients with Asthma

The very first study specifically addressing IL-17A protein in patients with asthma was published by *Wong* and co-workers in 2001 [18]; actually a little earlier than the study on IL-17A in the airways by *Molet* and co-workers [5]. The study by *Wong* and co-workers was conducted on blood cells and plasma and the results revealed a trend towards an approximately 100 % increase in the concentration of

soluble IL-17A protein in the plasma of patients with allergic asthma, compared with healthy control subjects without allergy [18]. However, this particular trend did not reach statistical significance, possibly due to the limited size of the study material. Subsequently, the preliminary finding by *Wong* and co-workers was more definitively confirmed by data published in the seminal study by *Molet* and co-workers [5], who thus demonstrated a statistically significant increase in the number of blood eosinophils immunoreactive for IL-17A in patients with mild asthma, compared with healthy control subjects.

Of particular interest is a recent study by *Agache* and co-workers; one that forward evidence for high serum levels of IL-17A constituting an independent risk factor for severe asthma [19]. Comparing patients with mild, moderate and severe asthma, these investigators found that patients with severe asthma have approximately a 100 % increase in serum IL-17A protein, compared with patients with mild to moderate asthma. Unfortunately, the study did not separately address patients with or without atopy. However, *Agache* and co-workers also demonstrated that a serum level exceeding 20 pg/mL is associated with a more than three-fold increased risk for severe asthma. Notably, the study contained evidence that level of serum IL-17A is negatively correlated with the level of blood neutrophils, as well as with spirometry indicators of airflow in the small airways. Since these findings are compatible with, even though not definitive evidence for, local IL-17A recruiting neutrophils from the blood and contributing to small airway obstruction, the study lends support to the notion that IL-17A is involved in the pathogenesis leading to severe asthma.

More evidence for an involvement of IL-17A in blood was recently provided by *Zhao* and co-workers [20]. When analysing plasma from patients with allergic asthma, these investigators obtained evidence that the concentration IL-17A protein is increased by a five-fold for the entire group of patients with allergic asthma and with a ten-fold for the patients with severe asthma, compared with healthy control subjects. Interestingly, the concentration of IL-17A protein correlated with IL-23 protein in the group of patients with asthma, thus pointing out a putative link to Th17 mobilisation.

Conducting a genome wide association (GWA) study, *Moffat* and co-workers in 2007 showed that genetic variants of the chromosome 17q21 locus are associated with the occurrence of childhood asthma [21]. Now, the same research group recently showed that the magnitude of the release of IL-17A protein in unstimulated and PHA-stimulated mononuclear cells from the umbilical cord of newborns is linked to the occurrence of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) at the 17q21 locus [22]. Thus, these two studies indicate a link between the systemic release of IL-17A and occurrence of childhood asthma via a defined chromosome locus, even though the clinical significance of this link needs further revaluation.

4 Cellular Sources of IL-17A in Patients with Asthma

4.1 Data on Sources in the Lungs

The first documentation of IL-17A in BAL and sputum samples that was published by *Molet* and co-workers consisted of data obtained by using three different techniques: immunocytochemistry, Western blot and in situ hybridisation [5]. Given the collective evidence from experimental studies on cellular sources of IL-17A, the findings published by *Molet* and co-workers are in need of functional evaluation [1, 14–16, 23–25]. This is because there is no published study demonstrating that live human eosinophils actually can release IL-17A protein in response to any stimulus.

In contrast to what *Molet* and co-workers reported, most published evidence from animal in vivo and human cell models, respectively, indicates that IL-17A originates from studies of peripheral blood mononuclear cells that are CD3-positive mainly [1, 14–16, 23–25]. Examining BAL cells from healthy volunteers exposed to organic dust, *Ivanov* and co-workers reported in 2005 that there is immunoreactivity for IL-17A in human BAL cells with a "lymphoid" morphology, as well as a substantial increase in detectable mRNA for IL-17A [26]. Clearly, there is substantial published evidence compatible with the notion that T lymphocytes constitute a source for IL-17A protein in human airways.

Two recent studies on humans have forwarded important evidence that there is a subset of Th cells producing IL-17A protein in different compartments of human lungs. In 2010, *Glader and* co-workers published the first of these two studies [8]. This particular study demonstrated the presence and increase of CD3- and CD4-positive cells containing IL-17A in BAL samples harvested after intrabronchial exposure to endotoxin in healthy human volunteers. These IL-17A-containing Th cells were detected among BAL cells that contained mRNA for the archetype Th17 transcription factor RORCvariant2 as well; the latter correlating with mRNA for IL-17A after endotoxin exposure [8]. The findings are clearly compatible with the presence of "Th17-like" cells in human airways.

The second and more recent study demonstrating T helper cells producing IL-17A protein in human lungs was published in 2011 by *Purwar* and co-workers [27]. Interestingly, *Purwar* and co-workers demonstrated that approximately 1 % of all CD4-positive cells contain IL-17A protein in lung tissue from patients undergoing surgery for lung cancer. Correspondingly, the same study demonstrated that approximately 0.8 % of all CD8-positive cells contain IL-17A protein in lung tissue from patients undergoing surgery for lung cancer. These findings illustrate that there may be more than one subset of T lymphocytes producing IL-17A in the lung tissue of human subjects.

In terms of the specific characteristics of T lymphocytes producing IL-17A in the airways of patients with asthma, there is very limited data published so far. *Bullens* and co-workers demonstrated in 2006 that there is a positive and strong correlation between the levels of mRNA for IL-17A and CD3 γ in sputum from patients with

moderate to severe asthma [11]. In this context, it is interesting that *Al-ramli* and co-workers described in their study on patients with asthma that immunoreactivity for IL-17A protein was detected in mononuclear, inflammatory cells mainly, residing in the submucosa [7]. Tentatively, it also remains to be confirmed whether IL-17A-producing Th cells in the lungs of patients with asthma comprise all the typical "Th17 characteristics" previously documented in experimental models of asthma [15, 16, 28–34].

4.2 Data on Sources in the Blood

There is an increasing body of evidence for blood cells producing IL-17A in patients with asthma as well. In 2005, *Hashimoto* and co-workers published data showing a reproducible IL-17A response in isolated mononuclear cells to stimulation with anti-CD3 plus anti-CD28 antibodies and house dust mite extract, respectively, using blood cells from patients with allergic asthma [35]. Interestingly, three recent studies take this topic further.

Zhao and co-workers showed in 2010 that there is a subset of CD3-positive and CD8-negative cells containing signal for IL-17A among peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with allergic asthma [20]. The data suggest that the percentage of these cells is approximately 50 % higher in patients with allergic asthma, compared with control subjects and, notably, it increases with disease severity. By generating T-cell clones from the CCR6- and CD161-positive fraction of CD4- and CD3-positive peripheral blood cells and examining their cytokine content, Cosmi and co-workers generated evidence that IL-17A and IL-4 as well as other archetype Th17 and Th2 cytokines can be produced by the very same cells [36]. Similar findings have been reported by Wang and co-workers, who recently claimed that the subset of CD4positive cells that contain IL-17A as well as the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 are CD45-, CCR6- and CRTH2-positive and contain the two archetype transcription factors for Th17 (RORCvar2) and Th2 (GATA-3) as well [37]. Consequently, the existence of a Th17/Th2 subset of memory T helper cells has been proposed. According to Cosmi and co-workers' study, these Th17/Th2 cells are capable of inducing the secretion of IgE from autologous human B lymphocytes in vitro, thus illustrating a functional link to allergy. In an even more recent study, Zhao and coworkers forwarded evidence of an increased frequency of CD4-positive cells containing IL-17A protein in the blood of patients with allergic asthma, compared with control subject but reported no other characteristics of these blood cells [38].

5 Additional IL-17 Cytokines Investigated in Patients with Asthma

There are two additional members of the IL-17 cytokine family that currently can be linked to asthma and allergy, namely, IL-17F and IL-25 [14–16, 25]. The data on these IL-17 cytokines is interesting but still very limited.

5.1 Interleukin-17F

Interleukin-17F is potentially relevant in the context of acute and severe asthma in humans [14–16, 25], and the first evidence for this was published by *Kawaguchi* and co-workers in 2001 [39]. In essence, *Kawaguchi* and co-workers demonstrated two critical aspects of IL-17F: Recombinant IL-17F stimulates the production and release of neutrophil-mobilising cytokines in human bronchial epithelial cells, and allergen challenge of patients with allergic asthma increases the signal for IL-17F mRNA among BAL cells [39]. Yet another interesting aspect of IL-17F is that this cytokine may be produced and released by several, principally different cell types: structural cells as well as immune cells [14–16, 25, 39]. The evidence for this includes data from epithelial cells, basophils, mast cells, monocytes and T lymphocytes [14–16, 25, 39].

Kawaguchi and co-workers has published an intriguing finding on a genetic mutation that makes the IL-17F molecule biologically inactive in vitro [39]. These investigators have also shown that patients with asthma or COPD lack this mutation, whereas the same mutation can be present in healthy control subjects. However, the frequency of this mutation is fairly low among healthy control subjects and contradictive data exists, so this particular issue is in need of further evaluation [39, 40].

The study by *Al-ramli* and co-workers that was published in 2009 included data showing an increase in subepithelial immunoreactivity for IL-17F protein in patients with asthma [7]. The magnitude of this increase in IL-17F protein-paralleled disease severity and this was the case for the corresponding messenger RNA as well. Interestingly, *Al-ramli* and co-workers described that IL-17F protein was detected in the epithelial layer and even in epithelial cells in the very same patients that expressed IL-17A in the submucosa [7].

Additional support for IL-17F being a relevant cytokine was forwarded in the recent study by *Doe* and co-workers [6]. These investigators reported more signal for IL-17F protein in the submucosa of bronchial tissue harvested from patients with asthma, compared with healthy control subjects [6]. Even though it was not statistically significant, *Doe* and co-workers demonstrated a trend towards a higher tissue expression of IL-17F in severe asthma compared with mild to moderate asthma, IL-17 thus displaying an expression pattern partially different from that of IL-17A [6].

5.2 Interleukin-25

In 2001, *Fort* and co-workers published data indicating that interleukin-25 (formerly known as IL-17E) is functionally different from IL-17A, IL-17F and the heterodimer IL-17A/F [14–16, 41]. *Fort* and co-workers showed that IL-25 has an eosinophil-mobilising capacity, rather than a neutrophil-mobilising one, via its ability to induce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 in the airways [14–16, 41]. Recently, *Corrigan* and co-workers demonstrated that allergen challenge causes a modest but reproducible increase in the bronchial mucosal as well as submucosal cells immunoreactive for IL-25 in patients with allergic asthma [42]. Notably, the number of IL-25-positive cells in the submucosa correlated with the late phase decrease in ventilatory capacity (FEV₁). Collectively, the limited number of studies conducted until date have forwarded evidence that IL-25 can be produced by eosinophils, mast cells, endothelial cells, T lymphocytes as well as alveolar macrophages (14–16, 42, 43). Critical functional evidence on the cellular sources is lacking, though.

6 Should We Target Signalling via IL-17 Cytokines in Asthma?

Asthma is a disease currently believed to be driven at least in part by Th cells and there are clinically important phenotypes of asthma with a neutrophilic inflammatory component [15, 16]. This and the fact that there may be increased concentrations of the neutrophil-mobilising cytokines IL-17A and -17F locally and/or systemically in severe asthma may be viewed as a therapeutic rationale for blocking the signalling these two IL-17 cytokines. However, it is important to also consider the growing body of evidence that IL-17A and -F constitutes critical signalling molecules in host defence against bacteria, fungi and, possibly, viruses [14–16, 25]. The mere idea that specific inhibition of IL-17 cytokines can cause increased susceptibility to infections constitutes a strong argument for targeting these cytokines with caution. For these reasons, it seems feasible that local inhibition is a safer approach than systemic inhibition. Given the limited knowledge on IL-25, even more so on IL-17B, IL-17C and IL-17D, more basic studies are needed to establish a solid therapeutic rationale for targeting these particular IL-17

7 Conclusions

Clearly, the published evidence from small-scale studies on patients with severe asthma is compatible with IL-17A and IL-17F being both involved in and contributing to the local mobilisation of neutrophils, possibly in the reversible

type of severe asthma primarily. One interesting issue with potential clinical implications is to clinically evaluate to what extent allergic and non-allergic asthma differs in terms of the involvement of individual IL-17 cytokines [16, 44–47]. Moreover, before pursuing large-scale clinical trials on IL-17A and IL-17F as therapeutic targets in various phenotypes of asthma, it may be worthwhile to more critically evaluate to what extent the pathways mediated by IL-17 and IL-17F are sensitive to drugs that are already in clinical practice. Also, given the emerging complexity of endogenous signalling via IL-17A and IL-17F, it remains an open question whether it is the IL-17 cytokine per se or up- or downstream signalling pathways that should be targeted to achieve clinical efficacy in severe asthma. In particular, given what is now known about the signalling of IL-17A and IL-17F via the IL-17A/C receptor complex from experimental models, it seems important to characterise downstream signalling in asthma patients with different stages of disease severity [15, 16, 48, 49]. Also, when planning and conducting large-scale clinical trials on drugs inhibiting IL-17A and IL-17F, immunosuppressive effects need to be carefully monitored.

Finally, the pathogenic and therapeutic rationale for focusing on IL-25 remains more uncertain than that of IL-17A and IL-17F. However, given the potential role of IL-25 in eosinophilic inflammation, targeting this cytokine in the most common phenotypes of asthma may actually prove to be more clinically useful than targeting IL-17A and IL-17F.

Acknowledgements The author wishes to thank the Heart-Lung Foundation and the Research Council of Sweden, as well as the University of Gothenburg and Karolinska Institute, for funding that made this work possible.

References

- Lindén A, Hoshino H, Laan M (2000) Airway neutrophils and interleukin-17. Eur Respir J 15:973–977
- Laan M, Cui ZH, Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Sjöstrand M, Gruenert D, Skoogh BE, Lindén A (1999) Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. J Immunol 162:2347–2352
- 3. Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Skoogh BE, Lindén A (1999) Neutrophil recruitment by IL-17 into rat airways in vivo: role of tachykinins. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:1423–1428
- Hoshino H, Laan M, Sjöstrand M, Lötvall J, Skoogh BE, Lindén A (2000) Increased elastase and myeloperoxidase activity associated with neutrophil recruitment by IL-17 in airways in vivo. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105:143–149
- Molet S, Hamid Q, Davoine F, Nutku E, Taha R, Page N, Olivenstein R, Elias J, Chakir J (2001) IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108:430–438
- 6. Doe C, Bafadhel M, Siddiqui S, Desai D, Mistry V, Rugman P, McCormick M, Woods J, May R, Sleeman MA, Anderson IK, Brightling CE (2010) Expression of the T helper 17-associated cytokines IL17A and IL17F in asthma and COPD. Chest 138(5):1140–1147

- Al-ramli W, Préfontaine D, Chouiali F, Martin JG, Olivenstein R, Lemière C, Hamid Q (2009) Th17-associated cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in severe asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123 (9):1185–1187
- Glader P, Smith ME, Malmhäll C, Balder B, Sjöstrand M, Qvarfordt I, Lindén A (2010) Interleukin-17-producing T-helper cells and related cytokines inhuman airways exposed to endotoxin. Eur Respir J 36:1155–1164
- 9. Barczyk A, Pierzcha W, Sozanska E (2003) Interleukin-17 in sputum correlates with airway hyperresponsiveness to methacholine. Respir Med 97:726–733
- 10. Sun YC, Zhou QT, Yao WZ (2000) Sputum interleikin-17 is increased and associated with airway neutrophilia in patients with severe asthma. Chin Med J 118:953–956
- Bullens MAD, Truyen E, Coteur L, Dilissen E, Hellings PW, Dupont LJ, Ceuppens JL (2006) IL-17 mRNA in sputum of asthmatic patients: linking T cell driven inflammation and granulocytic influx? Respir Res 7:135
- 12. Kaminska M, Foley S, Maghni K, Storness-Bliss C, Coxson H, Ghezzo H, Lemière C, Olivenstein R, Ernst P, Hamid Q, Martin J (2009) Airway remodeling in subjects with severe asthma with or without chronic persistent airflow obstruction. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124 (1):45–51
- 13. Matsunaga K, Yanagisawa S, Ichikawa T, Ueshima K, Akamatsu K, Hirano T, Nakanishi M, Yamagata T, Minaikata Y, Ichinose M (2006) Airway cytokine expression measured by means of protein array in exhaled breath condensate: correlation with physiologic properties in asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 118:84–90
- Lindén A, Laan M, Anderson GP (2005) Neutrophils, interleukin-17A and lung disease. Eur Respir J 25(1):159–172
- 15. Ivanov S, Lindén A (2007) Th-17 cells in the lungs? Expert Rev Respir Med 1(2):279-293
- Ivanov S, Lindén A (2009) Interleukin-17 as a drug target in human disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30(2):95–103
- 17. Chakir J, Shannon J, Molet S, Fukakusa M, Elias J, Laviolette M, Boulet LP, Hamid Q (2003) Airway remodeling-associated mediators in moderate to severe asthma: effect of steroids on TGF-beta, IL-11, IL-17, and type I and type III collagen expression. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:1293–1298
- 18. Wong CK, Ho CY, Ko FWS, Chan HS, Ho ASS, Hui DSC, Lam CWK (2001) Proinflammatory cytokines (IL-17, IL-18 and IL-12) and Th cytokines (IFN-γ, IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13) in patients with allergic asthma. Clin Exp Immunol 125:177–183
- 19. Agache I, Ciobanu C, Agache C, Anghel M (2010) Increased serum IL-17 is an independent risk factor for severe asthma. Respir Med 104:1131–1137
- Zhao Y, Yang J, Gao Y, Guo W (2010) Th17 immunity in patients with allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 151:297–307
- 21. Moffat MF, Kabesch M, Liang L, Dixon AL, Strachan D, Heath S (2007) Genetic variants regulating ORMDL3 expression contribute to the risk of childhood asthma. Nature 448:470–473
- 22. Lluis A, Schedel M, Liu J, Illi S, Depner M, von Mutius E, Kabesch M, Schaub B (2011) Asthma-associated polymorphisms in 17q21 influence cord blood ORMDL3 and GSDMA gene expression and IL-17 secretion. J Allergy Clin Immunol 127:1587–1594
- Lindén A (2001) Role of interleukin-17 and the neutrophil in asthma. Int Arch Allergy Clin Immunol 126:179–184
- 24. Lindén A, Adachi M (2002) Neutrophilic airway inflammation and IL-17. Allergy 57:769-775
- 25. Kolls J, Lindén A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21:467–476
- 26. Ivanov S, Palmberg L, Venge P, Larsson K, Lindén A (2005) Interleukin-17A mRNA and protein expression within cells from the human bronchoalveolar space after exposure to organic dust. Respir Res 6:44

- 27. Puwar R, Campbell J, Murphy G, Richards WG, Clark RA, Kupper TS (2011) Resident memory T cells (TRM) are abundant in human lung: diversity, function and antigen specificity. PLOS 6(1):e16245
- 28. Yao Z, Painter SL, Fanslow WC, Ulrich D, Macduff BM, Spriggs MK, Armitage RJ (1995) Human IL-17: a novel cytokine derived from T cells. J Immunol 155:5483–5486
- 29. Aarvak T, Chabaud M, Miossec P, Natvig JB (1999) IL-17 is produced by some proinflammatory Th1/Th0 cells but not by TH2 cells. J Immunol 162:1246–1251
- 30. Hoeve MA, Savage NDL, de Boer T, Langenberg DML, de Waal MR, Ottenhoff THM, Verreck FAW (2006) Divergent effects of IL-12 and IL-23 on the production of IL-17 by human T cells. Eur J Immunol 36:661–670
- Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Napolitani G (2007) Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin-17-producing T helper memory cells. Nat Immunol 8(6):639–646
- 32. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2007) Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. Nat Immunol 8(9):942–949
- 33. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Mlumenschein WM, Matsson JD, Basham B, Smith K, Chen T, Morel F, Lecron J-C, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, Mcclanahan TK, Bowman EP, de Waal MR (2007) Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 8(9):950–957
- 34. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, Parente E, Fili L, Ferri S, Frosali F, Guidici F, Romagnani P, Parronchi P, Tonelli F, Maggi E, Romagnanin S (2007) Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 204(8):1849–1861
- 35. Hashimoto T, Akiyama K, Kobyashi N, Mori A (2005) Comparison of IL-17 production by helper T cells among atopic and nonatopic asthmatics and control subjects. Int Arch Allergy Clin Immunol 137(suppl 1):51–54
- 36. Cosmi L, Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Cardilicchia E, Frosali F, Querci V, Angeli R, Matucci A, Fambrini M, Liotta F, Parronchi P, Maggi E, Romagnani S, Annunziato F (2010) Identification of a novel subset of human circulating memory CD4+ T cells that produce both IL-17A and IL-4. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125(1):222–230
- 37. Wang YH, Voo KS, Liu B, Chen C-Y, Uygungil B, Spoede W, Bernstein JA, Huston DP, Liu Y-J (2010) A novel subset of CD4+ Th2 memory/effector cells that produce inflammatory IL-17 cytokine and promote the exacerbations of chronic allergic asthma. J Exp Med 207 (11):2479–2491
- Zhao Y, Yang J, Gao YD (2011) Altered expressions of helper T cell (Th1), Th2, and Th17 cytokines in patients with allergic asthma. J Asthma 48(5):429–436
- 39. Kawaguchi M, Onuchic LF, Li XD, Essayan DM, Schroeder J, Xiao HQ, Liu MC, Krishnaswamy G, Germino G, Huang SK (2001) Identification of a novel cytokine, ML-1, and its expression in subjects with asthma. J Immunol 167(8):4430–4435
- 40. Ramsay CD, Lazarus R, Camargo CA, Weiss ST, Celedon JC (2005) Polymorphisms in the interleukin 17 F gene (IL17F) and asthma. Genes Immun 6:236–241
- 41. Fort MM, Cheung J, Yen D, Li J, Zurawski SM, Lo S, Menon S, Clifford T, Hunte B, Lesley R, Muchamel T, Hurst SD, Zurawski G, Leach MW, Gorman D, Rennick DM (2001) IL-25 induces IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 and Th2-associated pathologies in vivo. Immunity 15:985–995
- 42. Corrigan CJ, Wang W, Meng Q, Fang C, Eid G, Caballero MR, Lv Z, An Y, Wang Y-H, Liu Y-J, Kay AB, Lee TH, Ying S (2011) Allergen-induced expression of IL-25 and IL-25 receptor in atopic asthmatic airways and late phase cutaneous response. J Allergy Clin Immunol 128:116–124
- 43. Corrigan CJ, Wang W, Meng Q, Fang C, Wu H, Reay V, Lv Z, Fan Y, An Y, Wang Y-H, Liu Y-J, Lee TH, Ying S (2011) T-helper cell type 2 (Th2) memory T cell-potentiating cytokine 25 has the potential to promote angiogenesis in asthma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108 (4):1579–1584

- 44. Hellings PW, Kasran A, Liu Z et al (2003) Interleukin-17 orchestrates the granulocyte influx into airways after allergen inhalation in a mouse model of allergic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28(1):42–50
- 45. Sergejeva S, Ivanov S, Lötvall J, Lindén A (2005) IL-17 as a recruitment and survival factor for airway macrophages in allergic airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 33:248–253
- 46. Nakae S, Komiyama Y, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwase M, Homma I, Sekikawa K, Asano M, Iwakura Y (2002) Antigen-specific T cell sensitization is impaired in IL-17-deficient mice, causing suppression of allergic cellular and humoral responses. Immunity 17:375–387
- 47. Oda N, Canelos PB, Essyan DM, Plunkett BA, Myers AC, Huang SK (2005) Interleukin-17 F induces pulmonary neutrophilia and amplifies antigen induced allergic response. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:12–18
- Lindén A (2007) A role for the cytoplasmic adaptor protein Act1 in mediating IL-17 signaling. Sci Signal Transduct Knowl Environ 398:re4
- 49. Shen F, Gaffen SL (2008) Structure-function relationships in the IL-17 receptor: implications for signal transduction and therapy. Cytokine 41(2):92–104

IL17 and/or IL22 as Potential Target(s) for Crohn's Disease

Isabelle Wolowczuk, Benjamin Pariente, Matthieu Allez, and Mathias Chamaillard

Abstract The interleukin (IL)17A-producing T cells (Th17) play an essential role in maintaining tissue homeostasis and in repelling enteropathogenic infections. Aberrant IL17A-dependent signalling has been linked to the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease (CD), thereby prioritising IL17A as a potential therapeutical target in such common and incurable inflammatory bowel disease. Despite preliminary encouraging results in mice, blocking of either IL17A or IL17 receptor (IL17R) was inefficient in induction and maintenance of response or remission in CD patients. Herein, we shall review current paradigms on the regulation of pathogenic and protective Th17 functions, through the innate lymphoid cell (ILC)-derived IL22 and/or the NKG2D regulatory pathway.

Keywords Innate lymphoid cells • Crohn's disease • IL17 • IL22 • IL23

B. Pariente • M. Allez Inserm, U940, Avenir, Paris F-75010, France

Service de Gastroentérologie, Hôpital Saint-Louis, Paris F-75010, France

M. Chamaillard (🖂) University Lille Nord de France, Lille F-59000, France

Institut Pasteur de Lille, Center for Infection and Immunity of Lille, Lille F-59019, France

I. Wolowczuk CNRS UMR8199, BP245, Lille F-59019, France

Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche 8204, Lille F-59021, France

Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, U1019, Lille F-59019, France e-mail: mathias.chamaillard@inserm.fr

Abbreviations

- CD Crohn's disease
- IBD Inflammatory bowel disease
- IFN Interferon
- IL Interleukin
- TCR T cell receptor
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- UC Ulcerative colitis

1 Introduction

Crohn's disease (CD) is a common relapsing-remitting intestinal illness, defined as the major clinical form of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). CD mostly affects young adults with a combined prevalence of about 250–300 cases per 100,000 individuals in Western European and North American countries. The natural history of CD is unpredictable through the influence of multiple genetic and environmental factors. The CD patient's quality of life is profoundly affected by severe diarrhoea, abdominal pain, fever, weight loss, malnutrition and bleeding. CD is associated with transmural inflammatory lesions which can potentially concern any part of the gastrointestinal tract. Some CD patients can also experience additional complications, such as fistulae, abscesses, bowel strictures and/or extra-intestinal manifestations (mostly involving eyes, skin, joints and liver) [1]. However, an overall 25–30 % therapy refractoriness is seen, regardless of the drug, resulting in accumulation of adverse events and indicating that the treatment of CD is, at present, far from optimal [2].

Although the aetiology of CD remains unclear, clinical and experimental evidences suggested that CD might result from defective innate and adaptive immune responses within the gut mucosa of genetically predisposed individuals, leading to an overly aggressive inflammatory and stress response to microbial antigens [2]. Notably, mutations in the IL23 receptor (IL23R) have been recently linked to the predisposition to CD [3]. In addition, IL23 is over-expressed in the mucosa of CD patients which is also characterised by enhanced responsiveness to IL23 [4]. IL23 is a heterodimeric cytokine composed of the p40 subunit of IL12 paired with a specific p19 subunit. IL23 plays an essential role in the development of the Th17 cell lineage and in the production of the lineage-defining cytokines IL17 and IL22 [5, 6]. Both IL17 and IL22 are over-expressed in inflamed intestinal mucosa of CD patients [7]. Consistently, genome-wide association studies revealed additional inborn errors in several regulatory factors involved in the innate and adaptive maintenance of cells that secrete IL17 and/or IL22, prioritising human IL17/22-based therapy in CD [8]. Herein, we shall review both the concept and the applications of cytokine-based therapy in CD before discussing the most recent clinical advances using IL17/22-targeting molecules.

1.1 What Have We Learned from $TNF\alpha$ -Neutralising Therapy in CD?

To correct the vulnerability of CD patient's mucosa to persistent inflammatory responses, pharmacological blockade of cytokines and/or of their receptors might be achieved by the use of monoclonal neutralising antibodies. The pathophysiological role of a large set of inflammatory cytokines has been thereby evaluated in clinical trials (Table 1). Until now, tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) is the only cytokine used to treat IBD, reinforcing its pathophysiological role in such chronic inflammatory disorders (Fig. 1). TNFa is a 17-kDa pleiotropic cytokine produced by macrophages, monocytes and T lymphocytes. TNFα signalling influences multiple cellular processes, such as the expression of inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules and the activation of neutrophils and lymphocytes [2]. Approved in 1998, infliximab is a chimeric monoclonal IgG1 with a high affinity for TNFa. The half-life of infliximab after intravenous infusion of 5 or 10 mg/kg is 8–9.5 days. It proved to be efficient in inducing both biological and clinical responses [9] and in maintaining clinical remission [10] in CD and in ulcerative colitis (UC) [11]. Scheduled maintenance of infliximab infusions (at a dose of 5 mg/kg every 8 weeks) is now preferred to episodic treatments, in regard to both efficacy and immunogenicity. More recently, another anti-TNF α antibody has been approved for the treatment of CD (referred to as adalimumab). Adalimumab is a fully human recombinant IgG1 with an increased half-life than infliximab (10-20 days), which binds with high affinity to both soluble and membrane-bound $TNF\alpha$. Subcutaneous administration of adalimumab was efficient in increasing the clinical response rate and in maintaining clinical remission in CD and is currently assessed in UC [12-14]. Besides infliximab and adalimumab, certolizumab was efficacious in inducing a clinical response and in maintaining remission in CD [15, 16]. Certolizumab (also referred to as CDP-870) is a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)ylated humanised Fab fragment, which does not induce apoptosis of T cells or monocytes. In addition, certolizumab shows a higher affinity and increased half-life when compared to infliximab (14 days). Additional molecules targeting soluble, but not membrane-bound, $TNF\alpha$ were also tested, but showed no efficacy for induction and maintenance of response or remission in CD (CDP-571, etanercept and onercept). Together, the use of certain anti-TNF α in the management of CD is effective for maintenance of remission, steroid sparing and mucosal healing. However, important concerns still remain. Notably, serious therapeutic complications have been reported, such as increased risk of developing neurological disorders, neoplasia (such as hepatosplenic T cell and plasmablastic lymphomas), sepsis and/or opportunistic infections (e.g. tuberculosis, listeriosis and endemic fungal infections) [17, 18]. Furthermore, among patients who initially respond to the induction regimen of infliximab, up to 40 % will subsequently lose responsiveness over time [19]. Additional development of biotherapies is thereby of great priority in CD patients that fail to respond to $TNF\alpha$ -neutralising therapy.

Table 1 Cytol	kine-based theraper	atics evaluated in II	BD					
Targeted	Generic/brand			Compound	Mode of	f Half-life	Phase study (Clinical	(Trials.govIdentifier)
cytokine	name	Alias	Manufacturer	class	injection	n (days)	CD	UC
G-CSF	Filgrastim	Neupogen [®]	NIAID	Recombinant	sc	0.1	I (NCT00025805)	N/A
GM-CSF	Sargramostim	Leukine®	Bayer HealthCare	Recombinant	sc	0.1	Ш	N/A
			Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	cytokine				
IL2	Daclizumab	Zenapax®	PDL BioPharma,	Humanised	iv	20	N/A	II (NCT00073047)
			Inc.	mAb				
П.2	Basiliximab	Simulect [®]	Cerimon	Chimeric	iv	7	N/A	II (NCT00430898)
			Pharmaceuticals	mAb				
IL6	C326	I	Avidia	Avimer	iv	7	I (NCT00353756)	N/A
IL6	Tocilizumab	MRA, R-1569,	Chugai	Humanised	iv	4	Π	N/A
		atlizumab, Actemra [®]	Pharmaceuticals	mAb				
IL10	Tenovil®	Ι	Schering-Plough	Recombinant	sc	0.1	Ш	N/A
				cytokine				
IL11	Oprelvekin	Neumega [®] , rhIL-11	Wyeth	Recombinant cytokine	Oral	0.1	II (NCT00040521)	I (NCT00038922)
IL12/IL23p40	ABT-874	J695,	Abbott	Humanised	iv	6	II (NCT00562887)	N/A
		briakinumab		mAb				
IL12/IL23p40	Ustekinumab	CNT0 1275	Centocor, Inc.	Fully human mAb	iv, sc	20	Ш	N/A
IL12/IL23	Apilimod	STA-5326	Synta	Small	Oral	N/A	II (NCT00234741)	N/A
	mesylate		Pharmaceuticals Corp.	molecule				
IL15	AMG-714	HuMax IL15 TM	Genmab, Amgen, Immunex	Fully human mAb	sc	N/A	N/A	N/A
IL17A	AIN457	Secukinumab	Novartis Pharma GmbH	Fully human mAb	iv	N/A	Π	N/A

276

Interferon-β	r-IFN-beta 1a	Rebif [®]	EMD Serono	Recombinant	sc	3	N/A	II (NCT00303381)
Interferon- β	r-IFN-beta 1b	Betaseron®	Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals,	cytokine Recombinant cytokine	sc	0.1	N/A	II (NCT00303381)
Interferon- γ	Fontolizumab	$\mathrm{HuZAF}^{\mathrm{TM}}$	Inc. PDL BioPharma, Inc.	Humanised mAb	sc	80	Π	N/A
TNFα	Etanercept	Enbrel [®]	Wyeth	Recombinant cytokine recentor	sc	0.6	Π	N/A
TNFa	Onercept	r-TBP-1	EMD Serono	Recombinant cytokine- binding molecule	iv	14	N/A	N/A
$TNF\alpha$	CDP-571	Humicade [®]	UCB Pharma	Chimeric mAb	iv	18	II (NCT00072943)	N/A
TNFa	Infliximab	Remicade®	Schering-Plough	Chimeric mAb	iv	7	Approved	Approved
TNFα	Adalimumab	D2E7, Humira [®]	Abbott	Fully human mAb	sc	15	Approved	III (NCT00573794, NCT00385736, NCT00408629)
TNFα	Certolizumab pegol	CDP-870	UCB Pharma	Humanised Fab' fragment	sc	14	Ш	N/A
TNFα	Golimumab	CNTO 148	Centocor, Inc.	Fully human mAb	iv, sc	7	N/A	III (NCT00488631, NCT00488774)



Fig. 1 Overview of effective (in *green*) and ineffective (in *red*) biologic agents targeting IL17, IL22, IL23 and TNF α in CD

1.2 How to Treat CD Patients Resistant to $TNF\alpha$ -Neutralising Therapy?

Other molecules are currently evaluated that directly target T-cell-derived factors, such as anti-interferon- γ (IFN γ) (Table 1). Fontolizumab is a humanised monoclonal IgG1 antibody which binds and blocks IFN_γ. IFN_γ plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of IBD. Two European clinical trials evaluated independently the safety and efficacy of fontolizumab in moderate-to-severe adult CD patients [20, 21]. In both studies, treatment was generally well tolerated, and a significant induction of the remission rate was observed in about 60 % of treated patients when compared placebo group. Consistently, subcutaneous administration to of fontolizumab triggered biological response, as shown by the decrease of serum C-reactive protein (CRP) level [20, 21] and/or the median CD endoscopic index of severity [21]. In the most recent study including a total of 201 patients with active CD who were randomised to receive fontolizumab or placebo, clinical response rates were similar in both treatment groups. Nevertheless, fontolizumab was well tolerated, and a significant decrease in CRP levels was also observed in fontolizumab-treated patients when compared to controls, confirming a biological response [22]. Further studies are still warranted to assess its clinical efficacy.

More recently, several small molecules inhibiting IL12-related cytokines have been evaluated, such as apilimod mesylate that is a unique morpholinopyrimidine derivative (Synta Pharmaceuticals Corp.). Following selection from an 80,000compound library and optimisation, this compound, also known as STA-5326, was found efficient in selectively downregulating the IFN γ /*Staphylococcus* *aureus*-induced expression of both IL12 p35 and IL12/IL23 p40 subunits in human peripheral blood monocytes without affecting their viability [23] (Fig. 1). Oral administration of STA-5326 at a dose of 10 mg/kg was also effective in improving the severity of T-cell-mediated colitis by inhibiting the secretion of IFN γ by *lamina propria* mononuclear cells in mice [23]. Despite the observation of dizziness, nausea, headache and fatigue as the most common STA-5326-induced side effects, an open-label trial has reported encouraging preliminary results in regard to the safety and effectiveness of oral daily administration of STA-5326 [24]. However, a randomised, double-blinded and placebo-controlled phase IIb clinical trial failed to demonstrate efficacy of a 4-week oral daily administration of 50–100 mg of STA-5326 to adult patients with moderate-to-severe, active CD (CDAI score 220–450) [25].

A human recombinant full-length IgG1 λ genetically modified to recognise IL12 p40 subunit (ABT-874 or also referred as J695 or briakinumab; Wyeth Research and Abbott Laboratories in collaboration with Cambridge Antibody Technology) has been evaluated in a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase II clinical trial [26] (Fig. 1). Despite decreased expression of IL12, IFN γ , TNF α and IL17 in colonic *lamina propria* mononuclear cells [26, 27], subcutaneous administration of ABT-874 at 3 mg/kg was safe, and 75 % of ABT-874-treated patients experienced clinical response at the end of the 7-week treatment. However at 18 weeks of follow-up, it failed to be effective in inducing clinical response and remission [26], suggesting a pharmacodynamic effect. The efficacy (defined as a CDAI score <150 points after 6 weeks), safety (at 12- and 24-week post-administration of placebo or ABT-874) and pharmacokinetics of intravenous infusions of 400 and 700 mg every 4 weeks have been evaluated by a phase II clinical trial for the treatment of moderate-to-severe CD in adults, but the conclusions have not yet been released (NCT00562887).

Additional biologics remain in the pipeline and might appear promising. Notably, a multisite, randomised, placebo-controlled phase II/III clinical study evaluated the safety and efficacy of intravenous and subcutaneous infusion of CNTO 1275 in patients with moderate-to-severe CD, over a 54-week period (Centocor Inc. in collaboration with Medarex). CNTO 1275, also referred as ustekinumab, is a fully human IgG1 κ monoclonal antibody, which binds to the IL12/23 p40 subunit with high affinity, thereby neutralising subsequent activation of the IL12/23-dependent signalling by blocking its binding to the IL12RB1 in activated human peripheral blood mononuclear cells [28] (Fig. 1). At 8-week follow-up, CNTO 1275 induced clinical response, as defined by a reduction from baseline in the CDAI of \geq 100 points (49.0 % of CNTO 1275-treated patients vs. 30.2 % of placebo-receiving patients, p = 0.05). In patients previously treated with infliximab, CNTO 1275 showed greater efficiency (p = 0.02) [29]. Consistently, short-term intravenous treatment with CNTO 1275 was sufficient to trigger biological response in moderate-to-severe CD patients despite conventional therapy, as shown by reduced serological expression of inflammatory mediators [30]. Nevertheless, long-term follow-up of the safety and efficacy of CNTO 1275 maintenance therapy is now eagerly awaited. On the basis of what we have learned from the above-mentioned clinical trials using pharmacological compounds targeting IFN γ or IL12, novel biologic therapy targeting either IL17 or 22 shall be a more efficacious cytokine-based therapeutic strategy.

1.3 IL17A: A Potential Magic Bullet in CD?

Besides Th1 cells and their related cytokines (e.g. TNF α , IFN γ or IL12), several lines of evidences suggest that IL17A plays a predominant role in the pathogenesis of CD. Primarily secreted by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes, the isoform IL17A is a homodimeric glycoprotein involved in several immunological processes by triggering the maturation of hematopoietic progenitor cells and the synthesis of cytokines, chemokines, prostaglandins and metalloproteinases. Upon recognition by a type I transmembrane receptor termed IL17R, IL17A exerts a synergistic effect on the cellular response to additional cytokines [31]. In CD, IL17A-secreting cells are more abundant within the inflamed mucosa of patients [7]. Interestingly, commitment to Th17 development is potentiated by the bacterial muramyl dipeptide, which is a cognate agonist of the CD-associated molecule NOD2 [32]. Similarly, Th17 differentiation and IL17A secretion are dampened in germ-free mice [33], as well as in animals deficient for MyD88—an essential adaptor of Toll-like receptor signalling [34]. In mice, IL17A is also found to be elevated in spontaneous models of IBD [35]. This pro-inflammatory role of Th17 cells has been confirmed in several mice models of colitis including the SCID transfer model. Notably, infusion of Th17 cells to SCID mice induced a more severe disease than did Th1 cells, further suggesting the predominant role of Th17 over Th1 response in CD [36]. Conversely, resistance to colitis in IL23 knockout mice correlated well with the absence of IL17A-producing CD4⁺ T lymphocytes despite normal presence of antigen-specific IFN γ -producing Th1 cells [6]. Importantly, a recent report showed an enhanced accumulation of IL23-responsive innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) producing IL17A in the intestine of CD patients [4]. Consistently, responsiveness to IL23 is promoted by the transforming growth factor- β that is found to be over-expressed in CD [37]. Expressing IL23R, Th17 cells exhibit certain functional features of Th1 cells, such as their low cytotoxicity, ability to help B cells and poor potential to control regulatory T cells [38]. Besides its pro-inflammatory role, IL23dependent signalling events have been shown to protect against enteropathogens, such as Citrobacter rodentium [37] and Helicobacter hepaticus [39]. In addition, mice lacking IL23p19^{-/-} failed to develop colitis in the absence of IL-10 while knockout mice for the Th1 cytokine $IL12p35^{-/-}$ develop a strong IL10-dependent [6], alpha TCR-dependent colitis in mice [40]. Furthermore, inhibition of IL23p19 by a neutralising monoclonal antibody was effective in both prevention and treatment of active colitis in mice [36], but induction of colitis by TNBS in IL23p19deficient mice led to more severe inflammation than in wild-type controls [41]. The above-mentioned data collectively showed that IL23 plays a major role in CD that is consistent with previous genome-wide association studies. Noteworthy, a rare coding variant of IL23R has been reported to confer disease protection by impairing IL23-induced Th17 function, but not differentiation *per se* [42]. Taken together, IL17 represents a relevant therapeutical target in IBD.

Similarly to monoclonal antibodies targeting the p40 subunit of IL12/IL23, pharmacological blocking using an IL17R IgG fusion protein as well as genetic inactivation of IL17R improved hapten-induced colitis in mice [43]. Recent clinical trials in asthma and autoimmune diseases prompted a clinical evaluation in IBD. A multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study (NCT00584740) evaluated the efficacy, safety and tolerability of two intravenous infusions of a fully human anti-IL17A monoclonal IgG1k (referred as AIN457 or secukinumab; 10 mg/kg; Novartis Pharma GmbH) in patients with moderate-tosevere active CD from North America (Fig. 1). Isolated from a hybridoma, the recombinant AIN457 presents an affinity of 0.227 nM for human IL17 and a dissociation equilibrium constant K_D for binding to IL17 of about 0.188 \pm 0.036 nM, as defined by BIAcore measurements (WO/2007/117749). Surprisingly, a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial on a cohort of 59 CD patients revealed that blockade of IL17A was ineffective in CD. Moreover, a post hoc analysis showed response rates in favour of placebo, suggesting that inhibition of IL17A would rather exacerbate CD [44]. Consistently, transfer of T cell populations from IL17A-deficient mice to $Rag I^{-/-}$ mice accelerated the onset of disease coincident with higher IFN γ levels [45]. Finally, a fully human anti-IL17RA IgG2 antibody (AMG827; Amgen) that blocks signalling of IL17A, IL17F and IL25 was also inefficient in phase II for the treatment of moderate-to-severe CD patients (NCT01150890). Taken as a whole, the use of IL17A/IL17RA blocking antibodies was disappointing in the treatment of human CD but challenged our understanding of the regulatory factors of pathogenic Th17 cells during the course of the disease.

1.4 What Is Beyond IL17: Targeting Innate Lymphoid Cells?

Why anti-IL17A monoclonal antibody failed to be effective in CD but not in other autoimmune disorders? Recent findings may give preliminary answers. Over-expressed in CD [46], IL22 is thought to be involved in wound healing and in host defence [47]. IL22 is primarily produced by certain subsets of Th17 cells but also by ILCs, referred as ILC22 [48]. Interestingly, IL17A antibody neutralisation decreased airway inflammation in mice deficient for IL22, whereas IL17A antibody blockade during the antigen challenges partially restored inflammation in immuno-competent host [49]. In the colon, we thereby suspect that IL17A functions more likely as a negative regulator of inflammation when innate sources of IL22 are limited upon injury. Further investigations are now warranted to determine whether a defective secretion of innate cell-derived IL22 is found in CD.

Another therapeutic perspective would be to act on additional pathways involved in the secretion of pro-inflammatory Th17 cytokines. A striking characteristic of effector T lymphocytes in CD is the presence of NK receptors on their surface [50, 51]. We have identified a subset of effector CD4⁺ T cells mediating inflammatory response in CD and expressing the NK-activating receptor NKG2D [50]. CD4⁺NKG2D⁺ T cells produced high levels of IL17 and IL22 and expressed the surface markers CCR6, IL23R, CD161 and the master Th17 transcription factor RORC in CD [52]. These results suggest that the NKG2D pathway could represent a specific therapeutic target to correct Th17 function in CD. Consistently, a neutralising anti-NKG2D antibody has already shown its efficacy to reduce the severity of colitis in mice [53].

2 Concluding Remarks

Cytokines play a key role in orchestrating gut mucosal immune dysfunction in CD and thus become an important target for the development of therapeutic modalities for the disease. Both experimental and clinical evidences showed that IL17A, IL22 and IL23 are involved in CD pathogenesis. Nevertheless, targeting the IL17A/IL17RA axis is still challenging in humans, in that CD patient may be characterised by impaired innate and/or adaptive secretion of IL22 [49]. Advances in our understanding of the regulation of IL17 and IL22 function might provide crucial clues to the development of more rational therapeutic ways directed towards the restoration of the integrity of the mucosal immune system in CD [7]. In the near future, the question on whether IL22 is a reliable therapeutic target for IBD patients will be answered, hopefully.

References

- Fiocchi C (1998) Inflammatory bowel disease: etiology and pathogenesis. Gastroenterology 115:182–205
- Korzenik JR, Podolsky DK (2006) Evolving knowledge and therapy of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:197–209
- 3. Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR et al (2006) A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. Science 314:1461–1463
- 4. Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Fleming MP et al (2011) IL-23-responsive innate lymphoid cells are increased in inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med 208:1127–1133
- 5. Neurath MF (2007) IL-23: a master regulator in Crohn disease. Nat Med 13:26-28
- 6. Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H et al (2006) IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest 116:1310–1316
- Strober W, Fuss IJ (2011) Proinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 140:1756–1767
- Pizarro TT, Cominelli F (2007) Cytokine therapy for Crohn's disease: advances in translational research. Annu Rev Med 58:433–444
- 9. Present DH, Rutgeerts P, Targan S et al (1999) Infliximab for the treatment of fistulas in patients with Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 340:1398–1405

- Sands BE, Anderson FH, Bernstein CN et al (2004) Infliximab maintenance therapy for fistulizing Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 350:876–885
- 11. Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG et al (2005) Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 353:2462–2476
- 12. Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P et al (2007) Adalimumab for maintenance of clinical response and remission in patients with Crohn's disease: the CHARM trial. Gastroenterology 132:52–65
- Hanauer SB, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P et al (2006) Human anti-tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody (adalimumab) in Crohn's disease: the CLASSIC-I trial. Gastroenterology 130:323–333, quiz 591
- Schreiber S, Sandborn WJ (2006) CLASSIC-I study the efficacy of adalimumab. Gastroenterology 130:1929–1930
- 15. Schreiber S, Khaliq-Kareemi M, Lawrance IC et al (2007) Maintenance therapy with certolizumab pegol for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 357:239–250
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Stoinov S et al (2007) Certolizumab pegol for the treatment of Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 357:228–238
- 17. Cominelli F (2004) Cytokine-based therapies for Crohn's disease-new paradigms. N Engl J Med 351:2045–2048
- Rutgeerts P, Van Assche G, Vermeire S (2004) Optimizing anti-TNF treatment in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 126:1593–1610
- Gisbert JP, Panes J (2009) Loss of response and requirement of infliximab dose intensification in Crohn's disease: a review. Am J Gastroenterol 104:760–767
- 20. Hommes DW, Mikhajlova TL, Stoinov S et al (2006) Fontolizumab, a humanised anti-interferon gamma antibody, demonstrates safety and clinical activity in patients with moderate to severe Crohn's disease. Gut 55:1131–1137
- 21. Reinisch W, Hommes DW, Van Assche G et al (2006) A dose escalating, placebo controlled, double blind, single dose and multidose, safety and tolerability study of fontolizumab, a humanised anti-interferon gamma antibody, in patients with moderate to severe Crohn's disease. Gut 55:1138–1144
- 22. Reinisch W, de Villiers W, Bene L et al (2010) Fontolizumab in moderate to severe Crohn's disease: a phase 2, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multiple-dose study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 16:233–242
- Wada Y, Lu R, Zhou D et al (2007) Selective abrogation of Th1 response by STA-5326, a potent IL-12/IL-23 inhibitor. Blood 109:1156–1164
- 24. Burakoff R, Barish CF, Riff D et al (2006) A phase 1/2A trial of STA 5326, an oral interleukin-12/23 inhibitor, in patients with active moderate to severe Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:558–565
- 25. Sands BE, Jacobson EW, Sylwestrowicz T et al (2010) Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of the oral interleukin-12/23 inhibitor apilimod mesylate for treatment of active Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 16:1209–1218
- Mannon PJ, Fuss IJ, Mayer L et al (2004) Anti-interleukin-12 antibody for active Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 351:2069–2079
- Fuss IJ, Becker C, Yang Z et al (2006) Both IL-12p70 and IL-23 are synthesized during active Crohn's disease and are down-regulated by treatment with anti-IL-12 p40 monoclonal antibody. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:9–15
- 28. Benson JM, Sachs CW, Treacy G et al (2011) Therapeutic targeting of the IL-12/23 pathways: generation and characterization of ustekinumab. Nat Biotechnol 29:615–624
- 29. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Fedorak R et al (2007) A multicenter, randomized, phase 2a study of human monoclonal antibody to IL-12/23p40 (CNTO 1275) in patients with moderately to severely active Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 132:A51
- 30. De villiers W, Toedter G, Liu G, Blank M, Plevy S (2007) The effect of human monoclonal antibody to IL-12/23p40 (Cnto 1275) on serum levels of inflammation-related proteins in patients with moderately to severely active Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 132:A698

- Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S (2011) Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 34:149–162
- 32. van Beelen AJ, Zelinkova Z, Taanman-Kueter EW et al (2007) Stimulation of the intracellular bacterial sensor NOD2 programs dendritic cells to promote interleukin-17 production in human memory T cells. Immunity 27:660–669
- 33. Niess JH, Leithauser F, Adler G, Reimann J (2008) Commensal gut flora drives the expansion of proinflammatory CD4 T cells in the colonic lamina propria under normal and inflammatory conditions. J Immunol 180:559–568
- 34. Fukata M, Breglio K, Chen A et al (2008) The myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88) is required for CD4+ T cell effector function in a murine model of inflammatory bowel disease. J Immunol 180:1886–1894
- 35. Lytle C, Tod TJ, Vo KT, Lee JW, Atkinson RD, Straus DS (2005) The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand rosiglitazone delays the onset of inflammatory bowel disease in mice with interleukin 10 deficiency. Inflamm Bowel Dis 11:231–243
- 36. Elson CO, Cong Y, Weaver CT et al (2007) Monoclonal anti-interleukin 23 reverses active colitis in a T cell-mediated model in mice. Gastroenterology 132:2359–2370
- 37. Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB et al (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 441:231–234
- Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V et al (2007) Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 204:1849–1861
- 39. Kullberg MC, Jankovic D, Feng CG et al (2006) IL-23 plays a key role in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced T cell-dependent colitis. J Exp Med 203:2485–2494
- 40. Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Shimomura Y, Nagahama K, Mizoguchi A, Bhan AK (2007) Inducible IL-12-producing B cells regulate Th2-mediated intestinal inflammation. Gastroenterology 133:124–136
- 41. Becker C, Dornhoff H, Neufert C et al (2006) Cutting edge: IL-23 cross-regulates IL-12 production in T cell-dependent experimental colitis. J Immunol 177:2760–2764
- 42. Di Meglio P, Di Cesare A, Laggner U et al (2011) The IL23R R381Q gene variant protects against immune-mediated diseases by impairing IL-23-induced Th17 effector response in humans. PLoS One 6:e17160
- 43. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK (2006) Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 12:382–388
- 44. Symons A, Budelsky AL, Towne JE (2012) Are Th17 cells in the gut pathogenic or protective? Mucosal Immunol 5:4–6
- 45. O'Connor W Jr, Kamanaka M, Booth CJ et al (2009) A protective function for interleukin 17A in T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. Nat Immunol 10:603–609
- 46. Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O et al (2005) Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology 129:969–984
- 47. Sonnenberg GF, Fouser LA, Artis D (2011) Border patrol: regulation of immunity, inflammation and tissue homeostasis at barrier surfaces by IL-22. Nat Immunol 12:383–390
- 48. Spits H, Di Santo JP (2011) The expanding family of innate lymphoid cells: regulators and effectors of immunity and tissue remodeling. Nat Immunol 12:21–27
- 49. Besnard AG, Sabat R, Dumoutier L et al (2011) Dual role of IL-22 in allergic airway inflammation and its cross-talk with IL-17A. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1153–1163
- Allez M, Tieng V, Nakazawa A et al (2007) CD4 + NKG2D + T cells in Crohn's disease mediate inflammatory and cytotoxic responses through MICA interactions. Gastroenterology 132:2346–2358
- 51. Iiai T, Watanabe H, Suda T, Okamoto H, Abo T, Hatakeyama K (2002) CD161+ T (NT) cells exist predominantly in human intestinal epithelium as well as in liver. Clin Exp Immunol 129:92–98

- 52. Pariente B, Mocan I, Camus M et al (2011) Activation of the receptor NKG2D leads to production of Th17 cytokines in CD4+ T cells of patients with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 141:217–226, 26 e1-2
- 53. Kjellev S, Haase C, Lundsgaard D, Urso B, Tornehave D, Markholst H (2007) Inhibition of NKG2D receptor function by antibody therapy attenuates transfer-induced colitis in SCID mice. Eur J Immunol 37:1397–1406

Role of IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 in Psoriasis

Robert Sabat and Kerstin Wolk

Abstract Psoriasis is a chronic, relapsing skin disease that affects at least 2 % of the Caucasian population. The characteristic skin alterations usually appear in early adulthood and markedly stress the patients for the rest of their life. Additionally, psoriasis is often associated with arthritis and metabolic alterations leading to shortened life expectancy. The results from numerous in vitro tests, mice experiments, and clinical sample investigations strongly suggest that IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 play important roles in psoriasis pathogenesis. This chapter provides an overview about the significance of these mediators in this process and the benefit of targeting their action.

1 Psoriasis: A Common Chronic Disease with Characteristic Skin Alterations

Psoriasis is a chronic, relapsing skin disorder [1, 2]. With a prevalence of about 2 % in the Caucasian population, it is a very common disease in Europe and North America. In other ethnic groups, the prevalence of psoriasis is much lower. Men and women are affected at the same rate. The first manifestation of the disorder frequently occurs around the age of 20 (type I or early onset psoriasis) or between 50 and 60 (type II or late onset psoriasis). Type I psoriasis, which accounts for approximately 75 % of all psoriasis patients, is associated with a more severe course of disease and a limited success of treatment [3].

e-mail: robert.sabat@charite.de

R. Sabat (🖂) • K. Wolk

Interdisciplinary Group of Molecular Immunopathology and Psoriasis Research and Treatment Center, Dermatology/Medical Immunology, University Hospital Charité, Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, D-10117 Berlin, Germany

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3_21, © Springer Basel 2013



Fig. 1 Typical clinical pictures of patients with psoriasis vulgaris

Psoriatic skin lesions are variform, sharply demarcated, red, and slightly raised with silver-whitish scales (Fig. 1). Frequent locations for these lesions include the extensor side of the extremities, the sacral region, and the head [1-3]. The lesions often have a small point form at the onset. During the course of the disease, they grow and can develop a geographic shape or, in very severe cases, cover the whole body. It is also common to observe nail changes in psoriasis. Additionally, more than 10 % of psoriasis patients have arthritis. Importantly, the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome is clearly higher among psoriasis patients than among controls, and patients with severe psoriasis die 3.5–4.4 years younger [4, 5].

The etiology of psoriasis comprises genetic, environmental, and lifestyle factors [1, 2, 6, 7]. Genetic disposition appears to play an important role especially for type I psoriasis. It is long known that type I psoriasis is associated with an increased prevalence of certain HLA types, such as HLA-Cw6, HLA-B13, HLA-B17, HLA-Bw57, and HLA-DR4. People with HLA-Cw6, for example, have a tenfold higher risk of disease. In addition to the HLA alleles (i.e., molecules crucial for antigen presentation to CD8+ T cells), several psoriasis susceptibility loci and gene polymorphisms/deletions/copy number variations have been described to be

associated with the disease risk [8, 9]. They concern genes associated with keratinocyte differentiation [PSORS4 (chr. 1q21, e.g., deletion of LCE3B and LCE3C) and PSORS1 (e.g., CDSN)], innate immunity (SNPs in IL 20, DEFB4, IL 28RA, copy number variation for DEFB genes), and the Th17 pathway (SNPs in, e.g., IL 23R, IL 12B, IL 23A, and TRAP3IP2) [9, 10]. Therefore, psoriasis genetics seems to be complex and concerns numerous genes, whose polymorphisms are relatively common in population and individually confer only limited contribution to disease risk. This means that environmental and lifestyle factors play an important role in the initiation and maintenance of psoriasis. In fact, several observations have been made regarding external trigger factors. An infection with β-hemolytic streptococci often precedes the first manifestation of psoriasis, in particular of psoriasis guttata [11]. Consecutive new exacerbations can be triggered by mechanical irritation (so-called Koebner's reaction; new lesions emerge at locations that are mechanically irritated), medications (e.g., β -receptor blockers, lithium, chloroquine, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents, tetracyclines, and interferons), and infections (viral and bacterial infections) [6].

Already at the onset of a psoriatic lesion, histological alterations can be observed. They include dermal edema, dilatation of vessels of the papilla in the dermis, and perivascular cell infiltration composed of T cells, dendritic cells (DC), and monocytes/macrophages [6, 12]. Later, the density of infiltrates increases, and CD8+ T cells and neutrophilic granulocytes are found particularly in the epidermis. Neutrophilic granulocytes form very characteristic Munro's microabscesses in the epidermis. Other prominent changes are found in the epidermis: acanthosis (raised number of keratinocytes and the thickening of the spinous layer), loss of the granular layer, parakeratosis (dysfunction of the cornification process with nucleus-containing keratinocytes in the chronic stage, the epidermal changes come to the fore (Fig. 2). At the same time, an increasing amount and dilatation of capillaries in the dermal papillae, surface vessels that facilitate a renewed immigration of the immune cells, are observed [1, 6].

In many aspects, the psoriasis pathogenesis resembles an adaptive immune reaction which leads to an overshot regeneration-like reaction of the skin tissue cells [6]. Adaptive immune reactions proceed in two main phases: the sensitization and the effector phase (Fig. 3). During the sensitization phase, professional antigenpresenting cells (APCs) like myeloid DCs (mDCs) capture locally present antigens (Ags) and are activated. Subsequently, they mature and migrate to the local lymph nodes (LN), where they present fragments of this Ag on special proteins at their surface. These mature activated APCs then induce the development of Ag-specific, skin-directed effector and memory Th17, T22, and T1 cells. The sensitization phase can be followed by a silent phase of variable length. The subsequent effector phase is provoked by exogenous triggers that activate skin resident immune cells, such as macrophages or mast cells. As a result of this activation, these cells secrete small proteins like chemokines and other inflammatory cytokines that lead to the infiltration of various immune cells (neutrophilic granulocytes, various subpopulations of



Fig. 2 Microscopic alterations of psoriatic skin



Fig. 3 Phases of the psoriasis pathogenesis

T cells, monocytes/macrophages, and various subpopulations of DCs) into the skin. Immigrated immune cells are enabled to produce further cytokines that activate local cells to strengthen their secretion of chemokines and other inflammatory mediators that, in turn, further support the infiltration process. Over time, the simultaneously happening processes, including immune cell infiltration, immune cell activation, and tissue cell activation, amplify each other, making the effector phase becoming self-employed. Finally, the cocktail of cytokines present in the skin alters the biology of keratinocytes and endothelial cells, resulting in a reaction that reminds an overshot regeneration process (like wound healing). Importantly, only the last part of effector phase creates the visible psoriasis-typical skin alterations. After a successful treatment, the effector phase transposes into the silent phase. However, a weak exogenous trigger can again initiate the effector phase.

The numerous results from in vitro tests, mice experiments, and clinical trials strongly suggest that IL-23, IL-22, and IL-17 play important roles in psoriasis pathogenesis. In the following chapters, we shortly described the biology and significance of these mediators in this situation.

2 Target Cells of IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 in Psoriasis

IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 are small proteins that influence cells by binding to the extracellular part of their specific transmembrane receptors. This interaction changes the conformations of the receptors and leads to phosphorylation of kinases associated with the intracellular receptor part. The activated kinases induce numerous intracellular changes concerning among others protein modifications, gene expression, protein synthesis and secretion, vesicle transport, and cytoskeleton state. In the majority of cases, the most reliable way to identify the target cells for cytokines is the analysis of cellular expression of respective receptor complexes and specific signaling events.

IL-23 is a member of the IL-12 family of cytokines, a part of the IL-6 superfamily. It acts via a receptor complex composed of IL-23 receptor (*IL-23R*) and IL-12R β 1 [13, 14]. IL-23 itself is a disulfide-linked heterodimer consisting of two different subunits: proteins with molecular weights of 19,000 (p19) and 40,000 (p40) Dalton [15]. During the binding of IL-12 to its receptor complex, p40 interacts with IL-12R β 1 and p19 with IL-23R1. IL-23R and IL-12R β 1 are highly expressed on memory T, NKT, and NK cells, and on naïve T cells upon activation by TGF- β and IL-6. Engagement of the IL-23 receptor complex activates Janus kinase 2 (*Jak*2, associated with IL-12R β 1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (*Tyk*2, associated with IL-23R) [13, 14]. These kinases subsequently phosphorylate the intracellular part of the receptor complex and thereby create docking sites for signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (*STAT3*) and STAT4. The STATs are subsequently phosphorylated, and dimerize and translocate into the nucleus to activate target genes.

The receptor complex for both IL-17A and IL-17F is composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC [16–20]. IL-17RC interacts with IL-17A and IL-17F with comparably high affinity (KD ~1 nM). In contrast, IL-17RA binds IL-17A (KD ca. 2 nM) but not IL-17F (~1,000-fold lower affinity) effectively [21]. However, the absence of either chain prevents the cytokine-induced response [22]. Whereas IL-17RA is broadly expressed in hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic cells, IL-17RC is thought to be mainly expressed by nonhematopoietic cells and macrophages [17, 23, 24]. Following interaction with its receptor complex, IL-17A/F preferentially activates the NF- κ B and MAP kinase (p38 kinase, JNK, and ERK1/2) pathways [20, 24, 25].

IL-22 belongs to IL-10 family of cytokines, a part of IL-10-IFN superfamily [26]. The IL-22 receptor complex is composed of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 [27-29]. IL-10R2 is ubiquitously expressed [30], which can be explained by its function as part of several cytokine receptors [26]. Therefore, the expression of the IL-22R1 subunit determines whether a cell is an IL-22 target or not. Interestingly, several studies demonstrated lacking IL-22R1 expression in bone marrow, blood mononuclear cells, thymus, and spleen, as well as in resting and activated primary immune cells including monocytes, B cells, T cells, NK cells, macrophages, and DC populations [30-33]. In contrast to immune cells, a few organs express IL-22R1 and therefore contain putative target cells of IL-22 [30]. These organs include the skin and kidney and those from the digestive (pancreas, small intestine, liver, colon) and the respiratory (lung, trachea) systems, with the highest expression found in skin and pancreas. Interestingly, most IL-22R1-expressing tissues form outer body barriers and contain epithelial cells. Regarding isolated cell populations, IL-22R1 is expressed on keratinocytes, bronchial and intestinal epithelial cells, intestinal subepithelial myofibroblasts, hepatocytes, and pancreas acinar cells [34]. Like IL-23, IL-22 activates a signaling cascade via the Jak/STAT pathway in its target cells. IL-10R2 is associated with Tyk2, and IL-22R1 appears to be associated with Jak1. The main STAT molecule activated by IL-22 is STAT3 [34]. Additionally to STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation, IL-22 sometimes leads to activation of STAT1 and/or STAT5. Furthermore, serine phosphorylation of STAT3 and an activation of the three major MAP kinase pathways (p38 kinase, JNK, and ERK1/2) by IL-22 were reported [35, 36].

3 Effects of IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 with Relevance for Psoriasis

IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 might play important roles in psoriasis pathogenesis. However, it seems that each of these mediators decisively contributes to different steps of pathogenic cascade, namely:

- IL-23 to the generation of effector and memory T cells during the sensitization phase and to the T effector cell activation/survival during the effector phase
- IL-17 to the immune cell infiltration and tissue cell activation during the effector phase
- IL-22 to the immune cell infiltration and tissue cell activation during the effector phase

3.1 Sensitization Phase: Generation of Effector and Memory T cells

In secondary lymphoid organs, incoming matured, Ag fragment-presenting mDCs induce and govern the development of effector and long-living memory T cells

from naïve T cells. This evolution is necessary for the T cells to obtain substantial functions and the ability to immigrate into peripheral tissues.

The naïve [L-selectin (CD62L)- and CCL7-expressing] T cells continuously circulate between blood and secondary lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes, spleen, and tonsils. In T cell areas of these organs, they foregather with mature mDCs. If the TCR of a naïve CD4+ T cell has an adequately high affinity for binding a MHC II molecule-Ag peptide complex, this T cell sticks to the respective mDC. Importantly, this interaction ensures the specificity of the developing effector T cells because (1) the structure of the portion of the MHC II–Ag peptide complex is recognized by only a specific TCR, (2) only one type of TCR is expressed by a naïve T cell, and (3) this TCR type is transmitted to its offspring.

The interaction between TCR and MHC II–Ag peptide complex is stabilized by the T cell transmembrane molecule named CD4 that binds to a nonpolymorphic region of the MHC II molecule.

The specific contact area between a T cell and mDC is named immunological synapsis and represents a unique arrangement of molecules within it [37]. The initial interaction between the T cell and the mDC is stabilized by nonspecific binding through adhesion molecules that actively form a ring around the clustered MHC II molecule–Ag peptide–TCR complexes. Further important components of the immunological synapsis include costimulatory molecules, such as the members of the B7 family: CD86 (B7-2), CD80 (B7-1), B7h, PD-L1, and PD-L2 [38]. For example, CD86 and CD80 interact with the T cell molecules CD28 and CD152 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4, *CTLA-4*). Costimulatory signals are necessary for full activation of T cells, their survival, and development of functioning memory cells [38, 39].

A third signal is essential for the proliferating T cells to obtain their effector function (polarization). According to the current knowledge, naïve CD4+ T cells can be polarized into six different directions: Th1, Th2, Th17, Th22 cells, inducible regulatory T cells (*iTreg*), and type 1 regulatory T cells (Tr1). Th1, Th17, and Th22 cells appear to be mainly important for the psoriasis pathogenesis.

If IL-12 (p35/p40 heterodimer) is present, the T cells are polarized into Th1 cells through activation of the transcription factors STAT4 and T-bet [40–43]. The generation of Th1 cells is further supported by interferon (*IFN*)- γ , which increases the expression of IL-12R β 2. During repeated activation, Th1 cells primarily secrete IFN- γ , IL-22, and TNF- α .

The activation of naïve T cells in the presence of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , IL-6, and IL-1 β induces Th17 cell development and IL-23R expression [41, 44]. IL-23 plays an essential role in the maintenance and survival of these cells. The Th17 development is dependent on endogenous expression of retinoic acid-related orphan receptor (*ROR*) γ t, ROR α , STAT3, and IRF4. Th17 cells primarily produce IL-17, IL-26, and GM-CSF. STAT3 phosphorylation has been shown to be required for IL-17A and IL-17F production.

In the presence of TNF- α , activators of the hydrocarbon receptor (*AHR*), and IL-6 or IL-23 (Sabat unpublished), naïve T cells are polarized toward Th22 cells [45, 46]. These cells primarily secrete IL-22 during repeated activation.
Interestingly, the different Th cell subsets display distinct patterns of chemokine receptors on their surface. CXCR3 and CCR5 expression characterizes Th1 cells. Th17 cells express CCR4 and CCR6 but no CXCR3, and Th22 cells bear CCR4, CCR6, and CCR10 [45–47].

3.2 Effector Phase: Infiltration of Immune Cells into the Skin

The superficial perivascular infiltrates of lymphocytes and monocytic cells and the dilatation of the blood vessels in the dermal papillae appear as the first microscopically visible events during the development of psoriatic plaques. The migration of immune cells out of the blood vessels into the surrounding tissue might be induced by inflammatory cytokines released from activated resident macrophages, mast cells, or DCs. Such cytokine release may occur upon minimal injury due to the entry of small numbers of microbes from the body surface into the skin and/or the destruction of few keratinocytes. In fact, via Toll-like receptors, microbial products activate Langerhans cells, macrophages, and mast cells to secrete TNF- α and IL-1 β . Damaged keratinocytes release self-RNA, which upon association with the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin (*LL37*) is able to induce TNF- α and IL-6 production by mDCs in a Toll-like receptor 8-dependent manner.

The mechanisms by which TNF- α provokes skin infiltration of immune cells include (1) the activation of the endothelia enabling them to interact with blood immune cells and (2) the induction of a broad chemokine production in the skin tissue cells (keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells).

In the endothelial cells, TNF- α causes the transport of so-called Weibel–Palade bodies containing P-selectin to their cell surface and increases the synthesis of P- and E-selectin [6]. As a consequence, P- and E-selectin molecules are highly expressed on the endothelial cell surface and interact with their ligands on immune cells. Additionally, TNF- α induces the production of vasodilator substances (e.g., prostaglandins). These changes enable the rolling of immune along endothelial cells of cutaneous postcapillary venules, representing the initial step in the extravasation process [6].

During the next step, the chemokines via their transmembrane G-proteincoupled receptors activate immune cells and induce a conformational change in the integrin molecules and their consequent increased affinity to their endothelial ligands. The numerous chemokines whose secretion is induced by TNF- α in keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells include CXCL11, CCL20, CCL2, CXCL8, and CCL17 (the latter only in dermal endothelial cells) [48–53]. The interaction between CCL17 and CCR4 expressed by T cells might be relevant for the Th17 and Th22 cell migration into the psoriatic skin. In line, in psoriasis lesions, the majority of CD4+ T cells and about half of the CD8+ T cells express CCR4. CXCR3 ligands (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11) may be particularly important for the migration of Th1- and CD8+ T cells into the epidermis. Another chemokine/ chemokine receptor pair is composed of CCL20 and CCR6 and is responsible for the skin infiltration of Th17 and Th22 cells and mDCs. Via CCR2, CCL2 attracts macrophages and mDC precursors. Importantly, TNF- α is not the only cytokine with great chemokine induction capability. IL-17 induces chemokines in keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells as well; these include CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL8 (attracting neutrophilic granulocytes), and CCL20 [48, 49, 54–56]. Importantly, IL-17A and IL-22 enhance the upregulating effect of TNF- α on some chemokines (e.g., CXCL1, CXCL8, and CCL20) [48, 49, 54, 57].

As mentioned above, immune cells after activation by chemokines change the conformation of integrin molecules that lets an affine binding between integrins and their ligands on endothelial cells and in consequence a tight adhesion of immune on endothelial cells. CD11a/CD18 seems to be the most important integrin for skin homing. It binds to endothelial CD54 (*ICAM-1*) and CD102 (*ICAM-2*). Interestingly, TNF- α induces the expression of endothelial CD54 (ICAM-1) and CD102 (ICAM-2).

The following passage of immune cells through the endothelial wall is called diapedesis. It is also dependent on integrins and takes place probably via gaps formed between endothelial cells. TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-22 can cause endothelial cells to remodel the basal membrane [36]. As a consequence of the infiltration, massive immune cell infiltrations are found in psoriatic lesions. The numbers of T cells, macrophages, and DCs are very similar in that situation. Among T cells, CD4+ cells are mainly present in the dermis, while CD8+ cells primarily home into the epidermis.

3.3 Effector Phase: Immune Cell Activation in the Skin

After their migration into the skin, the immune cells are activated. Immigrated DCs might be stimulated by means of self-RNA-LL37 complexes as well as by neutrophilic granulocytes and NK cells. In the dermis and epidermis, different APC populations such as macrophages and various types of DCs activate T cells, and vice versa. T cells arriving in the epidermis may additionally be stimulated by keratinocytes. As a consequence of activation, the T cells proliferate. Psoriatic lesions even demonstrate some characteristics of lymph nodes. The T cell mediators with the highest expression in psoriatic lesion and the greatest difference in the expression between nonlesional and lesional skin are IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 [30, 58, 59]. IL-17A and IL-17F are apparently secreted by effector/memory Th17 cells [58]. However, also mast cells and neutrophilic granulocytes have very recently been described to produce IL-17 in psoriasis lesions [60]. The main source of IL-22 in psoriatic lesions should be T22 and T1 cells [31, 45, 46, 59]. The expressions of IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 are approximately ten times higher than that of IFN- γ [59]. Further cytokines present in psoriatic lesions include IL-26, with levels similar to IFN- γ , and IL-21, IL-13, and IL-4, with rather low levels.

As far as it is known, IL-22 is the only T cell cytokine that is present in the blood of psoriasis patients at detectable levels [36]. Interestingly, the IL-22 blood levels correlate with the severity of disease [36].

As mentioned above, T cells in psoriatic lesions are apparently activated by APCs. An important question for the understanding of the psoriasis pathogenesis is how monocytes/macrophages and DCs activate these immigrated T cells. We assume that in this process, APC-derived IL-23 plays a dominant role. Indeed, the number of IL-23-expressing myeloid cells and the IL-23 expression levels are increased in psoriatic skin. In contrast to IL-23p19, IL-12p35 levels are not upregulated. Another question is about the Ags that are involved in the stimulation of T cells in the skin. So far, this question cannot be answered.

3.4 Effector Phase: Tissue Cell Response

The most striking signs of the tissue cell response in psoriatic lesions include the profoundly altered epidermis structure and the extension of the blood vessels in the upper dermis. Upon the initiation of psoriatic lesions, keratinocytes are mainly activated by mediators produced by Th1 cells (IFN- γ , IL-22) and by Th17 and Th22 cells (IL-17, IL-26, IL-22). Over time, however, the cytokines produced by macrophages and DCs (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-24) and lastly by stromal cells in the dermis (keratinocyte growth factor (KGF), insulin-like growth factor 1, and fibroblast growth factor 10 (FGF-10)) might become increasingly important. Activated keratinocytes secrete chemokines (e.g., CXCL8, CCL20, and CXCL9) and show enhanced CD56, CD1d, and HLA I and II expression. Together, this strengthens the influx of immune cells into the lesions and facilitates the immune cell activation, respectively. Furthermore, keratinocytes produce numerous mediators such as IL-19, IL-20, TGF- α , and nerve growth factor (*NGF*) that activate stromal cells in the dermis and, in autocrine self-amplifying loops, add to their own activation. Finally, the stimulation of keratinocytes by the cytokine mix present in established psoriatic lesions leads to (1) increased proliferation of these cells in the basal layers, (2) alteration of their maturation, and (3) their elevated production of antimicrobial proteins and cytokines.

The considerably elevated keratinocyte proliferation in psoriatic lesions is caused by an increase of the interfollicular epidermal stem cell number and by an approximately fivefold shortening of their cell cycle duration. This hyperproliferation significantly contributes to characteristic thickening of epidermis (acanthosis). Until today, the mediator(s) that is/are responsible for this fast proliferation could not be identified [7].

In normal skin, the maturation of keratinocytes from the epidermis basal layer to the cornified layer takes approximately 28 days. This process is abbreviated in psoriatic lesion to approximately 5–7 days. The last step of the maturation process is called the terminal differentiation. This is a particular apoptotic process that encompasses the stepwise transition of vital keratinocytes of the upper epidermis layers to corneocytes and results in the formation of the mechanically resistant stratum corneum. This process starts in the stratum spinosum with the synthesis of necessary proteins. The diverse alterations in terminal differentiation include the aggregation of keratin-(K)1 and K10 chains in macrofibrils, the formation of the cornified envelope of the keratinocytes by cross-linking of newly synthesized structural proteins, the synthesis of extracellular lipids, and the dissolution of the cell nucleus and other cell organelles.

The massively inhibited keratinocyte terminal differentiation in psoriasis contributes to the epidermal acanthosis as well. It additionally leads to hyperkeratosis, parakeratosis, and hypogranularity [6]. Unlike the mediators of hyperproliferation, the mediators that are very likely to be responsible for the altered keratinocyte differentiation in psoriasis lesions have been identified. These include IL-22 and IL-20 [61]. IL-22 and IL-20 inhibit the expression of proteins that are crucially involved in the terminal differentiation of keratinocytes: profilaggrin, K1, K10, calmodulin-like-5, keratinocyte differentiation-associated protein, cornified envelope protein 1B, desmocollin-1, and kallikrein 7 [36, 48]. By reducing the levels of these proteins. IL-22 and IL-20 affect all the steps of the terminal differentiation and lead to the appearance of corneocytes with remaining nuclei and cytoplasm rests that are not continuously exfoliated because of alterations in the corneodesmosomal degradation. Importantly, TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-17 may amplify some effects of IL-22 and IL-20 by enhancing the expression of their transmembrane receptors and/or by influencing their signal transduction [36, 48]. Like IL-22, IL-20 exclusively affects nonhematopoietic cells [31, 32, 62]. Whereas IL-22 mediates its effects through a receptor complex composed of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2, IL-20 can affect keratinocytes via two different receptor complexes: IL-20R1/IL-20R2 and IL-22R1/IL-20R2 [63]. It seems that the IL-22R1 receptor chain is responsible for the psoriasis-relevant effects of these two mediators. In the skin, IL-22R1 is preferentially expressed by keratinocytes and only to a minimum extent by fibroblasts; it is absent in resting and activated immune cells [30, 32, 48].

Interestingly, IL-22 provokes mechanisms that may enhance its own action, in the sense of a positive feedback regulation. An example is the induction of STAT3 that is the major transcription factor activated upon IL-22 receptor signaling and that is essential for the IL-22 effects [48]. Interestingly, mice, which transgenically express a constitutively active STAT3 variant in keratinocytes, develop psoriasis-like skin alterations [64]. IL-22 also induces the keratinocyte production of IL-20 [65] that, as mentioned above, demonstrates IL-22-like effects on keratinocytes [48, 66].

The expressions of diverse antimicrobial proteins, including β -defensin 2 (*BD2*), BD3, S100A7 (*psoriasin*), S100A8, S100A9, and LCN2, are strongly enhanced in lesional skin of psoriasis patients [6]. This elevation is probably responsible for the low frequency of bacterial skin infections that, despite their altered skin barrier function, is observed in these patients. The reason for the increased production of the antimicrobial proteins is the simultaneous action of specific cytokines, of which IL-17 and IL-22 play the most important role [30, 67]. In fact, leaving out of IL-17 or IL-22 from a mix of several inflammatory mediators had profound and unique impact on the antimicrobial protein expression in in vitro epidermis models [59]. Interestingly, the IL-17- and IL-22-induced antimicrobial proteins kill a range of different microbes. BD2 acts against gram-negative bacteria, whereas BD3 destroys gram-positive bacteria. S100A7 acts against *Escherichia coli*, and S100A8/A9

inhibits gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria and some fungi. Besides producing antimicrobial proteins, activated keratinocytes produce numerous chemokines (see above) and cytokines. In fact, IL-17-stimulated keratinocytes in particular from psoriasis patients secrete, for example, IL- 36α and IL- 36γ [68].

Other characteristics of psoriatic lesions include the dilation and increased length of upper dermal blood vessels. Complement products and, as mentioned above, TNF- α might be responsible for the dilation. The strengthened angiogenesis, which is responsible of the strong vessel extension in the diseased skin, is probably dependent on vascular endothelial growth factor (*VEGF*) [69–71].

4 Targeting of IL-23 Pathway Members for Psoriasis Treatment

The most convincing evidences that IL-23 and IL-17 play important roles in psoriasis pathogenesis have been provided by clinical trials using anti-p40 and anti-IL-17/anti-IL-17RA antibodies, respectively. The antibodies against p40 were developed for psoriasis treatment by two different pharmaceutical companies: Centocor (ustekinumab) and Abbott Laboratories (briakinumab). Respective phase III clinical trials demonstrated that approximately 45 % (ustekinumab) [72, 73] to 55 % (briakinumab) [74-76] of psoriasis patients achieved at least 90 % reduction of their cutaneous symptoms after 12 weeks of therapy. This is about three times better than with classical antipsoriatic therapies (e.g., methotrexate) [74]. Furthermore, the biologics demonstrate a generally less systemic toxicity compared to traditional agents. However, these clinical results induce a lot of further questions. Why only a portion of patients show very good response to these therapies? What is the consequence of the IL-23/IL-12 inhibition regarding the development of the protective adaptive immunity especially in young patients? Do these therapies give serious adverse events during long treatment? Regarding the last point, Tzellos et al. described that the odds ratio for major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) is approximately 4.2 higher in patients receiving anti-p40 antibodies compared with those receiving placebo [77]. Importantly, these results were based on clinical trials with very short observation periods (mostly 12 weeks) that include relatively young patients. That means that in real situations, the risk for myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accident, or cardiovascular death as a consequence of anti-p40 therapy might even be higher. Interestingly, the increase in MACE was not observed in clinical trials with TNF-a-blocking biologics [78]. Furthermore, the long-lasting application of anti-p40 antibodies and consequent attenuation of T1 and T17 immunity might enhance the risk for serious infections and immune cell-controlled cancers. Regarding anti-IL-17 and IL-17RA antibodies, only results from phase II clinical trials were reported so far [79, 80]. They demonstrate very good responses to this treatment. However, studies with large numbers of patients are necessary for final judgment of the efficacy and adverse events of these treatments. Therapies focusing on the inhibition of IL-22 effects are under development. The great advantage of such treatments would especially be a lack of "classical" immunosuppression. Especially for younger patients in whom beneficial, protective memory T1 but also Th17 cells must develop, long-term inhibition of the effects of IL-22/IL-20 would be distinctly more sensible.

5 Conclusions

The results from numerous scientific studies strongly suggest important roles of IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 in the psoriasis pathogenesis. In the case of IL-23 and IL-17, these roles were recently proved by the outcome of clinical trials with antip40 and anti-IL-17/anti-IL-17RA antibodies, respectively. However, these trials revealed a profound improvement of skin symptoms by these therapies in only a portion of psoriasis patients. Furthermore, they implicate that anti-p40 therapy enhances risk at least for major adverse cardiovascular events. In consideration of these facts and the costs of such therapies, there is a great need for biomarkers that before treatment identify patients with high benefit from these therapies. In the event that the inhibition of IL-22 action will be effective in cutaneous skin diseases, this inhibition is not supposed to induce major adverse events.

References

- 1. Griffiths CE, Barker JN (2007) Pathogenesis and clinical features of psoriasis. Lancet 370:263-271
- 2. Schon MP, Boehncke WH (2005) Psoriasis. N Engl J Med 352:1899-1912
- 3. Christophers E (2001) Psoriasis–epidemiology and clinical spectrum. Clin Exp Dermatol 26:314–320
- Love TJ, Qureshi AA, Karlson EW, Gelfand JM, Choi HK (2011) Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in psoriasis: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2003–2006. Arch Dermatol 147:419–424
- 5. Gelfand JM, Troxel AB, Lewis JD, Kurd SK, Shin DB, Wang X, Margolis DJ, Strom BL (2007) The risk of mortality in patients with psoriasis: results from a population-based study. Arch Dermatol 143:1493–1499
- Sabat R, Philipp S, Hoflich C, Kreutzer S, Wallace E, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Wolk K (2007) Immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Exp Dermatol 16:779–798
- Sabat R, Sterry W, Philipp S, Wolk K (2007) Three decades of psoriasis research: where has it led us? Clin Dermatol 25:504–509
- Bowcock AM, Krueger JG (2005) Getting under the skin: the immunogenetics of psoriasis. Nat Rev Immunol 5:699–711
- 9. Elder JT (2009) Genome-wide association scan yields new insights into the immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Genes Immun 10:201–209
- Duffin KC, Krueger GG (2009) Genetic variations in cytokines and cytokine receptors associated with psoriasis found by genome-wide association. J Invest Dermatol 129:827–833

- 11. Telfer NR, Chalmers RJ, Whale K, Colman G (1992) The role of streptococcal infection in the initiation of guttate psoriasis. Arch Dermatol 128:39–42
- Ragaz A, Ackerman AB (1979) Evolution, maturation, and regression of lesions of Psoriasis. New observations and correlation of clinical and histologic findings. Am J Dermatopathol 1:199–214
- Duvallet E, Semerano L, Assier E, Falgarone G, Boissier MC (2011) Interleukin-23: a key cytokine in inflammatory diseases. Ann Med 43:503–511
- 14. Parham C, Chirica M, Timans J, Vaisberg E, Travis M, Cheung J, Pflanz S, Zhang R, Singh KP, Vega F, To W, Wagner J, O'Farrell AM, McClanahan T, Zurawski S, Hannum C, Gorman D, Rennick DM, Kastelein RA, de Waal Malefyt R, Moore KW (2002) A receptor for the heterodimeric cytokine IL-23 is composed of IL-12Rbeta1 and a novel cytokine receptor subunit, IL-23R. J Immunol 168:5699–5708
- 15. Oppmann B, Lesley R, Blom B, Timans JC, Xu Y, Hunte B, Vega F, Yu N, Wang J, Singh K, Zonin F, Vaisberg E, Churakova T, Liu M, Gorman D, Wagner J, Zurawski S, Liu Y, Abrams JS, Moore KW, Rennick D, de Waal-Malefyt R, Hannum C, Bazan JF, Kastelein RA (2000) Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. Immunity 13:715–725
- Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, Tocker J, Peschon J (2006) Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. J Immunol 177:36–39
- Yao Z, Fanslow WC, Seldin MF, Rousseau AM, Painter SL, Comeau MR, Cohen JI, Spriggs MK (1995) Herpesvirus Saimiri encodes a new cytokine, IL-17, which binds to a novel cytokine receptor. Immunity 3:811–821
- Reynolds JM, Angkasekwinai P, Dong C (2010) IL-17 family member cytokines: regulation and function in innate immunity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:413–423
- 19. Pappu R, Ramirez-Carrozzi V, Sambandam A (2011) The interleukin-17 cytokine family: critical players in host defence and inflammatory diseases. Immunology 134:8–16
- 20. Gaffen SL (2011) Recent advances in the IL-17 cytokine family. Curr Opin Immunol 23:613-619
- 21. Kuestner RE, Taft DW, Haran A, Brandt CS, Brender T, Lum K, Harder B, Okada S, Ostrander CD, Kreindler JL, Aujla SJ, Reardon B, Moore M, Shea P, Schreckhise R, Bukowski TR, Presnell S, Guerra-Lewis P, Parrish-Novak J, Ellsworth JL, Jaspers S, Lewis KE, Appleby M, Kolls JK, Rixon M, West JW, Gao Z, Levin SD (2007) Identification of the IL-17 receptor related molecule IL-17RC as the receptor for IL-17F. J Immunol 179:5462–5473
- 22. Hu Y, Ota N, Peng I, Refino CJ, Danilenko DM, Caplazi P, Ouyang W (2010) IL-17RC is required for IL-17A- and IL-17F-dependent signaling and the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 184:4307–4316
- Haudenschild D, Moseley T, Rose L, Reddi AH (2002) Soluble and transmembrane isoforms of novel interleukin-17 receptor-like protein by RNA splicing and expression in prostate cancer. J Biol Chem 277:4309–4316
- 24. Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S (2011) Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. Immunity 34:149–162
- Turner-Brannen E, Choi KY, Arsenault R, El-Gabalawy H, Napper S, Mookherjee N (2011) Inflammatory cytokines IL-32 and IL-17 have common signaling intermediates despite differential dependence on TNF-receptor 1. J Immunol 186:7127–7135
- 26. Sabat R (2010) IL-10 family of cytokines. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:315-324
- 27. Dumoutier L, Van Roost E, Colau D, Renauld JC (2000) Human interleukin-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor: molecular cloning and functional characterization as an hepatocyte-stimulating factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10144–10149
- 28. Kotenko SV, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Esterova E, Dickensheets H, Donnelly RP, Pestka S (2001) Identification of the functional interleukin-22 (IL-22) receptor complex: the IL-10R2 chain (IL-10Rbeta) is a common chain of both the IL-10 and IL-22 (IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, IL-TIF) receptor complexes. J Biol Chem 276:2725–2732

- 29. Xie MH, Aggarwal S, Ho WH, Foster J, Zhang Z, Stinson J, Wood WI, Goddard AD, Gurney AL (2000) Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2-4 and IL-22R. J Biol Chem 275:31335–31339
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2004) IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. Immunity 21:241–254
- 31. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2002) Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? J Immunol 168:5397–5402
- 32. Wolk K, Witte K, Witte E, Proesch S, Schulze-Tanzil G, Nasilowska K, Thilo J, Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD, Sabat R (2008) Maturing dendritic cells are an important source of IL-29 and IL-20 that may cooperatively increase the innate immunity of keratinocytes. J Leukoc Biol 83:1181–1193
- Wolk K, Sabat R (2006) Interleukin-22: a novel T- and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 17:367–380
- 34. Witte E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Sabat R, Wolk K (2010) Interleukin-22: a cytokine produced by T, NK and NKT cell subsets, with importance in the innate immune defense and tissue protection. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:365–379
- 35. Dumoutier L, de Meester C, Tavernier J, Renauld JC (2009) New activation modus of STAT3: a tyrosine-less region of the interleukin-22 receptor recruits STAT3 by interacting with its coiled-coil domain. J Biol Chem 284:26377–26384
- 36. Wolk K, Witte E, Wallace E, Docke WD, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2006) IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 36:1309–1323
- 37. Dustin ML (2009) The cellular context of T cell signaling. Immunity 30:482-492
- Greenwald RJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH (2005) The B7 family revisited. Annu Rev Immunol 23:515–548
- 39. Yokosuka T, Kobayashi W, Takamatsu M, Sakata-Sogawa K, Zeng H, Hashimoto-Tane A, Yagita H, Tokunaga M, Saito T (2010) Spatiotemporal basis of CTLA-4 costimulatory molecule-mediated negative regulation of T cell activation. Immunity 33:326–339
- Murphy KM, Ouyang W, Farrar JD, Yang J, Ranganath S, Asnagli H, Afkarian M, Murphy TL (2000) Signaling and transcription in T helper development. Annu Rev Immunol 18:451–494
- Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR (2009) Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. Immunity 30:646–655
- 42. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT (2005) Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. Nat Immunol 6:1123–1132
- 43. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q, Dong C (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. Nat Immunol 6:1133–1141
- 44. Hirahara K, Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang XP, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ (2010) Signal transduction pathways and transcriptional regulation in Th17 cell differentiation. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:425–434
- 45. Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H (2009) Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. Nat Immunol 10:864–871
- 46. Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2009) Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. Nat Immunol 10:857–863
- 47. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Napolitani G (2007) Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. Nat Immunol 8:639–646
- 48. Wolk K, Haugen HS, Xu W, Witte E, Waggie K, Anderson M, Vom Baur E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Philipp S, Johnson-Leger C, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2009) IL-22 and

IL-20 are key mediators of the epidermal alterations in psoriasis while IL-17 and IFN-gamma are not. J Mol Med (Berlin) 87:523–536

- 49. Homey B, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Wiesenborn A, Massacrier C, Pin JJ, Oldham E, Catron D, Buchanan ME, Muller A, deWaal Malefyt R, Deng G, Orozco R, Ruzicka T, Lehmann P, Lebecque S, Caux C, Zlotnik A (2000) Up-regulation of macrophage inflammatory protein-3 alpha/CCL20 and CC chemokine receptor 6 in psoriasis. J Immunol 164:6621–6632
- 50. Giustizieri ML, Mascia F, Frezzolini A, De Pita O, Chinni LM, Giannetti A, Girolomoni G, Pastore S (2001) Keratinocytes from patients with atopic dermatitis and psoriasis show a distinct chemokine production profile in response to T cell-derived cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107:871–877
- 51. Goebeler M, Yoshimura T, Toksoy A, Ritter U, Brocker EB, Gillitzer R (1997) The chemokine repertoire of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells and its regulation by inflammatory cytokines. J Invest Dermatol 108:445–451
- 52. Orecchia A, Scarponi C, Di Felice F, Cesarini E, Avitabile S, Mai A, Mauro ML, Sirri V, Zambruno G, Albanesi C, Camilloni G, Failla CM (2011) Sirtinol treatment reduces inflammation in human dermal microvascular endothelial cells. PLoS One 6:e24307
- 53. Tsuda T, Tohyama M, Yamasaki K, Shirakata Y, Yahata Y, Tokumaru S, Sayama K, Hashimoto K (2003) Lack of evidence for TARC/CCL17 production by normal human keratinocytes in vitro. J Dermatol Sci 31:37–42
- 54. Albanesi C, Cavani A, Girolomoni G (1999) IL-17 is produced by nickel-specific T lymphocytes and regulates ICAM-1 expression and chemokine production in human keratinocytes: synergistic or antagonist effects with IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha. J Immunol 162:494–502
- 55. Roussel L, Houle F, Chan C, Yao Y, Berube J, Olivenstein R, Martin JG, Huot J, Hamid Q, Ferri L, Rousseau S (2010) IL-17 promotes p38 MAPK-dependent endothelial activation enhancing neutrophil recruitment to sites of inflammation. J Immunol 184:4531–4537
- 56. Datta S, Novotny M, Pavicic PG Jr, Zhao C, Herjan T, Hartupee J, Hamilton T (2010) IL-17 regulates CXCL1 mRNA stability via an AUUUA/tristetraprolin-independent sequence. J Immunol 184:1484–1491
- 57. Chiricozzi A, Guttman-Yassky E, Suarez-Farinas M, Nograles KE, Tian S, Cardinale I, Chimenti S, Krueger JG (2011) Integrative responses to IL-17 and TNF-alpha in human keratinocytes account for key inflammatory pathogenic circuits in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 131:677–687
- 58. Teunissen MB, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA, Bos JD (1998) Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111:645–649
- 59. Wolk K, Warszawska K, Hoeflich C, Witte E, Schneider-Burrus S, Witte K, Kunz S, Buss A, Roewert HJ, Krause M, Lukowsky A, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2011) Deficiency of IL-22 contributes to a chronic inflammatory disease: pathogenetic mechanisms in acne inversa. J Immunol 186:1228–1239
- 60. Lin AM, Rubin CJ, Khandpur R, Wang JY, Riblett M, Yalavarthi S, Villanueva EC, Shah P, Kaplan MJ, Bruce AT (2011) Mast cells and neutrophils release IL-17 through extracellular trap formation in psoriasis. J Immunol 187:490–500
- 61. Sabat R, Wolk K (2011) Research in practice: IL-22 and IL-20: significance for epithelial homeostasis and psoriasis pathogenesis. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 9:518–523
- 62. Kunz S, Wolk K, Witte E, Witte K, Doecke WD, Volk HD, Sterry W, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2006) Interleukin (IL)-19, IL-20 and IL-24 are produced by and act on keratinocytes and are distinct from classical ILs. Exp Dermatol 15:991–1004
- Wegenka UM (2010) IL-20: biological functions mediated through two types of receptor complexes. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21:353–363
- 64. Sano S, Chan KS, Carbajal S, Clifford J, Peavey M, Kiguchi K, Itami S, Nickoloff BJ, DiGiovanni J (2005) Stat3 links activated keratinocytes and immunocytes required for development of psoriasis in a novel transgenic mouse model. Nat Med 11:43–49

- 65. Wolk K, Witte E, Warszawska K, Schulze-Tanzil G, Witte K, Philipp S, Kunz S, Docke WD, Asadullah K, Volk HD, Sterry W, Sabat R (2009) The Th17 cytokine IL-22 induces IL-20 production in keratinocytes: a novel immunological cascade with potential relevance in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 39:3570–3581
- 66. Sa SM, Valdez PA, Wu J, Jung K, Zhong F, Hall L, Kasman I, Winer J, Modrusan Z, Danilenko DM, Ouyang W (2007) The effects of IL-20 subfamily cytokines on reconstituted human epidermis suggest potential roles in cutaneous innate defense and pathogenic adaptive immunity in psoriasis. J Immunol 178:2229–2240
- 67. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271–2279
- 68. Muhr P, Zeitvogel J, Heitland I, Werfel T, Wittmann M (2011) Expression of interleukin (IL)-1 family members upon stimulation with IL-17 differs in keratinocytes derived from patients with psoriasis and healthy donors. Br J Dermatol 165:189–193
- 69. Schonthaler HB, Huggenberger R, Wculek SK, Detmar M, Wagner EF (2009) Systemic anti-VEGF treatment strongly reduces skin inflammation in a mouse model of psoriasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:21264–21269
- 70. Elias PM, Arbiser J, Brown BE, Rossiter H, Man MQ, Cerimele F, Crumrine D, Gunathilake R, Choi EH, Uchida Y, Tschachler E, Feingold KR (2008) Epidermal vascular endothelial growth factor production is required for permeability barrier homeostasis, dermal angiogenesis, and the development of epidermal hyperplasia: implications for the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Am J Pathol 173:689–699
- Zibert JR, Wallbrecht K, Schon M, Mir LM, Jacobsen GK, Trochon-Joseph V, Bouquet C, Villadsen LS, Cadossi R, Skov L, Schon MP (2011) Halting angiogenesis by non-viral somatic gene therapy alleviates psoriasis and murine psoriasiform skin lesions. J Clin Invest 121:410–421
- 72. Leonardi CL, Kimball AB, Papp KA, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y, Li S, Dooley LT, Gordon KB (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). Lancet 371:1665–1674
- 73. Papp KA, Langley RG, Lebwohl M, Krueger GG, Szapary P, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Hsu MC, Wang Y, Li S, Dooley LT, Reich K (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 52-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 2). Lancet 371:1675–1684
- 74. Reich K, Langley RG, Papp KA, Ortonne JP, Unnebrink K, Kaul M, Valdes JM (2011) A 52week trial comparing briakinumab with methotrexate in patients with psoriasis. N Engl J Med 365:1586–1596
- 75. Gordon KB, Langley RG, Gottlieb AB, Papp KA, Krueger GG, Strober BE, Williams DA, Gu Y, Valdes JM (2012) A phase III, randomized, controlled trial of the fully human IL-12/23 mAb briakinumab in moderate-to-severe psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 132:304–314
- 76. Gottlieb AB, Leonardi C, Kerdel F, Mehlis S, Olds M, Williams DA (2011) Efficacy and safety of briakinumab vs. etanercept and placebo in patients with moderate to severe chronic plaque psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 165:652–660
- 77. Tzellos T, Kyrgidis A, Zouboulis CC (2012) Re-evaluation of the risk for major adverse cardiovascular events in patients treated with anti-IL-12/23 biological agents for chronic plaque psoriasis: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol [in print]
- 78. Ryan C, Leonardi CL, Krueger JG, Kimball AB, Strober BE, Gordon KB, Langley RG, de Lemos JA, Daoud Y, Blankenship D, Kazi S, Kaplan DH, Friedewald VE, Menter A (2011) Association between biologic therapies for chronic plaque psoriasis and cardiovascular events: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JAMA 306:864–871

- 79. Papp KA, Leonardi C, Menter A, Ortonne JP, Krueger JG, Kricorian G, Aras G, Li J, Russell CB, Thompson EH, Baumgartner S (2012) Brodalumab, an anti-interleukin-17-receptor antibody for psoriasis. N Engl J Med 366:1181–1189
- Leonardi C, Matheson R, Zachariae C, Cameron G, Li L, Edson-Heredia E, Braun D, Banerjee S (2012) Anti-interleukin-17 monoclonal antibody ixekizumab in chronic plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med 366:1190–1199

Contribution of IL-22 to Experimental Skin Inflammation

Jean-Claude Lecron, Isabelle Paris, François-Xavier Bernard, and Franck Morel

Abstract The skin represents the first line defense against various stresses including pathogens and injuries. Cutaneous homeostasis and defenses are maintained by permanent cross talk among dermal fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and cells of the immune system residing in or recruited to skin, through the production of cytokines and chemokines. In this chapter, we discuss the biological effects of IL-22 on keratinocytes and more particularly its position in skin inflammation and in the development of inflammatory skin diseases such as psoriasis.

Focused on in vitro human models, we present the mechanisms of action of IL-22 as well as its involvement in structure, metabolism, differentiation, chemotaxis, antibacterial activity, innate immunity, and tissue remodeling of epidermis. Pertinence of these models is debated by confrontation to structural and molecular characteristic of psoriatic skin. IL-22 belongs to cytokine milieu impregnating inflammatory skin. We attempt to delineate more precisely its unique position among other proinflammatory cytokines and in the synergistic effect of these cytokines. Finally, we consider the local cell sources of IL-22 in the psoriatic skin.

We question potential new therapeutic strategies for psoriasis focused on more specific and downstream targets, i.e., keratinocyte-targeting cytokines, rather than on modulating producing cells by immunosuppression.

F.-X. Bernard

BIOalternatives, 1 bis rue des Plantes, Gençay 86160, France

J.-C. Lecron (🖂) • I. Paris • F. Morel

UPRES-EA 4331, Laboratoire Inflammation, tissus épithéliaux et Cytokines, CHU de Poitiers, Université de Poitiers, bâtiment B36, 1 rue G Bonnet, Poitiers 86022, France e-mail: Jean-Claude.Lecron@univ-poitiers.fr

UPRES-EA 4331, Laboratoire Inflammation, tissus épithéliaux et Cytokines, CHU de Poitiers, Université de Poitiers, bâtiment B36, 1 rue G Bonnet, Poitiers 86022, France

1 Introduction

Skin represents a very attractive tissue that is a paradigm for studying the cross talk between the inflammatory immune system and an organ. Indeed, skin constitutes the largest physical and chemical barrier against various stress including pathogens, constituting the first line of defense. Skin is now considered as a multitasking immune organ involved in promoting health [1]. To be effective for protection against a large panel of injuries, this system requires sensitivity and selectivity to detect a signal of danger, a strong reactivity to develop a rapid response, and requirements need sophisticated interactions between efficiency. These keratinocytes, the epithelial cells of epidermis (the outer skin layer in contact with environment), and "sentinel" immune cells infiltrating normal epidermis, i.e., T lymphocytes and Langerhans cells. These interactions are conducted by cytokines, maintaining the homeostasis of skin; if required, a coordinated inflammatory response is triggered, relayed by specific cytokines. Troubles in the resolution of this phenomenon could generate a cytokine-mediated vicious circle, promoting chronic inflammation and autoimmunity, characterized by the accumulation of resident/infiltrating immune cells in the epidermis, altered differentiation of keratinocytes, and epidermal thickening.

Numerous convenient in vitro or in vivo models are available to study normal and inflammatory skin. Keratinocytes can be isolated from surgical samples from plastic surgery and cultured in liquid medium to obtain an adherent monolayer cell, known as NHEK (normal human epidermal keratinocytes), or at the air-medium interface to obtain multilayered epidermis that exhibits morphological and growth characteristics similar to human skin, known as RHE (reconstituted human epidermis) [2]. This chapter is focused on these models. In addition, mouse models are available to study skin inflammation, which however never exactly mimic human diseases [3].

During the past few years, an increasing number of reports demonstrated that keratinocytes are direct targets for a specific set of cytokines, conducting dramatic changes in their biological properties such as inducing the secretion of chemokines and antimicrobial peptides, or modulating the differentiation states or migration capacities. The intensity of the responsiveness highlighted that keratinocytes, beside their role as physical protectors, are also main actors in skin immunology. In the 1990s, functional receptors for the classical inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) or the Th1-derived interferon (IFN)- γ have been described on keratinocytes. More recently, IL-17, IL-22, and oncostatin M (OSM) have also been described as important regulators of epidermis functions, and their receptors have been detected on keratinocytes. Some of these cytokines are able to induce skin inflammation in animal models, as do IL-12 or IL-23. However, keratinocytes do not display functional receptors for IL-12 and IL-23 [4], suggesting that other epidermal cells are the targets and that the effect on keratinocytes is indirect. In addition, receptors for the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13

have been also described on keratinocytes, but the induced biological activities appear to be antagonistic to inflammation [5].

The use of transcriptomic technologies to analyze the keratinocyte gene expression profile induced by cytokines demonstrates that most of them have overlapping activities, sometimes displaying completely redundant biological properties. The use of shared molecules in intracellular signaling pathways, such as STAT3 in OSM or IL-22 signaling, could explain redundancy [6, 7]. In another hand, powerful synergistic effects on keratinocytes can be also evidenced when cytokines of different families are associated. These points are discussed below.

2 IL-22 and Keratinocytes

IL-22 is one of the cytokines of the IL-10 family. IL-10 was identified in 1989 as a "cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor" [8]. Mainly produced by immunohematopoietic cells, IL-10 inhibits the antigen-presentation capacity of macrophages and dendritic cells as well as IL-2 production by Th1 T cells and proinflammatory cytokines production by monocytes/macrophages. IL-10 also activates B-cell proliferation and differentiation [9].

Since the end of 1990s, five cytokines structurally related to IL-10 have been described and presently form this family of cytokines: IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, and IL-26 (AK-155) [8, 10–15]. In contrast to the anti-inflammatory functions of IL-10, other IL-10-related cytokines have proinflammatory activities.

IL-10-related cytokines act through heterodimeric receptors belonging to the type II cytokine receptor family and induce the JAK/STAT pathway, in particular STAT3. IL-10 binds the IL-10R1/IL-10R2 receptor [16, 17]. The IL-10R2 chain is also a component of the IL-22 receptor, together with the IL-22R1 subunit [12, 18], and of the IL-26 receptor, in association with the IL-20R1 chain [19, 20]. IL-19, IL-20, and IL-24 act through the IL-20R1/IL-20R2 receptor [11, 21]. IL-20 and IL-24 also bind the IL-22R1/IL-20R2 complex [21–23]. In contrast to the ubiquitous expression of the IL-10R2 chain, the IL-10R1 subunit is mainly detected in lymphoid tissues and immune cells [9, 24]. During wound healing, IL-10 inhibits the infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages in the injured tissue and downregulates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α) and chemokines [CCL2, CCL3] [25]. The lack of IL-10R1 expression and STAT3 phosphorylation in response to IL-10 suggests an indirect effect on keratinocytes. This is reinforced by the absence of any biological activities of IL-10 on primary keratinocytes or on the HaCat keratinocyte cell line [6, 26].

Whereas the IL-22R1, IL-20R1, and IL-20R2 chains are all expressed in skin, pancreas, and liver, the IL-20R2 subunit is the only one detected in immune cells [6, 24, 27, 28], suggesting that the spectrum of action of the IL-10-related cytokines, except for IL-10 itself, is restricted to non-immuno-hematopoietic cells. A growing number of studies now report the implication of IL-22 in the biology and function of the skin, as well as its possible involvement in the

development and/or maintenance of inflammatory cutaneous diseases such as psoriasis.

2.1 Among the Cytokines of the IL-10 Family, IL-22 Is the Strongest Activator of Keratinocytes

Keratinocytes express low levels of IL-20R2 and high levels of the IL-10R2, IL-20R1, and IL-22R subunits, rendering them susceptible to the action of IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, and IL-26 [6, 24, 29].

Regarding in vitro studies, our group and Ouyang's group compared the effects of the IL-10-related cytokines respectively on NHEK and on RHE [30, 31]. IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, and IL-26 all induced STAT3 phosphorylation in NHEK, IL-22 and IL-24 being the most potent activators of this transcription factor, in accordance with the receptor expression pattern [30]. Accordingly, analysis of the gene expression profile induced by these cytokines on NHEK showed that IL-22 and to a lesser extent IL-24 and IL-20 are the most potent keratinocyte activators. These three cytokines upregulate the expression of genes associated with inflammation and innate immunity, such as S100A7-psoriasin and β -defensin 2 (BD-2); IL-22 and IL-24 also downregulate differentiation-associated genes, including CK10 [30]. In addition, IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, and IL-24 induce hyperplasia of RHE, IL-22 and IL-24 having the major hyperplastic effects [31]. These effects are unlikely due to hyperproliferation of keratinocytes from the basal layer since the expression of basal keratinocyte proliferation marker Ki-67 is not altered. On the other hand, IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, and IL-24 upregulated CK16 (associated with suprabasal keratinocyte proliferation). Interestingly, IL-22 was the only cytokine to induce hypogranulosis in RHE. No biological activities of IL-26 have been observed so far on keratinocytes. The comparison of IL-10-related cytokines activities on keratinocytes showed that IL-22 has the most potent effects, followed by IL-24, then IL-20, and finally IL-19.

2.2 IL-22 Induces an Inflammatory Phenotype of Cultured Keratinocyte

IL-22 is a key factor in keratinocyte activation, chemotaxis, antimicrobial defense, and differentiation; primary keratinocytes, as well as the keratinocyte cell lines HaCat and SVK14, express the IL-10R2 and IL-22R1 subunits [6, 29], whose expression is upregulated by IFN- γ . The binding of IL-22 to its receptor induces the phosphorylation of STAT3 and to a lower extent STAT1 in keratinocytes [6, 32]. IL-22 upregulates, in a dose- and time-dependent manner, the expression of S100A7-psoriasin, S100A8 and S100A9 transcripts and protein, known for their proinflammatory activities, and the matrix metallo-proteases. Moreover, IL-22

strongly induces the hyperplasia of RHE, resulting mostly from an inhibition of keratinocyte differentiation, with a thickening of the spinous layer and a disappearance of the granular layer. Indeed, IL-22 downregulates the expression of CK10, involucrin, loricrin, and filaggrin, all associated with keratinocyte differentiation, whereas it has no detectable effect on keratinocyte proliferation. Finally, IL-22 induces keratinocyte migration in an in vitro wound-healing model. IL-22 also upregulates the expression of the antimicrobial peptides human BD-2 and BD-3, but not BD-1. This induction depends on the keratinocyte differentiation state since an elevated calcium concentration promotes the IL-22-induced BD-2 expression [32]. High levels of IL-22 are associated with strongly upregulated BD-2 expression in skin from patients with psoriasis and atopic dermatitis [32].

2.3 IL-22 Belongs to a Set of Cytokines Displaying a Massive Synergistic Effect on Epidermal Inflammation

In addition to IL-22, numerous cytokines of the IL-1 (IL-1 α and β , IL-18), IL-2 (IL-4, IL-13, IL-21), IL-6 (IL-6, OSM, IL-31), IL-17 (IL-17A and IL-17F), IFN (IFN- α , IFN- γ), or TNF (TNF- α , TNF- β) families have been described to directly target keratinocytes [33]. Except for IL-4 and IL-13, these cytokines modified the expression of genes associated with inflammation, innate immunity, and differentiation. However, comparative and quantitative analysis demonstrates huge differences of expression induced by specific cytokines. For example, IL-22, as oncostatin M, both via the STAT3 activation pathway induced a strong inhibition of keratinocyte differentiation, as shown by decreased expression of filaggrin, loricrin, and involucrin and increase in the overall thickness of RHE [6, 7]. In contrast, the induction of chemokines, S100A7, or BD-2 by IL-22 and OSM is moderate. While IL-17 and the NF κ B-recruiting cytokines IL-1 and TNF- α strongly induced chemokines, S100A7, or BD-2 expression, they have no significant effect on keratinocyte differentiation [34, 35]. Nevertheless, it appears that single-cytokine stimulation generates a rather limited effect on keratinocytes, namely, a limited number and/or modulation of expression of targeted genes.

Since in physiological or physiopathological conditions, tissues are surrounded not by one cytokine but a complex milieu, study of the biological activities of cytokine combinations is of great interest. For example, combination of IL-17A and IFN- γ or IL-17A and TNF- α results in a synergistic effect on CXCL8 production by keratinocytes [36, 37]. IL-17A and IL-22 synergize in the upregulation of BD-2 and S100A9 production [38, 39].

IL-22, in association to IL-1 α , IL-17, OSM, and TNF- α , demonstrated a very strong synergy in increasing the expression of inflammatory molecules such as psoriasin/S100A7 or BD-2, or IL-8 in vitro by NHEK (approximately 10,000 times the spontaneous expression for BD-2) [34]. When IL-22 is removed of the cytokine mixture, CXCL8 and BD-2 expression is reduced of 30 %, whereas the decrease is

about 70 % after IL-17 removal. Using Affymetrix microarray analysis of NHEK treated by this cytokine mixture, about 1,400 genes are overexpressed, among others associated to innate immunity, and 1,560 downregulated, including 120 dealing with differentiation, and unexpected ones, whose relationship with skin inflammation remains to be established.

In addition, ex vivo studies on human skin explants demonstrated upregulation of BD-2, S100A7, and CXCL8 expression in response to the same combination of cytokines. In vivo intradermal injection of these five cytokines in mouse increased CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3, S100A9, and BD3 expression, associated with neutrophil infiltration and an early epidermal acanthosis [34](and manuscript in preparation).

3 IL-22 and Psoriasis

Affecting 2.5 % of the world's population, psoriasis is one of the best-studied chronic inflammatory disorders, characterized by a thickened epidermis, hyperproliferation, and abnormal differentiation of keratinocytes, accompanied by vascular hyperplasia and inflammatory immune cell infiltrates at the lesion site. The involvement of cytokines in the cross talk between immune cells and keratinocytes was postulated over 15 years ago for the cause of psoriasis [40], and psoriasis has been classically considered as a Th1 disease. Recent data showing that immune cells infiltrating the psoriatic skin secrete large amounts of inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , OSM, IL-22, IL-17, and IL-23, which play an important role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis, strongly modified this classification. Psoriasis is becoming the paradigm of an inflammatory disease involving the Th17 subset, complementing rather than replacing the Th1 theory.

3.1 IL-22 Induced a Psoriasis-Like Phenotype and Is Overexpressed in Psoriatic Lesions

As soon IL-22 has been described to target keratinocytes, it has been observed that the cytokine induces a psoriasis-like phenotype on RHE, i.e., hyperplasia with a thickening of the spinous layer and a disappearance of the granular layer [6, 30], and that the expression and secretory patterns of IL-22-treated keratinocytes resembled most of the features of psoriatic lesions [41]. Indeed, IL-22 is overexpressed in psoriatic lesions, whereas IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 are expressed at a similar level in psoriatic and healthy skin [32, 42]. IL-22 mRNA expression is upregulated in psoriatic skin lesions, whereas IL-22 mRNA levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from psoriatic patients and normal subjects are similar. The local production is confirmed by the presence of high IL-22 levels in culture

supernatants of psoriatic lesional skin. In addition, circulating IL-22 levels are significantly higher in psoriatic patients than in normal subjects [32, 42]. Interestingly, we can notice that OSM, the other STAT3 involving cytokine able to target keratinocytes with a quasi-redundant effect than IL-22, is also overexpressed in psoriatic lesions [7, 42], as well as the other Th17 cytokines IL-17A and IL-17F [43]. While the respective contribution of IL-17 and IL-22 in the physiopathology of psoriasis is now established, that of IL-22 and OSM remains to be elucidated.

Regarding in vivo reports, IL-22, as well as IL-20 or IL-24, overexpression in transgenic mice causes neonatal lethality with skin abnormalities resembling psoriatic skin, including a thickened epidermis and abnormal epidermal differentiation [11, 44]. On another hand, the epidermal thickness as well as STAT3 phosphorylation is highly reduced in IL-23-treated mice in the presence of IL-22-neutralizing antibodies or in IL-22-deficient mice [45]. Using an imiquimod-induced model of psoriasis in mice [46], Van Belle et al. recently demonstrated that IL-22-deficient mice are almost totally protected from psoriasis-like lesions [47].

At last, the role of IL-23 and Th17 cytokines in the pathophysiology of psoriasis has been highlighted by the demonstration that IL12/23p40 antibodies have therapeutic efficacy [48].

3.2 IL-22 Is Produced by Psoriatic Skin-Infiltrating Th17 and Th22 Lymphocytes

High levels of IL-22 are produced in psoriatic skin. CD4 and CD8 T cells infiltrating psoriatic lesions are an important source of IL-22, higher than peripheral T cells from psoriatic patients or controls [42]. These infiltrating T cells were also able to produce high IL-17 levels [43]. Interestingly, supernatants from T cells isolated from psoriasis skin are able to induce a "psoriasis-like" phenotype in cultured normal keratinocytes [42]. Further analysis of T cell infiltrating psoriatic skin suggested that Th17 lymphocytes produced IL-22 [49]. Studied at the clonal level, a correlation was observed between IL-22 and IL-17 production by T cells isolated from chronically inflamed tissue, including psoriatic skin, suggesting the coproduction of IL-17 and IL-22 by Th17 lymphocytes [50]. Besides the Th17 cells, a so-called Th22 subpopulation producing IL-22 but not IL-17 or IFN- γ has been recently described in circulation and in normal human dermis, expressing CCR6 and the skin-homing receptors CCR4 and CCR10 [35, 51, 52]. Th22 clones derived from psoriatic lesional skin have been further described, mostly in the epidermis compartment of the skin [53]. Not specific of psoriasis, Th22 is also increased in lesional skin of atopic dermatitis [54]. Th22 subset is induced by Langerhans cells in skin [55]. More recently, it has been demonstrated that the majority of IL-22-producing lymphocytes in psoriatic skin are T cytotoxic (Tc)22 more than Th22 [56]. Interestingly, these authors also suggested the plasticity of the cytokine production in skin between Th17 and Th22 and Tc17 and Tc22 cells. Otherwise, in both mice and man, it has been suspected that non-T cells in skin produce IL-22, such as dendritic cells, NK cells, and macrophages [47, 56].

3.3 Correlation of the Innate Immunity Profile of Psoriatic Skin Lesions and In Vitro Inflammatory Keratinocyte

We described above that IL-22 in vitro induces a RHE morphology resembling with the one of lesional psoriatic skin. We also reported that the combined activity of IL-22 with IL-1 α , IL-17A, OSM, and TNF- α led to high levels of chemokines and host defense proteins expression and inhibition of genes associated with keratinocyte differentiation [34] (unpublished results), generating an in vitro model of skin inflammation recapitulating some features of lesional psoriatic skin. The pathophysiological relevance of this model was assessed by comparison of its transcriptional profile with that of psoriatic skin [34]. Overall, increased expression of IL-22 associated to IL-17A, IL-1, IL-23, and OSM was reported in psoriatic skin. A correlation was found between in vitro and in vivo quantitative transcriptional profiles, demonstrating that a part of the characteristic "signature" for psoriasis was obtained in the in vitro model of keratinocyte inflammation obtained in the presence of these cytokines.

4 Concluding Remarks

In recent years, an increasing number of reports have led to defining a panel of proinflammatory cytokines able to play a central role in the induction and maintenance of chronic skin inflammation. Among them, IL-22 plays a key role. Figure 1 resumes the synergistic proinflammatory biological activities of IL-22 associated to IL-17, IL-1, TNF- α , and OSM on keratinocytes.

Taken together, it appears that IL-22 is a cytokine mainly produced by Th22 skin-infiltrating lymphocytes implicated in the initiation and/or maintenance of the pathogenesis of psoriasis. IL-22 is especially involved in the development of the epidermal hyperplasia and hypogranulosis and in combination with other proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, in the protection against microbial infection. The hyperplastic effect of IL-22 on keratinocytes in psoriasis suggests a deleterious effect, although this question is not necessarily so clear-cut, as the question of its redundancy with OSM in the disease.

Numerous studies focused on psoriasis as the paradigm of skin inflammatory diseases, albeit parallels between animals or in vitro models to a specific human pathology remained sometimes unsubstantiated. These studies open the way to new therapeutic strategies focusing on more specific and downstream targets,



Fig. 1 Characterization of the cytokine expression profile in psoriatic skin lesions, cell signaling pathways involved, and synergy of biological activities for epidermal differentiation and innate immunity (*CK10* cytokeratin 10, *BD2* β-defensin 2, *M5* combination of IL-1α, IL-17A, IL-22, OSM, and TNF-α)

i.e., keratinocyte-targeting cytokines rather than on a systemic inhibition of T lymphocytes overproducing cytokines.

The specific blockade of new cytokines or their receptors is an alternative approach for the treatment of psoriasis. In any cases, cytokines are very potent factors, with the advantages (or the defects, depending on the case) to be pleiotropic and redundant and to be involved in cascade. Such treatment could reduce the biological effects of an overproduced cytokine and/or disrupt the vicious circle involving it. Targeting more than one cytokine might be an alternative strategy to assure a complete and sustained clinical improvement.

IL12/23p40 antibodies have been demonstrated to have a powerful therapeutic efficacy [48], and some clinical trials using anti-IL17 are currently underway. In the near future, we look forward to the therapeutic advantages of IL-22 inhibitors such as antibodies or receptor antagonists. Obviously, the in vitro models of inflammatory epidermis induced by a specific set of cytokines could be useful tools to screen new drugs.

References

- 1. Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Nestle FO (2011) The multitasking organ: recent insights into skin immune function. Immunity 35:857
- Bernard FX, Pedretti N, Rosdy M, Deguercy A (2002) Comparison of gene expression profiles in human keratinocyte mono-layer cultures, reconstituted epidermis and normal human skin; transcriptional effects of retinoid treatments in reconstituted human epidermis. Exp Dermatol 11:59

- Gudjonsson JE, Johnston A, Dyson M, Valdimarsson H, Elder JT (2007) Mouse models of psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 127:1292
- 4. Wittmann M, Purwar R, Hartmann C, Gutzmer R, Werfel T (2005) Human keratinocytes respond to interleukin-18: implication for the course of chronic inflammatory skin diseases. J Invest Dermatol 124:1225
- Nomura I, Goleva E, Howell MD, Hamid QA, Ong PY, Hall CF, Darst MA, Gao B, Boguniewicz M, Travers JB, Leung DY (2003) Cytokine milieu of atopic dermatitis, as compared to psoriasis, skin prevents induction of innate immune response genes. J Immunol 171:3262
- Boniface K, Bernard FX, Garcia M, Gurney AL, Lecron JC, Morel F (2005) IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. J Immunol 174:3695
- Boniface K, Diveu C, Morel F, Pedretti N, Froger J, Ravon E, Garcia M, Venereau E, Preisser L, Guignouard E, Guillet G, Dagregorio G, Pene J, Moles J-P, Yssel H, Chevalier S, Bernard F-X, Gascan H, Lecron J-C (2007) Oncostatin M secreted by skin infiltrating T lymphocytes is a potent keratinocyte activator involved in skin inflammation. J Immunol 178:4615
- Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR (1989) Two types of mouse T helper cell IV Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J Exp Med 170:2081
- 9. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A (2001) Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol 19:683
- Gallagher G, Dickensheets H, Eskdale J, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Peat JD, Vazquez N, Pestka S, Donnelly RP, Kotenko SV (2000) Cloning, expression and initial characterization of interleukin-19 (IL-19), a novel homologue of human interleukin-10 (IL-10). Genes Immun 1:442
- 11. Blumberg H, Conklin D, Xu WF, Grossmann A, Brender T, Carollo S, Eagan M, Foster D, Haldeman BA, Hammond A, Haugen H, Jelinek L, Kelly JD, Madden K, Maurer MF, Parrish-Novak J, Prunkard D, Sexson S, Sprecher C, Waggie K, West J, Whitmore TE, Yao L, Kuechle MK, Dale BA, Chandrasekher YA (2001) Interleukin 20: discovery, receptor identification, and role in epidermal function. Cell 104:9
- 12. Xie MH, Aggarwal S, Ho WH, Foster J, Zhang Z, Stinson J, Wood WI, Goddard AD, Gurney AL (2000) Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2-4 and IL-22R. J Biol Chem 275:31335
- Dumoutier L, Louahed J, Renauld JC (2000) Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9. J Immunol 164:1814
- 14. Jiang H, Lin JJ, Su ZZ, Goldstein NI, Fisher PB (1995) Subtraction hybridization identifies a novel melanoma differentiation associated gene, mda-7, modulated during human melanoma differentiation, growth and progression. Oncogene 11:2477
- Knappe A, Hor S, Wittmann S, Fickenscher H (2000) Induction of a novel cellular homolog of interleukin-10, AK155, by transformation of T lymphocytes with herpesvirus saimiri. J Virol 74:3881
- Kotenko SV, Krause CD, Izotova LS, Pollack BP, Wu W, Pestka S (1997) Identification and functional characterization of a second chain of the interleukin-10 receptor complex. EMBO J 16:5894
- 17. Liu Y, Wei SH, Ho AS, de Waal Malefyt R, Moore KW (1994) Expression cloning and characterization of a human IL-10 receptor. J Immunol 152:1821
- 18. Kotenko SV, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Esterova E, Dickensheets H, Donnelly RP, Pestka S (2001) Identification of the functional interleukin-22 (IL-22) receptor complex: the IL-10R2 chain (IL-10Rbeta) is a common chain of both the IL-10 and IL-22 (IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, IL-TIF) receptor complexes. J Biol Chem 276:2725
- Sheikh F, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shah NK, Smirnov SV, Anantha S, Dickensheets H, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Zdanov A, Donnelly RP, Kotenko SV (2004) Cutting edge: IL-26

signals through a novel receptor complex composed of IL-20 receptor 1 and IL-10 receptor 2. J Immunol 172:2006

- 20. Hor S, Pirzer H, Dumoutier L, Bauer F, Wittmann S, Sticht H, Renauld JC, de Waal Malefyt R, Fickenscher H (2004) The T-cell lymphokine interleukin-26 targets epithelial cells through the interleukin-20 receptor 1 and interleukin-10 receptor 2 chains. J Biol Chem 279:33343
- Dumoutier L, Leemans C, Lejeune D, Kotenko SV, Renauld JC (2001) Cutting edge: STAT activation by IL-19, IL-20 and mda-7 through IL-20 receptor complexes of two types. J Immunol 167:3545
- 22. Wang M, Tan Z, Zhang R, Kotenko SV, Liang P (2002) Interleukin 24 (MDA-7/MOB-5) signals through two heterodimeric receptors, IL-22R1/IL-20R2 and IL-20R1/IL-20R2. J Biol Chem 277:7341
- 23. Parrish-Novak J, Xu W, Brender T, Yao L, Jones C, West J, Brandt C, Jelinek L, Madden K, McKernan PA, Foster DC, Jaspers S, Chandrasekher YA (2002) Interleukins 19, 20, and 24 signal through two distinct receptor complexes differences in receptor-ligand interactions mediate unique biological functions. J Biol Chem 277:47517
- 24. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2002) Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? J Immunol 168:5397
- Sato Y, Ohshima T, Kondo T (1999) Regulatory role of endogenous interleukin-10 in cutaneous inflammatory response of murine wound healing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 265:194
- 26. Seifert M, Gruenberg BH, Sabat R, Donner P, Gruetz G, Volk HD, Wolk K, Asadullah K (2003) Keratinocyte unresponsiveness towards interleukin-10: lack of specific binding due to deficient IL-10 receptor 1 expression. Exp Dermatol 12:137
- 27. Lecart S, Morel F, Noraz N, Pene J, Garcia M, Boniface K, Lecron JC, Yssel H (2002) IL-22, in contrast to IL-10, does not induce Ig production, due to absence of a functional IL-22 receptor on activated human B cells. Int Immunol 14:1351
- Nagalakshmi ML, Murphy E, McClanahan T, de Waal Malefyt R (2004) Expression patterns of IL-10 ligand and receptor gene families provide leads for biological characterization. Int Immunopharmacol 4:577
- 29. Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R (2004) IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. Immunity 21:241
- 30. Boniface K, Lecron JC, Bernard FX, Dagregorio G, Guillet G, Nau F, Morel F (2005) Keratinocytes as targets for interleukin-10-related cytokines: a putative role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Eur Cytokine Netw 16:309
- 31. Sa SM, Valdez PA, Wu J, Jung K, Zhong F, Hall L, Kasman I, Winer J, Modrusan Z, Danilenko DM, Ouyang W (2007) The effects of IL-20 subfamily cytokines on reconstituted human epidermis suggest potential roles in cutaneous innate defense and pathogenic adaptive immunity in psoriasis. J Immunol 178:2229
- 32. Wolk K, Witte E, Wallace E, Döcke W, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Volk H, Sterry W, Sabat R (2006) IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol 36:1309
- 33. Lecron J, Morel F, Boniface K, Bernard F (2008) Keratinocytes as targets for cytokines in skin inflammation. In: Saeland S (ed) Recent advances in skin immunology. Research Signpost, Kerala, p 46
- 34. Guilloteau K, Paris I, Pedretti N, Boniface K, Juchaux F, Huguier V, Guillet G, Bernard FX, Lecron JC, Morel F (2010) Skin inflammation induced by the synergistic action of IL-17A, IL-22, oncostatin M, IL-1{alpha}, and TNF-{alpha} recapitulates some features of psoriasis. J Immunol 184:5256
- 35. Nograles KE, Zaba LC, Guttman-Yassky E, Fuentes-Duculan J, Suárez-Fariñas M, Cardinale I, Khatcherian A, Gonzalez J, Pierson KC, White TR, Pensabene C, Coats I, Novitskaya I, Lowes MA, Krueger JG (2008) Th17 cytokines interleukin (IL)-17 and IL-22 modulate distinct inflammatory and keratinocyte-response pathways. Br J Dermatol 159:1092

- 36. Teunissen MB, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA, Bos JD (1998) Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111:645
- 37. Albanesi C, Cavani A, Girolomoni G (1999) IL-17 is produced by nickel-specific T lymphocytes and regulates ICAM-1 expression and chemokine production in human keratinocytes: synergistic or antagonist effects with IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha. J Immunol 162:494
- Liang SC, Tan X-Y, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA (2006) Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. J Exp Med 203:2271
- 39. Ghannam S, Dejou C, Pedretti N, Giot JP, Dorgham K, Boukhaddaoui H, Deleuze V, Bernard FX, Jorgensen C, Yssel H, Pene J (2011) CCL20 and beta-defensin-2 induce arrest of human Th17 cells on inflamed endothelium in vitro under flow conditions. J Immunol 186:1411
- 40. Nickoloff BJ (2007) Cracking the cytokine code in psoriasis. Nat Med 13:242
- Bowcock AM, Krueger JG (2005) Getting under the skin: the immunogenetics of psoriasis. Nat Rev Immunol 5:699
- 42. Boniface K, Guignouard E, Pedretti N, Garcia M, Delwail A, Bernard F, Nau F, Guillet G, Dagregorio G, Yssel H, Lecron J, Morel F (2007) A role for T cell-derived Interleukin 22 in psoriatic skin inflammation. Clin Exp Immunol 150:407
- 43. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, Basham B, Smith K, Chen T, Morel F, Lecron J-C, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, McClanahan TK, Bowman EP, de Waal Malefyt R (2007) Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. Nat Immunol 8:950
- 44. He M, Liang P (2010) IL-24 transgenic mice: in vivo evidence of overlapping functions for IL-20, IL-22, and IL-24 in the epidermis. J Immunol 184:1793
- 45. Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W (2007) Interleukin-22, a TH17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 445:648
- 46. van der Fits L, Mourits S, Voerman JS, Kant M, Boon L, Laman JD, Cornelissen F, Mus AM, Florencia E, Prens EP, Lubberts E (2009) Imiquimod-induced psoriasis-like skin inflammation in mice is mediated via the IL-23/IL-17 axis. J Immunol 182:5836
- 47. Van Belle AB, de Heusch M, Lemaire MM, Hendrickx E, Warnier G, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Fouser LA, Renauld JC, Dumoutier L (2012) IL-22 is required for imiquimod-induced psoriasiform skin inflammation in mice. J Immunol 188:462
- 48. Krueger GG, Langley RG, Leonardi C, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y, Dooley LT, Lebwohl M et al (2007) A human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody for the treatment of psoriasis. N Engl J Med 356:580
- 49. Lowes MA, Kikuchi T, Fuentes-Duculan J, Cardinale I, Zaba LC, Haider AS, Bowman EP, Krueger JG (2008) Psoriasis vulgaris lesions contain discrete populations of Th1 and Th17 T cells. J Invest Dermatol 128:1207
- 50. Pene J, Chevalier S, Preisser L, Venereau E, Guilleux M-H, Ghannam S, Moles J-P, Danger Y, Ravon E, Lesaux S, Yssel H, Gascan H (2008) Chronically inflamed human tissues are infiltrated by highly differentiated Th17 lymphocytes. J Immunol 180:7423
- 51. Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H (2009) Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from TH-17, TH1 and TH2 cells. Nat Immunol 10:864
- 52. Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F (2009) Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. Nat Immunol 10:857
- 53. Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Pennino D, Carbone T, Nasorri F, Pallotta S, Cianfarani F, Odorisio T, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Behrendt H, Durham SR, Schmidt-Weber CB, Cavani A (2009) Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling. J Clin Invest 119:3573

- 54. Nograles KE, Zaba LC, Shemer A, Fuentes-Duculan J, Cardinale I, Kikuchi T, Ramon M, Bergman R, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E (2009) IL-22-producing "T22" T cells account for upregulated IL-22 in atopic dermatitis despite reduced IL-17-producing TH17 T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:1244
- 55. Fujita H, Nograles KE, Kikuchi T, Gonzalez J, Carucci JA, Krueger JG (2009) Human Langerhans cells induce distinct IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells lacking IL-17 production. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:21795
- 56. Res PC, Piskin G, de Boer OJ, van der Loos CM, Teeling P, Bos JD, Teunissen MB (2010) Overrepresentation of IL-17A and IL-22 producing CD8 T cells in lesional skin suggests their involvement in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. PLoS One 5:e14108

Part V Novel Tools and Therapeutic Avenues

Genetic Mouse Models to Investigate IL-17 Responses

Andrew L. Croxford and Thorsten Buch

Abstract Th17 cells have recently acquired notoriety after their association with tissue inflammation. IL-17A secretion is considered the hallmark of Th17 function. It exhibits strong proinflammatory properties and is considered to be a major driving force in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity. A vast amount of data is now available, highlighting the complex role of IL-17 family cytokines and their functions in physiological processes. As a consequence of the burst of interest surrounding these cytokines, new mouse strains have been developed to study their roles in pathogenic processes. In this chapter, examples of the knowledge gained using mice designed to track IL-17-expressing cell types, alter IL-17A expression or disrupt IL-17 signalling are delineated. Also, current options available for generating such strains and their potential drawbacks are discussed.

Keywords IL-17A • IL-17F • Lineage tracing • Reporter strain • Transgenesis • Cre-loxP • Gene targeting

1 The Th17 Subset

Twenty years ago, Mosmann and Coffman put an immunological dogma into place by describing the stable differentiation of naive T helper cells into two distinct effector lineages, Th1 and Th2, defined by their 'signature' cytokines, IFN- γ and

A.L. Croxford (🖂)

T. Buch

Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstr. 190, Zürich CH-8057, Switzerland

e-mail: andrewlewis.croxford@uzh.ch

Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstr. 190, Zürich CH-8057, Switzerland

Institute for Medical Microbiology, Immunology and Hygiene, Technische Universität München, Trogerstrasse 30, Munich 81675, Germany

IL-4 [42]. These patterns were hypothesised to be mutually exclusive, with cytokines from one subset inhibiting differentiation of the other and supporting differentiation into its own lineage. Much of the current thinking surrounding T helper cell subsets is still derived from these landmark experiments. Naive T cells can differentiate into distinct lineages, and these lineages have a unique and transcriptionally stable gene expression signature. While the dogma of a Th1/Th2 dichotomy for CD4⁺ T helper (Th) cell differentiation was stable for many years, the field has seen in recent years multiple additions to the types of differentiated Th cells. Interleukin-17 (IL-17)-expressing T cells, now termed Th17 cells, are now widely considered to have fulfilled the criteria as a distinct T helper cell subset as distinct transcription factors necessary for their differentiation were defined. They have been at the centre of a recent surge of interest within the immunology community, mostly because of their connection to a variety of immunological dysfunctions.

2 Classical Methods to Investigate Cytokine Biology

The two Th17 cytokines IL-17A and IL-17F are part of the communication system between cells of the immune system and other cells in the body. Such information exchange is essential for successful immune responses, maintenance of immune homeostasis and implementation of tolerance. The 'crosstalk' between the involved cell types is facilitated by direct interaction of cells through surface receptors as well as release and binding of soluble messengers. These soluble immune mediators, broadly termed 'cytokines', attract immune cells to sites of inflammation and direct the immune response by supporting differentiation of specialised subsets and by attraction as well as activation of specialised effector cells.

The development of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) allowed the quantification of cytokines in liquids such as serum and cell culture supernatants. ELISA-mediated cytokine quantification is possible for IL-17A and F through commercial kits or antibody pairs. The enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot (ELISPOT) facilitates the counting of cultured cells secreting a particular cytokine and is also widely used to identify IL-17A-expressing cells [15]. Flow cytometry allows the easy analysis of cell surface differentiation markers in combination with various cytokines through the use of intracellular cytokine staining. However, because this method requires fixation, cells cannot be sorted, transferred or analysed by any assay requiring live material. To obtain living cytokine-secreting cells, a cytokine secretion assay, which is in essence a combination of ELISPOT and flow cytometry, overcomes this problem and allows the detection of secreted cytokine through catching by specific antibodies coupled to the cell surface [2, 3]. This technology allows the purification of viable cytokine-secreting cells and reflects physiological cytokine release. One drawback of this method is, however, that the cells have to be activated in vitro to facilitate secretion of the specific cytokines in amounts sufficient for detection.

3 Transgenic Methods for the Investigation of IL-17 Biology

Much of the knowledge we now possess describing in vivo cytokine function has been a direct result of experiments using transgenic cytokine-overexpressing mouse lines and mice with targeted gene disruptions [8]. In fact, some of the very first targeted genomic mutations were in genes encoding the cytokines IL-4 [31], IL-2 [51] and IL-10 [30]. Subsequently, to answer more intricate questions, cell typespecific gene deficiency and inducible gene deficiency, broadly termed 'conditional knockouts', were introduced. This method relies on the combination of expression of a recombinase (usually Cre) controlled in time or location, with a target allele modified in such a way that it contains target sites for this recombinase (usually loxP sites) [48]. The advantages of conditional knockouts can be exemplified using mice deficient for IL-17A. Due to numerous cellular sources of this cytokine [27, 45], complete IL-17A deficiency has not yet answered what role Th17 cells play in vivo. A different way to detect cytokine production, for example, IL-17A and IL-17F, is the use of transgenic expression of marker molecules under control of their specific promoters. Fluorescent proteins are nowadays the method of choice for such reporter transgenes. Molecules such as β-Gal, luciferase and surface proteins (e.g. Thy1.1, human CD2, human CD4 [4, 39, 50]) allow the generation of 'reporter transgenes' in a more specific sense as a direct correlate for ongoing gene transcription. Such 'reporter' mice allow the study of cytokine expression without modifying protein itself. They enable the rapid and easy investigation of development and differentiation, proliferation, survival and migration by indicating the localisation and phenotype of cytokine-secreting cells in an unaltered environment. Furthermore, they can also be combined with other genetic modifications to enhance the potential of previously existing models.

One problem of many commonly used reporter mice is that the half-life of the reporter protein is too long, thus masking rapid changes in transcriptional responses. To overcome this, a PEST degradation domain can be attached to the fluorescent protein [35]. This reduces the half-life of the reporter protein dramatically and thus links the detection closer to promoter activity. Nevertheless, this method cannot overcome the problem of distinct translation and folding kinetics of non-secreted reporter proteins compared with secreted cytokine proteins. Therefore, a further challenge in cytokine biology lies in monitoring not only expression but also protein stability, storage and release of a cytokine. Attempts to achieve this have only been made so far by fusion of IL-15 to EGFP [14, 52].

Reporters using surface molecules and not fluorescent proteins have distinct advantages because antibodies labelled with different fluorochromes can be used to identify marker-expressing cells. Thus, this approach may be a more versatile alternative in multicolour staining protocols. Also, such surface markers can be used to deplete mice of cytokine-expressing cells after administration of a specific antibody. Another strategy becoming ever more 'fashionable' is the use of multicistronic transgenes, combining a fluorescent protein, luciferase, Cre and possibly diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR) [53].

A distinct class of mice, sometimes also called reporters, are animals which combine expression of Cre recombinase with a fluorescent conditional reporter strain. Such animals are effectively tracing whether, in case of the use of IL-17A or IL-17F promoters, a cell is or has been expressing one of the cytokines at some point during its life, going as far back as its earliest developmental stage. While such tracer strains are very effective in lineage analysis experiments, they are not able to indicate acute and immediate cytokine expression. These strains are hampered by the kinetic of Cre expression, recombination of a conditional STOP cassette and final expression of the reporter molecule itself, which in all likelihood requires a longer time than expression of the protein being traced.

For the generation of reporter strains, conventional transgenic mouse strains and targeted insertions ('knock-ins'), bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) transgeness can be used. In conventional transgenesis, pronuclear injection leads to random genomic integration of the transgene (tg), which contains all required expression elements. To rely solely on all endogenous elements, knock-in strains can be generated in which the marker gene is introduced into the locus of interest [49]. In this approach, internal ribosome entry sites (IRES) [43] or 2A sites can be used to avoid the generation of null alleles. BAC-mediated marker expression is an alternative method, which does not require promoter characterisation but maintains the speed of conventional transgenesis [23]. For the generation of reporter strains by either of these methods, fluorescent proteins such as EGFP, EYFP, RFP, mCherry and tdTomato are in most cases the molecules of choice, given their ease of use in microscopy and FACS analysis. As mentioned above, expression of foreign surface proteins such as Thy1.1 or human CD4 represents another option.

4 Basic Biology of IL-17A and IL-17F

As is so often the case in scientific discovery, the observation that TGF- β and IL-6 are sufficient to induce IL-17A expression from naive T cells was made somewhat unexpectedly. It was the result of trying to identify soluble factors capable of inhibiting Foxp3 expression, thus induction of regulatory T cells, upon activation in the presence of TGF- β . [6, 37, 38, 53]. Given that TGF- β and IL-6 are thought to have largely opposing functions, their apparent synergy during IL-17 expression from T cells was for many a curious observation. Indeed, disrupting IL-6 signalling, either through receptor or ligand knockouts, resulted in an inhibition of Th17 differentiation [29]. Depletion of regulatory T cells, however, was able to overcome the resistance to EAE observed in both IL-6^{-/-} and gp130^{-/-} T cells, which was credited to a partial restoration in Th17 differentiation even in the absence of IL-6 [28, 29]. These findings implied that another factor was capable of inducing Th17 cells in combination with TGF- β . IL-21 in combination with TGF- β was later identified as the alternative pathway to IL-6-mediated Th17 differentiation [28].

After initial differentiation of Th17 cells in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6 and/or IL-21, further events take place to ensure that the proinflammatory phenotype is maintained during an immune response. IL-23, an antigen-presenting cell

(APC)-derived cytokine of the IL-12 cytokine family, was demonstrated to promote the production of IL-17 from primed T lymphocytes [1]. It was further reported that IL-23 was key to expanding IL-17-expressing CD4⁺ T cells. *Il23a*-deficient mice were found to be fully resistant to EAE and also lacked T cells capable of expressing IL-17 [11, 32, 44]. It was then proposed that IL-23 was a factor responsible for expansion of differentiated Th17 cells. It was shown in these same publications that IL-23-polarised cells express high levels of IL-17A, IL-17F and TNF- α . Further evidence comes from the finding that transgenic expression of ROR γ t in naive T cells is sufficient to upregulate *il23r* (IL-23R) expression [21], implying that IL-23R signalling is a critical event which takes place during Th17 differentiation.

Like Th1 and Th2 cells, Th17 cells are biologically defined by expression of a unique transcription factor. The ROR γ t isoform of ROR γ , a member of the retinoicacid-receptor-related orphan nuclear hormone receptor family [22] that had been described to be solely expressed in immune cells [12], was shown by Ivanov and colleagues to be the master regulator controlling Th17 differentiation [21]. In this study, ROR γ t was induced by TGF- β and IL-6 [34], and overexpression of ROR γ t was able to induce de novo Th17 differentiation if both Th1- and Th2-polarising cytokines were neutralised. Also, RORyt-deficient T cells are also almost completely incapacitated in IL-17A and IL-17F production in response to TGF-B, IL-6 and IL-21 [47, 60]. ROR α , a close relative of ROR γ , is considered to be a minor player in Th17 generation since ROR α deficiency in T cells only resulted in a minimal decrease in IL-17A and IL-23R expression [57]. In addition to RORyt, interferon regulatory factor-4 (IRF-4) seems to be another factor crucial to the generation of Th17 cells as its deficiency completely abolishes Th17 differentiation. Such $IRF-4^{-/-}$ T cells are unable to upregulate ROR γ t expression in response to TGF- β and IL-6 [7], and as such IRF-4 function can be placed upstream of ROR γ t. Collectively, these publications identified ROR γ t and IRF-4 as key regulators of Th17 cell differentiation.

5 Genetically Manipulating the IL-17A Signalling Pathway

A new research niche focussing on IL-17 signalling and the Th17 cell subset has benefited greatly from the introduction of new mouse strains either reporting on IL-17 expression or carrying alterations of IL-17 expression or signalling capabilities. It seems to be generally accepted that IL-17A and IL-17F play a major role in coordinating local tissue inflammation via the induction of proinflammatory chemokines and neutrophil-mobilising cytokines. This is at least in part due to release of CXCL1, a potent attractant of neutrophils, in direct response to IL-17A signalling [25]. After their generation in the bone marrow, neutrophils, which are the most abundant nucleated cell in the blood, are rapidly recruited to sites of infection by a variety of chemoattractants.

IL-17RA is to date the most thoroughly characterised receptor of the IL-17R family [26]. Many studies aimed at elucidating the role of IL-17 signalling in host defence have relied on mice lacking the IL-17RA chain. With respect to defence

against bacteria, IL-17A was shown to be induced in a time- and dose-dependent fashion during an immune response to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* [17, 58]. Conversely, mice deficient for the IL-17R succumb to a pulmonary challenge with the same bacteria [59]. This report documented a dramatic decrease in neutrophil recruitment into the infected lung, reduced granulopoietic output from the bone marrow and significantly reduced production of local G-CSF. In support of this data, antibody-mediated neutralisation of IL-17A was able to reduce accumulation of neutrophils into the bronchoalveolar space after administration of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [13, 41].

In addition to its role in host defence against extracellular bacteria, IL-17 signalling is now known to be essential during the immune response against fungi and parasites. Upon *Candida albicans* challenge, IL-17R-deficient mice were shown to have increased kidney fungal burden and decreased survival [20]. Infection with toxoplasma, a protozoan pathogen, in IL-17R-deficient mice resulted in a decreased survival rate and increased parasite burden due to reduced neutrophil recruitment [24]. Thus, genetic ablation of the IL-17 signalling cascade has revealed an important role for IL-17 signalling against a broad array of pathogenic organisms.

6 IL-17 Modulation in CNS Autoimmunity

IL-17A was also shown to be upregulated in CNS lesions of multiple sclerosis patients [36]. It is thought that IL-17A drives the inflammatory process and contributes to blood-brain barrier breakdown. While IL-17A was considered to be one of the main driving forces behind CNS inflammation in EAE, it was surprising that this opinion was largely based on correlative relationships between Th17 cells and their presence in an inflammatory lesion. Initial attempts to neutralise IL-17A with an antagonistic antibody or IL-17A and IL-17F with a soluble IL-17 receptor both failed to completely abrogate the progression of EAE [19]. Komiyama et al. addressed the role of IL-17A in EAE using a genetic model, generating an IL-17A-deficient mouse strain [27]. Unlike the deficiencies in IL-23 (p19) and IL-6, which render mice completely resistant to EAE, loss of IL-17A does not completely inhibit the development of EAE.

At this juncture, transgenically manipulated IL-17A expression was utilised to address the importance of IL-17A in the disease pathogenesis of MOG-induced EAE. Mice were generated in which T cells were forced to produce high levels of IL-17A. This was achieved by crossing the IL-17A^{ind} allele to the CD4-Cre transgene [16]. Surprisingly, highly increased levels of T cell-derived IL-17A did not accelerate or increase the severity of EAE or alter the quality of CNS inflammation. Furthermore, it was shown that IL-17A neutralisation in IL-17F-deficient mice, which are otherwise fully susceptible to EAE [55], did not ameliorate progression of paralysis in these mice [16]. Thus, using a combination of strains

designed to shut off or overexpress IL-17A, we can deduce that IL-17A is not a crucial cytokine for the pathogenesis observed in EAE. One could more likely conclude that the disruption of IL-17A and IL-17F production is merely a contributing factor, but not the main cause of the complete EAE resistance observed in IL-23- and IL-6-deficient mice [11, 29].

7 Fate Mapping of Th17 Cells Using Reporter and Tracer Mice

While T cells are able to express a plethora of cytokines, only few of these define terminally differentiated T cell (sub)lineages. Because stability lies at the heart of the definition as a new lineage, the topic of 'plasticity' is currently a major focus of Th17 research. The generation of Th17 reporters has helped greatly in revealing many facets of Th17 regulation and phenotypic plasticity. Interestingly, even though the hallmark cytokine of Th17 cells is IL-17A, the first three described reporter mice utilised the IL-17F promoter. These reporters expressed red fluorescent protein (RFP), Cre recombinase and Thy1.1 [10, 33, 56]. The problem with these reporters was, however, that expression of IL-17A and IL-17F, although largely overlapping, is not consistently linked in individual cells—an observation confirmed by use of these reporters.

Through the use of the IL-17F-RFP reporter in combination with a Foxp3-GFP strain, cells co-expressing CD4, GFP and RFP were found in cultures designed to polarise Th17 cells. This suggested that both Th17 and Treg cell developmental programmes are induced simultaneously and coexist for a period of time prior to complete differentiation of Th17 cells [56]. In addition to the fact that IL-6 inhibits differentiation of induced Treg cells, it was further shown that naturally occurring GFP⁺ Tregs are able to 'redifferentiate' into RFP⁺GFP Th17 cells in the presence of IL-6. We contributed to this unresolved issue when we showed that fully differentiated Th17 cells are resistant to TGF- β -mediated upregulation of Foxp3, implying that terminal differentiation of Th17 cells inhibits subsequent reversion to a Treg phenotype [10]. Also, we and others observed that upon adoptive transfer of live Th17 cells, their signature cytokine expression is unstable, and downregulation of IL-17A and IL-17F occurs in the absence of proinflammatory cytokines [5, 10, 46].

A common feature of 'Th17-mediated' inflammatory states is the presence of IL-17A⁺IFN- γ^+ T cells in the inflamed organ. Using intracellular staining alone, it was not clear if these double-positive cells are derived from differentiated Th17 cells or Th1 cells. Lee et al. showed in a Thy1.1-expressing IL-17F reporter strain that purified Th17 cells exposed to different cytokine milieus respond to IL-12 with upregulation of IFN- γ [33]. Therefore, it seems that IL-17⁺IFN- γ^+ cells are, at least in part, reprogrammed Th17 cells, but this point remains to be definitively proven using a fate mapping approach in vivo. Following the initial findings documented for Th17 cells using the above-mentioned strains targeting IL-17F expression, a new IL-17A-Cre strain was developed by Stockinger and colleagues and was used to highlight some fundamental aspects of Th17 biology [18]. For lineage tracing

they crossed the IL-17A-Cre and an EYFP conditional reporter. This marked all cells with EYFP that had previously expressed IL-17A by excision of a STOP cassette inhibiting expression of the EYFP reporter protein. Analysis of Th17 development in IL-23p19-deficient IL-17A tracer mice revealed, perhaps not surprisingly, less EYFP-expressing cells. However, a crucial observation was made, when the well-documented double-positive IL-17A⁺IFN- γ^+ population was not observed in the absence of IL-23. The authors suggested that IL-23 expression lies upstream of T-bet and may be necessary for its expression in vivo and that IL-23 signalling marks at least one stage of the observed plasticity of Th17 cells in their decision to upregulate IFN- γ . The authors also showed that GM-CSF was coexpressed by EYFP⁺ cells [18], opening the question of which molecular switch will result in GM-CSF expression from Th17 cells. Should this be found, it will again raise the issue of whether or not Th17 cells are in fact a stable cell lineage at all or whether an intrinsic plasticity exists within this cell population. Evidence gathered to date clearly points in the direction that Th17 cells can in fact upregulate expression of cytokines generally considered to be hallmark cytokines of other lineages, namely, IFN- γ and GM-CSF. Given the clear association and absolute requirement of GM-CSF for the pathogenesis of EAE [9, 40], this particular avenue of research will no doubt garner great interest. Potentially, the generation of new reporter strains designed to specifically follow GM-CSF expression in vivo will be required to answer more intricate questions relating to GM-CSF biology.

Thus, the question as to when a cell becomes terminally differentiated to stably produce IL-17 is still open, but many interesting observations were made using the genetic tools currently available to us and will no doubt continue to contribute to the pool of knowledge in the coming years.

References

- Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL (2003) Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. J Biol Chem 278(3):1910–1914
- Assenmacher M, Lohning M, Radbruch A (2002) Detection and isolation of cytokine secreting cells using the cytometric cytokine secretion assay. Curr Protoc Immunol, Chapter 6: Unit 6.27.1 – 6.27.10
- Assenmacher M, Lohning M, Scheffold A, Manz RA, Schmitz J, Radbruch A (1998) Sequential production of IL-2, IFN-gamma and IL-10 by individual staphylococcal enterotoxin B-activated T helper lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 28(5):1534–1543
- 4. Back A, East K, Hickstein D (1995) Leukocyte integrin CD11b promoter directs expression in lymphocytes and granulocytes in transgenic mice. Blood 85(4):1017–1024
- Bending D, De la Pena H, Veldhoen M, Phillips JM, Uyttenhove C, Stockinger B, Cooke A (2009) Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/ SCID recipient mice. J Clin Invest 119(3):565–572
- 6. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK (2006) Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 441(7090):235–238

- Brustle A, Heink S, Huber M, Rosenplanter C, Stadelmann C, Yu P, Arpaia E, Mak TW, Kamradt T, Lohoff M (2007) The development of inflammatory T(H)-17 cells requires interferon-regulatory factor 4. Nat Immunol 8(9):958–966
- Capecchi MR (1989) Altering the genome by homologous recombination. Science 244 (4910):1288–1292
- Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, Suter T, Becher B (2011) RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. Nat Immunol 12(6):560–567
- Croxford AL, Kurschus FC, Waisman A (2009) Cutting edge: an IL-17F-CreEYFP reporter mouse allows fate mapping of Th17 cells. J Immunol 182(3):1237–1241
- 11. Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T, Zurawski S, Wiekowski M, Lira SA, Gorman D, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421(6924):744–748
- 12. Eberl G, Littman DR (2003) The role of the nuclear hormone receptor RORgammat in the development of lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. Immunol Rev 195:81–90
- Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR, Jones CE, Trifilieff A (2003) IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol 170(4):2106–2112
- 14. Gaggero A, Azzarone B, Andrei C, Mishal Z, Meazza R, Zappia E, Rubartelli A, Ferrini S (1999) Differential intracellular trafficking, secretion and endosomal localization of two IL-15 isoforms. Eur J Immunol 29(4):1265–1274
- Gutcher I, Urich E, Wolter K, Prinz M, Becher B (2006) Interleukin 18-independent engagement of interleukin 18 receptor-alpha is required for autoimmune inflammation. Nat Immunol 7(9):946–953
- Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, Waisman A (2009) IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. J Clin Invest 119(1):61–69
- Happel KI, Zheng M, Young E, Quinton LJ, Lockhart E, Ramsay AJ, Shellito JE, Schurr JR, Bagby GJ, Nelson S, Kolls JK (2003) Cutting edge: roles of Toll-like receptor 4 and IL-23 in IL-17 expression in response to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. J Immunol 170(9):4432–4436
- Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, Ahlfors H, Wilhelm C, Tolaini M, Menzel U, Garefalaki A, Potocnik AJ, Stockinger B (2011) Fate mapping of IL-17producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol 12(3):255–263
- Hofstetter HH, Ibrahim SM, Koczan D, Kruse N, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Gold R (2005) Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Immunol 237(2):123–130
- Huang W, Na L, Fidel PL, Schwarzenberger P (2004) Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-*Candida albicans* host defense in mice. J Infect Dis 190(3):624–631
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR (2006) The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 126(6):1121–1133
- Jetten AM (2004) Recent advances in the mechanisms of action and physiological functions of the retinoid-related orphan receptors (RORs). Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy 3(4):395–412
- 23. Johansson T, Broll I, Frenz T, Hemmers S, Becher B, Zeilhofer HU, Buch T (2010) Building a zoo of mice for genetic analyses: a comprehensive protocol for the rapid generation of BAC transgenic mice. Genesis 48(4):264–280
- 24. Kelly MN, Kolls JK, Happel K, Schwartzman JD, Schwarzenberger P, Combe C, Moretto M, Khan IA (2005) Interleukin-17/interleukin-17 receptor-mediated signaling is important for generation of an optimal polymorphonuclear response against *Toxoplasma gondii* infection. Infect Immun 73(1):617–621
- Kolls JK, Kanaly ST, Ramsay AJ (2003) Interleukin-17: an emerging role in lung inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28(1):9–11
- Kolls JK, Linden A (2004) Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21 (4):467–476

- Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2006) IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 177(1):566–573
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK (2007) IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature 448 (7152):484–487
- 29. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, Vollmar P, Stritesky GL, Kaplan MH, Waisman A, Kuchroo VK, Oukka M (2008) IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105(47):18460–18465
- Kühn R, Löhler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Müller W (1993). Interleukin-10 deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. Cell Oct 22;75(2):263–74.
- Kuhn R, Rajewsky K, Muller W (1991) Generation and analysis of interleukin-4 deficient mice. Science 254(5032):707–710
- 32. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 201(2):233–240
- 33. Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO, Weaver CT (2009) Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity 30(1):92–107
- 34. Li W, Carper K, Zheng XX, Kuhr CS, Reyes JD, Liang Y, Perkins DL, Thomson AW, Perkins JD (2006) The role of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in liver transplant tolerance. Transplant Proc 38(10):3205–3206
- 35. Li X, Zhao X, Fang Y, Jiang X, Duong T, Fan C, Huang CC, Kain SR (1998) Generation of destabilized green fluorescent protein as a transcription reporter. J Biol Chem 273 (52):34970–34975
- 36. Lock C, Hermans G, Pedotti R, Brendolan A, Schadt E, Garren H, Langer-Gould A, Strober S, Cannella B, Allard J, Klonowski P, Austin A, Lad N, Kaminski N, Galli SJ, Oksenberg JR, Raine CS, Heller R, Steinman L (2002) Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat Med 8(5):500–508
- 37. Manel N, Unutmaz D, Littman DR (2008) The differentiation of human T(H)-17 cells requires transforming growth factor-beta and induction of the nuclear receptor RORgammat. Nat Immunol 9(6):641–649
- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Wahl SM, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT (2006) Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. Nature 441(7090):231–234
- 39. Maynard CL, Harrington LE, Janowski KM, Oliver JR, Zindl CL, Rudensky AY, Weaver CT (2007) Regulatory T cells expressing interleukin 10 develop from Foxp3+ and Foxp3- precursor cells in the absence of interleukin 10. Nat Immunol 8(9):931–941
- 40. McQualter JL, Darwiche R, Ewing C, Onuki M, Kay TW, Hamilton JA, Reid HH, Bernard CC (2001) Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor: a new putative therapeutic target in multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med 194(7):873–882
- 41. Miyamoto M, Prause O, Sjostrand M, Laan M, Lotvall J, Linden A (2003) Endogenous IL-17 as a mediator of neutrophil recruitment caused by endotoxin exposure in mouse airways. J Immunol 170(9):4665–4672
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (1986) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136(7):2348–2357
- 43. Mosser DD, Caron AW, Bourget L, Jolicoeur P, Massie B (1997) Use of a dicistronic expression cassette encoding the green fluorescent protein for the screening and selection of cells expressing inducible gene products. Biotechniques 22(1):150–154, 156, 158–161
- 44. Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ (2003) Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 198(12):1951–1957

- 45. Nakae S, Komiyama Y, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwase M, Homma I, Sekikawa K, Asano M, Iwakura Y (2002) Antigen-specific T cell sensitization is impaired in IL-17-deficient mice, causing suppression of allergic cellular and humoral responses. Immunity 17(3):375–387
- 46. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Chung Y, Dong C (2009) Cutting edge: in vitro generated Th17 cells maintain their cytokine expression program in normal but not lymphopenic hosts. J Immunol 182(5):2565–2568
- 47. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Dong C (2007) Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 448(7152):480–483
- Rajewsky K, Gu H, Kuhn R, Betz UA, Muller W, Roes J, Schwenk F (1996) Conditional gene targeting. J Clin Invest 98(3):600–603
- Rickert RC, Roes J, Rajewsky K (1997) B lymphocyte-specific, Cre-mediated mutagenesis in mice. Nucleic Acids Res 25(6):1317–1318
- 50. Schiemann B, Gommerman JL, Vora K, Cachero TG, Shulga-Morskaya S, Dobles M, Frew E, Scott ML (2001) An essential role for BAFF in the normal development of B cells through a BCMA-independent pathway. Science 293(5537):2111–2114
- Schorle H, Holtschke T, Hunig T, Schimpl A, Horak I (1991) Development and function of T cells in mice rendered interleukin-2 deficient by gene targeting. Nature 352(6336):621–624
- 52. Sharma S, Guptasarma P (2008) Dimorphic aggregation behavior of a fusion polypeptide incorporating a stable protein domain (EGFP) with an amyloidogenic sequence (retroCspA). FEBS Lett 582(15):2203–2211
- 53. Shalapour S, Deiser K, Kühl AA, Glauben R, Krug SM, Fischer A, Sercan O, Chappaz S, Bereswill S, Heimesaat MM, Loddenkemper C, Fromm M, Finke D, Hämmerling GJ, Arnold B, Siegmund B, Schüler T (2012) Interleukin-7 links T lymphocyte and intestinal epithelial cell homeostasis. PLoS One. 7(2):e31939. Epub 2012 Feb 27
- 54. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24(2):179–189
- 55. Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang YH, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z, Dong C (2008) Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J Exp Med 205(5):1063–1075
- 56. Yang XO, Nurieva R, Martinez GJ, Kang HS, Chung Y, Pappu BP, Shah B, Chang SH, Schluns KS, Watowich SS, Feng XH, Jetten AM, Dong C (2008) Molecular antagonism and plasticity of regulatory and inflammatory T cell programs. Immunity 29(1):44–56
- 57. Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, Ma L, Shah B, Panopoulos AD, Schluns KS, Watowich SS, Tian Q, Jetten AM, Dong C (2008) T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. Immunity 28(1):29–39
- 58. Ye P, Garvey PB, Zhang P, Nelson S, Bagby G, Summer WR, Schwarzenberger P, Shellito JE, Kolls JK (2001) Interleukin-17 and lung host defense against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 25(3):335–340
- 59. Ye P, Rodriguez FH, Kanaly S, Stocking KL, Schurr J, Schwarzenberger P, Oliver P, Huang W, Zhang P, Zhang J, Shellito JE, Bagby GJ, Nelson S, Charrier K, Peschon JJ, Kolls JK (2001) Requirement of interleukin 17 receptor signaling for lung CXC chemokine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor expression, neutrophil recruitment, and host defense. J Exp Med 194(4):519–527
- 60. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR (2007) IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol 8(9):967–974
IL-17A as a Therapeutic Target for Autoimmune Diseases

Franco Di Padova and Jose Carballido

Abstract The identification of the IL-23-Th17-IL-17A axis and the definition of the CD3+ CD4+ Th17 cell subset have introduced new paradigms to explain the origin of autoimmune events in animal models, subverting the established Th1-Th2 paradigm.

In humans, IL-17A and Th17 cells have been implicated in a variety of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. However, the picture is more complex as other IL-17A-producing cells are detected in several pathological conditions. In particular, CD8+ T cells, γ δ T cells, astrocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, and eventually innate lymphoid cells have been associated with IL-17A production in different diseases.

Antibodies targeting IL-17A, IL-17RA, the p40 common chain (shared by IL-12 and IL-23), and other biologics have been used for the treatment of different autoimmune diseases. These therapies are not only beneficial for the patients but are also contributing to define the cell types involved and the pathways causing the pathological events. In psoriasis, the clinical results seem to suggest a complex scenario in which, in various patients, different IL-17A-producing cells, such as CD4+ Th17 cells, CD8+ T cells, $\gamma \delta T$ cells, neutrophils, and mast cells, might be variably involved. The majority of these subpopulations would respond to IL-23 and produce IL-17A. Subtle differences in disease pathogenesis are supported by treatment with other biologics. Even more complex scenarios can be present in other autoimmune disorders.

Keywords CD4+ T cell • CD8+ T cells • Th17 cell • $\gamma \delta$ T cells • IL-17A • IL-17F • IL-22 • IL-17RA • Anti-IL-17A antibodies • Anti-IL-17RA antibodies

F. Di Padova (🖂) • J. Carballido

Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research, WSJ 386-10.48, Basel CH-4002, Switzerland e-mail: franco.dipadova@novartis.com; jose.carballido@novartis.com

1 Introduction

The origin of autoimmune events in several animal models has now been linked to the CD3+ CD4+ Th17 cell subset. The identification of the IL-23-TH17-IL-17A axis has introduced a new paradigm to explain many autoimmune events [1]. IL-17A has been pivotal for the discovery of the Th17 lineage that probably evolved as an arm of the adaptive immune system for host protection against extracellular bacteria and fungi. IL-17A and Th17 cells are involved in the pathogenesis of several experimental autoimmune models of arthritis, colitis, uveitis, and encephalomyelitis. In these pathological conditions, Th17 cells are present and contribute to the inflammatory condition, neutralization of IL-17A ameliorates disease, and IL-17A-deficient animals are protected [2].

Also in humans, several studies support a role for IL-23, Th17 cells, and IL-17A in autoimmune disorders. However, the picture appears more complex as other IL-17A-producing cells have been detected. Several data suggest that CD8+ T cells [3], $\gamma\delta$ T cells [4, 5], a fraction of natural killer (NK) cells [6], neutrophils [1, 3], macrophages [7], mast cells [8, 9], astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes [10] can variably contribute to pathology. More recent data suggest that also NKp44– innate lymphoid cells are able to secrete IL-17A and might be involved in causing autoimmune diseases [11, 12].

Several studies are now trying to define which IL-17A+ cells contribute to the different autoimmune disorders and to clarify the role of IL-17A and of the different cell types. Some studies have relied on the isolation or extraction of cells from physiological fluids or tissues and on the analysis of cultured and stimulated cell populations by FACS. These studies have identified CD4+ T cells as the main source of IL-17A. On the other hand, the studies that have used histochemistry have often come to the conclusion that different cell types contribute to the production of IL-17A. Both approaches are valuable, but they may provide different information. The first approach offers a more precise identification of the cells but selectively enriches the sample for cell populations which are more easily extracted or apt to culture conditions. The main limitation of the histochemistry approach is linked to the difficulty to identify precisely cell surface markers and often to the lack of specificity of the reagents. In conclusion, additional studies are required to identify more precisely the cells contributing to the production of IL-17A and to identify the cells which secrete IL-17F, IL-17A/F heterodimer, and IL-22. IL-17F and IL-22 are expressed at increased levels in several diseases [13, 14].

The introduction of anti-cytokine antibodies, such as those targeting IL-17A (secukinumab, ixekizumab) [15–17], IL-17RA (brodalumab) [18], which neutralizes signaling not only by IL-17A but also by IL-17F, IL-25, and IL-17C [19–22], and the p40 common chain (ustekinumab, briakinumab) [23–25], shared between IL-12 and IL-23, is helping to understand the contribution of these cytokines to autoimmune pathology [26, 27]. As an example, studies with neutralizing antibodies selective for IL-17A [15–17] and for the IL-17RA [18] may help to clarify the contributions of IL-17A and of IL-17A plus IL-17F in human autoimmune disorders. The analysis of

animals deficient in either of these two genes has revealed distinct functions of IL-17A and IL-17F in inflammatory responses [28]. In addition, it is not clear how the production of IL-17A and IL-17F is regulated at the single cell level, as IL-17A and IL-17F are not always coexpressed and IL-17A and IL-17F single-positive cells are detected at relatively high frequencies [28, 29]. In mice, CD4+ IL-17A+ T cells seem to be prevalent in the lamina propria and intestinal intraepithelium [28]. Whether this differential expression results from the existence of different cell types of various stages of maturation or of environmental factors has not been investigated. In addition, an IL-17A/F heterodimer has been described in both man and mice [29–31]. The role of the heterodimer in inflammatory diseases in mice and humans needs further investigations. The antibodies neutralizing IL-17A or blocking the IL-17RA inhibit also the effects of the IL-17A/F heterodimer.

2 Biologics and Human Autoimmune Diseases

The introduction of biologics for the treatment of autoimmune diseases has not only been beneficial to patients, but it is also showing how autoimmune diseases are complex and variegate. The analysis of the response to biologics might open the possibility to dissect this complexity. As several approaches are effective in psoriasis, this disease can be used as a model to clarify subtle differences in pathogenesis that might be common to other autoimmune diseases.

2.1 Psoriasis

Chronic plaque psoriasis is a common immune-mediated skin disease characterized by demarcated erythematous, squamous lesions, with an estimated worldwide prevalence of 2-3 % [32]. The role of genetic factors in psoriasis has been confirmed from family and twin studies [33]. The concordance of psoriasis in monozygotic twins is 35-72 %, while it is 12-30 % in dizygotic twins [34, 35]. Psoriasis heritability has been estimated at 60–90 %, which is among the highest of all multifactorial genetic diseases [36].

The clinical manifestations collectively known as psoriasis are the result of complex interactions between the receptors of different cell types with multiple environmental triggers such as physical trauma, drugs, infection, and stress [37]. It is more common in Caucasians but can affect any race with no sexual predilection [38, 39]. The age of onset shows a bimodal distribution with one peak at 20–30 years and another at 50–60 years [40]. Among different psoriasis susceptibility loci (PSORS), the strongest association is with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on chromosome 6p21 (PSORS1) which includes the HLA-Cw*0602 allele [41]. The HLA-Cw*0602 allele is also associated with the early-onset type of psoriasis [42–44]. In addition to having a lower age of onset, HLA-Cw*0602-positive patients present more severe clinical symptoms [45]. Moreover, polymorphisms in IL-23p19, IL-12/23p40, and IL-23R are associated with increased risk of psoriasis

[46–48]. A role for IL-17A and IL-23 is also confirmed by the detection of elevated levels of IL-17A messenger RNA (mRNA) [49, 50] and of IL-23R in the skin of psoriatic patients [51]. Increased expression of mRNA for IL-17A, IL-17F, TNF- α , IL-21, IL-22, and CCL20 is observed with disease activity and normalizes with cyclosporine therapy [52]. Thus, psoriasis has complex multifactorial features, genetic heterogeneity, high heritability, a broad range of onset ages, and different prevalence in various populations. Considerable overlap has been shown between the molecular pathways involved in psoriasis and those leading to other inflammatory or autoimmune diseases such as Crohn's disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and Behcet's disease [53].

CD45RO+ memory effector T cells, either CD4+ or CD8+, have been reported to have a role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis [54, 55]. In man, IL-23R+ CD4+ and CD8+ T cell subsets have been described [56, 57]. In the upper lesional dermis, CD4+ T cells are abundantly present, whereas in the lesional epidermis, CD8+ T cells are in the majority [58, 59]. More recently, Th17 cells and Th1 cells were recovered at increased levels in the lesional epidermal and dermal samples of psoriatic patients [3, 52]. Th17 cells were predominantly localized to the dermis [52]. In addition, Tregs of patients with severe psoriasis have an enhanced propensity to differentiate into IL-17A-producing cells on ex vivo stimulation [60]. CD8+ T cells (Tc17 cells) may also play a significant role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis, as they are increased in lesional psoriatic skin [3, 61]. Tc17 cells can produce TNF- α and IFN- γ (Th1-related cytokines) as well as IL-17A, IL-21, and IL-22 (Th17-related cytokines) [61]. Psoriatic skin disease has been reconstituted in the SCID mouse by engraftment of uninvolved human skin and CD4+ T cells from patients with psoriasis and appears dependent on resident CD8+ T cells contained in the skin graft [62, 63].

Moreover, $\gamma\delta$ T cells might represent another T cell population involved in psoriasis. These T cells are increased in affected skin of psoriatic patients, express constitutively the IL-23R, are responsive to IL-23, and produce large amounts of IL-17A [5, 64]. A subset of $\gamma\delta$ T cells express CD28, and most of them are CD2 positive [65]. A study with IL-23R green fluorescent protein reporter mice reveals that, under resting conditions, a large fraction of $\gamma\delta$ T cells but also minor fractions of CD11b+ macrophages and of CD11c+ dendritic cells (DC) express IL-23R in lymph nodes [66]. Under these conditions, CD4+ cells have minimal expression of the IL-23R, which, however, is expressed under inflammatory conditions [66]. Moreover, it has been reported that in a psoriatic model in mice induced by imiquimod, IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 are produced by a skin-invading population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells and ROR γ t+ innate lymphoid cells [67].

In addition, IL-17A+ mast cells and neutrophils are found in psoriatic lesions, and frequently these cells release IL-17A in the process of forming specialized structures called extracellular traps [3, 9]. IL-23 can induce mast cell extracellular trap formation and degranulation [9]. Whether these cells are positive for IL-17A, IL-17F, or both is still a matter of debate [3]. While mast cells and neutrophils stain positive for IL-17A in skin sections, only occasional CD4+ or CD8+ T cells stain for IL-17A [3]. However, substantial percentages of skin-derived CD4+ and CD8+ cells are able to produce IL-17A when properly activated [3], suggesting that T cells might express cytokines only temporarily or that they might release them efficiently

into the extracellular milieu. Even if many factors might be contributing to the variability of the results, the percentage of dermal CD4+ and CD8+ T cells expressing IL-17A or other cytokines is widely distributed [3] suggesting heterogeneity in the composition of the cellular infiltrate of different patients. An additional challenge would be to define a potential association between the characteristics of the tissue infiltrate and genetic heterogeneity. It might be worth noting that the patient with a high proportion of IL-17A+ CD8+ dermal T cells had a HLA-Cw6 phenotype [3]. In this context, one could also speculate on the contribution of other IL-17A+ cells such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells. In summary, psoriasis is a complex multifactorial disease, and available data indicate that different mechanisms are operative and that the IL-17A+ cell populations might not be equally represented in distinct patients and in various stages of the disease.

Even if the clinical studies with anti-IL-17A and anti-p40 antibodies would suggest a common pathogenesis in psoriasis, the heterogeneous outcome of several other clinical studies confirms that distinct pathogenic subtypes are present in psoriasis. As shown in Table 1, several studies have demonstrated that anti-IL-17A [15, 16, 18] and anti-p40 (anti-IL-12/23) [23–25, 68, 69] principles are highly effective in psoriatic patients. These findings confirm the centrality of the IL-23-IL-17A axis, as these levels of efficacy have not been previously seen in studies with other biologics. Safety data for these agents is limited but has been favorable to date [15, 16, 18, 23–25, 68, 69]. Anti-IL-17A antibodies or anti-p40 antibodies, which target both IL-12 and IL-23, demonstrate potent and rapid effects on cytokine and chemokine expression and reduction of CD3+ T cells in psoriatic skin [15, 70]. As similar levels of PASI responses are obtained with anti-IL-17A or anti-p40 antibodies, it appears that, in the majority of psoriatic patients, the contributions of the IL-12/IFN- γ axis and of IL-22 are limited or can be bypassed.

The majority of psoriatic patients respond also to anti-TNF principles [71–73] and to cyclosporin A (CsA) [74, 75]. It has also been proposed that the clinical response to anti-TNF therapy could involve the IL-23-IL-17A axis. TNF would activate CD11c+ inflammatory DC to produce IL-23 establishing a TNF-IL-23-IL-17A axis [76]. In support of this proposal, down-modulation of the myeloid DC genes and of the IL-17A pathway is detected in responders to an anti-TNF principle (etanercept) [77]. As discussed previously, different populations of IL-23R+ cells could contribute to pathology.

Moreover, IL-17A and TNF act synergistically together and with other cytokines to induce an upregulated expression of several target genes [78, 79]. By neutralizing one critical cytokine, the remaining pool of cytokines would not generate the required threshold of activation in the responding cells, normalizing the inflammatory response. In particular, TNF and IL-17A activate keratinocytes, promoting the release of innate inflammatory molecules such as DEFB4, S100A7, and IL-8 [79]. However, neutralization of IL-23, IL-17A, or TNF does not cure the disease as relapses do occur when treatment is suspended [73].

A different insight into the pathogenesis of psoriasis can be obtained from clinical studies which have been using different approaches including targeting cell population markers, growth factors, and molecules involved in homing and costimulation

	PASI 50 (%)	PASI 75 (%)	PASI 90 (%)	Ref.
Anti-IL-17A (ixekizumab at week 12)				[16]
Placebo ($n = 26$)		8	0	
75 mg at week 0, 2, 4, 8, 12, 16 $(n = 29)$		83	59	
150 mg at week 0, 2, 4, 8, 12, 16 $(n = 28)$		82	71	
Anti-IL-17RA (brodalumab at week 12)				[18]
Placebo ($n = 38$)	16	0	0	
140 mg at week 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 $(n = 39)$	90	77	72	
210 mg at week 0, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 (<i>n</i> = 40)	90	82	75	
Anti-p40 (IL-12 + IL-23) (ustekinumab—PHOENIX II at week 12)				[23]
Placebo ($n = 410$)	10	3.7	0.7	
45 mg weeks 0 and 4, then every 12 weeks $(n = 409)$	83.6	66.7	42.3	
90 mg weeks 0 and 4, then every 12 weeks $(n = 411)$	89.3	75.7	50.9	
Anti-p40 (IL-12 + IL-23)(briakinumab at week 12)				[25]
Methotrexate 5–25 mg/week weekly ($n = 163$)		36.2		
200 mg weeks 0 and 4, then 100 mg every 4 weeks $(n = 154)$		76.6		
Anti-TNF α (adalimumab at week 16)				[72]
Placebo ($n = 398$)		7	2	
40 mg eow (n = 814)		71	45	
Cyclosporine (at week 16)				[75]
3 or 5 mg/kg/day ($n = 42$)		71	33	
Anti-CD11a (efalizumab at week 12)				[83]
Placebo ($n = 122$)	16	5	<1	
1 mg/kg/week (n = 232)	52	22	4	
2 mg/kg/week (n = 243)	57	28	6	
Human anti-CD2 LFA-3/IgG1 fusion protein (alefacept at week 12)				[82]
Placebo $(n = 59)$	32	11		
0.075 mg once a week for 12 weeks $(n = 55)$	63	31		
0.150 mg once a week for 12 weeks $(n = 58)$	42	19		
Denileukin diftitox (at week 4)				[<mark>80</mark>]
Placebo $(n = 12)$	0			
0.015 mg/kg/day (3 day week for 4 weeks) $(n = 8)$	25			
Anti-CD4 (HuMax-CD4 at week 7)				[84]
Placebo ($n = 17$)	6			
280 mg once weekly for 4 weeks $(n = 16)$	19			

 Table 1
 Clinical improvement of psoriatic patients treated with different biologics (selected clinical studies and results)

[80–84]. The majority of these approaches have shown partial beneficial effects, as the percentage of responding patients and the entity of the response are not comparable to those achieved with anti-IL-17A, anti-P40, anti-TNF biologics, or with CsA (Table 1).

In this context, the response of psoriatic patients to efalizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody to CD11a, is particularly interesting [83]. CD11a is the α -chain of lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA-1), which is composed by

CD11a and CD18. LFA-1 is the most widely expressed form of the leukocyte-specific β2 subfamily of integrins, interacts with intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs), and contributes to leukocyte migration into tissues, antigen presentation to T cells, and interaction with keratinocytes [83]. However, the most prominent therapeutic effect of efalizumab is blockade of lymphocyte trafficking [85]. This explains the peripheral leukocytosis that occurs in all patients taking adequate doses of efalizumab, and CD8+ T cells contribute significantly to the leukocytosis [85]. In some patients, when the drug is stopped, there is therefore a reservoir of CD11a+ CD8+ T cells in the circulation ready to pour into the skin resulting in relapse [86]. This study confirms that in skin lesions developing during relapse, there are abundant T cells and DCs. The authors propose that CD8+ T cells enter the skin first initiating a psoriatic inflammatory cascade via DC activation [86]. This study is relevant as it suggests that, in a subgroup of patients, CD8+ T cells and antigenpresenting cells are main determinants of psoriasis pathogenesis. In addition, efalizumab is usually effective in patients with stable psoriasis but is not very active in controlling disease flares [87] again suggesting that other cell populations might be responsible for reactivation of the disease. In the same direction, the partial clinical efficacy of several interventions targeting T cells, including CTLA4-Ig [81], anti-CD4 antibodies [84], and alefacept (LFA-3 TIP) [82, 88, 89], demonstrates a critical role for memory/effector T cells in a limited number of patients [82]. In particular, the modest response to anti-CD4 antibodies [84] seems to suggest that CD4 cells including Th17 and Th1 cells are poorly involved in psoriasis. However, some patients were clear or had marked long-lasting improvements after the treatment [84] suggesting that, in selected patients, CD4+ T cells are responsible for the clinical picture.

In conclusion, the clinical results seem to suggest a complex scenario in which, in selected patients, different percentages of IL-17A-producing cells, including CD4+ cells, CD8+ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, neutrophils, mast cells, and eventually innate lymphoid cells, might be involved. The majority of these subpopulations would respond to IL-23 and produce IL-17A, so explaining the critical role of the IL-23-IL-17A axis. Again potential contribution by neutrophils in a minority of patients seems to be supported by an initial positive outcome of an anti-IL-8 antibody, ABX-IL8 [90], which however was not validated in a subsequent clinical study [91]. Subtle differences in disease pathogenesis are therefore underscored by treatment with biologics. In summary, these data suggest the involvement of different IL-17A-producing cell populations. We would like to propose that this might also contribute to the different level of response to anti-IL-17A anti-P40 principles.

2.2 Anti-IL-17A Blockade in Rheumatic Diseases

Anti-IL-17A approaches have also been tested in several other autoimmune diseases, and these principles have shown beneficial effects in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriatic arthritis (PsA), and ankylosing spondylitis (AS) [15, 17, 92–95]. Secukinumab has been reported to induce clinically relevant responses

of variable entity in patients with RA, PsA, and AS [15, 93–95], while ixekizumab has shown activity in RA [17, 92]. Ustekinumab significantly reduces signs and symptoms of PsA and diminishes skin lesions compared with placebo [96]. In this last study, a difference in the entity of the response of the arthritic and the skin components is evident with better response achieved for the skin and a faster response for the joint disease. These data and the partial resistance of the joint disease suggest that the joint disease and the skin component recognize slightly different pathogenic mechanisms and that additional pathways might be involved in the pathogenesis of the arthritic component. In PsA, a trend toward a beneficial clinical effect of secukinumab was seen and larger clinical trials are planned [93].

The variable response rates to anti-IL-17A or anti-p40 approaches might be linked to activation of additional cell types or to the fact that blockade of only one or few cytokines might become inadequate to influence the cytokine milieu that contributes to inflammation and pathological changes. Recent data in the human RA synovium SCID mouse model confirm that different mechanisms might be operative in RA, as secukinumab is effective only when CD3+ T cells are present in the synovial tissue, while anti-B cell approaches require the presence of B cells [97].

As a rule, in the clinical trials, less than 50 % of the patients achieve an ACR70, and it is not clear whether the magnitude of the response of a patient to the different treatments would be similar. In other terms, it is not known whether there are patients who would be resistant to all available treatments. In RA, some TNF inadequate responders can benefit from anti-IL-17A antibodies [92].

In patients with active AS, secukinumab substantially reduces spinal inflammation as detected by MRI [95]. MRI changes are seen as early as 6 weeks after start of treatment and are maintained up to week 28, supporting the use of anti-IL-17A principles for this disease.

As for psoriasis, also in these diseases, different IL-17A-producing cells have been identified including Th17 cells [98–100], KIR3DL2+ CD4 T cells [101], CD161++ CD8+ T cells [57], $\gamma\delta$ T cells [4], mast cells [8, 102], and neutrophils [103, 104]. Moran et al. [104] reported that IL-17A expression is localized to several immune cell subtypes within the inflamed synovial tissue including neutrophils, mast cells, and CD3+ cells. As already discussed for psoriasis, it is possible that different cell types might variably be involved in different patients or at different stages of the disease, and this could be partially responsible for heterogeneity in pathogenesis and response to treatments. In particular, neutrophils appear to be a significant source of IL-17A in affected joints from patients with AS with extensive spinal fusion [103], while mast cells might be a major contributor in patients with short disease duration, prominent peripheral arthritis, and limited axial involvement [102].

2.3 Anti-IL-17A Blockade in Additional Diseases

Secukinumab has also shown positive effects in patients with uveitis [15], but is not beneficial in patients with Crohn's disease [105]. The lack of a response in Crohn's disease is remarkable as many of the genetic variations associated with psoriasis

and PsA are also present in immune disorders considered psoriatic comorbidities, such as Crohn's disease [106]. IL-17A expression is clearly detectable in CD3+ T cells or CD68+ monocytes/macrophages [7], and IL-17A+ cells have been isolated from patients with Crohn's disease [107, 108]. In addition, CD3- CD56-innate lymphoid cells positive for IL-17A and IL-17F are present in inflammatory bowel diseases, and a significant and selective increase in CD127+ CD56- innate lymphoid cells in the inflamed intestine in Crohn's disease patients but not in ulcerative colitis patients has been reported [109].

In this disease, ustekinumab shows a partial response [110, 111], suggesting that other IL-17A-related cytokines produced by T cells or the IL-12 pathway might be relevant. It would be interesting to know the reason for the termination of brodalumab study (NCT01150890) in Crohn's patients, as this could shed light on the potential contribution of IL-17F and other IL-17 family members to pathology of this disease.

3 Conclusions

Anti-IL-17A approaches and anti-p40 approaches have now entered the clinic, and they are effective in the treatment of patients with different unrelated autoimmune diseases. In addition, they are helping to dissect the pathogenesis of these diseases and the search for more appropriate and personalized treatments. Even if, in some clinical conditions such as psoriasis, the IL-23-IL-17A axis seems to be well established, in other immune disorders considered psoriatic comorbidities such as Crohn's disease, other pathogenetic mechanisms appear prevalent. In psoriasis, different cells responding to IL-23 and producing IL-17A might contribute to pathology. This complexity might be operative also in other autoimmune diseases.

References

- 1. Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE (2007) IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol 25:821–852
- Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y (2006) IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 177:566–573
- Res PC, Piskin G, de Boer OJ, van der Loos CM, Teeling P, Bos JD, Teunissen MB (2010) Overrepresentation of IL-17A and IL-22 producing CD8 T cells in lesional skin suggests their involvement in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. PLoS One 5:e14108
- 4. Kenna TJ, Davidson SI, Duan R, Bradbury LA, McFarlane J, Smith M, Weedon H, Street S, Thomas R, Thomas GP et al (2012) Enrichment of circulating interleukin-17-secreting interleukin-23 receptor-positive γ/δ T cells in patients with active ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum 64:1420–1429

- 5. Cai Y, Shen X, Ding C, Qi C, Li K, Li X, Jala VR, Zhang HG, Wang T, Zheng J et al (2011) Pivotal role of dermal IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in skin inflammation. Immunity 35:596–610
- 6. O'Reilly V, Zeng SG, Bricard G, Atzberger A, Hogan AE, Jackson J, Feighery C, Porcelli SA, Doherty DG (2011) Distinct and overlapping effector functions of expanded human CD4+, CD8α+ and CD4-CD8α- invariant natural killer T cells. PLoS One 6:e28648
- 7. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y (2003) Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 52:65–70
- Hueber AJ, Asquith DL, Miller AM, Reilly J, Kerr S, Leipe J, Melendez AJ, McInnes IB (2010) Mast cells express IL-17A in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. J Immunol 184:3336–3340
- Lin AM, Rubin CJ, Khandpur R, Wang JY, Riblett M, Yalavarthi S, Villanueva EC, Shah P, Kaplan MJ, Bruce AT (2011) Mast cells and neutrophils release IL-17 through extracellular trap formation in psoriasis. J Immunol 187:490–500
- Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner M, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, Fugger L (2007) Interleukin-17 production in CNS-infiltrating T-cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. Am J Pathol 172:146–155
- 11. Hoorweg K, Peters CP, Cornelissen F, Aparicio-Domingo P, Papazian N, Kazemier G, Mjösberg JM, Spits H, Cupedo T (2012) Functional differences between human NKp44(-) and NKp44(+) RORC(+) innate lymphoid cells. Front Immunol 3:72
- 12. Spits H, Cupedo T (2012) Innate lymphoid cells: emerging insights in development, lineage relationships, and function. Annu Rev Immunol 30:647–675
- Laman JD, Leenen PJM, Annels NE, Hogendoorn PCW, Egeler RM (2003) Langerhans-cell histiocytosis 'insight into DC biology'. Trends Immunol 24:190–196
- 14. Andoh A, Zhang Z, Inatomi O, Fujino S, Deguchi Y, Araki Y, Tsujikawa T, Kitoh K, Kim-Mitsuyama S, Takayanagi A et al (2005) Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology 129:969–984
- 15. Hueber W, Patel DD, Dryja T, Wright AM, Koroleva I, Bruin G, Antoni C, Draelos Z, Gold MH, Psoriasis Study Group et al (2010) Effects of AIN457, a fully human antibody to interleukin-17A, on psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and uveitis. Sci Transl Med 2:52ra72
- Leonardi C, Matheson R, Zachariae C, Cameron G, Li L, Edson-Heredia E, Braun D, Banerjee S (2012) Anti-interleukin-17 monoclonal antibody ixekizumab in chronic plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med 366:1190–1199
- 17. Genovese MC, Van den Bosch F, Roberson SA, Bojin S, Biagini IM, Ryan P, Sloan-Lancaster J (2010) LY2439821, a humanized anti-interleukin-17 monoclonal antibody, in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a phase I randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, proof-of-concept study. Arthritis Rheum 62:929–939
- Papp KA, Leonardi C, Menter A, Ortonne JP, Krueger JG, Kricorian G, Aras G, Li J, Russell CB, Thompson EH et al (2012) Brodalumab, an anti-interleukin-17-receptor antibody for psoriasis. N Engl J Med 366:1181–1189
- 19. Ely LK, Fischer S, Garcia KC (2009) Structural basis of receptor sharing by interleukin 17 cytokines. Nat Immunol 10:1245–1251
- Chang SH, Reynolds JM, Pappu BP, Chen G, Martinez GJ, Dong C (2011) Interleukin-17C promotes Th17 cell responses and autoimmune disease via interleukin-17 receptor E. Immunity 35:611–621
- Ramirez-Carrozzi V, Sambandam A, Luis E, Lin Z, Jeet S, Lesch J, Hackney J, Kim J, Zhou M, Lai J et al (2011) IL-17C regulates the innate immune function of epithelial cells in an autocrine manner. Nat Immunol 12:1159–1166
- 22. Song X, Zhu S, Shi P, Liu Y, Shi Y, Levin SD, Qian Y (2011) IL-17RE is the functional receptor for IL-17C and mediates mucosal immunity to infection with intestinal pathogens. Nat Immunol 12:1151–1158
- Papp KA, Langley RG, Lebwohl M, Krueger GG, Szapary P, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Hsu MC, Wang Y, Li S et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23

monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 52-week results from a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 2). Lancet 371:1675–1684

- 24. Leonardi CL, Kimball AB, Papp KA, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y, Li S, Dooley LT, Gordon KB, PHOENIX 1 study investigators (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). Lancet 371:1665–1674
- Reich K, Langley RG, Papp KA, Ortonne JP, Unnebrink K, Kaul M, Valdes JM (2011) A 52-week trial comparing briakinumab with methotrexate in patients with psoriasis. N Engl J Med 365:1586–1596
- 26. McAllister F, Henry A, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Ulrich L, Steele C, Finder JD, Pilewski JM, Carreno BM, Goldman SJ et al (2005) Role of IL-17A, IL-17F, and the IL-17 receptor in regulating growth-related oncogene-α and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in bronchial epithelium: implications for airway inflammation in cystic fibrosis. J Immunol 175:404–412
- Lubberts E (2003) The role of IL-17 and family members in the pathogenesis of arthritis. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 4:572–577
- 28. Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang YH, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z et al (2008) Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J Exp Med 205:1063–1075
- Liang SC, Long AJ, Bennett F, Whitters MJ, Karim R, Collins M, Goldman SJ, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Williams CMM, Wright JF et al (2007) An IL-17F/A heterodimer protein is produced by mouse Th17 cells and induces airway neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol 179:7791–7799
- 30. Wright JF, Guo Y, Quazi A, Luxenberg DP, Bennett F, Ross JF, Qiu Y, Whitters MJ, Tomkinson KN, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K et al (2007) Identification of an Interleukin 17F/17A heterodimer in activated human CD4+ T cells. J Biol Chem 282:13447–13455
- Chang SH, Dong C (2007) A novel heterodimeric cytokine consisting of IL-17 and IL-17F regulates inflammatory responses. Cell Res 17:435–440
- 32. Liu Y, Krueger JG, Bowcock AM (2007) Psoriasis: genetic associations and immune system changes. Genes Immun 8:1–12
- Rahman P, Elder JT (2005) Genetic epidemiology of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 64:ii37–ii39
- Wuepper KD, Coulter SN, Haberman A (1990) Psoriasis vulgaris: a genetic approach. J Invest Dermatol 95:2S–4S
- 35. Duffy DL, Spelman LS, Martin NG (1993) Psoriasis in Australian twins. J Am Acad Dermatol 29:428–434
- 36. Elder JT, Nair RP, Henseler T, Jenisch S, Stuart P, Chia N, Christophers E, Voorhees JJ (2001) The genetics of psoriasis 2001: the odyssey continues. Arch Dermatol 137:1447–1454
- 37. Wagner EF, Schonthaler HB, Guinea-Viniegra J, Tschachler E (2010) Psoriasis: what we have learned from mouse models. Nat Rev Rheumatol 6:704–714
- Farber EM, Nail L (1998) Epidemiology: natural history and genetics. In: Roenigk HR Jr, Maibach HI (eds) Psoriasis, 3rd edn. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 107–157
- 39. Raychaudhuri SP, Farber EM (2001) The prevalence of psoriasis in the world. JEADV 15:16–17
- Henseler T, Christophers E (1985) Psoriasis of early and late onset: characterization of two types of psoriasis vulgaris. J Am Acad Dermatol 13:450–456
- Chandran V, Raychaudhuri SP (2010) Geoepidemiology and environmental factors of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. J Autoimmun 34:J314–J321
- 42. Enerbäck C, Martinsson T, Inerot A, Wahlström J, Enlund F, Yhr M, Samuelsson L, Swanbeck G (1997) Significantly earlier age at onset for the HLA-Cw6-positive than for the Cw6-negative psoriatic sibling. J Invest Dermatol 109:695–696

- Queiro R, Torre JC, González S, López-Larrea C, Tinturé T, López-Lagunas I (2003) HLA antigens may influence the age of onset of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol 30:505–507
- 44. Fan X, Yang S, Sun LD, Liang YH, Gao M, Zhang KY, Huang W, Zhang X (2007) Comparison of clinical features of HLA-Cw*0602-positive and -negative psoriasis patients in a Han Chinese population. Acta Derm Venereol 87:335–340
- Bowcock AM, Cookson WO (2004) The genetics of psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and atopic dermatitis. Hum Mol Genet 13:R43–R55
- 46. Capon F, Di Meglio P, Szaub J, Prescott NJ, Dunster C, Baumber L, Timms K, Gutin A, Abkevic V, Burden AD et al (2007) Sequence variants in the genes for the interleukin-23 receptor (IL23R) and its ligand (IL12B) confer protection against psoriasis. Hum Genet 122:201–206
- 47. Cargill M, Schrodi SJ, Chang M, Garcia VE, Brandon R, Callis KP, Matsunami N, Ardlie KG, Civello D, Catanese JJ et al (2007) A large-scale genetic association study confirms IL12B and leads to the identification of IL23R as psoriasis-risk genes. Am J Hum Genet 80:273–290
- Nair RP, Ding J, Duffin KC, Helms C, Voorhees JJ, Krueger GG, Bowcock AM, Abeçasis GR, Elder JT (2009) Psoriasis bench to bedside: genetics meets immunology. Arch Dermatol 145:462–464
- 49. Teunissen MB, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA, Bos JD (1998) Interleukin-17 and interferon-gamma synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111:645–649
- 50. Li J, Li D, Tan Z (2004) The expression of interleukin-17, interferon-gamma, and macrophage inflammatory protein-3 alpha mRNA in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 24:294–296
- 51. Tonel G, Conrad C, Laggner U, Di Meglio P, Grys K, McClanahan TK, Blumenschein WM, Qin JZ, Xin H, Oldham E et al (2010) Cutting edge: a critical functional role for IL-23 in psoriasis. J Immunol 185:5688–5691
- 52. Lowes MA, Kikuchi T, Fuentes-Duculan J, Cardinale I, Zaba LC, Haider AS, Bowman EP, Krueger JG (2008) Psoriasis vulgaris lesions contain discrete populations of Th1 and Th17 T cells. J Invest Dermatol 128:1207–1211
- Bowcock AM, Krueger JG (2005) Getting under the skin: the immunogenetics of psoriasis. Nat Rev Immunol 5:699–711
- 54. Bos JD, Hagenaars C, Das PK, Krieg SR, Voorn WJ, Kapsenberg ML (1989) Predominance of 'memory' T cells (CD4+, CDw29+) over 'naive' T cells (CD4+, CD45R+) in both normal and diseased human skin. Arch Dermatol Res 281:24–30
- 55. Kryczek I, Bruce AT, Gudjonsson JE, Johnston A, Aphale A, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wang Y, Liu Y, Welling TH et al (2008) Induction of IL-17+ T cell trafficking and development by IFN-gamma: mechanism and pathological relevance in psoriasis. J Immunol 181:4733–4741
- 56. Puwipirom H, Hirankarn N, Sodsai P, Avihingsanon Y, Wongpiyabovorn J, Palaga T (2010) Increased interleukin-23 receptor(+) T cells in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther 12:R215
- 57. Billerbeck E, Kang YH, Walker L, Lockstone H, Grafmueller S, Fleming V, Flint J, Willberg CB, Bengsch B, Seigel B et al (2010) Analysis of CD161 expression on human CD8+ T cells defines a distinct functional subset with tissue-homing properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:3006–3011
- Bos JD, Zonneveld I, Das PK, Krieg SR, van der Loos CM, Kapsenberg ML (1987) The skin immune system (SIS): distribution and immunophenotype of lymphocyte subpopulations in normal human skin. J Invest Dermatol 88:569–573
- Bovenschen HJ, Seyger MMB, Van De Kerkhof PCM (2005) Plaque psoriasis vs. atopic dermatitis and lichen planus: a comparison for lesional T-cell subsets, epidermal proliferation and differentiation. Br J Dermatol 153:72–78

- 60. Bovenschen HJ, van de Kerkhof PC, van Erp PE, Woestenenk R, Joosten I, Koenen HJ (2011) Foxp3+ regulatory T cells of psoriasis patients easily differentiate into IL-17A-producing cells and are found in lesional skin. J Invest Dermatol 131:1853–1860
- 61. Ortega C, Fernández-A S, Carrillo JM, Romero P, Molina IJ, Moreno JC, Santamaría M (2009) IL-17-producing CD8+ T lymphocytes from psoriasis skin plaques are cytotoxic effector cells that secrete Th17-related cytokines. J Leukoc Biol 86:435–443
- Nickoloff B, Wrone-Smith T (1999) Injection of pre-psoriatic skin with CD4+ T cells induces psoriasis. Am J Pathol 155:145–149
- 63. Nickoloff BJ (1999) The immunologic and genetic basis of psoriasis. Arch Dermatol 135:1104–1110
- 64. Laggner U, Di Meglio P, Perera GK, Hundhausen C, Lacy KE, Ali N, Smith CH, Hayday AC, Nickoloff BJ, Nestle FO (2011) Identification of a novel proinflammatory human skinhoming Vγ9Vδ2 T cell subset with a potential role in psoriasis. J Immunol 187:2783–2793
- 65. Takamizawa M, Fagnoni F, Mehta-Damani A, Rivas A, Engleman EG (1995) Cellular and molecular basis of human gamma delta T cell activation. Role of accessory molecules in alloactivation. J Clin Invest 95:296–303
- 66. Awasthi A, Riol-Blanco L, Jäger A, Korn T, Pot C, Galileos G, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK, Oukka M (2009) Cutting edge: IL-23 receptor gfp reporter mice reveal distinct populations of IL-17-producing cells. J Immunol 182:5904–5908
- 67. Pantelyushin S, Haak S, Ingold B, Kulig P, Heppner FL, Navarini AA, Becher B (2012) Rorγt+ innate lymphocytes and γδ T cells initiate psoriasiform plaque formation in mice. J Clin Invest 122:2252–2256
- 68. Yeilding N, Szapary P, Brodmerkel C, Benson J, Plotnick M, Zhou H, Goyal K, Schenkel B, Giles-Komar J, Mascelli MA et al (2011) Development of the IL-12/23 antagonist ustekinumab in psoriasis: past, present, and future perspectives. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1222:30–39
- 69. Lima XT, Abuabara K, Kimball AB, Lima HC (2009) Briakinumab. Expert Opin Biol Ther 9:1107–1113
- 70. Toichi E, Torres G, McCormick TS, Chang T, Mascelli MA, Kauffman CL, Aria N, Gottlieb AB, Everitt DE, Frederick B et al (2006) An anti-IL-12p40 antibody down-regulates type 1 cytokines, chemokines, and IL-12/IL-23 in psoriasis. J Immunol 177:4917–4926
- Brezinski EA, Armstrong AW (2012) Off-label biologic regimens in psoriasis: a systematic review of efficacy and safety of dose escalation, reduction, and interrupted biologic therapy. PLoS One 7:e33486
- 72. Menter A, Tyring SK, Gordon K, Kimball AB, Leonardi CL, Langley RG, Strober BE, Kaul M, Gu Y, Okun M et al (2008) Adalimumab therapy for moderate to severe psoriasis: a randomized, controlled phase III trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 58:106–115
- Menter A, Gordon KB, Leonardi CL, Gu Y, Goldblum OM (2010) Efficacy and safety of adalimumab across subgroups of patients with moderate to severe psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 63:448–456
- 74. Brooks DB (1986) Clearance of psoriasis with low dose cyclosporine. Br Med J 293:1098–1099
- 75. Heydendael VM, Spuls PI, Opmeer BC, de Borgie CA, Reitsma JB, Goldschmidt WF, Bossuyt PM, Bos JD, de Rie MA (2003) Methotrexate versus cyclosporine in moderate-tosevere chronic plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med 349:658–665
- 76. Zaba LC, Cardinale I, Gilleaudeau P, Sullivan-Whalen M, Suárez-Fariñas M, Fuentes-Duculan J, Novitskaya I, Khatcherian A, Bluth MJ et al (2007) Amelioration of epidermal hyperplasia by TNF inhibition is associated with reduced Th17 responses. J Exp Med 204:3183–3194
- 77. Zaba LC, Suárez-Fariñas M, Fuentes-Duculan J, Nograles KE, Guttman-Yassky E, Cardinale I, Lowes MA, Krueger JG (2009) Effective treatment of psoriasis with etanercept is linked to suppression of IL-17 signaling, not immediate response TNF genes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124:1022–1030.e1-395
- 78. Guilloteau K, Paris I, Pedretti N, Boniface K, Juchaux F, Huguier V, Guillet G, Bernard FX, Lecron JC, Morel F (2010) Skin inflammation induced by the synergistic action of IL-17A, IL-22, oncostatin M, IL-1α and TNF-α recapitulates some features of psoriasis. J Immunol 184:5263–5270

- 79. Chiricozzi A, Guttman-Yassky E, Suárez-Fariñas M, Nograles KE, Tian S, Cardinale I, Chimenti S, Krueger JG (2011) Integrative responses to IL-17 and TNF-α in human keratinocytes account for key inflammatory pathogenic circuits in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol 131:677–687
- Bagel J, Garland WT, Breneman D, Holick M, Littlejohn TW, Crosby D, Faust H, Fivenson D, Nichols J (1998) Administration of DAB389IL-2 to patients with recalcitrant psoriasis: a double-blind, phase II multicenter trial. J Am Acad Dermatol 38:938–944
- Abrams JR, Lebwohl MG, Guzzo CA, Jegasothy BV, Goldfarb MT, Goffe BS, Menter A, Lowe NJ, Krueger G, Brown MJ et al (1999) CTLA4Ig-mediated blockade of T-cell costimulation in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. J Clin Invest 103:1243–1252
- Ellis CN, Krueger GG, Alefacept Clinical Study Group (2001) Treatment of chronic plaque psoriasis by selective targeting of memory effector T lymphocytes. N Engl J Med 345:248–255
- Lebwohl M, Tyring SK, Hamilton TK, Toth D, Glazer S, Tawfik NH, Walicke P, Dummer W, Wang X, Garovoy MR et al (2003) A novel targeted T-cell modulator, efalizumab, for plaque psoriasis. N Engl J Med 349:2004–2013
- 84. Skov L, Kragballe K, Zachariae C, Obitz ER, Holm EA, Jemec GB, Sølvsten H, Ibsen HH, Knudsen L, Jensen P et al (2003) HuMax-CD4: a fully human monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody for the treatment of psoriasis vulgaris. Arch Dermatol 139:1433–1439
- 85. Vugmeyster Y, Kikuchi T, Lowes MA, Chamian F, Kagen M, Gilleaudeau P, Lee E, Howell K, Bodary S, Dummer W et al (2004) Efalizumab (anti-CD11a)-induced increase in peripheral blood leukocytes in psoriasis patients is preferentially mediated by altered trafficking of memory CD8+ T cells into lesional skin. Clin Immunol 113:38–46
- 86. Johnson-Huang LM, Pensabene CA, Shah KR, Pierson KC, Kikuchi T, Lentini T, Gilleaudeau P, Sullivan-Whalen M, Cueto I et al (2012) Post-therapeutic relapse of psoriasis after CD11a blockade is associated with T cells and inflammatory myeloid DCs. PLoS One 7: e30308
- 87. Koszik F, Stary G, Selenko-Gebauer N, Stingl G (2010) Efalizumab modulates T cell function both in vivo and in vitro. J Dermatol Sci 60:159–166
- Sugiyama H, McCormick TS, Cooper KD, Korman NJ (2008) Alefacept in the treatment of psoriasis. Clin Dermatol 26:503–508
- 89. Heffernan MP, Leonardi CL (2010) Alefacept for psoriasis. Semin Cutan Med Surg 29:53-55
- 90. Abgenix press release March 5, 2001
- 91. Abgenix press release May 14, 2002
- 92. Genovese MC, Greenwald MW, Cho C, Berman A, Jin L, Cameron G, Xie LGA (2011) Phase 2 study of multiple subcutaneous doses of LY2439821, an anti-IL-17 monoclonal antibody, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in two populations: naive to biologic therapy or inadequate responders to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibitors [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 63 (10):2591
- 93. McInnes I, Sieper J, Braun J, Emery P, van der Heijde D, Isaacs J, Dahmen G (2011) Antiinterleukin 17A monoclonal antibody secukinumab reduces signs and symptoms of psoriatic arthritis in a 24-week multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 63(10):779
- 94. Genovese MC, Durez P, Richards HB, Supronik J, Dokoupilova E, Aelion JA, Lee S-H (2011) One year efficacy and safety results of a phase II trial of secukinumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 63(10):401
- 95. Baraliakos X, Braun J, Laurent DD, Baeten D, van der Heijde D, Sieper J, Emery P (2011) Interleukin-17A blockade with secukinumab reduces spinal inflammation in patients with ankylosing spondylitis as early as week 6, as detected by magnetic resonance imaging [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 63(10):2486D
- 96. Gottlieb A, Menter A, Mendelsohn A, Shen YK, Li S, Guzzo C, Fretzin S, Kunynetz R, Kavanaugh A (2009) Ustekinumab, a human interleukin 12/23 monoclonal antibody, for

psoriatic arthritis: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. Lancet 373:633-640

- 97. Koenders MI, Marijnissen RJ, Joosten LA, Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Di Padova FE, van de Loo FA, Dulos J, van den Berg WB, Boots AM (2012) T cell lessons from the rheumatoid arthritis synovium SCID mouse model: CD3-rich synovium lacks response to CTLA-4ig but is successfully treated by interleukin-17 neutralization. Arthritis Rheum 64:1762–1770
- Jandus C, Bioley G, Rivals JP, Dudler J, Speiser D, Romero P (2008) Increased numbers of circulating polyfunctional Th17 memory cells in patients with seronegative spondylarthritides. Arthritis Rheum 58:2307–2317
- 99. Shen H, Goodall JC, Gaston JS (2010) Frequency and phenotype of T helper 17 cells in peripheral blood and synovial fluid of patients with reactive arthritis. J Rheumatol 37:2096–2099
- 100. Pöllinger B, Junt T, Metzler B, Walker UA, Tyndall A, Allard C, Bay S, Keller R, Raulf F, Di Padova F et al (2011) Th17 cells, not IL-17+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells, drive arthritic bone destruction in mice and humans. J Immunol 186:2602–2612
- 101. Bowness P, Ridley A, Shaw J, Chan AT, Wong-Baeza I, Fleming M, Cummings F, McMichael A, Kollnberger S (2011) Th17 cells expressing KIR3DL2+ and responsive to HLA-B27 homodimers are increased in ankylosing spondylitis. J Immunol 186:2672–2680
- 102. Noordenbos T, Yeremenko N, Gofita I, van de Sande M, Tak PP, Caňete JD, Baeten D (2012) Interleukin-17-positive mast cells contribute to synovial inflammation in spondylarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 64:99–109
- 103. Appel H, Maier R, Wu P, Scheer R, Hempfing A, Kayser R, Thiel A, Radbruch A, Loddenkemper C, Sieper J (2011) Analysis of IL-17+ cells in facet joints of patients with spondyloarthritis suggests that the innate immune pathway might be of greater relevance than the Th17-mediated adaptive immune response. Arthritis Res Ther 13:R95
- 104. Moran EM, Heydrich R, Ng CT, Saber TP, McCormick J, Sieper J, Appel H, Fearon U, Veale DJ (2011) IL-17A expression is localised to both mononuclear and polymorphonuclear synovial cell infiltrates. PLoS One 6:e24048
- 105. Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PD, Wehkamp J, Feagan BG, Yao MD, Karczewski M et al (2012) Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Gut May 17. [Epub ahead of print]
- 106. Duffin KC, Woodcock J, Krueger GG (2010) Genetic variations associated with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis found by genome-wide association. Dermatol Ther 23:101–113
- 107. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, Parente E, Filì L, Ferri S, Frosali F (2007) Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 204:1849–1861
- 108. Pène J, Chevalier S, Preisser L, Vénéreau E, Guilleux MH, Ghannam S, Molès JP, Danger Y, Ravon E, Lesaux S et al (2008) Chronically inflamed human tissues are infiltrated by highly differentiated Th17 lymphocytes. J Immunol 180:7423–7430
- 109. Geremia A, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Fleming MP, Rust N, Singh B, Mortensen NJ, Travis SP, Powrie F (2011) IL-23-responsive innate lymphoid cells are increased in inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med 208:1127–1133
- 110. Mannon PJ, Fuss IJ, Mayer L, Elson CO, Sandborn WJ, Present D, Dolin B, Goodman N, Groden C, Hornung RL et al (2004) Anti-interleukin-12 antibody for active Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 351:2069–2079
- 111. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, Scherl E, Fleisher MR, Katz S, Johanns J, Blank M, Rutgeerts P, Ustekinumab Crohn's Disease Study Group (2008) A randomized trial of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with moderateto-severe Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 135:1130–1141

Index

A

Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), 207 ADH. See Alcohol dehydrogenases (ADH) AIDS. See Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) Alcohol dehydrogenases (ADH), 122 Allergic asthma IL-22, 24 IL-17A, 144, 150 IL-1β, 98 Angiogenesis, tumor cancer promotion, humans, 223 gene transduction, 221 immune-related genes, 222 molecular mechanisms, 222 VEGF. 221 Anticancer immune responses, chemotherapy, 223-225 T cell responses, 223 Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) adaptive immune response, 73, 75 iTreg cell, 73-74 RORyt and FoxP3, 74 Anti-IL-17A blockade rheumatic diseases, 339-340 secukinumab, 340 ustekinumab, 341 APCs. See Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) Asthma. See also Human asthma allergic (see Allergic asthma) iNKT cells, 115 Autoimmune diseases anti-IL-17A blockade, 339-341 autoimmune diseases, 341 biologics and human autoimmune diseases, 335

histochemistry approach, 334 human autoimmune disorders, 334 inflammatory diseases in mice, 335 psoriasis, 335–339

B

BAC. See Bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)
Bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC), 324
BAL. See Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)
Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)
bronchial exposure, 260
types, chronic inflammatory airway disease, 261

С

CD. See Crohn's disease (CD) Chemotherapy cancer treatment, 223 de novo fibrosarcoma models, 225 HMGB1, 224 immune effector cells, 224 mammary transplant, 225 tumor growth, 224 Cloning and tissue distribution IL-17RA and IL-17RB, 38 IL-17RC. 39 IL-17RD, 39 IL-17RE, 39 IL-17 receptor family gene structure and expression pattern, 39, 40 C-reactive protein (CRP), 278 Crohn's disease (CD) aetiology, 274 cytokines, 282

V. Quesniaux et al. (eds.), *IL-17, IL-22 and Their Producing Cells: Role in Inflammation and Autoimmunity*, Progress in Inflammation Research, DOI 10.1007/978-3-0348-0522-3, © Springer Basel 2013

Crohn's disease (CD) (*cont.*) definition, 274 IBD, 274 IL-17A, 280–282 TNFα-neutralising therapy, 274–280 CRP. *See* C-reactive protein (CRP)

D

DCs. See Dendritic cells (DCs)
Dendritic cells (DCs)
activation, 169
antigen-present, 169–170
debris and necrotic tissues, 168
and epithelial cells, 122
role, 169
and T cells, 121
Diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR), 323
DTR. See Diphtheria toxin receptor (DTR)

Е

EAM. See Experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM) Experimental arthritis, IL-17. See Interleukin-17 (IL-17) Experimental autoimmune myocarditis (EAM) advantage, 166-167 DC, 168-170 heart disease, 166 IFN-y and Th17 cells, 1700-171 IL-17 and CD4+ T cells, 167-168 TLRs. 167 Experimental skin inflammation IL-22 keratinocytes, 307-310 psoriasis, 310-312 immune organ, 306 **NHEK. 306** RHE, 306

G

GA. See Glatiramer acetate (GA)
Genetic mouse models
biology, IL-17A and IL-17F, 324–325
cytokine biology, 322
IL-17A signalling pathway, 325–326
IL-17 modulation, CNS autoimmunity, 326–327
mapping, Th17 cells, reporter and tracer mice, 327–328

Th17 subset, 321-322 transgenic methods, 323-324 Genome wide association (GWA), 264, 274 Glatiramer acetate (GA), 254 Global immune suppression CNS autoimmunity, 247 inhibitors, proliferation, 248 lymphocyte depletion, 246-247 monoclonal antibody depletion, 247-248 Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), 101 Granulopoiesis apoptotic neutrophils, 209 gene expression, 209-210 intra-abdominal abscess formation, 210 mouse embryonic fibroblasts, 209 neutrophil progenitors, 208-209 primary and vaccine-induced immunity, 211 regulation, 209 SCF, 208-209 GVHD. See Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) GWA. See Genome wide association (GWA)

H

High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), 224 HMGB1. *See* High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) Human asthma IL-17 (*see* Interleukin-17 (IL-17)) IL-25, 268 mobilisation, neutrophils, 268–269 obstructive airway disease, 259

I

IBD. See Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)
ICAMs. See Intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs)
IFNγ. See Interferon-γ (IFNγ)
IL-17. See Interleukin-17 (IL-17)
IL-25. See Interleukin-25 (IL-25)
IL-17A. See Interleukin-17A (IL-17A)
ILCs. See Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs)
IL-17 family cytokines, tumor development IL-17A/F, tumor progression, 221–225
IL-17B, IL-17C, and IL-17D, 226
IL-17E, tumor progression inhibition, 225–226
inflammation, cancer, 219–221
pro-and antitumor functions, 226, 227 Induced T regulatory (iTreg) cells APCs, 73-75 plasticity, 78 types, 75-76 Inflammasome activation and IL-18 maturation, 159 Inflammation, cancer autoimmune diseases, 220 protein signaling pathways, 219 tumor development, 221 Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) autoimmune diseases, 281 CD (see Crohn's disease (CD)) cvtokine-based therapeutics, 275-277 IFN_y, 278 IL22, 282 TNFα, 275 Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), 58 Interferon-y (IFNy), 135-136 Interleukin-17 (IL-17). See also IL-17 family cytokines, tumor development; Interleukin-23 (IL-23): Interleukin-22 and 17 action, RA joint, 235-236 airway remodelling, 262 asthma (see Asthma) autoimmune diseases, 114-115 BAL, 260-261 blood, asthma patients, 263-264 bronchial tissue, 263 cellular sources blood, 266 lungs, 265-266 cloning and tissue distribution, 38–40 cytokines, 38 cytokines influencing T cell, 134-135 description, 110 exhaled breath condensate, 262 experimental arthritis development, 132 - 133family members and structure, 234-235 functions and therapeutic implications host defense, 46 inflammatory diseases, 46-47 human, 179 human disease, 193 IFN_y, 135-136 IL-4, 136 IL-23, 195 IL-21, IL-22 and IL-27, 137-139 immunosuppressive effects, 269 induction and regulation, 198-199

inflammation, 197 inflammation and destruction blocking endogenous, 134 pathology, 133 iNKT cells and infections, 113-114 and ischemia-reperfusion, 178-179 lymphocytes, 181 and mucosal host AIDS, 207 biological activity, 208 cellular sources, 211-212 granulopoiesis (see Granulopoiesis) immunosuppression, 213 OIs. 208 vaccine-induced mucosal immunity, 212-213 neutrophil-mobilising cytokines, 267 NKT, 110-112 protection, 193-194 receptor complex and ligand binding IL-17C, 41-42 IL-17RA and IL-17RC, 39, 40 IL-17RA/IL-17RB complex, 41 IL-17RD and FGFR, 41 rejection and responder cells, 180 role, 194 RORytpos iNKT IL-17-producing cells. 112-113 signalling, 268 signal transduction, 42-45 subepithelial immunoreactivity, 267 T cell activation, IL-15, 137 T cells, 194–195 Th17 cells, 236-237 population, 37 regulatory T cell balance, 237-238 treatment inflammation, 239 myositis, 238 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 239 vaccine-induced protection, 195-196 Interleukin-22 (IL-22). See also Interleukin-23 (IL-23); Interleukin-22 and 17 description, 56 expression, 144 intestinal mucosa, 60-62 and keratinocytes cytokines, 307 hyperplastic effects, 308 immune cells, 307

Interleukin-22 (IL-22). (cont.) inflammatory phenotype, 308-309 massive synergistic effect, epidermal inflammation, 309-310 liver. 60 lung inflammatory processes, 63-64 MS. 62-63 neutralization, 145 production ILCs, 58 STAT3. 57 Th17 cells, 56-57 psoriasis in vivo. 59 innate immunity profile, 312 keratinocytes, 59 lesions, 310-311 quantitative RT-PCR, 58 skin-infiltrating Th17 and Th22 lymphocytes, 311-312 RA. 62 Interleukin-23 (IL-23) IL-17 and IL-22 immune cell activation, skin, 295-296 infiltration, immune cells, 294-295 inflammatory mediators, 297 keratinocyte terminal differentiation, 297 psoriatic lesions, 296 sensitization phase, 292-294 transmembrane receptors, 291 **VEGF**, 298 pathway, treatment, 298-299 Interleukin-25 (IL-25), 268 Interleukin-17A (IL-17A) endogenous neutralization, 145 family members, 3-4 genes, 4 IL-22 in vitro and in vivo, 146-147 immune response, 145-146 inhibitory effects, 149 inhibitory function, 148 lung inflammation, 149–150 molecular mechanism, 147-148 therapies, 150-151 immunological processes, 280 innate lymphoid cells, 281-282 monoclonal antibodies, 281 producing cells, 6-7 proinflammatory cytokine, 5

receptors, 4-5 Th2 response, 144 Interleukin-22 and 17 biological effects autoimmune diseases, 26-27 chemokines, 25-26 epithelial cells, 24 inflammatory mediators, 23-24 non-epithelial tissue cells, 24 protective role, 25 role, 22-23 cellular sources hematopoietic cells, 16 lymphoid lineage, 15-16 NKT cells, 17 Th22 cells, 16 cytokines, 11-12 encoding genes, 13-14 family, 13 receptors complexes, 17-18 crystal structure analysis, 18 cytoplasmic SEFIR domain, 20 interaction, 18, 19 receptor subunits, 12-13 signal transduction pathways, 21-22 structures, 14-15 targets cells, 20-21 Interleukin-1 and 17 (IL-1and 17) response inflammatory response, lung, 160-161 TLR, 158 Interleukin-17F (IL-17F), 143 Internal ribosome entry sites (IRES), 324 Intestinal mucosa Citrobacter rodentium, 62 IL-22 gene expression, 61 intestinal epithelial cell, 60-61 Intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs), 338-339 Invariant natural killer T (iNKT) IL-12, 79 IL-17 (see Interleukin-17 (IL-17)) IRES. See Internal ribosome entry sites (IRES) iTreg. See Induced T regulatory (iTreg) cells

K

Keratinocytes. See Interleukin-22 (IL-22)

L

Lung inflammation, IL-1, 159-160

M

MACE. See Major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) Major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE), 298 MAPK. See Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathway Mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), 122 Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pathway, 45 MLNs. See Mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) MS. See Multiple sclerosis (MS) Mucosal immune regulation and RA. See Retinoic acid (RA) Multiple sclerosis (MS) agents and mechanisms, Th17 antagonism, 254, 255 autoimmune damage, 244 CNS autoimmunity, 245 immunomodulatory agents, 254 immunosuppressive agents, 255 inflammatory disorder, 244 Th17 responses, 246-254

N

Natural killer T (NKT) cells asthma, 111–112 $\gamma\delta$ T cells, 116–117 glucopyranosylceramide, 111 glycolipids, 111 human iNKT cells, 116 lymphocytes, 110 NHEK. *See* Normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEK) Normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEK), 306

0

OIs. See Opportunistic infections (OIs) Opportunistic infections (OIs), 208

Р

Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 72
PML. See Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML)
Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), 253
PRRs. See Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)
Psoriasis. See also Interleukin-22 (IL-22) chronic plaque, 335 description, 58–59 efalizumab, 338 features, 59 ICAMs, 338–339 IL-22, 59 IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 *(see* Interleukin-23 (IL-23)) imiquimod model, 60 microscopic alterations, 289, 290 pathogenesis, 337 phases, pathogenesis, 289, 290 skin disease, 336 skin lesions, 288 treatment, IL-23 pathway, 298–299

R

RA. See Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) Reconstituted human epidermis (RHE), 306 Regulatory T cells (Treg cells) functional characteristics and categories collagen-induced arthritis, 93-94 Foxp3, 92-93 IL-2 and TGF-β, 94-95 thymocytes, 92 generation, 96 nTreg and iTreg, 95-96 Retinoic acid (RA) ADH, 122 DCs. 121-122 immune regulatory mechanism, 125 immune responses, 124 MLN, 122 production, 122 role, 123 STAT5 and STAT3, 124-125 and TGF-*β*, 122–123 RHE. See Reconstituted human epidermis (RHE) Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) IL-17 (see Interleukin-17 (IL-17)) IL-22, 62 inflammation-induced destruction, 240 matrix destruction, 233 and RA, 233 regulatory T cell balance, 237-238 Th17 cells, 236-237 treatment, IL-17, 238-239

S

SCF. See Stem cell factor (SCF) Signal transduction adaptor protein, 43 CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein pathway, 44 IL-17RA/IL-17RC, 45 Signal transduction (*cont.*) MAPK pathway, 45 NF-kB pathway, 43–44 "SEFIR" domain, 42 Stem cell factor (SCF), 208–209

Т

TB. See Tuberculosis (TB) T cell receptors (TCRs), 72, 73 TGF. See Transforming growth factor (TGF)-β T helper 17 (Th17) cells adaptive immune response, 72 APCs, 73-75 autoimmunity, 78-79 cytokines, 143 differentiation agents, multiple processes, 253-254 global immune suppression, 246-248 IL-23 neutralization, 249 lineage antagonism, cytokine administration, 250-251 prevention, function, 252-253 Foxp3⁺ Tregs conversion **GVHD**, 101 nTregs, 100 TGF-6. 98–99 function and differentiation, 97-98 iTreg cells, 75-76 plasticity, 80-81 PRR, 72 TCRs, 73 TGF-β, 76 Th1/Th2 immune responses, 79-80 transcription factors/pathways, 77 transplantation description, 177-178 IL-17 and ischemia-reperfusion, 178-179 inhibition, 182 Tregs and IL-17, 182-183 TLRs. See Toll-like receptors (TLRs) TNF α . See Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α) Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 158, 167

Transforming growth factor (TGF)-β Foxp3 promoter, 101 functional activities, 98 IL-2.94 multieffects. 99 receptor signals, 96 role, 99 Transgenic methods genomic mutation, 323 **IRES**, 324 marker-expressing cells, 323 Treg cells. See Regulatory T cells (Treg cells) Tuberculosis (TB) description, 189-190 IFN-and IL-22, 193 IL-17 (see Interleukin-17 (IL-17)) innate and acquired response, 191 role, IL-17, 190-191 Th17 cells polarization, 192 Tumor progression angiogenesis, 221-223 anticancer CD8 T cell responses, 223 chemotherapy, 223-225 IL-17B, IL-17C and IL-17D, 226 inhibition, IL-17E, 225-226 Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α) chronic inflammatory disorders, 274, 278 CRP, 278 cytokine-based therapeutic strategy, 279-280 IBD, 275-277 inflammatory mediators, 279

V

Vaccine-induced mucosal immunity IL-17 neutralization, 213 memory immune responses, 212 pneumococcal colonization, 213 T-cell memory responses, 212 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 221, 298 VEGF. *See* Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)